
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

for the meeting 
on 

23 March 2022 at 

6.30 pm 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

To: To All Members of the Council 
 
Date: 15 March 2022 
 
 
A meeting of the COUNCIL which you are hereby summoned to attend, will be held 
on Wednesday, 23 March 2022 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX  
 
JOHN JONES 
Monitoring Officer 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Stephen Rowan 
Democratic Services 
Democratic.Services@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
15 March 2022 

 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, or you can view the 
webcast both live and after the meeting has completed at 
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk 
 
If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending. 
 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact officer as detailed above.  
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
https://croydonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13507&path=0
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive any apologies for absence from any Members. 
 
 

2.   Disclosure of Interests  

 Members and co-opted Members of the Council are reminded that, in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, they are required to consider in advance 
of each meeting whether they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI), an other registrable interest (ORI) or a non-registrable interest 
(NRI) in relation to any matter on the agenda. If advice is needed, 
Members should contact the Monitoring Officer in good time before the 
meeting.  
 
If any Member or co-opted Member of the Council identifies a DPI or 
ORI which they have not already registered on the Council’s register of 
interests or which requires updating, they should complete the 
disclosure form which can be obtained from Democratic Services at any 
time, copies of which will be available at the meeting for return to the 
Monitoring Officer.  
 
Members and co-opted Members are required to disclose any DPIs and 
ORIs at the meeting: 
- Where the matter relates to a DPI they may not participate in any 

discussion or vote on the matter and must not stay in the meeting 
unless granted a dispensation.  

- Where the matter relates to an ORI they may not vote on the matter 
unless granted a dispensation.  

- Where a Member or co-opted Member has an NRI which directly 
relates to their financial interest or wellbeing, or that of a relative or 
close associate, they must disclose the interest at the meeting, may 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
stay in the meeting unless granted a dispensation.  

- Where a matter affects the NRI of a Member or co-opted Member, 
section 9 of Appendix B of the Code of Conduct sets out the test 
which must be applied by the Member to decide whether disclosure is 
required.  

 
The Chair will invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of this item to be recorded in the minutes. 
 
 

3.   Urgent Business (if any)  

 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 



 

 

 
 

4.   Announcements  

 To receive Announcements, if any, from the Mayor, the Leader, Head of 
Paid Service and Returning Officer. 
 
 

5.   Croydon Question Time (Pages 7 - 10) 

 a) Public Questions (30 minutes) 
 

To receive questions from the public gallery and questions 
submitted by residents in advance of the meeting. 

 
 
b)  Leader and Cabinet Member Questions (105 minutes) 

 
To receive questions from Councillors. 

 
 

6.   Member Petitions (Pages 11 - 12) 

 To receive notice of petitions presented by Members on behalf of local 
residents. 
 
 

7.   Council Debate Motions  

 To debate any motions submitted in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 
 

8.   Recommendations of Cabinet or Committees to Council for 
decision (Pages 13 - 556) 

 To consider the recommendations made by Cabinet or Committees 
since the last ordinary Council meeting relating to the following matters: 
 
General Purposes & Audit Committee – 25 January 2022 
 
i Revisions to the Council’s Constitution 
 
 
General Purposes & Audit Committee – 3 March 2022 
 
i Revisions to the Council’s Constitution 
 
ii Review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances 
 



 

 

 
Cabinet – 21 March 2022 
 
i Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 Year Business Plan 2021-

2051 and HRA Capital Programme 2022/23 
 
 

9.   Vote of Thanks  

 To pass a vote of thanks to The Mayor in the following terms: 
 
a) The Members of Council tender their grateful thanks to The 

Worshipful, The Mayor, Councillor Sherwan Chowdhury, for the 
courteous and efficient manner in which he presided over the 
Council’s deliberations during the past year; 
 

b) The Members of Council record their sincere appreciation of the 
dignified manner in which Councillor Sherwan Chowdhury carried 
out the duties of the office of Mayor, of the support and 
encouragement which he and his Consort, Mrs. Rohema 
Chowdhury, have given to local organisations and of the 
prominent part they have taken in the social life of the Borough 
during the Mayor’s period of office; and 
 

c) That this resolution be sealed and presented to the Mayor at the 
Annual Council Meeting in a suitable form. 

 
 

10.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
 
“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.” 
 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

23 March 2022 

SUBJECT: CROYDON QUESTION TIME: 
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

LEADER AND CABINET QUESTIONS 

LEAD OFFICER: John Jones, Monitoring Officer 

WARDS: ALL 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 

The business reports of the Leader and Cabinet are prepared in accordance with the 
Council Procedure Rules at Part 4A of the Constitution. 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report outlines the process for: 
a) public questions; and 
b) questions to the Leader and Cabinet from Councillors. 

 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 Part 4A of the Constitution details the process that allows for the Leader and Cabinet 
Members to take oral questions. Question Time is split into two part; public questions 
and Councillors’ questions to the Leader and Cabinet. 
 
Public Questions 
 

2.2 Public questions can be asked of the Leader or Cabinet Members on issues of policy 
at the Meeting as set out within the Constitution Part 4A, Sections 3.12 – 3.15. Any 
questions of a purely factual or of a detailed nature that cannot be answered on the 
evening shall be noted and shall receive a written response within three weeks 
following the meeting. The responses shall be published on the Council’s website. 
 

2.3 Public Questions shall only be taken at Ordinary Council meetings and shall be 
allocated a total time of 30 minutes. This timeframe shall include both the questions 
and responses by the relevant Cabinet Members or Leader. 
 

2.4 The Mayor has absolute discretion to decline to allow any question to be dealt with 
under this procedure on the grounds that it addresses matters that would be 
inappropriate to consider at the meeting, including where the questions being asked 
are repetitive or have already been addressed. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



2.5 The Council is continuing to hold public meetings in the Town Hall under strict 
conditions to limit the risk of the spread of Coronavirus to all those attending public 
meetings.  As a result, attendance in the public gallery is limited to 10 persons and 
any residents wishing to ask questions in person are encouraged to register their 
attendance in advance to avoid disappointment.  

 
2.6 However, in accordance with Part 4A, paragraph 3.15(ii), the Mayor may also accept 

questions from Members of the Public submitted by email to the designated email 
address by 12 noon on the Friday prior to an ordinary Council meeting. The Mayor 
will put questions received by email to the Leader or the relevant Cabinet Member 
and, where a number of questions are received on the same subject, the Mayor may 
put a summary of those questions instead. 

 
Leader and Cabinet Questions: 
 

2.7 This item is to enable Members to ask questions of the Leader and Cabinet on issues 
of policy. Any questions of a purely factual or of a detailed nature that cannot be 
answered on the evening shall be noted and shall receive a written response within 
three weeks following the meeting.  The responses shall be published on the 
Council’s website. 
 

2.8 Questions which relate to a current planning or licensing matter or any matter 
relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or entity has a right 
of  recourse  to  a  review  or  right  of  appeal  conferred  by  or  under  any enactment 
shall not be permitted. In addition, questions shall not be received or responded to 
where they pertain to anticipated or ongoing litigation, conciliation or mediation or 
any employment or personnel related issues or disputes. 
 

2.9 The Leader shall be the first to respond to questions under this item and the total time 
allocated to questions by Members to, and responses from the Leader, shall be 15 
minutes. The first two minutes of the Leader’s 15 minute slot may be used by the 
Leader to make any announcements. 
 

2.10 Cabinet Members, divided up into three ‘pools’ of three Members each, shall 
thereafter respond to questions by other Members of the Council. The total time 
allocated to each ‘pool’ of Cabinet Members shall be 30 minutes. The three Cabinet 
Members shall each be permitted to use two minutes of this 30 minute slot to make 
announcements. 
 

2.11 The ‘pools’ for this meeting will be as follows: 
 

Pool 1 
 

Name Portfolio 

Patricia Hay-Justice Cabinet Member for Homes 

Manju Shahul-Hameed Cabinet Member for Communities, Safety & Business 
Recovery 

Muhammad Ali Cabinet Member for Sustainable Croydon 

 
 
 

Page 8



Pool 2 
 

Name Portfolio 

Stuart King Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Croydon 
Renewal 

Callton Young Cabinet Member for Resources & Financial 
Governance 

 
 

Pool 3 
 

Name Portfolio 

Janet Campbell Cabinet Member for Families, Health & Social Care 

Oliver Lewis Cabinet Member for Culture & Regeneration 

Alisa Flemming Cabinet Member for Children, Young People & 
Learning 

 
 
2.12 Representatives of political groups may give advance notice to the Council 

Solicitor of the names of the Members of their respective political group that they 
wish the Mayor to call to ask a question of each Member of the Cabinet, including 
the Leader of the Council. 
 

2.13 After those Members have been called, the Mayor will call Members that indicate 
they have a question, with a presumption of inviting questions from as many 
different Members as possible. Each Member asking a question will also be 
allowed to ask a supplementary questions. 

 
 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Stephen Rowan 

Head of Democratic Services & Scrutiny 
      
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

23 March 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUBJECT: MEMBER PETITIONS 

LEAD OFFICER: Stephen Rowan, Head of Democratic Services and 
Scrutiny 

WARDS: ALL 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 

This  report  is  prepared  in  keeping  with  paragraphs  3.26  to  3.31  of  the  Council 
Procedure Rules at Part 4A of the Constitution. 

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

1.1 Council is asked to note the petitions presented by Councillors at the meeting 
as listed in paragraph four of the report. 

 

 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In accordance with Part 4A of the Council’s Constitution up to three Members 

of the Council can present petitions to any ordinary meeting of the Council, 
with the exception of any meeting of the Council reserved for the setting of 
Council Tax. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Part 4A of the Constitution allows up to three Councillors to present petitions 

to meetings of the Full Council. 
 
3.2 The Constitution requires that a petition must contain “the signatures of at 

least 100 local people or 50% of the local people affected by the subject” in 
order to be presented at a Council meeting. 

 
3.3 The full petition wording of each of the three Member petitions to be 

received will be included in the Council agenda (see paragraph four below). 
The Member petitions will be received but shall not be the subject of a debate 
or questions at that or a subsequent Council meeting. 

 

3.4 Where possible, the Cabinet Member shall provide a response at the 
Council meeting at which the Member’s petition is received. Where a 
response is not pnprovided at the meeting, a written response shall be 
provided within three weeks of the meeting. 

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

4. PETITION TO BE PRESENTED TO COUNCIL AT THIS MEETING 
 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer has received notice of the following petition to 
be presented to this meeting of the Council: 

 
a) Petition presented by Councillor Jason Perry on behalf of residents: 

 
‘St Thomas Becket RC Primary School sits on the busy Birchanger Road 
in South Norwood. The road is particularly dangerous during drop-off 
and pick-up times with poor driving, irresponsible parking and speeding 
vehicles. There have been a number of near misses, and we feel it is 
only a matter of time before a serious injury occurs. 
 
We the undersigned therefore call on Croydon Council to install a safe 
crossing outside St Thomas Becket RC Primary School as soon as 
possible.’ 
 

 

5. NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1 Where possible the Cabinet Member will respond to the petition at the 

meeting. 
 
5.2 Where  a  more  detailed  response  is  required,  a  written  response  shall  

be provided within three weeks of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Stephen Rowan 
Head of Democratic Services and Scrutiny 

 
APPENDICES: None 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  None 

 
 
 
 

Page 12



        

REPORT TO: COUNCIL     

23 March 2022  

SUBJECT: RECOMMENDATIONS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES 
REFERRED TO THE COUNCIL FOR DECISION      

LEAD OFFICER: John Jones, Monitoring Officer    

WARDS: ALL 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:  

The Recommendations of Cabinet and Committees referred to the Council for decision 
report is prepared in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules at Part 4A of the 
Constitution. 
 

 

 

The Council is asked to approve the following recommendations: 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM GENERAL PURPOSES & AUDIT COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 25 JANUARY 2022 
 
Revisions to the Council’s Constitution 
 

1.1 To approve the changes to the Constitution as detailed in section 2 of the report 
(Appendix 1) and set out more fully in Appendix 1.1. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM GENERAL PURPOSES & AUDIT COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 3 MARCH 2022 
 
Revisions to the Council’s Constitution 
 

1.2 To approve the changes to the Constitution as detailed in section 2 of the report 
(Appendix 2) and set out more fully in Appendix 2.1 and that:  
 
i)  The following changes shall be implemented with immediate effect:  

 Section 4.22 (Emergency or extreme urgency) of Part 3 - Responsibility 
for Functions; and 

 Part 4I - Tender and Contract Regulations  
 
ii) All other changes shall be implemented with effect from 00.01 hours on the 

third day after the day of declaration of the result of the poll at the first 
election of the Mayor.  

 Review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances  

1.3 To consider the options detailed in the report on an updated scheme of 
Members' allowances to full Council, informed by the recommendations of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel and to agree the proposal detailed in 
Appendix 3.2 of the report (Appendix 3);  
 

1.4 To agree the proposal to reintroduce directly provided ICT to Members and the 
elected Mayor as described in section four of the report (Appendix 3); 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



  

  
1.5 To authorise the Monitoring Officer to comply with the necessary statutory 

publicity requirements in respect of the Independent Review Panel report 2022; 
the on-going annual publicity of the Members' scheme of allowances which is 
required; and the approval of the revised Members' Allowance Scheme 
following consideration of the proposal recommended by the Committee (as per 
recommendation 1.3 above);  
 

1.6 To delegate to the General Purposes and Audit Committee authority to agree an 
annual adjustment of allowances by reference to the annual local government 
staff pay settlement where the only change made to the Scheme in any year is 
that effected by such annual adjustment; and  

 
1.7 To agree that a further review of the scheme be undertaken either following the 

May 2022 local elections, if required, or following the publication of the further 
review of the remuneration of councillors due to be undertaken by London 
Councils' Independent Remuneration Panel during 2022-23.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET HELD ON 21 MARCH 2022 
 
Subject to decision at the Cabinet meeting to be held on 21 March 2022, 
Council is expected to be asked to approve the following recommendation: 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 Year Business Plan 2021- 2051 and 
HRA Capital Programme 2022/23 

1.8 To approve the HRA Capital Programme for 2022/23 as set out in Appendix 4.6.  
 

 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 
2.1. The Recommendations of Cabinet and Committees referred to the Council for 

decision report comprises of matters of business formally undertaken by the 
Leader and Cabinet as well as Committees since the last ordinary meeting of 
the Council that require Full Council approval.  

 
2.2. Recommendation 1.8 from Cabinet is subject to the meeting being held on 21 

March 2022. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1. Part 4A of the Constitution requires that Cabinet and Committees include any 

recommendations that it has made to Council within this report. 
 

3.2. These rules do not apply to any recommendations contained in the Annual 
Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee.  

 
3.3. The Leader or Chair of the Committee making the recommendation may 

exercise a right to introduce the recommendation; in so doing the Leader or 
Chair of the Committee shall speak for a maximum of 3 minutes.   

 

Page 14



  

3.4. The recommendation shall be seconded without any further speakers and if not 
deferred for debate shall immediately be put to the vote. 

 
3.5. Any Member supported by a seconder, may ask that a recommendation be 

deferred for debate and the recommendation shall immediately stand deferred. 
 
3.6. In the event that any Cabinet or Committee recommendations have not been 

reached when the time limit for the meeting has expired, those 
recommendations shall immediately be put to the vote without further debate.  

 
3.7 Attached at Appendix 1 is the Revisions to the Council’s Constitution report 

that was considered at the General Purposes and Audit Committee on 25 
January 2022.  The relevant appendices to this report are also included and 
are: 

 
 Appendix 1.1: Proposed changes and amendments to the Constitution 
 
3.8 Attached at Appendix 2 is the Revisions to the Council’s Constitution report 

that was considered at the General Purposes and Audit Committee on 3 March 
2022.  The relevant appendices to this report are also included and are: 

 
 Appendix 2.1: Proposed changes and amendments to the Constitution 

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation  
Part 2 - Articles  
Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions  
Part 4A – Council Procedure Rules  
Part 4B – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
Part 4C – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
Part 4D- Executive Procedure Rules  
Part 4E – Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules  
Part 4F – Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules  
Part 4G – Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules  
Part 4I – Tender and Contract Regulations  
Part 4J – Staff Employment Procedure Rules  
Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules  
Part 4O – Procedure rules for remote meetings  
Part 5A – Protocol for Decision Making  
Part 5B – Protocol on Staff Councillor Relations (Ethics Committee report 9  
February 2022) 
Part 5C – Monitoring Officer Protocol  
Part 5H – Protocol for Participation in meetings of the Traffic Management  
Advisory Committee  
Part 5J - Officer Code of Conduct  

 
3.9 Attached at Appendix 3 is the Review of the Scheme of Members’ 

Allowances report that was considered at the General Purposes and Audit 
Committee on 3 March 2022.  The relevant appendices to this report are also 
included and are: 

 

Appendix 3.1: The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 - Report 
of the Independent Panel  

Page 15



  

Appendix 3.2:  Proposed Changes to the Scheme  

3.10 Attached at Appendix 4 is the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 Year 
Business Plan 2021- 2051 and HRA Capital Programme 2022/23 report that 
is due to be considered at the Cabinet meeting scheduled for 21 March 2022.  
The relevant appendices to this report are also included and are: 

 
Appendix 4.1:  HRA Business Plan – All Years (Excel document) 
Appendix 4.2:  Details of HRA Tenant type 
Appendix 4.3: Business Plan – Key assumptions 
Appendix 4.4: HRA Rental Income Budget 
Appendix 4.5:  Right to Buy 
Appendix 4.6:  Programme of Repairs of Existing Stock  
Appendix 4.7: Acquisitions & Debt repayment and modelling 

 
 
 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Stephen Rowan, Head of Democratic Services and 
Scrutiny  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:   None 

 

 

Page 16



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

25 January 2022  

SUBJECT: REVISIONS TO THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 

LEAD OFFICER: Richard Ennis, Interim Corporate Director of Resources & 
Section 151 Officer 

WARDS: All 

PUBLIC/ EXEMPT: Public 

SUMMARY OF REPORT: 

This report updates Councillors on progress in reviewing the Council’s Constitution in 
preparation for the introduction of the mayoral model of governance and seeks 
approval for other changes to the constitution which are appropriate at this time. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 2021-24: 

Changes to the Constitution proposed in this report will enable improvements to the 
Council’s governance as part of the Croydon Renewal Plan. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

Implementation of the recommendations within this report shall be contained within 
existing budgets. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
The Committee is asked to recommend to Council that they: 
 
1. Approve the changes to the Constitution as detailed in section 2 and set out more 

fully in Appendix 1. 
 

 
1. BACKGROUND     
 
1.1 Consideration of changes to the Constitution is a responsibility of the General 

Purposes and Audit Committee, prior to referral of any proposals to full Council for 
approval. 

 
1.2 In July 2021, full Council agreed that a politically proportionate Constitution Working 

Group be established to keep the constitution under review and inform proposals for 
any revisions to the Constitution. 
 

1.3 The Constitution Working Group has been meeting since late November 2021 to 
consider revisions to the constitution in preparation for the commencement of the 
mayoral governance model in May 2022.  Proposed revisions relating to the mayoral 
model will be brought to the March meeting of this committee. 
 

Page 17



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

1.4 The Working Group has also considered other revisions to the constitution which are 
required for a variety of reasons: this report sets out those proposed revisions for 
consideration by the Committee. 

 
2. PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The following revisions are proposed: 
 

i) Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions section 2.2(8): updated criteria for 
dispensations to ensure consistency with the Members’ Code of Conduct 
(reflecting all categories of interest for disclosure); 

 
ii) Part 4B – Access to Information Procedure Rules section 13: addition to 

ensure clarity that redaction may be used to enable disclosure of information 
where part but not all of the document contains confidential information, 
consistent with the Access to Information Protocol (see below); 

 
iii) Part 4D – Executive Procedure Rules section 1.4 and Part 4F – Non-Executive 

Committee Procedure Rules section 11: updated to include disclosure of all 
categories of interest, consistent with the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 
iv) Part 2, Article 8 and Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions for Licensing: minor 

amendments.   
 

The Committee is also asked to note that the Director of Legal Services is 
amending Part 5F – Protocol for Licensing Hearings under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Part 5G – Protocol for Licensing Hearings under the Gambling Act 
2005: these revisions are to address typographical errors and provide clarity on 
the appointment of Reserve Members to the Licensing Committee. 

 
v) Part 6D – Scheme of Co-option: revisions to: 

 Include reference to the independent Chair of General Purposes and Audit 
Committee (the Committee does not appoint its own chair); 

 Ensure consistency with the Member Code of Conduct (when Ethics 
Committee agreed to recommend to Full Council adoption of the Member 
Code on 30 September 2021, it did so on the understanding that the 
Scheme of Co-option would also be revised, as part of a suite of documents 
supporting high standards of conduct); 

 Clarify that access to information rights for co-optees apply only in relation 
to co-optees’ specific role. 

 
2.2 It is also proposed to add the Access to Information Protocol at a new Part 5K, 

following agreement to recommend adoption of this document by Ethics Committee 
on 9 December 2021. 

 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1  The proposed changes to the constitution will ensure and assist with compliance and 

consistency with other decision making by the Council. 

Page 18



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 The changes proposed in this report will support implementation of other decisions by 

Council and compliance with legislation and as such have not been subject to 
separate consultation.   

 
 
5. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 Approved by: Matthew Davis, Interim Director of Finance 
 
 
6. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 The Head of Head of Litigation & Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Interim 

Director of Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer that the Local Government Act 2000 
(‘2000 Act’) requires the Council to prepare and keep up to date the Council’s 
constitution. 

 
6.2  To ensure the Council upholds its responsibility in line with the 2000 Act, the changes 

as summarised in paragraph 1.4 are being proposed.  These proposed changes and 
updates are set-out in paragraph 2 and detailed within the appendices of the report. 

 
6.3  Clarification as to some of the more substantive changes are outlined below. 
 
6.4 The proposed changes relating to the Code of Conduct reflect the Council’s duty 

under the 2000 Act to adopt such a Code, which was revised at the Council’s meeting 
in October 2021. These changes were made in accordance with the new national 
Model Member Code of Conduct produced by the Local Government Association. 

 
6.5 Under section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 a Member or co-opted Member should not 

participate in a meeting where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), 
unless he/she has first obtained a dispensation. The relevant changes reflect the 
newly adopted Code of Conduct and the need for a declaration also to be sought for 
Other Registrable Interests (ORIs) and Non-Registable Interests, in accordance with 
the Council’s dispensation procedure, should the Member or co-opted Member wish 
to participate in a meeting where any such interests arise. 

6.6 The proposed change to Part 4B’s Access to Information Procedure Rules has been 
made in line with the introduction, within the Constitution, of the Part 5.K Protocol on 
Members’ rights of access to information. This amendment has been made with due 
regard being given to both the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

Approved by: Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation & Corporate Law on 
behalf of the Interim Director of Law & Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

7. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 
7.1 There are no immediate Human Resources implications arising from the contents of 

this report. 
 

Approved by: Gillian Bevan, Head of HR – Resources and Assistant Chief Executive 
 
 
8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
8.1 The constitution of the Council should give due regard to equality and fairness and 

ensure that equality is fundemental to how the Council undertakes its core business. 
The Council has a statutory duty to comply with the provisions set out in the Sec 149 
Equality Act 2010. The Council must therefore have due regard to: 

 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

8.2 Any constitutional review should have regard, wherever possible, to the vision that 
Croydon is a fairer, safer, more inclusive borough, where everyone has a voice and 
feels as if they belong. The review should also have regard wherever possible to the 
Council’s core priotity, which is to focus on tackling ingrained inequality and poverty in 
the borough. 

 
Approved by: Denise McCausland, Equality Programme Manager 

 
9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
9.1 There is no environmental impact arising from this report. 
 
10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 
 
10.1 There is no crime and disorder impact arising from this report. 
 
11. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING OF 

‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 
 No. 
 
11.2 HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN COMPLETED? 
 
 N/A. 
 
 Approved by: Richard Ennis, Interim Director of Resources. 

Page 20



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER:   Heather Wills, Governance Improvement Adviser; 

heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk  
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT:  
 
1: Proposed changes and amendments to the Constitution 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None. 

 

Page 21

mailto:heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 1 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

PART 2 

ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

 
ARTICLE 1 The Constitution 

 

1.1 The Constitution 
 

This Constitution and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the 
London Borough of Croydon, hereinafter referred to as ‘The Authority’. 

 
1.2 Powers of the Authority 

 

The Authority shall exercise all its powers and duties in accordance 
with the law and this Constitution. 

 
1.3 Purpose of the Constitution 

 
The purpose of this Constitution is to: 

1 enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community 
in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

2 support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 
authority decision-making; 

3 help Members represent their constituents more effectively; 

4 enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

5 create a powerful and effective means of holding decision– 
makers to public account; 

6 ensure that no one shall review or scrutinise a decision in which 
they were directly involved; 

7 ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly 
identifiable to local people and they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and 

8 provide a means of  improving delivery of services to the 
community. 

 

1.4 Interpretation and review of the Constitution 
 

The Council shall monitor and evaluate the operation of the 
Constitution as set out in Article 15. 

Page 23



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 2 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 2 Members 

 
2.1 Composition and eligibility 

 
(a) Composition. The Council shall comprise 70 Members. With 

the exception of Park Hill and Whitgift which shall return one 
Member, and the following Wards which shall each return two 
Members: Addiscombe East, Kenley, New Addington North, New 
Addington South, Norbury and Pollards Hill, Norbury Park, Old 
Coulsdon, Purley Oaks and Riddlesdown, Selhurst, Selsdon 
and Addington Village, Selsdon Vale and Forestdale, and 
Shirley South, three Members shall be elected by the voters of 
each Ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the 
Boundary Committee for England and approved by the 
Electoral Commission. 

 
(b) Eligibility. Only registered voters of the Borough or those living 

or working (as provided by statute) there shall be eligible to hold 
the office of Member. 

 
2.2 Election and terms of Members 

 
The regular election of Members shall be held on the first Thursday in 
May every four years. The terms of office of Members shall start on the 
fourth day after being elected and shall finish on the fourth day after the 
date of the next regular election. In the event of a vacancy occurring 
between regular elections, a by-election will be held in accordance with 
statutory provisions. 

 
2.3 Roles and functions of all Members. 

 
(a) Key roles. All Members shall: 

(i) collectively as members of the Council be the ultimate 
policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

(ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the 
Council’s decision-making process, i.e. become an 
advocate of and for their communities; 

(iii) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for 
constituents in resolving particular concerns or 
grievances; 

(iv) balance different interests identified within their Ward and 

Page 24



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 3 of 37 
 

represent the Ward as a whole; 

(v) be involved in decision taking and/or the scrutiny function; 

(vi) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 

(vii) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

 

(b) Rights and Duties 

(i) Members shall have such rights of access to such 
documents, information, land and buildings of the Council 
as are necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions and in accordance with the law. 

(ii) Members shall not make public, information which is 
confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council 
or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other 
than a Member or officer entitled to know it. 

(iii) For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” 
information are defined in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 
2.4 Conduct 

 
Members shall at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct 
Members and co-opted Members as set out in Part 5I of this 
Constitution. 

 

2.5 Allowances 
 

Members shall be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 
Scheme of Members’ Allowances set out in Part 6A of this Constitution. 

Page 25



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 4 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 3 Citizens and the Council 

 

3.1 Citizens’ Rights 
 

Citizens have the following rights. Their rights to information and to 
participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution: 

 
(a) Voting.  Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough have the 

right to vote in local, national and European elections in 
accordance with statutory provisions. 

 

(b) Petitions. i) Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough may 
sign a petition to request a referendum for an Elected Mayor 
form of Constitution. ii) Local People (working, studying or 
resident in the Borough) may sign a petition to request particular 
actions. 

 
(c) Information. Citizens have the right to: 

(i) attend meetings of the Full Council, its Committees and 
Sub Committees, the Cabinet and its Committees except 
where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 
disclosed and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

(ii) find out what key decisions shall be taken and when; 

(iii) see reports and background papers and any records of 
decisions made by the Council, its Committees or Sub 
Committees, the Cabinet or its Committees except where 
these contain confidential or exempt information; 

(iv) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views 
known to the external auditor; and 

(v) inspect the Register of Members’ Interests. 
 

(d) Participation. Citizens have the right to participate at Full 
Council meetings through Public Question Time and may be 
invited to contribute to investigations by any Committee or Sub 
Committee charged with a scrutiny role. 

 
(e) Complaints. Citizens have the right to complain to: 

(i) the Council itself under its complaints schemes; 

(ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints 
scheme; 

Page 26



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 5 of 37 
 

(iii) the Monitoring Officer of the London Borough of Croydon 
about an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
3.2 Citizens’ Responsibilities 

 
Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Members or staff 
and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Members or 
staff. 

 
Citizens are encouraged to make conscientious use of their roles as 
both voters and members of a wider community. In particular by: 

(a) voting at every opportunity; 

(b) respecting the expression of differing opinions in public debate; 

(c) promoting tolerance and respect between their fellow citizens; and 

(d) individually and collectively seeking information about the 
decision-making role of Members and respecting the Authority’s 
procedures which give effect to a representative democracy. 

Page 27



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 6 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 4 The Full Council 

 
4.1 Functions of the Full Council 

 
Unless otherwise delegated to a Committee or Officer the Council shall 
exercise the following functions: 

(a) adopting and changing the Constitution with the exception of 
matters allocated to the Leader (and or Cabinet as appropriate) 
and related Procedure Rules and subject to the provisions of 
Article 15 in relation to minor and consequential amendments and 
of Article 16 in relation to the powers of the Leader and Cabinet 
and certain Committees to agree protocols; 

(b) defining, approving or adopting the Policy Framework, approving 
and adopting the Budget and any application to the Secretary of 
State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer; 

(c) subject to the special urgency procedure contained in the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution, 
making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an 
executive function which is covered by the Policy Framework or 
the Budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a 
manner which would be contrary to the Policy Framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget if the 
procedure for approval in Part 4E has not been complied with; 

(d) appointing the Mayor and notes the appointment of the Deputy 
Mayor; 

(e) appointing and removing the Leader; 

(f) agreeing and amending the terms of reference for non-executive 
Committees, deciding on their composition and making 
appointments to them; [The Council Solicitor is empowered to 
make in year appointment to committees after consultation with 
party whips]; 

(g) appointing representatives to outside bodies at the Annual Meeting 
[In respect of Executive appointments the Leader and Cabinet or 
the Council Solicitor, after consultation with the relevant Cabinet 
Member may make appointments to outside bodies as necessary 
during the year. In respect of Non-Executive appointments the 
General Purposes and Audit Committee or the Council Solicitor 
after consultation with the Chair of the General Purposes and Audit 
Committee may make appointments to outside bodies as 
necessary during the year.]; 

Page 28



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 7 of 37 
 

(h) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 

(i) changing the name of the area, conferring the title of Honorary 
Alderman or Alderwoman or granting Freedom of the Borough, 
conferring the title of Honorary Recorder; 

(j) confirming the appointment of the Head of the Paid Service; 

(k) Following receipt of a report from Appointments Committee under 
the Staff Employment Procedure Rules, to consider disciplinary 
action, including dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer. Before the taking of a vote at 
the relevant Council meeting on whether or not to approve such a 
dismissal, full Council must take into account, in particular: 

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Appointments 
Committee; 

(b) the conclusions  of any  investigation into  the proposed 
dismissal; and 

(c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

(l) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and 
promoting or  opposing the making of local legislation or Private 
Members’ bills and/or Local Acts; 

(m) any other non-executive functions which the Council has decided 
should be undertaken by itself; 

(n) consider reports of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, together 
where necessary with the response of the Leader and Cabinet or 
relevant non-executive Committee as appropriate; 

(o) approval of a three-year Statement of Principles under section 349 
of the Gambling Act 2005 and passing a resolution that no casino 
premises licences will be granted by the Authority under section 
166 of the Gambling Act 2005; 

(p) approve the pay policy statement; and 
 

(q) any other matters which by law must be reserved to the Council. 
 
4.2 Meanings 

 
(a) Policy Framework. The policy framework which the Council 

has reserved to itself to approve, means the Plans Policies and 
Strategies set out in the appendix to this Article. 

(b) The Council may add further significant plans and strategies to 
the Policy Framework as it sees fit from time to time. 

 
(c) Budget. The Budget includes the allocation of financial 

resources to different services and projects, proposed 
contingency funds, setting the Council Tax and decisions 
relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, 

Page 29



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 8 of 37 
 

the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement 
limits. 

 

(d) Housing Land Transfers. To authorise applications under 
Section 135 of the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban 
Development Act 1993 to the Secretary of State to include a 
qualifying disposal in the disposals programme or to dispose of 
land under Section 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985 where the 
specific consent of the Secretary of State is required. 

 
4.3 Full Council Meetings 

 
There are four types of Full Council meetings: 

 
(a) the Annual Meeting; 

(b) Ordinary Meetings; 

(c) Extraordinary Meetings; and 

(d) Special Meetings. 
 

These meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Council 
Procedure Rules in Part 4A of this Constitution. 

 
 
4.4 Responsibility for Functions 

 
The Council has set out in Part 3 of this Constitution the responsibilities 
for the Council’s functions, which are not the responsibility of the Leader 
and Cabinet. 

Page 30



 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

Appendix to Article 4.02 

 
Policy Framework. 

1. Equality Strategy; 
 

2. Health and Well Being Strategy; 
 
 

3. Community Safety Strategy; 
 

4. Children and Young Persons Plan; 
 

5. Initial Local Implementation (Transport) Plan; 
 

6. Annual Council Budget 
 

7. Licensing Statement; 
 

8. Gambling Strategy; 
 

9. The Admission arrangements for Community schools; 
 

10. The plans and strategies for planning, development and conservation in 
the Borough comprising the Croydon Plan and other approved and 
adopted development plan documents and supplementary planning 
documents which make up the Local Development Framework for 
Croydon; 

 
11. Plans, Policies and Strategies which together make up the Housing 

Strategy; 

 
12. Youth Justice Plan. 

 

13. The Making or revising of a Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
 
 

May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 9 of 37 

Page 31



 

14. Exercise of the power to determine further discounts for certain 
dwellings and set higher amount of council tax in respect of long term 
empty dwellings under sections 11A and 11B of the LGFA 1992, as 
amended 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Articles 
May 2018 

Part 2 / Page 10 of 37 

Page 32



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 11 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 5 The Mayor 

 

5.1 Role and functions of the Mayor 
 

A Mayor shall be elected by the Council annually and shall have the 
following roles and functions: 

(a) The Mayor shall be the ceremonial representative of the Council, 
taking precedence on all such occasions. 

(b) The Mayor, or in the Mayor’s absence the Deputy Mayor, shall 
chair meetings of the Full Council and in this connection, shall 
exercise all the powers and duties described in the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

The Mayor shall have the following responsibilities: 

(c) to uphold and promote the purpose of the Constitution and to 
interpret it when necessary; 

(d) to preside over meetings of the Full Council so that its business 
can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Members and the interests of the community; 

(e) to ensure that the Full Council meeting is a forum for the debate 
of matters of concern to the local community and, subject to the 
arrangements for Scrutiny and Overview set out at Article 6, the 
place at which Members who are not Members of the Cabinet or 
a Committee Chair are able to hold the Leader and Cabinet and 
Committee Chairs to account; 

(f) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; and 

(g) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as are appropriate. 
 
5.2 Continuing Membership in Council Election Year 

 

In a year when the term of office of the Mayor spans full Council 
elections the Mayor shall, unless he/she resigns or becomes 
disqualified, continue in office and remain as a Member of the Council 
until his/her successor becomes entitled to act as Mayor 
notwithstanding that he/she does not seek or achieve re-election as a 
Member. 

 
In a year when the term of office of the Deputy Mayor spans full 
Council elections the Deputy Mayor shall, unless he/she resigns or 
becomes disqualified, continue in office until his/her successor 

Page 33



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 12 of 37 
 

becomes entitled to act as Deputy Mayor, but shall not remain as a 
Member of the Council unless he/she achieves re-election as a 
Member. 

 

5.3 Voting Rights at the Annual Council Meeting 
 

(a) If the person presiding at the Annual Meeting of the Council would 
have ceased to be a Member of the Council but for the provision at 
5.02 above, he/she shall not be entitled to vote at the Annual 
Meeting except in accordance with (b) below. 

 
(b) In the case of an equality of votes, the person presiding at the 

meeting shall give a casting vote in addition to any other vote 
he/she may have. 

Page 34



 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 6 Scrutiny and Overview 

 
6.1 Terms of reference 

 

The Council shall appoint a Scrutiny and Overview Committee to discharge 
the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, any 
Regulations made under Section 32 of that Act, the Health and Social Care 
Act 2001, the Local Government Act 2003, the Police and Justice Act 2006, 
National Health Service Act 2006, the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, the Localism Act 2011 and the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and any other subsequent legislation. Without prejudice 
to this legislation, the terms of reference of the Committee are as set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
6.2 General Role 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee may: 

(a) review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in 
connection with the discharge of any of the Executive’s or 
Council’s functions; 

 
(b) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation  to its 

policy objectives, community needs and particular service areas; 
 

(c) in accordance with statute and statutory regulations, review and 
scrutinise the work of partner agencies, partnership boards and any 
other body providing services to the public; 

 
(d) question members of the Cabinet, Committee Chairs, Council Officers 

and representatives of partner agencies, partnership boards and any 
other body providing public services about decisions and performance, 
whether generally in comparison of service plans and targets over a 
period of  time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or 
projects; 

 
(e) make reports or recommendations on matters affecting the area or its 

inhabitants; 
 

(f) question and gather evidence from any other person and conduct 
research and consultation in the analysis of policy issues and 
possible options; 

(g) make reports and recommendations to the Full Council, the Executive 
or relevant non-executive Committee, partner agency or Partnership 
Board in connection with the discharge of any functions; 

Page 35



 

(h) discharge the functions relating to petitions as 
set out elsewhere in this Constitution; 

 

(i) receive and discharge the Council’s functions in relation to 
Health Watch referrals and Councillor Call for Action; 

 
(j) recommend that a key decision made by the Executive but 

not yet implemented be reconsidered by the Executive; 
 

(k) appoint such Sub-Committees as may be required in order to 
discharge the Scrutiny and Overview role and shall allocate 
areas of responsibility to each Sub-Committee, determine the 
terms of reference of the Sub-Committees when they are 
established, appoint the members to the Sub-Committee, 
including any co-optees and co- ordinate the work 
programmes of the Sub Committees; 

 
(l) receive the reports and recommendations of its 

Sub- Committees; 
 

(m) report annually to the Council on its work; 
 

(n) Establish or join Joint Scrutiny Committees  in  partnership with 
any other authority to scrutinise Executive decisions taken by 
Joint Committees established in accordance with Article 11 of 
this Constitution. 

 
6.3 Application to Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees 

 
Article 6.2 shall apply to any Sub-Committees appointed by the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee acting within their respective 
delegations with the  following exceptions: 

 

 Any Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees established shall 
not be permitted to appoint further members or co-optees onto 
the Sub- Committee. 

 With the exception of reports and recommendations from the 
Children &  Young People Scrutiny Sub- Committee, Health & 
Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee and Streets Environment 
and Homes Scrutiny Sub Committee, any reports and 
recommendations from the Sub- Committees established by 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall, in the first instance, be 
considered by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, and Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee may thereafter take any of the actions 
specified in 6.2 

 
If, however, the Council’s Health Scrutiny functions have been 
delegated to a Sub-Committee, any referrals from the Health 
Watch shall be considered by that Sub-Committee alone. 

Page 36



 

6.4 Proceedings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and 
its Sub Committees 

 
The Committee and Sub Committees shall conduct their proceedings in 
accordance with the Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 37



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 15 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 7 Executive Arrangements 

 
7.1 Role 

 

The Council has allocated to the Leader under the Local Government 
Act 2000 and Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007, and any subsequent related legislation, all the powers and duties 
of the Authority, other than those reserved to the Council or delegated 
to a non-executive Committee or Sub-Committee, or the Chief 
Executive of the Council by Statute or this Constitution. 

 
7.2 Form and composition 

 

The Cabinet shall consist of the Leader appointed by Full Council 
together with not more than 9 other Members appointed by the Leader 
at least one of whom shall be the Statutory Deputy Leader. 

 
7.3 Leader 

 

1. The Leader shall be a Member appointed to the position of 
Leader by the Council, normally at the Annual Meeting or at the next 
meeting of the Council after a vacancy arises. Except in an election 
year when the Leader’s term of office ends on the day of the post 
election Annual Council meeting, the Leader shall hold office for four 
years or until he/she: 

(a) resigns from office; or 

(b) is suspended from being a Member under relevant statutory 
provisions (although he/she may resume office at the end of the 
period of suspension); or 

(c) he/she ceases to be a Member except where the Leader fails to 
be returned as a Member following an ordinary election of all 
Members when, unless the Leader resigns, he/she is disqualified 
or is otherwise removed from office he/she shall continue as 
Leader until the day of the Annual Meeting; or 

(d) is removed from office by resolution of the Extraordinary Council 
meeting (such a resolution may only be moved on 10 working 
days’ notice in writing to the Head of the Paid Service of the 
Council); or 

 
(e) by resolution of the Council where he/she fails for six months to 

attend any meeting of the Cabinet, or any Cabinet Committee or, 
acting alone, fails to discharge any functions which are the 
responsibility of the Leader then unless the failure was due to 

Page 38



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 16 of 37 
 

some reason approved by the Council, he/she shall cease to be 
a Member of the Council. 

 

2. 
a. Where the Annual Council Meeting or any other meeting of 

the Council fails to elect a Leader an Extraordinary Meeting 
of the Council shall be held within a maximum of ten working 
days for the purpose of electing a Leader. 

b. Where a meeting of the Council removes a Leader from 
office then a new Leader is to be elected at that meeting. 

c. Where a Leader resigns then an Extraordinary Meeting of the 
Council shall be held within ten working days of the receipt of 
the letter of resignation for the purpose of electing a Leader. 

 

3. In the period between the ordinary election of Members and the 
appointment of a Leader, if for any reason there is not a Leader in place 
then any Executive decisions normally reserved to Members 
which need to be taken as a matter of urgency to protect the interest of 
the Council or which cannot be delayed until after the appointment of 
the Leader shall be taken by the Chief Executive in consultation with 
the Leader of the Group with the overall majority of seats following the 
election. In the event of there being no Group with an overall majority of 
seats the Chief Executive shall consult with all Group Leaders. 

 
4. Where the Leader (“Original Leader”) ceases to be a Leader in 
accordance with 7.03.1 (above) the Statutory Deputy Leader shall 
exercise the powers of the Leader until a new Leader is appointed by 
the Full Council (“New Leader”). The New Leader shall hold the office 
for the balance of the remaining term of office of the Original Leader or 
until such of the conditions of paragraph 7.03.1 shall apply. 

 
7.4 Statutory Deputy Leader 

 
The Leader shall appoint one Cabinet Member to the position of 
Statutory Deputy Leader. The Statutory Deputy Leader shall hold office 
for a period determined by the Leader until he/she: 

 
(a) resigns from office; 

(b) is suspended from being a Member under relevant statutory 
provisions; 

(c) is no longer a Member; or 

(d) is removed from office by the Leader. 
 
 
7.5 Cabinet Members 

 
1. Cabinet Members shall be Members appointed by the Leader to 
the position of Cabinet Member with a specific portfolio responsibility 

Page 39



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 17 of 37 
 

for a period determined by the Leader. Cabinet Members shall hold 
office until they: 

(a) resign from office; 

(b) are suspended from being Members under relevant statutory 
provisions; 

(c) are no longer Members; or 

(d) are removed from office by the Leader. 
 

2. In an election year, the Cabinet Members shall continue to hold 
office until the day of the Election. 

 
7.6 Cabinet Committees 

 
The Leader may establish one or more Cabinet Committees to exercise 
specified delegated executive functions. 

 
7.7 Deputies to Cabinet Members 

 
The Leader may appoint one or more Members as Deputies to advise a 
Cabinet Member or Members on particular areas within their  
portfolio(s). Any such Deputies are not Executive Members and may 
not exercise the powers of the Executive or vote on any matter for 
decision at a Cabinet or Cabinet Committee meeting. The areas of 
responsibility of any Deputies appointed shall be determined and may 
be varied by the Leader of the Council. 

 
7.8 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 
Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the 
Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 40



 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 8 Non-Executive Committees 

 

8.1 Non-Executive Committees 
 

The Council has established Committees in order to discharge its 
functions and has determined to appoint the Committees named below. 
Rules of Procedure for these Committees are set out in the Non- 
Executive Committee Procedure Rules contained in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 

 
Committee Membership 

 
 

 

Appointments Committee 6 Members + 2 
independent voting co-optees for specified purposes 

 

 
Ethics Committee 6 Members + 2 

independent non- 
voting co-optees 

 
 
 

General Purposes & Audit Committee 10 Members + 1 
independent Chair for 
Audit Purposes (non-
voting co-optee) and 1 
independent non- 
voting co-optee (for 
Audit Purposes) 

 
 

 
General Purposes & Audit Urgency 3 Members drawn 

Sub- Committee from the membership 

of the General Purposes 
and Audit Committee 
excluding Independent 
Chair and independent 
non-voting co-optee. 

 

 

 Page 41



 

Committee Membership 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 5 Majority Group 
Members (voting) –such 
members to include the 
Cabinet Member for 
Families Health and 
Social Care and the 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
and Learning 
2 Minority Group 
Members (voting) 
Corporate Director Adult 
Social Care & Health 
(non-voting) Director of 
Public Health (non-
voting) 
CCG Representative 
(voting) 
Croydon Health Services 
NHS Trust Chair (non- 
voting) 
Healthwatch 
(Croydon) 
Representative 
(voting) 
South London & 
Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust 
Representative (non- 
voting) 
Croydon Voluntary 
Action Representative 
(non-voting) 

 
Licensing Committee 12 voting members (+ 

pool of 10 reserve 
Members) 

 
Licensing Sub-Committee (ad hoc) 3 voting members drawn 

from Membership of 
Licensing Committee 

 
Mayoralty & Honorary Freedom 5 Members 
Selection Sub- Committee 

 
Pension Board Independent non-voting 

Chair and 3 Employer 
representatives (one to 
be a Councillor) & 3 
Employee  representatives 

Page 42



 

Committee Membership 
 

Pension Committee 8 Members + 1 voting co 
optee and 2 non-voting 
co-optees 

 

 
Planning Committee 10 Members 

 
Planning Sub-Committee 5 Members drawn from 

the membership of the 
Planning Committee 

 
Scrutiny & Overview Committee 6 Members + 1 non- 

voting co-optee in respect 
of crime & disorder 
matters 

 

Children & Young People Scrutiny Sub- 
Committee 

8 Members + 4 voting 
and 1 non-voting co- 
optees 

 
 

Health & Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee 6 Members + 1 non-voting co- 
optee from Healthwatch (Croydon) 
 

 
Streets Environment and Homes Scrutiny 
Sub Committee- 

 
 

8.2 Delegations 

 

7 Members 

 

The Council delegations to the above Committees are as set out in 
Responsibility for Functions contained in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 43



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 20 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 9 The Ethics Committee 

 
9.1 Ethics Committee 

 
The Council has established an Ethics Committee. 

 
9.2 Composition 

 
(a) The Ethics Committee shall be composed of five Members 

(none of whom shall be the Mayor or Leader). 

 
(b) No Cabinet Member appointed to the Committee shall be eligible 

to Chair meetings of the Ethics Committee. 
 

(c )  Appointed ”Independent Persons” shall be entitled to attend and 
may vote at meetings of the Ethics Committee, where the 
committee is dealing with a specific allegation against a 
Member. 

 
9.3 Role and Function 

 
The roles and functions of the Ethics Committee are set out in 
Responsibility for Functions contained in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 44



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 21 of 37 
 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 10 Community Governance 

 
The Council may, at its discretion, create, facilitate or participate in 
neighbourhood partnerships, area forums, area committees, focus groups and 
service or user based consultative groups as part of its community leadership 
role and in order to aid transparent and accountable decision-making. If 
invited to do so, the Council may appoint representatives to serve on existing 
(and any subsequently established) community forums/partnerships. 

Page 45



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 22 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 11 Joint Arrangements 

 
11.1 Arrangements to promote well-being 

 
The Council or the Leader may: 

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

(b) co-operate with or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any 
person or body; and 

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that 
person or body. 

 
11.2 Joint Arrangements 

 
(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more 

local authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions 
which are not executive functions in any of the participating 
authorities, or advise the Council. Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other 
local authorities. 

(b) The Leader may establish joint arrangements with one or more 
local authorities to exercise functions which are executive 
functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of 
joint committees with these other local authorities. 

(c) Except as set out below, the Leader may only appoint Cabinet 
Members to a joint committee and those Members need not 
reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole. 

(d) The Leader may appoint Members who are not Cabinet 
Members to a joint committee in the following circumstances: 

Where the joint committee has functions for only part of the 
Borough, and that part is smaller than two-fifths of the Authority 
by area or population. In such cases, the Leader may appoint to 
the joint committee any Member for a Ward, which is wholly or 
partly contained within the area concerned. 

(e) The Council or the Leader have established Joint Committees 
with terms of reference which are set out in Schedule 1 to this 
Article. 

Page 46



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 23 of 37 
 

11.3 Access to Information 
 

(a) The Access to Information Rules set out in Part 4B of this 
Constitution shall apply to any joint committees established 
under paragraph 11.02 above unless the Constitution of the joint 
committee specifies alternative Access to Information Rules. 

(b) If all the members of a joint committee are Executive Members 
in each of the participating authorities, then its access to 
information regime is the same as that applied under the 
Executive Procedure Rules. 

(c) If the joint committee contains Members who are not on the 
executive of any participating authority then the access to 
information rules in Part VI of the Local Government Act 1972 
shall apply. 

 
11.4 Delegation to and from other local authorities 

 
(a) The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another 

local authority. 

(b) The Leader may delegate executive functions to the executive of 
another local authority in certain circumstances. 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 
another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting. 

 
11.5 Contracting Out 

 
Any contracting out arrangements which are subject to an order under 
section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994 will 
appear at Schedule 2 to this article. 

Page 47



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 24 of 37 
 

ARTICLE 11 - SCHEDULE 1 
 

The Bandon Hill Cemetery Joint Committee 

 
The provision and management of the Bandon Hill Cemetery with the London 
Borough of Sutton 

 

The Coast to Capital Joint Committee 
 
The Croydon/Lewisham Street Lighting Joint Committee 

 
The joint governance of a street lighting PFI contract. 

 

South London Partnership Joint Committee 
 
The setting and reviewing of objectives for strategic growth, regeneration and 
investment with the London Boroughs of Merton, Sutton and Richmond upon 
Thames and the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames. 

 
South London Waste Partnership Joint Committee 

 
The joint procurement and management of waste disposal contracts with the 
London Boroughs of Merton, Sutton and the Royal Borough of Kingston upon 
Thames. 

 
London Councils 

 

The effective coordination and formulation of policy and discharge of functions 
and any other related Joint Committees acting on behalf of the constituent 
authorities and as set out in the Schedules of the Agreement made under 
sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
The Pensions Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) Sectoral Joint 
Committee 

 
Hosted by London Councils, the joint committee is established under section 
102 of the Local Government Act 1972 with a view to pooling pension 
investments and with functions necessary for the proper functioning of the 
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) Operator(which is the company that 
would manage the ACS), including the effective oversight of the ACS 
Operator. 

Page 48



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 25 of 37 
 

ARTICLE 11 - SCHEDULE 2 
 

 

None 

Page 49



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 26 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 12 Staff 

 
12.1 Definition 

 
“Staff” includes all persons with a permanent, short term, fixed or temporary 
contract with the Authority. 

 
12.2 Management Structure 

 
(a) General. The Authority may engage such staff as it considers 

necessary to carry out its functions. 
 
 

(b)  Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 
The Council designates the following posts as shown: 

 
Post Designation 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 

Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

Corporate Director 
Resources  

Chief Finance Officer and 
Section 151 Officer 

 
 

12.3 Functions of the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service 
 

(a) Discharge of functions by the Council. The Chief Executive 
shall report to the Council on the manner in which the discharge 
of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated and the staff required 
for the discharge of functions. 

 
(b) Restrictions on functions. The Chief Executive may not be the 

Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer 
if a qualified accountant. 

Page 50



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 27 of 37 
 

(c) Consideration of applications for dispensation by Executive 
Members in relation to Conflicts of Interest relating to 
Executive Decisions in which they are involved. The Chief 
Executive, by virtue of the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 4B of the Constitution, is required to consider 
applications for a dispensation from Members of the Executive in 
relation to an Executive Decision where they are either: 

(i) a Member of the executive decision making body 
and have a conflict of interest; or 

(ii) are consulted by a Member taking an Executive 
Decision and the Executive Member consulted has 
a conflict of interest; or 

(iii) are consulted by an officer taking an Executive 
Decision and the Executive Member consulted has 
a conflict of interest 

And grant a note of dispensation if satisfied that it is appropriate 
to do so 

 
12.4 Functions of the Monitoring Officer (Council Solicitor) 

 
(a) Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer shall 

maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution including 
making such changes as envisaged by paragraph 15.02 and 
shall ensure that it is widely available for Members, staff and the 
public to consult. 

 
(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making. After 

consulting with the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance 
Officer, the Monitoring Officer shall report to the Full Council, or 
the Leader in relation to an executive function, if they consider 
that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawful action. Such a report shall have the effect of stopping 
the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has 
been considered. 

 
(c) Supporting the Ethics Committee. The Monitoring Officer shall 

contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards 
of conduct through provision of support to the Ethics Committee. 

 
(d) Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer shall 

conduct investigations into matters referred by the Ethics 
Committee and make reports and recommendations in respect 
of them to the Ethics Committee. 

 

(e) Dispensations where Disclosable pecuniary interests exist: 
The Monitoring Officer shall consider applications for a grant of a 
dispensation for a Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
in the following circumstances: 

Page 51



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 28 of 37 
 

i. That so many Members of the decision-making 
body have disclosable pecuniary interests (DPIs) 
in a matter that it would impede the transaction of 
the business; or 

ii. That, without a dispensation, no Member of the 
Cabinet would be able to participate in 
consideration of this matter. 

 
And may refer the dispensation request to the Ethics Committee 
to advise on or express a view should the Monitoring Officer 
consider it appropriate to do so. Granting dispensations in other 
circumstances is a matter reserved to the Ethics Committee. 

 
(f) Proper Officer for Access to Information. The Monitoring 

Officer shall ensure that Cabinet and other executive decisions, 
together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer 
reports and background papers are made publicly available as 
soon as possible. 

 
(g) Advising whether decisions are within the Budget and 

Policy Framework. The Monitoring Officer shall advise whether 
decisions of the Council, a Committee, or Sub-Committee, the 
Leader, the Cabinet, or Cabinet Committee or an Officer under 
their allocated or delegated powers are in accordance with the 
budget and policy framework. 

 
(h) Contributing to corporate management. The Monitoring 

Officer shall contribute to the corporate management of the 
Council, in particular through the provision of professional legal 
advice. 

 
(i) Providing advice. The Monitoring Officer shall provide advice 

on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, probity and Policy Framework issues to all 
Members. 

 
(j) A Monitoring Officer Protocol is included at Part 5C of this 

Constitution. 
 

(k) Restrictions on functions. The Monitoring Officer cannot be 
the Chief Finance Officer or the Chief Executive. 

 
12.5 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

 

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision- 
making. After consulting with the Chief Executive and the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer shall report to the 
Full Council, or to the Leader (and/or Cabinet as appropriate) in 

Page 52



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 29 of 37 
 

relation to an executive function, and the Council’s external 
auditor if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of 
action shall involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful 
and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is 
about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 

(b) Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer 
shall have responsibility for the administration of the financial 
affairs of the Council. 

 
(c) Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance 

Officer shall contribute to the corporate management of the 
Council, in particular through the provision of professional 
financial advice. 

 
(d) Providing advice. The Chief Finance Officer shall provide 

advice on the scope of powers and authority to take financial 
decisions, financial impropriety, probity and budget issues to all 
Members and shall support and advise Members and staff in 
their respective roles. 

 
(e) Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer shall 

provide financial information to the media, members of the public 
and the community. 

 
(f) Restrictions of Functions. The Chief Finance Officer cannot 

be the Monitoring Officer. 
 
 
12.6 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and 

Chief Finance Officer 
 

The Council shall provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer, with such staff, accommodation and other resources as are in 
their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

 
12.7 Conduct 

 

Staff shall comply with the Staff Code of Conduct and the protocol on 
Staff-Member Relations as set out in Part 5B of this Constitution. 

 
12.8 Employment 

 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of staff shall comply with the 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

Page 53



 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 13 Decision making 

 
13.1 Responsibility for decision making 

 

The Authority shall issue and keep up to date a record of the body or individual 
that has responsibility on behalf of the Council for particular types of decisions 
or decisions relating to particular areas or functions.  This record is set out in 
Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
13.2 Types of decision 

 
(a) Various levels of decision making provided for under this 

Constitution can be described as follows: 

(i) Non-Executive functions: Council - Committees - Sub- 
Committees - delegations to the Chief Executive. 

(ii) Executive functions: The Leader, the Cabinet - Cabinet 
Committees - Cabinet Member - delegations to the Chief 
Executive. 

 
Whilst specific functions are reserved to the Full Council by statute a purpose of 
this Constitution is to encourage delegation of decision making to individual 
officers. Where such decisions have been delegated it remains open to the 
body or person making the delegation to call back for their own decision, issues 
of significance or sensitivity and for the decision maker to refer matters upwards 
for determination. 

 
Except where a decision is taken by the Chief Executive on grounds of 
urgency, as a matter of principle all Key Decisions shall be taken by the 
Leader, or Cabinet at a meeting of the Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee, or by 
a Cabinet Member or Chief Officer using powers as specifically delegated. 

 
Decisions which the Council are delegating to Committees are identified in 
Article 8 and Part 3, Responsibility for Functions, of this Constitution. 

 

(b) Decisions reserved to the Full Council. Decisions relating to the 
functions listed in Article 4.1 shall be made by the Full Council and not 
delegated, except to the General Purposes and Audit C ommittee or 
the Chief Executive on grounds of urgency and where this is not in 
conflict with a statutory provision. 

(c) Urgency shall mean a decision that is required where the interests of 
the Council are prejudiced if a decision were not to be taken prior to the 
next scheduled ordinary meeting of the Full Council. Decisions taken 
under this urgency procedure shall be reported to the next Council 
meeting. Matters reserved by statute to the Full Council may not be 
dealt with under this urgency procedure. 

 

(d) Key Decisions: Subject to the provision that a decision taker may only 
Page 54



 

take a decision in accordance with the requirements of the Executive 
Procedure Rules and in compliance with the provisions of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out, respectively in Part 4 of this 
Constitution, a Key Decision is an executive decision which is likely to: 

(i) result in the Council incurring expenditure, or making savings, 
of more than £1,000,000 or such smaller sum which the 
decision-taker considers is significant having regard to the 
Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates; or 

(ii) significant in terms of its effects on communities living or 
working in an area comprising two or more Wards in the 
Borough. 

 
13.3 Decision making by the Full Council 

 
Subject to article 13.8, the Council meeting shall follow the Council Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

13.4 Decision making by the Leader and Cabinet 
 

Subject to article 13.8, the Leader and Cabinet shall follow the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any 
matter. No executive decision or Key Decision shall be taken in private unless it 
complies with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
13.5 Decision Making by Officers 

 
Subject to article 13.8, Officers shall follow the Decision Making Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

13.6 Decision making by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 

The Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its sub committees shall follow the 
Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules set out in Part 4E of this Constitution 
when considering any matter. 

 
13.7 Decision making by other Committees and Sub Committees 

established by the Council 
 

Subject to article 13.8 and 13.9, other Council Committees and Sub- 
Committees shall follow the Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
13.8 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 

 
The Authority or Members acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner in 
respect of any person shall follow a proper procedure which accords with the 
requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair hearing contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights 

 
13.9 Decision making by Health and Wellbeing Board 

The Authority has established a Health and Wellbeing Board with functions 
and terms of reference as set out in Part 4L. The Health and Wellbeing Board 

Page 55



 

is, save for the following exceptions, to be treated as a Council Committee 
and subject to the Non-Executive Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. The exceptions are: 
13.9.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not permitted to establish or 

delegate functions to a Sub-Committee 
13.9.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not permitted to appoint 

additional members or co-opt members onto the Board 
13.9.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not subject to the Rules on 

proportionality or the duty to allocate seats under the provisions 
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

13.9.4 All Board members who are also elected Members of the 
authority, and all statutory members of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, except the Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health 
and the Director of Public Health, shall be voting members of 
the Board. Any non- statutory members of the Board shall be 
non-voting members. 

13.9.5 The Health and Wellbeing Board may only perform those 
functions specifically assigned to it by statute or delegated by this 
Constitution 

13.9.6 Health and Wellbeing board is not permitted to undertake Health 
Scrutiny functions. 

Page 56



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 33 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

ARTICLE 14 Finance, contracts and legal matters 

14.1 Financial management 
 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs shall be conducted in 
accordance with the Financial Regulations set out in Part 4H of this 
Constitution. 

 
14.2 Contracts 

 
Every contract which falls within the remit of the Council’s Tenders and 
Contracts Regulations must comply with the provisions of those 
Regulations, as set out in Part 4I of this Constitution. 

 
14.3 Legal proceedings 

 
The Council Solicitor is authorised to institute, defend or participate in 
any proceedings or to settle claims where such action is necessary to 
give effect to decisions of the Authority, protect the interests of the 
Authority, the Borough or some or all of its citizens. Only the Council 
Solicitor may authorise the engagement of a lawyer to act for the 
Council. 

 
14.4 Authentication of documents 

 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Authority, or to give effect to any decision 
of the Authority, it shall be signed by the Council Solicitor, or other 
person authorised by the Council Solicitor. 

 

The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Council Solicitor. A decision of the Council, or any part 
of it, shall be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to 
give effect to the decision. The Common Seal shall be affixed to those 
documents, which in the opinion of the Council Solicitor should be 
sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal shall be attested by the 
Council Solicitor, a Deputy Council Solicitor or some other person so 
authorised by the Council Solicitor. Where the affixing of the Common 
Seal follows a decision of the Council it may instead be attested by the 
Mayor and Chief Executive. 

Page 57



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 34 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 15 Review and revision of the Constitution 

 
15.1 Duty to monitor the Constitution 

 
The Council shall monitor and review the operation of the Constitution 
to ensure the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full 
effect. 

 
15.2 Changes to the Constitution 

 
(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below, changes to this Constitution 

shall only be approved by the Full Council after consideration of 
written proposals made by the Leader, Cabinet, General 
Purposes and Audit Committee or Monitoring Officer and the 
submission of a recommendation to a meeting of the Council. 
Changes approved by the Council shall take effect from the 
conclusion of the meeting at which those changes are agreed 
unless the recommendation specifies otherwise. 

 
(b) Provision exists within the remit of the General Purposes and 

Audit Committee to approve changes on the grounds of urgency. 
The Leader and certain Council Committees are also authorised 
to make changes to certain matters included in the Constitution, 
for example the establishment of sub-committees, as indicated 
in the Constitution. The Council Solicitor is authorised, after 
consultation with the Leader or Committee Chair, to make any 
necessary amendments to the Constitution consequent on 
legislation or a decision of the Council, the Leader, the Cabinet 
or a Committee. 

 
(c)  The Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer may agree 

changes to the Council’s Financial Regulations in consultation 
with the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer. 

 

(d) The Council Solicitor shall be empowered to make any changes 
to the Constitution which arise as a result of legislative changes 
and any changes necessitated by administrative convenience. 

 
(e) The Head of Paid Service is empowered to make any changes 

to the job titles and/or descriptions of Officers within the 
Constitution as necessitated by changes to these 
titles/descriptions. 

Page 58



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 35 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 16 Suspension, interpretation and publication of 

the Constitution 

 
16.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

 
(a) Limit to Suspension. The articles of this Constitution may not be 

suspended. The Rules specified below may be suspended by 
the Full Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and 
the law: 

 
Council Procedure Rules 

 

(b) Procedure to Suspend. A motion to suspend Council Procedure 
Rules shall not be moved without notice unless at least one half 
of the total number of Members are present. 

 

16.2 Interpretation 
 

The ruling of the Chair of the Council as to the construction or 
application of the Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council 
shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such 
interpretation shall have regard to the purposes of this Constitution 
contained in Article 1. 

 
The Council may agree protocols to give guidance on the detailed 
operation of any part of the Constitution. In addition the following 
bodies may agree protocols in respect of the matters shown: 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee – Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee/Sub-Committee Protocols. 

 
General Purposes and Audit Committee – Protocols relating to 
the exercise of non-executive functions delegated to the 
Committee. 

 
The Planning Committee and Planning Sub-Committee – 
Protocols relating to participation at meetings of the Committee, 
the conduct of Members in relation to planning matters and other 
aspects of the operation of the Committee. 

 
The Licensing Committee – Protocols relating to the licensing 
function and the conduct of hearings under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005. 

Page 59



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 36 of 37 
 

Any protocol agreed under this Article shall be fully in accordance with 
the Articles of the Constitution and shall be included at Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

 

16.3 Publication 
 

(a) The Council Solicitor may give a copy of this Constitution to 
every Member at an appropriate time. 

 
(b) The Council Solicitor shall ensure that copies of this Constitution 

are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, Council 
Libraries and any other appropriate locations and can be 
purchased by members of the local press and the public on 
payment of a reasonable fee. The Constitution shall also be 
published on the Council’s website. 

Page 60



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 37 of 37 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
SCHEDULE 1 Description of Executive Arrangements 

 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute Executive Arrangements 
under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended: 

 

1 Article 6 Scrutiny and Overview 
2 Article 7 The Leader and Cabinet 
3 Article 10 Community Governance 
4 Article 11 Joint Arrangements; 
5 Article 13 Decision Making 
6 Part 3 Responsibility for Functions. 
7 Part 4B Access to Information Procedure Rules; 
8 Part 4D Executive Procedure Rules; and 
9 Part 4E Scrutiny & Overview Procedure Rules 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
PART 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 
1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 

 
The Council has determined that all local choice functions contained in Schedules 2 and 3 
of The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations (to be known as the 
Functions Regulations) except approval of non- executive contracts, are to be Executive 
functions. 

 
2 RESPONSIBILITY FOR COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 

 
The Council has delegated the responsibilities and functions to the Committees and Sub- 
Committees named below. These Committees may consider and decide any matter of 
relevant non-executive business referred to the Committee by a Sub-Committee, the Chief 
Executive or a Corporate Director. 

 
All Committees have power to create such Sub-Committees as are necessary for the 
efficient conduct of their business. 

 
2.1 Appointments Committee (Membership 6 + 2 Independent voting Co-optees for 

consideration of disciplinary matters as detailed below.) 
1. To carry out interviews and recommend to Council appointments to the 

roles of Corporate Directors and the Chief Executive and to such other 
senior posts in accordance with the Staff Employment Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution 

 
2. To carry out interviews and recommend to Council appointments in respect of 

the Independent Chair of General Purposes and Audit Committee  
 
3. The Authority’s Consultation requirements with the staff side 

 
4. Consideration and recommendation to Full Council of the Pay Policy 

Statement as required. 
 

5. The functions in respect of voting on salary packages upon appointment and 
severance packages of staff above such specified threshold as may, from 
time to time, be updated by statutory guidance. 

 
6. The function of deciding, in respect of severance packages, whether the 

Council wishes to vote on a severance package above the specified 
threshold 

 
7. Consideration of disciplinary action, as defined within the Staff Employment 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, which could result in dismissal 
of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring 
Officer. For this purpose, the Appointments Committee shall include at least 
one Member of the Cabinet and at least two voting co-opted Independent 

Page 63



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

Persons when consideration is being given to dismissal of the Head of Paid 
Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer. The 
Appointments Committee shall consider the matter in accordance with the 
processes and procedures approved by Ethics Committee for this purpose 
from time to time and make a report and recommendations to full Council 
for consideration and final determination. Any such report shall specifically 
include the Committee’s recommendations on appropriate action. 

 
8. Consideration of Suspension of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance 

Officer or Monitoring Officer, including following provisional suspension in 
accordance with the Staff Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution; 

 
9. Any matter not reserved to the Council or delegated to another Committee 

which pertains to a staffing matter and is referred to the Committee by the 
Head of Paid Service for consideration. 

 
2.2 Ethics Committee (Membership 6 + 2 Independent non-voting co-optees) 

 
1. Supporting the statutory role of the Monitoring Officer as set out in Article 12 of 

the Constitution, including the promotion of high standards of Member 
conduct. 

 
2. Receiving reports from the Monitoring Officer on matters of probity and 

ethics, and to consider and recommend any necessary revisions of the 
Members’ Conduct of Conduct (the Code) to the Council. 

 
3. Reviewing the operation of the Code and recommending revisions for the 

consideration of full Council as necessary. 
 

4. Monitoring compliance with the Code and granting any dispensations church 
and parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests 
set out in the Code. 

 
5. Commenting on the content of guidance and advice to be issued to elected 

and non-elected Members. 
 

6. Considering reports and recommendations from the Member Development 
Panel in relation to training for elected and co-opted Members. 

 
7. Agreeing programmes of advice and training for elected, co-opted and non- 

elected Members on ethics and probity, and on the Code. 
 

8. To consider applications for a grant of dispensation in the following 
circumstances: 

 
a) That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 

groups on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter 
the outcome of any vote on the matter. 

b) That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the authority’s area. 

Page 64



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

c) That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation. 

d) If referred to them for consideration by the Monitoring Officer, to advise on 
or express a view on whether a dispensation would be appropriate in 
either of the following circumstances: 
i. That so many Members of the decision-making body have disclosable 

pecuniary interests (DPIs), Other Registrable Interests (ORIs) or Non-
Registrable Interests (NRIs) in a matter that it would impede the 
transaction of the business; or 

ii. That, without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would be able 
to participate on this matter. 

 
9. To agree the processes and procedures for the Appointments Committee for 

the consideration of disciplinary action and suspension pursuant to Part 4J 
of the Constitution. 

 
10. To make future invitations for appointment of Independent Persons in 

accordance with and for the purposes of the Staff Procedure Rules. 
 

11. To undertake the role of Hearings Panel in respect of a complaint that a 
Member or co-opted Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
upon the matter being referred to the Committee by the Monitoring Officer in 
accordance with the arrangements adopted by the Council under the 
Localism Act 2011. 

 
2.3 General Purposes and Audit Committee 

(Membership 10 plus 1 independent non-voting co-opted Chair and 1 
independent non-voting co-opted Member who may not be Members or officers 
of the Council and who are involved only in relation to Audit Functions) 

 
General Purposes Functions: 

 
1. Periodic review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances and approval of 

arrangements in respect of the scheme to reimburse costs incurred for 
childcare/dependent relative care, travel and subsistence whilst a Member is 
on Council business. 

 
2. Appointments to outside bodies, subsequent to the Annual Council Meeting. 

[Note: The Council Solicitor, after consultation with the Chair of the General 
Purposes and Audit Committee or (in respect of Executive appointments) the 
relevant Cabinet Member, may also make appointments to outside bodies as 
necessary during the year.] 

 
3 Consideration of changes to the Constitution recommended by the 

Constitution Working Group, except for the allocation of responsibilities by the 
Leader, and referral of any proposals to full Council for approval.  Periodic 
review of the Constitution. 

 
4. Receive reports relating to the Council’s use of powers under the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 
 

Page 65



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

5. Any matter not reserved to the Council or delegated to another Committee 
and related to a non-executive function. 

 
6. Any matter reserved to the Council and a non-executive function, or a matter 

reserved to a non-executive committee or sub-committee of the Council 
which requires, in the Committee's view or on the recommendation of the 
Cabinet, the Chief Executive or a Corporate Director, action as a matter of 
urgency. 

 
67. Any protocol concerning the exercise of relevant delegated powers of the 

Committee. 
 

Audit Functions: 
 

1. In exercising its audit functions the Committee’s purpose is to provide 
independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework 
and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the 
Council’s financial and non-financial performance to the extent it affects the 
Council’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to 
oversee financial reporting. 

 
2.  To consider the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management 

arrangements, the control environment and associated anti-fraud, 
whistleblowing and anti- corruption arrangements. 

 
3. To seek assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues 

identified by auditors and inspectors. 
 

4. To be satisfied that the Council’s assurance statements, including the 
Statement on Internal Control, properly reflect the risk environment and any 
actions required to improve it. 

 
5. To review (but not direct) internal audit’s strategy, plan and monitor 

performance and make recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or 
Full Council. 

 
6. To review summary internal audit reports and the main issues arising, and 

seek assurance that action has been taken where necessary. 
 

7. To receive the annual report of the Head of Internal Audit and make 
recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or Full Council. 

 
8. To consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies and make 

recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or Full Council. 
 

9. To ensure that there are effective relationships between external and 
internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies, and that the 
value of the audit process is actively promoted. 

 
10. To review the financial statements, external auditor’s opinion and reports to 

Members, and monitor management action in response to the issues raised 

Page 66



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

by external audit. 
 

11. To make an annual report to the full Council. 
 

General Purposes and Audit Urgency Sub-Committee 
(Membership of 3 drawn from the Membership of the General Purposes 
and Audit Committee and constituted as and when necessary by the 
Council Solicitor) 
 
All of the responsibilities and functions of the General Purposes and Audit 
Committee where in the opinion of the Council Solicitor it is necessary for a 
decision to be taken before the next meeting of the Committee. 

 
2.4. Health and Wellbeing Board (Membership: 5 Majority Group Members (voting) 

such members to include the Cabinet Member for Families Health and Social Care 
and the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning , 2 Minority 
Group Members (voting), Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health (non-
voting), Director of Public Health (non-voting), CCG Representative (voting), 
Croydon University Hospital Chair (non-voting), Healthwatch Representative 
(voting), SLAM representative (non-voting), Croydon Voluntary Action 
representative (non-voting). The terms of Reference of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board are set out in Part 4L 

 
2.5. Licensing Committee (Membership 12. A further 10 Members shall form a pool of 

reserve Members for the Committee). 
 

1. All licensing, registration and related functions as set out in Schedule 1 of the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 as amended and the Licensing Act 2003 (Note: Applications and other 
matters under the Licensing Act 2003 shall be determined in accordance with 
the schedule of delegations at Annex 3 to the Protocol on Licensing 
Hearings. Responsibility for hearing and determining applications where a 
hearing is required under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 shall be 
delegated to the Licensing Sub- Committee). 

 
2. Matters relating to the adoption or review of the Authority’s Licensing 

Statement prior to final consideration by the Council as part of the policy 
framework. 

 
3. Subject to any matters reserved to the full Council by statute, to exercise all 

functions of the Council as Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 
including the power to set fees under s212 of the Act. (Note: Responsibility 
for hearing and determining applications where a hearing is required under 
the Gambling Act 2005 shall be delegated to the Licensing Sub-Committee). 

 
4. To comment on the three year Statement of Principles in respect of the 

Authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005 prior to its adoption by 
the full Council; and to make recommendations to the full Council on all 
Licensing functions under both the Gambling Act 2005 and the Licensing 
Act 2003 where those functions are reserved to full Council. 

 

Page 67



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

5. Health and Safety functions under the relevant statutory provision within the 
meaning of Part 1 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to the 
extent that those functions are discharged otherwise than in the Council’s 
capacity as employer. 

 
6. Registration of births, deaths and marriages. 

 
7. To agree any protocol concerning the exercise of relevant delegated powers. 

 
Licensing Sub-Committee (Membership 3, drawn from the Membership of the 
Licensing Committee and constituted as and when necessary by the Council 
Solicitor) 

 
Hearing and determining applications when a hearing is required under the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 
Hearings will be conducted in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Act, 
Regulations issued under the Act, and the Council’s agreed Protocol for Licensing 
Hearings. 

 
2.6 Mayoralty and Honorary Freedom Selection Sub-Committee 

(Membership 5) 
 
To make recommendations directly to the Council on the selection of: 

 
a) The Mayor; 

 
b) Persons that should be admitted to the Roll of Honorary Aldermen and 

Alderwomen; 
 

c) Persons or organisations that should be granted Freedom of the Borough; 
and 

 
d) Honorary Recorder. 

 
2.7. Pension Board (Membership 1 Independent non-voting Chair, 3 Employer 

representatives (one to be a Councillor) & 3 Employee representatives) 
 

The Pension Board, with an independent non-voting Chair, is formed of three 
employer representatives and three representatives of the Pension Fund. 

 
The Board secures the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
Croydon Council Pension Fund. 

 
2.8. Pension Committee (Membership 8, plus 1 Staff Side non-voting co-opted member 

and 2 Pensioner Side co-opted Members (1 voting co-opted member and one non- 
voting co-opted member). Staff side and Pensioners’ side members are appointed 
on an annual basis following consultation with the Staff side and Pensioners of the 
Pension Fund. Pensioners’ side members are appointed in keeping with the 
outcome of an election by ballot of Pensioners of the Fund, normally for a term of 
four years. Terms of Reference are set out at Part 4N. Functions of the Pensions 
Committee are: 

Page 68



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

 
2.8.1. To ensure that the Fund is properly operated in accordance with the Local 

Government Pensions Scheme Regulations (“the Regulations”) all other 
relevant legislation and best practice as advised by the Pensions 
Regulator, including financial, governance and administrative matters. 

 
2.8.2. To adopt Fund specific policies concerning the administration of the Fund, 

investing of Fund monies and the management of the Fund’s solvency level. 
In addition, the Committee is responsible for compliance with all financial 
and regulatory requirements of the Fund. 

 
2.8.3. To discharge its fiduciary responsibility in the best interest of the Fund, in 

particular: 
 

a) To set the investment policy and review the performance of the Fund’s 
investment managers, pooling operators, scheme administration, and 
external advisors; 

b) To make arrangements for the triennial actuarial valuation; 
c) To determine the Pension Administration Strategy; 
d) To approve and monitor compliance of statuary statements and policies 

required under the Regulations; 
e) To approve the Fund’s Statements of Accounts and annual report; 
f) To ensure that the Council discharges its obligation, as administrating 

authority for the local government pension scheme, to other scheme 
employers; 

g) To make representations to government as appropriate concerning any 
proposed changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme; and 

h) To keep these terms of reference under review. 
 
2.9. Planning Committee (Membership: 10. A further 10 councillors shall form a pool of 

reserve members for the committee.) 
 

1. To determine applications for planning permission, where the 
recommendation is for approval by the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration, and the development is for: 

 
a) a residential development containing 200 or more new dwellings or, 

where the number of dwellings is not given, the site area is 4 hectares 
or more; or 

b) the erection of a building or buildings with a gross floor space of 10,000 
square metres or more or, where the floorspace is not given, the site 
area is 2 hectares or more. 

 
2. To determine applications for planning permission where the 

recommendation is for approval and the application exceeds the Sub 
Committee thresholds (see 2.10 below) and the development is for: 

 
a) a residential development containing less than 200 new dwellings or, 

where the number of dwellings is not given, the site area is less than 4 
hectares; or 

b) the erection of a building or buildings with a gross floor space of less 

Page 69



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

than 10,000 square metres or, where the floor space is not given, the 
site area is 2 hectares or more: 

 
where the Committee Consideration Criteria (part 4K of this Constitution) are 
met. 

 
3. The confirmation of Directions under Article 4 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 – as amended. 
 

4. Any other application or planning matter referred to the Planning Committee 
by the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration acting in his or her 
discretion. 

 
5. Planning Committee will only deal with reserved matters pursuant to outline 

planning permission where the Planning Committee have expressly 
requested (when determining applications for outline planning permission) 
that the subsequent reserved matters should be referred to Planning 
Committee for determination. This request should be included in the minutes 
and specified by way of an informative attached to the outline planning 
permission. 

 
6. Applications for minor material amendments, variations of planning conditions 

and non-material amendments submitted under S.73 and S.96A of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 will be determined by officers under 
delegated authority in all instances unless they fall within the remit of 
Planning Sub Committee (see 2.10 below). 

 
7. Where the Planning Committee determines an item on an agenda: 

 
a) In the event of changes being made to an officer recommendation by 

the committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes, in 
accordance with the substantive nature of the committee’s decision, is 
delegated to the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration; 

b) The Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s decision 
(such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning 
obligations or reasons for the decision) prior to the decision being 
actioned, provided that the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration is satisfied that any such changes could not reasonably 
be  regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the decision 
reached by the committee nor that such change(s) could reasonably 
have led to a different decision having been reached by the committee. 

 
8. Where a report has been placed on the agenda of the Planning Committee 

but the meeting fails to start to consider the item prior to its 10pm guillotine, 
the determination of that matter shall be automatically delegated to the 
Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration, unless the meeting 
determines otherwise by way of a resolution made prior to the 10pm meeting 
deadline and agreed on a two thirds majority. 

 
2.10. Planning Sub-Committee (Membership: for each meeting, 5 drawn from the 

Page 70



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

membership of the Planning Committee). 
 

1. To determine the following application types where the recommendation is 
for approval: 

 
a) Applications for Planning Permission made under the Town & Country 

Planning Act 1990 for the construction of or a development in relation to 
building(s) with an existing 

b) floorspace of no greater than 500 square or building(s) or extension(s) 
within the curtilage of such qualifying building(s); 

c) Applications for planning permission made under the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 for development providing up to 5 units of residential 
accommodation; 

d) Applications for listed building consent made under the Planning and 
Conservation Areas Act 1990; 

e) Variations of planning conditions (covering issues such as variations in 
hours of use or other related changes in how a use operates pursuant 
to previous grants of planning permission) 

 
where the Committee Consideration Criteria (part 4K of this Constitution) 
are met. 

 
2. All applications submitted pursuant to the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order, applications for advertisement 
consent, minor material amendments and non-material amendments 
submitted under S.73 and 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, applications to discharge planning conditions and 
notwithstanding the above, minor extensions and alterations (including 
boundaries and rear outbuildings) involving less than 20 square metres 
of additional internal accommodation (gross internal) will be determined 
by officers under delegated authority in all instances 

 
3. Any other application or planning matter referred to the Planning Sub- 

Committee by the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration acting in 
his or her discretion. 

 
4. The Planning Sub-Committee may refer agenda items to Planning 

Committee for consideration and determination if they consider it necessary 
or appropriate to do so. 

 
5. Where the Planning Sub-Committee determine an item on an agenda: 

 
a) In the event of changes being made to an officer recommendation by 

the committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes in 
accordance with the substantive nature of the committee’s decision, is 
delegated to the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration; 

b) The Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s decision 
(such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning 
obligations or reasons for the decision) prior to the decision being 
actioned, provided that the Director of Planning & Sustainable 

Page 71



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

Regeneration is satisfied that any such changes could not 
reasonably be regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the 
decision reached by the committee nor that such change(s) could 
reasonably have led to a different decision having been reached by 
the committee. 

 
6. Where items for consideration and determination by the Planning Sub 

Committee have not been considered or have not started to be considered by 
10pm, the determination of those matters shall be automatically delegated to 
the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration. 

 
 
3. RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

 
Other than those matters reserved to the Council or delegated to a non- 
executive Committee or to the Chief Executive as a non-executive function, 
all other remaining functions are allocated as executive functions. 
 
The Leader has power to create Cabinet Committees, agree protocols on matters 
relating to the operation of their remit and, between Annual Meetings of the 
Council, to make nominations to outside bodies where Executive Members are 
required to be appointed. 

 
 
4. CORPORATE DIRECTORS 

 
4.1. The following posts shall be Corporate Directors for the purposes of 

this Constitution: 
 

Chief Executive 
Corporate Director /DCS Children, Young People & Education  
Corporate Director/DASS Adult Social Care & Health  
Corporate Director Sustainable Communities, Regeneration & Economic 
Recovery 
Corporate Director Resources 
Executive Director Localities & Residents Pathway  
Corporate Director Housing 
Assistant Chief Executive 
Non-Executive delegations to the Chief Executive 

 
4.2. The Chief Executive has delegated to him/her all the powers of the Council other 

than those reserved to the Council or to a Non-Executive Committee or Sub- 
Committee or allocated to the Leader by Statute or this Constitution. This delegation 
is subject to: 

 
4.2.1. such protocols as may be approved by a Committee or Sub-Committee 

from time to time and deposited with the Council Solicitor; 
 
4.2.2. all Policies of the Authority; 
 
4.2.3. any consequent expenditure being included in the Council’s Revenue 

Page 72



As amended 06.2019, 08.2019, 

02.2021, 05.08.21 and 25.08.21 

 

Budget or approved Capital Programme; 
 
4.2.4. the requirements of the Tenders and Contracts and Financial Regulations; 
 
4.2.5. compliance with any legal requirements and the provisions of any 

statutory codes of conduct or statutory guidance; 
 
4.2.6. the approval of the Council Solicitor to the instigation and conduct and 

settlement of legal proceedings and to the engagement of any lawyer to 
act for the Council; 

 
4.2.7. compliance with any legal requirements and the provisions of any 

statutory codes of conduct or statutory guidance; 
 
4.2.8. the approval of the Chief People Officer to the grading and conditions of 

service of staff (other than those based in schools or subject to the 
conditions of service of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C.); 

 
4.2.9. the approval of the Appointments Committee to the grading and 

conditions of service of staff employed subject to the conditions of service 
of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C. 

 
Executive delegations to the Chief Executive 

 
4.3. The Leader’s delegation of Executive functions is contained in Part 6C of this 

Constitution. 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 1 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.B - Access to Information Procedure Rules 

I. Access to information procedure rules: Council, Council non- 
executive committees and Scrutiny and Overview Committee 

 
1 SCOPE 

 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee and all other non-executive Committees and any non-executive 
Sub-Committees which together are referred to hereafter as “non-executive 
meetings”. 

 
2 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in the Constitution or the law. 

 
3 RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

 

Members of the public and media may attend all non-executive meetings of 
the Council, Committees and Sub-Committees subject only to the exceptions 
in these rules. 

 

4. NOTICE OF MEETINGS 
 

The Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority give at least five clear 
working days’ notice of any meeting (unless called at a later time) by posting 
details of the meeting at Bernard Weatherill House (8 Mint Walk, Croydon) 
and on the Council’s website. 

 

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

The Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority, make copies of the 
agenda and reports open to the public and press available for inspection at 
Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon at least five clear working 
days before the meeting or as soon as available if later. These documents 
will also be posted on the Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 
If an item is added to the agenda later, as an item of urgent business at the 
direction of the Chair, the Council Solicitor shall make each such report 
available to the public and press and open to inspection as soon as the report 
is available to Members attending the meeting. 

Page 75



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 2 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

6 SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 

The Authority shall supply copies of: 
 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 

(b) any background documents identified in the report; 
 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 

 
The Authority shall make available copies of the following for six years after a 
meeting listed in paragraph 1 of these rules: 

 
(a) the minutes of the meeting, or records of decisions taken together with 

reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the 
meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or 
confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of the proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

 

(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of Background Papers 

The Lead Officer named at the head of every report shall set out at the end of 
every report a list of those documents (under the heading Background 
Papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
 

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report. 
 

The List of Background Papers shall not include published works or those 
which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in rule 10 below. 

Page 76



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 3 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 

Every Corporate Director shall make arrangements to ensure that documents 
referred to in any report written by them or by a member of their staff are 
available for inspection for four years after the date of the non-executive 
meeting concerned. One copy of each of the background documents listed 
shall be retained for this purpose. 

 
9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

 
These Rules, as part of the Constitution of the Council, shall be regarded as 
the written summary of the public’s rights to attend non-executive meetings 
and to inspect and copy documents. These Rules together with the whole 
Constitution are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint 
Walk, Croydon, and shall be available on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO NON-EXECUTIVE 
MEETINGS 

 
Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

 
The public must be excluded from non-executive meetings whenever it is 
likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 

Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude Public 
 

The public may be excluded from non-executive meetings whenever it is likely 
in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
Where the non-executive meeting shall determine any person’s civil rights or 
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the non-executive meeting 
shall be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the 
reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
Meaning of Confidential Information 

 
Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

Page 77



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 4 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Meaning of Exempt Information 
 

Exempt information means information falling within the categories set out in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and 
as reproduced in Appendix 1 attached to these rules. 

 
Information falling within those categories is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the Council as local 
planning authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 
Licensing Sub-Committee 

 
At any meeting of a Licensing Sub-Committee convened for the purpose of a 
hearing under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003, the Press and Public 
may be excluded at any time to enable the Sub-Committee to deliberate in 
private on any matter. 

 

11 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 

If the Council Solicitor thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public 
to reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in accordance 
with Rule 10, the non-executive meeting is likely not to be open to the public. 
Such reports shall be marked “Not for publication” together with the category 
of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
II. Access to information procedure rules: Leader, Cabinet and 
Cabinet Committees and sub-committees 

12 SCOPE 
 

These rules apply to all meetings of the Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and all 
other executive Committees, executive Committees and executive Joint 
Committees which together are referred to hereafter as “executive meetings”. 

 
For the purposes of these Rules “executive decision” means a decision made 
or to be made by a decision maker in connection with the discharge of a 
function which is the responsibility of the executive of a local authority. 

 

A decision is regarded as being “in connection with the discharge of a function 
which is the responsibility of the executive” if it is closely connected to the 
discharge of the executive function in question and not merely an 
administrative action. 

 
For the purposes of these Rules “decision maker” means the decision making 
body by which or the individual by whom an executive decision is made. 

Page 78



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 5 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

13 GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO INFORMATION AND REPORTING 
OF MEETINGS 

 

13.1 Nothing in these Rules is to be taken to authorise or require the disclosure of 
confidential information in breach of the obligation of confidence. 

 
13.2 Nothing in these Rules— 

 
(a) authorises or requires a local authority to disclose to the public or make 

available for public inspection any document or part of document if, in 
the opinion of the proper officer, that document or part of a document 
contains or may contain confidential information; or 

 
(b) requires a local authority to disclose to the public or make available for 

public inspection any document or part of document if, in the opinion of 
the proper officer, that document or part of a document contains or is 
likely to contain exempt information or the advice of a political adviser 
or assistant. 

 

13.3 Where a member of the executive or an officer makes an executive decision 
in accordance with executive arrangements, nothing in these Rules— 

 
(a) authorises or requires documents relating to that decision to be 

disclosed to the public, or made available for public inspection where, 
the documents contain confidential information; or 

 

(b) requires documents relating to that decision to be disclosed to the 
public, or made available for public inspection where the disclosure of 
the documents would, in the opinion of the member or officer making 
the decision, give rise to the disclosure of exempt information or the 
advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

 
13.4 Nothing in these Rules prohibits the disclosure of a document, should it be 

appropriate to do so in the opinion of the proper officer, in which all 
confidential and exempt information or the advice of a political adviser or 
assistant has been redacted.  Disclosure with one or more redactions would 
not be appropriate where, as a result of redacting information, the document 
or copy provided would be misleading or not reasonably comprehensible. 

 
13.5 For the purposes of these Rules: 

 
13.5.1 Reporting on proceedings at a meeting means- 

 
(a) Filming, photography, or making an audio recording of the 

proceedings at the meeting; 
 

(b) Using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or 
hear proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later; or 

 
(c) Reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at the meeting, 

Page 79



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 6 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

orally or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available to 
a person not present, as the meeting takes place or later. 

Page 80



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 7 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

13.5.2 Whilst the meeting is open to the public, any person attending is 
permitted to report the proceedings; 

 

13.5.3 Subject to 13.5.4, 

 A person who attends the meeting to report the proceedings 
may use any communication methods, including the internet, to 
publish, post or otherwise share the results of their reporting 
activities; and 

 Publication and dissemination of the report may take place at 
the time of the meeting or occur after the meeting. 

 

13.5.4 Paragraphs 13.5.1 - 13.5.3 above do not permit the oral reporting or 
oral commentary on a meeting as it takes place if the person reporting 
or providing the commentary is present at the meeting. In addition, any 
reporting is subject to the Chair’s power to require that any person 
terminate their reporting if such reporting is distracting, disruptive or 
contrary to the good order or conduct of the meeting. 

 
13.5.5  Where the public are excluded from a meeting pursuant to these 

Rules, no person may report on the proceedings using methods which 
can be used without that person’s presence at the meeting or which 
enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the 
proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later; 

 

13.6 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in the Constitution or the law. 

 
14. RIGHTS TO ATTEND EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
Members of the public and media may attend all executive meetings of the 
Cabinet and Executive Committees, Sub-Committees and Joint Committees 
subject only to the exceptions in these rules. 

 
15 NOTICE OF PUBLIC EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
The Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority give at least five clear 
working days’ notice of any executive meeting (unless called at a later time) 
by posting details of the executive meeting at Bernard Weatherill House (8 
Mint Walk, Croydon) and on the Council’s website 

 

16 ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE PUBLIC EXECUTIVE 
MEETINGS 

 
The Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority, make copies of the 
agenda and reports open to the public and press available for inspection at 
Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon at least five clear working 
days before the executive meeting or as soon as available if later. These 

Page 81



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 8 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

documents will also be posted on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 

If an item is added to the agenda later, as an item of urgent business at the 
direction of the Chair, the Council Solicitor shall make each such report 
available to the public and press and open to inspection as soon as the report 
is available to Members attending the executive meeting. 

 
17. NOTICE OF PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
At least twenty eight clear days before a private executive meeting the Council 
Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority, make available for inspection at 
Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk), a notice of intention to hold a meeting or part thereof in 
private and the reasons for doing so. 

 
The Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority make available for 
inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and on the 
Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk), at least five clear working days 
before the date of the private executive meeting, a further notice of its 
intention to hold a meeting or part thereof in private. The notice shall include 
the reasons for holding the meeting in private, any representations received 
about why the meeting should be open to the public and a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations. 

 

18. URGENT PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

Where the date by which an executive meeting must be held makes 
compliance with Rule 17 impractical, the executive meeting may only be held 
in private where the decision making body has obtained agreement from: 

 
(a) the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; or 

 
(b) if the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee is unable to 
act, the Mayor, or 

 
(c) if neither the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee nor 
the Mayor is able to act, the Deputy Mayor 

 
that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
As soon as reasonably practicable after agreement has been obtained to hold 
a private meeting, the Council Solicitor shall, on behalf of the Authority, make 
available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon, 
CR0 1EA and on the Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk), a notice setting 
out the reasons why the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

Page 82

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 9 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

19. ACCESS TO REPORTS BEFORE PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

Where the Council Solicitor considers that whole or any part of a report relates 
to matters during which it is likely the meeting will be a private meeting the 
report or part thereof shall not be available for inspection by the public. 

 
Where the whole or any part of a report for a public meeting is not available 
for inspection by the public— 

 
(a) every copy of the whole report or of the part of the report, as the case 

may be, must be marked “not for publication”; and 
 

(b) there must be stated on every copy of the whole or the part of the 
report— 

 
(i) that it contains confidential information; or 

 

(ii) by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 the description of exempt information by 
virtue of which the decision-making body discharging the 
executive function are likely to exclude the public during the item 
to which the report relates. 

 
20. RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
As soon as reasonably practicable after any meeting of a decision-making 
body at which an executive decision was made, the Council Solicitor must 
ensure that a written statement is produced for every executive decision made 
which includes the following information — 

 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 
 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 
decision-making body at the meeting at which the decision was made; 

 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which 

is declared by any member of the decision-making body which made 
the decision; and 

 
(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 

granted by the Head of Paid Service. 

Page 83



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 10 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

21. RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS 
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after an individual Member has made an 
executive decision, the Council Solicitor must ensure that a written statement 
is produced for that executive decision which includes the following 
information — 

 
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

 
(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

 
(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

Member when making the decision ; 
 

(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member 
who is consulted by the Member which relates to the decision; and 

 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
22 RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE BY OFFICERS 

 
As soon as reasonably practicable after an individual officer has made an 
executive decision, the Council Solicitor must ensure that a written statement 
is produced for that executive decision which includes the following 
information — 

 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 
 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer 
when making the decision ; 

 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member 

who is consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; and 
 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
23. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE EXECUTIVE MEETING 

 
The Authority shall make available copies of the following for six years after 
an executive meeting: 

Page 84



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 11 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) the minutes of the executive meeting, or records of decisions taken 
together with reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings 
when the executive meeting was not open to the public or which 
disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of the proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the executive meeting; and 

 
(d) reports relating to items when the executive meeting was open to the 

public. 
 
 
24. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

24.1 List of Background Papers 
 

The Lead Officer named at the head of every report shall set out at the end of 
every report a list of those documents (under the heading Background 
Papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
 

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and 
 

(c) does not include published works 
 

The list of Background Papers shall not include published works or those 
which disclose exempt information, confidential information or advice of a 
political advisor or assistant as defined in Rule 27 below. 

 
 
 

24.2 Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 

Every Corporate Director shall make arrangements to ensure that any 
background papers listed in any report written by them or by a member of 
their staff are available for inspection for four years after the date of the 
executive decision concerned. One copy of each of the background 
documents listed shall be retained for this purpose. 

 

25. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 

The Authority shall supply copies of: 

Page 85



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 12 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 

(b) any background documents identified in the report which are open to 
public inspection; 

 
(c) such further statements or particulars as are necessary to indicate the 

nature of the items contained in the agenda; and 
 

(d) if the Council Solicitor thinks fit in the case of any item, a copy of any 
other document supplied to Members of the Executive in connection 
with the item 

 
(e) Any records prepared in accordance with Rules 20-22 and any reports 

considered by the individual Member or officer and relevant to the 
decision taken, or where only part of the report is relevant to such 
decision, only that part. 

 

to any person on request and payment of a charge for postage, copying or 
other necessary charge for transmission. The supply of copies is subject to 
the restriction that such supply shall not occur in respect of documentation 
which is not open to the public by virtue of containing confidential information, 
exempt information or advice of a political advisor or assistance as set out in 
Rule 27. 

 
 
26. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

 

These Rules, as part of the Constitution of the Council, shall be regarded as 
the written summary of the public’s rights to attend executive meetings and to 
inspect, copy and request copy documents. These Rules together with the 
whole Constitution are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 
Mint Walk, Croydon, and shall be available on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 
 
27 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

The public must be excluded from Executive meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
Meaning of Confidential Information 

 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms (however expressed) which forbid its public 

Page 86



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 13 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by virtue of a 
prohibition by or under any enactment or by a Court Order. 

 

Exempt Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 
 

The public shall be excluded from executive meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
Where the executive meeting shall determine any person’s civil rights or 
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the executive meeting shall 
be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons 
specified in Article 6. 

 
Meaning of Exempt Information 

 

Exempt information means information falling within the categories set out in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and 
as reproduced in Appendix 1 attached to these rules. 

 
Information falling within those categories is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the Council as local 
planning authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 

Exclusion to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour 
 

The public must be excluded from a meeting during an item of business 
whenever a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the 
public in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehavior at an 
executive meeting. 

 
28. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 

 
If the Monitoring Officer or Council Solicitor thinks fit, the Council may exclude 
access by the public to reports which in their opinion relate to items during 
which, in accordance with Rule 27, the executive meeting is likely not to be 
open to the public. Such reports shall be marked “Not for publication” together 
with a statement that it contains confidential information or if it contains 
exempt information, the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
29 KEY DECISION RULES 

 
In these Rules a “key decision” is as defined in Article 13.02 namely an 

executive decision, which is likely to— 

Page 87



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 14 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure, or making 
savings, of more than £1,000,000 or such smaller sum which 
the decision-taker considers is significant having regard to 
the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates; or 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or 
working in an area comprising two or more Wards in the 
Borough. 

 
Key decision rules apply only in respect of Executive decisions and not to 
non-executive decisions. 

 
30 PUBLICITY IN CONNECTION WITH KEY DECISIONS: 

 
30.1 Subject to Rule 31 (General Exception) and Rule 32 (Special Urgency) a Key 

Decision may not be taken unless: 
 

(a) a notice has been made available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill 
House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and published on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk) in connection with the matter in question; 

 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the notice; 
and 

 

(c) if the decision is to be taken at an executive meeting, notice of the 
executive meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 15 (Notice 
of executive meetings) and where applicable Rule 17 (Procedures 
before private meetings). 

 

30.2 The notice shall contain matters, which shall be the subject of a Key Decision 
to be taken by the decision maker in accordance with any agreed Protocol in 
the course of the discharge of an executive function and shall state: 

 
(a) that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 

authority; 
 

(b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 
 

(c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual's name, and 
title if any and, where the decision maker is a decision-making body, its 
name and a list of its members; 

 
(d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be 

made; 

Page 88

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 15 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter in respect of which the key 
decision is to be made; 

 
(f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 
 

(g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 
decision maker; and 

 
(h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 

become available. 
 
30.3 Where, in relation to any matter— 

 
(a) the public are to be excluded under Rule 27 from the meeting at which 

the matter is to be discussed; or 
 

(b) documents relating to the decision contain confidential information, 
exempt information or advice of a political advisor or assistant, 

 
the notice shall contain particulars of the matter but may not contain any 
confidential information, exempt information or particulars of the advice of a 
political adviser or assistant. 

 
31 GENERAL EXCEPTION 

 
31.1 Subject to Rule 32 (Special Urgency), where the publication of the intention to 

make a key decision under Rule 30 is impracticable, that decision may only be 
made where— 

 
(a) the Chairman of Scrutiny and Overview Committee has been informed 

of the matter about which the decision is to be made by notice in writing 
or where there is no Chairman, each Member of the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee ; 

 
(b) the Council Solicitor has made available for inspection at Bernard 

Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk Croydon and published on the Council’s 
website (www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of the notice provided in 
accordance with Rule 31.1(a) above; and 

 
(c) Five clear working days have elapsed following the day on which the 

notice required by Rule 31.1(a) was made available for inspection and 
published on the Council’s website. 

 
31.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after Rule 31.1 has been complied with, 

the Council Solicitor shall make available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill 

Page 89

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 16 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and published on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of a notice setting out the reasons why 
compliance with Rule 30 are impractical 

 
32 CASES OF SPECIAL URGENCY 

 
32.1 Where the date by which a key decision must be made, makes compliance 

with Rule 31 (General Exception) impracticable, the decision may only be 
made where the decision maker has obtained agreement from— 

 
(a) the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; or 

 
(b) if there is no such person, or if the Chairman of the Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee is unable to act, the Mayor; or 
 

(c) where there is no Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or 
Mayor, the Deputy Mayor of the Council, 

 
that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
32.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after Rule 32.1 has been complied with 

the Council Solicitor shall make available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill 
House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon, CR0 1EA and published on the Council’s 
website (www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of a notice setting out the reasons that 
the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred 

 
 

33. REPORTS TO COUNCIL: WHEN SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW 

COMMITTEE CAN REQUIRE REPORTS 

 
33.1 Where an executive decision has been made and— 

 
(a) was not treated as being a key decision; and 

 

(b) Scrutiny and Overview Committee are of the opinion that the decision 
should have been treated as a key decision, 

 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee may require the Leader or executive 
decision maker which is responsible for the decision to submit a report to the 
Council within such reasonable period as the Committee may specify. 

 
33.2 The report must include details of— 

 

(a) the decision and the reasons for the decision; 
 

(b) the decision maker by which the decision was made; and 

Page 90

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 17 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(c) if the Leader and/or Cabinet are of the opinion that the decision was not 
a key decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

 
33.3 The power to require a report rests with the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee who shall raise it by resolution passed at a meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
33.4 The Leader and/or Cabinet shall submit a report to the next available meeting 

of the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within 7 working 
days of the resolution of the Committee, then the report may be submitted to 
the meeting after that. 

 
 

34. REPORTS TO COUNCIL ON USE OF SPECIAL URGENCY 

 
The Leader shall submit to Council, at least one annual report, containing 
details of each executive decision taken during the period since the last report 
was submitted to Council where the making of the decision was agreed as 
urgent in accordance with Rule 32 (Special Urgency) 

 
The report submitted shall include— 

 
(a) particulars of each decision made; and 

 
(b) a summary of the matters in respect of which each decision was made. 

 

35. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOR MEMBERS OF 

THE COUNCIL 

35.1 Subject to Rules 35.4 and 35.5. , any document which— 
 

(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 
Council; and 

 
(b) contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a public 

executive meeting, 
 

shall be available for inspection by any Member of the Council. 
 
35.2 Any document which is required by Rule 35.1 to be available for inspection by 

any Member of the Council shall be available for such inspection for at least 
five clear working days before the executive meeting except that— 

Page 91



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 18 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) where the executive meeting is convened at shorter notice, such a 
document must be available for inspection when the executive meeting 
is convened; and 

 
(b) where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, a document 

that would be required to be available in relation to that item, shall be 
available for inspection when the item is added to the agenda. 

 
35.3 Subject to Rules 35.4 and 35.5 any document which— 

 
(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 

Council; and 
 

(b) contains material relating to— 
(i) any business transacted at a private executive meeting; 

 
(ii) any decision made by an individual Member in accordance with 

executive arrangements; or 
 

(iii) any decision made by an officer in accordance with executive 
arrangements, 

 
shall be available for inspection by any Member of Council within 24 hours of 
the conclusion of the meeting or where an executive decision is made by an 
individual member or an officer, within 24 hours after the decision has been 
made. 

 

35.4 If it appears to the Council Solicitor that any of the information or 
documentation referred to in Rules 35.1 or 35.3 discloses confidential 
information, exempt information of a description falling within Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 or that compliance with 
Rules 35.1 or 35.3 in relation to a document or part of a document would 
involve the disclosure of advice provided by a political adviser or assistant, the 
document or part thereof is not required to be available to Members. 

 

35.5 Notwithstanding Rule 35.4 the document/s shall be available for inspection by 
Members if the information is information of a description for the time being 
falling within— 

 

(a) paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act (except to the extent that 
the information relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or 
to the Council in the course of negotiations for a contract); or 

 

(b) paragraph 6 of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act. 

Page 92



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 19 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

36. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOR MEMBERS OF 
SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEES 

 
36.1 Subject to Rule 36.2 a Member of Scrutiny and Overview Committee is 

entitled to a copy, no later than 10 clear working days after the Executive 
receives the request, of any document which— 

 
(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 

Council; and 
 

(b) contains material relating to— 
 

(i) any business transacted at an executive meeting; 
 

(ii) any decision made by an individual Member in accordance with 
executive arrangements; or 

 

(iii) any decision made by an officer in accordance with executive 
arrangements, 

 
36.2 No member of Scrutiny and Overview is entitled to a copy— 

 
(a) of any such document or part of a document as contains exempt or 

confidential information unless that information is relevant to— 
 

(i) an action or decision that that member is reviewing or 
scrutinising; or 

 

(ii) any review contained in any programme of work of such a 
committee or sub-committee of such a committee; or 

 
(b) of a document or part of a document containing advice provided by a 

political adviser or assistant. 
 

36.3 Where the Executive determines that a Member of Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document or part of any such 
document for a reason set out Rules 36.1 or 36.2 it must provide Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for that 
decision. 

Page 93



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 20 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (as amended) 

SCHEDULE 12A 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION: EXEMPT INFORMATION 

PART 1 

DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 

This appendix to Part 4B of the Constitution is referred to at Rules 10 and 27 
 

 

1. Information relating to any individual. 
 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 
 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
PART 2 

QUALIFICATIONS: ENGLAND 

8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by 
virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under— 

Page 94



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 21 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) the Companies Act 1985; 
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 1993. 

 
9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 

which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. 

 
10. Information which— 

 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above, 

 
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

PART 3 

INTERPRETATION: ENGLAND 
 

11. —(1) In Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule— 
 

"employee" means a person employed under a contract of service; 
 

"financial or business affairs" includes contemplated, as well as past or 
current, activities; 

 
"labour relations matter" means— 

(a) any of the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 
218(1) of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992 (matters which may be the subject of a trade dispute, within the 
meaning of that Act); or 
(b) any dispute about a matter falling within paragraph (a) above; 

and for the purposes of this definition the enactments mentioned in paragraph 
(a) above, with the necessary modifications, shall apply in relation to office- 
holders under the authority as they apply in relation to employees of the 
authority; 

 

"office-holder", in relation to the authority, means the holder of any paid office 
appointments to which are or may be made or confirmed by the authority or 

Page 95



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 22 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

by any joint board on which the authority is represented or by any person who 
holds any such office or is an employee of the authority; 

 

"registered" in relation to information required to be registered under the 
Building Societies Act 1986, means recorded in the public file of any building 
society (within the meaning of that Act). 

 
 

(2) Any reference in Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule to "the 
authority" is a reference to the principal council or, as the case may be, the 
committee or sub-committee in relation to whose proceedings or documents 
the question whether information is exempt or not falls to be determined and 
includes a reference— 

 

(a) in the case of a principal council, to any committee or sub-committee of 
the council; and 

 
(b) in the case of a committee, to— 

 

(i) any constituent principal council; 
 

(ii) any other principal council by which appointments are made to the 
committee or whose functions the committee discharges; and 

 
(iii) any other committee or sub-committee of a principal council falling 
within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) above; and 

 
(c) in the case of a sub-committee, to— 

 

(i) the committee, or any of the committees, of which it is a sub- 
committee; and 

 

(ii) any principal council which falls within paragraph (b) above in 
relation to that committee. 

Page 96



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 1 of 9  

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.D - Executive Procedure Rules 

 
1 THE EXECUTIVE 

 

1.1 Who may make Executive Decisions 
 

The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are as set out in 
Executive Arrangements adopted by the Council. These arrangements 
provide for executive functions to be discharged by: 

 
The Leader – who may delegate to: 

 
i. the Cabinet as a whole; 

 
ii. a Cabinet Committee; 

 

iii. the appropriate Cabinet Member who, within delegated powers granted 
by the Leader, shall have authority to award contracts, and approve 
other relevant contractual and property transaction matters, including 
waiving of the Tenders and Contracts Regulations and appointment to 
approved list of contractors, only when acting in accordance with the 
procedures contained in the protocols (see Appendix 1); 

 
iv. the Chief Executive; 

 

v. a Corporate Director; 

 
vi. joint arrangements; 

 
vii.. another local authority; or 

 
viii. a Cabinet Member. 

 

Key Decisions may only be taken by the Leader, the Cabinet, a Cabinet 
Committee, the Chief Executive in case of urgency, or by a Cabinet Member 
or officer using powers as specifically delegated by the Leader. 

 

1.2 Sub-delegation of Executive Functions 
 

(a) Where the Leader, the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee or a Cabinet 
Member is responsible for an executive function, they may delegate 
further to a joint Committee or an Officer. 

Page 97



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 2 of 9  

 

(b) Where a Joint Committee is responsible for an executive function it 
may further delegate its functions to a sub-committee (or an officer) 
according to the terms of its constitution. 

 
(c) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does 

not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the body who 
delegated. 

 
1.3 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive Functions 

 
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution 
(Responsibility for Functions), shall be subject to adoption by the Council and 
may only be amended by the Council. Within the powers allocated to the 
Cabinet, amendments to the Constitution with regard to the creation or 
dissolution of a Cabinet Committee and the delegation of Executive Functions 
to a Cabinet Committee or an Officer may be made by the Leader. 

 
Portfolio descriptions of Cabinet Members are set out on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk ) and may be amended on decision of the Leader. 

 

Appendix 1 sets out the protocol to be followed by the appropriate Cabinet 
Member in regard to approval of contractual and property transaction matters. 
This Protocol and any others adopted by the Leader from time to time for 
whatever purpose may be amended on decision of the Leader and shall be 
set out in Appendix 1 to these Rules. 

 

1.4 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other Registrable Interests and Non 
Registrable Interests and Conflicts of Interest 

 
Cabinet Members shall act in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct 
set out in Part 5I of this Constitution. Executive Members shall also have 
regard to the need, if they are consulted by a decision maker in relation to an 
executive decision, to declare any conflict of interest to that decision maker 
and seek a dispensation from the Chief Executive as provided for in Part 2 
and Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 

1.5 Meetings of the Cabinet 
 

(a) The Cabinet shall meet on the dates as determined annually by the 
Leader. As Chair of the Cabinet, the Leader may convene such 
additional meetings of the Cabinet as are necessary to enable the 
efficient conduct of business, and may cancel or re-schedule meetings 
as necessary. 

 
(b) Meetings of the Cabinet shall be held in the Town Hall, Katharine 

Street and shall commence at 6.30 p.m., unless determined otherwise 
and stated on the Notice and Summons for the meeting and shall last 

Page 98

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 3 of 9  

no longer than three hours. 

(c) In the event that business remains outstanding at the time specified for 
the meeting to conclude, the Chair may move a motion to extend the 
termination of the meeting by up to 30 minutes to enable business set 
out on the agenda to be transacted.  In the event that business 
remains outstanding at the expiry of the 30 minute period, the Chair 
may, in exceptional circumstances, move a motion to extend the 
meeting by a further 30 minutes to enable the transaction of business 
on the agenda. 

 

(d) Meetings of the Cabinet shall be open to the media and public unless 
the business under consideration is exempt or confidential as 
determined under the Access to Information Rules set out in Part 4 of 
this Constitution. Participation at meetings by the Shadow Cabinet and 
Members of other Political Groups represented on the Council may be 
governed by a Leader’s protocol. 

 
(e) Notice of each meeting shall be given and the agenda and papers for 

each meeting shall be available in compliance with the Access to 
Information Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
1.6 Quorum 

 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be three, one of whom shall be 
the Leader or the Statutory Deputy Leader; and for a Cabinet Committee, 
three Members. 

 
1.7 Decisions taken by the Leader and Cabinet 

 
Save for those matters reserved by the Leader to the Leader, the Leader has 
chosen to reserve collective responsibility for taking executive decisions to the 
Cabinet with the proviso that the Leader has delegated responsibility for 
decisions relating to contractual and property transactions including the 
determination of surplus land and property matters to the relevant Cabinet 
Members on the basis that the responsibility will be exercised with due regard 
to the Scheme of Delegation approved by the Leader and set out at Part 6C of 
this Constitution and that from time to time the Leader may further delegate to 
any Cabinet Member or any Cabinet Committee the Leader has created or 
decides to create. 

 

 
(a) Executive decisions, which have been allocated to the Cabinet, or 

delegated to a Cabinet Committee, shall be taken at a meeting 
convened in accordance with the Access to Information Rules set out in 
Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 

(b) Subject to any protocol relating to the same where executive decisions 
are delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, the rules applying to 
executive decisions taken by them shall be the same as those applying 

Page 99



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 4 of 9  

to the Cabinet as a whole. 

Page 100



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 5 of 9  

(c) Executive decisions taken by the appropriate Cabinet Member, with 
regard to contractual and property transaction matters shall be taken with 
regard to any Protocol governing the exercise of that delegated power. 

 
1.8 Recommendation to Council 

 

Any recommendation of the Leader, Cabinet or Cabinet Committee referred to 
the Full Council for approval may be made within the Business Report of the 
Leader and Cabinet and shall summarise the matter, setting out the 
recommendation for the Council to consider. The recommendation shall be 
submitted to the next convenient Ordinary Council Meeting following the meeting 
of the Cabinet or Cabinet Committee at which the recommendation was framed. 

 
2 THE CONDUCT OF EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

Appointment of Chair 

2.1 The Cabinet meeting shall be chaired by the Leader. If the Leader is absent 
then the Statutory Deputy Leader shall chair the meeting. 

 

2.2 The Chair of the meeting shall decide on all matters of order, competence, 
relevance and interpretation of these Rules. The Chair shall have the power to 
vary the order of business to give precedence to any item of business. Matters 
of urgent business shall be taken at the discretion of the Chair if satisfied that 
the item cannot reasonably be deferred until the next meeting of the Committee. 
The reports concerning such matters shall explain the reason for urgency. 

 

2.3 The decision of the Chair as to the general conduct of the meeting shall be final. 
The Chair may direct a Member to discontinue speaking if they consider the 
Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming language, or 
is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When necessary, the 
Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called by name, 
leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote without 
further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 

 
2.4 In the case of a member of the public disrupting the meeting or if there is a 

general disturbance, the Chair may order the removal of a person or that the 
public areas be cleared. Re-admission shall be at the discretion of the Chair 

 
Business 

 

2.5 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business shall be conducted 
although the Leader shall have the power to determine the content and order of 
business: 

 

Attendance by Non-Executive Members 
 

2.6 The Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee together with the relevant 
Deputy or the Vice Chair shall have automatic entitlement to attend any 
Cabinet or Cabinet Committee meeting at which a report from a Scrutiny and 

Page 101



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 6 of 9  

Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee is under consideration and 
participate in the consideration of that item of business but not vote. 

 
2.7 A job-share Cabinet Member who is not the current acting Cabinet Member 

for the job-share portfolio shall have automatic entitlement to attend any 
Cabinet or Cabinet committee meeting and participate in the consideration 
of any item of business but not vote. 

 
2.8 The Leader or Chair of a Cabinet Committee may agree that a non-executive 

Member may attend to participate in the debate of an item of business on the 
grounds that the presence of the Member concerned can be justified. Such a 
Member shall not have any right to vote in deciding the outcome of the matter 
under consideration. In the absence of a Cabinet Member, the relevant 
Deputy shall be invited to attend and participate in the meeting in accordance 
with these arrangements. A Deputy shall not have a right to vote and shall not 
be included for the purposes of determining whether the meeting is quorate. 

 
2.9 The Committees established by the Leader and their delegations as approved 

by the Leader are set out in Section 3 of these Rules. 
 
3 COMMITTEES OF THE CABINET 

 
3.1 The Leader may establish one or more Cabinet Committees to exercise 

specified delegated executive functions. Standing Committees established by 
the Leader are listed below. In addition the Leader may from time to time 
establish ad hoc committees on a time-limited basis. 

 

General Purposes Committee 
 

3.2 To deal with any matters of business allocated to the Cabinet. 

 
The membership of the Committee shall comprise all 10 Cabinet Members, 
and be quorate if not less than 3 Members are present. 

 

4. ADVISORY COMMITTEES 
 

4.1 The Council has established the following Advisory Committees to advise the 
relevant Cabinet Member: 

 
Traffic Management Advisory Committee 
(Membership 6) 

 
4,2  The  Traffic  Management  Advisory  Committee  shall  meet  as  frequently  as 

business  requires  for  the  purpose  of  advising  the  Cabinet  Member  for 

Page 102



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 7 of 9  

Environment, Transport & Regeneration in respect of: 

(a) the exercise of all functions, powers and duties of the Council as Traffic 
and Highway Authority in relation to Traffic Management issues, 
(b) the making of comments on minor applications which fall to be 
determined by other authorities, and 
(c) commenting on any matters which stand to be determined by the Cabinet 
Member following referral by the Corporate Director Sustainable Communities, 
Regeneration & Economic Recovery, in respect of highways and traffic 
management. 
(d) Commenting on any proposal to make a Gating Order under section 
129A of the Highways Act 1980 which has been referred to the Cabinet 
Member for determination by the Corporate Director Sustainable Communities, 
Regeneration & Economic Recovery. 

 
4.3 Participation in the proceedings of the meetings of the Committee shall be in 

accord with the Protocol set out in Part 5H of the Constitution governing 
such arrangements as approved by the Committee from time to time in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & 
Regeneration. 

 
  

Page 103



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 8 of 9  

 

Appendix 1 
 

PROTOCOLS OF THE EXECUTIVE 
 

Each Protocol shall indicate whether it applies to the Leader, Cabinet, or, when 
exercising delegated powers in taking an executive decision, a Cabinet Committee 
or the appropriate Cabinet Member with regard to contractual and property 
transaction matters or the Chief Executive. 

 

 
1. PROTOCOL ON APPOINTMENTS OF SCHOOL GOVERNORS AND THE 

APPROVAL OR AMENDMENT OF INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT 
 

This Protocol applies to the Corporate Director/ DCS Children, Young People & 
Education who shall exercise delegated powers to appoint School Governors and in 
approving or amending Instruments of Government relating to the size and 
composition of individual governing bodies. 

 

Appointment of School Governors 
 

Before approving, or otherwise, any appointment of a person as a School Governor, 
the Corporate Director/DCS Children, Young People & Education shall: 

 
1 Be satisfied that the applicant or any organisation representing the applicant 

has granted their full consent to be considered for the appointment 
concerned; and 

 
2 Consult the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning, and 

Deputy, together with the Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Families and 
Learning on the intention to appoint or not appoint the person and take 
account of the views expressed by Members on the suitability of that person 
for appointment. 

 
Instruments of Government 

 

Before approving, or otherwise, any Instrument or amendment to an Instrument of 
Government, the Corporate Director/DCS Children, Young People & Education 
shall: 

 
Consult the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning and 
Deputy, together with the Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Families 
and Learning on the draft Instrument, amended or otherwise and take 
account of the views expressed by Members on the draft. 

Page 104



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 9 of 9  

 

2. PROTOCOL GOVERNING THE EXERCISE OF DELEGATED AUTHORITY 
TO APPROVE CONTRACTUAL AND PROPERTY TRANSACTION 
MATTERS RELATED TO EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

 

This Protocol applies to executive decisions on contractual and property transaction 
matters including the declaration of land and property as surplus to the Council’s 
requirements taken under delegated authority from the Leader by the relevant 
Cabinet Member: 

 

a) The Cabinet Member shall not consider any contractual or property 
transaction relating to an executive function that has not been the subject of a 
report to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. 

 
b) The Cabinet Member, if in agreement with the recommendations of the report 

shall sign a decision notice, in the form set out in Appendix A to this Protocol, 
in respect of the contractual and property transaction matter concerned 
indicating that the contract shall be awarded or action taken as per the 
recommendation. All matters dealt with shall be included in a schedule as part 
of the next Leader’s and Cabinet Business Report to the Council. Members 
may ask questions at the Council Meeting on the contents of the schedule. 

 
c) If the Cabinet Member is not minded to agree with a recommendation set out 

in the report, , the contractual and property transaction matter to which it 
refers shall stand immediately referred, without further discussion, to the 
Leader, if necessary to be dealt with as urgent business. 

 
d) If the Cabinet Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or conflict of 

interest in or in relation to any contract or property transaction matter referred 
for consideration, the declaration will be recorded and the relevant matters will 
immediately stand referred to the Leader for decision. 

 
e) Any contractual and property transaction matters referred to the Leader for 

decision shall be the subject of a full report. 

Page 105



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 10 of 
9 

 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

CROYDON COUNCIL 

RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISION 

TITLE:-  

REFERENCE NO:-  

RECOMMENDATIONS:-  

BACKGROUND PAPERS/ 
CABINET OR COMMITTEE 
REPORT:- 

 

 

I agree/do not agree* to the recommendation [as amended*] 
(*delete as appropriate) 

 
 
 

Signature: 

Title: 

Date: 

Page 106



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 1 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.F - Non-Executive Committee Procedure 

Rules 

 
1 Application 

 
1.1 Without prejudice to the Licensing, Licensing Sub-Committee, Planning 

Committee and Planning Sub- Committee Procedure Rules, these Rules 
shall apply to meetings of all Non-Executive Committees and Sub-
Committees established by the Council. 

 
2 Appointments 

 
2.1 Appointment as a member of a Committee or Sub-Committee shall be limited 

to the duration of the Council Year or the remainder of it, with the exception of 
the role of Independent Chair of General Purposes and Audit Committee, 
which is a four year term. Vacancies on Sub- Committees arising during the 
Council year shall be filled by decision of the parent Committee. 

 
2.2 Membership of a Statutory Review Board shall be drawn from a Panel of 

Members appointed for that purpose by the Council. The Council Solicitor shall 
have delegated power to constitute a Review Board. The Appointments 
Committee shall be constituted as and when a Committee is required to make 
an appointment. Membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee shall be drawn 
from the membership of the Licensing Committee. The Council Solicitor shall 
have delegated power to constitute a Licensing Sub-Committee as and when a 
hearing under the Licensing Act 2003 or Gambling Act 2005 is required. 

 
2.3 With the exception of the Licensing Sub-Committee and General Purposes 

and Audit Committee, every Committee and Sub-Committee and Panel, at 
their first meeting shall appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair for the duration of 
the Council Year. The Licensing Committee shall appoint a Chair and two 
Vice-Chairs. The Licensing Sub-Committee shall appoint a Chair for the 
duration of business for which that Sub- Committee is convened.  Council 
will appoint an Independent Chair of General Purposes and Audit 
Committee for a four-year term.  This appointment is in respect of the Audit 
functions of the Committee only and not in respect of the General Purposes 
functions of the Committee.  When meeting to recruit an Independent Chair 
of General Purposes and Audit Committee, the role of Chair of 
Appointments Committee shall not be held by the Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for finance.  

 
2.4 With the exception of General Purposes and Audit Committee, in the event 

of a vacancy to either the Chair or Vice-Chair arising during the Council Year, 
this shall be filled by election at the first meeting of the relevant Committee or 

Page 107



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 2 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

Sub-Committee following notification of the vacancy to the Council Solicitor. 
In the event of a vacancy to the Vice-Chair of General Purposes and Audit 
Committee during the Council Year, this shall be filled by election at the first 
meeting of the relevant committee following notification of the vacancy to the 
Council Solicitor. In the event of the absence of a Chair and Vice-Chair from 
a Committee or Sub-Committee, the representative of the Council Solicitor 
shall arrange for the election of a Chair for the purposes of the meeting. 

 

2.5 Seats shall be allocated in accordance with the rules governing 
proportionality, by the Council at its Annual Meeting or at any Ordinary or 
Extraordinary Meeting as appropriate should a vacancy arise during the 
Council Year. Except in the case of the Licensing Sub-Committee it shall be 
in order for a Member to be appointed to a Sub-Committee although they are 
not a member of the parent Committee. The Council Solicitor is empowered 
to make in year appointment to committees after consultation with party 
whips. 

 
2.6 During the Council Year, changes in membership shall be notified either by 

way of a resignation from the Member concerned or notification from the 
relevant Group Secretary. The relevant Group Secretary shall also submit a 
notification of the Member nominated to fill a vacancy arising for a seat 
allocated to that particular Group. In all cases the notification shall be 
submitted to the Council Solicitor. 

 
2.7 The Council Solicitor shall cause an item to be placed on the agenda of the 

next meeting of the relevant Committee, or in case of urgency the General 
Purposes and Audit Committee, and the Committee shall resolve that a 
named Member be appointed to the vacancy. 

 
2.8 The Council Solicitor shall arrange for any Member appointed to the Licensing 

Committee or its Sub-Committee to receive appropriate training before that 
Member shall serve as a Member of the Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 
3 Powers of the Chair 

 

3.1 The Chair of the meeting shall decide on all matters of order, competence, 
relevance and interpretation of these Rules. The Chair shall have the power 
to vary the order of business to give precedence to any item of business. 
Matters of urgent business shall be taken at the discretion of the Chair if 
satisfied that the item cannot reasonably be deferred until the next meeting of 
the Committee. The reports concerning such matters shall explain the reason 
for urgency. 

 
3.2 The Chair shall ensure that the split of business between Parts A and B (i.e. 

Part B shall constitute that part which is exempt or confidential business) is 
agreed, if necessary by a majority of the Members present. The Chair shall 
ensure that Members that wish to speak on any item of business have the 
opportunity to do so, within the scope of the meeting and within reasonable 
limits of time. The decision of the Chair as to the general conduct of the 
meeting shall be final. 

 

Page 108



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 3 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

The Chair may direct a Member to discontinue speaking if they consider the 
Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming language, 
or is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When necessary, 
the Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called by 
name, leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote 
without further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 

 

3.3 In the case of a member of the public disrupting the meeting or if there is a 
general disturbance, the Chair may order the removal of a person or that the 
public areas be cleared. Re-admission shall be at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
3.4 The recording/reporting of meetings using any type of audio or visual 

equipment is permitted subject to the proviso that any such 
reporting/filming/photography does not become distracting, disruptive or 
contrary to the good order or conduct of the meeting. Should any such 
reporting/filming/photography become distracting, disruptive or contrary to the 
good order or conduct of a meeting, the person/s responsible may be asked 
by the Chair to terminate this, regardless of the format in which the 
reporting/filming/photography is taking place. 

 

3.5 The Independent Chair of the General Purposes and Audit Committee shall 
chair the Committee in relation to all Audit functions.  The Vice Chair of 
General Purposes and Audit Committee shall chair General Purposes and 
Audit Urgency Sub Committee and General Purposes and Audit Committee 
for General Purposes functions of the Committee. 

 
 

4 Recommendation to Council 
 
4.1 Any recommendation referred to the Council for approval shall be made by 

way of a report summarising the matter and setting out the recommendation 
for the Council to consider. The Report shall be presented to the next 
convenient Ordinary Council Meeting following the meeting or meetings of the 
relevant Committee at which the recommendations are made. 

 
5 Agendas and Minutes 

 

5.1 The Council Solicitor shall ensure that an Agenda and Summons for each 
meeting are dispatched to Members and available to the public in advance of 
the meeting. 

 
5.2 The Council Solicitor shall ensure that a record is made of the decisions taken 

at every meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee. The minutes shall also 
include a record of the Members in attendance, those absent and any 
apologies received. 

 
5.3 The disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable 

interests and/or non-registrable interests, including any not already on a 
Member’s Register of Interest or subject to a pending notification to the 
Monitoring Officer, shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.   

 

Page 109



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 4 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

5.4 All minutes, except those prepared following a meeting of an Appointments 
Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee shall be considered for approval at 
the next meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee to which they relate and 
shall be open to question as to their accuracy before being signed. The 
accuracy of the minutes of a meeting shall not be open to question or 

 

amendment other than at a meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee 
concerned. 

 

5.5 Minutes shall be made available to Members, the public and press in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules at Part 4B of this 
Constitution. 

 
6 Dates and Frequency of Meetings 

 
6.1 The dates of scheduled meetings with the exception of those for the 

Appointments Committee and Licensing Sub-Committees shall be as printed 
in the Council diary. Each Committee or Sub-Committee or the Council 
Solicitor in consultation with the relevant Chair may convene meetings on 
such other dates as they may agree in the light of business to be transacted. 

 
6.2 The Planning Committee shall generally meet at three-weekly intervals and 

the Planning Sub-Committee at six-weekly intervals. The Licensing 
Committee and its Sub-Committee shall meet as frequently as business 
requires. 

 
 
6.3 The Chair shall have power to cancel a meeting for lack of business or 

reschedule a meeting, having observed the courtesy of consulting any 
member of the Committee or Sub-Committee designated as the Opposition 
Spokesperson for the Committee or Sub-Committee in question. 

 

7 Attendance by Members not appointed to a Committee or Sub- 
Committee 

 
7.1 The Chair of a Committee or Sub-Committee may agree that a Member not 

appointed to the Committee or Sub-Committee may attend and participate in 
the debate of an item of business on the grounds that the presence of the 
Member concerned can be justified. Such a Member shall not have any right 
to vote in deciding the outcome of the matter under consideration. This 
provision shall not apply in respect of the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
8 Quorum 

 
8.1 No business shall be considered at a meeting of a Committee or Sub- 

Committee unless there are present either one third of the membership of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee or 3 members, whichever figure is the greater. If 
the meeting is inquorate, it shall be deferred for 15 minutes. If after 15 minutes 
there is still no quorum, the consideration of any business not transacted shall 
be held over until the next scheduled meeting or another date fixed by the 
Chair. 

Page 110



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 5 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

 

8.2 Where the Licensing Sub-Committee is inquorate and it is not possible to 
appoint a Chair for the duration of the business as provided for in Rule 2.03 
above, the Chair of the Licensing Committee or in the absence of the Chair, 
one of the Vice Chairs, shall be deemed to be appointed as Chair for the 
purpose of deferring the business to the next scheduled meeting if 
appropriate, to another date fixed for hearing of the business or to a later time 
on the date of the scheduled meeting for hearing of the business. 

 
9 Rules of Debate 

 
9.1 A Member may indicate their desire to speak by raising their hand, but shall 

only speak when called by name by the Chair. 
 
9.2 Members shall, when speaking, address the Chair and: 

 
1 refer to each other as Chair or Member, as the case may be; 

 

2 refrain from using unbecoming language; 
 

3 refrain from comments of a personal nature about another Member; 
 

4 not attribute improper motives to another Member. 

 
9.3 Only one motion or amendment may be considered at a time. A motion or 

amendment once moved and seconded may be withdrawn, only by the mover. 
No further debate shall take place on a motion or amendment once it has been 
withdrawn. 

 

9.4 Every motion or amendment must be moved and seconded. 
 
9.5 An amendment to a motion may be proposed, provided it is seconded and: 

 
1 is not moved whilst another amendment is under discussion; 

 
2 does not have the same meaning as one already defeated at the 

meeting; 
 

3 refers to the subject matter under discussion and does not introduce a 
new subject. 

 
9.6 A Member may raise a point of order by declaring “point of order” identifying 

the appropriate Procedure Rule number, in which case the Chair shall ask the 
Member speaking to give way. The Chair shall invite the point of order to be 
explained by the Member concerned. 

 
9.7 A Member may assert a right to be heard immediately on a point of personal 

explanation by declaring “point of personal explanation”, in which case the 
 

 

Page 111



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 6 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

Chair shall ask the Member speaking to give way. The Chair shall invite the 
point of personal explanation to be made by the Member concerned. 

 

10 Voting 
 
10.1 Unless required otherwise by law, all matters shall be decided by a simple 

majority. 
 
10.2 Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of a Committee or Sub- 

Committee, if any Member so requires there shall be recorded in the minutes 
of that meeting whether the person cast their vote for or against the question 
or whether they abstained from voting. 

 
10.3 In the event of an equality of votes on either side, the Chair shall have a 

second or casting vote. 
 
11 Disclosure of Interests 

 

11.1 Every agenda shall include as an item of business “Disclosures of Interest”. 
Members shall abide by the Members Code of Conduct set out at Part 5I of 
this Constitution. It is the responsibility of every Member to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest, and/or other registrable interest during the 
course of a meeting that is not already on their register of interests or 
subject to a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer, and to disclose 
any non-registrable interest. Each disclosure shall be minuted but Members 
are required to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosure of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other registrable interest so minuted in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

Page 112



CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 5.F – Protocol for Licensing Hearings under 
the Licensing Act 2003 

Protocol adopted by the Licensing Committee on 19 April 2005 1st Revision: 6.1.06 
2nd Revision: 22.11.07 
Updated: 30 September 2020 - approved by the Licensing Committee on 30 
September 2020 pursuant to Article 15 of the Council's Constitution 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

1.1 In this Protocol: 

 ‘The Act’ means the Licensing Act 2003. 

 ‘The Regulations’ means the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 
2005 and the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) (Amendment) Regulations 
2005. 

 ‘Applicant’ means the applicant for a licence under the Licensing Act 2003. 
This includes an applicant making an application for a new premises licence 
or club premises certificate, a variation to a premises licence or club 
premises certificate, a personal licence, a transfer, an interim authority, 
designated premises supervisor, a provisional statement or a temporary 
event notice. The term Applicant also refers to a person representing the 
Applicant. 

 ‘The Authority’ means the Licensing Authority for the London Borough of 
Croydon. 

 ‘Licensing Sub-Committee’ means a Sub-Committee of the Licensing 
Committee empowered under the Act and the Council’s Constitution to 
determine applications under the Act. 

 ‘Party to the hearing’ means a person to whom a notice of hearing is 
required to be given in accordance with Regulation 6(1) of the Regulations 
including the Applicant, Responsible Authorities and ‘Other Persons’ and 
“Party” and “Parties” shall be construed accordingly. “Party” includes a 
person representing the Applicant, Responsible Authority and Other 
Persons. 

 ‘Responsible Authority’ means a person or body as defined by the Act 
and/or the Regulations and includes the Police, the Fire Authority, the 
Health Authority, the Licensing Authority, Planning Officers, Noise and 
Nuisance Officers, Health and Safety Officers Trading Standards Officers 
and officers responsible for protecting children from harm. “Responsible 
Authority” includes a person representing the Responsible Authority. 

 ’Other Persons’ means any of the following: - 

o An individual or a body representing the same; 
o a business or a body representing the same. 

“Other Person” and “Other Persons” shall be construed accordingly. “Other 
Person” includes a person representing the ‘Other Person’ 

Page 113



2. INTRODUCTION/APPLICATION OF PROTOCOL 
 

2.1 This protocol applies to hearings held by the London Borough of Croydon under 
the Act. It sets out how the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees will 
manage their business under the Act and the procedure to be followed in 
determining applications/requests for review and at hearings. 

 
2.2 The protocol shall comply with the Regulations and any regulations or 

enactment amending or replacing the same. The protocol applies to all 
applications which are required under the Act to be determined by the 
Licensing Sub-Committees, and to the conduct of all Members whether or not 
Members of the Licensing Committee or its Sub-Committees. 

 
2.3 This protocol does not apply to the consideration of any licensing matter 

outside of the Act’s scope by the Licensing Committee or to non-decision 
making matters related to the Act (i.e. recommendations) from the Licensing 
Committee.  In either instance the Licensing Committee can use their 
Reserve Members when considering such matters.  Reserve Members are 
appointed when any of the 12 Voting Licensing Members are unable to 
attend a Meeting.  Reserve Members will be notified in advance to 
Democratic Services and, subject to availability, their selection and 
appointment will be confirmed at the outset of the meeting. 

 
3. DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 Where a hearing is required under the Act, this shall be held by one of the 

Licensing Sub-Committees. 
 

3.2 Applications and other matters shall be determined in accordance with the 
Guidance issued under section 182 of the Act. Unopposed applications will be 
determined by officers under delegated authority, except where the Act or 
Regulations require otherwise. Officers will report periodically to the Licensing 
Committee on applications determined under delegated authority. 

 
4. THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
4.1 The membership of each Licensing Sub-Committee shall be three Members, 

drawn from the pool of 12 voting Members of the Licensing Committee. The 
Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services,  shall, after consultation with the 
appropriate Group Whip(s), nominate Members, to serve on meetings of the 
Licensing Sub-Committees taking into account member availability, group 
proportionality and the need to avoid any potential conflict of interests. 

 
4.2 The quorum of the Licensing Sub-Committee is three Members and all three 

Members must be present throughout the hearing. 
 

4.3 Each Political Group shall nominate a reserve member for each meeting of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee to provide for the eventuality that a Member is 
unavailable at short notice.   

 
4.4 The Licensing Sub-Committees shall be subject to the ‘access to information’ 

rules applying to committees and sub-committees appointed under Section 102 
of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4B of this Constitution, provided always that the 
Licensing Sub-Committees may at any time decide to withdraw to private Page 114



session to deliberate on any matter. 
 

4.5 The Licensing Sub-Committees shall be subject to the ‘political balance’ rules 
applying to committees and sub-committees appointed under Section 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
4.6 The Licensing Sub-Committee shall appoint a chair for the meeting from 

amongst its Membership at the start of each meeting. 
 

5. HEARINGS 
 

5.1 Hearings will be convened and conducted in accordance with the procedures at 
Annex 1 and Annex 2 to this protocol (as applicable). 

 
5.2 Hearings shall normally take place at the Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon 

though as at Annex 2, hearings may also be held remotely, online. Hearings may 
take place during the daytime or evening. 

 
5.3 The agenda for meetings of the Licensing Sub-Committees shall be agreed by 

the Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, after any necessary 
consultation with the relevant Chair. The Council Solicitor, Director of Legal 
Services, after consultation with the Chair and the Licensing Officer, shall 
determine how many applications shall be heard at each meeting of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee and in what order, taking into account all relevant 
factors including the number of parties who are present for each item. 

 
5.4 Hearings shall be scheduled in accordance with the timescales set out in the 

Regulations. In general a hearing must be held within 20 working days after 
the time has expired for making representations. 

 
6. NOTIFICATION OF HEARINGS 

 
6.1 The Applicant and all parties who have made relevant representations shall be 

notified of the hearing in accordance with the timescales set out in the 
Regulations. Information to accompany the notice of hearing shall be provided 
in accordance with the Regulations, and shall include: 

 a copy of this Protocol; 

 confirmation that a Party may be assisted or represented by a person 
whether or not that person is legally qualified; 

 confirmation that a Party to the hearing may address the Authority, give 
further information on a point on which the Authority requires clarification 
and, if considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee to be required, question 
another Party to the hearing; 

 the consequences of not attending or being represented at a hearing (which 
normally will be that the hearing will proceed in the Party’s absence); and 

 a note of any particular points on which the Authority wants clarification. 
 

6.2 In order to consider whether there are any issues of clarification to be requested, 
from Applicants or those making representations, Members of the Licensing Sub-
Committee may meet with the Clerk and/or Legal Adviser in advance of the 
hearing. No decisions will be made or discussions held regarding the substantive 
merits of the application or submissions at this meeting. 

Page 115



6.3 Subject to any restrictions in the Regulations, a Party may attend the hearing 
and may be assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person 
is legally qualified. 

 
6.4 All Parties upon whom a notice of hearing has been served are required to give 

to the Authority, in accordance with the timescales set out in the Regulations, 
notice of: 

 whether they intend to attend or to be represented at the hearing; 

 whether or not they consider a hearing to be unnecessary; and 

 whether they wish to request that another person appear at the hearing 
(other than their representative). If such a request is made, it should be 
accompanied by details of the name of that person and a full description of 
the points about which that person may be able to assist the Authority. 

 

6.5 The Authority may dispense with the requirement to hold a hearing if all Parties 
agree that such a hearing is unnecessary provided (1) all the Parties involved in 
the application agree to dispense with a hearing and (2) all Parties have each 
served a notice on the Authority that a hearing is unnecessary. Where all the 
persons required by the Act to agree that a hearing is unnecessary have done 
so in accordance with paragraph 6.4 above, the Authority, if it agrees that a 
hearing is unnecessary, shall forthwith give notice to the Parties that the 
hearing has been dispensed with and the application will be determined by the 
officers under delegated authority. The Authority will determine the application 
within 10 working days from the date the Notice is served dispensing with the 
hearing. Once the application has been determined the Authority will notify the 
Parties of its decision forthwith. 

 
6.6 Subject to the requirement to determine an application within the timescale set 

out in the Regulations and to any other restrictions contained in the Regulations, 
the Authority has the power to extend a time limit specified in the Regulations for 
a specified period where it considers this is necessary in the public interest, or to 
adjourn a hearing to a specified date. Where the Authority has exercised its 
discretion to extend a time limit or adjourn a hearing, it must forthwith give notice 
to the Parties, stating the period of the extension and the reasons why it 
considers it is necessary in the public interest, or the date, time and place to 
which the hearing has been adjourned, as appropriate. 

 
7. FAILURE OF PARTIES TO ATTEND THE HEARING 

 
7.1 If a Party, who has not given prior notice of his/her intention not to attend the 

hearing, is absent from the hearing the Licensing Sub-Committee may either 
adjourn the hearing or hold the hearing in the Party’s absence. Where the hearing 
is held in the absence of a Party, the Licensing Sub-Committee will still consider 
the application, representation or notice submitted by that Party. 

 
8. OFFICERS TO ATTEND THE HEARING 

 
8.1 The hearing will be attended by a Legal Officer, a Democratic Services Officer 

who shall act as the clerk, and a Licensing Officer. The officers are present to 
provide advice and are not Parties to the hearing. Where the Licensing 

Page 116



authority determines that it will make representations as a Responsible 
Authority, these representations will not be made by the same Licensing Officer 
who presents the application to the Sub-Committee at the hearing. 

 
8.2 The role of the Legal Officer is to provide legal advice relating to the application 

and submissions. Any legal advice that may be given to the Licensing Sub- 
Committee in private shall be repeated when the Licensing Sub-Committee 
returns in open session. 

 
8.3 The role of the Clerk is to record the hearing and the decisions of the Licensing 

Sub-Committee, and to ensure efficient administration. 
 

9. LICENSING OFFICER’S REPORT TO THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

9.1 The Licensing Officer shall prepare a report for consideration by the Sub- 
Committee including: 

 a brief summary of the application; 

 a brief summary of representations by responsible authorities and Interested 
Parties; 

 relevant aspects of the Council’s Licensing Policy and National Guidance; 
and 

 Other information as appropriate and as included in the Council’s standard 
report format. 

 

9.2 The Licensing Officer’s report shall be sent to the Parties and will be 
accompanied by the relevant documentary material that has been submitted by 
the Parties. 

 
9.3 After having heard the representations and prior to retiring to make its decision 

the Licensing Sub-Committee may, if it wishes, seek the guidance of the 
licensing officer regarding possible suitable conditions in respect of any 
particular application. 

 

10. REPRESENTATIONS 
 

10.1 Other Person(s) or Responsible Authority may make written representations 
about an application for a premises licence or certificate. Generally these must 
be made at any time up to and including 20 working days after the day on 
which the application was received. A copy of all relevant representations will 
be provided, in full, to the Applicant. The papers for the Licensing Sub- 
Committee hearing will be available to the press and public. Correspondence 
submitted anonymously will not be considered. 

 
10.2 Licensing Sub-Committee Members will not enter into correspondence or 

discussion with Applicants, their agents or representatives, Other Persons or 
Responsible Authorities about the merits of the application(s) they may be 
called upon to decide. 

 
10.3 Where an application is to be decided at a hearing by the Licensing Sub- 

Committee, Applicants and those who have made relevant written 

Page 117



representations in connection with the application, will be invited to attend. 
 

 Representations or requests for review will only be relevant if they relate to 
one or more of the four licensing objectives: 
the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance; and 

 the protection of children from harm. 
 

10.5 At the hearing a Party shall be entitled to: 

 give further information in response to a point upon which the Authority has 
given notice that it will want clarification; 

 if given permission by the Authority, question any other Party; and 

 address the Authority. 
 

10.6 Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee may question any Party or other 
person appearing at the hearing. 

 
10.7 In considering any representations or notice made by a Party the Authority may 

take into account documentary or other information produced by a Party either 
before the hearing or, with the consent of all the other Parties, at the hearing. 

 
10.8 Statements made by people in support of a Party’s representation who are not 

present at the hearing, must be signed by the maker, dated and witnessed by 
another person. The statement must also contain the witness’s full name and 
occupation. 

 
10.9 A Party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made, may do so 

by giving written notice to the Authority no later than 24 hours before the day on 
which the hearing is scheduled to be held, or orally at the hearing. 

 
10.10 The Licensing Sub-Committee has the discretion to consider whether to take into 

account any documentary or other evidence produced by a Party before the 
hearing. Any documentary or other evidence produced by any Party in support 
of an application, representations or notice of hearing, which has not been 
produced before the hearing can only be heard with the consent of all other 
Parties present, and the Licensing Sub-Committee.   During the hearing no new 
matters may be raised without the express consent of the Chair of the Licensing 
Sub-Committee. 

 
11. HEARINGS TO BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 
11.1 The hearing will take place in public. However, the Licensing Sub-Committee 

may exclude the public (including a Party and any person assisting or 
representing a Party) from all or part of a hearing where it considers that the 
public interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, or that 
part of the hearing, taking place in public. 

 
11.2 The Chair may exclude from the hearing any person who is behaving in a 

disruptive manner. This may include a Party who is seeking to be heard at the 

Page 118



hearing. In the case where a Party is to be excluded, the Party may submit to 
the Licensing Sub-Committee in writing any information which they would have 
been entitled to give orally had they not been excluded from the hearing. 

 
11.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee may retire into private session during or at the 

end of the hearing to deliberate on any matter or decide how it wishes to 
determine the application. The Licensing Sub-Committee may be accompanied 
by the Clerk and the Legal Advisor who will be available to assist the Licensing 
Sub-Committee with any legal problems but will not participate in any decision 
making of the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
12. DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 
12.1 Normally the Licensing Sub-Committee shall make its determination at the 

conclusion of the hearing and in all cases the Licensing Sub-Committee shall 
make its determination in accordance with the timescales laid down by the 
Regulations. 

 
12.2 Where all Parties have notified the Authority that a hearing is not required and 

the Authority agrees that a hearing is not required, the application shall be 
determined in accordance with the timescales set out in the Regulations. 

 
12.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee shall give reasons for its decision and these 

shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 
 

12.4 The Authority shall notify Parties of its determination, and provide any 
accompanying information in accordance with the Regulations. The Chief 
Officer of Police shall also be notified even in a case where the Police have not 
made a representation. 

 
13.1 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
13.1 The Authority shall keep a record of the hearing in a permanent and intelligible 

form for 6 years from the date of the determination or, where an appeal is 
brought against the determination of the Authority, from the disposal of the 
appeal. 

 

14. CODE OF CONDUCT AND PRINCIPLES OF DECISION-MAKING 
 

14.1 Members shall at all times comply with the provisions of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
14.2 In making their determinations under the Act, Members shall have regard to: 

 the material relevant facts in light of the evidence presented; 

 the relevant statutory provisions; 

 relevant national guidance and the policy statement; 

 the licensing objectives; and 

 the individual merits of the case. 
 

14.3 Applications shall be determined on the basis of whether they promote the 

Page 119



licensing objectives in the Act, namely: 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance; and 

 the protection of children from harm. 

 

14.4 The Licensing Sub-Committee shall disregard any information or evidence 
given which is not relevant to the application, representations or notice; or to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
14.5 Decisions must not be influenced by any political party direction whether given 

at a previous party group meeting or otherwise. 
 

14.6 Members of the Licensing Committee or its Sub-Committee(s) must act without 
bias or predetermination, must have no disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) in 
any application before them, and must keep an open mind on all applications 
until they have considered all of the evidence and arguments presented. They 
shall not take or express any view on the merits of an application, nor organise 
support for or opposition to any application in advance of a hearing. Any 
Member who does so shall not be eligible to serve on the Licensing Sub- 
Committee [meeting] that hears the application. 

 
15. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: GENERAL 

 
15.1 Members must at all times comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct in 

relation to the disclosure of disclosable pecuniary interests, participation in 
relation to disclosed interests and registration of disclosable pecuniary 
interests and other interests and of gifts and hospitality. 

 

16. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: MEMBERS OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

16.1 A Member of the Licensing Committee who has been involved in a licence 
application shall not serve on the Licensing Sub-Committee hearing at which 
the licence application is to be determined. 

 
16.2 No Member sitting on the Licensing Sub-Committee can represent one of the 

interested Parties or applicant. If a Member wishes to do so s/he must excuse 
him/herself from membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee which is 
considering the application and address the Licensing Sub-Committee as a 
representative for an Interested Party (subject to 17.2 below). 

 
16.3 Members involved in Council meetings which approved the Licensing Policy (or 

any amendment to it), will not be excluded from membership of the Licensing 
Sub-Committee solely on this basis. 

17. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: WARD MEMBERS AND OTHER MEMBERS 

17.1 Under the Members’ Code of Conduct a Member who has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest must, if the interest is not one which is already on the 
register of interests or subject to a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer, 

Page 120



disclose the existence of that interest to the meeting and thereafter notify the 
Monitoring Officer of that interest within 28 days of this disclosure. 

 
17.2 Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in relation to the 

application under consideration they may not sit on that sub-committee. 
 

17.3 Any Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest is also precluded from 
making representations orally to the Sub-Committee or from making 
representations on behalf of a party to the hearing. They can still present their 
views through other means. For example, the Member can: 

 

 make written representations in their private capacity. The existence and nature 
of the interest should be disclosed in such representations and the Member 
should not seek preferential consideration for their representations. Such 
written representations should be addressed to officers rather than other 
Members of the Authority;

 use a professional representative to make an application on the Members 
behalf; or

 arrange for another Member of the Authority to represent the views of the 
Member’s constituents on matters in which their ward Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

 
17.4 The Member who has a disclosable pecuniary interest but has been asked to 

represent the views of a party making representations should advise them 
about that interest and inform them that another Member may represent their 
views on the issue. When representing those views the other Member should 
make it clear to the relevant committee or officers that he or she is acting in 
place of the original Member because of that Member’s disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 

 
18. LOBBYING 

 
18.1 If a Member of the Licensing Committee is approached by a person(s) wishing 

to lobby him/her on a licence application then that Member should explain that 
they cannot discuss the matter and refer the lobby person(s) to the Licensing 
Officer or his/her Ward Member who can explain the process of decision 
making. Any written representations received by a Member of the Licensing 
Committee should be passed to the Licensing Officer and reported at the 
hearing at which the application is being determined. Requests for procedural 
advice with regards to licensing applications should be referred to Council 
Officers for advice and information. 

 
18.2 Other Members must not lobby Members who sit on the Licensing Sub- 

Committee, directly or indirectly, before or after a meeting, in writing or 
otherwise, in respect of items to be decided by the Licensing Sub-Committee. 
Any representation by other Members, on behalf of an Other Person(s), should 
be sent to the relevant Licensing Officer for inclusion in his/her report. A 
Member shall not attempt to use her/his status as a Member to influence 
consideration of a submission, or try to get officers to change a decision or 
recommendation. 

Page 121



19. SITE VISITS 
 

19.1 The Licensing Sub-Committee may undertake a site visit to the premises which 
are the subject of an application. If required, the site visit may occur prior to the 
hearing or the Licensing Sub-Committee may adjourn the hearing part way 
through to undertake a site visit. The Chair of the Licensing Sub-Committee 
shall give reasons justifying the need for a site visit and these shall be notified 
to the Parties. 

 
19.2 If a site visit is necessary the following procedure should be observed: 

 the visit should be undertaken as a group visit attended by all the Licensing 
Sub-Committee Members and its purpose should be confined to that 
indicated by the Chair; 

 the visit should be attended by an officer who may be asked factual 
questions by the Members; 

 no indication of the likely outcome of the application should be given on the 
visit; 

 no representation from the applicant or from those making representations 
shall be heard or accepted on the visit; and 

 a record should be kept of those attending the visit, the questions asked, 
and answers given. 

 

20. APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY OR BY 
ANOTHER PUBLIC AUTHORITY 

 

20.1 Where the Authority is the applicant for a licence, that application shall be 
determined in accordance with the normal procedure. The Licensing Sub- 
Committee shall give no regard to the interests of the Council itself, aside from 
receiving relevant representations on this issue. Members who were part of the 
Authority’s decision to apply for the licence, or who express a view in respect of 
such an application, shall not serve on the Licensing Sub-Committee to 
determine the application. 

 

20.2 A Member who also serves on another local authority, or carries out a function 
for another public authority, or is appointed by Croydon Council as its 
representative on another body, shall not serve on the Licensing Sub- 
Committee to determine an application which has been made by that other 
authority or body, or on which that other authority or body has made a 
representation. 

 
21. VARIATION/AMENDMENT OF THIS PROTOCOL 

 

21.1 The Licensing Sub-Committee may waive, vary or modify any part of this 
protocol in relation to a particular case if it considers that this is necessary to 
ensure fairness to the Parties and/or proper consideration of the application in 
question, provided always that this does not result in any contravention of the 
Regulations. 

 
21.2 This protocol may be amended by the Licensing Committee. In addition, where 

amendments to this protocol are necessary due to legislative changes, the 

Page 122



Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, may make such consequential 
changes to this Protocol as are necessary to take such changes into account. 

Page 123



ANNEX 1 - Procedure for Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings 
 

Note: (1) This procedure shall normally be followed for all Hearings held by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee(s). The Chair may vary the procedure in respect of any 
hearing if he/she considers that this would facilitate the proper consideration of the 
application or notice before the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
Note: (2) The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Licensing Sub- 
Committee. Cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the Licensing Sub- 
Committee considers that cross-examination is required for it to consider the 
representations, application or notice before it. 

 
1. The Licensing Sub-Committee will elect a Chair from amongst their number 

 
2. The Chair will introduce those present, Parties to indicate their names and who 

they represent. Chair to ascertain who will speak. 
 

3. The Chair of the Licensing Sub-Committee will inform the Parties whether their 
applications to have certain people attend the hearing (e.g. witnesses) have 
been granted or refused (Note this relates to people other than those attending 
on behalf of a Party in the capacity as a representative of the Party). 

 
4. The Chair will explain to the Parties the procedure to be followed at the hearing 

and to consider any request made by a Party in accordance with the 
Regulations for permission for another person to appear at the hearing (Such 
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

 
5. The Licensing Sub-Committee will confirm or vary the time limits set out below 

to be applied to contributions from the Parties. (Note: under the Regulations an 
equal maximum time period must be allowed to the Parties to exercise their 
rights under the Regulations). 

 
6. The Chair will summarise the paperwork before the Licensing Sub-Committee 

and confirm that all present have copies; will ascertain whether any 
representations have been or are now to be withdrawn, and will hear any 
requests to adduce additional documentary or other information. 

 

7. The Licensing Officer will outline: 

 details of the application and relevant representations received from the 
Parties; and the outcome of any discussions 

 relevant legislation; 

 relevant Licensing Policy; and 

 the time limit in which the Council must reach a determination. 
 

8. The Chair will invite each of the Parties or their representative in turn to 
address the Licensing Sub-Committee and call any person/s to whom 
permission has been granted to appear. Each Party will be allowed a 
maximum period of 10 minutes in which to address the Licensing Sub- 
Committee and call persons on his/her behalf, and clarify any points on which 
the Licensing Sub-Committee has sought clarification prior to the hearing. This 

Page 124



10 minute period should be uninterrupted unless a member of the Licensing 
Sub-Committee or Legal Adviser considers that the speaker is making 
submissions that are irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious. 

 
9. Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee or their Legal Adviser may ask 

questions of any Party, at any time throughout the proceedings. 
 

10. The sequence in which each of the Parties will be invited to address the 
Licensing Sub-Committee will normally be in the order of: 

 the Police; 

 the Fire Authority; 

 the Health Authority 

 the Licensing Authority 

 the Health and Safety at Work Enforcing Authority; 

 the Local Planning Authority; 

 the Local Environmental Health Authority – Noise and Nuisance Officers; 

 the Local Trading Standards Authority; 

 the Authority Responsible for the Protection of Children from Harm; 

 any Other Person(s) that has submitted representations in respect of the 
application, certificate, notice or other matter appearing before the 
Licensing Sub-Committee (if there are a large number of Other Persons 
present who are making relevant representations they may be invited to 
share the maximum time available or to nominate a spokesperson to speak 
on their behalf); and 

 the Party that has submitted the application, certificate, notice or other 
matter appearing before the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 

11. At the discretion of the Licensing Sub-Committee the above order may be 
varied. 

 
12. Parties may give their evidence by making a statement or if appropriate by 

being questioned by the person calling them. 
 

13. If the Licensing Sub-Committee considers that cross-examination is required for 
it to consider the representations, application or notice as the case may require, 
a period of up to 5 minutes cross-examination shall be allowed after each 
submission. 

 
14. The Sub-Committee will then ask any outstanding points requiring clarification. 

 
15. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether in the light of any representations 

made, they wish to amend their application or offer any additional conditions to 
overcome the representations and/or promote the licensing objectives. 

 
16. If the Applicant makes any comments in relation to 15 above, the Licensing 

Sub-Committee will ask the other Parties whether they wish to make any further 
comment in relation to any amendment or additional comments offered by the 
Applicant. 

 
17. The Chair will invite the Parties to indicate if they wish to make any final 

Page 125



comments. If any Party wishes to do so they will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to do so and the other Parties will be given the same maximum period, 
finishing with the Applicant. 

 
18. The Licensing Sub-Committee will deliberate on and determine the matter 

under consideration. The Licensing Sub-Committee may withdraw to a private 
room to do this. 

 
19. The Licensing Sub-Committee will return to open session. The Chair will ask 

the Legal Adviser to inform the Parties of any legal advice given during the 
Licensing Sub-Committee’s private discussion that has informed their decision. 

 
20 The Chair will then announce in open session to all Parties the decision of the 

Licensing Sub-Committee and reasons, unless (where permitted by the 
Regulations) the decision is to be communicated at some later time. 

Page 126



ANNEX 2 - Procedure for Remote Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings 
 

Note: (1) This procedure shall normally be followed for all Hearings held by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee(s). The Chair may vary the procedure in respect of any 
hearing if he/she considers that this would facilitate the proper consideration of the 
application or notice before the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
Note: (2) The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Licensing Sub- 
Committee. Cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the Licensing Sub- 
Committee considers that cross-examination is required for it to consider the 
representations, application or notice before it. 

 
Note: (3)   Having regard to the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005, 
The Coronavirus Act 2020 (in so far as it impacts on licensing proceedings) and The 
Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020: any reference to hearing may be to a virtual or remote hearing which is not 
limited to a meeting of persons all of whom, or any of whom, are present in the same 
place and any reference to a “place” where a meeting is held, or to be held, includes 
reference to more than one place including electronic, digital or virtual locations such 
as internet locations, web addresses or conference call telephone numbers and 
“present”, “appear” and “attend” shall be construed accordingly. 

 
1. The Licensing Sub-Committee will elect a Chair from amongst their number 

 

2. The Chair will invite those present to introduce themselves, Parties to indicate 
their names and who they represent. Chair to ascertain who will speak. 

 
3. The Chair of the Licensing Sub-Committee will inform the Parties whether 

their applications to have certain people attend the hearing (e.g. witnesses) 
have been granted or refused (Note this relates to people other than those 
attending on behalf of a Party in the capacity as a representative of the Party). 

 
4. The Chair will explain to the Parties the procedure to be followed at the 

hearing and to consider any request made by a Party in accordance with the 
Regulations for permission for another person to appear at the hearing (Such 
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

 
5. The Licensing Sub-Committee will confirm or vary the time limits set out below 

to be applied to contributions from the Parties. (Note: under the Regulations 
an equal maximum time period must be allowed to the Parties to exercise 
their rights under the Regulations). 

 
6. The Chair will summarise the paperwork before the Licensing Sub-Committee 

and confirm that all present have copies; will ascertain whether any 
representations have been or are now to be withdrawn, and will hear any 
requests to adduce additional documentary or other information. 

 
7. The Licensing Officer will outline: 

 details of the application and relevant representations received from the 

Page 127



Parties; and the outcome of any discussions 

 relevant legislation; 

 relevant Licensing Policy; and 

 the time limit in which the Council must reach a determination. 
 

8. The Chair will invite each of the Parties or their representative in turn to 
address the Licensing Sub-Committee and invite any person/s to whom 
permission has been granted to appear. Each Party will be allowed a 
maximum period of 10 minutes in which to address the Licensing Sub- 
Committee and call persons on his/her behalf, and clarify any points on which 
the Licensing Sub-Committee has sought clarification prior to the hearing. 
This 10 minute period should be uninterrupted unless a member of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee or Legal Adviser considers that the speaker is 
making submissions that are irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious. 

 
9. Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee or their Legal Adviser may ask 

questions of any Party, at any time throughout the proceedings. 
 

10. The sequence in which each of the Parties will be invited to address the 
Licensing Sub-Committee will normally be in the order of: 

 the Police; 

 the Fire Authority; 

 the Health and Safety at Work Enforcing Authority; 

 the Local Planning Authority; 

 the Local Environmental Health Authority – Noise and Nuisance Officers, 
Waste Management Officers; 

 the Local Trading Standards Authority; 

 the Authority Responsible for the Protection of Children from Harm; 

 any Other Party that has submitted representations in respect of the 
application, certificate, notice or other matter appearing before the 
Licensing Sub-Committee (if there are a large number of Other Persons 
present who are making relevant representations they may be invited to 
share the maximum time available or to nominate a spokesperson to 
speak on their behalf); and 

 the Party that has submitted the application, certificate, notice or other 
matter appearing before the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 

11. At the discretion of the Licensing Sub-Committee the above order may be 
varied. 

 
12. Parties may give their evidence by making a statement or if appropriate by 

being questioned by the person calling them. 
 

13. If the Licensing Sub-Committee considers that cross-examination is required 
for it to consider the representations, application or notice as the case may 
require, a period of up to 5 minutes cross-examination shall be allowed after 
each submission. 

 
14. The Sub-Committee will then ask any outstanding points requiring 

Page 128



clarification. 
 

15. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether in the light of any representations 
made, they wish to amend their application or offer any additional conditions 
to overcome the representations and/or promote the licensing objectives. 

 
16. If the Applicant makes any comments in relation to 15 above, the Licensing 

Sub-Committee will ask the other Parties whether they wish to make any 
further comment in relation to any amendment or additional comments offered 
by the Applicant. 

 
17. The Chair will invite the Parties to indicate if they wish to make any final 

comments. If any Party wishes to do so they will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to do so and the other Parties will be given the same maximum 
period, finishing with the Applicant. 

 
18. The Licensing Sub-Committee will deliberate on and determine the matter 

under consideration. The Licensing Sub-Committee may withdraw to do this 
privately. 

 
19. Where a decision is required to be made at the conclusion of the hearing, the 

Licensing Sub-Committee will return to open session following their private 

deliberations. The Chair will ask the Legal Adviser to inform the Parties of any 

legal advice given during the Licensing Sub-Committee’s private discussion 

that has informed their decision. The Chair will then announce in open session 

to all Parties the decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee and reasons, 

unless (where permitted by the Regulations) the decision is to be 

communicated at some later time. 

20. Where a decision is not one which is required to be made at the conclusion of 
the hearing, the meeting will be concluded and thereafter the Members will 
undertake their deliberations. Parties will be notified of the decision of the 
Sub Committee and the reasons for that decision in writing within 5 working 
days following the conclusion of the hearing. 

Page 129



ANNEX 3 – Delegation of Functions 
 

Applications and other matters shall be determined under delegated powers in 
accordance with the following schedule: 

 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COMMITTEE 

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

Application for personal 
licence 

 If a police objection i 
raised 

If no objection is 
made 

Application for personal 
licence, with unspent 
convictions 

 All cases  

Application for premises 
licence/club registration 
Certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is 
made 

Application for provisional 
statement 

 If a relevant 
representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is 
made 

Application to vary premises 
licence/club registration 
Certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is 
made 

Application to vary 
designated premises 
supervisor 

 If a police 
Representation is 
made 

All other cases 

Request to be removed as 
designated premises 
supervisor 

   

All cases 

Application for transfer of 
premises licence 

 If a police 
objection is raised 

All other cases 

Application for interim 
authorities 

 If a police 
objection is raised 

All other cases 

Application to review 
premises licence/club 
registration Certificate 

 All cases  

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious, etc 

   

All cases 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 
relevant authority 
considering the application. 

 All cases  

Determination of a police 
objection to a temporary 
event notice 

 All cases  

 

Page 130



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 1 of 14  

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 5.G – Protocol for Licensing Hearings under the 

Gambling Act 2005 
Protocol adopted by the Licensing Committee on: 10th October 2007 Effective from: 
22nd November 2007 
Amended: 30 September 2020 - - approved by the Licensing Committee on 30 
September 2020 pursuant to Article 15 of the Council's Constitution 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

1.1 In this Protocol: 

 ‘The Act’ means the Gambling Act 2005.

 ‘The Regulations’ mean the Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing 

Committees & Sub-Committees) (Premises Licences and Provisional 
Statements) (England and Wales) Regulations 2007.

 ‘Applicant’ means the person who makes an application under the Act. 

This includes an applicant making an application for a premises licence for an 
adult gaming centre, casino, bingo premises, betting premises, track or 
licensed family entertainment centre, travelling fair permits or for a variety of 
permits and temporary or occasional use notices. The term Applicant also 
refers to a person representing the Applicant.

 ‘The relevant committee’ means the Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-
Committee, empowered under the Act and the Council’s Constitution to 
determine applications under the Act.

 ‘Party to the hearing’ means a person to whom a notice of hearing is 

required to be given in accordance with Regulation 5(1) of the Regulations 
including the Applicant, Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties and 
“Party” and “Parties” shall be construed accordingly. “Party” includes a person 
representing the Applicant, Responsible Authority and Interested Parties.

 ‘Responsible Authority’ means a public body as defined by s.157 of the Act 

and the Regulations that must be notified of applications and is entitled to 
make representations. They are the Licensing Authority, the Gambling 
Commission, HM Revenue and Customs, the Police, the Fire Authority, 
Planning Officers, Noise and Nuisance Officers and the Croydon Children’s 
Safeguarding Board. “Responsible Authority” includes a person representing 
the Responsible Authority.

 ‘Interested Party’ means any of the following:

a) a person who lives sufficiently close to the premises likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities; 

b) a person who has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities; or 

c) a person who represents the persons who satisfy para.a) or b). 
“Interested Party” and “Interested Parties” shall be construed accordingly. 

Formatted: Highlight

Page 131



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 2 of 14  

2. INTRODUCTION/APPLICATION OF PROTOCOL 
 

2.1 This protocol applies to hearings held by the London Borough of Croydon under 
the Act. It sets out how the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees will 
manage their business under the Act and the procedure to be followed in 
determining applications/requests for review and at hearings. It includes the 
matters required to be explained in the notice of hearing under Regulation 6(1) 
of the Regulations. 

 
2.2 The protocol shall comply with the Regulations and any regulations or enactment 

amending or replacing the same. The protocol applies to all applications which 
are required under the Act to be determined by the relevant committees, and to 
the conduct of all Members whether or not Members of the Licensing Committee 
or its Sub-Committees. 

 
2.3 This protocol does not apply to the consideration of any licensing matter outside 

of the Act’s scope by the Licensing Committee or to non-decision making matters 
related to the Act (i.e. recommendations) from the Licensing Committee.  In either 
instance the Licensing Committee can use their Reserve Members when 
considering such matters.  Reserve Members are appointed when any of the 12 
Voting Licensing Committee Members are unable to attend a Meeting.  Reserve 
Members will be notified in advance by Democratic Services and, subject to 
availability, their selection and appointment will be confirmed at the outset of the 
Meeting. ‘Non-decision matters’ in this context do not include fee setting pursuant 
to s212 of the Act.  

 
3. DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 

3.1 Both unopposed applications and those where a hearing is required under the 
Act shall be heard by one of the Licensing Sub-Committees. 

 
3.2 Applications and other matters shall be determined in accordance with the 

guidance issued under section 25 of the Act. 
 
4. THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES 

 

4.1 The membership of each Licensing Sub-Committee shall be three Members, 
drawn from the pool of 122 Members and ReserveVoting Members of the 
Licensing Committee. The Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, shall, 
after consultation with the appropriate Group Whip(s), nominate members to 
serve on meetings of the relevant committee taking into account member 
availability, group proportionality and the need to avoid any potential conflict of 
interests. 

 
4.2 The quorum of the relevant committee is three members and all three members 

must be present throughout the hearing. 
 

4.3 Each Political Group shall nominate a reserve member for each meeting of the 
relevant committee to provide for the eventuality that a member is unavailable 
at short notice.   

Page 132



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 3 of 14  

 
4.4 The relevant committee shall be subject to the ‘access to information’ rules 

applying to committees and sub-committees appointed under Section 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4B of this Constitution, provided always that the 
relevant committee may at any time decide to withdraw to private session to 
deliberate on any matter. 

 
4.5 The relevant committee shall be subject to the ‘political balance’ rules applying 

to committees and sub-committees appointed under Section 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. The Licensing Sub-Committee shall appoint a chair for 
the meeting from amongst its membership at the start of each meeting. 

 
5. HEARINGS 

 

5.1 Hearings will be convened and conducted in accordance with the procedures at 
Annex 1 and Annex 2 to this protocol (as applicable). 

 
5.2 Hearings shall normally take place at the Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon 

though as at Annex 2, hearings may also be held remotely, online. Hearings may 
take place during the daytime or evening. 

 
5.3 The agenda for meetings of the relevant committee shall be agreed by the 

Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, after any necessary consultation 
with the relevant Chair.   The Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, after 
consultation with the Chair and the Licensing Officer, shall determine how 
many applications shall be heard at each meeting of the relevant committee 
and in what order, taking into account all relevant factors including the number of 
parties who are present for each item. 

 
5.4 Hearings shall be arranged to commence as soon as is reasonably practicable 

after the expiry of any period for representations. If the hearing is to be held on 
more than one day it must be arranged to take place on consecutive working 
days. 

 
6. NOTIFICATION OF HEARINGS 

 

6.1 Interested Parties shall be notified of the hearing in accordance with the 
timescales set out in the Regulations. Information to accompany the notice of 
hearing shall be provided in accordance with the Regulations, and shall include: 

 a copy of this Protocol;

 confirmation that a Party may be assisted or represented by a person whether 
or not that person is legally qualified;

 confirmation that a Party to the hearing may address the Authority, give 
further information on a point on which the Authority requires clarification and, 
if considered by the relevant committee to be required, question another 
Party to the hearing;

 the consequences of not attending or being represented at a hearing (which 
normally will be that the hearing will proceed in the Party’s absence); and

 a note of any particular points on which the Authority wants clarification.

Page 133



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 4 of 14  

 

6.2 In order to consider whether there are any issues of clarification to be requested 
from Applicants or those making representations, Members of the relevant 
committee may meet with the Clerk and/or Legal Adviser in advance of the 
hearing. No decisions will be made or discussions held regarding the 
substantive merits of the application or submissions at this meeting.  
Subject to any restrictions in the Regulations, a Party may attend the hearing 
and may be assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person 
is legally qualified. 

 
6.3 All Parties upon whom a notice of hearing has been served are required to give 

to the Authority, in accordance with the timescales set out in the regulations, 
notice of: 

 whether they wish to attend, address, or to be assisted or represented at the 
hearing;

 whether or not they consider a hearing to be unnecessary; and

 whether they wish to request that another person appear at the hearing (other 
than their representative). If such a request is made, it should be 
accompanied by details of the name of that person and a full description of 
the points about which that person may be able to assist the Authority.

 

6.4 The Authority may dispense with the requirement to hold a hearing if all Parties 
agree that such a hearing is unnecessary provided (1) all the Parties involved in 
the application agree to dispense with a hearing and (2) all Parties have each 
notified the Authority that a hearing is unnecessary. Where all the persons 
required by the Act to agree that a hearing is unnecessary have done so in 
accordance with paragraph 6.4 above, the Authority, if it agrees that a hearing 
is unnecessary, shall as soon as is reasonably practicable, give notice to the 
Parties that the hearing has been dispensed with and proceed to determine the 
application or review. Once the application has been determined the Authority 
will notify the Parties of its decision forthwith. 

 
6.5 Subject to the requirement to determine an application within the timescale set 

out in the regulations and to any other restrictions contained in the Regulations, 
the Authority has the power to extend a time limit specified in the Regulations 
for a specified period where it considers this is necessary in the public interest, 
or to adjourn a hearing to a specified date. Where the Authority has exercised 
its discretion to extend a time limit or adjourn a hearing, it must forthwith give 
notice to the Parties, stating the period of the extension and the reasons why it 
considers it is necessary in the public interest, or the date, time and place to 
which the hearing has been adjourned, as appropriate. 

 
7. FAILURE OF PARTIES TO ATTEND THE HEARING 

 

7.1 If a Party, who has not given prior notice of his/her intention not to attend the 
hearing, is absent from the hearing or has left the hearing in circumstances which 
would enable the relevant committee to reasonably conclude that he does 
not intend to participate further, the relevant committee may either adjourn the 
hearing or hold the hearing in the Party’s absence. Where the hearing is held in 
the absence of a Party, the relevant committee will still consider the application, 

Page 134



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 5 of 14  

representation or notice submitted by that Party. 
 
8. OFFICERS TO ATTEND THE HEARING 

 

8.1 The hearing will be attended by a Legal Officer, a Democratic Services Officer 

who shall act as the clerk, and a Licensing Officer. The officers are present to 
provide advice and are not Parties to the hearing. 

 
8.2 The role of the Legal Officer is to provide legal advice relating to the application 

and submissions. Any legal advice that may be given to the relevant committee 
in private shall be repeated when the relevant committee returns in open session. 

 
8.3 The role of the Clerk is to record the hearing and the decisions of the relevant 

committee, and ensure efficient administration. 
 
9. LICENSING OFFICER’S REPORT TO THE RELEVANT COMMITTEE 

 

9.1 The Licensing Officer shall prepare a report for consideration by the relevant 
committee including: 

 a brief summary of the application;

 a brief summary of representations by responsible authorities and Interested 
Parties;

 relevant aspects of the Council’s Statement of Principles and National 
Guidance;

 other information as appropriate and as included in the Council’s standard 
report format.

 

9.2 The Licensing Officer’s report shall be sent to the Parties and will be 
accompanied by the relevant documentary material that has been submitted by 
the Parties. 

 
9.3 After having heard the representations and prior to retiring to make its decision 

the relevant committee may, if it wishes, seek the guidance of the licensing officer 
regarding possible suitable conditions in respect of any particular application. 

 

10. REPRESENTATIONS 
 

10.1 An Interested Party or Responsible Authority may make written representations 
about an application for a premises licence within a period of 28 days beginning 
on the date on which the application was made to the Authority. A copy of all 
relevant representations will be provided, in full, to the Applicant.   The papers 
for the relevant committee hearing will be available to the press and public. 
Correspondence submitted anonymously will not be considered. 

 
10.2 Relevant committee members will not enter into correspondence or discussion 

with Applicants, their agents or representatives, other Interested Parties or 
Responsible Authorities about the merits of the application(s) they may be called 
upon to decide. 

 
10.3 Where an application is to be decided at a hearing by the relevant committee, 

Page 135



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 6 of 14  

Applicants and those who have made relevant written representations in 
connection with the application will be invited to attend. 

 
10.4 Representations or requests for review will only be relevant if they relate to one 

or more of the three licensing objectives: 
 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

 

10.5 At the hearing a Party shall be entitled to: 

 address the relevant committee on any relevant matter;

 call witnesses to give evidence on any relevant matter;

 give further information in response to a point upon which the Authority has 
given notice that it will want clarification; and

 if given permission by the relevant committee, question any other Party.
 

10.6 Members of the relevant committee may question any Party or other person 
appearing at the hearing. 

 
10.7 Statements made by people in support of a Party’s representation who are not 

present at the hearing, must be signed by the maker, dated and witnessed by 
another person. The statement must also contain the witness’s full name and 
occupation. 

 
10.8 A Party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made, may do so 

by giving written notice to the Authority no later than 24 hours before the day on 
which the hearing is scheduled to be held, or orally at the hearing. 

 
10.9 The relevant committee has the discretion to consider whether to take into 

account any documentary or other evidence produced by a Party before the 
hearing. Any documentary or other evidence produced by any Party in support 
of an application, representations or notice of hearing, which has not been 
produced before the hearing can only be heard with the consent of all other 
parties present, and the relevant committee. During the hearing no new matters 
may be raised without the express consent of the Chair of the relevant committee. 

 
11. HEARINGS TO BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

11.1 The hearing will take place in public. However, the relevant committee may 
decide that all or part of the hearing will be in private if it is necessary in all the 
circumstances of the case having regards to: 

 any unfairness to a Party that is likely to result from a hearing in public; and

 the need to protect as far as possible, the commercial or other legitimate 
interests of a Party.

11.2 The relevant committee may require any person attending the hearing who in 
their opinion is behaving in a disruptive manner, or in breach of conditions 

Page 136



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 7 of 14  

specified under this paragraph, to leave the hearing and: 
 

 refuse to permit him to return; or

 permit him to return only on such conditions as the relevant committee may 
specify.

 
The relevant committee may allow a person who is attending the hearing and in 
their opinion is behaving in a disruptive manner, or in breach of conditions 
specified under paragraph (11.2), to remain at the hearing only on such 
conditions as the committee may specify. 

 
Where a person is required to leave the hearing in accordance with paragraph 
(11.2), the relevant committee must: 

 

 permit him to submit in writing, before the end of the hearing, any information 
which he would have been entitled to give orally had he not been required 
to leave; and

 take into account that information in reaching a determination of the 
application or review.

 

11.3 The relevant committee may retire into private session during or at the end of the 
hearing to deliberate on any matter or decide how it wishes to determine the 
application. The relevant committee may be accompanied by the Clerk and the 
Legal Adviser who will be available to assist the relevant committee with any 
legal problems but will not participate in any decision making of the relevant 
committee. 

 
12. DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 

12.1 Normally the relevant committee shall make its determination at the conclusion 
of the hearing and in all cases the relevant committee shall make its 
determination before the end of five working days starting with the day after the 
last day of the hearing. That time limit may be extended if it is considered to be 
in the public interest, in which case, as soon as is reasonably practicable, the 
relevant committee must give notice of the extension to the Parties stating the 
period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

 
12.2 Where all Parties have notified the Authority that a hearing is not required and 

the Authority agrees that a hearing is not required, the application shall be 
determined as soon as s reasonably practicable. 

 

12.3 The relevant committee shall give reasons for its decision and these shall be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
12.4 The Authority shall notify Parties of its determination, and provide any 

accompanying information in accordance with the Regulations. The Chief Officer 
of Police shall also be notified even in a case where the Police have not made a 
representation. 

Page 137



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 8 of 14  

13.1 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

13.1 The Authority shall keep a record of the hearing in a permanent and intelligible 
form for 6 years from the date of the determination or, where an appeal is brought 
against the determination of the authority, from the disposal of the appeal. 

 
14. CODE OF CONDUCT AND PRINCIPLES OF DECISION-MAKING 

 

14.1 Members shall at all times comply with the provisions of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
14.2 In making their determinations under the Act, Members shall have regard to: 

 the material relevant facts in light of the evidence presented;

 the relevant statutory provisions;

 relevant national guidance and the policy statement;

 the licensing objectives; and

 the individual merits of the case.
 

14.3 Applications shall be determined on the basis of whether they promote the 
licensing objectives in the Act, namely: 

 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

 

14.4 The relevant committee shall disregard any information or evidence given which 
is not relevant to the application, representations or notice; or to the promotion of 
the licensing objectives. 

 

14.5 Decisions must not be influenced by any political party direction whether given at 
a previous party group meeting or otherwise. 

 
14.6 Members of the Licensing Committee or its Sub-Committee(s) must act without 

bias or predetermination, must have no disclosable pecuniary interest in any 
application before them, and must keep an open mind on all applications until 
they have considered all of the evidence and arguments presented. They shall 
not take or express any view on the merits of an application, nor organise support 
for or opposition to any application in advance of a hearing. Any Member who 
does so shall not be eligible to serve on the relevant committee meeting that 
hears the application. 

 
15. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: GENERAL 

 

15.1 Members must at all times comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct in relation 
to the disclosure disclosable pecuniary interests, participation in relation to 
disclosed interests and registration of financial and other interests 

Page 138



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 9 of 14  

and of gifts and hospitality. 
 
16. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: MEMBERS OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 

16.1 A Member of the relevant committee who has been involved in a licence 
application shall not serve on the relevant committee hearing at which the licence 
application is to be determined. 

 
16.2 No Member sitting on the relevant committee can represent one of the interested 

parties or applicant. If a Member wishes to do so s/he must excuse him/herself 
from membership of the relevant committee which is considering the application 
and address the relevant committee as a representative for an Interested Party 
(subject to 17.2 below). 

 
16.3 Members involved in Council meetings which approved the Licensing Policy (or 

any amendment to it), will not be excluded from membership of the relevant 
committee solely on this basis. 

 
17. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS: WARD MEMBERS AND OTHER MEMBERS 

17.1 Under the Members’ Code of Conduct a Member who has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest must, if the interest is not one which is already on the 
register of interests or subject to a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer, 
disclose the existence of that interest to the meeting and thereafter notify the 
Monitoring Officer of that interest within 28 days of this disclosure. 

 
17.2 Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in relation to the 

application under consideration they may not sit on that sub-committee. 
 
17.3 Any Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest is also precluded from 

making representations orally to the Sub-Committee or from making 
representations on behalf of a party to the hearing. They can still present their 
views through other means. For example, the Member can: 

 

 make written representations in their private capacity. The existence and nature 
of the interest should be disclosed in such representations and the Member 
should not seek preferential consideration for their representations. Such 
written representations should be addressed to officers rather than other 
Members of the Authority;

 use a professional representative to make an application on the Members 
behalf; or

 arrange for another Member of the Authority to represent the views of the 
Member’s constituents on matters in which their ward Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

 
17.4 The Member who has a disclosable pecuniary interest but has been asked to 

represent the views of a party making representations should advise them 
about that interest and inform them that another Member may represent their 
views on the issue. When representing those views the other Member should 
make it clear to the relevant committee or officers that he or she is acting in 

Page 139



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 10 of 14  

place of the original Member because of that Member’s disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 

 
18. LOBBYING 

 

18.1 If a Member of the relevant committee is approached by a person(s) wishing to 
lobby him/her on a licence application then that Member should explain that they 
cannot discuss the matter and refer the lobby person(s) to the Licensing Officer 
or his/her Ward Member who can explain the process of decision making. Any 
written representations received by a Member of the relevant committee should 
be passed to the Licensing Officer and reported at the hearing at which the 
application is being determined. Requests for procedural advice with regards to 
licensing applications should be referred to Council Officers for advice and 
information. 

 
18.2 Other Members must not lobby Members who sit on the relevant committee, 

directly or indirectly, before or after a meeting, in writing or otherwise, in respect 
of items to be decided by the relevant committee. Any representation by other 
Members, on behalf of an Interested Party, should be sent to the relevant 
Licensing Officer for inclusion in his/her report. A Member shall not attempt to 
use her/his status as a Member to influence consideration of a submission, or try 
to get officers to change a decision or recommendation. 

 
19. SITE VISITS 

 

19.1 The relevant committee may undertake a site visit to the premises which are 
the subject of an application. If required, the site visit may occur prior to the 
hearing or the relevant committee may adjourn the hearing part way through to 
undertake a site visit. The Chair of the relevant committee shall give reasons 
justifying the need for a site visit and these shall be notified to the Parties. 

 
19.2 If a site visit is necessary the following procedure should be observed: 

 the visit should be undertaken as a group visit attended by all the relevant 
committee Members and its purpose should be confined to that indicated by 
the Chair;

 the visit should be attended by an officer who may be asked factual 
questions by the Members;

 no indication of the likely outcome of the application should be given on the 
visit;

 no representation from the applicant or from those making representations 
shall be heard or accepted on the visit; and

 a record should be kept of those attending the visit, the questions asked, 
and answers given.

 
20. APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY OR BY 

ANOTHER PUBLIC AUTHORITY 
 

20.1 Where the Authority is the applicant for a licence, that application shall be 
determined in accordance with the normal procedure. The relevant committee 

Page 140



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 11 of 14  

shall give no regard to the interests of the Council itself, aside from receiving 
relevant representations on this issue. Members who were part of the Authority’s 
decision to apply for the licence, or who express a view in respect of such an 
application, shall not serve on the relevant committee to determine the 
application. 

 
20.2 A Member who also serves on another local authority, or carries out a function 

for another public authority, or is appointed by Croydon Council as its 
representative on another body, shall not serve on the relevant committee to 
determine an application which has been made by that other authority or body, 
or on which that other authority or body has made a representation. 

 
21. VARIATION/AMENDMENT OF THIS PROTOCOL 

 

21.1 The relevant committee may waive, vary or modify any part of this protocol in 
relation to a particular case if it considers that this is necessary to ensure fairness 
to the Parties and/or proper consideration of the application in question, provided 
always that this does not result in any contravention of the Regulations. 

 
21.2 This protocol may be amended by the Licensing Committee. 

 

21.3 Where amendments to this Protocol are necessary due to legislative changes, 
the Council Solicitor, Director of Legal Services, may make such 
consequential changes to this Protocol as are necessary to take such 
changes into account. 

Page 141



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 12 of 14  

ANNEX 1 - Procedure for Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings 
 

Note: (1) This procedure shall normally be followed for all Hearings held by the Licensing 
Sub-Committee(s). The Chair may vary the procedure in respect of any hearing if he/she 
considers that this would facilitate the proper consideration of the application or notice 
before the relevant committee. 

 
Note: (2) The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the relevant committee. 
Cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the relevant committee considers that 
cross-examination is required for it to consider the representations, application or notice 
before it. 

 
1. The relevant committee will elect a Chair from amongst their number 

 
2. The Chair will introduce those present, Parties to indicate their names and who 

they represent. Chair to ascertain who will speak. 
 
3. The Chair of the relevant committee will inform the Parties whether their 

applications to have certain people attend the hearing (e.g. witnesses) have been 
granted or refused (Note this relates to people other than those attending on 
behalf of a Party in the capacity as a representative of the Party). 

 
4. The Chair will explain to the Parties the procedure to be followed at the hearing 

and to consider any request made by a Party in accordance with the Regulations 
for permission for another person to appear at the hearing (Such permission shall 
not be unreasonably withheld). 

 
5. The relevant committee will confirm or vary the time limits set out below to be 

applied to contributions from the Parties (Note: under the Regulations an equal 
maximum time period must be allowed to the Parties to exercise their rights under 
the Regulations). 

 
6. The Chair will summarise the paperwork before the relevant committee and 

confirm that all present have copies; will ascertain whether any representations 
have been or are now to be withdrawn, and will hear any requests to adduce 
additional documentary or other information. 

 

7. The Licensing Officer will outline: 

 details of the application and relevant representations received from the 
Parties; and the outcome of any discussions 

 relevant legislation; 

 relevant Licensing Policy; and 

 the time limit in which the Council must reach a determination. 
 

8. The Chair will invite each of the parties or their representative in turn to address 
the relevant committee and call any person/s to whom permission has been 
granted to appear. Each Party will be allowed a maximum period of 10 minutes 
in which to address the relevant committee and call persons on his/her behalf, 
and clarify any points on which the relevant committee has sought clarification 

Page 142



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 13 of 14  

prior to the hearing. This 10 minute period should be uninterrupted unless a 
member of the relevant committee or Legal Adviser considers that the speaker 
is making submissions that are irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious. 

 
9. Members of the relevant committee or their Legal Adviser may ask questions of 

any party, at any time throughout the proceedings. 
 
10. The sequence in which each of the Parties will be invited to address the 

relevant committee will normally be in the order of: 

 the Gambling Commission 

 the Police; 

 the Fire Authority; 

 the Licensing Authority 

 Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC); 

 the Local Planning Authority; 

 the Local Environmental Health Authority – Noise and Nuisance Officers; 

 the Authority Responsible for the Protection of Children from Harm; 

 any other Interested Party that has submitted representations in respect of 
the application, certificate, notice or other matter appearing before the 
relevant committee (if there are a large number of Interested Parties present 
who are making relevant representations they may be invited to share the 
maximum time available or to nominate a spokesperson to speak on their 
behalf). 

 the Party that has submitted the application, certificate, notice or other matter 
appearing before the relevant committee. 

 
11. At the discretion of the relevant committee the above order may be varied. 

 
12. Parties may give their evidence by making a statement or if appropriate by 

being questioned by the person calling them. 
 
13. If the relevant committee considers that cross-examination is required for it to 

consider the representations, application or notice as the case may require, a 
period of up to 5 minutes cross-examination shall be allowed after each 
submission. 

 
14. The relevant committee will then ask any outstanding points requiring 

clarification. 
 
15. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether in the light of any representations made, 

they wish to amend their application or offer any additional conditions to 
overcome the representations and/or promote the licensing objectives. 

 
16. If the Applicant makes any comments in relation to 15 above, the relevant 

committee will ask the other Parties whether they wish to make any further 
comment in relation to any amendment or additional comments offered by the 
Applicant. 

 
17. The Chair will invite the Parties to indicate if they wish to make any final 

Page 143



September 2020 
Part 5.G Protocol for Licensing Hearings 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

Page 14 of 14  

comments. If any Party wishes to do so they will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to do so and the other Parties will be given the same maximum period, 
finishing with the Applicant. 

 
18. The relevant committee will deliberate on and determine the matter under 

consideration. The relevant committee may withdraw to a private room to do this. 
 
19. The relevant committee will return to open session.   The Chair will ask the Legal 

Adviser to inform the Parties of any legal advice given during the relevant 
committee’s private discussion that has informed their decision. 

 
20 The Chair will then announce in open session to all Parties the decision of the 

relevant committee and reasons, unless (where permitted by the Regulations) 
the decision is to be communicated at some later time. 

Page 144



 

ANNEX 2 - Procedure for Remote Licensing Sub- Committee Hearings 
 

Note: (1) This procedure shall normally be followed for all Hearings held by the 
relevant committee(s). The Chair may vary the procedure in respect of any hearing 
if he/she considers that this would facilitate the proper consideration of the 
application or notice before the relevant committee. 

 
Note: (2) The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the relevant 
committee. Cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the relevant 
committee considers that cross-examination is required for it to consider the 
representations, application or notice before it. 

 
Note: (3) Having regard to the Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing 
Committees and Sub-Committees) (Premises Licenses and Provisional Statements) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007, The Coronavirus Act 2020 (in so far as it 
impacts on licensing proceedings) and The Local Authorities and Police and Crime 
Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020: any reference to hearing may be 
to a virtual or remote hearing which is not limited to a meeting of persons all of 
whom, or any of whom, are present in the same place and any reference to a “place” 
where a meeting is held, or to be held, includes reference to more than one place 
including electronic, digital or virtual locations such as internet locations, web 
addresses or conference call telephone numbers and “present”, “appear” and 
“attend” shall be construed accordingly. 

 
1. The relevant committee will elect a Chair from amongst their number 

 

2. The Chair will invite those present to introduce themselves, Parties to indicate 
their names and who they represent. Chair to ascertain who will speak. 

 
3. The Chair of the relevant committee will inform the Parties whether their 

applications to have certain people attend the hearing (e.g. witnesses) have 
been granted or refused (Note this relates to people other than those 
attending on behalf of a Party in the capacity as a representative of the Party). 

 
4. The Chair will explain to the Parties the procedure to be followed at the 

hearing and to consider any request made by a Party in accordance with the 
Regulations for permission for another person to appear at the hearing (Such 
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

 
5. The relevant committee will confirm or vary the time limits set out below to be 

applied to contributions from the Parties. (Note: under the Regulations an 
equal maximum time period must be allowed to the Parties to exercise their 
rights under the Regulations). 

 
6. The Chair will summarise the paperwork before the relevant committee and 

confirm that all present have copies; will ascertain whether any 
representations have been or are now to be withdrawn, and will hear any 
requests to adduce additional documentary or other information. 

Page 145



 

7. The Licensing Officer will outline: 

 details of the application and relevant representations received from the 
Parties; and the outcome of any discussions 

 relevant legislation; 

 relevant Licensing Policy; and 

 the time limit in which the Council must reach a determination. 
 

8. The Chair will invite each of the Parties or their representative in turn to 
address the relevant committee and invite any person/s to whom permission 
has been granted to appear. Each Party will be allowed a maximum period of 
10 minutes in which to address the relevant committee and call persons on 
his/her behalf, and clarify any points on which the relevant committee has 
sought clarification prior to the hearing. This 10 minute period should be 
uninterrupted unless a member of the relevant committee or Legal Adviser 
considers that the speaker is making submissions that are irrelevant, frivolous 
or vexatious. 

 
9. Members of the relevant committee or their Legal Adviser may ask questions 

of any Party, at any time throughout the proceedings. 
 

10. The sequence in which each of the Parties will be invited to address the 
relevant committee will normally be in the order of: 

 the Police; 

 the Fire Authority; 

 the Health and Safety at Work Enforcing Authority; 

 the Local Planning Authority; 

 the Local Environmental Health Authority – Noise and Nuisance Officers, 
Waste Management Officers; 

 the Local Trading Standards Authority; 

 the Authority Responsible for the Protection of Children from Harm; 

 any Other Party that has submitted representations in respect of the 
application, certificate, notice or other matter appearing before the 
Relevant committee (if there are a large number of Other Persons 
present who are making relevant representations they may be invited to 
share the maximum time available or to nominate a spokesperson to 
speak on their behalf); and 

 the Party that has submitted the application, certificate, notice or other 
matter appearing before the relevant committee. 

 
11. At the discretion of the relevant committee the above order may be varied. 

 
12. Parties may give their evidence by making a statement or if appropriate by 

being questioned by the person calling them. 
 

13. If the relevant committee considers that cross-examination is required for it to 
consider the representations, application or notice as the case may require, a 
period of up to 5 minutes cross-examination shall be allowed after each 
submission. 

Page 146



 

14. The relevant committee will then ask any outstanding points requiring 
clarification. 

 
15. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether in the light of any representations 

made, they wish to amend their application or offer any additional conditions 
to overcome the representations and/or promote the licensing objectives. 

 
16. If the Applicant makes any comments in relation to 15 above, the relevant 

committee will ask the other Parties whether they wish to make any further 
comment in relation to any amendment or additional comments offered by the 
Applicant. 

 
17. The Chair will invite the Parties to indicate if they wish to make any final 

comments. If any Party wishes to do so they will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to do so and the other Parties will be given the same maximum 
period, finishing with the Applicant. 

 
18. The relevant committee will deliberate on and determine the matter under 

consideration. The relevant committee may withdraw to do this privately. 

 
19. Where a decision is required to be made at the conclusion of the hearing, the 

relevant committee will return to open session following their private 

deliberations. The Chair will ask the Legal Adviser to inform the Parties of any 

legal advice given during the relevant committee’s private discussion that has 

informed their decision. The Chair will then announce in open session to all 

Parties the decision of the relevant committee and reasons, unless (where 

permitted by the Regulations) the decision is to be communicated at some 

later time. 

20. Where a decision is not one which is required to be made at the conclusion of 
the hearing, the meeting will be concluded and thereafter the Members will 
undertake their deliberations. Parties will be notified of the decision of the 
relevant committee and the reasons for that decision in writing within 5 
working days following the conclusion of the hearing. 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



  

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 

Part 5.K – Protocol on Members’ rights of access to 
information 

 
1. Introduction and background 
 
1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to: 
 

a) set out the rights of access to Council information that members of the 
Council have to enable them to carry out their duties as Members; and  
 

b) provide guidance to Members and Officers on the approach to be adopted 
in exercising these rights in relation to the availability of Cabinet and 
Committee Reports and to information held by the Council generally.  

 
1.2 This protocol does not deal with the wider rights of access of the public and the 

press which are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules at Part 4B 
of the Constitution.  Members are advised to refer to Part 4B which also sets out 
members’ statutory rights to information: this protocol expands on those rights. 

 
1.3 The Council is committed to ensuring that Members have the information they 

need in a timely way to carry out their duties, in line with Members’ statutory and 
common law rights to access information. 

 
1.4 The term ‘Member’ as used throughout this Protocol includes both elected 

Councillors and any individuals co-opted to Council Committees and Sub-
Committees.  Co-optees’ rights under this Protocol apply only in relation to the 
function(s) of the committee or sub-committee for which they are co-opted and 
are subject to specific advice from the Director of Legal Services to ensure 
information is not disclosed when it is not legally permissible to do so. 

 
1.5 Statutory rights and guidance: summary 
 

a) The Local Government Act 1972, as amended primarily by tThe Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 governs the statutory rights 
that Members have, along with the public, to access agendas, background 
documents, reports to meetings and minutes.  The Act also gives Members 
rights to see exempt information (i.e. information which would be kept off the 
public agenda and public part of the meeting) if it falls into certain categories 
of information; 

 
b) The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and Environmental Information 

Regulations 2004 give anyone the right to access information held by the 
Council, provided that information is not determined to be exempt under the 
Act (e.g. personal information about others, information that is about to be 
published, confidential information or information that would prejudice the 
commercial interests of the Council or others if released).   Many of the 

Page 149



  

exemptions are subject to a Public Interest Test to determine whether the 
information should be withheld. 

 
Members have the same rights to access to information under the FOIA as 
anyone else.  Members’ rights of access may overlap with rights under the 
FOIA or may allow Members access to information (or documents) that 
would not be available to them under the FOIA.  For example, it is not 
necessary to say why information is wanted if it is requested under the FOIA 
but it would be necessary to state this if a Member was relying on their need 
to know as a Member.  Information that is not available to a Member under 
the FOIA (because it is covered by an exemption) may be available to them 
on the basis of their rights as a Member.  So, in some respect the FOIA 
rights are wider than Members’ other rights and in some respects they are 
narrower. 

 
c) The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012 include additional rights for 
Members of the Council and for Members of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to see information held by the executive, including exempt or 
confidential information.  Where a Scrutiny Member or Committee requests 
information in relation to matters which they are scrutinising, the executive 
must provide it no later than ten clear working days after the executive 
receives the request; 

 
d) For Members carrying out casework, there are rights to access the personal 

information of individuals within protections set out in the Data Protection Act 
2018 and General Data Protection Regulation 2018 (more information is 
provided in the Members’ Handbook); 

 
e) The Government has published statutory guidance on the conduct of 

overview and scrutiny which states that: 
 

A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority 
holds, and to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 
 
and 
 
While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 

 
1.6 The statutory guidance includes the following points: 

 Scrutiny members need access to a regularly available source of key 
information about the management of the authority, including information on 
performance, management and risk; 

 Officers should speak to Scrutiny Members to ensure they understand the 
request and the reasons why information is needed, so that the authority is 
better able to provide relevant and timely information in a format that meets 
the recipient’s needs; 

 In instances where it is legitimate for a council to withhold information, the 
executive is required to provide a written statement to the Scrutiny 
Committee setting out its reasons for that decision; 

Page 150



  

 Before deciding not to share information, the council should give serious 
consideration to whether that information could be shared in closed 
session; 

 Scrutiny committees can require Cabinet members and Officers to attend 
before them to answer questions. 
 

1.7 Case law 
Members have certain ‘common law’ rights to information in addition to the 
statutory rights outlined above, which have been established through historic 
case law and which intersect with the Freedom of Information Act and statutory 
guidance.  Members are entitled to see documents which are reasonably 
necessary to enable them to carry out their duties as a Member.  This is 
generally described as the ‘need to know’ principle. 
 

1.8 There is no simple definition of the ‘need to know’, but there is no right for 
Members to access information if it does not relate to carrying out their role as a 
Member (e.g. where the reason is to do with their position as a party member, as 
a resident or as a member of an association).  Extra care will be needed when 
considering the application of this right in cases which are legally sensitive, e.g. 
where there is litigation underway or contemplated, where the Council is acting 
as a quasi-judicial body (such as planning or licensing matters), employment or 
conduct related matters, or any matter relating to an individual or entity where 
that individual/ entity has right of appeal or review which is pending. 

 
1.9 The following principles relate to the ‘need to know’: 
 

i) A Member will generally have a need to know information a constituent had 
asked the Member to obtain on their behalf if the constituent would 
themselves be entitled to that information. 

 
Members have a legitimate role as advocates for their constituents as a 
group and as individuals.  Members seeking information about individual 
constituents will need to demonstrate that they have the agreement of their 
constituent to the disclosure by the Council of the information.  This must 
be by way of written confirmation, especially in the case of sensitive 
personal information.  Ward members cannot use their role as a Member to 
obtain for constituents information to which the constituents themselves 
would not be entitled. 
 

ii) Ward Members may have a particular need to know about matters affecting 
their ward. This does not mean they are entitled to access all information 
the Council has concerning matters affecting their ward. For example, if the 
information is confidential and could not in any event be passed on by the 
Ward Member to constituents, it would be necessary to establish a clear 
‘need to know’ for reasons that did not involve sharing the information with 
constituents. 

 
iii) The Party Leaders are likely to have a greater need (but no absolute right) 

to have access to exempt reports than ordinary Members with no special 
role. 

 

Page 151



  

iv) Members of the Scrutiny Committees are entitled to have access to exempt 
or confidential reports relevant to an action or decision being reviewed or 
scrutinised. 

 
1.10 Principles 

All Officers and Members are expected to adhere to the Seven Principles of 
Public Life which include the principle of Openness: 

 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
1.11 Croydon Council has adopted a number of values which define the way that 

Officers will work on a day to day basis: this includes the principle ‘Honest and 
open’. 

 
1.12 When requesting information, Members will: 

 be mindful of the resource implications of providing a response and will ensure 
that their enquiries are proportionate and focused on enabling them to carry 
out their duties as Members; 

 understand that Officers will, as part of undertaking good governance, seek to 
understand the basis on which the Member is requesting the information (for 
example, as a Ward Member or as a Scrutiny Member). 
 

1.13 This protocol has been drafted to ensure compliance with relevant legislation, 
statutory guidance, current case law and the above principles. 

 
2. The process 
 
2.1 Information requests from all Members 

The Council has established a Members’ Enquiries system which is designed to 
ensure that Members receive timely responses to requests for information and 
resolution of casework issues.  The process works as follows: 
 
i) Members enter their enquiry on the desktop member enquiries app and can 

see the case number allocated; 
 

ii) An immediate acknowledgement is sent in response via email, showing the 
case number against the subject of the request identified by the Member;   

 
iii) A response is provided within ten clear working days of receipt of the 

request. 
 

iv) If a full response is not provided within ten clear working days, the Member 
Enquiries system will chase a response from the relevant Officer and 
continue to chase until the response is provided. 

 
2.2 Use of the Members’ Enquiries system enables the production of reports on 

speed of response, (enabling areas for improvement to be identified and 
addressed) and generation of information on enquiry trends, to inform the 
proactive provision of briefings and other information for Members. 

 

Page 152



  

2.3 Members should use the Members’ Enquiries’ system to follow up casework 
issues on behalf of their constituents when normal procedures and timescales 
(for example, reporting fly tipping, applying for Housing Benefit) have not led to 
an appropriate outcome.  Issues raised as a Members’ Enquiry at the same time 
as a resident raises the same matter as a complaint to the Council will result in 
duplication of effort and reduced resources available to respond to other matters.  
Officers will ensure that Members are well-briefed on the routes for members of 
the public to use when reporting issues and making requests to the Council. 

 
2.4 Officers will follow these principles when responding to Members’ enquiries: 
 

i) Officers will seek clarification from the Member at the earliest possible 
opportunity as necessary to ensure that the request (and the intent behind 
the request) is fully understood, to enable a full and appropriate response to 
be given; 
 

ii) If an Officer considers that meeting a request for information would involve 
an unreasonable commitment of resources (for example a request to 
compile information which does not already exist in the form requested by 
the member): 

 the relevant Director will take legal advice to ensure that the Member’s 
right to information is not being inappropriately denied; 

 the Officer will discuss with the Member what information is currently 
available and whether the request can be adjusted to reflect that 
availability; 

 the Member will be informed of the outcome within ten clear working 
days of making the request, including reference to the legal reason for 
the decision.  The Officer will provide the Member with any parts(s) of 
their request which can be provided through reasonable expenditure of 
resources;   

 the Executive Leadership Team will receive regular reports on any 
instances of non-provision of information in response to Member 
requests to ensure an appropriate and consistent approach; 

 
iii) Draft documents compiled in the context of Council policy development and 

draft Committee reports will not normally be supplied in response to 
Member enquiries; 

 
iv) Where a response would otherwise lead to the dissemination of particularly 

sensitive information (see section 2.11 below) which cannot be made 
available, Officers will either: 

 
a) redact source material only to the extent necessary to ensure that 

information not appropriate for dissemination is obscured or 
 

b) give the Member an explanation of the reason why the information 
cannot be provided, with reference to the relevant definition of exempt 
information (as set out in Appendix 1, Part 4B of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules) or any other relevant reason, on the 
advice of the Director of Legal Services. 

 

Page 153



  

This response will be provided to the Member within ten clear working days 
of making the request; 
 

v) Where a request for information in relation to the Cabinet would otherwise 
lead to the dissemination of the advice of a political adviser or assistant, 
Officers will either 

 
a) redact source material only to the extent necessary to ensure that 

information not appropriate for dissemination is obscured or 
 

b) give the Member an explanation of the reason why the information 
cannot be provided, with reference to the relevant definition of exempt 
information. 

This response will be provided to the Member within ten clear working days 
of making the request; 

 
vi) Where it is not possible to provide the information for any other reason (e.g. 

the information is not held by the Council) the Member will be provided with 
a full explanation within ten clear working days of making the request; 
 

vii) Officers will aim to respond quicker than the ten clear working days 
timescale wherever resources and other priorities permit. 

 
2.5 Both Members and Officers will act in accordance with the Protocol for Staff-

Councillor relations as set out in the Council’s Constitution when requesting and 
responding to requests for information. 

 
2.6 Access to reports 

All reports will be despatched to the members of the relevant committee or other 
body and all published reports will be available to all Members via the ModGov 
app. 

 
2.7 Except where reports contain particularly sensitive information (as set out in 

section 2.11 and following below), exempt reports to Cabinet will additionally be 
accessible to Shadow Cabinet Members, Scrutiny Leads (majority and minority 
groups), Group Whips (majority and minority groups) and the Majority Group 
Secretary.  The Director of Legal Services retains discretion not to make exempt 
reports automatically available in appropriate cases (for example if a report 
concerned a matter in which the Member had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest). 

 
2.8 Any Member may request a copy of an exempt report, demonstrating their ‘need 

to know’.   The Director of Legal Services reserves the right not to provide 
exempt information to any Member not ordinarily entitled to it if they believe the 
‘need to know’ has not been demonstrated, or the information is wanted for an 
improper purpose or if the member has a financial or personal interest relating to 
the matter… In such cases, the Director of Legal Services will advise the 
Member of the legal reason/s why access to the exempt report has been denied. 
(see also section 2.11 below). 

 
2.9 In some cases it may be appropriate for a Member to be given an opportunity to 

see the report without a copy being supplied to take away. 
 

Page 154



  

2.10 Members automatically sent exempt reports, or receiving them after making a 
request, are not entitled to share the reports with other members of their party 
group but may alert them to the opportunity to request a copy of the report from 
the Head of Democratic Services.  Such a request would be dealt with in 
accordance with the principles set out in this section and at 2.11 below. 

 
2.11 Categories of particularly sensitive information 

It would not normally be appropriate for exempt information covered by 
categories 1, 2 and 4-7 in Appendix 1 of Part 4.B (Access to Information 
Procedure Rules) of this Constitution to be made available on request or 
automatically circulated.  The ‘public interest’ test states that the right to 
disclosure of exempt information does not apply when the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.  Reports 
containing information falling into these exempt categories will only be provided 
to (or in some cases made available to) Members who are not members of the 
relevant Committee if they are able to positively demonstrate to the Director of 
Legal Services that they have a need to have a copy of or see the report in order 
properly to carry out their duties as a Member and where complying with the 
councillor’s request would not breach the terms of the Data Protection Act or 
General Data Protection Regulation.  

 
2.12 Reports containing information falling into category 3 to which Members are not 

automatically entitled (for example, terms proposed in the course of negotiations 
for a contract) may also be particularly sensitive.  These reports may be made 
available or copied to Members on their specific request.  However, where the 
report is particularly sensitive this will not happen.  This may be the case for 
example where negotiations are ongoing in relation to price or price sensitive 
aspects of the contract.   

 
2.13 The advice of the Director of Legal Services will be sought in response to 

requests for information in cases which are legally sensitive, for example where 
there is litigation underway or contemplated, where the Council is acting as a 
quasi-judicial body (such as planning or licensing matters), employment or 
conduct related matters, or any matter relating to an individual or entity where 
that individual/ entity has right of appeal or review which is pending. 
 

2.14 Additional rights of access to information for Scrutiny 
Scrutiny committee members are entitled to a copy of any document in the 
possession or under the control of the Council’s executive which: 

 contains material relating to any business that has been considered at a 
Cabinet meeting or a meeting of any other decision-making executive body; 
and/or  

 any executive decision that has been made by an individual Cabinet Member 
or Officer  

where that document relates to a matter they are scrutinising.  In making 
requests for information, members should have regard to the relevance of that 
request to the scrutiny workplan in order to ensure that scrutiny’s attention and 
resource is appropriately focused. 
 

2.15 Scrutiny Members may additionally request information which relates to the 
Council’s functions in relation to the borough and/or the borough’s residents and 
which the Committee reasonably requires to carry out its functions.  Such 

Page 155



  

requests will be made in writing through the Statutory Scrutiny Officer or their 
direct reports, who will: 

 coordinate requests to avoid duplication of activity; 

 ensure that requests are passed to the relevant Officer for response; 

 track and chase responses as appropriate; 

 support Officers to clarify requests for information as required, including 
consideration as to the best format to enable Members to assimilate the 
information.   

 
2.16 Information supplied in response to requests from scrutiny members will be 

copied to the relevant Cabinet Member and/or the Leader of the Council. 
 
2.17 The Scrutiny Officers will also work with Scrutiny Chairs and Officers to agree 

appropriate timescales for the scheduling of reports for scrutiny meetings, as part 
of a planned and prioritised scrutiny work programme. 

 
2.18 Where a Scrutiny Member requests such a document Officers must provide it as 

soon as reasonably practicable and in any case no later than ten clear working 
days after the request is received.   

 
2.19 The above entitlement to documents does not apply to any document or part of a 

document if: 
 

i) it contains advice provided by a political adviser or assistant; or  
 

ii) it would be a breach of confidence for the Council to share that information; 
or 

 
iii) disclosure would, or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s ability to 

exercise its functions or to prejudice the legitimate interests of any person 
or the Council; 

 
iv) it contains personal information as defined by the Data Protection Act 1988 

(unless the Act permits its disclosure); or 
 

v) any other legislation prohibits its disclosure. 
 

Officers will ensure that, where iii) has previously applied, this is not used to 
deny requests by Scrutiny for information if the conditions which led to a decision 
about actual or likely prejudice no longer apply. 
 
Where iv) applies, Officers will revise the information so that the individual 
concerned cannot be identified and, having checked that disclosure is now 
permitted under the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection 
Regulations, disclose it. 
 

2.20 Where a Scrutiny Member requests information which is classified as exempt 
(Part 4B of the Constitution, Appendix 1) or confidential, this will only be supplied 
if that information is relevant to:  

 
i) an action or decision that that Member is reviewing or scrutinising; or  

 

Page 156



  

ii) any review contained in any programme of work of such a committee (or 
sub-committee).  

 
2.21 Before a decision not to share information is taken, Officers will give serious 

consideration to whether that information could be shared in an informal briefing 
or meeting from which the public are excluded.  Once the Scrutiny Committee 
has received exempt or otherwise sensitive information, the Statutory Scrutiny 
Officer and their direct reports will support Members to consider how the matter 
can be discussed by the Committee if it includes confidential or sensitive 
information.  

 
2.22 Where a Scrutiny Member is denied a copy of a document or part of any such 

document, the Executive will provide Scrutiny with a written statement, usually 
no later than ten clear working days after the request is received setting out its 
reasons for that decision. 

 
3. Proactive provision of information to Councillors  
 
3.1 Officers will take action to ensure that Members are appropriately briefed to 

enable them to carry out their duties, including, but not limited to: 
 

i) Members’ bulletin;  
 
ii) Forward Plan of reports for Member decision; 

 
iii) Regular reports to Cabinet on delivery against Council plans and financial 

monitoring; 
 

iv) Informal briefings of topics of relevance to Ward Members; 
 

v) Proactive publication on the Council’s website of information identified as 
being of public interest through Members’ Enquiries. 

 
Additionally, Scrutiny Members will be provided with regular digests of finance, 
performance and risk information to support them to prioritise their workplan. 

 
4. Applying the principle of openness when writing reports 

 
4.1 Reports to Committees and the Cabinet will only be marked as exempt when this 

cannot reasonably be avoided in order to protect the interests of the Council 
and/or third parties in accordance with the statutory rules on exempt reports.   

 
4.2 When Officers are preparing a report that contains information about terms 

proposed in the course of negotiations for a contract they will separate the 
exempt from the non-exempt information so the latter can be freely circulated.  
Sometimes information in reports can be made anonymous without the 
effectiveness of the report being reduced. This is one way of ensuring that as 
many reports, and as much information, are made accessible as possible.  This 
applies in all cases and not just where category 3 of Appendix 1 of Part 4B of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules is relied on.  There will still inevitably be 
a number of reports which are marked exempt. 

 

Page 157



  

5. Confidentiality and restrictions on the use of information  
 
5.1 Members have a duty to comply with the requirements of the Member Code of 

Conduct, including provisions relating to the treatment of confidential information.  
Members must be alert to whether the information they receive from the Council 
is and/or continues to be confidential.  

 
5.2  Officers will ensure that confidential information is clearly marked as such before 

its release to Members.   
 
5.3 Members should only use information obtained in the course of their official 

duties and which is not public information for the specific purpose of fulfilling their 
work as a member of the Council.  This information should not be shared further 
except in specific circumstances: any Member considering doing so should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer. 

 
5.4  There are detailed provisions concerning the use of personal data by elected 

representatives contained in the Data Protection Act and General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR), and advice is included in the Members’ 
Handbook. 

 
5.5 A request from a Member acting in a personal capacity will be treated in the 

same confidence as an enquiry from a member of the public.  Officers are also 
under a duty not to relate any information disclosed privately by a Member(s) (for 
example during Part B discussions at Committee or informal briefings) to another 
Member, Officer or person not already privy to that information. 

 
5.6 The duty of Officers to observe a Member’s confidence will however not apply if 

the information disclosed relates to something which could severely damage the 
Council or which is illegal or constitutes maladministration.  In this event, the 
Officer will refer the matter to the appropriate Corporate Director and/or 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive for further investigation and action as 
appropriate.  Officers are also expected to seek advice from senior officers as 
part of any query they may have on their interaction with a Member. 

 
6. Implications of disclosure of personal or commercially sensitive 

information 
 
6.1 Much of the information kept by the Council relates to individual clients: Officers 

and Members are expected to be discreet in their handling of such information 
which is disclosed to them.  

 
6.2 Inappropriate disclosure of information can have significant consequences for 

the Council and individual Members.  Members and Officers have obligations to 
individuals or organisations about whom the Council holds confidential 
information to respect that confidentiality.  If information was wrongfully 
disclosed, this could lead to legal action against the Councillor and/or Council. 
Information is often provided by people to the Council for a particular purpose 
and to disclose or use it for another purpose can lead to a Data Protection Act 
breach or criminal sanctions under the Data Protection Act.  The Council itself 
could be damaged by information wrongly disclosed.  Wrongful disclosure of 

Page 158



  

information by a Member could also result in action under the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
7. Procedure for handling queries or disputes in relation to this protocol 
 
7.1 Members should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer on any matters relating 

to duties, obligations or requirements related to access to information.  
 
7.2 Any disputes relating to the rights of access of any person under these rules or 

any statutory provision or common law rights shall be referred to the Monitoring 
Officer of the Council. 

 
7.3 On the rare occasion that a Member disagrees with the Monitoring Officer’s 

decision on a dispute relating to rights of access under these rules, statutory 
provision or common law rights, the matter shall be escalated to the Chief 
Executive for decision.  In such cases, the Member shall detail the grounds on 
which they believe that their request is consistent with the provisions of this 
Protocol. 

 
8. Review 
 
8.1 This Protocol will be reviewed annually by Ethics Committee.  

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



As amended Jan 2020  

CONSTITUTION OF THE  

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
 

PART 6D 
 

SCHEME OF CO-OPTION 
 

1.1 This scheme applies to all Co-opted Members whether they are voting or non-
voting. The scheme covers the co-option of voting and non-voting co-opted 
Members onto current Committees as detailed in sections 2 - 10 below. 

 

1.2 The purpose of this scheme of co-option is to: 

 Bring together in one document the various provisions in place for co-

option across the Committees and statutory Boards of the Council. 

Outline the role and expected contribution of co-opted Members 

 Clarify the induction to be provided to co-opted Members and the 
support and training to be made available 

 

1.3 Co-opted Members can provide committees with outside knowledge, 
experience and skills that can inform the work of the Committee and 
supplement the role of councillors.  
 

1.4 All Co-opted Members (voting and non-voting) and any appointees to Task 
and Finish Groups are subject to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Part 5I of 
the Constitution. 

 
 

2. Co-opted Members on Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees required 
by Statute 

 
2.1 The Parent Governor representatives and the arch/diocesan representatives 

on the Scrutiny Sub-Committees exercising education function are required 
by law (The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 for Parent Governors 
and the Education Act 1996 for Diocesan representatives). The legislation 
explains that these co-opted Members will have full speaking and voting rights 
for any decisions relating to education and school matters. Parent Governor 
representatives are elected by the Borough’s parent governors, but once co-
opted their role is to be an apolitical voice for all parents in the area. The 
Church of England and Roman Catholic representatives are nominated by the 
Bishop and Archbishop of Southwark respectively. Voting Co-opted Members 
on Scrutiny and Overview have the same rights of access to information as 
councillors in relation to their role on Scrutiny and Overview. 

 
 

3. Co-opted Members on Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees appointed 
at the Committee’s discretion 

 

Page 161



As amended Jan 2020  

3.1 Currently in Croydon there are two non-statutory co-opted Members: a teacher 
representative and the Healthwatch (Croydon) representative. These “non-
statutory” co-opted Members do not have voting rights and are co-opted at 
the discretion of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee, which can also rescind 
the appointment if it feels it is necessary. 

 
3.2 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee has the power to appoint these 

additional co-opted Members if it is judged that they will be beneficial to the 
committee as it carries out its work. Before recommending  any additional co-
opted Members to full Council for appointment, the committee, , should 
demonstrate that it has considered the composition of the local community to 
ensure it is as representative as possible. An over-representation of any 
particular specialist area should also be avoided and the elected Members of 
the committee should always have a majority over co-opted Members. 

 
3.3 These co-opted Members will usually (but not exclusively) be representatives 

of specific organisations relevant to the work of the committee. The 
recommending committee should invite the organisation to make an 
appropriate nomination, although a vacancy can be advertised more widely if 
the committee agrees it would be beneficial. Anyone who lives, works (including 
voluntary work) and/or studies in Croydon is eligible to be a  co-opted Member, 
except if they are a Croydon Council Member or Croydon Council Officer. In 
approving an appointment, the committee will be mindful of the potential for 
any ongoing prejudicial interests between, for example, the co-opted Member’s 
paid employment and the work of the committee and there are declaration 
requirements placed on any such appointees.  

 
4. Appointments Committee Co-opted Members 

 
4.1 The independent voting Co-optees on the Appointments Committee are 

appointed to consider specified disciplinary matters. 
 
4.2 Where the Appointments Committee is giving consideration to dismissal of 

the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer, 
the Appointments Committee shall include at least two voting co-opted 
Independent Persons.  

 
 
5. Ethics Committee Co-opted Members 
 
5.1 The Independent non-voting Co-optess are required to be appointed by 

statute and are invited to attend all meetings of the Ethics Committee and 
their views are sought and taken into consideration before the Ethics 
Committee takes any decision on whether the Member’s conduct constitutes 
a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken 
following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 
 

6. General Purposes and Audit Committee Co-opted Members 
 

6.1 Appointments Committee recommends to Council the appointment of the 
independent (non-voting) Chair of General Purposes and Audit Committee.  

Page 162



As amended Jan 2020  

The General Purposes and Audit Committee appoints one further 
independent non-voting co-opted committee member.   

 
6.2 Both independent members are permitted to be involved in respect of the 

Audit Functions of the committee only. 
 

 

7. Pensions Board Members 
 
7.1 The Pension Board, with an independent non-voting Chair, is formed of three 

voting employer representatives and three voting representatives of the 
Pension Fund. The Board secures the effective and efficient governance and 
administration of the Croydon Council Pension Fund.  

 
8. Pensions Committee Co-opted Members 
 
8.1 The Pensions committee includes 1 Staff Side non-voting co-opted member 

and 2 Pensioner Side co-opted Members (1 of whom is a voting co-opted 
member and one of whom is a non- voting co-opted member).  

 
8.2 Staff side and Pensioners’ side members are appointed on an annual basis 

following consultation with the Staff side and Pensioners of the Pension 
Fund.  

 
8.3 Two representatives of Pensioners of the Fund are elected by ballot of 

Pensioners of the Fund, one of whom shall be a voting member and one of 
whom shall be a non- voting member. The representative with the most votes 
following the ballot of Pensioners of the Fund shall be the voting member. 
The other representative of the Pensioners of the Fund shall be non-voting 
however is permitted to exercise a vote only in the absence of, and on behalf 
of, the voting representative. The ballot is normally undertaken every 3-4 
years. 

 
 
 
9. Appointees to Panels/Forums 

 
9.1 Panels and forums are not regarded as Committees of the Council, nor are 

appointees to such forums regarded as co-optees. As such they are not 
subject to the Code of Conduct requirements placed either on voting or non-
voting co-optees of the Council.  

 
10. Terms of Office 

 
10.1 Subject to the requirements of the Committee in question, Co-opted 

Members will usually be invited to serve for a term of office of four years but 
be appointed annually at Full Council. Towards the end of a term of office, 
the relevant committee will consider whether any non-statutory co-opted post 
is still required. If it is, the committee shall advertise the vacancy by means 
appropriate to the nature of the vacancy, which will usually include via the 
Council’s website. 

  

Page 163



As amended Jan 2020  

10.2 Non-statutory co- opted Members can be disqualified during their term of 
office if they do not attend four consecutive meetings of the committee to 
which they have been co-opted without giving an apology; if they fail to 
adhere to the Code of Conduct which applies to them or if they are 
subsequently elected as a Member of Croydon Council. 

  
10.3 Where Co-optees  are appointed on the basis of representing a particular 

organisation or group, then their term of office will also end if they resign 
from or are disqualified from being a Member of that organisation or 
representative of that group, or if that organisation/group ceases to exist. 

  
10.4 It is the responsibility of the co-opted Member to inform the Council if a 

circumstance arises that they believes disqualifies them from continuing in 
their term of office. 

  
10.5 Co-opted Members can also resign during their term of office if they feel that 

they can no longer fulfil the requirements of the role. 
 

10.6 Non-statutory co-opted Members can also be appointed for a shorter 
period, for example, to be involved with a specific piece of work. 

 
11. Powers and responsibilities 

 
11.1 Co-opted Members will: 

 Be required to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct and 
register and declare/ register and notify interests as required by 
the Code. 

 Be expected to agree, in writing, to abide by the Code. 

 Be entitled to speak on any matter that is discussed by the 
committee to which they have been appointed provided that it 
falls within their remit (for example on Appointments committee 
and General Purposes and Audit Committee, the co-optees are 
only appointed for specific purposes) 

 Be encouraged to contribute to the development of the 
committee work programme and propose agenda items for 
future meetings 

 Be expected to attend all meetings of the committee to which they have 
been appointed having read the agenda papers 

 Bring an external perspective to the work of  the Committee by 
utilising their specialist knowledge and experience 

 Be expected to represent the whole community and not just one 
sector or viewpoint 

 Act independently of party politics and lobbying interests 

 Be responsible for keeping the organisation or interest they were 
appointed to represent informed and engaged in the work of the 
Committee 

 Be expected to treat other committee Members, officers and 
external parties with respect 

 Be required to recognise that they may encounter sensitive 
information and to act with discretion 

 Not to disclose or -  other than in the performance of their role on the 

Page 164



As amended Jan 2020  

Committee -  use exempt or confidential information 

 To raise issues with the Monitoring Officer or Head of Democratic 
Services at the earliest possible opportunity if there are any concerns  

 

12. Support for Co-opted Members 

 
12.1 All co-opted Members will be provided with a comparable level of support 

to the elected Members. This will include: 

 All summons, agendas and committee reports will be sent to co-
opted Members at the same time as elected Members and will 
comply with the public access to information regulations 

 An induction will be provided for new co-opted Members that will 
outline their expected contribution  and familiarise them with the Code 
of Conduct.  

 Co-opted Members will be invited to attend Member training 
sessions that relate to their role. 
 

12.2 With the exception of the Chair of General Purposes and Audit 
Committee, co-opted Members will not receive an allowance or salary. 

 

13. Why co-opt 
 

13.1 Co-option is a way of ensuring that under represented voices are 
represented on Council committees. The Equality Act 2010(section 149) 
places a public sector equality duty on the council. The duty requires the 
Council to have due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it; 

 
13.2 Having “due regard” to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves 

having due regard, in particular, to the need to encourage persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other 
activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 

  

Page 165



As amended Jan 2020  

  

Page 166



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

3 March 2022  

SUBJECT: REVISIONS TO THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 

LEAD OFFICER: John Jones, Monitoring Officer 

WARDS: All 

PUBLIC/ EXEMPT: Public 

 

 

SUMMARY OF REPORT: 

This report asks the Committee to recommend to the Council changes to the 
Constitution which are necessary for the implementation of the mayoral model of 
governance.  The report also includes other constitutional changes to improve the 
Council’s governance, which have been recommended by the Constitution Working 
Group.  Whilst additional changes have been recommended, a complete review and 
update of all parts of the Constitution has not been conducted. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 2021-24: 

Changes to the Constitution proposed in this report will enable improvements to the 
Council’s governance as part of the Croydon Renewal Plan. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

Implementation of the recommendations within this report shall be contained within 
existing budgets. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
The Committee is asked to recommend to Council that they: 
 
1. Approve the changes to the Constitution as detailed in section 2 and set out more 

fully in Appendix 1 and that: 
 

i) The following changes shall be implemented with immediate effect: 

 Section 4.22 (Emergency or extreme urgency) of Part 3 – Responsibility 
for Functions  

 Part 4I – Tender and Contract Regulations 
 

ii) All other changes shall be implemented with effect from 00.01 hours on the 
third day after the day of declaration of the result of the poll at the first 
election of the Mayor. 

 

 

Page 167



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 
1. BACKGROUND     
 
1.1 Consideration of changes to the Constitution is a responsibility of the General 

Purposes and Audit Committee, prior to referral of any proposals to full Council for 
approval. 
 

1.2 In July 2021, full Council agreed that a politically proportionate Constitution Working 
Group be established to keep the constitution under review and inform proposals for 
any revisions to the Constitution. 
 

1.3 The Constitution Working Group has been meeting since late November 2021 to 
consider revisions to the constitution in preparation for the introduction of the mayoral 
governance model, which will commence in May 2022.   
 

1.4 General Purposes and Audit Committee agreed, at its 25 January meeting, to 
recommend other constitutional changes to full Council.  Due to the delayed January 
meeting of the Committee, it was not possible for full Council to consider these 
changes at its 31 January meeting and so they will be considered instead at the full 
Council meeting of 23 March. 

 
1.5 The Constitution Working Group has prepared proposals both to ensure a legally 

compliant constitution as from the date when the elected Mayor takes office (9th May 
2022) and also to make other improvements more generally to support good 
governance.  This report sets out all of the revisions proposed by the Working Group 
for consideration by the Committee. 
 

1.6 A number of changes to the Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules 
have been under discussion between the Chair of Planning Committee and senior 
Planning officers.  These included changes to the approach for consideration of minor 
applications, provisions for speakers at committee meetings, the number of members 
on each committee and the order of business.   

 
1.7 These discussions began more than a year ago.  More work (and engagement with 

members and officers) is required to prepare detailed proposals which address all 
knock-on impacts.  It will also be necessary to consider whether these (and other) 
changes are still right for Croydon at this time.  Consequently the only proposals in 
relation to the Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules proposed at 
this time are to ensure consistency across the constitution (see 2.15 below) 
 

 
2. PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The proposed revisions to the Constitution appear, in track changes, at Appendix 1.  

These proposals have been prepared on the basis of the following principles and 
assumptions: 

 

Page 168



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

(i) The constitution should support high standards of accountability and 
transparency (within the constraints of legislation relating to confidential and 
‘exempt’ information); 
 

(ii) While decisions about the extent of executive decision making are a matter for 
the elected Mayor, the context in which those decisions will take place is 
assumed to be as close as possible to the operation of the current Leader/ 
Cabinet model.  This is consistent with the basis on which the referendum was 
conducted, as set out in the notice of proposals agreed by Council on 5 July 
2021; 

 
(iii) Membership of the Cabinet will be drawn from the same party as the elected 

Mayor.  In the event that the Cabinet contains Members from other parties, the 
Council may need to review some elements of the constitution relating to the 
definition of the ‘Opposition’. 

 
2.2 In addition to changes of terminology where relevant (eg substituting ‘Mayor’ for 

‘Leader’, ensuring that substantive changes in one Part are reflected in all other Parts 
of the constitution) the following sections set out the material changes which are 
proposed. 
 

2.3 Part 1 - Summary and Explanation: the proposed changes are designed to provide an 
easy-to-read introduction to the Constitution.  This includes a summary of the key 
structures of the Council and an explanation of how the Council exercises and 
scrutinises its decision-making powers as well as summarising role and 
responsibilities of the elected Mayor and how this differs from the role of the Civic 
Mayor.  
 

2.4 Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution: changes are proposed which will: 
 
(i) Simplify the presentation of the number of Members in each ward (Article 2.1); 

 
(ii) Clarify that the Members’ Code of Conduct also applies to co-opted Members 

(Article 2.4); 
 
(iii) Reflect the requirement for the elected Mayor to report their scheme of 

delegation to full Council (Article 4.1); 
 
(iv) Remove the requirement for admission arrangements for community schools to 

be decided by full Council, and add the Corporate Plan to the Policy 
Framework (Article 4.02); 

 
(v) Clarify the role of the Civic Mayor as a) Chair of the Council and b) ceremonial 

representative of the Council at civic events (Article 5.1); 
 

(vi) Set out the ability of Scrutiny and Overview Committee to hold enquiries and 
investigate options to inform policy development (Article 6.2); 

 

Page 169



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

(vii) Ensure that the description of Executive arrangements appropriately reflects 
the Mayoral model of governance (Article 7); 

 
(viii) Provide additional clarity about the roles of statutory officers (with further, more 

detailed content moved and added to Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions) 
(Article 12.2); 

 
(ix) Provide for signature and sealing of documents by electronic means (Article 

14.4); 
 
(x) Provide that any changes to the Constitution, with the exception of changes 

relating to the operation of Scrutiny and Overview Committee or its Sub-
Committees, may only be made with the written consent of the elected Mayor 
(Article 15.2). 

 
2.5 Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions: the following changes are proposed: 
 

(i) Addition of text to clarify the distinction between Council, Executive and Local 
Choice functions; 
 

(ii) Revise the terms of reference of Appointments and General Purposes and 
Audit Committee with the aim of: 

 

 Creating an Audit and Governance Committee (section 2.3) with capacity to 
undertake the full range of functions of a local authority Audit Committee 
(revised terms of reference are based on the CIPFA model terms of 
reference for local authority Audit Committees); 

 Implementing the decision of Ethics Committee on 19th February 2021 
which agreed that the JNC Model Disciplinary Procedure for Statutory Chief 
Officers should be adopted by the Council.  This includes revising 
Appointments Committee to become Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee (section 2.1) and the creation of Appeals Committee (section 
2.2).  Associated procedures are set out in Part 4J – Staff Employment 
Procedure Rules; 

 Creating a non-executive General Purposes Committee (section 2.5) to 
conduct the non-audit functions of General Purposes and Audit Committee 
and the staffing functions of Appointments Committee, meeting on an ‘as 
required’ basis.  The General Purposes Urgency Sub-Committee remains 
unaffected; 

 
(iii) The Committee is asked to note that, while the current constitution lists the 

Mayoralty and Honorary Freedom Selection Sub-Committee (section 2.8) 
without any reference to a ‘parent’ committee, the decision to establish the 
Sub-Committee by Annual Council in 2014 was on the basis that the Sub-
Committee be a sub-committee of General Purposes and Audit Committee. 

 
In light of changes to General Purposes and Audit Committee referenced 
above, and recent practice that full Council has itself made appointments to the 

Page 170



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

Committee, it is proposed to amend the title of the Sub-Committee to ‘Civic 
Mayoralty and Honorary Freedom Selection Committee’, and for this to be a 
committee of the Council. 
 

(iv) Addition of arrangements for the elected Mayor’s scheme of delegation 
(section 3.3 – 3.5); 
 

(v) Addition of information relating to the responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
(section 4) in accordance with the Local Government Act (Constitutions) 
(England) Direction 2000 which requires all local authorities to include a 
description of the roles of officers within their constitutions.  The opportunity 
has been taken to move text about the roles of statutory officers from Part 2 – 
Articles to this Part with the aim of increasing transparency about the roles of 
senior Council officers and their accountabilities.  More detail is proposed to be 
included in the Mayoral scheme of delegation, to be brought to the Annual 
Council Meeting in May 2022. 

 
(vi) Addition of text to enable the Chief Executive to exercise any executive or non-

executive function in cases of emergency or extreme urgency (section 4.22).  
Irrespective of the change of form of executive, these changes provide the 
Council with a resilient decision-making process for cases of urgency, which is 
to be found in most Council constitutions.  It is valuable for this to be in place 
with immediate effect.  There is the necessary safeguard that the Chief 
Executive, if they elect to exercise this power, must account to the Executive or 
Council as appropriate as soon as reasonably practicable. 

 
(vii) Addition of measures which will be taken by the Chief Executive to ensure 

correctness of decision making (section 4.23). 
 

2.6 Part 4A – Council Procedure Rules: the proposed changes are designed to: 
 

(i) Clarify arrangements for determining quoracy of Council meetings (section 
1.1); 
 

(ii) Clarify that the Chair has discretion to decide on matters of interpretation of the 
Council Procedure Rules relating to meetings of the Council (section 1.2); 

 
(iii) Clarify the basis on which a point of order or point of personal explanation/ 

clarification may be raised (sections 1.15, 1.16 and 1.17); 
 
(iv) Add provision that the elected Mayor shall present their scheme of delegation 

to Annual Council and a statement reflecting on the previous year and outlining 
their priorities for the year ahead (section 2.3); 

 
(v) Add provision that a ‘State of the Borough’ debate may take place annually, in 

a form to be decided by the Chair of Council and agreed with the elected 
Mayor, with the aim of enabling wider public engagement and informing the 
Mayor’s policy proposals (section 2.4); 

Page 171



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 
(vi) Clarify the process for identifying substitute members (section 2.9 and 2.10); 
 
(vii) Clarify the definition of the Opposition (section 2.12); 
 
(viii) Revise the Guillotine procedure (sections 3.3 to 3.5 and 3.64) and the Order of 

Business (section 3.7) to enable time for debate on significant policy proposals 
and recommendations; 

 
(ix) Revise the process for Public Question Time to ensure sufficient time to enable 

the preparation of good quality responses and the inclusion of questions on the 
printed agenda and to further clarify the grounds on which a question may be 
rejected (sections 3.16 to 3.24); 

 
(x) Further clarify the grounds on which a question for Mayor and Cabinet 

Questions may be rejected (section 3.28); 
 
(xi) Add provision for the Monitoring Officer to liaise with the proposer of a motion 

with the aim of ensuring that a motion is consistent with Council Procedure 
Rules and therefore may be accepted for debate (section 3.40); 

 
(xii) Amend provisions for recommendations from the Executive and Committees so 

that matters may be debated and not deferred for debate, if so proposed and 
seconded (sections 3.57 to 3.64); 

 
(xiii) Amend provisions for Executive and Committee recommendations to be 

referred back (sections 3.67 to 3.70); 
 
(xiv) Make express provision for the circumstances in which the Council Procedure 

Rules may be suspended (section 3.72); 
 
(xv) Add provision for the Council by resolution, Monitoring Officer, Chief Executive 

and/or the Chief Finance Officer to call an Extraordinary Council Meeting 
(section 5.1). 

 
2.7 Part 4B – Access to Information Procedure Rules: the following additional content is 

proposed: 
 

(i) Clarification of the process which must be complied with if the public are to be 
excluded from a meeting of the Cabinet, Cabinet Sub-Committee or Joint 
Committee (section 14); 
 

(ii) Entitlement for the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer to attend meetings of the Executive and its Committees (section 17); 

 
(iii) Clarification that Executive decisions are deemed to be made when they are 

recorded and publicised in accordance with the Constitution (section 20); 
 

Page 172



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

(iv) Detailed requirements for contents of a report to be provided by the Mayor 
and/or Cabinet when required by Scrutiny and Overview Committee (section 
33.4); 

 
(v) Increased frequency for the Mayor to report use of Special Urgency powers to 

Council (from annually to quarterly) (section 34). 
 
2.8 Part 4C – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules: the budget, policies and 

strategies contained within this Framework (as defined in Article 4.02) are proposed 
by the Mayor but must be agreed by the full Council.  Different rules apply in a 
mayoral authority in the event that full Council does not agree the Executive’s 
proposals in comparison to the Leader/ Cabinet model.  The opportunity has been 
taken to look at good practice in other mayoral authorities to mitigate the risk of 
conflict between the Mayor and full Council. 
 

2.9 The following changes to the Procedure Rules are proposed: 
 
(i) Clarification of what is meant by plans, strategies and budgets within the 

Budget and Policy Framework (section 2a)); 
 

(ii) Addition of arrangements to publicise and consult on proposals to amend any 
plan, strategy or budget within the Framework (section 2b) – d)); 

 
(iii) Amendment of the procedure which applies if full Council rejects the Mayor’s 

proposal (section 2h)) and the same or an amended proposal returns to full 
Council for a second time (the opportunity has been taken to simplify the 
wording of the wider procedure in sections 2 e) – g)); 

 
(iv) Provisions to support consideration of the Mayor’s budget proposals and the 

preparation of alternative proposals (section 3a) – f). 
 
2.10 Part 4D- Executive Procedure Rules: this Part is revised to add the Mayor’s role in 

relation to the Executive, including their powers of delegation and in particular: 
 
(i) The contents to be included in the Mayor’s scheme of delegation (section 1.2); 

 
(ii) The process by which the Mayor may make amendments to their scheme of 

delegation (section 1.4); 
 
(iii) Clarification relating to the Council’s Scheme of Delegation (section 1.5); 
 
(iv) Clarification relating to the exercise of functions which have been delegated 

where there is a conflict of interest (section 1.6); 
 
(v) Revision of provisions for Guillotine for meetings of the Executive to be 

consistent with Council Procedure Rules (section 1.7(d)); 
 

Page 173



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

(vi) Requirements for executive decisions to be made on the basis of written 
reports, in the presence of appropriate officers and appropriately recorded 
(section 1.9); 

 
(vii) A requirement for the Mayor to establish and publish a programme of business 

for the year (section 1.9(e)); 
 
(viii) Additional text for the order of business of Cabinet meetings (the current 

Constitution has missing text in this section) (section 2.5); 
 
(ix) The process for placing items on the agenda for Executive meetings and those 

individuals and bodies which may do so (section 2.6); 
 
(x) Removal of wording relating to Advisory Committees (Traffic Management 

Advisory Committee) which may not be applicable under the Mayor and 
Cabinet form of executive. 

 
2.11 Part 4E – Scrutiny Procedure Rules: the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 

has reviewed the Council’s current Procedure Rules in light of good practice as well 
as recent changes arising from the Scrutiny Improvement Review and has made 
suggestions which are reflected in these proposals: 

 
(i) Changed arrangements for the appointment of vacancies to Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee between meetings to support the ongoing conduct of 
business (section 2.3); 
 

(ii) Changes are proposed to mirror changes to the Guillotine procedure in the 
Council Procedure Rules (section 3.7 – 3.9); 

 
(iii) Additional and new detail about the work programming process to reflect 

changes implemented following the Scrutiny Improvement Review (section 6.3 
– 6.7 and 7.2 – 7.3); 

 
(iv) Clarification on recommendations to be made by Scrutiny to the Council or 

Executive and how these should be responded to (section 8.1 – 8.7); 
 
(v) Clarification of the basis on which any investigations carried out by Scrutiny will 

be conducted (section 10.2 – 10.3); 
 
(vi) Detail on the basis on which Call-Ins will ordinarily be raised (section 11.4),  

arrangements for the arrangement of Call-In meetings (section 11.10) and the 
approach to be taken if Scrutiny and Overview Committee considers that an 
Executive decision is contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework (section 
11.12 – 11.14); 

 
(vii) Addition of provision for Councillor Call for Action (section 12) and Members 

and Officers giving account (section 13). 
 

Page 174



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

2.12 Part 4F – Non-Executive Procedure Rules: 
 
(i) Changes are proposed to mirror changes to the Guillotine procedure, points of 

order, points of personal explanation and clarification in the Council Procedure 
Rules (sections 3.5 – 3.8, 9.6, 9.7 and 9.8 respectively); 
 

(ii) Provision is added to enable recorded votes to be taken at Non-Executive 
Committee meetings (section 10.3). 

 
2.13 Part 4I – Tender and Contract Regulations: a small number of minor modifications to 

the Regulations are recommended in order to improve efficiency and speed up the 
procurement process.   Other proposed changes to the constitution (with the 
exception of section 4.22 of Part 3) relate to the operation of the Executive and 
conduct of meetings of the Council and its committees.  It is therefore appropriate that 
they come into force from the start of the new municipal year and administration.  
However, there is ongoing work which could be more efficiently progressed prior to 
the start of the new municipal year by applying the revised Tender and Contract 
Regulations straight away.  To enable the benefits of improved efficiency and swifter 
procurement to be realised by the Council as soon as possible, it is proposed to 
implement the following changes with immediate effect: 

 
(i) Increase the threshold at which the fuller level of governance and reporting 

applies from the current level of £100,000 to the Procurement Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (‘PCR’) threshold for Goods and Services (currently 
£177,898), defined as ‘Low Value Expenditure’.   The PCR state the contract 
values at which a formal procurement exercise must take place by public 
bodies and are changed every two years, set by the World Trade Organisation.  
It is unusual for a local authority to apply a value below the PCR threshold: the 
current level was set in 2013 had has not been adjusted for inflation or to align 
with the PCR since that time. 

 
Approval to award contracts up to the Low Value Expenditure threshold will be 
by the relevant Director.  This will have the effect of speeding up the award of 
contracts, allowing faster implementation of projects, delivery of outcomes and 
savings.  The burden on suppliers when bidding will be simplified an the 
process will be quicker, making the Council more attractive to suppliers and 
thus increasing competition, resulting in more competitive prices.  To ensure 
rigour and good governance, an additional sign-off for spend between £10,000 
and the new threshold will be required by the Head of Procurement or the 
Strategic Procurement Manager  

 
(ii) Amendment of reference to the Price/ Quality split (section 22.4) to ensure that 

this is considered and the justification for the split chosen set out in the 
procurement report.  This will bring Croydon in line with common procurement 
practice, considering every procurement on its merits instead of the current 
default of 40% Price and 60% Quality.  Social Value will continue to be applied 
in line with Council policy. 
 

Page 175



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

(iii) Removal of the current requirement that all Lead Member decisions on award 
of contracts go to Cabinet first (section 28.7), replaced with a requirement for a 
retrospective report of all Lead Member delegated decisions.  The current 
provision is in conflict with provision elsewhere in the Tender and Contract 
Regulations (section 24.4c) which enables Lead Member decisions: the 
change will speed up the approvals process for award of contracts by 
approximately 4 to 6 weeks which should significantly improve supplier 
engagement.  It will be a matter for the Mayor to decide the extent of any 
delegation of decision making to Lead Members. 

 
2.14 Part 4J – Staff Employment Procedure Rules: these procedure rules have been 

revised alongside the terms of reference of Appointments Committee, to ensure 
consistency with the JNC Model Disciplinary Procedure for Statutory Chief Officers.  
Key features of the changes are: 

 
(i) Application of the rules in relation to appointments to the Monitoring Officer 

and Chief Finance Officer in addition to the Head of Paid Service (section 3); 
 

(ii) Changes to clarify the disciplinary process and distinguish between matters in 
respect of which the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee recommend 
dismissal and those in respect of which the Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee recommend no action or such recommendations fall short of 
dismissal (section 4); 

 
(iii) Provision for urgent action to be taken to suspend in consultation with the 

Chair of the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee (section 4.10); 
 
(iv) Parameters for the operation of suspension of the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer (section 4.11); 
 

(v) Establishment of an Independent Panel to consider a proposal to dismiss the 
Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer (section 
4.15); 

 
(vi) Establishment of the Appeals Committee to consider appeals where the 

proposal is disciplinary action short of dismissal (section 4.16). 
 

2.15 Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules: changes are 
proposed as follows: 
 
(i) The requirement, at section 2.18, for Ward Members to attend training before 

they may make a referral to committee is removed, to ensure consistency with 
provision for referrals by the MP and GLA member.  Training and guidance for 
Ward Members on criteria for referrals will continue to be provided by the 
Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration; 
 

(ii) Changed wording at sections 6.8 - 6.10 is designed to clarify the arrangements 
for guillotine and achieve consistency with full Council and other non-executive 

Page 176



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

Committee meetings, while reflecting the specific requirements relating to 
consideration of planning applications.  Changes are also made to Part 3 to 
mirror this provision. 

 
2.16 Part 4O – Procedure rules for remote meetings: this Part is removed in its entirety as 

the legislation which enabled it has expired.  Provision remains for Licensing Sub-
Committee hearings to be held remotely, as set out in Annex 2 to Part 5F and Part 5G 
of the Constitution.  The drafting of a new protocol for use in meetings where it is 
lawful for remote participation will be progressed after the election and will be 
prioritised if there is a change to the relevant legislation. 

 
2.17 Part 5A – Protocol for Decision Making: the following additional text is proposed: 
 

(i) Clarification of the different decision-making bodies covered by the Constitition; 
 

(ii) Principles which will apply to all decisions made by the Council including 
executive decisions; 

 
(iii) Addition of text to require Corporate Directors to keep the implementation of 

decisions under review and ensure that circumstances relevant to the decision 
continue to apply (section 1.9).  Where there has been a material change of 
circumstances, a further report must be made to the decision-making body 
prior to implementation.  This change addresses an action in the action plan 
following the Report in the Public Interest dated 26 January 2022.  

 
2.18 Part 5B – Protocol on Staff Councillor Relations: this revised version of the existing 

Protocol was prepared by a Member-Officer Task and Finish Group.  Ethics 
Committee, at its meeting on 9th February agreed to recommend to General Purposes 
and Audit Committee that this revised version be recommended to Council for 
inclusion within the Constitution: the full report to Ethics Committee is appended to 
this report. 

 
2.19 Part 5C – Monitoring Officer Protocol: the text is updated to ensure consistency with 

the Member Code of Conduct and references to Dispensations in the Ethics 
Committee terms of reference (section 1.2 i)) 

 
2.20 Part 5H – Protocol for Participation in meetings of the Traffic Management Advisory 

Committee: The Traffic Management Advisory Committee (TMAC) has existed to 
advise the relevant Cabinet Member on traffic management issues.  Under the 
mayoral model, it is for the Mayor to decide whether to delegate any decision making 
to any members of the Executive and it follows that any provision of advice to 
decision-makers (with the exception of legal, finance and other professional advice) is 
also at the discretion of the Mayor.   
 

2.21 This Protocol is therefore proposed for removal from the Constitution until such point 
that the Mayor establishes a scheme of delegation which would enable such an 
approach.  The Council has previously decided to make traffic management an 
executive function: this is a matter which, statutorily, the Council can choose to be 

Page 177



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

either an executive or non-executive function.  The Council could therefore, at some 
future point, consider a proposal to make traffic management a non-executive function 
and identify an appropriate committee to carry out that function. 

 
2.22 Leader’s Scheme of Delegation: The scheme is removed in its entirety: a new Mayoral 

scheme of delegation will be brought to the Annual Council Meeting in May 2022. 
 

2.23 It is also proposed to add the Officer Code of Conduct (which was revised in January 
2022) to the Constitution at Part 5J so that there is transparency and clarity about the 
standards which officers are required to meet, in parallel with the provisions of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
2.25 Changes to the following Parts of the Constitution relate to changes of terminology 

only: 

 Part 4G – Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 
(the title will also be changed to ‘Delegations to Corporate Directors Decision 
Making Procedure Rules’) 

 
2.26 For clarity, no changes are proposed to the following Parts of the Constitution: 

 Part 4H – Financial Regulations 

 Part 4L – Terms of Reference Health and Wellbeing Board 

 Part 4M – Local Pension Board Procedure Rules 

 Part 4N – Pension Committee Terms of Reference 

 Part 5D – Planning Code of Good Practice 

 Part 5F – Protocol for Licensing Hearings 

 Part 5G – Protocol for Licensing Hearings under the Gambling Act 2005 

 Part 5I – Members’ Code of Conduct 

 Part 6D- Scheme of Co-option 

 Part 6E – Terms of Reference Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
2.27 A paper relating to the Members Scheme of Allowances (Part 6A of the Constitution) 

appears elsewhere on this agenda. 
 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1  The proposed changes to the constitution will in some cases ensure, and in others 

assist with compliance and consistency with other decision making by the Council. 
 
 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 There is no statutory duty to undertake public consultation on changes to the 

consultation.  The changes proposed in this report will support implementation of 
other decisions by Council and compliance with legislation and as such have not been 
subject to separate consultation.   

 

Page 178



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 All costs associated with this work has been delivered from existing 2021/22 budgets 

and the Council continues to have additional provision to support this work in 2022/23.   
 

Approved by: Nish Popat – Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
 
 
6. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 External legal advice has been sought.  This states: 
 
6.2 The Council is obliged to introduce a mayor and cabinet form of executive by virtue of 

section 9MF(5) of the Local Government Act 2000 (‘LGA 2000’) following the outcome 
of the referendum on the mayoral system on 7 October 2021. A resolution to change 
to a mayor and cabinet form of executive was made at an extraordinary council 
meeting on 11 October 2021.   

 
6.3 Under subsections 9L(2) and (5) of the LGA 2000, the Council must cease to operate 

its existing leader and cabinet form of executive and move to the elected mayor and 
cabinet form of executive at “a time during the third day after the day of the 
declaration of the result of the poll at the first election of the mayor”.  

 
6.4 The Council is also obliged to maintain an up-to-date constitution under Section 9P of 

the LGA 2000. When the Council’s form of executive changes, the constitution in its 
current form will cease to be fit for purpose and so must be amended to address this 
and reflect the new elected mayor and cabinet form of executive.  

 
6.5 The Full Council may only approve changes to the Constitution following its 

consideration of written proposals made by (amongst others) the General Purposes 
and Audit Committee, under Article 15.2 of the current Constitution. Such changes 
may take effect from the conclusion of the meeting at which they are agreed unless 
the recommendation made provides otherwise (e.g. on a specified date, as is required 
by the provisions of the LGA 2000 in this case). 

 
6.6 The proposed changes to the Constitution have been reviewed and are consistent 

with relevant legislation applicable to each Part that has been reviewed and amended. 
The changes proposed by the amendments to the Constitution are sufficient to ensure 
that it will be fit for the purposes of operating an elected mayor and cabinet form of 
executive. 

 
6.7 It should be noted that the Constitution has not been subject to a complete 

constitution review, with only the proposed changes and amendments to specific 
Parts subject to legal consideration. Continuing review of the constitution should be 
maintained to ensure compliance with the Council’s duties. 

 

Page 179



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

6.8 Following its amendment, the Constitution must be made available for inspection at 
the Council’s offices and published on the Council’s website under Article 16.3 of the 
Constitution, consistent with Section 9P of the LGA 2000 and the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2015.     

 
 
7. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 
7.1 There are no immediate Human Resources implications arising from the contents of 

this report. 
 

Approved by: Gillian Bevan, Head of HR – Resources and Assistant Chief Executive 
 
 
8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
8.1 The constitution of the Council should give due regard to equality and fairness and 

ensure that equality is fundamental to how the Council undertakes its core business. 
The Council has a statutory duty to comply with the provisions set out in the Sec 149 
Equality Act 2010. The Council must therefore have due regard to: 

 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

8.2 Any constitutional review should have regard, wherever possible, to the vision that 
Croydon is a fairer, safer, more inclusive borough, where everyone has a voice and 
feels as if they belong. The review should also have regard wherever possible to the 
Council’s core priority, which is to focus on tackling ingrained inequality and poverty in 
the borough. 

 
8.4 The Tender and Contract Regulations, within the Constitution, include provision that 

contracts, where appropriate, include a clause that states the Contractor will maintain 
their compliance with Council policies that are relevant to the services that the Council 
are procuring.   Through this provision, the Council can require providers of 
appropriate services to adopt both the George Floyd Race Matters Pledge and the 
Equalities Pledge (the Council standard for equalities in the borough). 

 
Approved by: Denise McCausland, Equality Programme Manager 

 
 
9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
9.1 There is no environmental impact arising from this report. 
 

Page 180



 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 
10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 
 
10.1 There is no crime and disorder impact arising from this report. 
 
 
11. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING OF 

‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 
 No. 
 
11.2 HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN COMPLETED? 
 
 N/A. 
 
 Approved by: Richard Ennis, Interim Director of Resources. 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:   Heather Wills, Governance Improvement Adviser; 

heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk  
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT:  
 
1: Proposed changes and amendments to the Constitution: 

 Part 1 - Summary and Explanation 

 Part 2 - Articles 

 Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions 

 Part 4A – Council Procedure Rules 

 Part 4B – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

 Part 4C – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

 Part 4D- Executive Procedure Rules 

 Part 4E – Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules 

 Part 4F – Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules 

 Part 4G – Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 Part 4I – Tender and Contract Regulations 

 Part 4J – Staff Employment Procedure Rules 

 Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules 

 Part 4O – Procedure rules for remote meetings 

 Part 5A – Protocol for Decision Making 

 Part 5B – Protocol on Staff Councillor Relations (Ethics Committee report 9 
February 2022) 

 Part 5C – Monitoring Officer Protocol 

 Part 5H – Protocol for Participation in meetings of the Traffic Management 
Advisory Committee 

 Part 5I – Member Code of Conduct 

Page 181

mailto:heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk


 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 Part 5J - Officer Code of Conduct 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

Legal considerations provided by Browne Jacobsen LLP 

 

Page 182



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 1 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

PART 1 

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Croydon Council (the London Borough of Croydon) has established 

decision-making arrangements that comply with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 2000 as amended by the Local Government   and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the Localism Act 2011. They 
are known as the Mayor and Cabinet model. 

 
 
1.2 This constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are 

made and the procedures that are followed to ensure that decisions are 
taken efficiently and transparently, and that those who make the 
decisions are accountable to local people.  Some of these procedures 
are legal requirements while others are how the Council has chosen to 
conduct its business. 

 
1.3 This part of the Constitution is a guide to the basic principles of how the 

Council works and what decisions can be made and by whom.  Whilst it 
provides an overview it nevertheless forms part of the constitution and 
should be read as such and in connection with all other parts.   

 
1.4 Part 2 of the Constitution (the Articles) sets out the rules and framework 

which govern the operation of the Council, and Parts 3 to 6 provide 
further details on responsibility for functions, procedure rules, codes and 
protocols for specific parts of the decision-making structure. 
 

1.5 The Mayor, all elected and co-opted members and officers of Croydon 
Council are governed by the Constitution. 

 
2 HOW THE COUNCIL WORKS 

 

2.1 The Council is led by a Mayor who is elected directly by the people 
of the Borough of Croydon.  The Council is made up of the Executive 
(the Mayor and Cabinet), the Full Council and staff employed by the 
Council.  The Executive makes decisions on those functions which are 
not reserved for the Full Council to decide or delegate to others.  Article 
4 of the Constitution sets out the functions which are reserved to the Full 
Council.  Staff employed by the Council are responsible for the day to 
day operational and managerial decisions made on behalf of the 
Council.  
Full Council 

Page 183



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 2 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

2.2 Full Council comprises the Mayor together with the 70 Members (also 
referred to as Councillors), each of whom is elected for a 4 year term and 
who represent the 28 wards of the Borough which is set out in Article 2 of 
the Constitution.  The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole 
community but they have a special responsibility to the constituents of their 
ward, including those who did not vote for them.  The role, rights and 
duties of Councillors are also set out in Part 2, Article 2 of the Constitution. 

 
All Councillors and the Mayor meet together as the Full Council.  These meetings are 
open to the public and the press and are also broadcast live on the Council’s webcast 
facility, except when there are items on the agenda which require the public to be 
excluded for that item. 
2.3 The Council (or ‘Municipal’) Year begins  in May each year with an Annual 

Meeting that appoints a new Civic Mayor, and Deputy Civic Mayor for a 
one year term.  It also makes appointments to Committees, Sub-
Committees, Working Parties and Outside Bodies for that Municipal Year.  
The Meeting receives the Mayor’s scheme of delegation, including any 
executive appointments to Outside Bodies. 

 
2.4 The Civic Mayor is also the Chair of Council.  This role is a ceremonial 

one and therefore does not include making decisions on behalf of the 
Council.  The postholder is a councillor and cannot be a member of the 
Executive.  

 
2.5 Ordinary Full Council meetings are held on six other occasions during the 

Council Year. One of the Ordinary Meetings is to set the Council Tax. 
Extraordinary and Special Meetings of the Full Council may also        be 
convened. 

 

2.6 Although the Mayor shall make proposals in relation to the Budget and 
Policy Procedure Rules only the full Council meeting may set the Budget 
for the Authority or  approve the policies, plans and strategies that are 
specified in the Council’s “Policy Framework”, as defined in Article 4.02 of 
this Constitution.  Specific procedures apply where the Council does not 
agree to the Mayor’s proposals in respect of the budget and policies and 
strategies in the Policy Framework.  These are set out in the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules, Part 4C of this Constitution. 

 
2.7 At Ordinary Meetings of the Full Council, the Mayor and Cabinet: 

 Reply to questions from the public (except at the meeting of the Council 
at which the Council sets the rate of Council Tax);

 Present a Report including any recommendations for decision and 
replies to Members’ questions on the Report; and

 Reply to questions asked by Members.
 

2.8 Ordinary Full Council Meetings also deal with: 

 The formal presentation to the Council of petitions by Members;

 Petitions from Members of the Public for Debate in accordance with the 
Part 4A , 3.12 of this Constitution; and

 Motions for Debate.
 

Page 184



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 3 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

How decisions are made2.9 Decisions are taken either by Full Council, the 
Mayor, members of the Executive (either individually or collectively with 
the Mayor), committees, or officers, according to rules set out in this 
constitution.   

 
2.10 The Mayor makes proposals to the Council about its main policies and 

budget. Once they are agreed the Mayor is responsible for putting those 
policies into effect. Within that framework, the Mayor is responsible for 
all decisions which are not the responsibility of the Council or any of its 
committees by law.  The Mayor can either personally take these 
decisions, delegate them to other individual councillors on the Executive, 
take them collectively with Executive colleagues, or delegate them to a 
committee of the executive or officers of the authority. 

 
2.11 Some decisions, due to legislation, or as a matter of local choice, can 

only be taken by Full Council.  In some cases, Full Council can delegate 
these decisions to committees of councillors or specified officers.   

 
2.12 Each year at its Annual Meeting, the Council adopts a scheme of 

delegation which sets out details of those decisions which the Council 
makes itself, and those which it delegates to committees, employees, 
and joint arrangements it has with other authorities.  

 
2.13 Having presented a scheme of delegation for executive decisions to the 

Annual Meeting of the Council in each year, the Mayor is entitled to 
amend the delegations they have made during the course of the year, 
and any such amendments will be incorporated into the scheme of 
delegation.  

 

 
2.14 Part 3 of the Constitution sets out the responsibilities of different 
parts of the Council for different decisions and Part 4 of the Constitution 
sets out the procedures for those decisions such as the procedures for 
public access to information.  

 Conduct and behaviour 
2.15 The Mayor and the 70 Councillors have committed to follow a Code of 

Conduct to ensure high standards in the way they undertake their duties.  
Compliance with the Code of Conduct is overseen by the Ethics 
Committee.  The Code of Conduct is included in Part 5 of this constitution. 

3 THE MAYOR AND CABINET 

Roles and functions.   

3.1 The Mayor is the primary decision maker and is given executive 
functions.  The Mayor must create a Cabinet of councillors and may 
delegate executive powers to them.  Together the Mayor and Cabinet 
form the Executive.   

3.2 The Mayor will carry out the following roles: 

i) be the Council’s principal public spokesperson; 

Page 185



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 4 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

ii) give overall political and strategic direction to the Council; 

iii) appoint the Cabinet and Deputy Mayor from within the Cabinet; 

iv) decide on the scheme of delegation for executive functions; 

v) chair meetings of the Cabinet; and 

vi) represent the Council on external bodies (where the function of 
the outside bodies relates to executive functions of the Council) 
and appoint Members to outside bodies).  

 Mayor as a Member of the Council. 

3.3 The Mayor is a Member of the Council and is to be treated as a Member 
of the Council or a Councillor for the purposes of such laws as are 
specified by the Secretary of State in regulations and orders.  Except 
where stated or is obvious from the context, references in this 
constitution to Members or Councillors include the Mayor.  In particular, 
the Mayor: 

 i) is subject to the same rules about qualification and disqualification 
as any other Councillor; 

ii) must follow the rules about disclosure of interests and comply 
with the Members’ Code of Conduct set out in Part 5 of this 
Constitution; 

iii) must act in the interests of the borough as a whole; 

iv) may be a Member of, attend and speak at any meeting of the 
Council, its Committees and Sub-Committees, except the Ethics 
and Scrutiny and Overview Committees.  The Mayor may only 
speak at a Scrutiny and Overview Committee when invited to do 
so and may not vote at those meetings; 

v) if a member of a political group, will be taken into account when 
calculating seat allocations on Committees and Sub-Committees 
of which they are a member, if they have to reflect the political 
composition of the Council as a whole in accordance with the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

vi) is subject to the Members’ Allowance Scheme as set out in Part 6 
of the Constitution;  

vii) will attend Full Council meetings to answer questions from 
Members and the public as set out in the Council’s Procedure 
Rules; 

viii) is subject to the same rules about casual vacancies as apply to all 
Councillors. 

Deputy Mayor 

Page 186



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 5 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

3.4 At the first meeting of the Council after their election, the Mayor will inform 
the Council which Member of the Cabinet will act as Deputy Mayor. 

3.5 The Deputy Mayor will hold office until the end of the Mayor’s term of office 
unless they are no longer a Member of the Council or the Executive, 
resign as Deputy Mayor, or are removed by the Mayor from the office of 
Deputy Mayor. 

3.6 If for any reason the Mayor is unable to act, or the office of Elected Mayor 
is vacant, the Deputy Mayor will act in their place until a new Mayor is 
elected or again able to act.  If the Mayor is unable to act or the office is 
vacant at the same time as the Deputy Mayor is unable to act or the office 
of Deputy Mayor is vacant, then the Cabinet must act in the Mayor’s place, 
or arrange for a Member of the Cabinet to do so. 

3.7 The Mayor may remove the Deputy Mayor from office at any time by 
serving a notice in writing to the Chief Executive.  The notice must also 
appoint a new Deputy Mayor in order to be effective.  The removal and 
appointment will take effect immediately on receipt of the notice by the 
Chief Executive.  A change of Deputy Mayor must be reported by the 
Mayor to the next meeting of the Cabinet and the next meeting of the Full 
Council. 

 Other Cabinet Members 

3.8 The Mayor appoints at least two and no more than 9 Cabinet Members 
from the 70 Councillors to work with them.  Together they are described as 
the Executive.  The Cabinet need not be politically proportionate.  
Members of the Cabinet will hold office until: 

a) they are removed from office by the Mayor who must give written 
notice of any removal to the Chief Executive.  The removal will take 
effect immediately on receipt of the notice by the Chief Executive; 

b) they are no longer councillors; or 

c) they are disqualified from being Councillors under the Localism Act 
2011. 

3.9 Details of the responsibilities and functions allocated by the Mayor to the 
Cabinet as a whole or to individual Cabinet Members are set out fully in 
the Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation. For the avoidance of doubt, such 
Cabinet arrangements may include provisions for job-share portfolios 
however there may not be more than 10 acting Members of Cabinet 
inclusive of the Mayor at any one time and any non-acting job share 
Cabinet Member may not exercise any executive functions whilst not 
Acting Cabinet Member for the relevant portfolio. 

3.10 The Executive has to make decisions which are in line with the Council’s 
Budget and Policy Framework.  If it wishes to make a decision which is 
outside the Budget and Policy Framework, this must be referred to the 
Council as a whole to decide. 

Page 187



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 6 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

3.11 The Mayor is responsible, in consultation with others, for shaping the plans 
and strategies which form the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and 
recommending them to the Council; and for taking decisions on executive 
matters within that framework. The Mayor gives political direction to the 
Chief Executive and Corporate Directors in relation to the way in which 
services are managed within the budgets allocated to them. The Mayor 
may establish one or more Cabinet Committees to exercise specified 
executive functions. 

 
3.12 All meetings of the Cabinet are open to all Members, the public and 

press to attend. In the event of there being confidential or exempt 
business to discuss in accordance with the Council’s Access to 
Information Procedure Rules, that part of the meeting is held in private. 
Notice of meetings and availability of papers prior to a meeting shall also 
comply with the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules set out 
at Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
3.13 Certain decisions made by the Executive are defined as “Key Decisions” 

as defined in Article 13 and the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
in Part 4B of the Constitution.  In summary, these are decisions to incur 
significant expenditure or savings or which have a significant impact on 
communities in two or more wards in the borough.  When major 
decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the 
Forward Plan as far as they can be anticipated and at least with 28 days’ 
notice before the decision is taken. 

 
4 THE CIVIC MAYOR 
 
4.1 Although the title of Mayor may only be used by the Elected Mayor, on 

appropriate ceremonial occasions the Chair of the Council may bear the 
title of Civic Mayor. 

 
4.2 The Council has decided, in agreeing its Executive Arrangements, that 

the Civic Mayor will be the first citizen of the Borough and will perform 
the majority of civic and ceremonial duties for the Borough. The Mayor 
will perform those functions as the Council’s representative where they 
relate to the promotion of, or business of, the Council. Any future change 
to these arrangements will be a matter for the Council to determine.  

 
4.3 The Civic Mayor and the Deputy Civic Mayor will be elected by Council 

annually.  Their responsibilities are set out in Article 5 of this 
Constitution. 

 
 
 

 
 

5 HOW THE COUNCIL IS SCRUTINISED 
 
5.1 The Scrutiny and Overview function is part of the Council’s executive 

arrangements as required by the law. The Council has one overarching 

Page 188



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 7 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee encompassing all scrutiny functions 
required by Statute. Seats are allocated according to the rules of 
proportionality, which provide for the allocation of seats on committees so 
that they continue to reflect the overall political composition of the 
Council. 

 
5.2  The Scrutiny and Overview Committee ensures the efficient and effective 

conduct of its responsibilities through the work of a number of Sub-
Committees, and “task and finish” groups. 

 
5.3  The Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its Sub-Committees hold the 

executive to account, monitor the performance of Council services and 
investigate matters affecting the wellbeing of Croydon. In addition  the 
Scrutiny and Overview function has a statutory duty to scrutinise Health 
Services, Community Safety issues and education matters. They carry out 
these roles in a number of ways including: 

 Reviews of services which often cut across organisational boundaries 
and roles.

 The scrutiny of Action Plans and Implementation.In certain 
circumstances and in accordance with the Scrutiny and Overview 
Procedure Rules at Part 4 of the Constitution, Members may request 
the review of an executive key decision taken by the Executive or a 
Cabinet Member but not yet implemented.  This is known as ‘Call-In’ and 
requires the Executive to consider further comments raised by a 
scrutiny committee or Full Council before they are implemented. 

 

5.4 Any Councillor except the Mayor or a Cabinet Member is eligible to be 
appointed to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or any of its Sub-
Committees. 

 

5.5  The Scrutiny and Overview Committee reports annually to the Council. 
During the year the Committee and its Sub-Committees may make 
recommendations to the Leader and Cabinet and exceptionally direct to 
the Council. 

 
5.6 Members, the Chief Executive and Executive Directors or other senior staff 

are under a duty to attend the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-
Committee to answer questions. There is a power to co-opt non-Council 
members onto the Committee or any Sub-Committee. There is a statutory 
requirement to co-opt church and parent-governor representatives when 
matters related to the duties of the Council relating to education functions 
are considered. 

 

5.7 All meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its Sub- 
Committees are open to the public and press, except where confidential or 
exempt information is considered. Confidential or exempt business is 
discussed in private in accordance with the Council’s Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

 
5.8 The Council will seek to ensure parity of esteem between Executive and 

Scrutiny: the rights of the Scrutiny and Overview function to information 

Page 189



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 8 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

to support delivery of its role are set out in the Council’s Access to 
Information Procedure Rules and Protocol.  

 
5.9 The Constitution recognises that the separation of the executive from the 

overview and scrutiny function, and the responsibility of the Council for 
approval of policy and budget creates opportunities for conflict which, if 
not managed, could undermine effective decision making. To minimise 
any potential for tension between these roles, the Council has 
established processes to resolve conflict between them. They are set out 
in the Constitution, Part 4, Budget and Policy Procedure Rules. 

 

6 NON-EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 
 
6.1 The Full Council has made arrangements to delegate various powers and 

duties that are not executive functions to a number of Committees, Sub-
Committees and the Chief Executive for the efficient conduct of business. 
These Delegations are set out in ‘Responsibility for Functions’ contained in 
Part 3 of the Constitution and the Non- Executive Committee Procedure 
Rules at Part 4. As with the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, seats on 
the non-executive committees are allocated between the party groups in 
proportion to their respective numbers of Members. 

 
7 SHADOW CABINET 
7.1 The Shadow Cabinet comprises the Leader of the largest group of which the 

Mayor is not a member and up to   nine other Members nominated by the 
same political Group. Shadow Cabinet members hold policy portfolios that 
broadly mirror the portfolios held by members of the Cabinet. The Shadow 
Cabinet has no power to discharge any function of the Authority. 

 
8 PARTNERSHIPS 
8.1 The Council continues to develop a wide range of partnerships and other 

consultative bodies. These bodies are not part of the Council’s formal 
decision making structure but are an important part of informing the policy 
process and of collaborative working. 

 
9 SCHEME OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 
 

9.1 The Council has adopted a Scheme of Members’ Allowances in accordance 
with the relevant Regulations. This Scheme is set out at Part 6A of the 
Constitution. 

 
9.2 Members also known as “Councillors” are not employees of the Council. 

They have a role description but do not have fixed “hours of work”. They 
carry out their duties at all and sundry times. 

 

9.3 Some Members are in paid employment elsewhere. Although they are 
entitled to reasonable time off without pay for public duties some employers 
are very uncooperative and do not willingly allow the amount of time off 
required. However, Members have to balance the need to take time off for 
Council work and the impression given to their employer by the amount of 
time to take off work in order to perform their public duties. 

Page 190



May2018 
Summary and Explanation 

Part 1 / Page 9 of 5 
 
LEGAL\53545531v1 

 
10 COUNCIL STAFF 
 
10.1 The Council employs officers to give professional advice to the Executive 

and Councillors, to implement decisions taken and to manage the day to 
day delivery of services.   

 
10.2 The Head of Paid Service is a statutory role that every Council must have.  

This person is responsible for managing all Council staff and decides how 
the Mayor, Executive and Councillors should be supported by staff. 

 
10.3 There are other statutory posts including an officer who has responsibility 

for ensuring that the Council takes sound financial decisions (the 
Corporate Director, Resources) and an officer who is responsible for 
ensuring that all the decisions taken by the Council are lawful (Monitoring 
Officer).  There are also statutory officers with responsibility for Children’s 
Services, Adult Services and Public Health. 

 
11. CITIZENS’ RIGHTS 
 
11.1 Citizens of Croydon have a number of rights in dealing with the Mayor, 

the Executive and the Council.  These are set out in Part 2, Article 3 of 
the Constitution.  

 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 1 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

PART 2 

ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

 
ARTICLE 1 The Constitution 

 

1.1 The Constitution 
 

This Constitution and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the 
London Borough of Croydon, hereinafter referred to as ‘The Authority’. 

 
1.2 Powers of the Authority 

 

The Authority shall exercise all its powers and duties in accordance 
with the law and this Constitution. 

 
1.3 Purpose of the Constitution 

 
The purpose of this Constitution is to: 

1 enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community 
in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

2 support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 
authority decision-making; 

3 help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 

4 enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

5 create a powerful and effective means of holding decision– 
makers to public account; 

6 ensure that no one shall review or scrutinise a decision in which 
they were directly involved; 

7 ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly 
identifiable to local people and they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and 

8 provide a means of improving delivery of services to the 
community. 

 

1.4 Interpretation and review of the Constitution 
 
The Council shall monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set 

Page 193



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 2 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

out in Article 15. 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 2 Members of the Council 

 
2.1 Composition and eligibility 

 
(a) Composition. The Council shall comprise the Elected Mayor 

and 70 Councillors.   The Mayor will be elected by the voters of 
the whole Borough and Councillors shall be elected by the 
voters of each Ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by 
the Boundary Committee for England and approved by the 
Electoral Commission as follows: 
 

Park Hill and Whitgift 
 

One member 

Addiscombe East 
Kenley 
New Addington North 
New Addington South 
Norbury and Pollards Hill 
Norbury Park 
Old Coulsdon 
Purley Oaks and Riddlesdown 
Selhurst 
Selsdon and Addington Village 
Selsdon Vale and Forestdale 
Shirley South 
 

Two 
members 

Addiscombe West 
Bensham Manor 
Broad Green 
Coulsdon Town 
Crystal Palace and Upper Norwood 
Fairfield 
Purley and Woodcote 
Sanderstead 
Shirley North 
South Croydon 
South Norwood 
Thornton Heath 
Waddon 
West Thornton 
Woodside 
 

Three 
Members 

Page 194



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 3 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

 
(b) Eligibility.  

 
Only registered voters of the Borough or those living or working 
(as provided by statute) there shall be eligible to hold the office 
of Mayor or Councillor. 

 
2.2 Election and terms of Councillors 

 
The regular election of Councillors and the elected Mayor shall be held 
on the first Thursday in May every four years. The terms of office of the 
elected Mayor and Councillors shall start on the fourth day after being 
elected and shall finish on the fourth day after the date of the next 
regular election. In the event of a vacancy occurring between regular 
elections, a by-election will be held in accordance with statutory 
provisions. 

 
2.3 Roles and functions of all Councillors. 

 
(a) Key roles. All Councillors shall: 

(i) collectively as members of the Council be the ultimate 
policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

(ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the 
Council’s decision-making process, i.e. become an 
advocate of and for their communities; 

(iii) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for 
constituents in resolving particular concerns or 
grievances; 

(iv) balance different interests identified within their Ward and 
represent the Ward as a whole; 

(v) be involved in decision taking and/or the scrutiny function; 

(vi) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 

(vii) maintain the highest standards of governance, conduct and 
ethics. 

 

(b) Rights and Duties 

(i) Members shall have such rights of access to such 
documents, information, land and buildings of the Council 
as are necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions and in accordance with the law. 

(ii) Members shall not make public, information which is 
confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council 
or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other 

Page 195



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 4 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

than a Member or officer entitled to know it. 

(iii) For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” 
information are defined in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

(iv) The Mayor and Councillors will make all decisions in 
accordance with the law and having taken and considered 
proper professional advice 

 
2.4 Conduct 

 
The Mayor and elected and co-opted Councillors shall at all times 
observe the Members’ Code of Conduct as set out in Part 5I of this 
Constitution. 

 

2.5 Allowances 
 

The Mayor and Councillors shall be entitled to receive allowances in 
accordance with the Scheme of Members’ Allowances set out in Part 
6A of this Constitution. 

Page 196



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 5 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 3 Citizens and the Council 

 

3.1 Citizens’ Rights 
 

Citizens have the following rights. Their rights to information and to 
participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution: 

 
(a) Voting.  Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough have the 

right to vote in local, national and European elections in 
accordance with statutory provisions. 

 

(b) Petitions. i) Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough may 
sign a petition to request a referendum for an Elected Mayor 
form of Constitution. ii) Local People (working, studying or 
resident in the Borough) may sign a petition to request particular 
actions. 

 
(c) Information. Citizens have the right to: 

(i) attend meetings of the Full Council, its Committees and 
Sub Committees, the Executive and its Committees 
except where confidential or exempt information is likely 
to be disclosed and the meeting is therefore held in 
private; 

(ii) find out what key decisions shall be taken and when; 

(iii) see reports and background papers and any records of 
decisions made by the Council, its Committees or Sub 
Committees, the Executivet or its Committees except 
where these contain confidential or exempt information; 

(iv) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views 
known to the external auditor; and 

(v) inspect the Register of Members’ Interests. 
 

(d) Participation. Citizens have the right to participate at Full 
Council meetings through Public Question Time and may be 
invited to contribute to investigations by any Committee or Sub 
Committee charged with a scrutiny role. 

 
(e) Complaints. Citizens have the right to complain to: 

(i) the Council itself under its complaints schemes; 

(ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints 

Page 197



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 6 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

scheme; 

Page 198



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 7 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

(iii) the Monitoring Officer of the London Borough of Croydon 
about an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
3.2 Citizens’ Responsibilities 

 
Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Members or staff 
and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Members or 
staff. 

 
Citizens are encouraged to make conscientious use of their roles as 
both voters and members of a wider community. In particular by: 

(a) voting at every opportunity; 

(b) respecting the expression of differing opinions in public debate; 

(c) promoting tolerance and respect between their fellow citizens; and 

(d) individually and collectively seeking information about the 
decision-making role of the Mayor and Councillors and 
respecting the Authority’s procedures which give effect to a 
representative democracy. 

Page 199



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 8 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 4 The Full Council 

 
4.1 Functions of the Full Council 

 
Unless otherwise delegated to a Committee or Officer the Council shall 
exercise the following functions: 

(a) adopting and changing the Constitution with the exception of 
matters allocated to the Mayor(and or Cabinet as appropriate) 
and related Procedure Rules and subject to the provisions of 
Article 15 in relation to minor and consequential amendments and 
of Article 16 in relation to the powers of the Mayor and Cabinet 
and certain Committees to agree protocols; 

(b) defining, approving or adopting the Policy Framework, approving 
and adopting the Budget and any application to the Secretary of 
State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer; 

(c) subject to the special urgency procedure contained in the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution, 
making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an 
executive function which is covered by the Policy Framework or 
the Budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a 
manner which would be contrary to the Policy Framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget if the 
procedure for approval in Part 4E has not been complied with; 

(d) appointing the Civic Mayor and noting the appointment of the 
Deputy Civic Mayor; 

(e) receiving reports from the Mayor setting out the composition and 
responsibilities of the Cabinet and the current scheme of 
delegations; 

(f) agreeing and amending the terms of reference for non-executive 
Committees, deciding on their composition and making 
appointments to them; [The Monitoring Officer is empowered to 
make in year appointment to committees after consultation with 
party whips]; 

(g) appointing representatives to Outside Bodies at the Annual 
Meeting [In respect of Executive appointments the Mayor or the 
Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the Mayor may make 
appointments to outside bodies as necessary during the year. In 
respect of Non-Executive appointments the General Purposes 
Committee or the Monitoring Officer after consultation with the 
Chair of the General Purposes Committee may make 
appointments to outside bodies as necessary during the year.]; 

Page 200



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 9 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

(h) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 

(i) changing the name of the area, conferring the title of Honorary 
Alderman or Alderwoman or granting Freedom of the Borough, 
conferring the title of Honorary Recorder; 

(j) confirming the appointment of the Head of the Paid Service; 

(k) Following receipt of a report from Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee and Independent Panel under the Staff Employment 
Procedure Rules, to consider disciplinary action, including dismissal 
of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant Council meeting 
on whether or not to approve such a dismissal, full Council must 
take into account, in particular: 

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Appointments 
and Disciplinary Committee; 

(b) the conclusions  of any  investigation into  the
 proposed dismissal; and 

(c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

(l) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and 
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or Private 
Members’ bills and/or Local Acts; 

(m) any other non-executive functions which the Council has decided 
should be undertaken by itself; 

(n) consider reports of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, together 
where necessary with the response of the Mayorand Cabinet or 
relevant non-executive Committee as appropriate; 

(o) approval of a three-year Statement of Principles under section 349 
of the Gambling Act 2005 and passing a resolution that no casino 
premises licences will be granted by the Authority under section 
166 of the Gambling Act 2005; 

(p) approve the pay policy statement;  

(q) conflict resolution under the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules (Part 4C of this Constitution) and 

 
(r) any other matters which by law must be reserved to the Council. 

 
4.2 Meanings 

 
(a) Policy Framework. The policy framework which the Council 

has reserved to itself to approve, means the Plans Policies and 
Strategies set out in the appendix to this Article. 

(b) The Council may add further significant plans and strategies to 
the Policy Framework as it sees fit from time to time. 

 
(c) Budget. The Budget includes the allocation of financial 

Page 201



May2018 
Articles 

As amended Feb2019 

Part 2 / Page 10 of 
37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

resources to different services and projects, proposed 
contingency funds, setting the Council Tax and decisions 
relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, 

the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement 
limits. 

 

(d) Housing Land Transfers. To authorise applications under 
Section 135 of the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban 
Development Act 1993 to the Secretary of State to include a 
qualifying disposal in the disposals programme or to dispose of 
land under Section 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985 where the 
specific consent of the Secretary of State is required. 

 
4.3 Full Council Meetings 

 
There are four types of Full Council meetings: 

 
(a) the Annual Meeting; 

(b) Ordinary Meetings; 

(c) Extraordinary Meetings; and 

(d) Special Meetings. 
 

These meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Council 
Procedure Rules in Part 4A of this Constitution. 

 
 
4.4 Responsibility for Functions 

 
The Council has set out in Part 3 of this Constitution the responsibilities 
for the Council’s functions, which are not the responsibility of the 
Mayorand Cabinet. 

Page 202



LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

Appendix to Article 4.02 

 
Policy Framework. 

1. Equality Strategy; 
 

2. Health and Well Being Strategy; 
 
 

3. Community Safety Strategy; 
 

4. Children and Young Persons Plan; 
 

5. Initial Local Implementation (Transport) Plan; 
 

6. Annual Council Budget 
 

7. Licensing Statement; 
 

8. Gambling Strategy; 
 

9. The Corporate Plan; 
 

10. The plans and strategies for planning, development and conservation in 
the Borough comprising the Croydon Plan and other approved and 
adopted development plan documents and supplementary planning 
documents which make up the Local Development Framework for 
Croydon; 

 
11. Plans, Policies and Strategies which together make up the Housing 

Strategy; 

 
12. Youth Justice Plan. 

 

13. The Making or revising of a Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
 
 

May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 9 of 37 

Page 203



LEGAL\53595429v1 

14. Exercise of the power to determine further discounts for certain 
dwellings and set higher amount of council tax in respect of long term 
empty dwellings under sections 11A and 11B of the LGFA 1992, as 
amended 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Articles 
May 2018 

Part 2 / Page 10 of 37 

Page 204



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 13 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 5 Chair of the Council/ The Civic Mayor 

 

5.1 Role and functions of the Chair of the Council 
 

The Chair of the Council shall be elected by the Council annually and 
shall be entitled, on appropriate ceremonial occasions, to bear the title 
of Civic Mayor.  They shall have the following roles and functions: 

(a) The Civic Mayor shall be the ceremonial representative of the 
Council, taking precedence at civic events. 

(b) The Chair of the Council, or in their absence the Deputy 
Chair, shall chair meetings of the Full Council and in this 
connection, shall exercise all the powers and duties described 
in the Council Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 

The Chair of the Council shall have the following responsibilities: 

(c) to uphold and promote the purpose of the Constitution and to 
interpret it when necessary; 

(d) to preside over meetings of the Full Council so that its business 
can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Councillors and the interests of the community; 

(e) to ensure that the Full Council meeting is a forum for the debate 
of matters of concern to the local community and, subject to the 
arrangements for Scrutiny and Overview set out at Article 6, the 
place at which Members who are not Members of the Cabinet or 
a Committee Chair are able to hold the Leader and Cabinet and 
Committee Chairs to account; 

(f) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; and 

(g) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as are appropriate. 
 
5.2 Continuing Membership in Council Election Year 

 

In a year when the term of office of the Chair of the Council spans full 
Council elections the Chair shall, unless they resign or become 
disqualified, continue in office and remain as a Member of the Council 
until their successor becomes entitled to act as Chair of the Council 
notwithstanding that they do not seek or achieve re-election as a 
Councillor. 

 
In a year when the term of office of the Deputy Chair of Council spans full 
Council elections the Deputy Chair of Council shall, unless they resign or 

Page 205



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 14 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

becomes disqualified, continue in office until their successor becomes 
entitled to act as Deputy Chair, but shall not remain as a Member of 
the Council unless they achieve re-election as a Councillor. 

 

5.3 Voting Rights at the Annual Council Meeting 
 

(a) If the person presiding at the Annual Meeting of the Council would 
have ceased to be a Member of the Council but for the provision at 
5.02 above, they shall not be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting 
except in accordance with (b) below. 

 
(b) In the case of an equality of votes, the person presiding at the 

meeting shall give a casting vote in addition to any other vote 
they may have. 

Page 206



LEGAL\53595429v1 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 6 Scrutiny and Overview 

 
6.1 Terms of reference 

 

The Council shall appoint a Scrutiny and Overview Committee to discharge 
the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, any 
Regulations made under Section 32 of that Act, the Health and Social Care 
Act 2001, the Local Government Act 2003, the Police and Justice Act 2006, 
National Health Service Act 2006, the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, the Localism Act 2011 and the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and any other subsequent legislation. Without prejudice 
to this legislation, the terms of reference of the Committee are as set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
6.2 General Role 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee may: 

(a) review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 
discharge of any of the Executive’s or Council’s functions; 

 
(b) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation  to its policy 

objectives, community needs and particular service areas; 
 

(c) in accordance with statute and statutory regulations, review and scrutinise 
the work of partner agencies, partnership boards and any other body 
providing services to the public; 

 
(d) question members of the Cabinet, Committee Chairs, Council Officers and 

representatives of partner agencies, partnership boards and any other body 
providing public services about decisions and performance, whether generally 
in comparison of service plans and targets over a period of  time, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

 
(e) hold enquiries and investigate the available options for future direction in 

policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them 
in this process.  They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold 
public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they 
reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations; 

 

(f) make reports or recommendations on matters affecting the area or its 
inhabitants; 

 
(g) question and gather evidence from any other person and conduct research 

and consultation in the analysis of policy issues and possible options; 

(h) make reports and recommendations to the Full Council, the Executive or 
relevant non-executive Committee, partner agency or Partnership Board in 
connection with the discharge of any functions; Page 207



LEGAL\53595429v1 

(i) discharge the functions relating to petitions as set out elsewhere in this 
Constitution; 

 

(i) receive and discharge the Council’s functions in relation to Health Watch 
referrals and Councillor Call for Action; 

 
(k) recommend that a key decision made by the Executive but not yet 

implemented be reconsidered by the Executive; 
 
(l) appoint such Sub-Committees as may be required in order to discharge the 

Scrutiny and Overview role and shall allocate areas of responsibility to 
each Sub-Committee, determine the terms of reference of the Sub-
Committees when they are established, appoint the members to the Sub-
Committee, including any co-optees and co- ordinate the work 
programmes of the Sub Committees; 

 
(m) receive the reports and recommendations of its Sub- Committees; 
 
(n) report annually to the Council on its work; 
 
(o) Establish or join Joint Scrutiny Committees in partnership with any other 

authority to scrutinise Executive decisions taken by Joint Committees 
established in accordance with Article 11 of this Constitution. 

 
6.3 Application to Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees 

 
Article 6.2 shall apply to any Sub-Committees appointed by the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee acting within their respective delegations with the following 
exceptions: 

 

 Any Scrutiny and Overview Sub-Committees established shall not be 
permitted to appoint further members or co-optees onto the Sub- 
Committee. 

 With the exception of reports and recommendations from the Children &  
Young People Scrutiny Sub- Committee, Health & Social Care Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee and Streets Environment and Homes Scrutiny Sub 
Committee, any reports and recommendations from the Sub- 
Committees established by Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall, in 
the first instance, be considered by the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee, and Scrutiny and Overview Committee may thereafter take 
any of the actions specified in 6.2 

 
If, however, the Council’s Health Scrutiny functions have been delegated to a 
Sub-Committee, any referrals from the Health Watch shall be considered by 
that Sub-Committee alone. 

Page 208



LEGAL\53595429v1 

6.4 Proceedings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and 
its Sub Committees 

 
The Committee and Sub Committees shall conduct their proceedings in 
accordance with the Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 209



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 18 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 7 Executive Arrangements 

 
7.1 Role 

 

Section 10 of the Local Government Act 2000 defined executive 
arrangements as arrangements by a Council for and in connection with 
the creation and operation of an Executive.  The Executive is made up of 
the Elected Mayor and between 2 and 9 other Councillors, one of whom 
is appointed as the Deputy Mayor.  The Executive carry out all of the 
Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Authority, whether by law or under the Constitution.  The term 
‘Executive’ may refer to the Executive meeting as a whole (see 
‘Cabinet’), any Sub-Committee of the Executive, or a single member of 
the Executive, or an officer to the extent that any of these is responsible 
for the exercise of a particular executive function by delegation. 

 
7.2 Form and composition of Cabinet 

 

The Cabinet shall consist of between 2 and 9 Members of the Full Council 
appointed by the Mayor,  one of whom shall be the Statutory Deputy 
Mayor. 

 
7.3  Elected Mayor 

 

1. The Elected Mayor (‘the Mayor’) is elected by the voting public of 
Croydon for a 4 year term and is responsible for all of the Council’s 
Executive functions. 

 
 
7.4 Cabinet Committees 

 
The Mayor may establish one or more Cabinet Committees to exercise 
specified delegated executive functions. 

 
7.5 Deputies to Cabinet Members 

 
The Mayor may appoint one or more Members as Deputies to advise a 
Cabinet Member or Members on particular areas within their portfolio(s). 
Any such Deputies are not Executive Members and may not exercise the 
powers of the Executive or vote on any matter for decision at a Cabinet or 
Cabinet Committee meeting. The areas of responsibility of any Deputies 
appointed shall be determined and may be varied by the Mayor of the 
Council. 

 
7.6 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

Page 210



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 19 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

 
Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the 
Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 

BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 8 Non-Executive Committees 

 

8.1 Non-Executive Committees 
 

The Council has established Committees in order to discharge its functions 
and has determined to appoint the Committees named below. Rules of 
Procedure for these Committees are set out in the Non- Executive 
Committee Procedure Rules contained in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

Committee Membership 

Appointments and 
Disciplinary 
Committee
  
 

6 Members  

Appeals Committee 5 Members  

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

10 Members including 1 independent Chair (non-
voting co-optee) and 1 independent non-voting co-
optee 

Ethics Committee 6 Members + 2 independent non- voting co-optees 

General Purposes 
Committee 

8 Members  

General Purposes 
Urgency Sub Committee 

3 Members drawn from the membership of the 
General Purposes Committee  

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

5 Majority Group Members (voting)- such members 
to include the Cabinet Member for Families Health 
and Social Care and the Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People and Learning 
2 Minority Group Members (voting)  
Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health (non-
voting) 
Director of Public Health (non-voting) 
CCG Representative (voting) 
Croydon Health Services NHS Trust Chair (non-
voting) 
Healthwatch (Croydon) Representative (voting) 
South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust 
Representative (non-voting) 
Croydon Voluntary Action Representative (non-

Page 211



LEGAL\53595429v1 

Committee Membership 

voting) 

Licensing Committee 12 voting members (+ pool of 10 reserve Members) 

   Licensing Sub-
Committee  
   (ad hoc) 

3 voting members drawn from Membership of 
Licensing Committee 

Mayoralty & Honorary 
Freedom Selection Sub-
Committee 

5 Members 

Pension Board Independent non-voting Chair and 3 Employer 
representatives (one to be a Councillor) & 3 
Employee representatives 

Pension Committee 8 Members + 1 voting co-optee and 2 non voting co-
optees 

Planning Committee 10 Members 

   Planning Sub-Committee 5 Members drawn from the membership of the 
Planning Committee 

Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee 

6 Members + 1 non-voting co-optee in respect of 
crime & disorder matters 

   Children & Young People  
   Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

8 Members + 4 voting and 1 non-voting co-optees 

   Health & Social Care 
Scrutiny 
   Sub-Committee 

6 Members + 1 non-voting co-optee from 
Healthwatch (Croydon) 

   Streets Environment and  
   Homes Scrutiny Sub-
Committee 

7 Members 

 

8.2 Delegations 
 

 

The Council delegations to the above Committees are as set out in 
Responsibility for Functions contained in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 212



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 20 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 9 The Ethics Committee 

 
9.1 Ethics Committee 

 
The Council has established an Ethics Committee. 

 
9.2 Composition 

 
(a) The Ethics Committee shall be composed of five Members 

(none of whom shall be the Mayor, Civic Mayor or their 
deputies). 

 
(b) No Cabinet Member appointed to the Committee shall be eligible 

to Chair meetings of the Ethics Committee. 
 

(c )  Appointed ”Independent Persons” shall be entitled to attend and 
may vote at meetings of the Ethics Committee, where the 
committee is dealing with a specific allegation against a 
Member. 

 
9.3 Role and Function 

 
The roles and functions of the Ethics Committee are set out in 
Responsibility for Functions contained in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 213



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 21 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 10 Community Governance 

 
The Council may, at its discretion, create, facilitate or participate in 
neighbourhood partnerships, area forums, area committees, focus groups and 
service or user based consultative groups as part of its community leadership 
role and in order to aid transparent and accountable decision-making. If 
invited to do so, the Council may appoint representatives to serve on existing 
(and any subsequently established) community forums/partnerships. 

Page 214



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 22 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 11 Joint Arrangements 

 
11.1 Arrangements to promote well-being 

 
The Council or the Mayor may: 

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

(b) co-operate with or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any 
person or body; and 

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that 
person or body. 

 
11.2 Joint Arrangements 

 
(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more 

local authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions 
which are not executive functions in any of the participating 
authorities, or advise the Council. Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other 
local authorities. 

(b) The Mayor may establish joint arrangements with one or more 
local authorities to exercise functions which are executive 
functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of 
joint committees with these other local authorities. 

(c) Except as set out below, the Mayor may only appoint Cabinet 
Members to a joint committee and those Members need not 
reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole. 

(d) The Mayor may appoint Members who are not Cabinet 
Members to a joint committee in the following circumstances: 

Where the joint committee has functions for only part of the 
Borough, and that part is smaller than two-fifths of the Authority 
by area or population. In such cases, the Mayor may appoint to 
the joint committee any Member for a Ward, which is wholly or 
partly contained within the area concerned. 

(e) The Council or the Mayor have established Joint Committees 
with terms of reference which are set out in Schedule 1 to this 
Article. 

Page 215



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 23 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

11.3 Access to Information 
 

(a) The Access to Information Rules set out in Part 4B of this 
Constitution shall apply to any joint committees established 
under paragraph 11.02 above unless the Constitution of the joint 
committee specifies alternative Access to Information Rules. 

(b) If all the members of a joint committee are Executive Members 
in each of the participating authorities, then its access to 
information regime is the same as that applied under the 
Executive Procedure Rules. 

(c) If the joint committee contains Members who are not on the 
executive of any participating authority then the access to 
information rules in Part VI of the Local Government Act 1972 
shall apply. 

 
11.4 Delegation to and from other local authorities 

 
(a) The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another 

local authority. 

(b) The Mayor may delegate executive functions to the executive of 
another local authority in certain circumstances. 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 
another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting. 

 
11.5 Contracting Out 

 
Any contracting out arrangements which are subject to an order under 
section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994 will 
appear at Schedule 2 to this article. 

Page 216



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 24 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

ARTICLE 11 - SCHEDULE 1 
 

The Bandon Hill Cemetery Joint Committee 

 
The provision and management of the Bandon Hill Cemetery with the London 
Borough of Sutton 

 

The Coast to Capital Joint Committee 
 
The Croydon/Lewisham Street Lighting Joint Committee 

 
The joint governance of a street lighting PFI contract. 

 

South London Partnership Joint Committee 
 
The setting and reviewing of objectives for strategic growth, regeneration and 
investment with the London Boroughs of Merton, Sutton and Richmond upon 
Thames and the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames. 

 
South London Waste Partnership Joint Committee 

 
The joint procurement and management of waste disposal contracts with the 
London Boroughs of Merton, Sutton and the Royal Borough of Kingston upon 
Thames. 

 
London Councils 

 

The effective coordination and formulation of policy and discharge of functions 
and any other related Joint Committees acting on behalf of the constituent 
authorities and as set out in the Schedules of the Agreement made under 
sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
The Pensions Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) Sectoral Joint 
Committee 

 
Hosted by London Councils, the joint committee is established under section 
102 of the Local Government Act 1972 with a view to pooling pension 
investments and with functions necessary for the proper functioning of the 
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) Operator(which is the company that 
would manage the ACS), including the effective oversight of the ACS 
Operator. 

Page 217



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 25 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

ARTICLE 11 - SCHEDULE 2 
 

 

None 

Page 218



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 26 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 12 Staff 

 
12.1 Definition 

 
“Staff” includes all persons with a permanent, short term, fixed or temporary 
contract with the Authority. 

 
12.2 Management Structure 

 
(a) General. The Authority may engage such staff as it considers 

necessary to carry out its functions. 
 
 

(b)  Statutory Officers. 
 

The Council is required to appoint a number of officers to 
undertake specific duties by statute. These are known as 
‘Statutory Officers’. In addition, the Council has a number of 
important duties which it designates to certain officers. These are 
called ‘Proper Officer’ roles as defined by section 270(3) of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  

 
The Council has designated in the table below the following 
statutory officer positions to the Chief Executive and Corporate 
Directors of the Council.  

 
In the event of any Officers mentioned below being for any 
reason unable to act or of any of their posts being vacant, the 
Chief Executive or in their absence, the Monitoring Officer, and in 
the absence of both, the Corporate Director Resources, shall 
nominate an Officer to act in their stead. 

 
The Council designates the following posts as shown: 

 
Legislation Designation Post 

Section 4, Local 
Government and Housing 
Act 1989 
 
 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Page 219



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 27 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

Section 5, Local 
Government and Housing 
Act 1989 
 

Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

Section 151 Local 
Government Act 
1972 (and section 
114, Local 
Government 
Finance Act 1988)_ 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Corporate 
Director 
Resources 

Section 6, Local 
Authority Social 
Services Act 1970  

Director of 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Caldicott 
Guardian 

Corporate 
Director Adult 
Social Care 
and Health 

Section 18 Children 
Act 2004 

Director of 

Children’s 

Services and 
Caldicott 
Guardian 

Corporate 
Director 
Children 
Young People 
and Education 

Section 73A 
National Health 
Service Act 2006 as 
amended by 
Section 30, Health 
and Social Care Act 
2012 

Director of 
Public Health 

Director of 
Public Health 

 

Functions of the statutory officers are set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

 

 
 
12.3 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and 

Chief Finance Officer 
 

The Council shall provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer, with such staff, accommodation and other resources as are in 
their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

 
12.4 Conduct 

 

Staff shall comply with the Officer Code of Conduct and the protocol 
on Staff-Councillor Relations as set out in Parts 5J and 5B of this 
Constitution. 

 
12.5 Employment 

 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of staff shall comply with the 

Page 220



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 28 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

Staff Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

Page 221



LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 

BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 13 Decision making 

 
13.1 Responsibility for decision making 

 

The Authority shall issue and keep up to date a record of the body or individual that 
has responsibility on behalf of the Council for particular types of decisions or decisions 
relating to particular areas or functions.  This record is set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

 
13.2 Types of decision 

 
(a) Various levels of decision making provided for under this 

Constitution can be described as follows: 

(i) Non-Executive functions: Council - Committees - Sub- 
Committees - delegations to the Chief Executive. 

(ii) Executive functions: The Mayor, the Cabinet - Cabinet 
Committees - Cabinet Member - delegations to Chief Officers. 

 
Whilst specific functions are reserved to the Full Council by statute a purpose of this 
Constitution is to encourage delegation of decision making to individual officers. 
Where such decisions have been delegated it remains open to the body or person 
making the delegation to call back for their own decision, issues of significance or 
sensitivity and for the decision maker to refer matters upwards for determination. 

 
Except where a decision is taken by the Chief Executive on grounds of urgency, as a 
matter of principle all Key Decisions shall be taken by the Mayor, or Cabinet at a 
meeting of the Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee, or by a Cabinet Member or Chief 
Officer using powers as specifically delegated. 

 
Decisions which the Council is delegating to Committees are identified in Article 8 and 
Part 3, Responsibility for Functions, of this Constitution. 

 

(b) Decisions reserved to the Full Council. Decisions relating to the functions 
listed in Article 4.1 shall be made by the Full Council and not delegated, 
except to the General Purposes Committee or the Chief Executive on 
grounds of urgency and where this is not in conflict with a statutory provision. 

(c) Urgency shall mean a decision that is required where the interests of the 
Council are prejudiced if a decision were not to be taken prior to the next 
scheduled ordinary meeting of the Full Council. Decisions taken under this 
urgency procedure shall be reported to the next Council meeting. Matters 
reserved by statute to the Full Council may not be dealt with under this 
urgency procedure. 

 

(d) Key Decisions: Subject to the provision that a decision taker may only 

take a decision in accordance with the requirements of the Executive 
Procedure Rules and in compliance with the provisions of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out, respectively in Part 4 of this Constitution, 
a Key Decision is an executive decision which is likely to: Page 222



LEGAL\53595429v1 

(i) result in the Council incurring expenditure, or making savings, of more 
than £1,000,000 or such smaller sum which the decision-taker 
considers is significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates; or 

(ii) significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working 
in an area comprising two or more Wards in the Borough. 

 
13.3 Decision making by the Full Council 

 
Subject to article 13.8, the Council meeting shall follow the Council Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

13.4 Decision making by the Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Subject to article 13.8, the Mayor and Cabinet shall follow the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any 
matter. No executive decision or Key Decision shall be taken in private unless it 
complies with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
13.5 Decision Making by Officers 

 
Subject to article 13.8, Officers shall follow the Decision Making Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

13.6 Decision making by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 

The Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its sub committees shall follow the 
Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules set out in Part 4E of this Constitution 
when considering any matter. 

 
13.7 Decision making by other Committees and Sub Committees 

established by the Council 
 

Subject to article 13.8 and 13.9, other Council Committees and Sub- 
Committees shall follow the Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
13.8 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 

 
The Authority or Members acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner in 
respect of any person shall follow a proper procedure which accords with the 
requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair hearing contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights 

 
13.9 Decision making by Health and Wellbeing Board 

The Authority has established a Health and Wellbeing Board with functions 
and terms of reference as set out in Part 4L. The Health and Wellbeing Board 

Page 223



LEGAL\53595429v1 

is, save for the following exceptions, to be treated as a Council Committee 
and subject to the Non-Executive Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. The exceptions are: 
13.9.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not permitted to establish or 

delegate functions to a Sub-Committee 
13.9.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not permitted to appoint 

additional members or co-opt members onto the Board 
13.9.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board is not subject to the Rules on 

proportionality or the duty to allocate seats under the provisions 
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

13.9.4 All Board members who are also elected Members of the 
authority, and all statutory members of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, except the Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health 
and the Director of Public Health, shall be voting members of 
the Board. Any non- statutory members of the Board shall be 
non-voting members. 

13.9.5 The Health and Wellbeing Board may only perform those 
functions specifically assigned to it by statute or delegated by this 
Constitution 

13.9.6 Health and Wellbeing board is not permitted to undertake Health 
Scrutiny functions. 
 

 
13.10 Requirements for decision-making 

 
Requirements for decision-making are set out in the Protocol for Decision 
Making at Part 5A of this Constitution. 

 
  

Page 224



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 33 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

ARTICLE 14 Finance, contracts and legal matters 

14.1 Financial management 
 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs shall be conducted in 
accordance with the Financial Regulations set out in Part 4H of this 
Constitution. 

 
14.2 Contracts 

 
Every contract which falls within the remit of the Council’s Tenders and 
Contracts Regulations must comply with the provisions of those 
Regulations, as set out in Part 4I of this Constitution. 

 
14.3 Legal proceedings 

 
The Director of Legal Services is authorised to institute, defend or 
participate in any proceedings or to settle claims where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Authority, protect the 
interests of the Authority, the Borough or some or all of its citizens. 
Only the Director of Legal Services may authorise the engagement of 
a lawyer to act for the Council. 

 
14.4 Authentication of documents 

 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Authority, or to give effect to any decision 
of the Authority, it shall be signed by the Director of Legal Services, or 
other person authorised by the Director of Legal Services (including 
by electronic means). 

 

The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Director of Legal Services. A decision of the Council, or 
any part of it, shall be sufficient authority for sealing any document 
necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal shall be 
affixed to those documents (including by electronic means)which in the 
opinion of the Director of Legal Services should be sealed. The affixing 
of the Common Seal shall be attested by the Director of Legal 
Services, a Deputy Director of Legal Services or some other person 
so authorised by the Director of Legal Services. Where the affixing of 
the Common Seal follows a decision of the Council it may instead be 
attested by the Mayor and Chief Executive. 

Page 225



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 34 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 15 Review and revision of the Constitution 

 
15.1 Duty to monitor the Constitution 

 
The Council shall monitor and review the operation of the Constitution 
to ensure the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full 
effect. 

 
15.2 Changes to the Constitution 

 
(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below, changes to this Constitution 

shall only be approved by the Full Council after consideration of 
written proposals made by the Mayor, Cabinet, General 
Purposes Committee or Monitoring Officer and the submission 
of a recommendation to a meeting of the Council. Changes 
approved by the Council shall take effect from the conclusion 
of the meeting at which those changes are agreed unless the 
recommendation specifies otherwise. 

 
(b) Unless the change relates only to the operation of Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee or Sub-Committees, any resolution of the 
Full Council to approve a change will have no effect without the 
written consent of the Mayor. 

 
(c) Provision exists within the remit of the General Purposes 

Committee to approve changes on the grounds of urgency. The 
Mayor and certain Council Committees are also authorised to 
make changes to certain matters included in the Constitution, for 
example the establishment of sub-committees, as indicated 
in the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer is authorised, after 
consultation with the Mayor or Committee Chair, to make any 
necessary amendments to the Constitution consequent on 
legislation or a decision of the Council, the Mayor, the Cabinet 
or a Committee. 

 
(d)  The Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer may agree 

changes to the Council’s Financial Regulations in consultation 
with the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer. 

 

(e) The Monitoring Officer shall be empowered to make any changes 
to the Constitution which arise as a result of legislative changes 
and any changes necessitated by administrative convenience. 

 
(f) The Head of Paid Service is empowered to make any changes 

Page 226



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 35 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

to the job titles and/or descriptions of Officers within the 
Constitution as necessitated by changes to these 
titles/descriptions. 

Page 227



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 36 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
ARTICLE 16 Suspension, interpretation and publication of 

the Constitution 

 
16.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

 
(a) Limit to Suspension. The articles of this Constitution may not be 

suspended. The Rules specified below may be suspended by 
the Full Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and 
the law: 

 
Council Procedure Rules (Part 4A of this Constitution) 

 

(b) Procedure to Suspend. A motion to suspend Council Procedure 
Rules shall not be moved without notice unless at least one half 
of the total number of Members are present. 

 

16.2 Interpretation 
 

The ruling of the Chair of the Council as to the construction or 
application of the Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council 
shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such 
interpretation shall have regard to the purposes of this Constitution 
contained in Article 1. 

 
The Council may agree protocols to give guidance on the detailed 
operation of any part of the Constitution. In addition the following 
bodies may agree protocols in respect of the matters shown: 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee – Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee/Sub-Committee Protocols. 

 
General Purposes Committee – Protocols relating to the 
exercise of non-executive functions delegated to the 
Committee. 

 
The Planning Committee and Planning Sub-Committee – 
Protocols relating to participation at meetings of the Committee, 
the conduct of Members in relation to planning matters and other 
aspects of the operation of the Committee. 

 
The Licensing Committee – Protocols relating to the licensing 
function and the conduct of hearings under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005. 

Page 228



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 37 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

Any protocol agreed under this Article shall be fully in accordance with 
the Articles of the Constitution and shall be included at Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

 

16.3 Publication 
 

(a) The Monitoring Officer may give a copy of this Constitution to 
every Member at an appropriate time. 

 
(b) The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that copies of this 

Constitution are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill 
House, Council Libraries and any other appropriate locations 
and can be purchased by members of the local press and the 
public on payment of a reasonable fee. The Constitution shall 
also be published on the Council’s website. 

Page 229



May2018 

Articles Part 2 / Page 38 of 37 

 
LEGAL\53595429v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
SCHEDULE 1 Description of Executive Arrangements 

 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute Executive Arrangements 
under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended: 

 

1 Article 6 Scrutiny and Overview 
2 Article 7 The Mayor and Cabinet 
3 Article 10 Community Governance 
4 Article 11 Joint Arrangements; 
5 Article 13 Decision Making 
6 Part 3 Responsibility for Functions. 
7 Part 4B Access to Information Procedure Rules; 
8 Part 4D Executive Procedure Rules; and 
9 Part 4E Scrutiny & Overview Procedure Rules 

 

Page 230



1  

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
PART 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 
Local Authority Functions are split between Executive Functions which are the 
responsibility of the Mayor and Executive and then Non-Executive Functions which are 
the responsibility of Council and its Committees. These functions derive from specific 
legislation and cannot be the responsibility of the Executive. The Council is required to 
set out where there are delegations of Council functions to Committees and officers.  
 
This part of the Constitution sets out which parts of the Council are responsible for 
carrying out particular functions. Functions fall into three categories:  

 
i) Council functions (sometimes referred to as non-executive functions). These 

functions may be exercised by the Council itself or by a Committee, Sub-Committee 
or officer. Where a matter is delegated to a Committee or Sub-Committee, it will be 
set out in the Terms of Reference for that Committee/Sub-Committee in section 2 
below.  

 
ii) Executive functions. The Mayor may decide to arrange for these functions to be 

delegated to the Executive (Mayor and Cabinet), a Committee of the Executive, a 
single Executive (Lead) Member or an officer.  

 

iii) Local choice functions. These are functions which the Council can choose to 
discharge either through a Committee/Sub-Committee or the Executive. They may 
also be delegated to officers.  Where the Council discharges local choice functions 
these must comply with all relevant local acts connected to the London Borough of 
Croydon. 

 
 

1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 
 
The Council has determined that all local choice functions (set out in the table below) 
contained in Schedules 2 of The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
Regulations (to be known as the Functions Regulations) except approval of non- 
executive contracts, are to be Executive functions.   
 

Function 

The determination of any appeals against any decision of the Council 
 

The appointment of review boards under regulations made under Section 34(4) 
Social Security Act 1998 (determination of claims and reviews) 
 

Making arrangements for appeals against exclusions of pupils from maintained 
schools 
 

Making arrangements for admissions appeals under Section 94(1) (1A) and (4) 
School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

Page 231



2  

 

Making arrangements for appeals by governing bodies under Section 95(2) School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998 in respect of children who have been excluded 
from 2 or more schools 
 

Functions relating to contaminated land 
 

Functions relating to the control of pollution or the management of air quality 
 

The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory nuisance (Section 80 
Environmental Protection Act 1990) 
 

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 
1993 should apply in the area 
 

The inspection of the area to detect any statutory nuisance (Section 79 
Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

Investigation of complaints relating to existence of statutory nuisance 
 

Obtaining information under Section 330 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to 
interests in land 
 

Obtaining particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 

Making agreements for the execution of highways works 
 

Appointments to any office (save employment with the Council) and to any body (or 
committee or sub committee of such a body) save the Council itself or a joint 
committee of two or more authorities and the revocation of any such appointment 
 

It will be the responsibility of the Executive to make the following appointments:-  
 
Local Government Association;  
 
London Councils and all its subsidiary bodies;  
 
One Croydon Alliance 
 
The Place Committee (sub-committee of South West London Integrated Care Board) 
 
and any other bodies, which in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, are of a similar 
nature.  The making of all other appointments will be a non-executive responsibility. 
 

The making of agreements with other local authorities for the placing of staff at the 
disposal of those other authorities 
 

 
2 RESPONSIBILITY FOR COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 

 
The Council has delegated the responsibilities and functions to the Committees and Sub- 

Page 232



3  

Committees named below. These Committees may consider and decide any matter of 
relevant non-executive business referred to the Committee by a Sub-Committee, the Chief 
Executive or a Corporate Director. 

 
All Committees have power to create such Sub-Committees as are necessary for the 
efficient conduct of their business. 

 
2.1 Appointments and Disciplinary Committee (Membership 6.) 

1. To carry out interviews and recommend to Council appointments to the 
roles of Corporate Directors and the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
and to such other senior posts in accordance with the Staff Employment 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution 

 
2. To carry out interviews and recommend to Council appointments in respect of 

the Independent Chair of Audit and Governance Committee  
 

 
The function in respect of voting on salary packages upon appointment  

3. Consideration of disciplinary action, as defined within the Staff Employment 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, which could result in dismissal 
and any action short of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief 
Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer. For this purpose, the 
Appointments Committee shall include at least one Member of the 
Executive when consideration is being given to dismissal of the Head of 
Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer. The 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee shall consider the matter in 
accordance with the processes and procedures approved by Ethics 
Committee for this purpose from time to time.  Where Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee recommends dismissal it shall make a report and 
recommendations to full Council for consideration and final determination.  
Any such report shall   
specifically include the Committee’s recommendations on appropriate action 
and the views of the Independent Panel. 

 
4. Consideration of Suspension of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance 

Officer or Monitoring Officer, including following provisional suspension in 
accordance with the Staff Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution; 

 
 
2.2 Appeals Committee 

(Membership 5: Members who shall not be members of Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee but must include at least one member of the Executive). 

 
Purpose  
1. To hear appeals against any action short of dismissal taken by the 

Appointments and Disciplinary Committee against the Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer. 

 
2.3 Audit and Governance Committee 

(Membership 7 including independent, suitably qualified Chair who may not be a 

Page 233



4  

Member or officer of the Council and one independent, suitably qualified co-optee) 
  
 Purpose 

The Audit and Governance Committee provides an independent and high level focus 
on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance 
and financial standards.  The Committee’s purpose is to: 

 
1. provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy of the risk 

management framework and the internal control environment; 
 
2. oversee internal and external audit, helping to ensure that efficient and 

effective assurance arrangements are in place; 
 
3. provide independent review of the Council’s governance, risk management 

and control frameworks  
 
4. oversee the financial reporting and annual governance processes and 
 
5. provide independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial 

performance to the extent that it affects the Council’s exposure to risk and 
weakens the control environment. 

 
Governance, risk and control  
1. To monitor the effective development and operation of the Council’s risk 

management arrangements, the control environment and associated anti-
fraud, whistleblowing and anti-corruption, strategies, actions and resources. 
To consider a quarterly report on whistleblowing activity in the Council. 

 
2. To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 

committee.  To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and 
monitor the implementation of agreed actions. 

 
3. To consider the Council’s framework of assurance, including the Statement on 

Internal Control, and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks and 
priorities of the Council. To review the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements against the good governance framework and consider the local 
code of governance.  To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to 
approval and consider whether it properly reflects the risk environment and 
supporting assurances. 

 
4. To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations.  To ensure appropriate arrangements are in 
place in relation to any subsidiary bodies controlled by the Council. 

 
6. To consider the effectiveness of the Council’s policies, standards and 

processes for transparency, ensuring that they meet Government 
requirements and take into account best practice.   

 
7. To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 

assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 

Page 234



5  

8. To approve the internal audit charter. 
 
Internal audit 
9. To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers 

of internal audit services and to make recommendations.  To consider any 
impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional roles or 
responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the head of internal audit.  To 
periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments. 

 
10. To review (but not direct) internal audit’s risk-based strategy, plan and 

resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and 
any work required to place reliance on those other sources.  To approve 
significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and resource 
requirements.   

 
11. To review summary internal audit reports and the main issues arising and 

seek assurance that action has been taken where necessary.  To receive 
reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit has 
concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the 
implementation of agreed actions. 

 
12. To receive the annual report of the Head of Internal Audit and make 

recommendations as appropriate to management, Cabinet and/or Full 
Council.  To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit’s 
performance during the year, including the performance of external providers 
of internal audit services and make recommendations as appropriate to 
management, Cabinet and/or Full Council. 

 
13. To advise and recommend on effective relationships between external and 

internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies, and that the 
value of the audit process is actively promoted. 

 
14. To contribute to the Quality Assurance Improvement Programme and in 

particular to the external quality assessment of internal audit. 
 
15. To provide free and unfettered access to the Committee Chair for the head of 

internal audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the 
Committee. 

 
External audit 
16. To consider the external auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and 

review any issues raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. 
 
17. To make recommendations to Council relating to the appointment of the 

external auditor. 
 
18. To consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies and make 

recommendations as appropriate to management, Cabinet and/or Full 
Council.  To review the external auditor’s opinion and reports to Members, 
and monitor management action in response to the issues raised by external 

Page 235



6  

audit. 
 
19. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and ensure it 

gives value for money. 
 
Financial reporting 
20. To review the annual statement of accounts and specifically to consider 

whether appropriate accounting policies and the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code have been followed, and whether there are concerns 
arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought 
to the attention of the Council. 

 
Accountability and escalation 
21. To report to the full Council on the Committee’s findings, conclusions and 

recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
governance, risk management and internal control frameworks, financial 
reporting arrangements and internal and external audit functions. 

 
22. To make an annual report to the full Council on the Committee’s performance 

in relation to its terms of reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose. 

 
2.4 Ethics Committee (Membership 6 + 2 Independent non-voting co-optees) 
 

1. Supporting the statutory role of the Monitoring Officer as set out in Article 12 of 
the Constitution, including the promotion of high standards of Member 
conduct. 

 
2. Receiving reports from the Monitoring Officer on matters of probity and 

ethics, and to consider and recommend any necessary revisions of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct (the Code) to the Council. 

 
3. Reviewing the operation of the Code and recommending revisions for the 

consideration of full Council as necessary. 
 

4. Monitoring compliance with the Code and granting any dispensations church 
and parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests 
set out in the Code. 

 
5. Commenting on the content of guidance and advice to be issued to elected 

and non-elected Members. 
 

6. Considering reports and recommendations from the Member Development 
Panel in relation to training for elected and co-opted Members. 

 
7. Agreeing programmes of advice and training for elected, co-opted and non- 

elected Members on ethics and probity, and on the Code. 
 

8. To consider applications for a grant of dispensation in the following 
circumstances: 

 

Page 236



7  

a) That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter 
the outcome of any vote on the matter. 

b) That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the authority’s area. 

c) That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation. 

d) If referred to them for consideration by the Monitoring Officer, to advise on 
or express a view on whether a dispensation would be appropriate in 
either of the following circumstances: 

i. That so many Members of the decision-making body have disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs), Other Registrable Interests (ORIs) or Non-
Registrable Interests (NRIs) in a matter that it would impede the 
transaction of the business; or 

ii. That, without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would be able to 
participate on this matter. 

 
9. To agree the processes and procedures for the Appointments and 

Disciplinary Committee for the consideration of disciplinary action and 
suspension pursuant to Part 4J of the Constitution. 

 
10. To make future invitations for appointment of Independent Persons in 

accordance with and for the purposes of the Staff Procedure Rules. 
 

11. To undertake the role of Hearings Panel in respect of a complaint that a 
Member or co-opted Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
upon the matter being referred to the Committee by the Monitoring Officer in 
accordance with the arrangements adopted by the Council under the 
Localism Act 2011. 

 
2.5 General Purposes Committee 

(Membership 8) 
 

1. Periodic review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances and approval of 
arrangements in respect of the scheme to reimburse costs incurred for 
childcare/dependent relative care, travel and subsistence whilst a Member is 
on Council business. 

 
12. Appointments to outside bodies, subsequent to the Annual Council Meeting. 

[Note: The Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the Chair of the 
General Purposes Committee or (in respect of Executive appointments) the 
Mayor, may also make appointments to outside bodies as necessary during 
the year.] 

 
3 Consideration of changes to the Constitution recommended by the 

Constitution Working Group, except for the allocation of responsibilities by the 
Mayor, and referral of any proposals to full Council for approval.  Periodic 
review of the Constitution. 
 

4 The Authority’s Consultation requirements with the staff side. 
 

Page 237



8  

5 Consideration and recommendation to Full Council of the Pay Policy 
Statement as required. 

 
6 The function in respect of voting on severance packages of staff above such 

specified threshold as may, from time to time, be updated by statutory 
guidance. 

 
7 The function of deciding, in respect of severance packages, whether the 

Council wishes to vote on a severance package above the specified 
threshold. 

 
8 Any matter not reserved to the Council or delegated to another Committee 

which pertains to a staffing matter and is referred to the Committee by the 
Head of Paid Service for consideration. 

 
9. Receive reports relating to the Council’s use of powers under the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 
 
10. Any matter not reserved to the Council or delegated to another Committee 

and related to a non-executive function. 
 

11. Any matter reserved to the Council and a non-executive function, or a matter 
reserved to a non-executive committee or sub-committee of the Council 
which requires, in the Committee's view or on the recommendation of the 
Mayor, the Chief Executive or a Corporate Director, action as a matter of 
urgency. 

 
12. Any protocol concerning the exercise of relevant delegated powers of the 

Committee. 
 

 
General Purposes Urgency Sub-Committee 
(Membership of 3 drawn from the Membership of the General Purposes 
Committee and constituted as and when necessary by the Monitoring 
Officer) 
 
All of the responsibilities and functions of the General Purposes Committee where 
in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer it is necessary for a decision to be taken 
before the next meeting of the Committee. 

 
2.6 Health and Wellbeing Board (Membership: 5 Majority Group Members (voting) 

such members to include the Cabinet Member for Families Health and Social Care 
and the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning , 2 Minority 
Group Members (voting), Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health (non-
voting), Director of Public Health (non-voting), CCG Representative (voting), 
Croydon University Hospital Chair (non-voting), Healthwatch Representative 
(voting), SLAM representative (non-voting), Croydon Voluntary Action 
representative (non-voting). The terms of Reference of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board are set out in Part 4L 

 
2.7 Licensing Committee (Membership 12. A further 10 Members shall form a pool of 

Page 238



9  

reserve Members for the Committee). 
 

1. All licensing, registration and related functions as set out in Schedule 1 of the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 as amended and the Licensing Act 2003 (Note: Applications and other 
matters under the Licensing Act 2003 shall be determined in accordance with 
the schedule of delegations at Annex 3 to the Protocol on Licensing 
Hearings. Responsibility for hearing and determining applications where a 
hearing is required under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 shall be 
delegated to the Licensing Sub- Committee). 

 
2. Matters relating to the adoption or review of the Authority’s Licensing 

Statement prior to final consideration by the Council as part of the policy 
framework. 

 
3. Subject to any matters reserved to the full Council by statute, to exercise all 

functions of the Council as Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 
including the power to set fees under s212 of the Act. (Note: Responsibility 
for hearing and determining applications where a hearing is required under 
the Gambling Act 2005 shall be delegated to the Licensing Sub-Committee). 

 
4. To comment on the three year Statement of Principles in respect of the 

Authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005 prior to its adoption by 
the full Council; and to make recommendations to the full Council on all 
Licensing functions under both the Gambling Act 2005 and the Licensing 
Act 2003 where those functions are reserved to full Council. 

 
5. Health and Safety functions under the relevant statutory provision within the 

meaning of Part 1 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to the 
extent that those functions are discharged otherwise than in the Council’s 
capacity as employer. 

 
6. Registration of births, deaths and marriages. 

 
7. To agree any protocol concerning the exercise of relevant delegated powers. 

 
Licensing Sub-Committee (Membership 3, drawn from the Membership of the 
Licensing Committee and constituted as and when necessary by the Monitoring 
Officer) 

 
Hearing and determining applications when a hearing is required under the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 
Hearings will be conducted in accordance with the requirements of the relevant Act, 
Regulations issued under the Act, and the Council’s agreed Protocol for Licensing 
Hearings. 

 
2.8 Civic Mayoralty and Honorary Freedom Selection -Committee 

(Membership 5) 
 
To make recommendations directly to the Council on the selection of: 

 

Page 239



10  

a) The Civic Mayor; 
 

b) Persons that should be admitted to the Roll of Honorary Aldermen and 
Alderwomen; 

 
c) Persons or organisations that should be granted Freedom of the Borough; 

and 
 

d) Honorary Recorder. 
 
2.9 Pension Board (Membership 1 Independent non-voting Chair, 3 Employer 

representatives (one to be a Councillor) & 3 Employee representatives) 
 

The Pension Board, with an independent non-voting Chair, is formed of three 
employer representatives and three representatives of the Pension Fund. 

 
The Board secures the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
Croydon Council Pension Fund. 

 
2.10 Pension Committee (Membership 8, plus 1 Staff Side non-voting co-opted member 

and 2 Pensioner Side co-opted Members (1 voting co-opted member and one non- 
voting co-opted member). Staff side and Pensioners’ side members are appointed 
on an annual basis following consultation with the Staff side and Pensioners of the 
Pension Fund. Pensioners’ side members are appointed in keeping with the 
outcome of an election by ballot of Pensioners of the Fund, normally for a term of 
four years. Terms of Reference are set out at Part 4N. Functions of the Pensions 
Committee are: 

 
2.10.1 To ensure that the Fund is properly operated in accordance with the 
Local Government Pensions Scheme Regulations (“the Regulations”) all other 
relevant legislation and best practice as advised by the Pensions Regulator, 
including financial, governance and administrative matters. 
 
2.10.2 To adopt Fund specific policies concerning the administration of the 
Fund, investing of Fund monies and the management of the Fund’s solvency level. 
In addition, the Committee is responsible for compliance with all financial and 
regulatory requirements of the Fund. 
 
2.10.3 To discharge its fiduciary responsibility in the best interest of the 
Fund, in particular: 

 
a) To set the investment policy and review the performance of the Fund’s 

investment managers, pooling operators, scheme administration, and 
external advisors; 

b) To make arrangements for the triennial actuarial valuation; 
c) To determine the Pension Administration Strategy; 
d) To approve and monitor compliance of statuary statements and policies 

required under the Regulations; 
e) To approve the Fund’s Statements of Accounts and annual report; 
f) To ensure that the Council discharges its obligation, as administrating 

authority for the local government pension scheme, to other scheme 

Page 240



11  

employers; 
g) To make representations to government as appropriate concerning any 

proposed changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme; and 
h) To keep these terms of reference under review. 

 
2.11 Planning Committee (Membership: 10. A further 10 councillors shall form a pool of 

reserve members for the committee.) 
 

1. To determine applications for planning permission, where the 
recommendation is for approval by the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration, and the development is for: 

 
a) a residential development containing 200 or more new dwellings or, 

where the number of dwellings is not given, the site area is 4 hectares 
or more; or 

b) the erection of a building or buildings with a gross floor space of 10,000 
square metres or more or, where the floorspace is not given, the site 
area is 2 hectares or more. 

 
2. To determine applications for planning permission where the 

recommendation is for approval and the application exceeds the Sub 
Committee thresholds (see 2.10 below) and the development is for: 

 
a) a residential development containing less than 200 new dwellings or, 

where the number of dwellings is not given, the site area is less than 4 
hectares; or 

b) the erection of a building or buildings with a gross floor space of less 
than 10,000 square metres or, where the floor space is not given, the 
site area is 2 hectares or more: 

 
where the Committee Consideration Criteria (part 4K of this Constitution) are 
met. 

 
3. The confirmation of Directions under Article 4 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 – as amended. 
 

4. Any other application or planning matter referred to the Planning Committee 
by the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration acting in his or her 
discretion. 

 
5. Planning Committee will only deal with reserved matters pursuant to outline 

planning permission where the Planning Committee have expressly 
requested (when determining applications for outline planning permission) 
that the subsequent reserved matters should be referred to Planning 
Committee for determination. This request should be included in the minutes 
and specified by way of an informative attached to the outline planning 
permission. 

 
6. Applications for minor material amendments, variations of planning conditions 

and non-material amendments submitted under S.73 and S.96A of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 will be determined by officers under 

Page 241



12  

delegated authority in all instances unless they fall within the remit of 
Planning Sub Committee (see 2.10 below). 

 
7. Where the Planning Committee determines an item on an agenda: 

 
a) In the event of changes being made to an officer recommendation by 

the committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes, in 
accordance with the substantive nature of the committee’s decision, is 
delegated to the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration; 

b) The Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s decision 
(such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning 
obligations or reasons for the decision) prior to the decision being 
actioned, provided that the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration is satisfied that any such changes could not reasonably 
be  regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the decision 
reached by the committee nor that such change(s) could reasonably 
have led to a different decision having been reached by the committee. 

 
8. Meetings of the Planning Committee shall ordinarily conclude by 10pm.  In the event 
that there is remaining business by 9.55pm the Chair shall interrupt the meeting and call for 
a vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall continue for a further 30 minutes.  If 
Members decide that the meeting shall not continue, or if there is remaining business after 
the additional period of 30 minutes, any item on the agenda that has not started to be 
considered by the Committee isdelegated to the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration to determine along the lines set out in the Committee report unless the 
meeting has already voted (on a two thirds majority) to defer or adjourn the non-detemined 
item earlier in the meeting.   
2.12 Planning Sub-Committee (Membership: for each meeting, 5 drawn from the 

membership of the Planning Committee). 
 

1. To determine the following application types where the recommendation is 
for approval: 

 
a) Applications for Planning Permission made under the Town & Country 

Planning Act 1990 for the construction of or a development in relation to 
building(s) with an existing 

b) floorspace of no greater than 500 square or building(s) or extension(s) 
within the curtilage of such qualifying building(s); 

c) Applications for planning permission made under the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 for development providing up to 5 units of residential 
accommodation; 

d) Applications for listed building consent made under the Planning and 
Conservation Areas Act 1990; 

e) Variations of planning conditions (covering issues such as variations in 
hours of use or other related changes in how a use operates pursuant 
to previous grants of planning permission) 

 
where the Committee Consideration Criteria (part 4K of this Constitution) 
are met. 

 

Page 242



13  

2. All applications submitted pursuant to the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order, applications for advertisement 
consent, minor material amendments and non-material amendments 
submitted under S.73 and 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, applications to discharge planning conditions and 
notwithstanding the above, minor extensions and alterations (including 
boundaries and rear outbuildings) involving less than 20 square metres 
of additional internal accommodation (gross internal) will be determined 
by officers under delegated authority in all instances 

 
3. Any other application or planning matter referred to the Planning Sub- 

Committee by the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration acting in 
his or her discretion. 

 
4. The Planning Sub-Committee may refer agenda items to Planning 

Committee for consideration and determination if they consider it necessary 
or appropriate to do so. 

 
5. Where the Planning Sub-Committee determine an item on an agenda: 

 
a) In the event of changes being made to an officer recommendation by 

the committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes in 
accordance with the substantive nature of the committee’s decision, is 
delegated to the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration; 

b) The Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to make changes to the wording of the committee’s decision 
(such as to delete, vary or add conditions, informatives, planning 
obligations or reasons for the decision) prior to the decision being 
actioned, provided that the Director of Planning & Sustainable 
Regeneration is satisfied that any such changes could not 
reasonably be regarded as deviating from the overall principle of the 
decision reached by the committee nor that such change(s) could 
reasonably have led to a different decision having been reached by 
the committee. 

 
6. Meetings of the Planning Sub-Committee shall ordinarily conclude by 10pm.  

In the event that there is remaining business by 9.55pm the Chair shall 
interrupt the meeting and call for a vote of Members present on whether the 
meeting shall continue for a further 30 minutes.  If Members decide that the 
meting shall not continue, or if there is remaining business after the additional 
period of 30 minutes, any item of the agenda that has not started to be 
considered by the Committee is delegated to the Director of Planning & 
Sustainable Regeneration to determine along the lines set out in the 
Committee report. 

 
 
3. RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 
 
3.1 Other than those matters reserved to the Council or delegated to a non- 

executive Committee or to the Chief Executive as a non-executive function, all 
other remaining functions are allocated as executive functions. 

Page 243



14  

 
3.2 The Mayor has power to create Cabinet Committees, agree protocols on matters 

relating to the operation of their remit and, between Annual Meetings of the Council, 
to make nominations to Outside Bodies where Executive Members are required to 
be appointed. 
 

3.3 The Mayor will provide the Monitoring Officer with a list (‘the Executive Scheme of 
Delegation’) setting out who of the following are responsible for particular Executive 
functions: 
 

 Mayor  

 the Mayor and Cabinet collectively; or 

 an individual Cabinet Member; or 

 a committee of the Cabinet; or 

 an officer; or 

 a ward councillor in accordance with Section 236 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007; or 

 through joint arrangements. 
The Mayor may revoke any delegations at any time. 
 

3.4 If the Mayor amends the Executive Scheme of Delegation the Mayor must provide 
the Monitoring Officer with an updated scheme within five working days. 
 

3.5 In the event that the Mayor wishes to delegate executive decision-making powers 
to an individual Cabinet Member or Members; or to a ward councillor in accordance 
with Section 236 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007, they will first need to take advice from the Monitoring Officer as to the 
appropriate rules that will need to be in place to govern the exercise of such powers 
before they are so exercised. 

4. CORPORATE DIRECTORS 
 
4.1. The Council may appoint such officers as it considers appropriate for the discharge 

of its functions. The following posts shall be Corporate Directors for the purposes 
of this Constitution and which form the Corporate Management Team together with 
the Chief Executive and Assistant Chief Executive: 

 
Corporate Director /DCS Children, Young People & Education  
Corporate Director/DASS Adult Social Care & Health  
Corporate Director Sustainable Communities, Regeneration & Economic 
Recovery 
Corporate Director Resources 
Corporate Director Housing 
 
The statutory officers are detailed in Article 12 of this Constitution. 

 
Delegations to the Chief Executive and Corporate Directors 
 

4.2. The Chief Executive has delegated to them all the powers of the Council other than 
those reserved to the Council or to a Non-Executive Committee or Sub- Committee 
or allocated to the Mayor by Statute or this Constitution.  
 

Page 244



15  

4.3 The Chief Executive and the Corporate Directors may exercise any functions of the 
Council or the Executive which have been delegated to any other officer and may 
delegate decisions or functions to one or more officers in any of the Council's 
Directorates, except when prohibited to do so by this Constitution or by law.  
 

4.4 Until the Council decides otherwise the Chief Executive is appointed the Proper 
Officer for the purpose of all statutory provisions, whether existing or future, in 
respect of which no express Proper Officer appointment has, for the time being, 
been made.  

 
4.5 The Corporate and Officer Schemes of Delegation are made under Section 101 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 and all other powers enabling such delegation. 
They delegate all the powers and duties necessary for the discharge of the 
Council’s functions and not specifically reserved to the Mayor or the Mayor and 
Cabinet, the Council or a Committee or Sub-Committee of Council to the Officers. 
The delegations include:  

 

  All functions powers and duties of the Authority, whether under any specific 
legislation identified in the scheme or not.  

 

  All powers incidental to Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 
including the application of the incidental powers under Section 111 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and including management of the human and 
material resources made available for the service areas unless specifically 
reserved to Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council or to the 
Mayor, the Mayor and Cabinet or a Cabinet Sub-Committee.  

4.6 The Corporate and Officer Schemes of Delegations do not delegate:  

 Any matter reserved to the Council by law or by Council’s Constitution.  

 Any matter which is a function which cannot by law be discharged by an officer.  

 Any matter which is specifically excluded from delegation by this Scheme or by 
resolution of Council, a Committee or a Sub-Committee (in the case of a Council 
function), or the Mayor, Mayor in Cabinet or cabinet sub-Committee (in the case 
of an executive function)  

 Any matter where an Officer has declined to exercise delegated powers and 
instead reports to the Mayor, Executive or appropriate Committee. 

 
4.7 This delegation is subject to: 
 

4.7.1 the relevant Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution and such 
protocols as may be approved by a Committee or Sub-Committee from 
time to time and deposited with the Monitoring Officer; 

 
4.7.2 all Policies of the Authority; 
 
4.7.3 any consequent expenditure being included in the Council’s Revenue 

Budget or approved Capital Programme; 
 
4.7.4 the requirements of the Tenders and Contracts and Financial Regulations; 
 
4.7.5 compliance with any legal requirements and the provisions of any 

statutory codes of conduct or statutory guidance; 

Page 245



16  

 
4.7.6 the approval of the Director of Legal Services to the instigation and 

conduct and settlement of legal proceedings and to the engagement of 
any lawyer to act for the Council; 

 
4.7.7 compliance with any legal requirements and the provisions of any 

statutory codes of conduct or statutory guidance; 
 
4.7.8 the approval of the Chief People Officer to the grading and conditions of 

service of staff (other than those based in schools or subject to the 
conditions of service of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C.); 

 
4.7.9 the approval of the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee to the 

grading and conditions of service of staff employed subject to the 
conditions of service of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C. 

 
4.7.10 any instructions given by the Chief Executive.  
 

4.8 Officers exercising delegated powers should also have regard to:  

 any legal advice given by the Director of Legal Services  

 any financial advice given by the Corporate Director Resources.  

 any appropriate technical or other advice given by a suitably qualified 
Council officer.  

 all other parts of this Constitution.  
 

4.9 In exercising any delegated function, the following principles apply:  

 Corporate Directors must ensure that this Scheme is fully implemented, 
monitored, maintained and regularly reviewed and any changes required to 
Directorate Schemes are reported to the Monitoring Officer.  

 Corporate Directors and Directors may further delegate their powers to officers 
within their Directorate or withdraw powers provided that  
 
a) such action is in writing, is subsequently included in the Directorate’s Officer 

Scheme of Delegation and the Monitoring Officer is notified in writing.  
 

b) any such delegation, while being as near to the point of service delivery as 
possible, is only to officers within their Directorate that hold the appropriate 
level of responsibility. 

 
4.10 The Corporate and Directorate Schemes of Delegations will be superseded in any 

case where a Council or Mayoral decision expressly delegates any of the powers in 
this Scheme to a specific officer or officers whether for a single event, decision or 
transaction or permanently.  
 

4.11 Where it is considered that in exercising a delegated power or duty a departure in 
policy, procedure or a significant change in financial practice is likely to be involved, 
the decision maker shall consult with the Director of Legal Services and/or the 
Corporate Director, Resources as appropriate, who shall, if necessary, refer the 
matter to the Mayor, the Mayor in Cabinet or the appropriate Council 
Committee/Sub-Committee.  
 

Page 246



17  

4.12 Where any function is delegated to an officer, that officer may choose not to 
exercise that function and may instead refer a matter to Council, the Mayor, the 
Mayor in Cabinet, a Cabinet Sub-Committee or relevant Council Committee as 
appropriate with the agreement of the appropriate Corporate Director. The criteria 
that officers may have to consider when determining whether to exercise a function 
could include-  

 Whether the decision may incur a significant social, economic reputational or 
environmental risk.  

 The likely extent of the impact of the decision both within and outside of the 
borough.  

 Whether the decision is likely to be a matter of political controversy.  

 The extent to which the decision is likely to generate substantial public interest.  
 

4.13 If at any time, the Authority acquires a new duty, power or function, in the absence 
of any Member decision with regard to delegation, the Chief Executive and the 
Corporate Director with responsibility for the relevant service shall be deemed to 
have full delegated authority to discharge the duty, power or function on the 
authority’s behalf unless it is expressly reserved to the Council, a Council 
Committee or Sub-Committee or the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet either by law or in this 
Constitution.  

 
4.14 Any function or power which may be discharged by a Corporate Director, may also 

be discharged by any person(s) formally “acting-up” into that post or an “interim” 
post holder or who is deputising (whether on a full, part time or on an ad hoc basis) 
for that post or occupies a successor post following any reorganisation, restructure 
or similar process.  

 
4.15 The Mayor, Mayor in Cabinet, a Cabinet Sub-Committee or a Council Committee/ 

Sub-Committee may reserve to themselves decisions delegated to officers, by 
giving notice to the officer holding the delegated power or to the Chief Executive of 
their intention to do so.  

 
4.16 References in the Corporate and/or Officer Schemes of Delegations to any statute, 

statutory instrument, regulation, rule, circular, agency or other agreement or any 
such matter in respect of which a power or duty is delegated shall be deemed to 
include any modification or re-enactment of the same as may be made from time to 
time. 

4.17 The Mayor’s delegation of Executive functions is contained in Part 6C of this 
Constitution.  The Council’s Scheme of Delegation to Officers is contained 
within this section of the Constitution (Responsibility for Functions) and the 
Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 
Functions of Statutory Officers and members of the Corporate Management Team 
 

Functions of the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service 
 

4.18 The Chief Executive is appointed as Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to carry out the Council’s statutory 
obligations to report to the Council as appropriate with regard to the way in which 
the overall discharge by the Council of its different functions is co-ordinated, the 
number and grades of staff required for the discharge of these functions, the way in 

Page 247



18  

which these people are organised and managed, and the way in which they are 
appointed under that Act.  
 

4.19 This post is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic management of the 
Council as a whole and is responsible for establishing a framework for management 
direction, style, culture and standards and for monitoring the performance of the 
Council. Its overriding responsibility is to the Council and not to the Mayor, any 
party-political group, or other grouping of Members. It must report to and provide 
information for the Executive, the full Council, the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
and other Committees. The political neutrality of the office holder must be respected 
at all times. 
 

4.20 Working with the Mayor.  
 

The Chief Executive works closely with the Mayor to assist in the development of 
the Mayor’s strategic policy and to ensure that such is then put into practice and, in 
that regard, will:  
 
(i) Strategic direction. Ensure that the Mayor and Council’s priorities and goals 

can be implemented in a timely, efficient and innovative way through focused 
strategies, projects and programmes.  

 
(ii) Policy advice. Act as the principal policy adviser to the Mayor and Members 

and will secure the best professional advice on all relevant matters in respect 
of the Council’s functions and services.  In consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer, the Chief Executive will take action if they 
consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rise to unlawful action.  

(iii) Partnerships (internal). Develop a professional partnership with the Mayor and 
Members to ensure that the Council’s vision, goals and core values are made 
reality and to provide a clear sense of direction, optimism and purpose and 
marshal the resources of the whole organisation to this end.  

 
(iv) Partnerships (external). Assist the Mayor in partnership working by taking the 

lead in developing effective partnerships at management level with other 
public agencies, private companies and local community organisations to 
achieve better public services and improved results for local people.  

 
4.21 Emergency or Extreme Urgency.  

 
(i) The Chief Executive may exercise any executive function in cases of 

emergency or extreme urgency whether or not reserved to the Mayor, 
subject to complying with any statutory requirements and following the 
exercise of such power will provide a written report to the Mayor setting out the 
decision taken and the reason for it including the reasons for emergency or 
extreme urgency.  

 
(ii) The Chief Executive may exercise any non-executive function in cases of 

emergency or extreme urgency whether or not reserved to the Council, subject 
to complying with any statutory requirements and following the exercise of 
such power will provide a written report to the Council setting out the decision 

Page 248



19  

taken and the reasons for it, including the reasons for emergency or extreme 
urgency.  

 
4.22 Ensuring overall correctness of decision making.  
 

(i) The Chief Executive is also responsible for ensuring that all decisions made by 
the Mayor and the reasons for them are made public and will ensure that 
Council Members are aware of decisions made by the Mayor and of those 
made by officers who have delegated executive responsibility.  

 
(ii) If the Chief Executive considers that any proposal, decision or omission raises 

a significant concern it must be reported in writing by the Monitoring Officer to 
the Mayor in relation to an executive function or to the Council in relation to a 
non-executive function. Such a report will have the effect of immediately 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been 
considered. The report must be considered within 21 days at a meeting of 
either Council or the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet as appropriate.  

 
(iii) As soon as practicable after either the Council or the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet 

has considered this report, it shall prepare and publish a report that will 
include;  

 
(a) what action it has taken in response to the report; 
 
(b) what action it proposes to take in response to the report and when it 

proposes to take that action;  
 

(c) the reasons for taking that action, or the reason for not taking any action.  
 

  The exercise of this function needs to be considered in conjunction with the 
Monitoring Officer ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making and 
the Chief Finance Officer to ensure lawfulness and financial prudence of 
decision-making.  

 
4.23 Management Structure.  
 

The Chief Executive will determine and publicise a description of the overall 
structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of 
officers.  

 
4.18.1 Discharge of functions by the Council. The Chief Executive shall report to 

the Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is 
co-ordinated and the staff required for the discharge of functions. 
 

4.24 Restrictions on functions.  
 
 The Chief Executive may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of 

Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 
 
4.25 Consideration of applications for dispensation by Executive Members in relation 

to Conflicts of Interest relating to Executive Decisions in which they are involved.  

Page 249



20  

 
 The Chief Executive, by virtue of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B 

of the Constitution, is required to consider applications for a dispensation from Members 
of the Executive in relation to an Executive Decision where they are either: 

 
(i) a Member of the executive decision making body and have a conflict of 

interest; or 
(ii) are consulted by a Member taking an Executive Decision and the Executive 

Member consulted has a conflict of interest; or 
(iii) are consulted by an officer taking an Executive Decision and the Executive 

Member consulted has a conflict of interest 
And grant a note of dispensation if satisfied that it is appropriate to do so. 

 
Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

4.26 The Monitoring Officer is appointed under the provisions of s5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 to be the Council’s Monitoring Officer and 
to carry out the Council’s statutory functions under that Act in respect of 
matters of legality, conduct, and probity. A Monitoring Officer Protocol is 
included at Part 5C of this Constitution. 

 
 Maintaining and interpreting the Constitution.  
 
4.27 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution 

including making such changes as envisaged by paragraph 15.02 of the Articles and 
shall ensure that it is widely available on the Council’s website for Members, staff and 
the public to consult. The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of 
the Constitution and may make recommendations to ensure that the aims and 
principles of the Constitution are given full effect. The Monitoring Officer will advise 
as to the construction or application of the Constitution and will consult with the 
Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer as required.  

 
 Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making.  
 
4.28 After consulting with the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring 

Officer shall report to the Full Council, or the Leader Mayor in relation to an executive 
function, if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rise to unlawful action. Such a 
report shall have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented 
until the report has been considered.  The report must be considered within 21 days 
at a meeting of either Council or by the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
4.29 As soon as practicable after Council or the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet has considered 

the Monitoring Officer’s report, it shall prepare and publish a report that will include:  
 

(i) what action it has taken in response to the report;  
 
(ii) what action it proposes to take in response to the report and when it proposes 

to take that action;  
 
(iii) the reasons for taking that action, or the reasons for not taking any action. 

Page 250



21  

(The exercise of this function needs to be considered in conjunction with the 
function of the Chief Executive to ensure lawfulness and fairness of decision 
making and the function of the Chief Finance Officer to ensure lawfulness and 
financial prudence of decision-making).  

 
Supporting the Ethics Committee. 

 
4.30 The Monitoring Officer shall contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 

standards of conduct through provision of support to the Ethics Committee, in 
particular by: 

 
 Receiving reports.  Receiving and having regard to recommendations from the 

Ethics Committee regarding Member conduct. 
 

Register of Interests. Establishing and maintaining a Register of Interests of 
Members and Co-opted Members of the Council.  

 
Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer shall conduct investigations into 
matters referred by the Ethics Committee including investigations required in 
accordance with the agreed arrangements for dealing with an alleged breach of the 
Code of Conduct by a Member, conducting or arranging for that investigation to be 
carried out and shall make reports and recommendations in respect of them to the 
Ethics Committee. 

 Dispensations where Disclosable pecuniary interests exist.  
 
4.31 The Monitoring Officer shall consider applications for a grant of a dispensation for a 

Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI), Other Registrable Interest (ORI) 
or Non-Registrable Interest (NRI) in the following circumstances: 

(i)That so many Members of the decision-making body have DPIs, ORIs or NRIs in 
a matter that it would impede the transaction of the business; or 

 
(ii)That without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups 

on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter the 
outcome of any vote on the matter; or 

 
(iii)That the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the Borough; or 
 
(iv)That, without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would be able to 

participate in consideration of this matter; or 
 
(v)That it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 
And may refer the dispensation request in relation to grounds (i) and (iv) above to the Ethics 

Committee to advise on or express a view should the Monitoring Officer consider it 
appropriate to do so. In respect of grounds (ii), (iii) and (v) above granting 
dispensations is a matter reserved to the Ethics Committee after consultation with 
the Independent Person.  The Monitoring Officer will report at least annually to 
Ethics Committee on any dispensations granted. Proper Officer for Access 
to Information.  

 

Page 251



22  

4.32 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that Cabinet and other executive decisions, 
together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and 
background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

 
Advising whether decisions are within the Budget and Policy Framework.  

 
4.33 The Monitoring Officer shall advise whether decisions of the Council, a Committee, 

or Sub-Committee, the Mayor, the Cabinet, or Cabinet Committee or an Officer 
under their allocated or delegated powers are in accordance with the budget and 
policy framework. 

 
Providing advice.  
 

4.34 The Monitoring Officer shall provide advice on the scope of powers and authority 
to take decisions, maladministration, probity and Budget and Policy Framework 
issues to the Mayor and all Members. 

 
Restrictions on functions. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance 
Officer or the Chief Executive but will liaise as appropriate with the Head of 
Paid Service in the discharge of their functions as Monitoring Officer. 

Functions of the Corporate Director of Resources as Chief Finance Officer 
 

4.35 The Corporate Director, Resources has the statutory responsibilities defined in 
section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 as the Council’s Chief Finance Officer to ensure the 
proper administration of the financial affairs of the Authority including:  

 Leading development and implementation of the financial strategy necessary 
to deliver the Council’s strategic objectives sustainably; 

 Promoting and delivering good financial management; 

 Leading the coordination and facilitation of a culture of efficiency and value for 
money 

 Implementation and maintenance of a framework of financial controls and 
procedures for managing financial risks; 

 Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls 
necessary to secure sound financial management; 

 Providing financial information for decision makers (in conjunction with Senior 
Managers); 

 Ensuring that the annual statement of accounts is prepared in accordance with 
appropriate financial standards and within the statutory deadlines.  

 Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme relating to the General 
Fund and the Housing Revenue Account and Parking Places Reserve Account 

 Providing information and advice to those who officially scrutinise and review 
the authority. 

 

 Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making.  
 
4.36 After consulting with the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 

Finance Officer shall report to the Full Council, or to the Leader (and/or Cabinet as 
appropriate) in relation to an executive function, and the Council’s external 
auditor if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action shall 
involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss 

Page 252



23  

or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 
 
4.37 Such a report will have the effect of immediately stopping the proposal or decision 

being implemented until such time as the report has been considered. Once 
Members have received the Monitoring Officer’s report, the report must be 
considered within 21 days at a meeting of either Council or the Mayor as 
appropriate.  

 
4.38 As soon as practicable after Council or the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet has considered 

the report, it shall prepare and publish a report that will include:  
 

(i) what action it has taken in response to the report;  
 

(ii) what action it proposes to take in response to the report and when it proposes 
to take that action;  

 
(iii) the reasons for taking that action, or the reasons for not taking any action. The 

exercise of this function needs to be considered in conjunction with the 
function of the Monitoring Officer to ensure lawfulness and fairness of decision 
making and the function of the Chief Executive to ensure lawfulness and 
financial prudence of decision-making.  

 
 Administration of financial affairs.  

 
4.39 The Chief Finance Officer shall have responsibility for the administration of the 

financial affairs of the Council, including: 

 Determining the accounting procedures and records for the authority. 

 Maintaining a regular review of the Financial Regulations and issuing updates 
as necessary.  
Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards 

 Reporting breaches of the Financial Regulations to the Audit and Governance 
Committee and the external auditor.  

 
 Contributing to corporate management.  
 
4.40 The Chief Finance Officer shall contribute to the corporate management of the 

Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 
 

Providing advice.  
 

4.41 The Chief Finance Officer shall provide advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take financial decisions, financial impropriety, probity and budget and 
policy framework issues to the Mayor and all Members and shall support and 
advise the Mayor and all Members and staff in their respective roles. 

 
 Give financial information.  

 

4.42 The Chief Finance Officer shall provide requisite financial information to the media, 
members of the public and the community. 

 
 Assets and disposals. 

Page 253



24  

 
4.43 The Chief Finance Officer is: 
 

(i) required to issue guidelines on best practice for the disposal of land based 
assets and to approve the purchase or sale of land if it has been declared 
surplus by the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet and if authority to do so has been 
delegated to him/her; 
 

(ii) authorised to recommend to the Mayor/Mayor in Cabinet for acceptance, 
disposals which are proposed to be less than the unrestricted market value as 
defined by the General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 and/or where State 
Aid issues may arise. The report shall make the level of undervalue explicit 
and the report will need to set out the well-being benefits to be derived and 
provide a statement that the wellbeing “value” matches or exceeds the value 
foregone. Where a sale is pursuant to Section 123 Local Government Act 
1972, Section 32 Housing Act 1985 or Section 25 Local Government Act 1988, 
consent of the Secretary of State may be sought as necessary, unless the sale 
falls within the General Housing Consents 2013 issued pursuant to powers 
contained in sections 32, 33 and 34 Housing Act 1985, 133 of the Housing Act 
1988, which permit certain disposals to occur without the need to secure 
express consent.  

 
(iii) authorised to accept a late offer for land/property, with the prior 

agreement of the Director of Legal Services, if to do so, would ensure 
that the Council secures best consideration, provided other bids have not 
been opened.  

 
 Restrictions of Functions.  

 
4.44 The Chief Finance Officer cannot be the Monitoring Officer. 
 

The Corporate Resources portfolio 
 

4.45 The Corporate Resources portfolio currently includes: Finance, Internal Audit, 
Insurance, Anti-Fraud and Risk, Treasury Management and Pensions, Commercial 
Investment and Property and Legal Services. These functions can be varied at any 
time by the Chief Executive, who may also allocate to the role additional functions 
and responsibilities.  

   
 The Director of Legal Services 
 
4.46 The Director of Legal Services is authorised to: 
 

(i) institute, defend, settle or participate in any legal proceedings in any case 
where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in 
any case where such action is considered to be necessary to protect the 
Council’s interests and may designate nominated officers to carry out this 
function on their behalf.  

 
(ii) consult with and instruct counsel, solicitors and other experts for legal 

proceedings, public inquiries, and other matters involving the Council, and 

Page 254



25  

the negotiation and settlement of legal disputes on behalf of the Council, the 
Mayor, Mayor and Cabinet, Committees of the Council or officers and 
arrangements for their representation in any court, public inquiry or other 
forum where formal representation is considered to be proper, including the 
incurring of such fees in respect thereof as may be appropriate.  

 
(iii) sign any document that is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings 

on behalf of the Council, or to authorise another to sign, unless any 
enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given specific 
authority to some other person.  

 
(iv) sign contracts (and similar documents where intended to have legal binding 

effect) on behalf of the Council, where any required authority or approval of 
the Mayor/Mayor and Cabinet, a Committee or a Sub-Committee has been 
obtained, or where such authority has been delegated to another officer of 
the Council and that officer has requested the Director of Legal Services to 
do so.  

 
(v) keep the Common Seal of the Council in a safe place. A decision of the 

Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any 
document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be 
affixed to those documents which should be sealed. The affixing of the 
Common Seal will be attested by the Director of Legal Services or any other 
duly authorised person.  

 
(vi) authorise officers to appear on behalf of the Council in proceedings in the 

magistrate’ courts, pursuant to section 223 of the Local Government Act 
1972.  

 
(vii) authorise officers to appear on behalf of the Council in any proceedings in 

the county court in relation to the recovery of possession of a house 
belonging to the Council or the recovery of any rent, mesne profits, damages 
or other sum claimed in respect of the occupation by any person of such a 
house, pursuant to section 60 of the County Courts Act 1984.  

 
(viii) contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 

through the provision of professional legal advice. 
 

 
Functions of the Corporate Director, Adult Social Care and Health 
 
4.47 The Corporate Director, Adult Social Care and Health is the Statutory Director of 

Adult Social care under s 6 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 as 
amended by s18 of the Children Act 2004 and is responsible for the delivery of 
those local authority social services functions listed in Schedule 1 of the Local 
Authority Social Services Act 1970 (as amended), other than those for which the 
Director of Children Young People and Education is responsible, and the public 
health functions contained in the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The function 
includes the role of Caldicott Guardian. 

 
4.48 The Corporate Director, Adult Social Care and Health is responsible for 

Page 255



26  

implementing and ensuring compliance with any statutory guidance issued by the 
Department of Health or other Government department and is currently required to:-  

 Assess local needs and ensure availability and delivery of a full range of 
local authority services; 

 Give professional leadership, including workforce planning;  

 Lead the implementation of standards;  

 Manage cultural change;  

 Promote local access and ownership and drive partnership working;  

 Deliver an integrated whole systems approach to supporting communities; 
and  

 Promote social inclusion and wellbeing.  
 

4.49 The Adult Social Care and Health portfolio currently includes Adult Social Care and 
Health and Integrated Commissioning. These functions can be varied at any time by 
the Chief Executive, who may also allocate to the role additional functions and 
responsibilities.  
 

Functions of the Corporate Director, Children, Young People and Education 
 
4.50 The Corporate Director, Children, Young People and Education is the Council’s 

Statutory Director of Children’s services under s 18(7) of the Children Act 2004 with 
statutory duties to discharge the education and children’s social care functions of 
the local authority including those detailed as follows:  
 
(a) education functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council;  

 
(b) functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council which are social care 

functions so far as those functions relate to children;  
 
(c) the functions conferred on the authority under sections 23C to 24D of the 

Children Act 1989 (so far as not falling within paragraph (b));  
 
(d) the functions conferred on the authority under sections 10 to 12, 12C, 12D and 

17A of the Children Act 2004;  
 
(e) any functions exercisable by the Council under section 75 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 on behalf of an NHS body, so far as those functions 
relate to children;  

 
(f) the functions conferred on the Council under Part 1 of the Childcare Act 2006;  
 
(g) the role of Caldicott Guardian; and 
 
(h) any function conferred on the authority under section 2 of the Childcare Act 

2016.  
 
4.51 The Children, Young People and Education portfolio currently includes Children’s 

Social Care; Education and Partnership, and Youth and Children’s Commissioning. 
These functions can be varied at any time by the Chief Executive, who may also 
allocate to the role additional functions and responsibilities.  
 

Page 256



27  

Functions of the Corporate Director, Sustainable Communities, Regeneration and 
Economic Recovery 

 
4.52 The Sustainable Communities, Regeneration and Economic Recovery portfolio 

currently includes responsibility for discharging all the Council’s duties, powers and 
functions in the following areas:- Property and Major Programmes; Growth,  
Economic Development and Regeneration; Planning and Building Control; Public 
Realm (including Highways, Trading Standards and Environmental Health); 
Community Safety; Sports, Leisure, Libraries and Culture.  These functions can be 
varied at any time by the Chief Executive, who may also allocate to the role 
additional functions and responsibilities.  

 
4.53 The Corporate Director, Sustainable Communities, Regeneration and Economic 

Recovery is authorised to consider and determine any applications for licenses not 
specifically reserved to the Licensing Committee under the Constitution and all 
applications for licences where no objections have been received.  

 
 
Functions of the Corporate Director, Housing 

4.54 The Housing portfolio currently includes responsibility for discharging all the 
Council’s duties, powers and functions in relation to: 

  
i)   properties held within the Council's Housing Revenue Account and properties 

held within the Council's General Fund and used as temporary 
accommodation; 

  
ii)  homelessness  

  These functions can be varied at any time by the Chief Executive, who may also 
allocate to the role additional functions and responsibilities.  
 

4.55 The Corporate Director Housing is authorised to approve any sale or lease of land 
pursuant to the Right to Buy or the Right of Enfranchisement under the Housing Act 
1985, the Leasehold Reform Act 1967 or The Leasehold Reform Housing and 
Urban Development Act 1993 subject to compliance with the relevant statutory 
procedures.  
 

Functions of the Assistant Chief Executive 
 

4.56 The Assistant Chief Executive portfolio currently includes responsibility for 
discharging all the Council’s duties, powers and functions in the following areas:- 
HR and Organisational Development, IT, Customer Services, Public Health, 
Information Management, Freedom of Information and Subject Access Requests, 
Registrars, Elections, Mayoral Support, Coroner and Policy, Partnerships and 
Projects.  These functions can be varied at any time by the Chief Executive, who 
may also allocate to the role additional functions and responsibilities.  

 
The Director of Public Health 

 
4.57 The Director of Public Health is the statutory Director of Public Health under section 

Page 257



28  

73 of the National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by s30 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. 

 
 

Page 258



Part 4A / Page 2 of 20 November 2018 
Council 
Procedure Rules 

 
LEGAL\53463452v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.A - Council Procedure Rules 

 
1 GENERAL PROCEDURES APPLYING TO ALL FULL COUNCIL MEETINGS 

Quorum 

1.1 No business shall be considered unless 18 Members are present in the Chamber 
or meeting room. If the Chair considers the meeting to be inquorate at any point 
during the meeting, the meeting shall stand deferred for 15 minutes. If after 15 
minutes deferment there is still no quorum then the consideration of any 
business not transacted shall be held over to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council, unless an alternative date is fixed by the Chair. 

 

Powers of the Chair 
 

1.2 The Chair shall decide all matters of order, competence, relevancy, and/or 
interpretation of these Council Procedure Rules relating to the meeting . The Chair 
shall have the power to vary the order of business so as to give precedence to 
any Report, Motion or other matter. The decision of the Chair shall be final. 

 
1.3 A Member may be directed to discontinue speaking if the Chair considers the 

Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming language, or 
is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When necessary, the 
Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called by name, 
leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put immediately to the 
vote without further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 
In the event of a general disturbance within the Chamber by Members the Chair 
may order an adjournment for up to 15 minutes. 

1.4 In the case of a member of the public disrupting the meeting, the Chair may 
order the removal of a person or that the public areas be cleared. Re- admission 
shall be at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
1.5 Council Members, officers and members of the public are reminded that the use 

of mobile electronic devices during the meeting is permitted for the use of wifi 
services. You are asked to leave the meeting should you wish to make or 
receive a telephone call. 

 

The recording/reporting of meetings using any type of audio or visual equipment 
is permitted subject to the proviso that any such reporting/filming/photography 
does not   become  distracting, disruptive  or contrary to the good order or conduct 
of the meeting. Should any such reporting/filming/photography become 
distracting, disruptive or contrary to the good order or conduct of a meeting, the 
person/s responsible may be asked by the Chair to terminate this, regardless of 

Page 259



Part 4A / Page 3 of 20 November 2018 
Council 
Procedure Rules 

 
LEGAL\53463452v1 

the format in which the reporting/filming/photography is taking place. 
 

Disclosure of Interests 
 
1.6 Members shall abide by the Members’ Code of Conduct. It is the responsibility 

of every Member to declare any disclosable pecuniary interest or other 
registrable interest not already recorded on their register of interests or 
subject to a pending notification and any non-registrable interests as appropriate at 
the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the relevant item of business is 
reached. These disclosures and disclosures of non-registrable interests shall be 
minuted. 

 
Rules of Debate 

 
1.7 A Member may indicate their desire to speak by standing or by raising their 

hand, but shall only speak when called by name by the Chair. When speaking 
the Member shall stand, unless unable to do so. 

 

1.8 Members shall when speaking address the Chair and: 
 

1 refer to each other as Chair, Deputy Chair, Mayor, Cabinet Member, 
or Councillor, as the case may be; 

 
2 refrain from using unbecoming language; 

 
3 refrain from comments of a personal nature about another Member; 

 

4 not attribute improper motives to another Member. 
 

1.9 No debate shall be allowed except in relation to a motion or amendment under 
consideration. Only one motion or amendment may be considered at a time. A 
motion or amendment once moved and seconded may be withdrawn only by 
the mover and with the consent of the meeting. No further debate shall take 
place on a motion or amendment once it has been withdrawn. 

 
1.10 Every motion or amendment must be moved and seconded and if the Chair 

requires, be put in writing for the Chief Executive to read out before it is 
debated and put to the meeting. A Member may not move more than one 
amendment or motion on the same subject. 

 
1.11 The following procedural motions may be moved without prior notice at the 

discretion of the Chair to: 

 
1 appoint the Deputy Chair or another Member to chair the meeting if the 

Chair is absent; 

Page 260



Part 4A / Page 3 of 20 November 2018 
Council 
Procedure Rules 

 
LEGAL\53463452v1 

2 amend the minutes of the previous meeting when these are submitted for 
approval, for reasons of accuracy; 

 

3 change the order of business from that printed in the Agenda, other than 
where this has already been determined by the Chair; 

 
4 receive reports and decide recommendations presented as part of the 

agenda; 
 
 

5 refer an item of business to the Mayor (and/or Cabinet as appropriate) or a 
Committee; 

 
6 permit the withdrawal of a motion or a question; 

 
7 suspend specific Procedure Rules for the purpose stated in the Motion 

provided that at least one half of the whole Council are present; 
 

8 proceed to the next item of business or put to a vote the matter under 
debate; 

 
9 adjourn the debate or the meeting; 

 
10 exclude the public from the meeting under statutory provisions for that 

purpose; 
 

11 exclude a Member from further participation in the debate or from the 
meeting. 

 

1.12 An amendment to a motion may be proposed, provided it is seconded and: 
 

1 is not moved whilst another amendment is under discussion; 
 

2 does not have the same intent as one already defeated at the meeting; 
 

3 refers to the subject matter under discussion and does not introduce a new 
subject; 

 
4 does not render ineffective the motion under consideration. 

 

1.13 Only in respect of a planning application referred to the Council for decision 
may an amendment specify that the application be refused and must in that 
event include the proposed grounds for refusal in the amendment. 

 
1.14 A Member may not move a motion to rescind or amend a resolution passed 

within  the  previous  six  months,  nor  may  a  Member  move  a  motion  or 

Page 261



LEGAL\53463452v1 

amendment to the same effect as one rejected within the previous six months. 
An exception shall be allowed in either case where not less than fifteen Members 
sign a notice in support of such a motion in which case an item shall be placed 
on the Agenda. 

 

1.15 A Member may raise a point of order by declaring “point of order”, in which case 
the Chair shall ask the Member speaking to give way. A point of order may only 
relate to an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or the law.  The 
Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which they consider it has 
been broken.  The ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final.   

 
1.16 A Member may seek to make a personal explanation at any time during the course 

of another Member’s speech if they have been referred to by name or position, by 
declaring “point of personal explanation”, in which case the Chair shall ask the 
Member speaking to give way.   A personal explanation may only relate to the 
statement made by the other Member in their speech.  The ruling of the Chair on 
the admissibility of a personal explanation and the time allowed for any personal 
explanation will be final. 

 

1.17 A Member may seek leave from the Chair to clarify a point made in an earlier 
speech by that Member if it appears from comments made in a subsequent speech 
that the earlier speech by the Member had been misunderstood.  The ruling of the 
Chair on the admissibility of, and the time allowed for, any clarification will be final. 

 
Voting 

 
1.18 Unless required otherwise by law, all matters shall be decided by a simple majority. 

Voting shall in the first instance be by voices saying “Yes” or “No” as appropriate. 
The Chair shall declare that either the Yes vote or the No vote is successful, 
as the case may be. In the event that the Council introduces electronic voting, 
voting may take place electronically. 

 
1.19 Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of the Council, if any 

Member so requires there shall be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings 
of that meeting whether the person cast their vote for or against the question or 
whether they abstained from voting. 

 
1.20 If the result is unchallenged, the Chair shall declare the result. If the result is 

challenged, the Chair shall ask Members to indicate their vote. The method of 
voting shall be determined by the Chair. 

 
1.21 One Member may rise and ask that a Poll vote be taken and if ten Members 

rise in their places in support of the request the Chair shall instruct the Chief 
Executive to call each Member by name and record their vote where this voting 
takes place orally, or to confirm their vote where this takes place electronically, 
with the Chair being called upon to vote last. These provisions are subject to 
paragraph 3.37 of this Part 4A. 

 

1.22 In the event of an equality of votes on either side, the Chair (including where 
this is the Mayor) shall have a second or casting vote and may use their casting 
vote even where they have not used their first vote. 

 

2 THE ANNUAL MEETING 
 
2.1 In a year when there is an ordinary election of Members, the Annual Meeting 

shall take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Members. In Page 262



LEGAL\53463452v1 

any other year, the Council has determined that the Annual Meeting shall take 
place in May unless it decides otherwise. 

 

2.2 The Monitoring Officer shall prepare and provide lists of appointments to be made 
by the Council to the Secretary of each Political Group represented on the 
Council prior to the Annual General Meeting of each Political Group, taking 
account of the statutory rules of proportionality, where these apply. The 
Secretary of each Political Group shall submit a list of the members of the 
Group together with nominations for all appointments, as listed, to the Monitoring 
Officer not less than eight working days prior to the day of the Annual Council 
meeting. 

 
2.3 The Annual Meeting of the Council shall be reserved for the election of the Civic 

Mayor, Deputy Civic Mayor who shall be the Vice Chair of the Council meeting, 
other Members holding an Office of Special Responsibility; receipt of the Mayor’s 
scheme of delegation; appointments to Committees and outside bodies, receiving 
the Annual Reports from Committees, including Overview and Scrutiny, which are 
required to be presented to full Council and approval of the minutes of the last 
meeting. The meeting will also receive a statement from the Mayor reflecting on 
the previous year and outlining their priorities for the year ahead; the Leader of 
the Opposition will be invited to respond.  No other business shall be transacted 
at the Annual Meeting unless in the opinion of the Chair or the Monitoring Officer 
there is business that the Council is required urgently to consider before the next 
Ordinary Meeting. 

 

2.4 The Chair shall determine the order of business for the meeting. 
 

Annual ‘state of borough’ debate 
 
The Chair of the Council may call a State of the Borough debate annually on a 
date and in a form to be agreed with the Mayor.   The Chair will decide the form of 
the debate with the aim of enabling the widest possible public involvement and 
publicity.  This may include holding workshops and other events prior to or during 
the State of the Borough debate.  Council Procedure Rules may be suspended by 
the Chair on the advice of the Monitoring Officer to ensure maximum flexibility.  
The debate will be chaired by the Chair.  The results of the debate will be: 

 
i) disseminated as widely as possible within the community and to agencies 

and organisations in the area; and 
 

ii) considered by the Mayor in proposing the budget and policy framework to the 
Council for the coming year. 

 
Appointment of substitute Members of Committees and Sub-Committees 

 
2.5 As well as allocating seats on Committees and Sub-Committees, the Annual 

Meeting of the Council will allocate seats for substitute Members. 
 

2.6 For all non-Executive Committees, the Council will appoint the same number of 
substitutes in respect of each political group as that group holds ordinary seats 
on that Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 
2.7 Those substitute Members will be required to undertake any mandatory training 

required of ordinary Members of those Committees prior to participating in any 
meeting of those Committees. 

 Page 263



LEGAL\53463452v1 

2.8 Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary Member 
of the Committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties 
exercisable by the person they are substituting. 

 

2.9 Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only 
 

i) to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are the 
designated substitute for that meeting; 
 

ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting. 
 

2.10 A substitute is appointed after notification has been received by the relevant 
Democratic Services Officer by the start of the meeting.   

 
Mayor, Cabinet and Shadow Cabinet 

 

2.11 The Mayor and up to nine other members of the Cabinet shall comprise the 
Executive Members of the Council. 

 
2.12 Other Political Groups represented on the Council may nominate a Member to 

act as their Leader. The Leader of the largest Political Group represented on 
the Council of which the Mayor is not a Member (‘the ‘Opposition’) shall be known 
as the Leader of the Opposition and shall act as the spokesperson for the 
Opposition on all matters of general policy and business. 

 
2.13 In addition to the Leader of the Opposition, up to nine other Members of the 

largest Political Group having no Executive Members shall be appointed by that 
Group and their appointment shall be noted at the Annual Meeting of the 
Council or at an Ordinary or Extraordinary Council Meeting as necessary, to 
serve as members of the Shadow Cabinet. 

 
2.14 One or more members of the Shadow Cabinet may be appointed Opposition 

Deputy Leader(s) by that Group. Each Shadow Cabinet Member, except the 
Opposition Leader, shall be nominated by their Political Group to act as 
Opposition Spokesperson for a portfolio. 

 
   

 

3 COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 

Dates, Time and Frequency of Meetings 
 
3.1 Seven meetings of the Council, including the Annual and Council Tax Meetings, 

shall be scheduled to be held at the Town Hall, Croydon, on such dates as the 
General Purposes Committee may agree on behalf of the Council and 
occasionally as the Chair shall direct during each Council Year. 

 
3.2 Unless the Chair or the Council determines otherwise Ordinary Council 

Meetings and the Council Tax Meeting shall begin at 6.30 p.m. The Annual 
Meeting shall begin at 6.30 p.m. or such other time determined by the Chair or 
the General Purposes Committee. Ordinary Council Meetings shall conclude by 
9.30 p.m. The Council Tax Meeting shall conclude by 9.35 p.m. 

 
3.3 In the event that the meeting has lasted for three hours the Chair shall interrupt 

the meeting and call for a vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall 
continue for a further 30 minutes.   Page 264



LEGAL\53463452v1 

 

3.4 If Members decide that the meeting shall not continue, or if there is remaining 
business after the additional period of 30 minutes, the Chair will decide if any of 
the remaining business is of sufficient importance to warrant an adjournment of 
the meeting and, if so, will declare the meeting adjourned to such date and time 
(prior to the next ordinary meeting of the Council) as they may direct at the time 
or afterwards. 

 

3.5 With the exception of business so specified 
 
the Chair shall put to the vote without further debate all outstanding Executive and Committee reports 
and motions on the agenda; 

1) The Chair shall then close the meeting. 
 
3.6 The date and time of any Special or Extraordinary Council Meeting may be 

determined by the Chair or the General Purposes Committee. On occasions 
when a Special or Extraordinary Meeting is on the same date as an Ordinary 
Meeting, the Chair or General Purposes  Committee may determine the 
arrangements for a shortened Ordinary Council Meeting. 

 
Order of Business at Ordinary Council Meetings 

 

3.7 The business at an Ordinary Meeting shall be as follows, taken in the sequence 
indicated unless otherwise directed by the Chair or agreed following a motion 
carried: 

 

1. Apologies for absence; 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting; 

3. Disclosures of interests; 
 

4. Urgent business (if any); 
 

5. Announcements by the Chair, the Mayor, Head of Paid Service 
and/or Returning Officer; 

 

6. Croydon Question Time: Public Questions from the public gallery 
 

7. The Croydon Debate: 
a) Borough Petition Debate; 
b) Local Petition Debate. 

 
 

8. Recommendations of the Executive or Committees referred to the 
Council for decision (if any); 
 

9. Recommendations deferred for Debate; 
 

10. Mayor and Cabinet Questions 
 

11. Maiden Speeches (Only taken as an item at Ordinary Council 
meetings following the/an election and permits newly elected 
Members to speak for up to three minutes each. No more than 5 
maiden speeches shall be taken at any Ordinary Council meeting 
and Members who have previously been elected or have been re- 
elected shall be ineligible to make a Maiden Speech.) Page 265



LEGAL\53463452v1 

 
12. Council Debate Motions; 

 

13. Any other relevant business specified in the Agenda, included at 
the discretion of the Chair or required by law; 

 
14. Any exempt or confidential business where the Public are 

excluded from the meeting. 
 

Agendas and Minutes 
 
3.8 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that an Agenda and Summons for the 

meeting is dispatched to Members and available to the public and press in advance 
of the meeting. 

 
3.9 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that a record is made of the decisions taken 

at every meeting of the Council. The minutes shall also include a record of the 
Members in attendance, those absent and any apologies received. 

 
3.10 The disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other registrable interest 

and/or non-registrable interest shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
3.11 Minutes shall be considered for approval at the next meeting and shall be only 

open to question as to their accuracy before being signed. Minutes of an 
Extraordinary Meeting shall be signed at the next convenient Ordinary Meeting 
following the Extraordinary Meeting. 

 

Announcements 
 
3.12 Up to 5 minutes shall be available at each Ordinary Council Meeting for 

announcements by the Chair or other Member chairing the meeting; the Mayor; 
the Head of Paid Service; and/or the Returning Officer, and Monitoring Officer, 
which shall be limited to civic and statutory matters. The number and order of 
any such announcements shall be at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
The Croydon Debate 

 
3.13 The Croydon Debate item shall not be taken at Annual Council or the Council 

Tax Meeting. The Croydon Debate item shall, where relevant, comprise the 
following matters: Borough Petitions Debate and Local Petitions Debate. 

 
3.14 Petitions: General requirements for all Petitions and Croydon Debate items 

 

3.14.1 Three types of petition may be presented to full Council under the Croydon 
Debate item: Borough Petitions; Local Petitions; and Member Petitions each of 

which are governed by these Rules and, where relevant, the provisions of the 
Council’s Petition Protocol. 

 

3.14.2 Petitions presented to full Council under the Croydon Debate item shall not 
include any petitions in respect of which there is a statutory petitions process, 
for example Statutory Petitions with regard to changes to Governance 
Arrangements for the Council. Statutory Petitions shall be governed  in accordance 
with their respective statutory processes and are not set out  in these Rules. Nor 
may they include Petitions presented in response to a statutory process or 
associated consultations being undertaken by the Council 

 Page 266



LEGAL\53463452v1 

3.14.3 Petitions shall not be received or debated by the Council at the Annual or Council 
Tax Meeting. 

 
3.14.4 Petitions shall not be received or debated by the Council under the Croydon 

Debate Item where they relate to a current planning or licensing matter or any 
matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or 
entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or 
under any enactment. In addition, the Council shall not receive or debate items 
under the Croydon Debate item which pertain to anticipated or ongoing litigation, 
conciliation or mediation or any employment or personnel related disputes. 
Petitions may address other issues within the direct responsibility of the Council 
or where the Council could be reasonably expected to lobby on behalf of 
citizens of the Borough. 

 

3.14.5 Petitions may only be submitted for the Croydon Debate item by “Local People” 
who appear on the electoral register within the Borough, are a person who lives 
and/or works in the area or a child or young person who lives in, or attends a 
school or college in, the Borough. 

 
3.14.6 In order to be valid: 
 

a) Petitions must be materially accurate in respect of the facts upon which the 
Petition is based. Petitions which are defamatory, discriminatory or which incite 
civil unrest shall not be received or debated by the Council. 

 
b) A full Copy of any Petition to be submitted to the Council, including the full 

Petition wording and any supporting petitioners’ details and signatures, including 
the date upon which they have appended their signature to the Petition, must be 
delivered to the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee by noon fifteen (15) clear 
working days before the Council meeting to which it seeks to be presented. Any 
Petition submitted less than fifteen (15) clear working days before the Council 
meeting shall, if successfully verified, be presented to the following Council 
meeting. 

 
3.14.7 The Council shall be responsible for verifying that the qualifying numbers of 

Local People have signed the Petition in question based on the information 
provided by the petitioners. If  the qualifying number of  Local People have 

signed the petition, and provided the above requirements for a valid petition are 
met, the Petition will be presented to the next available Ordinary Council meeting. 

 

3.14.8 The subject matter of a Petition which has been debated at Full Council shall 
not be the subject of a further Petition to the Council within a period of twelve 
months and where a similar or substantially similar matter has been debated by 
the Council in the previous six months or is due to be debated within the next 
six months the Petition shall not be deemed to be valid. 

 
3.15 Petitions by Members of the Public 
 
3.15.1 Other than Statutory Petitions, which are not dealt with in these Rules, members 

of the public may submit two different types of Petition to the Council: Borough 
Petitions and Local Petitions. 

 
3.15.2 Only one Borough and one Local Petition debate shall be considered at each 

Ordinary Council Meeting. Where two or more Borough or two or more Local 
Petitions are received in accordance with these Rules, subject to validation of 
the necessary number of signatures, the first Local and the first Borough Page 267



LEGAL\53463452v1 

petition submitted shall be the petitions that go forward to be received and 
debated at the next Ordinary Council Meeting. 

 

3.15.3 Where two or more Borough or Local petitions are received, or where a Borough 
or Local Petition is received in accordance with these Rules and the next 
meeting of Council is the Council Tax Meeting or Annual Meeting, receipt and 
debate of any additional Petitions will be dealt with at the next Ordinary 
Council Meeting in the order they have been submitted and in accordance with 
3.13.2. 

 
3.15.4 At the conclusion of a Borough or Local Petition debate the relevant Cabinet 

Member will announce what steps the Council will take in response. These 
steps will take into account whether the matter debated relates to an executive 
or non-executive function or responsibility of the Council and whether a decision 
has or has not yet been taken. 

 
3.15.5 Borough Petitions: 
 
3.15.5 (a) The number of signatures required in order to trigger a Borough Petition 

Debate at a Full Council meeting shall be 2000 signatures of Local People. 
 
3.15.5(b) The rules of debate for a Borough Petition will be as follows: 
 

i. The Lead Petitioner or their representative may address the Council on 
the Petition for up to three minutes from the public gallery; 

ii. A member from the Majority group may address the Council for up to 
three minutes; 

iii. A member of the Opposition group may address the Council for up to 
three minutes; 

iv. A second member from the Majority group may address the Council for 
up to three minutes; 

v. A second member of the Opposition group may address the Council for 
up to three minutes; 

vi. The Lead Petitioner or their representative may address the Council for a 
further three minutes; 

vii. A member from the Majority group may address the Council for a final 
response for up to one minute and summarise the next steps to be taken 
in the matter. 

viii. No further debate shall take place on the Borough Petition thereafter. 
 
3.15.6 Local Petitions 

 
3.15.6(a) The number of signatures required in order to trigger a Local Petition 

Debate at a Full Council meeting shall be 1000 signatures of Local 
People living, working or studying in the Ward where the matter 
which is the subject of the Local Petition arises. 

 

3.15.6(b) The rules of debate for a Local Petition will be as follows: 
 

i. The Lead Petitioner or their representative may address the 
Council on the Petition for up to 3 minutes from the public 
gallery; 

ii.  A Member of the Majority Group may then speak for up to 
three minutes 

iii.  A Member of the Opposition Group may then speak for up to 
Page 268



LEGAL\53463452v1 

three minutes; 
iv.  A Member of the Majority Group may then make a final 

response for up to one minute and summarise the next steps 
to be taken in the matter; 

v.  No further debate shall take place on the Local Petition 
thereafter. 

 

Croydon Question Time 
 
3.16 The Croydon Question Time item shall not be taken at the Annual Council 

Meeting or at the Council Tax Meeting. 
 
3.17 The Croydon Question Time item shall comprise Mayor and Cabinet Questions 

and Public Questions at meetings. 
 

Public Questions: 
 
3.18 Public questions can be asked of the Mayor or Cabinet Members on issues of 

policy at the Meeting as set out within these Rules. Any questions of a purely 
factual or of a detailed nature shall be noted and shall receive a written 

response wi th in 3 weeks following the meeting.  The responses shall be 
published on the Council’s website. 

 

 
 
3.19 Public Questions shall only be taken at Ordinary Council meetings and shall be 

allocated a total time of 30 minutes. This time frame shall include both the 
response by the relevant Cabinet Member or the Mayor and any supplementary 
questions permitted under Paragraph 3.23. 

 

3.20 A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing 
or electronic mail to the Chief Executive no later than midday of the 7th working 
day before the day of the meeting.  Each question must give the name and 
address of the questioner and must name the Member of the Council to whom it 
is to be put. 

 

3.21 At any one meeting no person may submit more than 1 question and no more than 
1 question may be asked on behalf of one organisation.   

 
 

3.22 Questions should be limited to a maximum of 100 words.  The Chair, in consultation 
with the Monitoring Officer, may reject a question if it: 
 

 is not a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which affects the 
Borough; 

 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the past 6 months; or 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

 is submitted by a questioner who does not live, work or own property in the 
Borough, or; 

 relates to a current planning or licensing application or any individual or entity 
in respect of which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review 
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment; 

 relates to anticipated or ongoing litigation, conciliation or mediation or any 
Page 269



LEGAL\53463452v1 

employment or personnel related issues or disputes; 

 does not comply with the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority 
Publicity (2011); 

 relates to a named member of staff. 
If necessary, the Monitoring Officer shall provide guidance for members of the 
public and staff on the above. 
 

3.23 Copies of all questions to be asked will be circulated to all Members and will be 
made available to the public attending the meeting. 
 

3.24 Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that the 
Chair may group together similar questions.  The questioner will read out the 
question as it appears upon the agenda.  A copy of the intended response from 
the Mayor, Member of the Executive or relevant Chair of a Regulatory 
Committee to whom the question is put shall be provided to the questioner at the 
start of the meeting, to enable them to prepare a supplementary question to ask, 
if they so wish, with the Chair’s permission.  If a questioner who has submitted a 
written question is unable to attend the meeting, a copy of the answer given will 
be provided to them following the meeting. 

 

3.25 The Chair, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, may reject a 
supplementary question on any of the grounds in 3.21 above or if the question 
takes the form of a speech.  All questions shall be put and answered without 
discussion. 

 

3.26 Any question asked by a Member of the public together with the answer given 
shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
 
 
Mayor and Cabinet Questions: 

 
3.27 This item is to enable Members to ask questions of the Mayor and Cabinet on 

issues of policy. Any questions of a purely factual or of a detailed nature may 
be noted at the discretion of the Chair and, if so, shall receive a written response 
within 3 weeks following the meeting. The responses shall be published on the 
Council’s website.  
 

3.28 The Chair, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, may reject a question if it: 
 

 is not a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which affects the 
Borough; 

 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the past 6 months; or 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

 relates to a current planning or licensing application or any individual or entity 
in respect of which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review 
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment; 

 relates to anticipated or ongoing litigation, conciliation or mediation or any 
employment or personnel related issues or disputes; 

 relates to a named member of staff. 
If necessary, the Monitoring Officer shall provide guidance for members and staff 
on the above. 
 

Page 270



LEGAL\53463452v1 

 
3.29 The Mayor shall be the first to respond to questions under this item and the 

total time allocated to questions by Members to, and responses from the Mayor, 
shall be 15 minutes. The first two minutes of the Mayor’s 15 minute slot may 
be used by the Mayor to make any announcements. 

 

3.30 Cabinet Members, divided up into three ‘pools’ of three Members each, shall 
thereafter respond to questions by other Members of the Council. The total time 
allocated to each ‘pool’ of Cabinet Members shall be 30 minutes. The three 
Cabinet Members shall each be permitted to use two minutes of this 30 minute 
slot to make announcements. 

 
3.31 Representatives of political groups may give advance notice to the Monitoring 

Officer by 12 noon on the Friday preceding an ordinary Council Meeting, the 
names of the first two Members of their respective political group that they wish 
the Chair to call to ask a question of each Member of the Cabinet, including the 
Mayor. After those Members have been called, the Chair will call Members 
that indicate they have a question, with a presumption of inviting questions from 
as many different Members as possible. Each Member asking a question will 
also be allowed to ask a supplementary question. 

 

3.32 The Mayor and Cabinet Members may submit bulletins to be included in the 
Council agenda papers for this item. Bulletins may summarise the business 
undertaken by a Cabinet Member since the last ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 

Petitions Presented by Members 
 

3.33 Subject to the provisions set out in Rule 3.12, any Member may formally present 
a Member Petition in accordance with the Rules 3.27 – 3.31 below 

 

3.34 In order to be valid, a Member Petition shall contain the signatures of at least 
100 Local People or 50% of the Local People affected by the subject of the 
Petition. 

 
3.35 No Member Petitions shall be received at Annual Council or the Council Tax 

meeting. 
 

3.36 Where more than three Member Petitions are received in accordance with these 
Rules, subject to validation of the necessary number of signatures, the first 
three Valid Member Petitions submitted shall be the petitions which go forward 
to be received at the next Ordinary Council Meeting. The remaining Petitions 
shall not automatically be received at the following Ordinary Council meeting 
but may be resubmitted by the Member subject to Paragraph 3.12. 

 

3.37 The full Petition wording of each of the three Member Petitions to be received 

will be included in the Council agenda. The Member Petitions will be received 
but shall not be the subject of a debate or questions at that or a subsequent 
Council meeting.  Where possible, the Cabinet Member shall provide a response 
at the Council meeting at which the Member’s Petition is received. Where a 
response is not provided at the meeting, a written response shall be provided 
within three weeks of the meeting. 

 
3.38 A copy of the wording of any Petition to be submitted to the Council must be 

delivered to the Monitoring Officer, or his/her nominee by noon, seven clear 
working days before the Council meeting by the Member who is to formally 
present it to the Council meeting. Page 271



LEGAL\53463452v1 

 

The Council Debate Motions; 
 
3.39 The Mayor and the Leader of the Opposition may each put forward a single 

motion for debate at an Ordinary Council meeting on a matter which they 
respectively consider as being of importance to the Borough, which pertains to 
a matter that is within the direct responsibility of the Council,  or where the Council 
could reasonably be expected to lobby on behalf of citizens of the Borough. 
Despite the provisions of paragraph 1.09 and 1.10 above, no amendments may 
be made or proposed to the Council Debate Motion submitted by either the Mayor 
or the Leader of the Opposition under this item. 

 
3.40 The wording of the motion shall be contained on the notice submitted to the 

Monitoring Officer. Such notices shall be received by the Monitoring Officer no 
later than noon of the seventh clear working day prior to the day of the Council 
meeting. The names of the Councillors proposing the motion and seconding the 
motion are to be submitted by 12 noon on the Friday prior to the Council 
meeting and a composite list will be circulated to political group leaders. 

 

 3.41 The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to clarify the wording of 
motions or amendments prior to committing the motion or amendment to the 
agenda and shall be entitled to amend the wording of a motion or 
amendment in consultation with the proposer prior to the meeting to clarify, 
correct or make sense of the particular wording.  Such clarification will always 
be required if a motion:Is not a matter for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough; 

 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the past 6 months; or 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

 relates to a current planning or licensing application or any individual or entity 
in respect of which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review 
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment; 

 relates to anticipated or ongoing litigation, conciliation or mediation or any 
employment or personnel related issues or disputes; 

 relates to a named member of staff. 
 

 
3.41 The Monitoring Officer shall consult the Chair if agreement on such clarification or 

amendment cannot be reached and the Chair may direct that the motion or 
amendment shall not be included in the summons. 

 
3.42 The time available for Council Debate Motions shall be divided equally between 

them subject to each motion having no more than 12 minutes for debate. If the 
amount of time available prior to 10.00 p.m. to debate two Motions for Debate is 
less than 24 minutes, the Chair shall confirm that the Motions have fallen. In the 
event that only one Council Debate Motion is presented to the Council for 
debate, if the time available prior to 10.00 p.m. to debate the Motion is less than 
12 minutes, the Chair shall confirm that the Motion has fallen. 

 
3.43 The proposer of a Motion for Debate shall be allowed to speak for a maximum 

of 3 minutes. All other speakers shall be restricted to a maximum of 3 minutes. 
There shall be no more than four speakers (including the proposer) called to 
speak in respect of each Motion. 

3.44 The proposer of a Motion for Debate shall have no right of reply but, a speaker 
Page 272



LEGAL\53463452v1 

from the same Political Group as the proposer shall close the debate and if 
necessary, the time limit referred to above shall be extended to enable the speech 
to be concluded and the vote taken. Despite the general provisions of paragraph 
1.20 above, it shall not be in order for a Motion to become the subject of a poll 
vote. 

 
3.45 If any Motion is considered to be not in order it shall be submitted to the Mayor 

for consideration. If the Mayor considers that the Motion is out of order, the 
Member responsible for proposing the Motion shall be informed. 

 
3.46 Any Motion, which is listed, if not moved at the meeting shall be deemed to 

have fallen. 
 
3.47 For the purposes of these rules, a Political Group shall be as defined by statute. 
 
3.48 No Motions for Debate shall be submitted or dealt with at the Annual Council 

Meeting or at an Ordinary Meeting called for the purposes of setting the Council 
Tax. 

 

Annual Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 
3.49 In accordance with 2.03 the Annual report of the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee shall be received at the Annual Council meeting. 
 

3.50 The overall time, which may be devoted to questioning the Annual Report of the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee, shall be not more than 20 minutes. The 
Chair of the Committee (or in the absence of the Chair, the Deputy Chair) and 
the Chairs of each Sub-Committee shall introduce and answer questions on the 
Report. The Chair of the Committee shall have not more than 3 minutes’ speaking 
time and the Chairs of each Sub-Committee shall each have not more than 3 
minutes’ speaking time to introduce the report. 

 
3.51 For the remaining time available, the report will be open to questions. In the 

event that any recommendation in the report has not been reached when the 
overall time limit has expired, it shall be put immediately to the vote. 

 
3.52 Any Member, except the Seconder of the Report, may ask the Chair, Deputy or 

Vice Chair, as appropriate, not more than two questions on each paragraph of 
the Report. 

 

Annual Reports 

 
3.53 In accordance with 2.03 the Annual reports shall be received at the Annual Council 

meeting. 
 
3.54 The overall time which may be devoted to questioning any Annual Reports shall 

be not more than ten minutes per report. The Chair of the relevant Committee 
(or in the absence of the Chair, the Vice-Chair) shall introduce and answer 

questions on the report.  The Chair of the Committee shall not have more 
than 3 minutes speaking time to introduce the report. 

 

3.55 For the remaining time available, the report will be open to questions. In the 
event that any recommendation in the report has not been reached when the 
overall time limit has expired, it shall be put immediately to the vote. 

 

3.56 Any Member, except the seconder of the report, may ask the Chair or Page 273



LEGAL\53463452v1 

Vice- Chair (as appropriate) not more than two questions on each 
paragraph of the report. 

3.56 (i) The outgoing Young Mayor, elected annually, will be permitted to present 
their annual report to an ordinary meeting of the Council in October of each 
year or 

  as close to the end of the Young Mayor’s annual term as possible. Following 
the presentation of the annual report, the report will be open to questions from 
Members. 

(ii) The overall time available for this item will be ten minutes. 

Recommendations from Executive and Committees 

3.57 The Mayor or Chair of the Committee making a recommendation from Executive 
or a Committee may exercise a right to introduce the recommendation; in so 
doing the Mayor or Chair of the Committee shall speak for a maximum of 3 
minutes. 

3.58 The recommendation shall be seconded and shall immediately be put to the vote 
unless moved to debate or deferred debate. 

3.59 Any Member supported by a seconder, may ask that a recommendation be 
debated immediately and the recommendation shall be debated. The time 
available for Council to debate recommendations shall be no more than 21 
minutes. In the event that the amount of time available to debate the 
recommendation prior to 9.30pm to debate the recommendation is less than 21 
minutes, the Chair shall confirm that the Debate has been deferred. 

3.60 The proposer of a Debate on a Recommendation shall be allowed to speak for a 
maximum of 3 minutes. All other speakers shall be restricted to a maximum of 3 
minutes. There shall be no more than six speakers (including the proposer) called 
to speak in respect of each Recommendation. 

3.61 At the conclusion of a Debate on a Recommendation it shall be put to the vote.  
 
3.62 No more than one recommendation shall be the subject of debate at any one 

time.  
 

3.63 In the event that any Executive, Cabinet or Committee recommendations have 
not been reached when the time limit for the meeting has expired, those 
recommendations shall immediately be put to the vote without further debate. 

 

3.64 Save for the rules in respect of recommendations from Executive and Committees 
at 3.57 to 3.63, the rules in respect of Council Meetings in this section 3 do not 
apply in the event that the Council is being asked to consider a Budget or Policy 
proposal of the Executive within the meaning of the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules at Part 4C of this Constitution.  When considering a Budget or 
Policy proposal of the Executive within the meaning of the Budget and Policy 
Procedure Rules at Part 4C of this Constitution, the rules of that Part must be 
applied. 

 

Exclusion of the Annual Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 

3.65 The rules in respect of recommendations from Executive and Committees at 3.57 
to 3.63 do not apply to any recommendations contained in the Annual Report 
of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 

 
Executive and Committee Recommendations Deferred for Debate  

 Page 274



LEGAL\53463452v1 

3.66 Any Member supported by a seconder, may ask that a recommendation be 
deferred for debate and the recommendation shall immediately stand deferred. 

 
Executive and Committee Recommendations referred back to Executive or 
Committee 

3.67 Should a Member move the referral back of a recommendation from Committee 
or the Executive for amendment or any other reason, the Member shall indicate 
in writing to the Chair their intention by way of the form of any amendment 
proposed to the recommendation, or the reason for the recommendation to be 
referred back to the Executivet or relevant Committee for further consideration the 
later of 7 days prior to the meeting or within 24 hours of receiving the relevant 
report. 

3.68 The time allowed for consideration of each Executive or Committee 
recommendation that is the subject of a referral back debate shall not exceed 
21 minutes, or 6 speakers in total. The Member moving the amendment or 
reference back shall speak for not more than five minutes. The member of the 
Executive or Committee Chair exercising a right of reply shall not speak for more 
than four minutes. Up to four other speakers shall be called, including the 
Member seconding the motion, each of whom shall not speak for more than 
three minutes. 

3.69 If a Member simply seconds the motion they shall be deemed to have reserved 
the right to speak until later in the debate. 

3.70 In the event that the amount of time available for the referral back debate prior to 
9.30pm is less than 21 minutes, the Chair shall confirm that the referral back 
debate has been deferred. 

Delegation of decision on recommendations 

3.71 In any circumstance where the Council decides not to take a decision on a 
recommendation, it may delegate that decision to such party as it sees fit consistent 
with its legal obligations 

 Suspension of Council Procedure Rules 

3.72 All of these Rules except for Paragraph 3.3 may be suspended by motion on 
notice or without notice by a simple majority vote. Suspension can only be for the 
duration of the meeting.  

 

4 THE COUNCIL TAX MEETING 
 

4.1 The Council Tax shall be discussed annually at a meeting of the Council called 
for the purpose of discussing the proposed level of Council Tax, the Budget and 
to deal with questions from Members on those matters. There shall be no Public 
Questions, Petition Debates or Council Debate Motions. The Mayor shall exercise 
discretion as to any other relevant urgent business that shall be included on the 
agenda. 

 
4.2 The business to be transacted shall include approval of the Minutes of the 

previous Council meeting. Unless the Chair or the Council agrees otherwise, 
the meeting will begin at 6.30 p.m. and terminate no later than 9.35 p.m. 

 
1. The business at the Council Tax Meeting shall be as follows, taken in 

the sequence indicated unless otherwise directed by the Chair or agreed 
following a motion carried: 

 

1. Apologies for absence; Page 275



LEGAL\53463452v1 

 
2. Minutes of the previous meeting; 

 
3. Disclosures of interests; 

 

4. Urgent business (if any); 

 
5. Announcements by the Chair, the Mayor, Head of Paid 

Service and/or Returning Officer; 
 

6. Council tax and Budget report 

 Questions to the Mayor and Cabinet Member for Finance 
incorporating questions on the items contained in the Council Tax 
Report ; 

 Scrutiny Business report – specific to the Council Tax setting ; 

 Council Tax Debate –Vote 
 

Council Tax and Budget report: Questions to Mayor and Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

 
4.3 This report will contain the recommendations of the Mayor on the 

Council tax and Budget to Council 
 

4.4 This item is to enable Members to ask questions of the Mayor and Cabinet for 
Finance on a matter related to the Council Tax or draft Budget. Any questions of 
a detailed nature regarding a specific budget item shall be noted and shall 
receive a written response within 3 weeks following the meeting. The responses 
shall be published on the Council’s website. Questions asked under this item are 
also subject to the rules detailed in 3.21 above. In case of doubt, the Chair shall 
decide whether it is appropriate for the matter to be considered at a Council Tax 
Meeting and shall disallow any questions considered inappropriate 

4.5 The Mayor shall be the first to respond to questions under this item and the 
total time allocated to questions by Members to, and responses from the Mayor 
shall be 15 minutes. The first three minutes of the Mayor’s 15 minute slot may 
be used by the Mayor to make any announcements. The Cabinet Member for 
Finance shall be the second party to respond to questions under this item and the 
total time allocated to questions by Members to, and responses from the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, shall be 15 minutes. The first three minutes of the Cabinet 
Member for Finances’ 15 minute slot may be used by the Cabinet Member for 
Finance to make any announcements. 

 
4.6 Representatives of political groups can give advance notice to the Monitoring 

Officer by 12 noon on the Friday preceding the Council Tax Meeting, the 
names of the first two Members of their respective political group that they wish 
the Chair to call to ask a question. After those Members have been called, the 
Chair will call Members that indicate they have a question, with a presumption 
of inviting questions from as many different Members as possible. Each Member 
asking a question will also be allowed to ask a supplementary question. 

 
 

Business Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 

4.8 The Business Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall comprise a 
written scrutiny update following the Scrutiny Council Tax meeting with a brief 
opportunity for questions to the Chair of the Committee, subject to a time limit of 

Page 276



LEGAL\53463452v1 

10 minutes including up to 2 minutes for announcements. 
 

Council Tax Debate 
 
4.9 The Mayor or other Cabinet Member in moving the motion for the Council Budget 

shall have not more than 10 minutes. The seconder of the motion shall be 
deemed to have reserved their right to speak later in the debate. The Leader of 
the Opposition shall have not more than 10 minutes to speak. 

4.10 Five further Members from each Group shall be called alternately by the Chair 
and shall each speak for not more than 3 minutes. 

 

4.11 The Chair shall exercise complete discretion in calling any other Member from a 
third or other Group or any ungrouped Member to speak for not more than 3 
minutes each, before inviting the Mayor or other Cabinet Member to wind up the 
debate. The Mayor, or other Cabinet Member, in exercising a right of reply shall be 
allowed to speak for a maximum of 5 minutes. 

 
4.12 At the conclusion of all speeches, the Chair shall immediately put the Council 

Tax and budget report recommendations to the vote. Immediately after any vote 
is taken at a budget decision meeting of the Council there must be recorded in 
the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the names of the persons who 
cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who abstained from voting. 
For these purposes, references to a vote are references to a vote on any decision 
related to the making of the calculation or the issuing of the precept as the case 
may be. The provisions of this paragraph 4.12 are not subject to the requirements 
of paragraph 1.20 above. 
 

5 Extraordinary Meetings 
 

5.1 Extraordinary Meetings of the Council may be called by the 
 
i) Council by resolution; 
 
ii) Chair; 
 
iii) Monitoring Officer, Chief Executive and/or the Chief Finance Officer; 

 
5.2 Any five or more Members may submit a requisition for an Extraordinary Council 

Meeting. The requisition shall bear the signatures of the Members and shall 
specify the business to be transacted at the meeting. If the Chair does not call an 
Extraordinary Council Meeting within 7 days of receiving a valid requisition, the 
Members submitting that requisition may themselves call such a meeting. 

 
5.3 The Chair shall determine the order of business in respect of any Extraordinary 

Meeting. 
 

5.4 The business to be transacted may include approval of the Minutes of the previous 
Council meeting as the first item and confirmation of the date of the next 
meeting as the last item. Unless the Council agrees otherwise, the time limit 
for each remaining item of business shall be equal to that for 6 speakers. The 
proposer of the item shall be allowed to speak for a maximum of 5 minutes. The 
Mayor, other Cabinet Member, or Committee Chair exercising a right of reply 
shall be allowed to speak for a maximum of 5 minutes. Four other speakers shall 
be permitted, each restricted to a maximum of 3 minutes. 

 

5.5 At the conclusion of the sixth speaker, the Chair shall immediately put the item Page 277



LEGAL\53463452v1 

of business to the vote. 
 

6 SPECIAL MEETINGS 
 

6.1 The Council at an Ordinary or Extraordinary Meeting may resolve to hold a 
Special Meeting for the purposes of admitting former Members to the Roll of 
Honorary Aldermen and Alderwomen, or for the grant of Freedom of the Borough 
to any person, organisation or body that meets the criteria approved by the 
Council and as set out below: 

Honorary Aldermen and Alderwomen 

 
Former Members of the London Borough of Croydon, nominated by the 
Leader of a political group represented on the Council, who have either: 

 
(i) rendered eminent service in their capacity as Member, considering the 
contribution that they have made to the borough, including roles served 
and how their service rendered is above and beyond that expected of all 
Members; or 

 
(ii) served a period of twelve years on the Council 

 
Freedom of the Borough 

 
Persons of distinction who have rendered eminent service to Croydon. 

6.2 The Chair shall determine the order of business in respect of any Special 
Council Meeting. 

November 2018 
Council 
Procedure Rules 

Part 4A / Page 19 of 20 

Page 278



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 1 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.B - Access to Information Procedure Rules 

I. Access to information procedure rules: Council, Council non- 
executive committees and Scrutiny and Overview Committee 

 
1 SCOPE 

 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee and all other non-executive Committees and any non-executive 
Sub-Committees which together are referred to hereafter as “non-executive 
meetings”. 

 
2 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in the Constitution or the law. 

 
3 RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

 

Members of the public and media may attend all non-executive meetings of 
the Council, Committees and Sub-Committees subject only to the exceptions 
in these rules. 

 

4. NOTICE OF MEETINGS 
 

The Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority give at least five clear 
working days’ notice of any meeting (unless called at a later time) by posting 
details of the meeting at Bernard Weatherill House (8 Mint Walk, Croydon) 
and on the Council’s website. 

 

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

The Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority, make copies of the 
agenda and reports open to the public and press available for inspection at 
Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon at least five clear working 
days before the meeting or as soon as available if later. These documents 
will also be posted on the Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 
If an item is added to the agenda later, as an item of urgent business at the 
direction of the Chair, the Monitoring Officer shall make each such report 
available to the public and press and open to inspection as soon as the report 
is completed and sent to the Mayor and/or councillors as applicable.  

Page 279



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 2 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

6 SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 

The Authority shall supply copies of: 
 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 

(b) any background documents identified in the report; 
 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 

 
The Authority shall make available copies of the following for six years after a 
meeting listed in paragraph 1 of these rules: 

 
(a) the minutes of the meeting, or records of decisions taken together with 

reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the 
meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or 
confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of the proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

 

(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of Background Papers 

The Lead Officer named at the head of every report shall set out at the end of 
every report a list of those documents (under the heading Background 
Papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
 

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report. 
 

The List of Background Papers shall not include published works or those 
which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in rule 10 below. 

Page 280



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 3 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 

Every Corporate Director shall make arrangements to ensure that documents 
referred to in any report written by them or by a member of their staff are 
available for inspection for four years after the date of the non-executive 
meeting concerned. One copy of each of the background documents listed 
shall be retained for this purpose. 

 
9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

 
These Rules, as part of the Constitution of the Council, shall be regarded as 
the written summary of the public’s rights to attend non-executive meetings 
and to inspect and copy documents. These Rules together with the whole 
Constitution are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint 
Walk, Croydon, and shall be available on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO NON-EXECUTIVE 
MEETINGS 

 
Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

 
The public must be excluded from non-executive meetings whenever it is 
likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed in breach of 
the obligation of confidence. 

 

Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude Public 
 

The public may be excluded from non-executive meetings whenever it is likely 
in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed 

 
Where the non-executive meeting shall determine any person’s civil rights or 
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the non-executive meeting 
shall be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the 
reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
Meaning of Confidential Information 

 
Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

Page 281



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 4 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Meaning of Exempt Information 
 

Exempt information means information falling within the categories set out in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and 
as reproduced in Appendix 1 attached to these rules. 

 
Information falling within those categories is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the Council as local 
planning authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 
Licensing Sub-Committee 

 
At any meeting of a Licensing Sub-Committee convened for the purpose of a 
hearing under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003, the Press and Public 
may be excluded at any time to enable the Sub-Committee to deliberate in 
private on any matter. 

 

11 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the 
public to reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in 
accordance with Rule 10, the non-executive meeting is likely not to be open to 
the public. Such reports shall be marked “Not for publication” together with the 
category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
II. Access to information procedure rules: Mayor, Cabinet and 
Cabinet Committees and sub-committees 

12 SCOPE 
 

These rules apply to all meetings of the Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and all 
other executive Committees and executive Joint Committees which together 
are referred to hereafter as “executive meetings”. 

 
For the purposes of these Rules “executive decision” means a decision made 
or to be made by a decision maker in connection with the discharge of a 
function which is the responsibility of the Executive of a local authority. 

 

A decision is regarded as being “in connection with the discharge of a function 
which is the responsibility of the Executive” if it is closely connected to the 
discharge of the executive function in question and not merely an 
administrative action. 

 
For the purposes of these Rules “decision maker” means the decision making 
body by which or the individual by whom an executive decision is made. 

Page 282



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 5 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

13 GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO INFORMATION AND REPORTING 
OF MEETINGS 

 

13.1 Nothing in these Rules is to be taken to authorise or require the disclosure of 
confidential information in breach of the obligation of confidence. 

 
13.2 Nothing in these Rules— 

 
(a) authorises or requires a local authority to disclose to the public or make 

available for public inspection any document or part of document if, in 
the opinion of the proper officer, that document or part of a document 
contains or may contain confidential information; or 

 
(b) requires a local authority to disclose to the public or make available for 

public inspection any document or part of document if, in the opinion of 
the proper officer, that document or part of a document contains or is 
likely to contain exempt information or the advice of a political adviser 
or assistant. 

 

13.3 Where a member of the executive or an officer makes an executive decision 
in accordance with executive arrangements, nothing in these Rules— 

 
(a) authorises or requires documents relating to that decision to be 

disclosed to the public, or made available for public inspection where, 
the documents contain confidential information; or 

 

(b) requires documents relating to that decision to be disclosed to the 
public, or made available for public inspection where the disclosure of 
the documents would, in the opinion of the member or officer making 
the decision, give rise to the disclosure of exempt information or the 
advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

 
13.4 Nothing in these Rules prohibits the disclosure of a document, should it be 

appropriate to do so in the opinion of the Proper Officer, in which all 
confidential and exempt information or the advice of a political adviser or 
assistant has been redacted.  Disclosure with one or more redactions would 
not be appropriate where, as a result of redacting information, the document 
or copy provided would be misleading or not reasonable comprehensible. 
 

13.5 For the purposes of these Rules: 
 

13.5.1 Reporting on proceedings at a meeting means- 
 

(a) Filming, photography, or making an audio recording of the 
proceedings at the meeting; 

 
(b) Using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or 

hear proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later; or 
 

(c) Reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at the meeting, 

Page 283



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 6 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

orally or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available to a 
person not present, as the meeting takes place or later.  

 
13.5.2Whilst the meeting is open to the public, any person attending is 

permitted to report the proceedings; 
 

13.5.3 Subject to 13.5.4, 

 A person who attends the meeting to report the proceedings 
may use any communication methods, including the internet, to 
publish, post or otherwise share the results of their reporting 
activities; and 

 Publication and dissemination of the report may take place at 
the time of the meeting or occur after the meeting. 

 

13.5.4 Paragraphs 13.5.1 - 13.5.3 above do not permit the oral reporting or 
oral commentary on a meeting as it takes place if the person reporting 
or providing the commentary is present at the meeting. In addition, any 
reporting is subject to the Chair’s power to require that any person 
terminate their reporting if such reporting is distracting, disruptive or 
contrary to the good order or conduct of the meeting. 

 
13.5.5 Where the public are excluded from a meeting pursuant to these Rules, no 

person may report on the proceedings using methods which can be used 
without that person’s presence at the meeting or which enable persons not 
present at the meeting to see or hear the proceedings at the meeting as it 
takes place or later; 

13.7 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in the Constitution or the law. 

 
14. RIGHTS TO ATTEND EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
Members of the public and media may attend all executive meetings of the 
Cabinet and Executive Committees, Sub-Committees and Joint Committees 
subject only to the exceptions in these rules. 
The public must be excluded from a meeting during an item of business 
whenever the decision-making body passes a resolution to that effect where 
it is likely, in view of the nature of the item of business, that if members of 
the public were present during that item, exempt information (as defined in 
Appendix 1) or confidential information would be disclosed to them in 
breach of the obligation of confidence.  Such a resolution must: 
 
(i) identify the proceedings, or the part of the proceedings to which it 

applies; and 
 

(ii) state by reference to the descriptions at Appendix 1 the description of 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public. 

 

The public may only be excluded under the provisions in rule 14 for part or 
parts of the meeting during which it is likely that confidential information or 
exempt information would be disclosed in breach of the obligation of 
confidence. 

Page 284



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 7 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 
Without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress or prevent disorderly 
conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting, the Executive and its Committees 
do not have the power to exclude members of the public from a meeting while it 
is open to the public.  
 
While a meeting of the Executive or one of its Committees is open to the public, 
any person attending the meeting for the purpose of reporting the proceedings 
is, so far as practicable, to be afforded reasonable facilities for taking their 
report.  
 
The Council must ensure that members of the public are aware that a meeting 
is to be broadcast where the Council or a person attending the meeting for the 
purpose of reporting proceedings intends to use facilities to record or broadcast 
the proceedings. 
 

15 NOTICE OF PUBLIC EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

The Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority give at least five clear 
working days’ notice of any executive meeting (unless called at a later time) 
by posting details of the executive meeting at Bernard Weatherill House (8 
Mint Walk, Croydon) and on the Council’s website 

 

16 ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE PUBLIC EXECUTIVE 
MEETINGS 

 
The Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority, make copies of the 
agenda and reports open to the public and press available for inspection at 
Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon at least five clear working 
days before the executive meeting or as soon as available if later. These 

 

documents will also be posted on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 

If an item is added to the agenda later, as an item of urgent business at the 
direction of the Chair, the Monitoring Officer shall make each such report 
available to the public and press and open to inspection as soon as the report 
is available to Members attending the executive meeting. 

 
17. NOTICE OF PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
At least twenty eight clear days before a private executive meeting the 
Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority, make available for 
inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and on the 
Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk), a notice of intention to hold a 
meeting or part thereof in private and the reasons for doing so. 

 
The Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority make available for 
inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and on the 
Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk), at least five clear working days 
before the date of the private executive meeting, a further notice of its 

Page 285

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 8 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

intention to hold a meeting or part thereof in private. The notice shall include 
the reasons for holding the meeting in private, any representations received 
about why the meeting should be open to the public and a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations. 
 
The Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring 
Officer and their nominees are entitled to attend any meeting of the 
Executive and its Committees. 
 

 

18. URGENT PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

Where the date by which an executive meeting must be held makes 
compliance with Rule 17 impractical, the executive meeting may only be held 
in private where the decision making body has obtained agreement from: 

 
(a) the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; or 

 
(b) if the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee is unable to 
act, the Chair of Council, or 

 
(c) if neither the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee nor 
the Chair of Council is able to act, the Deputy Chair of Council. 

 
that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
As soon as reasonably practicable after agreement has been obtained to hold 
a private meeting, the Monitoring Officer shall, on behalf of the Authority, make 
available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon, 
CR0 1EA and on the Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk), a notice setting 
out the reasons why the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

Page 286

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 9 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

19. ACCESS TO REPORTS BEFORE PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

Where the Monitoring Officer considers that whole or any part of a report 
relates to matters during which it is likely the meeting will be a private meeting 
the report or part thereof shall not be available for inspection by the public. 

 
Where the whole or any part of a report for a public meeting is not available 
for inspection by the public— 

 
(a) every copy of the whole report or of the part of the report, as the case 

may be, must be marked “not for publication”; and 
 

(b) there must be stated on every copy of the whole or the part of the 
report— 

 
(i) that it contains confidential information; or 

 

(ii) by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 the description of exempt information by 
virtue of which the decision-making body discharging the 
executive function are likely to exclude the public during the item 
to which the report relates. 

 
20. RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

 
Executive decisions will only be deemed to have been made when they have 
been recorded and publicised in accordance with this Constitution. 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable after any meeting of a decision-making 
body at which an executive decision was made, the Monitoring Officer must 
ensure that a written statement is produced for every executive decision made 
which includes the following information — 

 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 
 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 
decision-making body at the meeting at which the decision was made; 

 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which 

is declared by any member of the decision-making body which made 
the decision; and 

 
(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 

granted by the Head of Paid Service. 

Page 287



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 10 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

21. RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS 
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after an individual Member has made an 
executive decision, the Monitoring Officer must ensure that a written 
statement is produced for that executive decision which includes the 
following information — 

 
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

 
(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

 
(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

Member when making the decision ; 
 

(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member 
who is consulted by the Member which relates to the decision; and 

 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
22 RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE BY OFFICERS 

 
As soon as reasonably practicable after an individual officer has made an 
executive decision, the Monitoring Officer must ensure that a written 
statement is produced for that executive decision which includes the 
following information — 

 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 
 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer 
when making the decision ; 

 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member 

who is consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; and 
 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
23. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE EXECUTIVE MEETING 

 
The Authority shall make available copies of the following for six years after 
an executive meeting: 

Page 288



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 11 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) the minutes of the executive meeting, or records of decisions taken 
together with reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings 
when the executive meeting was not open to the public or which 
disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of the proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the executive meeting; and 

 
(d) reports relating to items when the executive meeting was open to the 

public. 
 
 
24. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

24.1 List of Background Papers 
 

The Lead Officer named at the head of every report shall set out at the end of 
every report a list of those documents (under the heading Background 
Papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
 

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and 
 

(c) does not include published works 
 

The list of Background Papers shall not include published works or those 
which disclose exempt information, confidential information or advice of a 
political advisor or assistant as defined in Rule 27 below. 

 
 
 

24.2 Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 

Every Corporate Director shall make arrangements to ensure that any 
background papers listed in any report written by them or by a member of 
their staff are available for inspection for four years after the date of the 
executive decision concerned. One copy of each of the background 
documents listed shall be retained for this purpose. 

 

25. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 

The Authority shall supply copies of: 

Page 289



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 12 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 

(b) any background documents identified in the report which are open to 
public inspection; 

 
(c) such further statements or particulars as are necessary to indicate the 

nature of the items contained in the agenda; and 
 

(d) if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit in the case of any item, a copy of any 
other document supplied to Members of the Executive in connection 
with the item 

 
(e) Any records prepared in accordance with Rules 20-22 and any reports 

considered by the individual Member or officer and relevant to the 
decision taken, or where only part of the report is relevant to such 
decision, only that part. 

 

to any person on request and payment of a charge for postage, copying or 
other necessary charge for transmission. The supply of copies is subject to 
the restriction that such supply shall not occur in respect of documentation 
which is not open to the public by virtue of containing confidential information, 
exempt information or advice of a political advisor or assistance as set out in 
Rule 27. 

 
 
26. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

 

These Rules, as part of the Constitution of the Council, shall be regarded as 
the written summary of the public’s rights to attend executive meetings and to 
inspect, copy and request copy documents. These Rules together with the 
whole Constitution are available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 
Mint Walk, Croydon, and shall be available on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk). 

 
 
27 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

The public must be excluded from Executive meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
Meaning of Confidential Information 

 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms (however expressed) which forbid its public 

Page 290



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 13 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by virtue of a 
prohibition by or under any enactment or by a Court Order. 

 

Exempt Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 
 

The public shall be excluded from executive meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
Where the executive meeting shall determine any person’s civil rights or 
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the executive meeting shall 
be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons 
specified in Article 6. 

 
Meaning of Exempt Information 

 

Exempt information means information falling within the categories set out in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and 
as reproduced in Appendix 1 attached to these rules. 

 
Information falling within those categories is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the Council as local 
planning authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 

Exclusion to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour 
 

The public must be excluded from a meeting during an item of business 
whenever a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the 
public in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehavior at an 
executive meeting. 

 
28. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 

 
If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the 
public to reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in 
accordance with Rule 27, the executive meeting is likely not to be open to the 
public. Such reports shall be marked “Not for publication” together with a 
statement that it contains confidential information or if it contains exempt 
information, the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
29 KEY DECISION RULES 

 
In these Rules a “key decision” is as defined in Article 13.02 namely an 

executive decision, which is likely to— 

Page 291



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 14 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure, or making 
savings, of more than £1,000,000 or such smaller sum which 
the decision-taker considers is significant having regard to 
the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates; or 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or 
working in an area comprising two or more Wards in the 
Borough. 

 
Key decision rules apply only in respect of Executive decisions and not to 
non-executive decisions. 

 
30 PUBLICITY IN CONNECTION WITH KEY DECISIONS: 

 
30.1 Subject to Rule 31 (General Exception) and Rule 32 (Special Urgency) a Key 

Decision may not be taken unless: 
 

(a) a notice has been made available for inspection at Bernard Weatherill 
House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and published on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk) in connection with the matter in question; 

 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the notice; 
and 

 

(c) if the decision is to be taken at an executive meeting, notice of the 
executive meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 15 (Notice 
of executive meetings) and where applicable Rule 17 (Procedures 
before private meetings). 

 

30.2 The notice shall contain matters, which shall be the subject of a Key Decision 
to be taken by the decision maker in accordance with any agreed Protocol in 
the course of the discharge of an executive function and shall state: 

 
(a) that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 

authority; 
 

(b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 
 

(c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual's name, and 
title if any and, where the decision maker is a decision-making body, its 
name and a list of its members; 

 
(d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be 

made; 

Page 292

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 15 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter in respect of which the key 
decision is to be made; 

 
(f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 
 

(g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 
decision maker; and 

 
(h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 

become available. 
 
30.3 Where, in relation to any matter— 

 
(a) the public are to be excluded under Rule 27 from the meeting at which 

the matter is to be discussed; or 
 

(b) documents relating to the decision contain confidential information, 
exempt information or advice of a political advisor or assistant, 

 
the notice shall contain particulars of the matter but may not contain any 
confidential information, exempt information or particulars of the advice of a 
political adviser or assistant. 

 
31 GENERAL EXCEPTION 

 
31.1 Subject to Rule 32 (Special Urgency), where the publication of the intention to 

make a key decision under Rule 30 is impracticable, that decision may only be 
made where— 

 
(a) the Chairman of Scrutiny and Overview Committee has been informed 

of the matter about which the decision is to be made by notice in writing 
or where there is no Chairman, each Member of the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee ; 

 
(b) the Monitoring Officer has made available for inspection at Bernard 

Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk Croydon and published on the Council’s 
website (www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of the notice provided in 
accordance with Rule 31.1(a) above; and 

 
(c) Five clear working days have elapsed following the day on which the 

notice required by Rule 31.1(a) was made available for inspection and 
published on the Council’s website. 

 
31.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after Rule 31.1 has been complied with, 

the Monitoring Officer shall make available for inspection at Bernard 
Weatherill 

Page 293

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 16 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon and published on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of a notice setting out the reasons why 
compliance with Rule 30 are impractical 

 
32 CASES OF SPECIAL URGENCY 

 
32.1 Where the date by which a key decision must be made, makes compliance 

with Rule 31 (General Exception) impracticable, the decision may only be 
made where the decision maker has obtained agreement from— 

 
(a) the Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; or 

 
(b) if there is no such person, or if the Chairman of the Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee is unable to act, the Chair of Council; or 
 

(c) where there is no Chairman of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or 
Chair of Council, the Deputy Chair of the Council, 

 
that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
32.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after Rule 32.1 has been complied with 

the Monitoring Officer shall make available for inspection at Bernard 
Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon, CR0 1EA and published on the 
Council’s website (www.croydon.gov.uk) a copy of a notice setting out the 
reasons that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred 

 
 

33. REPORTS TO COUNCIL: WHEN SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW 

COMMITTEE CAN REQUIRE REPORTS 

 
33.1 Where an executive decision has been made and— 

 
(a) was not treated as being a key decision; and 

 

(b) Scrutiny and Overview Committee are of the opinion that the decision 
should have been treated as a key decision, 

 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee may require the Mayor or executive 
decision maker which is responsible for the decision to submit a report to the 
Council within such reasonable period as the Committee may specify. 

 
33.2 The report must include details of— 

 

(a) the decision and the reasons for the decision; 
 

(b) the decision maker by which the decision was made; and 

Page 294

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


May 2016 Part 4B / Page 17 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(c) if the Mayor and/or Cabinet are of the opinion that the decision was not 
a key decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

 
33.3 The power to require a report rests with the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee who shall raise it by resolution passed at a meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
33.4 The Mayor and/or Cabinet shall submit a report to the next available meeting 

of the Council. The report shall set out the date of the decision, particulars of 
the decision, the individual or body making the decision and if the Mayor is of 
the opinion that it was not a key decision, the reasons for that opinion.  There 
should also be details of any alternative decisions that were considered and 
why they were rejected and the names of any member who has declared a 
conflict of interest in relation to the decision (if any).  However, if the next 
meeting of the Council is within 7 working days of the resolution of the 
Committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. 

 
 

34. REPORTS TO COUNCIL ON USE OF SPECIAL URGENCY 

 
The Mayor shall submit to Council quarterly a report containing details of each 
executive decision taken during the period since the last report was submitted 
to Council where the making of the decision was agreed as urgent in 
accordance with Rule 32 (Special Urgency) 

 
The report submitted shall include— 

 
(a) particulars of each decision made; and 

 
(b) a summary of the matters in respect of which each decision was made. 

 

35. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOR MEMBERS OF 

THE COUNCIL 

35.1 Subject to Rules 35.4 and 35.5. , any document which— 
 

(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 
Council; and 

 
(b) contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a public 

executive meeting, 
 

shall be available for inspection by any Member of the Council. 
 
35.2 Any document which is required by Rule 35.1 to be available for inspection by 

any Member of the Council shall be available for such inspection for at least 
five clear working days before the executive meeting except that— 

Page 295



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 18 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) where the executive meeting is convened at shorter notice, such a 
document must be available for inspection when the executive meeting 
is convened; and 

 
(b) where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, a document 

that would be required to be available in relation to that item, shall be 
available for inspection when the item is added to the agenda. 

 
35.3 Subject to Rules 35.4 and 35.5 any document which— 

 
(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 

Council; and 
 

(b) contains material relating to— 
(i) any business transacted at a private executive meeting; 

 
(ii) any decision made by an individual Member in accordance with 

executive arrangements; or 
 

(iii) any decision made by an officer in accordance with executive 
arrangements, 

 
shall be available for inspection by any Member of Council within 24 hours of 
the conclusion of the meeting or where an executive decision is made by an 
individual member or an officer, within 24 hours after the decision has been 
made. 

 

35.4 If it appears to the Monitoring Officer that any of the information or 
documentation referred to in Rules 35.1 or 35.3 discloses confidential 
information, exempt information of a description falling within Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 or that compliance with 
Rules 35.1 or 35.3 in relation to a document or part of a document would 
involve the disclosure of advice provided by a political adviser or assistant, the 
document or part thereof is not required to be available to Members. 

 

35.5 Notwithstanding Rule 35.4 the document/s shall be available for inspection by 
Members if the information is information of a description for the time being 
falling within— 

 

(a) paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act (except to the extent that 
the information relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or 
to the Council in the course of negotiations for a contract); or 

 

(b) paragraph 6 of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act. 

Page 296



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 19 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

36. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOR MEMBERS OF 
SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEES 

 
36.1 Subject to Rule 36.2 a Member of Scrutiny and Overview Committee is 

entitled to a copy, no later than 10 clear working days after the Executive 
receives the request, of any document which— 

 
(a) is in the possession or under the control of the Executive of the 

Council; and 
 

(b) contains material relating to— 
 

(i) any business transacted at an executive meeting; 
 

(ii) any decision made by an individual Member in accordance with 
executive arrangements; or 

 

(iii) any decision made by an officer in accordance with executive 
arrangements, 

 
36.2 No member of Scrutiny and Overview is entitled to a copy— 

 
(a) of any such document or part of a document as contains exempt or 

confidential information unless that information is relevant to— 
 

(i) an action or decision that that member is reviewing or 
scrutinising; or 

 

(ii) any review contained in any programme of work of such a 
committee or sub-committee of such a committee; or 

 
(b) of a document or part of a document containing advice provided by a 

political adviser or assistant. 
 

36.3 Where the Executive determines that a Member of Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document or part of any such 
document for a reason set out Rules 36.1 or 36.2 it must provide Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for that 
decision. 

Page 297



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 20 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (as amended) 

SCHEDULE 12A 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION: EXEMPT INFORMATION 

PART 1 

DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 

This appendix to Part 4B of the Constitution is referred to at Rules 10 and 27 
 

 

1. Information relating to any individual. 
 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 
 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
PART 2 

QUALIFICATIONS: ENGLAND 

8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by 
virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under— 

Page 298



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 21 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

(a) the Companies Act 1985; 
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 1993. 

 
9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 

which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. 

 
10. Information which— 

 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above, 

 
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

PART 3 

INTERPRETATION: ENGLAND 
 

11. —(1) In Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule— 
 

"employee" means a person employed under a contract of service; 
 

"financial or business affairs" includes contemplated, as well as past or 
current, activities; 

 
"labour relations matter" means— 

(a) any of the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 
218(1) of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992 (matters which may be the subject of a trade dispute, within the 
meaning of that Act); or 
(b) any dispute about a matter falling within paragraph (a) above; 

and for the purposes of this definition the enactments mentioned in paragraph 
(a) above, with the necessary modifications, shall apply in relation to office- 
holders under the authority as they apply in relation to employees of the 
authority; 

 

"office-holder", in relation to the authority, means the holder of any paid office 
appointments to which are or may be made or confirmed by the authority or 

Page 299



May 2016 Part 4B / Page 22 of 21 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
As amended Feb 2019 

 

 

by any joint board on which the authority is represented or by any person who 
holds any such office or is an employee of the authority; 

 

"registered" in relation to information required to be registered under the 
Building Societies Act 1986, means recorded in the public file of any building 
society (within the meaning of that Act). 

 
 

(2) Any reference in Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule to "the 
authority" is a reference to the principal council or, as the case may be, the 
committee or sub-committee in relation to whose proceedings or documents 
the question whether information is exempt or not falls to be determined and 
includes a reference— 

 

(a) in the case of a principal council, to any committee or sub-committee of 
the council; and 

 
(b) in the case of a committee, to— 

 

(i) any constituent principal council; 
 

(ii) any other principal council by which appointments are made to the 
committee or whose functions the committee discharges; and 

 
(iii) any other committee or sub-committee of a principal council falling 
within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) above; and 

 
(c) in the case of a sub-committee, to— 

 

(i) the committee, or any of the committees, of which it is a sub- 
committee; and 

 

(ii) any principal council which falls within paragraph (b) above in 
relation to that committee. 

Page 300



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 1 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.C- Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules 

 
1 The framework for executive decisions 

 
The Full Council shall be responsible for the adoption of the Budget and 
Policy Framework as set out in Article 4. Once a Budget or a Policy 
Framework is in place, it shall be the responsibility of the Executive to 
implement it. 

 
2 Process for developing the Budget and Policy Framework 

 
(a) The Executive shall be responsible for the preparation of proposed plans, 

strategies or budgets that form part of the Budget and Policy 
Framework.  For the purposes of these rules, ‘plan or strategy’ means: 
 
i) A plan or strategy specified in Article 4 (Appendix); or 

 
ii) A plan or strategy for the control of the Council’s borrowing or 

capital requirement; or 
 

iii) Any other plan or strategy whose adoption or approval is a 
matter for determination by the Council by virtue of Regulation 
146 5(1) of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000. 

 

 The Budget shall mean: 
 

i) The identification and allocation of financial resources for the 
following financial year(s) by the Full Council including: 

 Revenue Budgets; 

 Capital Budgets; 

 The Council Tax base; 

 The Council Tax level; 

 Borrowing requirements; 

 Prudential indicators; 

 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy; and 

 The level of Uncommitted Reserves. 
 

ii) Any resolution of Full Council identified as a budgetary decision 
causing the total expenditure financed from Council Tax, grants 
and corporately held reserves to increase above that stated in 
the approved budget. 

 

Page 301



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 2 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

(b) In respect of the adoption of plans and strategies comprising the 
Budget and Policy Framework the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
shall have not less than four weeks to respond to the initial proposals 
referred to it unless the Mayor considers that there are special factors 
that make this timescale inappropriate. 

 
(c) The Mayor shall publish in advance a timescale for the Budget.  The 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee will also be notified.  The 
timescale will be subject to variation dependent on the timing of the 
Local Government Finance Settlement and the information available.  
This will be advised upon by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
 

(d) It is open to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee to comment on the 
policy proposals and the Executive will take any response from the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee into account in drawing up proposals 
for submission to the Council.  The Executive’s report to the Full Council 
will reflect how they have taken into account the recommendations of the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee and/ or their reasons for not doing so. 
 

(e) The Full Council will consider the proposal and may by simple majority: 
 

i) adopt the proposal or approve submission to the relevant 
Secretary of State (where that is required); or 

 
ii) object to the proposal and instruct the Executive to reconsider in 

the light of those objections.   
 
The instruction to the Executive will allow at least 5 working days for the Executive to either submit a 
revised proposal or to respond to the objections in relation to the original proposal, giving reasons 
for the response. In the event that sub-paragraph 2(e) has been recommenced, the proposal having 
not reached either outcome at sub-paragraph 2(h), the Executive must give particular consideration 
to whether a revised proposal is required. 

  
(f) If it accepts the recommendation of the Executive without amendment, 

the Council may make a decision, which has immediate effect.  
 

(g) The decision shall be publicised and a copy shall be given to the 
Executive. 

 
 

(h) Where the Council has objected to the proposal in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (e)(ii) above, the Full Council will, within 7 clear 
working days of receipt by the Chief Executive of the response of the 
Executive, consider that response and may either: 

 
i) Approve the proposal: by a simple majority of those voting, 

approve the original or revised proposal for adoption or 
submission to the Secretary of State; or 
 

ii) Make amendments: by a two thirds majority of those voting, 

Page 302



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 3 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

amend or modify the revised or original proposal. 
 

In the event that neither outcome is achieved, the Chief Finance 
Officer will advise the Council of the minimum decisions and 
resolutions the Council must make at that meeting as required to 
comply with statutory requirements and: 
 
(i) If a decision on the Proposal is not identified by the Chief Financial 

Officer as required to be made at that meeting,the proposal fails 
and the process at sub-paragraph 2(e) must be recommenced; or 

(ii) If a decision on the Proposal is identified by the Chief Financial Officer as required to be 
made at that meeting, there will be no time limit on the length of the meeting and the Council shall 
continue to meet until it has reached a final decision on the matter.   

The decision shall then be made public and may be implemented 
immediately; 

 
In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council shall also 
specify the extent of virement within the Budget and degree of in-year 
changes to the Policy Framework which may be undertaken by the 
Executive or Corporate Director, in accordance with paragraphs 6 and 7 
of these Rules (virement and in-year changes). Any other changes to 
the Policy and Budgetary Framework are reserved to the Council or 
delegated to the General Purposes and Audit Committee on grounds of 
urgency. 

 
3 Provisions relating to the Budget for the Authority 

 
(a) Once the Mayor’s budget proposals are noted by the Cabinet prior to 

the period for consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the political groups and/or any member of the Council, can choose to 
prepare an alternative budget or amendments. The Finance function 
will specifically assign a senior finance officer to each political group to 
support this exercise.  

 
(b) Consistent information will be made available to all groups but 

discussions and requests for supplementary information within the 
groups are confidential to that group. If similar requests are made by 
more than one group, officers will take steps to ensure there is no 
duplication of effort, whilst maintaining group confidentiality.  

 
(c) The alternative budgets / amendments produced must have the effect 

of providing the Council with a “balanced budget” as determined by the 
Chief Finance Officer, following which a budget motion can be 
submitted for presentation to Full Council.   

 
(d) Failure to comply with the process outlined in paragraphs 3a) – c) will 

not in any way invalidate the budgetary process and this convention is 
not enforceable by the Council or any Political party in any manner. 

 

(e) Any motions to amend the Executive’s budget proposals will only be 
permissible if it has been  

Page 303



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 4 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

 

(j) Provided to the Chief Finance Officer at least 7 working days prior to 
the Council’s Budget Meeting; and 
 

(ii) Certified by the Chief Finance Officer at least 2 working days prior to 
the Council’s Budget Meeting as being reasonably calculated and 
sufficiently deliverable as to be robust and sustainable in the medium 
term and continue to ensure that reserves are maintained at an 
adequate level which protects the Council’s financial standing. 

 
(f) Where, the Executive submits to the Council for its consideration in 

relation to the following financial year in accordance with the relevant 
legal timeframes:- 

 

i. estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a 
calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) in 

accordance with any of sections 31A, 31B and 34 to 36A or 
42A, 42 B and 45 to 49 , of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992; 

 

ii. estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of 
such a calculation; 

 

iii. estimates of such a calculation; or 
 

iv. amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV 
of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 

 

v. Confirm that a calculation has been made in accordance with 
Section 52ZB of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
and that the appropriate action as is required as a result of 
that calculation is pursued. 

 
and following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council 
has any objections to them, then the dispute resolution process set out 
in paragraph 2 will apply. 

 
 
 
 

 

4. Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 6 (virement) below, the 
Executive or Corporate Director may only take decisions, which are in 
line with the Budget and Policy Framework. If any of these bodies or 
persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget 
approved by Full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the 
Council, subject to 5 below. 

 

Page 304



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 5 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

(b) If the Executive or Corporate Director want to make such a decision, 
they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer as to whether the 
decision they want to make would be contrary to the Policy Framework, 
or the Chief Finance Officer if it would be contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget. If the advice of either of those officers is 
that the decision would not be in line with the existing Budget and/or 
Policy Framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or 
person to the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of 
urgency, in which case the provisions in paragraph 5 (urgent decisions 
outside the Budget and Policy Framework) shall apply. 

 

3 Urgent Decision outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) The Executive or the Chief Executive may take a decision, which is 
contrary to the Council’s Policy Framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by Full Council if the 
decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be 
taken: 

 
i) If it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the Full 

Council or of the General Purposes and Audit Committee which 
has power to determine any matter reserved to the Council in 
cases of urgency; and 

ii) If the Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee agrees that 
the decision is a matter of urgency. 

 

(b) The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the 
Council and the Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee’s 
consent to the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be 
noted on the record of the decision. In the absence of the Chair of the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee, the consent of the Chair of the 
Council will be sufficient. In the absence of both the Chair of the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee and the Chair of the Council, the 
consent of the Deputy Chair of the Council will be sufficient. 

 
(c) Following the decision, the decision taker shall provide a full report to 

the next available Council Meeting explaining the decision, the reasons 
for it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
6 In-year changes to Policy Framework 
 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the 
Council, and decisions by the Executive or Chief Executive, must be in line 
with the Budget and Policy Framework.  No changes to any policy and 
strategy, which make up the Policy Framework, may be made by those 
bodies or individuals except those changes: 

 
(a) Which shall result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part 

of service to meet a budgetary constraint; or 
 

(b) Which are necessary to ensure compliance with the law, Ministerial 

Page 305



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 6 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

Direction or Government guidance; or 
 

(c) In relation to the Policy Framework, in respect of a policy which would 
normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but 
where the existing policy document is silent on the matter under 
consideration; or 

 
(d) Which relate to policy in relation to schools, where the majority of 

schools governing bodies agree with the proposed change. 
 

7 Review of decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Where the Scrutiny and Overview Committee is of the opinion that an 
Executive decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy 
Framework, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or 
where it is of the opinion that an Executive decision is contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Council’s Budget, then it shall seek 
advice from the Chief Finance Officer. 

(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Executive, the 
Monitoring Officer’s report in respect of the Policy Framework or the 
Chief Finance Officer’s report in respect of the Budget shall be to the 
Executive with a copy to every Councillor. Regardless of whether the 
decision is delegated or not, the Executive must prepare a report to 
Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer conclude that the decision was a departure, and to the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee if the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer conclude that the decision was not a departure. 

 

(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 
implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer is that the 
decision is or would be contrary to the Policy Framework or the Chief 
Finance Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Budget, the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee may refer the matter to Council. In such cases, no further 
actions shall be taken in respect of the decision or its implementation 
until the Council has met and considered the matter. The Council shall 
meet as soon as practicable. At the meeting it shall receive a report of 
the decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer. The Council may either: 

 
(i) Endorse a decision or proposal of the Executive decision taker 

as falling within the existing Budget and Policy Framework.  In 
this case no further action is required, save that the decision of 
the Council be minuted and circulated to all Councillors in the 
normal way; or 

 
(ii) Amend the Council’s Financial Regulations or policy concerned 

to encompass the decision or proposal of the body or individual 
responsible for that Executive function and agree to the decision 
with immediate effect. In this case, no further action is required 
save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated 

Page 306



May 2016 Part 4C / Page 7 of 7 
Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
As amended 02.2019 

 
LEGAL\53617653v1 

to all Councillors in the normal way; or 
 

(iii) Where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is 
contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget, and does not amend the existing 
framework to accommodate it, require the Executive to 
reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer in respect of the Policy Framework or Chief 
Finance Officer in respect of the Budget. 

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 1 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON 
BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.D - Executive Procedure Rules 

 
1 THE EXECUTIVE 

 

1.1 Who may make Executive Decisions 
 

The Mayor and Cabinet together comprise the Executive.  Decisions will be 
taken wherever possible following open discussion and trying to achieve 
consensus.  These arrangements are therefore built around allowing the 
opportunity for debate whilst maintaining the clarity of strong personal 
leadership and personal responsibility for decisions. 
 
The Mayor will determine a scheme of delegations (set out in Part 3 of this 
constitution) which may provide for Executive decisions to be made by: 

 
i. The Mayor, personally;  
 
ii. the Executive as a whole; 

 
iii. a Committee of the Executive; 

 

iv.  an individual member of the Cabinet personally; 
 

v. the Chief Executive; 
 

vi. a Corporate Director; 

 
vii. joint arrangements; 

 
viii. another local authority. 

 

Key Decisions (as defined in Part 4B – Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
this Constitution) may only be taken by the Mayor, the Executive, an Executive 
Committee, the Chief Executive in case of urgency, or by a Cabinet Member or 
officer using powers as specifically delegated by the Mayor. 

 

1.2 Delegation by the Mayor 
 
(a) At the annual meeting of the Full Council, the Mayor will provide to the 

Full Council details of a written scheme of delegations which they have 
made for inclusion in Part 3 of this Constitution.  The scheme of 
delegations will include the following information about Executive 
functions in relation to the coming year: 

 

Page 309



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 2 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

(i) the names and wards of the Members appointed to the Cabinet by 
the Mayor; 
 

(ii) the name of the Deputy Mayor, the extent of any delegations to 
them and the circumstances in which the Deputy may act in the 
place of the Mayor; 

 
(iii) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members 

individually, including details of the limitation on their authority; 
 

(iv) the Terms of Reference and Constitution of such Executive 
Committees as the Mayor appoints and the names of Executive 
Members appointed to them; 

 

(v) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions to 
any other authority or any Joint Arrangements and the names of 
those Executive Members appointed to any Joint Committee for 
the coming year; and 

 

(vi) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers with details on 
the limitation on that delegation and the title of the Officer to whom 
the delegation is made. 

 
1.3 Sub-delegation of Executive Functions 

 

(a) Where the Mayor, Executive, Cabinet, an Executive Committee or an 
individual Cabinet Member is responsible for an executive function, 
they may delegate further to a joint Committee or an Officer. 

 

(b) If the Mayor delegates functions to the Executive or Cabinet, then the 
Executive or Cabinet may delegate further to a Committee of the 
Executive or to an Officer. 

 

(c) Unless the Mayor directs otherwise, a Committee of the Executive to 
whom functions have been delegated by the Mayor may delegate 
further to an Officer. 

 

(d) Where a Joint Committee is responsible for an executive function it 
may further delegate its functions to a sub-committee (or an officer) 
according to the terms of its constitution. 

 
(e) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does 

not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body 
who delegated the function. 

 
1.4 Amendment of delegations by the Mayor 

 
(a) The Mayor may amend the scheme of delegation at any time during the 

year.  To do so, the Mayor must give written notice to the Monitoring 

Page 310



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 3 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

Officer and to the person, body or Committee concerned.  The notice 
must set out the amendment to the scheme of delegation and whether it 
entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, body or Committee 
or the Executive as a whole.   
 

(b) The Monitoring Officer will inform all Councillors of the change(s) made 
and any reasons given by the Mayor as soon as practicable. 

 

(c) Subject to the provisions for the removal of Cabinet Members from 
office, as set out in Part 1 of this Constitution, the change in delegation 
will take effect when the Monitoring Officer is notified. 

 

(d) The Monitoring Officer will report the change to the next available 
meeting of the Full Council and amend Part 3 of the Constitution 
accordingly. 

 
1.5 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation  

 
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution 
(Responsibility for Functions), shall be subject to adoption by the Council and 
may only be amended by the Council.  

 
Portfolio descriptions of Cabinet Members are set out within the Scheme of 
Delegation at Part 6C of this Constitution and on the Council’s website 
(www.croydon.gov.uk ). 
 
Executive decisions will be made in accordance with the Protocol for Decision-
Making at Part 5B of this Constitution. 

 

Appendix 1 sets out the protocol to be followed by the appropriate decision 
maker in regard to approval of contractual and property.   transaction matters.  

 

1.6 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other Registrable Interests and Non 
Registrable Interests and Conflicts of Interest 

 
Executive Members shall act in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct 
set out in Part 5I of this Constitution. Executive Members shall also have regard 
to the need, if they are consulted by a decision maker in relation to an executive 
decision, to declare any conflict of interest to that decision maker and seek a 
dispensation from the Chief Executive as provided for in Part 2 and Part 4B of 
this Constitution. 
 
Where the exercise of an Executive function has been delegated to a 
Committee of the Executive, an individual Member or an Officer; should a 
conflict of interest arise, the function will be exercised by the person or body 
by whom the delegation was made.   

 

1.7 Meetings of the Executive 
 

(a) The Executive shall meet on the dates as determined annually by the 
Mayor. As Chair of the Executive, the Mayor may convene such 

Page 311

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/


November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 4 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

additional meetings of the Executive as are necessary to enable the 
efficient conduct of business, and may cancel or re-schedule meetings 
as necessary. 

 
(b) Meetings of the Executive shall be held in the Town Hall, Katharine 

Street and shall commence at 6.30 p.m., unless determined otherwise 
and stated on the Notice and Summons for the meeting and shall last no 
longer than three hours. 

(c) It is a matter for the Mayor how Executive meetings are run.  However, 
the Mayor shall generally adopt the principles applicable to all meetings to 
ensure sufficient debate and input to each item before adecision is taken. 

(d) In the event that the meeting has lasted for three hours and business 
remains outstanding, the Chair shall interrupt the meeting and call for a 
vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall continue for a 
further 30 minutes.  If Members decide that the meeting shall not 
continue, or if there is remaining business after the additional period of 
30 minutes, the Chair will decide if any of the remaining business is of 
sufficient importance to warrant an adjournment of the meeting and, if 
so, will declare the meeting adjourned to such date and time (prior to 
the next ordinary meeting of the Executive) as they may direct at the 
time or afterwards.  With the exception of business so specified the 
Chair shall put to the vote without further debate all outstanding 
business on the agenda.  The Chair shall then close the meeting. 

 

(e) Meetings of the Executive shall be open to the media and public unless 
the business under consideration is exempt or confidential as determined 
under the Access to Information Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. Participation at meetings by the Shadow Cabinet and 
Members of other Political Groups represented on the Council may be 
governed by a Leader’s protocol. 

 
(f) Notice of each meeting shall be given and the agenda and papers for 

each meeting shall be available in compliance with the Access to 
Information Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
1.8 Quorum 
 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be three, one of whom shall be 
the Mayor or the Statutory Deputy Mayor; and for a Cabinet Committee, three 
Members. 

 
1.9 Decisions taken by the Mayor and Cabinet 
 
 

 
(a) Executive decisions, which have been allocated to the Cabinet, or 

delegated to a Cabinet Committee, shall be taken at a meeting convened 
in accordance with the Access to Information Rules set out in Part 4B of 
this Constitution. 

 

Page 312



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 5 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

(b) Where executive decisions are delegated to a Committee of the 
Executive, the rules applying to executive decisions taken by them shall 
be the same as those applying to the Executive as a whole. 

(c) All decisions taken individually by the Mayor alone or by individual 
members of the Executive, must be based on written reports.  Those 
reports must contain all service, corporate, legal and financial 
implications.  Individual decisions may only be made by the Mayor or 
individual members of the Executive in the presence of the Chief 
Executive, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee (unless they waive that requirement) and the proper officer 
whose responsibility it is to record the decision. 

(d) Executive decisions taken by individuals will be recorded on a form 
for that purpose. 

(e) As soon as practical in each municipal year the Executive will seek to 
establish a programme of business for the remainder of the year to 
the extent that it is possible to do so and will publish all planned 
executive decisions on the corporate forward plan. Items for 
consideration by the Executive may be rescheduled as necessary 
during the course of the year. 

 
1.10 Recommendation to Council 

 

Any recommendation of the Mayor, Executive, Cabinet and Executive 
Committee referred to the Full Council for approval may be made within the 
Business Report of the Mayor and shall summarise the matter, setting out the 
recommendation for the Council to consider. The recommendation shall be 
submitted to the next convenient Ordinary Council Meeting following the 
meeting of the Cabinet or Executive Committee at which the recommendation 
was framed. 

 
2 THE CONDUCT OF EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 

Appointment of Chair 

2.1 The Cabinet meeting shall be chaired by the Mayor. If the Mayor is absent 
then the Statutory Deputy Mayor shall chair the meeting. 

 

2.2 The Chair of the meeting shall decide on all matters of order, competence, 
relevance and interpretation of these Rules. The Chair shall have the power to 
vary the order of business to give precedence to any item of business. Matters 
of urgent business shall be taken at the discretion of the Chair if satisfied that 
the item cannot reasonably be deferred until the next meeting of the Committee. 
The reports concerning such matters shall explain the reason for urgency. 

 

2.3 The decision of the Chair as to the general conduct of the meeting shall be final. 
The Chair may direct a Member to discontinue speaking if they consider the 
Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming language, or 
is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When necessary, the 
Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called by name, 

Page 313



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 6 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote without 
further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 

 
2.4 In the case of a member of the public disrupting the meeting or if there is a 

general disturbance, the Chair may order the removal of a person or that the 
public areas be cleared. Re-admission shall be at the discretion of the Chair 

 
Business 

 
2.5 At each meeting of the Executive the following business shall be conducted 

although the Leader shall have the power to determine the content and order of 
business:  
 
i) consideration of the minutes or decision record forms of the last 

meeting; 
 

ii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 

iii) matters referred to the Executive (whether by an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or by the Full Council) for reconsideration by the 
Executive in accordance with the provisions contained in the Scrutiny 
and Overview Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

 
iv) consideration of reports from Overview and Scrutiny (Sub) 

Committees; and 
 

v) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall indicate 
which are key decisions and which are not in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
 Placing items on the Executive agenda 

 
2.6 The Mayor may put on the agenda of any Executive meeting any matter which 

they wish, whether or not authority has been delegated to the Executive, a 
Committee of it or any Member or Officer in respect of that matter.  

 
(a) The following may require the Monitoring Officer to include items on 

the agenda for Executive meetings: 
 

(i) The Mayor; 
 

(ii) Any Member of the Executive; 
 

(iii) The Full Council; 
 

(iv) Scrutiny and Overview Committee; 
 

(v) The Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Finance Officer.  

Page 314



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 7 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

 
(b) The Monitoring Officer will consult with the Mayor to ensure that the 

agenda is manageable in length.  Only exceptionally shall more than 
two items from the Full Council or Scrutiny and Overview Committee  
be placed on the same agenda. 

 

Attendance by Non-Executive Members 
 

2.6 The Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee together with the relevant 
Deputy or the Vice Chair shall have automatic entitlement to attend any 
Executive or Executive Committee meeting at which a report from a Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee is under consideration and 
participate in the consideration of that item of business but not vote. 

 
2.7 A job-share Cabinet Member who is not the current acting Cabinet Member 

for the job-share portfolio shall have automatic entitlement to attend any 
Cabinet or Cabinet committee meeting and participate in the consideration 
of any item of business but not vote. 

 
2.8 The Mayor or Chair of a Executive Committee may agree that a non-

executive Member may attend to participate in the debate of an item of 
business on the grounds that the presence of the Member concerned can be 
justified. Such a Member shall not have any right to vote in deciding the 
outcome of the matter under consideration. In the absence of an Executive 
Member, the relevant Deputy shall be invited to attend and participate in the 
meeting in accordance with these arrangements. A Deputy shall not have a 
right to vote and shall not be included for the purposes of determining 
whether the meeting is quorate. 

 
2.9 The Committees established by the Mayor and their delegations as approved 

by the Mayor are set out in Section 3 of these Rules. 
 
3 COMMITTEES OF THE EXECUTIVE 

 
3.1 The Mayor may establish one or more Executive Committees to exercise 

specified delegated executive functions.. In addition the Mayor may from 
time to time establish ad hoc committees on a time-limited basis. 

 
 

Page 315



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 8 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

 

Appendix 1 
 

PROTOCOLS OF THE EXECUTIVE 
 

 

 
1. PROTOCOL ON APPOINTMENTS OF SCHOOL GOVERNORS AND THE 

APPROVAL OR AMENDMENT OF INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT 
 

This Protocol applies to the Corporate Director/ DCS Children, Young People & 
Education who shall exercise delegated powers to appoint School Governors and 
in approving or amending Instruments of Government relating to the size and 
composition of individual governing bodies. 

 

Appointment of School Governors 
 

Before approving, or otherwise, any appointment of a person as a School Governor, 
the Corporate Director/DCS Children, Young People & Education shall: 

 
1 Be satisfied that the applicant or any organisation representing the applicant 

has granted their full consent to be considered for the appointment 
concerned; and 

 
2 Consult the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning, and 

Deputy, together with the Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Families and 
Learning on the intention to appoint or not appoint the person and take 
account of the views expressed by Members on the suitability of that person 
for appointment. 

 
Instruments of Government 

 

Before approving, or otherwise, any Instrument or amendment to an Instrument of 
Government, the Corporate Director/DCS Children, Young People & Education 
shall: 

 
Consult the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning and 
Deputy, together with the Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Families 
and Learning on the draft Instrument, amended or otherwise and take 
account of the views expressed by Members on the draft. 

Page 316



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 9 of 9 
 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

 

2. PROTOCOL GOVERNING THE EXERCISE OF DELEGATED AUTHORITY 
TO APPROVE CONTRACTUAL AND PROPERTY TRANSACTION 
MATTERS RELATED TO EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

 

This Protocol applies to executive decisions on contractual and property transaction 
matters including the declaration of land and property as surplus to the Council’s 
requirements taken under delegated authority from the Mayor by the relevant 
Cabinet Member: 

 

a) The Cabinet Member shall not consider any contractual or property 
transaction relating to an executive function that has not been the subject of a 
report to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. 

 
b) The Cabinet Member, if in agreement with the recommendations of the report 

shall sign a decision notice, in the form set out in Appendix A to this Protocol, 
in respect of the contractual and property transaction matter concerned 
indicating that the contract shall be awarded or action taken as per the 
recommendation. All matters dealt with shall be included in a schedule as part 
of the next Leader’s and Cabinet Business Report to the Council. Members 
may ask questions at the Council Meeting on the contents of the schedule. 

 
c) If the Cabinet Member is not minded to agree with a recommendation set out 

in the report, , the contractual and property transaction matter to which it 
refers shall stand immediately referred, without further discussion, to the 
Leader, if necessary to be dealt with as urgent business. 

 
d) If the Cabinet Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or conflict of 

interest in or in relation to any contract or property transaction matter referred 
for consideration, the declaration will be recorded and the relevant matters will 
immediately stand referred to the Leader for decision. 

 
e) Any contractual and property transaction matters referred to the Leader for 

decision shall be the subject of a full report. 

Page 317



November2018 
ExecutiveProcedureRules 
As amended 08.2021 

Part 4D / Page 10 of 
9 

 
LEGAL\53597100v1 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

CROYDON COUNCIL 

RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISION 

TITLE:-  

REFERENCE NO:-  

RECOMMENDATIONS:-  

BACKGROUND PAPERS/ 
CABINET OR COMMITTEE 
REPORT:- 

 

 

I agree/do not agree* to the recommendation [as amended*] 
(*delete as appropriate) 

 
 
 

Signature: 

Title: 

Date: 

Page 318



LEGAL\53574425v1 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.E - Scrutiny and Overview Procedure 
Rules 

 
1. THE SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE AND ITS SUB-COMMITTEES 
 

1.1 The Council shall have one Scrutiny and Overview Committee which shall 
perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council. The 
Committee may delegate those functions to one or more Scrutiny Sub- 
Committees. 

 
1.2 In accordance with Article 6 of this Constitution, the terms of reference of the 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be as follows: 
 

(i) to oversee the performance of all overview and scrutiny functions, including 
development of and procedures governing the operation of the Committee and 
its Sub-Committees; 

 
(ii) to carry out reviews related to the Council’s wider power to promote the 

economic, environmental and social well-being of the Borough; 
 
(iii) to carry out the scrutiny of partner bodies and crime and disorder matters in 

line with the Council’s statutory duties and powers, subject to any delegation 
referred to in Rule 1.01 above; 

 
(iv) to appoint such Sub-Committees  as it considers appropriate, by resolution 

determining terms of reference and membership including the appointment of 
a Chair and Vice-Chair and any co-opted members to the Sub-Committee/s in 
line with (x) below. This will normally be done at the meeting of the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee commencing at the rise of Annual Council and the 
Sub-Committees shall not be permitted to further co-opt members. This role 
shall be reserved to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; 

 

(v) to recommend the establishment of any Joint Scrutiny and Overview 
Committees to the Council in accordance with Article 11 of this Constitution; 

 
(vi) to agree an initial annual scrutiny work programme at its first full meeting after 

the Annual Meeting in accordance with section 6 of these rules; 
 

(vii) to delegate elements of its annual work programme to its Sub- Committees to 
ensure effective use of the Committee’s and Sub- Committees’ time; 

 
(viii)  to submit an Annual Report on the work undertaken during the year and on the 

work programme as agreed at its first meeting of the year to Annual Council; 
 

(ix) to recommend the training and development needs of the Committee to the 
Learning and Development Panel; 

Page 319



LEGAL\53574425v1 

 
(x) to appoint non-voting co-opted Members. 

 
1.3 Any Sub Committees of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall comprise of a 

minimum of 7 Members, appointed in accordance with the overall political balance of 
the Council. 

 
1.4 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee, or any Sub-Committee appointed to 

undertake scrutiny of Education functions under Rule1.01 above, shall include: 
 

i) 2 statutory voting Church of England and Roman Catholic diocese 
members nominated by the Bishop and Archbishop of Southwark 
respectively; 

 
ii) 2 voting parent-governor representative members for LEA matters 

nominated by parent governors of Croydon; 
 
iii) 1 non-voting Teacher representative member nominated by the 

Croydon Teaching Unions’ Joint Liaison Committee; 
 
iv) Such representatives of Faiths other than those of the Church of England and 

Roman Catholic dioceses membership as the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee considers appropriate. These representatives shall be non-voting 
members.; and 

 
v) any number of non-voting co-optees as the full Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee considers necessary for the proper discharge of functions. 
 

The above referenced voting representatives shall only have voting powers in 
connection with matters concerning the Education functions of the Executive.. 

 
1.5 Any Sub-Committee established by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee is 

only permitted to undertake the specific functions delegated to it either by this 
Constitution or following a formal decision of the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee. Any Sub-Committee shall: 

 
(i) undertake its functions in accordance with terms of reference 

as determined by resolution of the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee; 

 
(ii) operate within the framework of an initial work programme determined by 

the Scrutiny and Overview Committee; 
 
(iii) if the scrutiny of Health Services, Crime and Disorder matters or the duties 

and functions of the Council as an Education Authority are delegated to a 
Sub-Committee, that Sub-Committee shall have sole power to scrutinise that 
matter included within its terms of reference and may report direct to the 
Cabinet, Full Council, non-executive Committee, partner agency or 
partnership board on such matters. Should such functions be delegated to 
Sub-Committees, the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be informed of 
any recommendations made by those Sub-Committees under this 
provision; 

 

Page 320



LEGAL\53574425v1 

(iv) Save in relation to the exception set out in (iii) above, report its proposed 
recommendations, reasons and outcomes to the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee for comment and consideration where after the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee may thereafter report the findings to Cabinet, Full Council, 
non- executive Committee, partner agency or partnership board as appropriate. 
 

1.6 In accordance with this Constitution, the Cabinet shall consult the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee, via the Statutory Notices, on Key Decisions it is proposing to 
take and on budget and policy recommendations before they are submitted to the 
Council. 

 
1.7 Members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its Sub-Committees may 

go on site visits, conduct public surveys, meet stakeholders and service 
providers, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably 
consider necessary to inform their work as a Scrutiny Member. 

 
2 APPOINTMENTS TO THE SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE AND SUB-

COMMITTEES 
 
2.1 All Members, except members of the Cabinet, are eligible for appointment to the 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee, and any Scrutiny Sub-Committees. However, no 
Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly 
involved. 

 
2.2 Appointments to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be made at the Annual 

Meeting of the Council. Appointments to the Sub-Committees shall normally be made 
at the annual meeting of the Council but the Scrutiny and Overview Committee may, 
in accordance with (and subject to the restrictions within) the provisions of Article 6(k) 
appoint further Sub- Committees and shall determine the membership (including co-
optees) functions and terms of reference of the Sub-Committee so established. 

 
2.3 Vacancies on the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be filled by the Monitoring 

Officer in consultation with the Group Whips and the Chair of Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee following receipt of a notice of resignation to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.4 Further to Rule 1.2 (iv) of these procedure rules, appointments to Sub- Committees 

may be varied by resolution of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee at any point 
during the Municipal Year. 

 

2.5 All voting co-opted members must sign and adhere to the Croydon Members’ Code 
of Conduct. Any non-voting co-opted member must sign and adhere to the Code of 
Conduct for non-voting co-optees. Any person appointed to become a voting co-opted 
Member who does not agree to abide by the Croydon Members’ Code of Conduct or 
any non-voting co-opted members who does not agree to abide by the Code of 
Conduct for Non-Voting Co- Optees shall not serve on the Committee or Sub-
Committee. Provided that they have agreed to abide by the Croydon Members’ Code 
of Conduct, voting co-opted members shall be entitled to any confidential or exempt 
documents relevant to the function for which they are permitted to vote subject 
always to the duty to keep such confidential and exempt information confidential and 
not to use or otherwise disclose said information save in relation to the fulfilment of 
their duties as a coo-opted member. 

 
3 MEETINGS OF THE SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE AND ITS SUB- 

Page 321



LEGAL\53574425v1 

COMMITTEES 

 
3.1 Ordinary meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be programmed in 

each Council Year, though the Scrutiny and Overview Committee may vary this 
number during the course of the year to reflect its work programme. The frequency of 
meetings of any appointed Sub- Committees shall be determined by the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee. 

 

3.2 Meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall commence at 6.30p.m. 

unless otherwise determined by the Chair of the Committee. 

 
3.3 Ordinary meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall include the 

following agenda items in addition to any business otherwise set out on the agenda 
for consideration at the meeting: 

 
i) Apologies for absence; 
ii) Confirmation of the Minutes of the last meeting; 
iii) Disclosures of Interest; and 
iv) Urgent business (if any). 

 

 For avoidance of doubt there shall be no discussion of matters arising. 
 

3.4 The Chair of the meeting shall decide on all matters of order, competence, relevance 
and interpretation of these procedures. The Chair shall have the power to vary the 
order of business to give precedence to any item of business. Matters of urgent 
business shall be taken at the discretion of the Chair if they are satisfied that the item 
cannot reasonably be deferred until the next meeting of the Committee. The reports 
concerning such matters shall explain the reason for urgency. 

3.5 The Chair shall ensure that the split of business between Parts A and B (i.e. Part B 
shall constitute that part which is exempt or confidential business) is agreed. The 
Chair shall ensure that Members who wish to speak on any item of business have 
the opportunity to do so, within the scope of the meeting and within reasonable limits 
of time. The decision of the Chair as to the general conduct of the meeting shall be 
final. 

 

3.6 The Chair may direct a Member or Co-opted member to discontinue speaking if they 
consider the Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming 
language, or is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When 
necessary, the Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called 
by name, leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote 
without further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 

 
3.7 In the event that a meeting of a Scrutiny and Overview Committee scheduled to 

start at 5pm or later has lasted for three hours the Chair shall interrupt the meeting 
and call for a vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall continue for a 
further 30 minutes. 

 
3.8 If Members decide that the meeting shall not continue, or if there is remaining 

business after the additional period of 30 minutes, the Chair will decide if any of the 
remaining business is of sufficient importance to warrant an adjournment of the 
meeting and if so will declare the meeting adjourned to such date and time (prior to 
the next ordinary Committee meeting) as they may direct at the time or afterwards. 

Page 322



LEGAL\53574425v1 

 

3.9 Rules 3.2 to 3.8 shall also apply to Scrutiny Sub-Committee meetings. 
 

 

4 QUORUM 
 

4.1 The quorum for the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be one-third of the voting 
membership of the Committee. If the meeting is inquorate at any point during the 
meeting, it shall stand deferred for 15 minutes. If after 15 minutes there is still no 
quorum, the consideration of any business not transacted shall be held over until the 
next scheduled meeting or another date fixed by the Chair. This rule shall also apply 
to meetings of Sub-Committees. 

 
5 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR DEPUTY AND VICE-CHAIRS OF THE SCRUTINY AND 

OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
5.1 The Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall be appointed for the Council 

Year at the first meeting of the Committee, immediately following the Annual Council 
Meeting. In the event of a vacancy during the year, the Committee shall appoint a 
Chair at the first meeting following the vacancy occurring. The Chair shall be a 
majority group member. 

 
5.2 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall appoint Members as Deputy Chair 

(Majority Group) and Vice-Chair (Minority Group) . In the absence of the Chair, the 
Deputy Chair will chair the meeting of the Committee. 

 
5.3 The Chair Deputy Chair and Vice-Chair may meet together informally as a Chairs’ 

Group. 
 
6 WORK PROGRAMME 
 
6.1 In accordance with Rule 1.2(vii) & (viii), the Scrutiny and Overview Committee shall 

be responsible for setting its own work programme and the work programme of its 
Sub-Committees. 

 
6.2 A balanced work programme should be developed including pre- and post- decision 

scrutiny, monitoring and external scrutiny.  
 
6.3 The work programme will be guided throughout the year by a Scrutiny Work 

Programming Group, which will meet regularly to consider the work programme, 
and bring forward changes and refinements based on information on the 
management of council, and other services provided to scrutiny members on a 
regular basis.  

 
6.4 The membership of the Scrutiny Work Programming Group will consist of the three 

Scrutiny Chairs plus the Vice-Chairs from each of the three Sub-Committees. The 
Group will be chaired by the Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee.  

 
6.5 The Scrutiny Work Programming Group will plan detailed scrutiny activity 

throughout the year within a framework set by the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee at the start of each council year, having regard to the available officer 
and other resources.   

Page 323



LEGAL\53574425v1 

 
6.6 As far as reasonably practicable, there should be wide consultation on the work 

programme with Members, Chief Officers, external agencies and the wider community 
prior to its consideration by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee.  The Scrutiny 
Work Programming Group will both look ahead to emerging strategic issues for the 
Council and consider urgent developing issues relevant to the remit of Scrutiny and 
Overview including performance. 

  
6.7 Any changes made to the work programme as a result of the work of the Scrutiny 

Work Programming Group will be reported to the next available meeting of the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 

 
 

 

7 AGENDA ITEMS 

 
7.1 The Agenda for each Committee or Sub-Committee meeting should be based on the 

agreed Work Programme. Timings and the order of business should be decided by 
the Chair, Deputy Chair or Vice Chair, as appropriate, in sufficient time to allow 
invitations and requests for reports to be made with adequate notice. 

 
7.2 Any Member of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee shall be 

entitled to give notice to the Chair of their wish to add an item, which is not already on 
the agreed Work Programme, to the agenda for the Committee or Sub-Committee of 
which they are a member, subject to such item being relevant to the functions of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee in question. In addition, any Member of the Council 
shall be entitled to give notice to the Chair of their wish to add an item, not already on 
the agreed Work Programme, to the agenda for the Committee or Sub-Committee with 

responsibility for the function to which the matter relates, provided that the item is both 

relevant to the functions of the Committee or Sub-Committee and it is not an “excluded 
matter” as defined in regulations pursuant to the Local Government Act 2000, as 
amended.   The Scrutiny Work Programming Group will consider such requests 
when planning detailed scrutiny activity throughout the year.   

 

7.3 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee will monitor these arrangements and keep 
them under review. 

 
7.4 It is recognised that Cabinet Members or officers may not be available at short notice. 

Members and officers invited to scrutiny meetings should always, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances, receive adequate notice and where appropriate reminders 
of meeting dates. 

 
8 RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE, THE COUNCIL, NON- EXECUTIVE 

COMMITTEE, PARTNER AGENCY OR PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 

8.1 The provisions of Rule 7 of the Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules (Part 
4C) apply to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and its Sub- Committees and are 
hereby incorporated into these Rules. Subject to the forgoing, where If the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee, or a Sub- Committee with delegated powers under Rule 
1.01 above is required to make a recommendation regarding matters outside the 
budget and policy framework approved by the Council, it may make that 
recommendation to the Council for consideration. The referral will be made by way of 
a report summarising the matter, setting out the recommendation to be considered 

Page 324



LEGAL\53574425v1 

and the outcomes which the Committee considers will act as evidence that the 
recommendation has been successfully implemented. 

 

8.2 Any recommendation of a Scrutiny and Overview Committee, or a Sub- Committee 
with delegated powers in accordance with Rule 1.5(iii) above, directed to the Mayor or 
Executive for response shall be made by way of a report summarising the matter, 
setting out the recommendation to be considered and the outcomes which the 
Committee considers will act as evidence that the recommendation has been 
successfully implemented.  As part of its notice of recommendations, the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee or Sub Committee will require that the Mayor or Executive, 
where it rejects a recommendation, provides reasons for doing so. 

 
8.3 If the report is to be submitted to the Cabinet or a Council meeting, it shall be 

presented to the next convenient Ordinary Cabinet or Council Meeting following the 
meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee at which it resolved to make the 
recommendation and shall be considered prior to any agenda item to which it relates. 
The recommendation shall be listed as an agenda item in its own right. At that 
meeting the Cabinet or Council will resolve that the report be received. 

 
8.4 In considering any report from a Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub- 

Committee, where necessary the Cabinet shall receive at the same meeting a further 
report from the relevant officer(s) on the issues arising from the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee’s recommendations. 

 
8.5 The Cabinet shall respond to a Scrutiny and Overview report within 2 months of 

receiving the report or any other limit imposed by law if shorter. 
 

8.6 In the event that the Cabinet accepts a recommendation, with or without amendment, 
from a Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-Committee, the Cabinet shall agree 
an action plan for the implementation of the agreed recommendations and shall 
delegate responsibility to an identified officer to report back to the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee or Sub-Committee, within a specified period, on progress in 
implementing the action plan. 

 

8.7 Scrutiny and Overview Committee and Sub-Committees will monitor progress in 
implementation of recommendations to the Council and the Cabinet. 

 
8.8 Subject to Rule 1.5(iv) and 8.9 the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, or any Sub-

Committee with relevant delegated powers, can make reports and recommendations 
to any NHS body in the Borough, the Safer Croydon Partnership, the Council’s Local 
Strategic Partnership (LSP) or any of the LSP’s thematic partnerships. When doing 
so, the report or recommendations must be copied to all responsible authorities or co-
operating bodies of the Partnership that are affected. 

 
8.9 Subject to Rule 1.5(iv) and 8.9 the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, or any Sub-

Committee with relevant delegated powers, can make reports and recommendations 
in relation to Local Improvement Targets and Local Area Agreements. When doing 
so, the Committee must give notice in writing to the relevant partner authorities that 
are affected. 

 

8.10 In publishing any report, recommendation or response under this Rule Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee and the Council shall exclude from such report, 

Page 325



LEGAL\53574425v1 

recommendation or response any confidential information and may exclude an 
exempt information as defined in the Councils Access to Information Rules at Part 
4B to this Constitution. In doing so, Scrutiny and Overview Committee and the 
Council shall replace the information excluded with a summary of the information if in 
consequence of excluding the confidential/exempt information the report, 
recommendation or response would be misleading or incomprehensible. 

 
8.11 In providing a copy of any report, recommendation or response under this Rule to 

any partner authority, Scrutiny and Overview Committee and the Council shall 
exclude from such report, recommendation or response any confidential information 
and may exclude an exempt information as defined in the Councils Access to 
Information Rules at Part 4B to this Constitution 

 
8.12 In providing a copy of any report, recommendation or response under this Rule to 

any Member of the Council, Scrutiny and Overview Committee and the Council may 
exclude from such report, recommendation or response any confidential information or 
exempt information as defined in the Councils Access to Information Rules at Part 
4B to this Constitution. 

 
9 RIGHTS OF SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEMBERS TO 

DOCUMENTS 
 
9.1 In addition to their rights as Members, members of the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee and Sub-Committees have additional rights to documents as set out in the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 

10 PARTICIPATION BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
10.1 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee may invite people to 

address it, or discuss issues or answer questions on matters related to their work. 
Members of the public may speak at meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee and its Sub-Committees at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
10.2 Where Scrutiny and Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee conducts 

investigations (e.g. with a view to policy development), the Committee may also ask 
people to attend to give evidence at meetings. 

 
10.3  Any investigations conducted by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or a Sub-

Committee are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles: 
 

(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the committee 
be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak;  

 
(ii) that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 

and courtesy; and  
 
(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 

investigation or analysis.  
 

10.4 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee or a Sub-Committee will consider any 
suggested scrutiny topics submitted by members of the public for inclusion in the 

Page 326



LEGAL\53574425v1 

Scrutiny work programme. 
 
11 CALL-IN - EXERCISE OF THE POWER TO REVIEW A DECISION TAKEN BUT 

NOT YET IMPLEMENTED 
 
11.1 This procedure may only be used for executive Key Decisions after they are taken 

but before they are implemented. 
 
11.2 When a Key Decision is made the decision shall be published in accordance with the 

Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules at Part 4B of the Constitution. 

 
11.3 The notice of the decision will specify that the decision may not be implemented until 

after 13.00 hours on the 6th working day following the day on which the decision was 
taken unless referred to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 

 
11.4 Call-in of executive decisions may take place in any circumstances but ordinarily 

should only be used where there is evidence which suggests that: 
 
(i) The decision maker did not take the decision in accordance with the 

principles set out in the Protocol for Decision Making (Part 5A of this 
Constitution); or 

 
(ii) The decision maker acted contrary to the policy framework; or 
 
(iii) the decision maker acted not wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget; 

or 
 
(iv) the decision maker failed to consider relevant evidence when taking a 

decision; or 
 

the decision would not be in the interests of the borough’s residents and a preferable 
alternative decision could be adopted. 
11.5 Any request shall be made on a pro-forma, available from democratic services, which 

should be submitted to the Monitoring Officer or their representative electronically or 
on paper before 13.00 hours on the 6th working day following the day on which the 
decision was taken. A decision may only be subject to the referral process once. 

 

11.6 The referral request shall be signed by: 
(i) The Chair and Vice Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and 1 

member of that Committee; or for education matters the Chair, Vice Chair and 
1 voting member of that Committee or any Sub-Committee formed under Rule 
1.1 above; or 

(ii) 20% of Council Members (14) 
 

 Verification of signatures may be by individual e-mail, fax or by post. 
 

11.7 The Call-In referral shall be completed giving: 
i) The grounds for the referral 
ii) The outcome desired 
iii) The date and the signatures of the Members requesting the Call-In 

 
11.8 The decision-taker and the relevant Chief Officer(s) shall be notified of the referral 

and shall suspend implementation of the decision. The Chair of the Scrutiny and 

Page 327



LEGAL\53574425v1 

Overview Committee shall also be notified. 
 

11.9 The referral shall be considered at the next scheduled meeting of the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee unless, in the view of the Monitoring Officer, this would cause 
undue delay. In such cases the Monitoring Officer will consult with the decision-taker 
and the Chair of Scrutiny and Overview to agree a date for an additional meeting. 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee may only consider a maximum of three 
referrals at any one meeting. 

 
11.10 If the proposer/ supporters who initiated the Call-in want a person/s who is a 

Member or an officer of the authority to appear as a witness, then the permission of 
the Chair of Scrutiny and Overview Committee (who will agree with the appropriate 
Director) must be sought at least 5 clear working days prior to the date of the Call-in 
meeting, or with the permission of the Chair of Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
within 3 working days in exceptional circumstances in order to allow for members/ 
officers to be called. 

 
11.11 At the meeting, the referral will be considered by the Committee which shall 

 determine how much time it will give to the call-in and how the item will be dealt with 
including whether or not it wishes to review the decision.  If having considered the 
decision there are still concerns about the decision then the Committee may refer it 
back to the decision-maker for reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of the 
concerns.  The decision-maker shall then reconsider the decision, amending the 
decision or not, before making a final decision.  

 
11.12 Where the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-Committee is of the opinion 

that an Executive decision is, or if made would be, contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework, then it shall seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer.  In respect of functions which 
are the responsibility of the Executive, the Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief 
Finance Officer’s report shall be presented to the Executive with a copy to every 
member of the Council.  

 
11.13 The Executive must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the Monitoring 

Officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that the Monitoring 
Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a departure, and 
to the relevant Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-Committee if the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a 
departure.   

 

11.14 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee may refer the decision to the Council if it 
considers that the decision taken by the Mayor or Cabinet is outside the Budget and 
Policy Framework of the Council. In such circumstances, the provisions of Rule 7 of 
the Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules (Part 4C) apply.  The Council shall 
meet within 10 working days of the request by the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee. The Council may decide to take no further action in which case the 
decision may be implemented. If the Council objects to Cabinet’s decision it can 
nullify the decision if it is outside the Policy Framework and/or inconsistent with the 
Budget. 

 
11.15 If the Scrutiny and Overview Committee decides that no further action is necessary 

then the decision may be implemented. 

Page 328



LEGAL\53574425v1 

 
11.16 If the Council determines that the decision was within the Budget & Policy 

Framework and consistent with the Budget, it will refer any decision to which it 
objects, together with its views on the decision, to the Cabinet. The Cabinet shall 
choose whether to either amend, withdraw or implement the original decision within 
10 working days, or at the next meeting of the Cabinet after the referral from the 
Council. 

 

11.17 The responses of the decision-taker and the Council shall be notified to all Members 
of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee once the Cabinet or Council has considered 
the matter and made a determination. 

 

11.18 If either the Council or the Scrutiny and Overview Committee fails to meet in 
accordance with the Council calendar or in accordance with Rule 11.8 above, then 
the decision may be implemented on the next working day after the meeting was 
scheduled or arranged to take place. 

 
11.19 The referral procedure shall not apply in respect of urgent decisions. A decision will 

be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the referral process would seriously 
prejudice the Council's or the public interests. The record of the decision and the 
notice by which it is made public shall state if the decision is urgent and therefore not 
subject to the referral process. The Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
must agree that the decision proposed cannot be reasonably deferred and that it is 
urgent. In the absence of the Chair, the Deputy Chair's consent shall be required. In 
the absence of both the Chair and Deputy Chair, the Mayor's consent shall be 
required. Any such urgent decisions must be reported at least annually in a report to 
Council from the Mayor. 

 
12. COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION 
 
12.1 The Monitoring Officer will place an item on the agenda of the Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee at the request of any Member where that item refers to a 
“Councillor Call for Action”. This must be a matter which is relevant to the functions 
of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and is not:  

 
(i) A local crime and disorder matter within the meaning of section 19 of the 

Police and Justice Act 2006 (local authority scrutiny of crime and disorder 
matters); 

 
(ii) A matter of any description specified in an order made by the Secretary of 

State for the purposes of Section 9FC of the Local Government Act 2000 
 

 
12.2 The Committee will, at that meeting, discuss the matter and decide whether to make 

a report or recommendation to the relevant decision maker.  
 
12.3 In deciding whether to exercise its powers in relation to a Councillor Call for Action 

the Scrutiny and Overview Committee may have regard to any powers exercisable 
by the member under Section 236 of the Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act 2007 (exercise of functions by councillors) and any representations by 
the member as to why it is appropriate for the Committee to exercise its powers. 

 

Page 329



LEGAL\53574425v1 

12.4 If the Committee decides not to exercise its power in relation to the matter, it must 
notify the member of its decision and the reason for it. 

 
12.5 Subject to provisions relating to confidential and exempt information in place from 

time to time, the Committee must give the referring member a copy of any report 
and/or recommendations it provides to the Chief Executive. 

 
12.6 When the Scrutiny and Overview Committee makes a report and/or 

recommendations to the Council or to the Executive under the Councillor Call for 
Action, the Committee may publish its report and/or recommendations and must 
give notice in writing to the Council or the Executive requiring the Council or the 
Executive, within 2 months of receipt by the Council or Executive of the report/ 
recommendations or (if later) the notice: 

 
(i) to consider the report or recommendations; 
 
(ii) to respond to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee indicating what (if any) 

action it intends to take; 
 
(iii) if the Scrutiny and Overview Committee has published its report/ 

recommendations to publish its response; and 
 
(iv) if the Scrutiny and Overview Committee provided a copy of its report/ 

recommendations to a member referring a matter to it, to provide a copy of 
the response to that member. 

 
12.7 It shall be the duty of the Executiye or Council served with a notice to respond to 

comply with the notice within 2 months of receipt of the report/ recommendations or, 
if later, the notice. 

 

13 MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT 

 
13.1 Where Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-Committee considers decisions or 

actions taken in connection with the discharge of any council function falling within 
its terms of reference, it may require any member of the Mayor and executive, the 
head of paid service and / or any Corporate Director or director to attend before it to 
explain in relation to matters within their remit:  

 
(i) any particular decision or series of decisions;  
 
(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement council policy; and / or  
 
(iii) the performance of their duties;  

 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.  

 
13.2 The Chair of Scrutiny and Overview Committee and/or Sub Committee, in 

consultation with the spokespersons of the other political groups represented will 
decide whether any member of the Mayor and executive, the head of paid service 
and / or any Corporate Director or director should be required to attend a Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee or Sub Committee under this provision, and the proper 
officer will be advised accordingly. 

 

Page 330



LEGAL\53574425v1 

13.3 The proper officer shall inform the relevant member(s) of the Mayor and executive, 
head of paid service and / or any Corporate Director or director of the requirement 
to attend a Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub Committee in writing giving at 
least 15 clear working days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required to 
attend. The notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required to 
attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the 
commission. Where the account to be given to the committee will require the 
production of a report, then the member or officer concerned will be given sufficient 
notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
13.4 Only Members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub Committee may ask 

questions of the Mayor/ executive member or officer called to give account.  
 
13.5 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the relevant member(s) of the Mayor and 

executive, the head of paid service and / or any Corporate Director or director is 
unable to attend on the required date, then the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or 
Sub Committee shall in consultation with the relevant member(s) of the Mayor and 
executive, the head of paid service and / or any Corporate Director or director  
arrange an alternative date for attendance to take place within a maximum of 5 
clear working days from the date of the original request. In setting the dates the 
proper officer will take into account exceptional circumstances. 

 
 SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

12.1 The following Sub-Committees have been established with the terms of Reference as 
set out below. 

 
12.2 Streets, Environment and Homes scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 
1. To scrutinise: 

a. The built environment 
b. Planning policies 
c. Public realm 
d. Transport 
e. Highways and streets 
f. Green and clean 
g. The environment, conservation, climate change and sustainability 
h. Housing policies including homelessness 

 
2. To scrutinise Flood Risk Management and report findings direct to the Cabinet and/ 

or other partners ; 

 
 

12.3 Children and Young People Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 

 
1. To undertake scrutiny of duties and functions of the Council as a local 

social services authority relating to children. 
2. To scrutinise all services pertaining to the education and well-being of 

 children and young people including youth services. 
3. To scrutinise life-long learning. 

 . 

Page 331



LEGAL\53574425v1 

12.4 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

1. To nominate two substantive committee Members to the Standing South 
 West London Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 

 and 

2. If necessary, to appoint one of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub- 
 Committee Members in the role of observer on the Standing South West 

 London JHOSC. 

3. To nominate up to two substantive Committee Members for any JHOSC 

 that maybe established during the municipal year 2016/17 

4. To undertake all powers of Health Scrutiny as defined in the Local 
Government Act 2000  

 and National Health Service Act 2006 

5. To scrutinise Health and Social Care 
 

Page 332



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 1 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 4.F - Non-Executive Committee Procedure 

Rules 

 
1 Application 

 
1.1 Without prejudice to the Licensing, Licensing Sub-Committee, Planning 

Committee and Planning Sub- Committee Procedure Rules, these Rules shall 
apply to meetings of all Non-Executive Committees and Sub-Committees 
established by the Council. 

 
2 Appointments 

 
2.1 Appointment as a member of a Committee or Sub-Committee shall be limited 

to the duration of the Council Year or the remainder of it, with the exception of 
the role of Independent Chair of Audit and Governance Committee, which is 
a four year term. Vacancies on Sub- Committees arising during the Council 
year shall be filled by decision of the parent Committee. 

 
2.2 Membership of a Statutory Review Board shall be drawn from a Panel of 

Members appointed for that purpose by the Council. The Monitoring Officer 
shall have delegated power to constitute a Review Board. The Appointments 
Committee shall be constituted as and when a Committee is required to make 
an appointment. Membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee shall be drawn 
from the membership of the Licensing Committee. The Monitoring Officer shall 
have delegated power to constitute a Licensing Sub-Committee as and when a 
hearing under the Licensing Act 2003 or Gambling Act 2005 is required. 

 
2.3 With the exception of the Licensing Sub-Committee and Audit and 

Governance Committee, every Committee and Sub-Committee and Panel, 
at their first meeting shall appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair for the duration of 
the Council Year. The Licensing Committee shall appoint a Chair and two 
Vice-Chairs. The Licensing Sub-Committee shall appoint a Chair for the 
duration of business for which that Sub- Committee is convened.  Council 
will appoint an Independent Chair of Audit and Governance Committee for 
a four-year term.  When meeting to recruit an Independent Chair of Audit 
and Governance Committee, the role of Chair of Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee shall not be held by the Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for finance.  

 
2.4 With the exception of Audit and Governance Committee, in the event of a 

vacancy to either the Chair or Vice-Chair arising during the Council Year, this 
shall be filled by election at the first meeting of the relevant Committee or 
Sub-Committee following notification of the vacancy to the Monitoring Officer. 
In the event of the absence of a Chair and Vice-Chair from a Committee or 

Page 333



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 2 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

Sub-Committee, the representative of the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for 
the election of a Chair for the purposes of the meeting. 

 

2.5 Seats shall be allocated in accordance with the rules governing 
proportionality, by the Council at its Annual Meeting or at any Ordinary or 
Extraordinary Meeting as appropriate should a vacancy arise during the 
Council Year. Except in the case of the Licensing Sub-Committee it shall be 
in order for a Member to be appointed to a Sub-Committee although they are 
not a member of the parent Committee. The Monitoring Officer is empowered 
to make in year appointment to committees after consultation with party 
whips. 

 
2.6 During the Council Year, changes in membership shall be notified either by 

way of a resignation from the Member concerned or notification from the 
relevant Group Secretary. The relevant Group Secretary shall also submit a 
notification of the Member nominated to fill a vacancy arising for a seat 
allocated to that particular Group. In all cases the notification shall be 
submitted to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.7 The Monitoring Officer shall cause an item to be placed on the agenda of 

the next meeting of the relevant Committee, or in case of urgency the 
General Purposes Committee, and the Committee shall resolve that a 
named Member be appointed to the vacancy. 

 
2.8 The Monitoring Officer shall arrange for any Member appointed to the 

Licensing Committee or its Sub-Committee to receive appropriate training 
before that Member shall serve as a Member of the Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

 
3 Powers of the Chair 

 

3.1 The Chair of the meeting shall decide on all matters of order, competence, 
relevance and interpretation of these Rules. The Chair shall have the power 
to vary the order of business to give precedence to any item of business. 
Matters of urgent business shall be taken at the discretion of the Chair if 
satisfied that the item cannot reasonably be deferred until the next meeting of 
the Committee. The reports concerning such matters shall explain the reason 
for urgency. 

 
3.2 The Chair shall ensure that the split of business between Parts A and B (i.e. 

Part B shall constitute that part which is exempt or confidential business) is 
agreed, if necessary by a majority of the Members present. The Chair shall 
ensure that Members that wish to speak on any item of business have the 
opportunity to do so, within the scope of the meeting and within reasonable 
limits of time. The decision of the Chair as to the general conduct of the 
meeting shall be final. 

 

3.3 The Chair may direct a Member to discontinue speaking if they consider the 
Member is being repetitive, tedious or irrelevant, uses unbecoming language, 
or is in some other way breaching the order of the meeting. When necessary, 
the Chair, having warned the Member shall move that the Member called by 

Page 334



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 3 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

name, leaves the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote 
without further debate and if carried the Member shall leave immediately. 

 

3.4 In the case of a member of the public disrupting the meeting or if there is a 
general disturbance, the Chair may order the removal of a person or that the 
public areas be cleared. Re-admission shall be at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
3.5 In the event that a meeting of a non-executive committee (not including 

Planning or Planning Sub Committee, Licensing or Licensing Sub 
Committee) has lasted for three hours the Chair shall interrupt the meeting 
and call for a vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall 
continue for a further 30 minutes. 

 

3.6 If Members decide that the meeting shall not continue, or if there is 
remaining business after the additional period of 30 minutes, the Chair will 
decide if any of the remaining business is of sufficient importance to warrant 
an adjournment of the meeting and if so will declare the meeting adjourned 
to such date and time (prior to the next ordinary Committee meeting) as 
they may direct at the time or afterwards. 

 

3.7 With the exception of business so specified, the Chair shall put to the vote 
without further debate all outstanding reports on the agenda. 

 

3.8 The Guillotine procedure for Planning and Planning Sub Committee is set 
out at section 6.8 of Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub Committee 
Procedure 

 
3.9 The recording/reporting of meetings using any type of audio or visual 

equipment is permitted subject to the proviso that any such 
reporting/filming/photography does not become distracting, disruptive or 
contrary to the good order or conduct of the meeting. Should any such 
reporting/filming/photography become distracting, disruptive or contrary to the 
good order or conduct of a meeting, the person/s responsible may be asked 
by the Chair to terminate this, regardless of the format in which the 
reporting/filming/photography is taking place. 

 

 
 

4 Recommendation to Council 
 
4.1 Any recommendation referred to the Council for approval shall be made by 

way of a report summarising the matter and setting out the recommendation 
for the Council to consider. The Report shall be presented to the next 
convenient Ordinary Council Meeting following the meeting or meetings of the 
relevant Committee at which the recommendations are made. 

 
5 Agendas and Minutes 

 

5.1 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that an Agenda and Summons for each 
meeting are dispatched to Members and available to the public in advance of 
the meeting. 

Page 335



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 4 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

 
5.2 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that a record is made of the decisions 

taken at every meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee. The minutes shall 
also include a record of the Members in attendance, those absent and any 
apologies received. 

 
5.3 The disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary interests not already on a 

Members’ Register of Interest or subject to a pending notification to the 
Monitoring Officer shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and notified 
by the Member to the Monitoring Officer in accordance with the Members’ 
Code of Conduct. 

 
5.4 All minutes, except those prepared following a meeting of an Appointments 

and Disciplinary Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee shall be considered 
for approval at the next meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee to which 
they relate and shall be open to question as to their accuracy before being 
signed. The accuracy of the minutes of a meeting shall not be open to 
question or amendment other than at a meeting of the Committee or Sub- 
Committee concerned. 

 

 

5.5 Minutes shall be made available to Members, the public and press in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules at Part 4B of this 
Constitution. 

 
6 Dates and Frequency of Meetings 

 
6.1 The dates of scheduled meetings with the exception of those for the 

Appointments and Disciplinary Committee and Licensing Sub-Committees 
shall be as printed in the Council diary. Each Committee or Sub-Committee 
or the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the relevant Chair may convene 
meetings on such other dates as they may agree in the light of business to 
be transacted. 

 
6.2 The Planning Committee shall generally meet at three-weekly intervals and 

the Planning Sub-Committee at six-weekly intervals. The Licensing 
Committee and its Sub-Committee shall meet as frequently as business 
requires. 

 
6.3 The Chair shall have power to cancel a meeting for lack of business or 

reschedule a meeting, having observed the courtesy of consulting any 
member of the Committee or Sub-Committee designated as the Opposition 
Spokesperson for the Committee or Sub-Committee in question. 

 

7 Attendance by Members not appointed to a Committee or Sub- 
Committee 

 
7.1 The Chair of a Committee or Sub-Committee may agree that a Member not 

appointed to the Committee or Sub-Committee may attend and participate in 
the debate of an item of business on the grounds that the presence of the 
Member concerned can be justified. Such a Member shall not have any right 

Page 336



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 5 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

to vote in deciding the outcome of the matter under consideration. This 
provision shall not apply in respect of the Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
8 Quorum 

 
8.1 No business shall be considered at a meeting of a Committee or Sub- 

Committee unless there are present either one third of the membership of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee or 3 members, whichever figure is the greater. If 
the meeting is inquorate, it shall be deferred for 15 minutes. If after 15 minutes 
there is still no quorum, the consideration of any business not transacted shall 
be held over until the next scheduled meeting or another date fixed by the 
Chair. 

 

8.2 Where the Licensing Sub-Committee is inquorate and it is not possible to 
appoint a Chair for the duration of the business as provided for in Rule 2.03 
above, the Chair of the Licensing Committee or in the absence of the Chair, 
one of the Vice Chairs, shall be deemed to be appointed as Chair for the 
purpose of deferring the business to the next scheduled meeting if 
appropriate, to another date fixed for hearing of the business or to a later time 
on the date of the scheduled meeting for hearing of the business. 

 
9 Rules of Debate 

 
9.1 A Member may indicate their desire to speak by raising their hand, but shall 

only speak when called by name by the Chair. 
 
9.2 Members shall, when speaking, address the Chair and: 

 
1 refer to each other as Chair or Member, as the case may be; 

 

2 refrain from using unbecoming language; 
 

3 refrain from comments of a personal nature about another Member; 
 

4 not attribute improper motives to another Member. 

 
9.3 Only one motion or amendment may be considered at a time. A motion or 

amendment once moved and seconded may be withdrawn, only by the mover. 
No further debate shall take place on a motion or amendment once it has been 
withdrawn. 

 

9.4 Every motion or amendment must be moved and seconded. 
 
9.5 An amendment to a motion may be proposed, provided it is seconded and: 

 
1 is not moved whilst another amendment is under discussion; 

 
2 does not have the same meaning as one already defeated at the 

meeting; 
 

Page 337



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 6 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

3 refers to the subject matter under discussion and does not introduce a 
new subject. 

 
9.6 A Member may raise a point of order by declaring “point of order” identifying 

the appropriate Procedure Rule number, in which case the Chair shall ask the 
Member speaking to give way.  A point of order may only relate to an alleged 
breach of these Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules or the law.  The 
Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which they consider it has 
been broken.  The ruling on the Chair on the matter will be final.  

 
9.7 A Member may seek to make a personal explanation at any time during the course of another 
Member’s speech if they have been referred to by name or position, by declaring “point of personal 
explanation”, in which case the Chair shall ask the Member speaking to give way.  A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which may 
appear to have been misunderstood.  The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility of a personal 
explanation and the time allowed for any personal explanation will be final.   

9.8 A Member may seek leave from the Chair to clarify a point made in an 
earlier speech by that Member if it appears from comments made in a 
subsequent speech that the earlier speech by the Member had been 
misunderstood.  The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility of, and the 
time allowed for, any clarification will be final. 

 

10 Voting 
 
10.1 Unless required otherwise by law, all matters shall be decided by a simple 

majority. 
 
10.2 Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of a Committee or Sub- 

Committee, if any Member so requires there shall be recorded in the minutes 
of that meeting whether the person cast their vote for or against the question 
or whether they abstained from voting. 

 

10.3 If a demand is made at a meeting by the required number of Members, the 
names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will 
be taken down in writing and entered in to the minutes.  The required number 
of Members is: 

 

(a) one third of the Members entitled to vote at the meeting; or 
 
(b)  where the authority is divided into Political Groups, in accordance with 

the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the number of seats on 
the Committee or Sub-Committee allocated to the second largest 
Political Group among the Members of the Council, whichever is the 
less. 

 
10.4 In the event of an equality of votes on either side, the Chair shall have a 

second or casting vote. 
 
11 Disclosure of Interests 

 

11.1 Every agenda shall include as an item of business “Disclosures of Interest”. 

Page 338



May 2016 Part 4F / Page 7 of 6 
Non-ExecutiveCommitteeProcedureRules 
As amended 02.2019 
 

 

Members shall abide by the Members Code of Conduct set out at Part 5I of 
this Constitution. It is the responsibility of every Member to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest and other registrable interest during the 
course of a meeting that is not already on their register of interests or 
subject to a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer and to declare any 
non-registrable interest. Each disclosure shall be minuted but Members are 
required to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosure so minuted in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

Page 339



This page is intentionally left blank



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 1 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 

Part 4.G – Delegations to Corporate Directors 
Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 
1 Departmental Schemes 

 
1.1 This Constitution includes a range of delegations. Corporate Directors should 

identify who amongst their senior staff shall exercise these, both on a day to 
day basis and in the event of their absence. These arrangements shall be 
written up by each Corporate Director as their departmental scheme, which 
shall be deposited with the Council SolicitorMonitoring Officer. 

 
1.2 A departmental scheme might involve specific delegations to individual senior 

officers or generic delegations to a group of officers. It is for each Corporate 
Director to decide what is reasonable in the context of their Department’s 
needs and staffing structure. It would not be unreasonable for a Corporate 
Director to delegate the entirety of his/her delegated powers to the 
Department’s second tier staff but not appropriate to re-delegate on a 
general basis more widely. Further advice is available from the Monitoring 
Officer on the style and    content of the scheme of delegations appropriate for a 
particular Department. The Council’s Financial Regulations at Part 4 of this 
Constitution    provide that the Chief Finance Officer must approve all financial 
schemes of delegation. 

 
2 Decisions which should be formally recorded 

 
2.1 Most of the Council’s most senior managers are taking decisions on a regular 

basis and the general nature of the delegations included in the Constitution 
provides authority for this. However, certain classes of decisions and the 
reasons for them should be recorded in writing in order that they can be 
defended if challenged (either informally or through the Courts) and to protect 
managers from any suggestion that they are abusing their authority. 
Furthermore, certain types of decisions are required by statute to be recorded 
and made available to the public. Finally, where executive decisions are being 
taken by officers, regard must be had to the provisions of Part 4B Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in this Constitution. 

 
2.2 Given that Officers shall be taking a wide range of managerial, service and 

statutory decisions it is not easy to identify with complete certainty those 
where a formal record should be retained. However the following classes of 
decision, which are not mutually exclusive, are required by statute to be 
formally recorded: 

Page 341



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 2 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

 

i. Any decision taken by an officer which would otherwise have been 
taken by the relevant Council decision making body, or a committee or 
sub-committee of that body or a joint committee in which that body 
participates, but it has been delegated to an officer of that body either- 

 

 Under a specific express authorisation; or 

 Under a general authorisation to officers to take such decisions 
and, the effect of the decision is to: 

 
a) Grant a permission or licence; 

 
b) Affect the rights of an individual; or 

 
c) Award a contract or incur expenditure which, in either case, 

materially affects that relevant local government body’s 
financial position. 

 
ii. A written record must be produced as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the decision making officer has made the decision and must 
contain the following information – 

 

 The date the decision was taken; 

 A record of the decision taken along with the reasons for the 
decision; 

 Details of alternative options, if any, considered and rejected, 
and 

 Where the decision is taken pursuant to an express 
authorisation from a  the relevant Council decision making 
body, the names of any Members of the Council decision making 
body who has declared a conflict of interest in relation to the 
decision. 

 
 

2.3 In addition to the above, the following classes of decision, which are not 
mutually exclusive, provide a guide as to those where a specific record 
including    reasons should be retained: 
i. Statutory Determinations 
ii. Any decision which is prejudicial to the rights or interests of an 

individual or a third party 
iii. Any decision which is likely to be challenged 
iv. Any decision to issue a formal Notice or instigate a formal procedure 
v. The dismissal of a member of staff or any decision which is prejudicial 

to the interests of an individual or a group of staff 
vi. The approval of expenditure over £10,000 
vii. Any decision, which may be or is at variance with Government 

guidance 

Page 342



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 3 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

viii Any decision requiring the execution of formal documentation by the 
Council SolicitorDirector of Legal Services. 

ix Any other executive decision, as defined in Part 4B Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in this Constitution, such record to include 
the decision and date it was made; the reasons for the decision; details 
of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer when 
making the decision ; any conflict of interest declared by any Executive 
Member who is consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; 
and in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of 
dispensation granted by the Head of Paid Service. 

 
2.3 Decisions relating to the appointment of staff are already well documented if 

carried out in accordance with the Council’s recruitment policies and the 
Guide to Successful Staff Selection. 

 
3 Decision documentation 

 

3.1 The need to document decisions and their reasons can be met in a number of 
ways. It is suggested that the most appropriate is either: 

 
(a) A decision letter setting out reasons and signed by a manager with 

delegated authority; 
 

(b) An internal memorandum setting out reasons and a recommendation to 
a manager with delegated authority and then endorsed as “approved” 
and signed and dated by that manager; or 

 

(c) A decision record form for non-executive decisions designed for the 
purpose – an example of such a form is attached at appendix 1 to 
these rules. 

 
(d) In relation to an executive decision as defined in Part 4B Access to 

Information Procedure Rules in this Constitution, an executive decision 
record form is required, as attached at appendix 2 to these rules. 

 
3.2 The decision documentation should then be retained (in hard or electronic 

form) on a central departmental file in addition to any subject file. The Council 
Solicitor Director of Legal Services shall require a copy of the documentation 
when executing formal documentation on such matters. 

 

3.3 The manager with delegated authority must be either the Corporate 
Director     or a senior manager given delegated authority under the 
departmental scheme referred to in paragraph 1 above. 

 
3.4 As with a report to the LeaderMayor, the Cabinet or a Committee for decision 

the reasons given should show that the Authority (acting through the 
delegated manager) has had regard to all appropriate considerations in 
reaching a 

Page 343



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 4 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

decision. This must include all those that the Authority is required to have 
regard to by statute (such as human rights or crime and disorder) as well as 
those that are required by good practice. The general approach adopted in 
Committee or LeaderMayor/Cabinet reports may be a helpful guide although 
the documentation for delegated decisions may be more concise. 

Page 344



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 5 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

Appendix 1 
 

 
CROYDON COUNCIL 

 

…………………………….DEPARTMENT 
 

RECORD OF NON-EXECUTIVE DELEGATED DECISION 
 

TITLE:- 
 

REFERENCE NO:- 
 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED:- 

[Including any rejected] 

 

ANY CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST DECLARED BY A 
MEMBER of the Decision 
Making Body which expressly 
delegated authority to the 
officer taking the decision. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:- 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS/ 
CABINET OR COMMITTEE 
REPORT:- 

 

 
I agree/do not agree* to the recommendation [as amended*] 
(*delete as appropriate) 

 
Signature: 

Title: 

Date: 

Page 345



May 2016 Part 4G / Page 6 of 6  

Delegations to Executive Directors Decision Making Procedure Rules 

 

 
LEGAL\53583264v1 

 

Appendix 2 
 

CROYDON COUNCIL 
 

……………………………. DEPARTMENT 

RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISION 

TITLE:-  

REFERENCE NO:-  

SUMMARY:- 
[Include all appropriate 
considerations to the decision] 

 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED:- 

[Including any rejected] 

 

ANY CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST DECLARED BY 
AN EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
CONSULTED by the officer in 
making the decision. 

 

ANY DISPENSATION 
GRANTED TO THE 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
CONSULTED BY THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:-  

BACKGROUND PAPERS/ 
CABINET OR COMMITTEE 
REPORT:- 

 

I agree/do not agree* to the recommendation [as amended*] 
(*delete as appropriate) 

Signature: 

Title: 
 

Date: 

Page 346



1 
 

 

Part 4.I of the Council 

Constitution 

 

Tenders and Contracts 

Regulations 2019 

 
 

These Regulations form part of the Constitution and 

were adopted by Full Council on 15 July 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 347



2 
 

Contents          Page No. 

Background                                                       4 

Section 1 – General 4 

1. The Legislation Governing these Rules       6 

2. Glossary of Terms is provided at Appendix A       6 

3. Application of the Regulations         6 

4. Officer Responsibilities          7 

5. Director Responsibilities         8 

6. Declaration of Interest          9 

Section 2 – Make or Buy          9 

7. Pre Procurement            9 

Section 3 – How we Buy - Approach and Principles     10 

8. How we Buy          10 

9. E-procurement and use of E-sourcing (tendering)     11 

10. Contract Value, Aggregation and existing Council Contracts    11 

11. Procedures and Approval Process for the Council’s Tendering and Request  

for Quotation Activities for Low Value and Formal Tendering     11 

12. Pre Tender Market Consultation        13 

13. London Living Wage          13 

14. The Public Services (Social Value) Act       13 

15. Nominated or Named Sub-contractors and Suppliers     14 

16. Collaboration           14 

17. Provision of Services and Works for Other Organisations    15 

18. Tendering with or through other Public Bodies      15 

19. Waivers and Emergencies         16 

20. Preparation of a Specification        16 

21. Advertising and the Number of Tenders       17 

22. Standards and Evaluation Criteria        17 

23. Standard Contract Clauses         18 

24. Form of Contract for all Awards        22 

Page 348



3 
 

25. Invitations to Tender and Quotations/Tendering Instructions    22 

26. Submission, Receipt and Opening of Tenders/Quotations    24 

27. Post SQ and Tender Clarifications        25 

Section 4 - Contract Award 19 

28. Contract Award          26 

29. Contract Pre-conditions and Preliminaries       27 

30. Extras and Variations          27 

Section 5 –Contract Mobilisation 21 

31. Tender Records          28 

32. Contracts Register          29 

33. Contract Storage           29 

Section 6 - Contract Management 22 

34. Managing Contracts           29 

35. Risk Assessment & Contingency Planning        30 

36. Contract Monitoring, Evaluation & Review        30 

Appendices   

Appendix A Glossary          32 

Appendix B Procurement Process Flowchart        40 

 

  

Page 349



4 
 

Background 

 

These Tenders and Contracts Regulations are designed to ensure that all Contracts 

covered by these Regulations will be cost effective and meet the priorities of our 

Corporate Plan, link below: 

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/Corporate%20 Plan%202018-22.pdf 

The Council’s Commissioning Framework principles which these regulations support are outlined below: 

 
 
The principles of these regulations are:  

• to achieve good value for money and deliver social value wherever possible;  

• to deliver a competitive process; ensuring there is no discrimination, with fair and 
transparent procedures, and equal treatment of all potential suppliers;  

• to encourage and ensure continuous improvement in the delivery of Council 
services through the application of value for money principles;  

• to incorporate effective and best practice procedures;  

• to publish clear and understandable rules;  

• to minimise risks and to protect the Council’s interests and reputation;  

Page 350



5 
 

• to ensure controls and accountability, and always to act within the law;  

• to maintain an auditable trail of all tender activity;  

• to be responsive to any weaknesses identified by internal/external audit;  

• to ensure that regulations reflect the current procurement environment;  

• to effectively support the delivery of direct services;  

• to have regulations with which everyone complies.  

 

These Tenders and Contracts Regulations are designed to achieve these key 
commissioning and procurement principles.  

These Regulations are also the best defence against allegations that a purchase has 

been made unfairly, incorrectly or fraudulently. All those involved in the commissioning 

and procurement process must comply with these Regulations. Failure to do so may 

lead to disciplinary action being taken. 

  

Page 351



6 
 

Section 1 – General 

 
1.  The Legislation Governing these Rules  

1.1  These Regulations are made under Section 135 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and any subsequent qualifying or amending legislation. Under the Local 
Government Act 2000 the making and amending of these Regulations and the 
approval of any exceptions to them are part of the Council’s non-executive 
functions.  

1.2  These Regulations are part of the Council’s Constitution and govern all relevant 
Contracts including those funded by way of grant.  

1.3  The EU Rules and national legislation and related Public Contracts Regulations 
(PCR) 2015 & Concessions Contracts Regulations (CCR) 2016, which affects 
contracts under these Regulations, takes precedence.  

1.4  These Regulations are subject to any general waivers agreed or provided for 
by these Regulations e.g. Regulation 19.  

1.5  Anyone operating these Regulations must also follow the Council’s Financial 
Regulations.  

1.6  These Regulations support the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and as 
amended, which allow for specific non-commercial considerations to be taken 
into account in contracting decisions.  

 

2. Glossary of Terms is provided at Appendix A  

 

3.  Application of the Regulations  

3.1  These Regulations apply if the Council intends to enter into a contract either as 
a purchaser or as a provider with another entity.  

3.2  If a Contract involves generating income for either the Council or a provider, the 

Officer responsible must make an estimate of the notional value of the contract 

and use these Regulations if the value is estimated to be at or above the Low 

Value Threshold . 

3.3  These regulations apply to all Contracts except for the following types of 
Contracts:  

a)  Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the 
Authority;  

b)  Fines;  

c)  Payment of taxes;  

d)  Situations where the Council carries out work by arrangement with the 
owner of any property but in exercise of the Council’s statutory default 
powers;  

Page 352



7 
 

e)  Agreements directly associated with the acquisition, disposal, or transfer 
of assets or land (to which the Financial Regulations shall apply).  

f)  Grants that the Council is applying for or issuing.  

 

4.  Officer Responsibilities  

4.1 Officers involved in the commissioning and procurement process must comply 
with:  

• These Regulations;  

• All UK and European Union binding legal requirements;  

• The Council’s Financial Regulations;  

• The Council’s Staff Code of Conduct;  

• The Council’s Gifts & Hospitality Procedures;  

• The Anti-Bribery policy;  

• Declare any conflicts of interest;  

• The Council’s Scheme of Delegation;  

Officers must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners 
acting on their behalf also comply through relevant provision in the contract of 
engagement or other suitable means. Any arrangements, which might, in the 
long term, prevent the effective operation of fair competition, must be avoided.  

4.2  Officers must:  

a.  Have proper regard for all necessary legal, financial and professional 
advice;  

b.  Ensure compliance with the Council’s policy and procedures for example 
Equalities and Diversity, Safeguarding, ICT, Council’s IT Security, Data 
Protection and Social Value; 

c.  Declare any personal financial interest in a contract. Corruption is a 
criminal offence;  

d.  Report any offers of bribes, inducements or gifts & hospitality;  
e. Conduct a relevant value for money review;  
f.  Ensure that there is adequate budget provision for the procurement 

being undertaken;  
g.  Check whether there is an existing contract that can be used before 

undergoing a competitive process;  
h.  Not divide up any contract in order to avoid any rules set out in these 

Regulations;  
i.  Receive approval for the RP2 How we Buy report (procurement/ 

commissioning strategy) before advertising the contracting opportunity 
or inviting any tenders for a relevant Contract;  

j.  Allow sufficient time for the submission of bids;  
k.  Keep all supplier bids confidential;  
l.  Keep records of all dealings with suppliers;  
m. Obtain all required approvals at the correct point in the procurement 

process as advised by these Regulations and complete a written contract 
(signed and/or sealed, as required) before placing an order or raising a 
purchase order for any supplies, services or works;  

Page 353



8 
 

n.  Where appropriate don’t award a contract until the Standstill period is 
over;  

o.  Enter all purchase order information onto the Council’s financial system 
prior to any goods or services being provided. Raising purchase orders, 
and any permitted exceptions, must be conducted in accordance with 
the Council’s P2P Guidance documentation;  

p.  Identify an appropriate senior manager with the relevant delegation, who 
is the designated contract owner responsible for the relationship with the 
supplier. In addition, a contract manager with responsibility for day to day 
issues and ensuring the contract delivers as intended must also be 
appointed;  

q.  The contract manager should ensure the safe keeping of contract 
documentation in line with Croydon’s document retention policy and 
uploaded onto the Council’s contract management system;  

r.  Throughout, ensure that the procurement exercise delivers against the 
Council’s Commissioning Framework and supports the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan Priorities.  

4.3 When any employee either of the Council or of a service provider may be 
affected by any transfer arrangement, Officers must ensure that the Transfer of 
Undertaking (Protection of Employment 2006 Regulations (amended 2014)) 
TUPE is considered along with any issues related to employee’s membership 
of the LGPS, and Teachers Pension Scheme. Advice and guidance on TUPE 
must be sought at an early stage from the relevant departmental HR Lead. The 
Pensions team must also be notified as early as possible so that the 
implications relating to pensions may be considered.  

 

5.  Director Responsibilities  

 

5.1  Directors must:  

a.  Ensure that these Regulations are followed and enforced within their 
areas of responsibility;  

b.   Make the staff aware of the requirements of these regulations;  

c.  Declare any personal financial interest in a contract. Corruption is a 
criminal offence;  

d.  Report any offers of bribes, inducements or gifts & hospitality;  

e.  For Contracts at or over the Low Value Threshold  ensure the relevant 
Cabinet Member(s) and the CCB are aware of commissioning intentions 
and are advised in advance of the purpose of any Contract that falls 
within these Regulations, including the commissioning and/or tendering 
process to be followed to secure the Contract and of any anticipated 
issues for the process, with particular regard to any service implications 
arising;  

f.  Consider any advice given by CCB;  

g.  Monitor compliance and investigate any non-compliance with the 
regulations and report any findings to the Director of Commercial 
Investment as Chair of the Contracts and Commissioning Board;  

Page 354



9 
 

h.  Ensure that any third party participating in the procurement or 
supervising a Council Contract agrees, in writing, to comply with these 
Regulations as if they were Officers of the Council;  

i.  Approve the award and spend of written quotations under the Low Value 
Threshold in consultation with the Head of Strategic Procurement, and 
in accordance with Regulation 11 to ensure value for money.  

j. Ensure their contract managers have kept contract documentation in line 
with Croydon’s document retention policy and uploaded onto the 
Council’s contract management system.  

5.2  Advice and guidance on TUPE must be sought at an early stage from the 
relevant departmental HR Lead. The Pensions team must also be notified as 
early as possible so that the implications relating to pensions may be 
considered.  

 

6.  Declaration of Interest:  

6.1  Any Officer must declare to their Director or Corporate Director any personal 
interest in a matter they are dealing with, including one, which may impinge on 
their impartiality to apply these Regulations.  

6.2  No Member, Officer or agent of the Council shall improperly use his or her 
position to obtain any personal or private benefit from any contract entered into 
by the Council.  

6.3  It is a requirement that all officers and external advisors complete the 
Declaration of Confidentiality and Interest Form and comply with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct prior to any involvement in drafting of Council’s Tender 
Documents, Quotations or any involvement in evaluation of tenders and the 
management of the contract. This is to ensure that the Council’s procedures 
including confidentiality are complied with in accordance with these 
Regulations.  

6.4  In the event that a conflict of interest arises during the life of the contract, all 
Council officers must notify their Director or Corporate Director, in writing, as 
soon as is reasonably practicable. This not only includes personal conflicts, but 
also extends to any suspected/known conflicts of interests in relation to any 
internal or external matters/personnel 

 
 

 

Section 2 – Make or Buy 
 

7.  Pre Procurement  

7.1  Any new commissioning of services including existing services where the 
contract is due to end, must consider the Make or Buy decision, in line with the 
Council’s’ Commissioning Framework and guidance in the Procurement and 
Contract Management Handbook. The Director responsible must submit a 

Page 355



10 
 

report to CCB for agreement to the proposed outcome for values at or over the 
Low Value Threshold .  

7.2  Consideration must be given to what procurement method is most likely to 
achieve the commissioning and procurement objectives, including packaging 
(Lots) strategies, internal or external sourcing, shared services, partnering 
arrangements and collaborative procurement arrangements with other local 
authorities and government departments. Officers will also consider working 
with CCGs, statutory undertakers and Central Purchasing Bodies. They may 
also consider the establishment of separate trading entities.  

7.3  The relevant Officer must refer to the Procurement & Contract Management 
Handbook for further details on process and requirements before instigating 
any procurement exercise. 

 

 

Section 3 – How we Buy - Approach and 
Principles 
 

8.  How we Buy  

8.1  The Director responsible must submit a How we Buy (procurement strategy) 
Report to the CCB, setting out commissioning intentions and sourcing strategy, 
(in the format required), for all proposed Contract awards for goods and 
services with an estimated total Contract value at or above the Low Value 
Threshold. Where it is intended to complete a mini competition or call off for 
works from an existing Council contract or an OJEU procured framework as 
advertised for works, then a report is not required up to an estimated total 
contract value of £500,000.  

8.2  A Report must be presented to Cabinet (in the required format) for approval that 
has been recommended by CCB, where the eventual Contract value is 
estimated at £5m or above unless the underlying procurement strategy to which 
it relates has already been reported and agreed by Cabinet. In these cases, the 
Leader has delegated the authority to agree the procurement strategy to the 
relevant Cabinet Member.  

8.3  The How we Buy report or Cabinet report should, as a minimum, set out the 
project plan, the proposed procurement route, compliance with the Council’s 
policies on LLW, Social Value, data protection and equality analysis 
recommendations, any proposed departures from standard procurement 
practice or these regulations, the evaluation approach, risks, timetable, project 
structure and details of the Contract, e.g. term, value and any other relevant 
information.  

8.4  No advertisement should be placed or invitation to tender made prior to 
approval of the How we Buy report in accordance with Regulation 11.  

 

 

Page 356



11 
 

 

9.  E-Procurement and the Use of E-Sourcing (Tendering)  

9.1  E-Procurement is a critical method of ensuring transparency, fairness and 
accountability in procurement processes. As such, all quotation and tendering 
processes for Contracts run by the Council or on behalf of the Council must use 
an e-tendering portal under the supervision of the Head of Strategic 
Procurement & Governance. When the Council is running a quotation or 
tendering process it will use its own e-tendering portal. Any other tendering 
method or use of other e-tendering portals may be used only with prior 
authorisation via a Waiver request. 

 
9.2  All electronic documentation will be securely accessed and retained on the 

Council’s e-sourcing website. The Council will not accept hard copies of 
suppliers tender submissions.  

9.3  The relevant Director must ensure that all information required to commence 
an e-procurement process effectively, and to provide a full audit trail for the 
process, is provided, including details of evaluation criteria, their weightings and 
the way in which evaluation scores will be calculated.  

 

10.  Contract Value, Aggregation and Existing Council Contracts  

10.1  The Officer responsible must not divide any Contract ordinarily treated as a 
single Contract into two or more Contracts or in phased or staged delivery in 
such way as to avoid the application of any of these Regulations, the UK 
Regulations or the EU Rules.  

10.2  The value of Contracts which are subject to the UK Regulations shall be 
calculated as provided for in those regulations. For the purposes of approvals 
and other requirements of these Tenders and Contracts Regulations, the value 
of any Contract is calculated net of VAT and over the total duration of the 
Contract, including any pilot, phases or stages of delivery.  

10.3  The Officer responsible may not arrange to purchase separately any supplies, 
services or works that are available to be purchased through an existing 
contractual arrangement with the Council, where the items sought are either the 
same or sufficiently similar to those that are the subject of the existing contract 
to fulfil the Council’s needs. Unless it can be clearly demonstrated to the 
satisfaction of the Chair of CCB for spend at or above the Low Value Threshold  
and to the satisfaction of the Strategic Procurement Manager for spend below 
the Low Value Threshold, that using the existing Contract would not fulfil the 
Council’s statutory duty to provide Best Value under Section 3 of the Local 
Government Act 1999. 

 
 

11.  Procedures and Approval Process for the Council’s Tendering and 
Request for Quotation Activities  

Page 357



12 
 

11.1  These regulations apply to all purchases except for those where Regulation 
19.3 applies.  

11.2 Procurement below the Low Value Threshold   

11.2.1For all contracts with an estimated value of below the Low Value Threshold  the 
following thresholds apply: 

 
  

Contract 
Value 

Procedure Approval 

Up to 
£10,000 

Preferably two written quotations both to 
be from local supplier using the Council’s 
Business Directory (if possible) 
 

In accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme of 
Financial Delegation and 
Departmental Scheme 
of Delegation Over 

£10,000 
and up to 
Low Value 
Threshold 

Min. three written quotations with two 
from local suppliers using the Council’s 
Business Directory (if possible) and 
processed by the Council’s Buying Team 
via the Council’s e-tendering portal. 

 
 
  

 
11.2.2 For values over £10,000 written quotations should be processed through the 

Central Buying Team using the Council’s e-tendering system. Quotations must 
be processed in accordance with the information on low value procurement 
provided in the Commissioning & Procurement Handbook.  

11.2.3 Where the procurement route will not follow Regulation 11.2.1, a waiver is 
required as set out in Regulation 19. The Director of Commercial Investment 
may approve a list of general exemptions for circumstances where it is not 
feasible or advantageous to seek written quotations or Waivers.  

 
11.3  Formal Tendering (Low Value Threshold and above)  

11.3.1 For all contracts with an estimated value at or above the Low Value Threshold  
, formal tendering procedures should be followed using the Council’s’ e-
tendering portal in accordance with the requirements of Regulations 8 & 26 and 
the UK Regulations. No procurement can commence without prior approval of 
the RP2 How we Buy - procurement strategy and no contracts can commence 
without prior approval of the award of contracts. Approvals are in accordance 
with the table below and where approval is sought from a Cabinet Member then 
it is in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources or where 
the Cabinet Member is the Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources then it is 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council. 

 

Approval 
Required 

Chair of CCB 
Approval 

Cabinet Member 
Approval 

Cabinet 
Approval 

RP2 How we Buy 
– Procurement 
Strategy 

Up to 
£5,000,000 

Cabinet Member(s) to 
be sighted on all 
reports 

Over £5,000,000 

Page 358



13 
 

RP3 Contract 
Award 

Low Value 
Threshold up 
to £500,000 

Over £500,000 up to 
£5,000,000 

Over £5,000,000 

 
 
  
 
11.3.2 Unless as otherwise specified in these Regulations, the approval of strategies 

and awards relating to Framework Agreements and the establishment/initial 
appointment of providers to a DPS shall be subject to the requirements and 
procedures applicable to Contracts, by reference to the estimated value of 
contracts to be called off over the life of the Framework or DPS.  

11.3.3 The periodic appointment of new providers to an approved DPS or (where 
relevant) Framework shall be reported to CCB with such frequency as shall be 
specified in the report seeking approval for the award of a Framework 
Agreement or establishment/initial appointment of providers to a DPS 
(‘Framework/DPS Award report’).  

 
11.3.4 Unless as otherwise stated in these Regulations, the approval of strategies and 

awards in relation to Call-off Contracts under a Framework or DPS approved 
via a Framework/DPS Award Report shall be subject to the requirements and 
procedures applicable to Contracts, except as may be otherwise specified and 
approved in the relevant Framework/DPS Award Report.  

 

12.  Pre Tender Market Consultation  

12.1  Before submitting a procurement strategy to CCB, the officer responsible for 
the procurement and in consultation with the relevant Category Manager, may 
issue a Prior Indicative Notice (PIN) or conduct market consultations with a view 
to informing the eventual procurement approach, scope of contract, 
specification etc. and/or to communicate to prospective applicants and 
tenderers the Council’s procurement plans and requirements such as the 
nature, level and standard of the provision, contract packaging, timescales and 
other relevant matters.  

12.2  For this purpose, the officer responsible may, for example, seek or accept 
advice from independent experts, other authorities or from market participants.  

12.3  Such advice may be used in the planning and the proposed procurement 
procedure, provided that it does not have the effect of distorting competition (by 
giving those who participate in the pre-tender market consultation an unfair 
advantage over others in relation to future procurement opportunities) and does 
not result in a violation of the EU Rules and transparency and furthermore, is 
conducted in line with the UK Regulations.  

 

13.  London Living Wage (LLW)  

13.1  The Council will include a requirement for all staff to be paid no less than the 
LLW, as defined by the Living Wage Foundation. For these purposes the scope 

Page 359



14 
 

will be defined as by the Living Wage Foundation. For ‘staff’ means all persons 
employed by the contractor to perform its obligations under the relevant Council 
contract together with the Provider’s servants, agents, suppliers and sub-
contractors used in the performance of its obligations under that Contract.  

 

14.  The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012  

14.1  This Act places a requirement on commissioners to consider the economic, 
environmental and social benefits of their approaches to commissioning and 
procurement before the process starts. The Act requires authorities to make the 
following considerations at the pre-procurement (commissioning) stage:  

 a) How, what is proposed to be procured, might improve the economic, 
  social  and environmental well-being of the ‘relevant area’;  

 b)  How in conducting a procurement process, the Authority might act with 
  a view to securing that improvement and whether to undertake a  
  consultation on these matters.  

14.2  Commissioners should use this Act, including any updates to it and the 
Council’s Social Value Policy to consider outcomes and the types of services 
to commission before starting the procurement process. When considering how 
a procurement process may improve the social, economic or environmental 
well-being of a relevant area, the Council must only consider matters that are 
relevant to what is proposed to be procured. The Council must only consider 
those matters to the extent to which it is proportionate, in all the circumstances, 
to take those matters into account. See: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted  

 

15.  Nominated or Named Sub-contractors and Suppliers  

15.1 In accordance with Croydon’s commitment to developing the local supply base 
and proactively implementing the Social Value Act, sub-contracting can provide 
a useful tool for engaging small businesses, voluntary organisations and the 
community sector in the supply of goods, supplies and services.  

15.2  Officers should consider whether the inclusion of sub-contracting clauses is 
appropriate for their commissioning activity.  

15.3  Where a Director nominates or names a sub-contractor or supplier to a main 
contractor, they must ensure the compliance with LLW, Modern Day Slavery, 
Council’s Equality and Diversity policy, data protection legislation and any other 
such policy or legislation relevant to the goods, services or works being 
contracted for is included in that suppliers agreement. They must seek approval 
from the Chair of CCB prior to engagement with the sub-contractor or supplier.  

 

16.  Collaboration  

16.1  In order to secure value for money, the Council may enter into a procurement 
arrangement with a Central Purchasing Body (CPB) such as Crown 
Commercial Services (CCS) or another such body. These agreements should 
include (where possible) compliance with the Council’s policy and procedures, 

Page 360



15 
 

and must be approved in accordance with Regulation 11. The terms and 
conditions of the CPB must be fully complied with, including any requirement to 
undertake competition between providers, roles and responsibilities and 
liabilities must be clearly set out in all Call-off and contract documentation when 
using these agreements.  

 
16.2  In order to secure value for money, the Council may enter into collaborative 

procurement arrangements with another local authority, government 
department, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) and health providers, 
statutory undertaker or other contracting authority. These arrangements must 
be approved in accordance with Regulation 11 and must ensure that roles and 
responsibility and liability has been clearly set out within the documentation.  

 

17.  Provision of Services and Works for Other Organisations  

17.1  This Regulation applies whenever the Council carries out or provides any 
services or work or other action on behalf of another Local Authority/ consortium 
of Local Authorities, Government Department, Statutory Body or third sector 
organisation (third parties). The following conditions apply:  

a. the Officer responsible must be satisfied that the Council’s interests will 
not be prejudiced by any such action;   and 

b. there must be sufficient budget for the work in the Council’s own 
estimates;   and  

c. the third party must sign an agreement with the Council that clearly 
states liabilities, roles and responsibilities, and include contingency 
arrangements should the third party no longer exist during the term of 
the provision;   and  

d. the third party must authorise any additional requirements, variations or 
departures and any additional funding required by the Council must be 
authorised in accordance with the Financial Regulations;   and  

e. the third party must first confirm that it accepts financial responsibility for 
the provision of services or work.  

 

17.2  Approval must be sought from the CCB via a RP2 How we Buy report prior to 
any notable commitment of Council resources or budget  

 

18.  Tendering with or through other Public Bodies  

18.1  Subject to the requirements of EU Rules, UK Regulations and any other 
applicable legislation, regulation, policy and/or guidance document, the Officer 
responsible can call off tenders with or through the following organisations, 
provided that they can obtain equivalent or more advantageous terms than by 
inviting competitive tenders:  

a. Another Local Authority, consortium of local authorities, Commissioning 
Partnerships, a Mutual;  

b. Government Department, Purchasing Organisation which has been 
approved by the Director responsible for procurement;  

c. Statutory Body;  

Page 361



16 
 

d. Utility Undertaking (public or previously public).  

18.2  However, the Officer responsible must obtain the most favourable terms 
possible for the Council and must be able to demonstrate Best Value for 
Money under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999. An award report 
recommending any award must be submitted in accordance with Regulation 
11.  

 

19.  Waivers and Emergencies  

19.1  Where the value is under the Low Value Threshold  any waivers must be signed 
by the relevant Director of the service area in consultation with either the Head 
of Strategic Procurement or Sourcing Managers of the Central Buying Team.  

19.2  Over and above this, the Director of Commercial Investment (exercising 
delegated non-executive powers) can waive any requirements contained within 
these Tenders and Contracts Regulations for specific projects, following a 
recommendation from the CCB. Any such waivers granted with a value at or 
above the Low Value Threshold must be reported to Cabinet at its next meeting.  

 
19.3  For Disasters and Emergencies where there is a clear need to provide a service 

or product immediately in the instance of a sudden unforeseen crisis or the 
immediate risk is to health, life, property or environment, compliance when 
these regulations may not be feasible. Any Director may place an order for 
supplies, services or works as the circumstances require after seeking approval 
from the chair of CCB, clearly stating the immediate procurements required. If 
that is not feasible for example due to outside of normal working hours then 
immediately after when reasonably feasible. A report of contracts awarded and 
any future procurements required will require approval by the Chair of CCB and 
if applicable Cabinet at the next available meeting after the event.  

19.4  For emergency placements (Placement) relating to children or vulnerable 
adults, where it is not possible to arrange the Placement through an existing 
Council Contract, the relevant Director may authorise an order for the 
Placement. As soon as practical the Director shall review the Placement to 
satisfy themselves that it is and continues to be appropriate to the 
circumstances and provides value for money.  

19.5  A monthly report of all Placements and other emergency orders made under 
this Regulation 19 in the relevant month shall be presented to CCB, Cabinet 
Member or Cabinet as appropriate (by reference to regulation 28 in accordance 
with the value of award and reporting protocols). Where the Director making the 
Placement or emergency order is not a Corporate Director such report shall 
also be provided to the relevant Corporate Director.  

19.6  All waivers against any of these regulations, including the reasons for them and 
the period for which the waiver is valid must be recorded and approved. Where 
a waiver is to be sought, the procurement process may not begin before 
approval has been granted. This restriction cannot be avoided by seeking 
approval of a waiver with retrospective effect, unless it is confirmed that it was 

Page 362



17 
 

not reasonably practicable to obtain it prior to approval. All requirements of 
these Regulations relating to the approval to award still remain. 

 
 
20.  Preparation of a Specification  

20.1  The Officer responsible must prepare a clear and unambiguous specification. It 
must be in keeping with the Council’s commissioning principles (including 
Social Value outcomes), they must be outcome-based and must include any 
necessary outputs, plans, sections, drawings and bills of quantities. This 
specification must be agreed by the relevant Category Manager or the Central 
Buying Team for values below the Low Value Threshold .  

20.2  Sometimes, because of the type of work, the Officer responsible may not 
consider it practical or possible to prepare a detailed specification of every item 
of work necessary for the contract to be carried out. Here, the Officer 
responsible may include, in general words, provision for such works in the 
specification. This is subject to the requirement that any such work is carried 
out under the direct supervision of and on the written authority of the Officer 
responsible.  

20.3  If the specification is for a contract for works, the Officer responsible must 
include provision within the budget for contingencies.  

 

21.  Advertising and the Number of Tenders  

21.1  One of the principles of Croydon’s commissioning framework is to let contracts 
via an open and transparent competitive process.  

21.2  Officers shall ensure that all tender processes that are to be advertised are 
done so in a sufficiently accessible manner and where proposed Contracts, 
irrespective of their total Contract value, might be of interest to potential 
suppliers located in other member states of the EU, a sufficiently accessible 
advertisement is published. Generally, the greater the interest of the Contract 
to potential suppliers the wider the coverage of the advertisement should be. 
Advertisements for tenders must as a minimum be placed as follows:  

a. Where the value exceeds the current EU thresholds for goods, service 
and works Contracts, tender advertisement rules must be followed in 
accordance with the current EU Rules and UK Regulations;  

b. For procurement activity of any value, Officers must use the Council’s 
own e-tendering portal and website(s). They may use additional 
advertisements in national official journals, specialist trade papers or 
websites, if relevant and if affordable. 

 
21.3  As a minimum, any advertisement must state the place where interested 

providers may obtain the procurement documents and the deadline for receipt 
of submissions. As appropriate and as an alternative to advertising; tenderers 
may be selected either via an accepted framework (Croydon’s own, via an 
established CPO or authorised 3rd party) or via an approved list such as 
‘Constructionline’. Details should be provided in the RP2 How we Buy report.  

Page 363



18 
 

 

22.  Standards and Evaluation Criteria  

22.1  Where the value is   at or above the Low Value Threshold the Director for whom 
the procurement is being undertaken must ascertain the relevant EU, UK, 
European or international standards which apply to the subject matter of the 
contract. The Officer must include those standards which are necessary to 
properly describe the required quality and obligations under the contract. 
Advice from the Head of Strategic Procurement & Governance must be sought, 
as necessary.  

22.2  The composition of and assessment of the SQ and ITT must be carried out in 
line with the EU Rules and UK Regulations which provides for transparency, 
non-discrimination, equal treatment, mutual recognition and proportionality 
amongst the freedom of movement of goods, freedom of establishment and 
freedom to provide services.  

22.3  The Officer responsible for the procurement must define evaluation criteria that 
are appropriate to the purchase and designed to secure an outcome that meets 
the objectives of the Council. This must be included in the approved RP2 How 
we Buy Report. The evaluation criteria chosen must, where relevant, be 
compliant and in accordance with the UK Regulations. This must be either 
MEAT for goods, services and works, or Highest Price if payment is to be 
received for sale or disposal.  

22.4  When awarding on the basis of MEAT, the  rationale for the percentage split 
between cost and quality must be included in the RP2 How we Buy Report, 
which is in accordance with Regulation 8, for approval by the CCB. Where, 
under the MEAT approach, quality is adopted as a criterion, it must be further 
defined by reference to sub-criteria. There is no definitive list of quality criteria 
that should be applied to all procurements, but they must be linked to the 
subject matter of the contract and proportionate. Please reference the 
Procurement & Contract Management Handbook for further advice.  

 
22.5  The evaluation assessment must include an allocation for a minimum of 10% 

for the Social Value criteria, any deviation from this must be in accordance with 
Regulation 19.  

22.6  The Director must ensure that, whatever method of tendering is chosen, 
financial appraisals of contractors are part of the selection/award process. 
Directors must also ensure abnormally low tender submissions have been fully 
evaluated to ensure it does provide value for money. Any concerns regarding 
the evaluation especially with consideration of the Modern Day Slavery Act, 
should be reported to the Chair of CCB.  

22.7  Officers must indicate in the contract notice whether or not they authorise 
variants. Variants shall not be authorised without this indication.  

22.8  Officer must state in the tender documents the minimum requirements to be 
met by the variants and any specific requirements that need to be met. Only 
variants meeting those minimum requirements shall be taken into 
consideration  

Page 364



19 
 

 

23.  Standard Contract Clauses  

23.1  All Contracts valued at or in excess of £100,000 must be in writing and signed 
by an Authorised Signatory on behalf the Council, or sealed with the Council’s 
Seal in the presence of an Authorised Signatory.  

23.2  The Officer responsible must include the following standard clauses in every 
written Contract. Any proposed changes to the standard clauses are subject to 
legal advice and approval by the Director of Commercial Investment if not 
included in a RP2 How we Buy Report.  

23.3  All Contracts must include:  

a. Default procedures. These may include charges for defaults.  

b. A clause enabling the Council to claim actual or liquidated damages or 
 an appropriate combination, depending upon the nature of the contract. 
 Where a liquidated damages clause is used, there must also be included 
 a clause for an extension of the time for completion. Appropriate advice 
 must be sought on the type of damages clause suitable for each 
 proposed contract.  
c. A genuine pre-estimate of liquidated damages must be quoted in the 
 contract to be valid. Liquidated damages clauses generally yield limited 
 sums in damages and, therefore, the risks of adopting a liquidated 
 damages clause should be assessed in each case.  
d. A clause requiring the Contractor to maintain and test a business 
 continuity plan at least annually and to keep the Council informed of how 
 that plan would be deployed to protect the Council’s interests, in the 
 event of any interruption in the delivery of goods, services or works.  
e. A clause setting out the arrangements by which the contract will be 
 managed and monitored by the Council, including arrangements for 
 regular liaison between the parties, in compliance with the Council’s 
 standard requirements for contract management and monitoring.  
f. An extension of the ‘time for completion’ clause to protect the Council 
 and allow for liquidated damages to be claimed in the event that the 
 Council is responsible to any extent for a delay.  
g. A clause permitting the termination of the Contract in whole or in part, 
 and without penalty, where the Council elects to do so.  
h. A clause that entitles the Council to terminate a Contract without penalty 
 where it has been subject to a substantial modification by the provider 
 without prior consultation and agreement.  
i. A provision requiring the Council to pay undisputed invoices, within 30 
 days of receipt of a valid invoice (subject to any contractual or statutory 
 obligation to pay earlier).  
j. Provision that any significant deviation from the tender proposal shall 
 constitute a default in the same manner as a deviation from the 
 Specification and may constitute grounds upon which to terminate the 
 contract.  

k. Suitable clauses to enable the Council to cancel the contract and recover 
 any loss due to the cancellation of the contract if the Contractor or any 
 person employed by the Contractor or acting on the Contractor’s behalf 

Page 365



20 
 

 shall have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or shall 
 have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under 
 Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or shall have given 
 any fee or reward to any member or officer of the Council which shall 
 have been exacted or accepted by such officer by virtue of office or 
 employment and is otherwise than such officer’s proper remuneration.  
l. A clause that states the Council will require all staff engaged by the 
 Contractor in the delivery of services or works under the Contract be paid 
 the LLW.  
m. Where appropriate a clause that states the Contractor must comply with 
 the Modern Day Slavery policy.  
n. Where appropriate a clause that states the Contractor will ensure they 
 maintain their compliance with Council policies that are relevant to the 
 services that the Council are procuring.  
o. Where personal data is being used within the delivery of the services, 
 the appropriate data protection provision is made including that the 
 Contractor must indemnify the Council against any relevant liabilities 
 applicable to the Contractors responsibilities.  
p. Where appropriate, relevant safeguarding provisions must be included.  

23.4  Standard contract clauses for securing social value are set out in the Social 
Value Framework. The Officer responsible should refer to this framework to 
ensure the appropriate clauses are used. Every Contract awarded by the 
Council must have a commitment on social value.  

23.5  The Officer responsible must consider the obligation to require tenderers to 
provide a Performance Bond and/or Parent Company Guarantee where a 
contractor is a subsidiary of a parent company, as a Contract requirement in 
the following circumstances:  

(i) the award is based on evaluation of the parent company;  

(ii) the financial status of the contractor (having regard, inter alia, to the  
 proposed contract) warrants the same; and or  

(iii) the S151 Officer recommends;  

(iv) where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in advance of 
 receiving the whole of the subject matter of the Contract.  
 
23.6  The decision to require a Performance Bond and/or Parent Company 

Guarantee as a Contract requirement should be detailed in the RP2 How we 
Buy report.  

23.7  If during the tendering exercise it becomes a requirement for a tenderer to 
provide a Performance Bond and/or Parent Company Guarantee as a Contract 
requirement - perhaps to support a financial standing issue, then this 
requirement, if different from that stated in the procurement should be reported 
in the eventual award report.  

23.8  If required, advice should be sought from the relevant Finance Head of Service 
and included as part of the RP2 How we Buy report or Contract Award report 
for approval by the Chair of CCB.  

Page 366



21 
 

23.9  In all cases where relevant, the Officer responsible, must discuss the need for 
the provision of a Pension Bond with the Head of Service responsible for 
Pensions and Treasury.  

23.10  Every Contract must have a clause requiring the contractor to obtain adequate 
public liability and employer’s liability insurance and any other insurance as may 
be required by the contract. The contractor must provide reasonable proof of 
this before work is commenced and throughout the life of the contract upon 
renewal of insurance.  

23.11  The levels of cover are to be as stated in the Council’s insurance guidance 
document. Any proposed reduction in required cover must be in consultation 
with the Council’s Insurance, Risk and Corporate Programme Office.  

23.12  All Contracts must include the following:  

a. wording in which the contractor agrees to indemnify the Council for all 
claims proceedings, actions and other matters relating to the contract, 
except where the Council is found to be legally liable;  

 and  

b. a clause in which the contractor agrees to certain service levels while 
dealing with claims, etc;  

  and  

c. a clause requiring the full range of relevant insurances to be provided by 
the contractor, advice on this must be taken from the Risk and Insurance 
Officer;  

  and 
d. the need for any self-employed person or consultant to have their own 

insurance, particularly where services are provided by employment 
agencies.  

23.13 Every Contract must have a clause requiring all parties to comply with the 
provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 (‘DPA’).  

23.14  Every contract must ensure that the contractor acknowledges that the 
Contract and the information associated with it is subject to the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (‘FoIA’).  

23.15  Every Contract must name the supervising person/s.  

23.16  Every Contract must have a clause requiring the contractor to observe 
statutory requirements as to the manner in which work is to be carried out.  

23.17  Every Contract must incorporate the specification and any drawings and bills 
of quantities as required/relevant.  

23.18  Every Contract must contain a provision enabling the Council to deal with 
cases where the contractor, without good reason, either wholly or partly fails 
to complete delivery of the supplies, services or works, the subject of the 
Contract, to the contract standard or at all. The provision must enable the 
Council, if so desired, to:  

a. engage an alternative provider, and in situations of urgency, without 
notice to the original contractor;  

Page 367



22 
 

b. arrange for the delivery of necessary supplies or materials from an 
alternative source;  

c. change quality or quantity of supplies, services or works required;  
d. recharge to the original contractor the costs of re-procurement and/or 

associated administrative and legal costs, and any costs incurred in 
excess of the original tendered price of the contractor to complete the 
delivery of the supply the subject of the contract, including the costs of 
any changes required to that supply, resulting from the contractor’s 
default.  

23.19  Where appropriate, a standard form of contract issued by the regulatory body, 
trade industry or profession may be used in conjunction with these 
Regulations.  

 

24.  Form of Contract for all Awards  

24.1  Every Contract must be in writing and in a form approved by the Director of 
Legal Services.  

24.2  The Director of Legal Services or other person authorised by the Director of 
Legal Services (‘Authorised Signatory’) must sign every written contract valued 
at or above £100,000 in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and is 
responsible for settling the detailed terms thereof. However, the relevant 
Director may sign and settle the terms of Contracts valued at or above £100,000 
if specifically authorised in writing to do so by the Director of Legal Services.  

24.3  Where a standard form of contract is issued by the regulatory body, trade 
industry or profession, the Officer responsible may use this in conjunction with 
these Regulations. The Officer responsible must ensure that the Contract is 
approved and executed by the Director of Legal Services.  

 

25.  Invitations to Tender and Quotations/Tendering Instructions  

25.1  The Officer responsible must issue Invitations to Tender and tendering 
instructions to every supplier:  

a. invited to tender following a short-listing process;  

 or  

b. who is listed on the relevant Framework, Framework lot or DPS and who 
is capable and willing to tender;  

 or  

c. who requests the supply of tender documents under open tendering.  

25.2  All Invitations to tender must specify the goods, service or works that are 
required, together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply.  

25.3  All suppliers invited to tender must be issued with the same information at the 
same time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information 
must be given on the same basis.  

25.4  All Invitations to tender shall include the following:  

a. A specification that fully describes the Council’s requirements;  

Page 368



23 
 

b. A requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content, price or 
any other figure or particulars concerning the tender have not been 
disclosed by the tenderer to any other party (except where such a 
disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary purpose);  

c. A requirement for tenderers to complete fully and sign all tender 
documents including a form of tender and certificates relating to 
canvassing and non-collusion;  

d. Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that 
they are prepared at the tenderer’s expense;  

e. A description (detailed as appropriate) of the award procedure and 
evaluation methodology.  

25.5  The Officer responsible must advise every supplier submitting a tender that:  

a. no extension of time will be allowed for the receipt of any tender, unless 
at the discretion of the Council;  

b. tenders received after the date and time specified for receipt may be 
rejected;  

c. any departure from the Tendering Instructions may lead to the tender 
being rejected;  

d. the Council does not bind themselves to accept the lowest or any tender 
or to accept any tender in full;  

e. as soon as the Council has advised that (subject to contract) the tender 
has been accepted, then the agreement becomes legally binding;  

f. the tender documents to be in electronic format;  
g. the tenderers signed form of tender cannot be different in detail to that 

provided as part of the e-sourcing process.  

25.6  Standard contract clauses must be stated (Regulation 22). Every supplier who 
submits a tender must be willing to enter into a contract containing these 
clauses.  

25.7  The Officer responsible must also specify the period for which the tender will be 
kept open for acceptance. The normal minimum provision will be 90 days.  

25.8  Tenders must be submitted electronically via the Council’s e-tendering portal or 
by such other form of submission provided it was approved and a waiver to this 
regulation sought in the relevant RP2 How we Buy report.  

 

25.9  Every tender must specify:  

i. the amount of the tender and any discounts or deductions allowable and the 
terms for any such allowance; and  

ii. the time or times within which the contract is to be performed or completed.  

25.10  The Officer responsible must check that every tender sum has been calculated 
by reference to the minimum specification required and stipulated in the tender. 
If they discover any departure from the specification, they can treat it as grounds 
for disregarding the tender.  

25.11  When a tenderer proposes a variant bid, they must have demonstrated, by way 
of a compliant bid, that the Council’s minimum standard has been met before a 
variant bid can be considered.  

Page 369



24 
 

25.12  The Officer responsible must check that every tender sum is stated net of Value 
Added Tax or any other Tax or Duty.  

 

26.  Submission, Receipt and Opening of Tenders/Quotations  

26.1  Every tender must be received by a secure method using the Council’s e-
tendering portal or an approved e-sourcing system.  

26.2  Suppliers or providers who have expressed interest in a tender must be given 
an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper tender, consistent 
with the complexity of the contract requirement. PCR 2015 or CCR 2016 
includes specific tendering time periods.  

26.3  Officers must notify all suppliers of the correct tender return instructions, 
including the date, time and place (details of the e-sourcing system).  

26.4 In exceptional circumstances, the deadline for receipt of tenders may be 
extended, but only with the agreement of the Head of Strategic Procurement & 
Governance and only if such extension of time will not disadvantage a tenderer. 
No extension to the deadline can be given once the original deadline has 
passed and the seal has been broken on the e-tendering portal.  

 

26.5  The Head of Strategic Procurement and Governance must arrange for all 
tenders for any one Contract to be opened at the same time. All tenders 
received via the Council’s e-tendering portal should be opened by those listed 
below providing they are not involved in the tender exercise:  

• Category Manager from outside of the service area leading the tender 
exercise;  

• the Strategic Procurement Manager of the Central Buying Team;  

• the Senior Procurement Governance Officer.  

26.6  In exceptional circumstances, the Director of Commercial Investment following 
advice from the Head of Strategic Procurement and Governance may approve 
the delegation of the opening of tenders received via the Council’s e-tendering 
portal to the Senior Procurement Systems Officer or a Procurement Officer from 
outside the service area leading the tender exercise.  

26.7  Any tender that does not comply with the Council’s requirement as set out in 
the tender invitation e.g. arrives late, should normally be excluded from 
consideration, with the circumstances recorded on the Council e-tendering 
portal. Officers may, however, seek the agreement of the Chair of CCB to 
amend these requirements in appropriate circumstances. Any such relaxation 
shall be identified when seeking any necessary authorities required before the 
acceptance of a tender.  

26.8  The Head of Strategic Procurement and Governance must ensure, for audit and 
information purposes that for all tenders received via the Council’s e-tendering 
portal:  

a) An electronic record is retained of the date and time of opening and the 
name of the Officer involved.; and  

Page 370



25 
 

b) An electronic record of all tenders received is retained  

 

27.  Post SQ and Tender Clarifications  

27.1  The Director must maintain a detailed written record and clear audit trail of all 
post SQ and tender clarifications detailing all contact with the tenderer. All such 
communications must be recorded via the Council’s e-tendering portal.  

 
27.2  The Director must report to the CCB or the nominated Cabinet Member or 

Cabinet as appropriate (based on Contract value) any amendments to tender 
prices arising from post tender clarification and the reasons for them.  

27.3  Directors may amend tender prices under post tender clarification, providing it 
does not disadvantage any other tenderer and in accordance with PCR 2015 
and CCR 2016, in the following circumstances only:  

a. if, between the submission of tenders and the Contract being awarded, 
a tenderer seeks to reduce the price without changing the original 
specification, then the Director must consult with the Chair for CCB to 
determine if there are reasons for accepting the new price and, if 
appropriate, offer the same opportunity to all the other tenderers. 
Opportunities to other tenderers to revise their bid prices would not 
normally be given to those previously eliminated for reasons other than 
cost or where a tenderer rectifies a mathematical error;  

 or  

b. if there are errors in totals;  

 or  

c. if the tender price is so low, the Director believes that the tenderer may 
have made an error and that acceptance might lead to difficulties of 
performance;  

 or  

d. where the lowest tenderer agrees to reduce their price (without varying 
the specification) after negotiation because:  

i) the original tender was unacceptably high;  

 or  

ii) the schedule covers a range of requirements and, although lowest 
overall, negotiations might allow further savings to the Council.  

e. where, for a particular requirement:  

 i) the lowest tender exceeds the Department’s allocation;  

 or  

 ii) where it offers an alternative specification and negotiation would 
permit an assessment of the scope for savings.  

f.  If there is a Professional or local Code of Practice, that may restrict price 
negotiation and must be taken into consideration.  

 
27.4  If the Director amends the original specification or the acceptable alternative 

differs from the original specification, then they must give similar opportunities 
to all other tenderers that submitted a tender.  

Page 371



26 
 

27.5  The tenderer must subsequently confirm, in writing, any alterations to a tender 
before the Director may consider all the tenders received.  

27.6  All post tender negotiation must be available for audit and recorded via the 
Council’s e-tendering portal. 

 

 

Section 4 – Contract Award 
 
28.  Contract Award  

28.1  A Contract with a value  at or above the Low Value Threshold may not be 
awarded before the relevant Director has submitted a RP3 Contract Award 
report on the tenders received for the relevant contract and the appropriate 
acceptance in accordance with Regulation 28.4a-d.  

28.2  The Officer responsible must provide a report on financial references in the 
report seeking acceptance of a tender.  

28.3  Where the financial appraisal of a contractor gives an ‘extreme caution’ rating, 
the contractor must not be used unless the Director or Officer reports on and 
seeks approval from the Council’s Section 151 Officer:  

a. any mitigating circumstances;  

 and/or  

b. why they wish to appoint that contractor.  

28.4 Prior to the submission to CCB or to the Chair of CCB, every report seeking 
acceptance of a tender for a Contract must be reviewed first by the Strategic 
Procurement Manager prior to departmental review by; the lead Director, the 
Head of Litigation and Corporate Law, the Director of of Finance, and Chief 
People Officer. The report must be prepared in accordance with the relevant 
Protocols (as set out in Part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) and specify 
information regarding the tendering circumstances and the terms of a Contract 
award sufficient to enable an informed decision to be made. It must also contain 
any appropriate comments and/or recommendations relating to budgetary 
provision, the competitive process undertaken, these Regulations, the Financial 
Regulations, EU Rules, relevant legislation and the Council’s policies.  

a. for Contracts valued between the Low Value Threshold  and £500,000, 
if there have been no departures from the approved procurement 
strategy and there is available budget then a report, that has been 
signed-off in accordance with the standard award report template 
seeking Contract award can be made directly to the Chair of CCB, under 
delegated powers, without first seeking recommendation from the CCB;  

b. for Contracts valued between the Low Value Threshold  and £500,000 
where there have been departures from the approved procurement route 
(with the exception of timetable), evaluation approach or additional risks 
were identified, then a report is required seeking recommendation from 
the CCB for Contract award by the Chair of CCB, under delegated 
powers;  

Page 372



27 
 

c. or Contracts valued over £500,000 a report is required to the CCB 
seeking recommendation for Contract award by the Cabinet Member for 
values up to £5,000,000 and Cabinet for values over £5,000,000.  

d. for proposed Contract extension periods included as part of the original 
Contract award, a report to the CCB seeking recommendation for 
Contract extension by the Chair of CCB, under delegated powers.  

28.5  The Cabinet, nominated Cabinet Member, and the CCB are the bodies 
responsible for reviewing Contract matters for the Council.  

28.6  Subject to the Contract values, recommendations on executive matters will be 
considered by the nominated Cabinet Member in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources, or where the nominated Cabinet Member 
is the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, in consultation with the 
Leader.  

28.7  A list of Contracts awarded by a decision of the nominated Cabinet Member 
under Regulation 28.4c will be reported to the subsequent Cabinet meeting on 
a quarterly basis.  

28.8  In all instances in these Regulations where a nominated Cabinet Member or 
Cabinet is charged with making an executive decision, Part 5.A of the Council’s 
Constitution – Protocol for Decision Making must be observed.  

28.9  In the absence of the named officers, deputies may act on their behalf in 
accordance with the departmental scheme of delegations.  

 

29.  Contract Pre-conditions and Preliminaries  

 

29.1  A Director must not authorise or permit a contractor to enter on any land or 
buildings belonging to the Council or to proceed with the Contract or start work 
on site until a written order to proceed with the Contract has been issued and 
the following actions are completed:  

a. the contractor has provided proof of insurance;  
b. the contractor has completed and returned to the Council the contract 

documents unless the Director can satisfy the Director of Legal Services 
and the Chair of CCB that the Council’s position is otherwise adequately 
secured;  

c. where appropriate the performance bond is duly completed;  
d. all procedures have been completed to the satisfaction of the Director of 

Legal Services.  

29.2  Once the actions in Regulation 29.1 are completed then a purchase order must 
be raised on the Council’s financial system, prior to any goods or services being 
provided. Raising purchase orders, and any permitted exceptions, must be 
conducted in accordance with the Council’s P2P Guidance documentation.  

 

30.  Extras and Variations  

30.1  Any extra, variation (including extension of time) or a contract change control 
notice to a Contract must be specifically authorised in writing by the Director or 

Page 373



28 
 

a designated Officer, who must retain a copy of this authorisation as a 
document relating to the Contract. If the extra, variation or change control notice 
is likely to result in an increase in the Contract sum, then the Officer must obtain 
authority for the additional expenditure in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations. The overall costs must be contained within agreed budgets.  

30.2  Where the contract supervisors are not Council Officers, the Contract with the 
supervisors must provide that no tangible change be made to the specification 
without the prior written consent of the Council.  

 
30.3  A report seeking authority for the change to the Contract must be made to the 

CCB, nominated Cabinet Member or Cabinet as appropriate, where the extra 
terms or variation will result in the new total value of the contract:  

i. Exceeding the Low Value Threshold (CCB) or £500,000 (Nominated Cabinet 
Member) or £5,000,000 (Cabinet);  

ii. Exceeding the relevant public procurement threshold (for goods, services or 
works), as published from time to time by the European Commission.  

or in any case, where the value of the extra/variation (aggregated with previous 
extras/variations if any) results in the original Contract award value being 
increased by more than 25% or £1,000,000 (whichever is the lower).  

30.4  A Key Decision Notice is required and timescales adhered to when the value of 
the extra/variation either totals or increases the new contract value to 
£1,000,000 or more and was not subject to a previous Key Decision Notice.  

30.5  Each Department must have control procedures and audit trails in place to deal 
with extras, variations and Change Control Notices. 

 

 

 
Section 5 – Contract Mobilisation 
 
31.  Tender Records  

31.1  The Head of Strategic Procurement & Governance must ensure that the 
following information in relation to a Contract is kept:  

a. Pre-tender research, benchmarking and consultation information;  
b. The approved RP2 How we Buy report including any waiver given;  
c. The selection and award criteria (as appropriate);  
d. Pre-qualification documents sent to and received from applicants (if 

applicable);  
e. Tender and written quotation documents sent to and received from 

tenderers;  
f. Communications with all applicants and tenderers throughout the 

procurement exercise;  
g. Any post-tender clarification information, to include minutes of meetings;  
h. The contract documents.  

Page 374



29 
 

31.2  Where the Council has used its own e-sourcing system, all electronic records 
pertaining to the tender and the tendering process must be retained on the 
system, including an electronic copy of the signed contract.  

 

32.  Contract Register  

32.1  Category Managers must ensure that all contracts let are entered onto the 
Council’s Contract Register in accordance with the Local Government 
Transparency Code. This action can be completed via the Council’s e-tendering 
portal. Where another e-tendering portal has been used the details must be 
submitted to www.gov.uk/contracts-finder. Copies of all signed/sealed contracts 
must be uploaded into the Contract Management system on the Council’s e-
tendering portal.  

32.2  When contracts have been varied, extended, novated, assigned, terminated, 
sub-contractors authorised or changed in any way, Category Managers and 
Contract Managers must update the Council’s Contracts Register with the new 
details and if required www.gov.uk/contracts-finder, and copies of all 
signed/sealed documentations must be uploaded into the Councils Contract 
Management system on the Council’s e-tendering portal to accompany the 
original electronic copy Contract.  

 
32.3  Category Managers and Contract Managers must ensure the timely completion 

and submission of any Contractor compiled documentation into the Council’s 
Contract Management system on the Council’s e-tendering portal (e.g. annual 
Insurance Certificates) that are required by the Contract.  

 

33.  Contract Storage  

33.1  The Director responsible for the service area must ensure that all signed/ sealed 
Contracts established in accordance with these Regulations are scanned and 
the scanned copy or a true electronic copy (with signature/ sealed pages 
scanned accompanying it) is stored on the Council’s Contract Management 
system and that the original copy of the contract has been received by the 
Deeds team in Croydon Legal Services. 

 

 

Section 6 – Contract Management 
 
34.  Managing Contracts  

34.1  All Directors are to name a Contracts Manager or a person responsible for the 
management of the contract for all new contracts which are covered by these 
Regulations. All contracts must have a named Council contract owner (normally 
the Director of the service area) and Contract Manager for the entirety of the 
contract term in accordance with the Council’s agreed contract management 
model.  

Page 375



30 
 

34.2  Contract managers must follow the procedures and reporting requirements set 
out in the Council’s Procurement & Contract Management Handbook.  

34.3  Contract Managers will be responsible for the day to day management and 
reporting of their contracts. This shall include monitoring and reporting using 
the Council’s Contract Management Tool Kit. For contracts with a value of over 
£1,000,000 per annum, monitoring of performance will include the timely return 
of the Balanced Scorecard to www.Contracthub.com and full completion of 
Scorecards and Action Plans.  

34.4  Contract Performance will be measured against the following minimum criteria 
but may be subject to change:  

i) Performance;  

ii) Compliance with specification and contract terms;  

iii) Finance and costs;  

iv) Risk management,  

v) Social Value;  

vi) Resident satisfaction;  

vii) GDPR;  

viii) Health and Safety;  

ix) Modern Slavery Prevention; and  

x) Equalities and Fairness.  

34.5  For all contracts, it is the responsibility of the Contract Manager to raise any 
incidents of poor performance immediately with the Contractor and seek 
rectification through the development of an Action Plan. This Action Plan must 
be updated to record progress until performance improves to a satisfactory 
level. At which time the Action Plan may be closed. In instances of particularly 
poor performance, or persistent poor performance, the Contract Manager 
should consider the appropriate course of action to take under the contract, 
taking advice as appropriate.  

 

35.  Risk Assessment & Contingency Planning  

35.1  Provision for resources for the management of the contract, for its entirety, must 
be identified in the business case and RP2 How we Buy report. CCB should be 
kept up to date as required via the Council’s CCB process.  

35.2  For all contracts with a value £ at or above the Low Value Threshold, the 
contract manager must:  

a. Maintain a risk register during the contract period  
b. Undertake appropriate risk assessments and for identified risks  
c. Ensure contingency measures and business continuity plans are in place 

and are regularly reviewed as part of contract management.  

 

36.  Contract Monitoring, Evaluation & Review  

36.1  All contracts valued at or above the Low Value Threshold  are to be subject to 
regular formal reviews with the contractor. An initial review must be done at the 

Page 376



31 
 

first 3 months of a contract start date and on-going reviews will then be 
conducted on a regular schedule. The initial review can be done sooner due to 
the length of contract and should be agreed with CCB.  

36.2  A formal review process must be applied to all contracts deemed to be High 
Risk, High Value, or High Profile. This process must be applied at key stages 
of major procurements and must comply with the Council’s Procurement & 
Contract Management Handbook.  

36.3  During the life of the contract, the Contract Manager must monitor a contract in 
accordance with the Council’s Procurement & Contract Management 
Handbook.  

36.4  During the life of Framework Agreements and DPS, the Contract Manager will 
update CCB on performance and awards of contracts as agreed by CCB in the 
report in accordance with Regulation 28. 

 
 
 
  

Page 377



32 
 

Glossary of Terms – Appendix A 
 
Term Description/Meaning 

 

Amount of an estimate The sum of money estimated, net of Value Added Tax 
but inclusive of any other tax or duty. However, the 
amount of any such tax or duty payable must be 
stated. 

Award Report A procurement award report in the relevant format 
(dependant on the Contract value) which is provided to 
the CCB prior to the award of any Contract, extension 
for the purposes of providing the necessary approval 
(subject to the Contract value). 

Category Manager The Council officer responsible for a particular 
category of spend and who leads on procurement 
activity. This may include a variety of roles including 
Strategic Procurement Manager.  

Call-off Contracts Contracts selected and awarded from an existing 
Framework Agreement or DPS. 

Chair of CCB The Director of Commercial Investment. 

CCB Contracts & Commissioning Board - the board of 
Council officers designated to manage and act as the 
decision maker or recommending body within the 
scope of these Regulations, for Council-wide 
commissioning and contracting activities (excluding 
land disposals and property transaction matters). 

CCS Crown Commercial Services 

CCR 2016 The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 and any 
supersede or replacement legislation 

‘CDM’ Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 
2015. 

C&P Commissioning & Procurement Division responsible 
for the Council’s Tenders and Contracts Regulations 

Central Buying Team The Council’s central Buying Team within the 
Procurement Division responsible for all goods & 
services procurement below the Low Value Threshold 

Central Purchasing 
Body 

A Contracting Authority which provides centralised 
purchasing activities and which may also provide 
ancillary purchasing activities — 
(a) acquires supplies or services intended for one or 
more contracting authorities;  
(b) awards public contracts intended for one or more 
contracting authorities; or  
(c) concludes framework agreements for work, 
supplies, or services intended for one or more 
contracting authorities; (for the avoidance of doubt, 
this is the same definition as provided in the PCR 
2015). 

Page 378



33 
 

Concession Contract Concessions are defined in the public sector 
procurement Directive 2004/17/EC (“the Directive”) as 
contracts where the consideration for the supplies, 
works or services to be carried out consists either 
solely in the right to exploit the supply, work or service, 
or in this right to exploit together with payment. 

Constructionline Website that has pre-qualified suppliers who provide 
goods, services and works for Construction related 
projects 

Contract A contract for the provision (either to or by the Council) 
of goods, services or works however they may be 
funded, but excluding those types of contracts or 
matters referred to at Regulation 3.3. 

Contracting Authorities The State, regional or local authorities, bodies 
governed by public law or associations formed by one 
or more such authorities or one or more such bodies 
governed by public law, and includes central 
government authorities, but does not include Her 
Majesty in her private capacity. 

Contracts Finder A web-based portal provided for the purposes of PCR 
2015 Part 4 by or on behalf of the Cabinet Office. 

Contract Management 
System 

The process of automating Contract Lifecycle 
Management (previously “Contract Management”), it 
incorporates the key elements of the buying process, 
such as commissioning knowledge, specification, 
requests for quotation/tenders/e-auctions, evaluation/ 
negotiation, contract formulation and management and 
is contained on the Council’s Tender Portal, Contract 
Register and Contract Management system. 

Contract Manager The Council officer or external person appointed to 
manage and/or monitor the tender/contract process on 
behalf of the Council 

Contract Value or Value 
of a Contract 

A value:  
(a) calculated on the basis of the full term of the 
Contract. i.e. if it is a three year contract with a 
possibility of a two year extension then the calculation 
of the contract value must be based on a five year 
term; and  
(b) not value added tax but inclusive of any other tax 
or duty. Where a Contract is mixed, i.e. has elements 
of works, supplies and/or services, to establish the 
type of contract and relevant threshold for the 
purposes of the PCR 2015, the correct categorisation 
of the Contract is made by reference to the main 
subject (the part that has the greatest value) of the 
Contract.  
In relation to a Framework Agreement and a DPS, this 
would be the maximum estimated value, net of Value 
Added Tax, of all the contracts envisaged for the total 
term of the Framework Agreement or DPS.  

Page 379



34 
 

Note: to set up and access a Framework this will need 
to be stipulated in the appropriate CCB report to 
prevent a further and separate report being required; 
one to set up the Framework and one to access it. 

Corporate Director The Chief Executive; or A head of one of the following 
departments or any successor to them:  
Corporate Director Resources;  
Corporate Director Sustainable Communities, 
Regeneration & Economic Recovery;  
Corporate Director Children, Young People & 
Education;  
Corporate Director Adult Social Care & Health; 
Corporate Director Housing; 
Assistant Chief Executive; 
Executive Director of Gateway, Strategy & 
Engagement;  
who under their scheme of authorisations can exercise 
the powers referred to in these Regulations. 

Council’s approved 
estimates 

The Council’s budget approved annually by full 
Council and includes estimates of both capital and 
revenue expenditure 

Council’s Declaration of 
Confidentiality and 
Interest Form 

This form is available on the Council’s intranet: 
https://intranet.croydon. gov.uk/working-
croydon/finance/commissioning-and-
procurement/forms 

Council’s Constitution The articles of the constitution for the London Borough 
of Croydon, which set out the rules and framework 
which govern the operation of the council; the 
responsibility for functions; procedure rules, codes and 
protocols for specific parts of decision-making 
processes. 

Council’s Financial 
Regulations 

The financial regulations as contained in Part 4.H of 
the Council’s Constitution. 

DPA Data Protection Act 2018 

Director (a) A Director, a Head of Service or any other Officer 
currently identified as being a Director, with relevant 
authority under a departments scheme of 
authorisations;  

(b) Corporate Director;  

(c) A nominated Officer with delegated authority to 
incur expenditure. 

Dynamic Purchasing 
System (“DPS”) 

A completely electronic purchasing system procedure 
available for contracts for works, services and goods 
commonly available on the market.  
For the avoidance of doubt, please refer to Regulation 
32 to the PCR 2015 for a more detailed definition 

e-sourcing (tendering) An internet based process wherein the complete 
tendering process, from advertising to submitting and 
receiving tender-related information, is done online 

Page 380



35 
 

EU Rules Where the EU Rules are referenced, this means it is 
also to include EU Public Procurement Directives 2015 
and EU 2014/24/EU (which and the principles of the 
Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union as 
apply to the Contracts as implemented into UK law by 
regulations 

Evaluation criteria Refers to the measures used in either the SQ or ITT to 
undertake an assessment of potential providers.  
i. Criteria used in the SQ are referred to as ‘selection 
criteria’.  
ii. Criteria used in the ITT are referred to as ‘award 
criteria’ 

Expression of Interest 
(“EoI”) 

A statement by a prospective provider of their intention 
to compete for a tendering opportunity for the 
provision of goods, services and/or works. 

Executive function Matters reserved to the Leader under the Council’s 
Strong Leader Model and as set out in the Leaders 
Scheme of Delegation. 

External Advisors & 
Consultants 

Individuals who are contracted to fulfil a role, not 
already covered by the Council’s establishment, which 
may be of a specialist nature. 

Framework Agreement An agreement between one or more contracting 
authorities and one or more economic operators, the 
purpose of which is to establish the terms governing 
contracts to be awarded during a given period, in 
particular with regard to price and, where appropriate, 
the quantity envisaged. The phrase ‘Framework/s’ 
shall also be construed accordingly. For the avoidance 
of doubt, this is the definition provided in Regulation 
33(2) PCR 2015. 

Audit Committee The Audit Committee constituted under the Council’s 
Constitution and includes any other Council decision 
making body or individual Member or officer who may 
from time to time have responsibility for consideration 
of these Regulations. Note: Audit Committee is a Non-
Executive function 

Grant An arrangement where money is given for a stated 
purpose with or without conditions attached and which 
is for the benefit of all or a section of the community, 
but is not a procurement of services 

How we Buy Report 
(RP2) 

This the procurement strategy report often referred to 
as RP2. Template can be found on the Procurement 
Governance SharePoint page 

In Writing Refers to paper and electronic records 

IIOB The Investing in our Borough report, produced by 
Commissioning & Procurement for Cabinet listing all 
RP2 How we Buy and RP3 Contract Award reports 
that require approving by Cabinet Member or Cabinet 
etc 

Page 381



36 
 

ITT (Invitation to 
Tender) 

The step of a competitive tendering process in which 
suppliers or contractors are invited to submit sealed 
bids for the supply of specific and clearly defined 
supplies, services or works during a specified 
timeframe 

KPI Key Performance Indicator - a type of performance 
measurement used to evaluate the success of a 
particular activity carried out by a provider 

LGPS Local Government Pension Scheme 

The Leader or 
nominated Cabinet 
Member 

The Leader of Croydon Council or any nominated 
Cabinet Member to whom they have delegated 
authority to exercise their powers referred to in these 
Regulations. 

Light Touch Regime 
(“LTR”) 

The procedure that must be followed in relation to 
social and other specific services (including 
healthcare, cultural, educational and legal services) 
under Regs 74-76 PCR 2015 

London Living Wage 
(“LLW”) 

The basic hourly rate before tax and other deductions 
determined and published by the Greater London 
Authority from time to time. 

Low Value Threshold 
 

 £177,8981 (such figure to be adjusted in line with 
periodic changes to the threshold applicable to 
Supplies and Services in the PCR 2015)  

LTR Services Services subject to the Light-Touch Regime. There is 
an OJEU advertising requirement and other specific 
obligations, but a higher financial threshold has 
introduced for the Light Touch Regime to apply 

Make or Buy Report 
(RP1) 

The report is a strategic choice between in-housing 
the services required and/or buying it externally 
(outsourcing). It is a discussion document that has to 
be brought to CCB for agreement. 

Most Economically 
Advantageous Tender 
(“MEAT”) 

The tendering approach used to provide a balance 
between quality and cost Or 100% assessment of 
quality to a fixed budget or 100% price where a 
minimum quality threshold is met. 

Nominated Cabinet 
Member or Member 

Cabinet Member within whose portfolio, as identified 
by the Leaders Scheme of Delegations, the service 
which is the subject matter of the contract falls 

Non-Executive function Matters reserved to Full Council/Full Committee or 
matters that are delegated in accordance with the 
Scheme of Delegation 

Officer An Officer authorised by the appropriate Director or 
Corporate Director to lead in the requirements for a 
procurement and comply with these regulations. 

OJEU The Official Journal of the European Union 

Output (or Outcome) 
Based Specification 
(“OBS”) 

A specification that focuses on the desired outputs of a 
service in business terms, rather than a detailed 

                                                           
1 This figure applies to all Contracts regardless of whether for goods, services or works 

Page 382



37 
 

technical specification of how the service is to be 
provided. 

Parent Company 
Guarantee 

Parent Company Guarantees are provided by either 
the contractor’s immediate parent or other holding 
company and operate as a guarantee to ensure a 
Contract is properly performed and completed. In the 
event of a contractor default, the parent is obliged to 
remedy the breach. 

PCR 2015 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and any 
superseding or replacement legislation 

Performance Bond Performance Bonds are typically provided by banks or 
insurance companies. They provide a guarantee of 
payment up to a stated amount of money should a 
loss be suffered as a result of the contractor’s breach 
of a contractual obligation. 

Person Includes the following:  
(a) A group of persons;  
(b) A firm;  
(c) A partnership  
(d) An unincorporated association;  
(e) A company;  
(f) Another local authority or a group of local 
authorities  
(g) A Government Department (as represented by the 
Secretary of State);  
(h) A statutory body;  
(i) A public utility that has been privatised 

PIN Prior Indicative Notice for publishing in the OJEU, to 
notify the market of a possible opportunity. See PCR 
2015 Reg. 48 for further information. 

Post Tender 
Clarification 

Tender or bid clarifications that may become 
necessary during the evaluation of tenders 

Post Tender 
Negotiation 

Contact between the buyer and tenderers, separate 
from Tender Clarification, to refine and improve the 
bid(s) in order to ensure that prices, delivery or 
associated terms of the contract are competitive. 
Note: this process is only available as indicated in 
these Regulations. 

Another ‘Public Body’ Any contracting Authority within the meaning of the EU 
Public Procurement Directives and the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 

Regulations All the Regulations as listed below. 

S151 Officer The Corporate Director Resources and S151 Officer 

Scheme of 
Authorisations 

The departmental ‘scheme of management’ setting out 
who is authorised to make what decisions within that 
department 

Small and Medium 
Enterprises SME  

 

The main factors determining whether a company is 
an SME are:  

1. number of employees; and  

Page 383



38 
 

2. either turnover or balance sheet total.  

 
These ceilings apply to the figures for individual 
firms only. A firm which is part of larger grouping 
may need to include employee / turnover / balance 
sheet data from that grouping too.  

  

Social Value The process whereby the Council meets its needs for 
supplies, services, works and utilities in a way that 
achieves value for money on a whole life basis in 
terms of generating benefits to society and the 
economy, whilst minimising damage to the 
environment. See the Council’s Social Value Policy 

Social Value Act The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Social Value Toolkit The document titled ‘Inspiring and Creating Social 
Value in Croydon’ which provides advice on the 
process and best practice principles when trying to 
lever in great social value in respect of commissioning 

Standstill Period A period of time when an authority cannot enter into a 
contract with a supplier until it has concluded, in 
accordance with Regulation 87 of PCR 2015. 

Strategy Report A procurement strategy report in the relevant format 
(dependant on the Contract value) which is then 
provided to the CCB at the beginning of each 
procurement exercise. As a minimum, this report 
should set out the project plan, proposed procurement 
route, any proposed departures from standard 
procurement practice, the evaluation approach, risks, 
timetable, project structure and details of the Contract 

SQ Supplier Selection Questionnaire a process used to 
identify potential suppliers that are most capable of 
performing a contract 

Tendering and 
submitting a tender 

Includes any quotation or action taken by any person 
seeking to enter into a contract with the Council, which 
is subject to these Regulations. 

Third Sector The range of non-statutory service providers set up as 
not for profit organisations. These encompass the 
traditional voluntary and community sector, co-
operatives, social enterprises and registered social 
landlords. For the purposes of this document the term 
‘third sector’ is used to denote this group of 
organisations. 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006 

UK Regulations The PCR and/or CCR and any national legislation that 
affects Contracts under these Regulations. 

Page 384



39 
 

Value Added Tax 
(“VAT”) 

Value added tax as chargeable under the Value 
Added Tax Act 1994 

(“VfM”) The term used to assess whether or not the Council 
has obtained the maximum benefit from the goods, 
supplies and services it acquires and/ or provides, 
within the resources available to it. It not only 
measures the cost of goods, supplies and services, 
but also takes account of the mix of quality, cost, use 
of resources, fitness for purpose, timeliness and 
convenience to judge whether or not, when taken 
together, they constitute good value. Achieving VfM 
may be described in terms of the ‘three Es’ - economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

Variant bid A bid which is different from that specifically requested 
by the contracting authority in the tender documents. 
Examples of variant bids are those proposing different 
pricing structures, or new and innovative ways of 
delivering a service. 

Weightings The weightings allotted to the criteria chosen to 
evaluate the SQ / ITT to reflect what is most important 
in any particular procurement. Weightings may be 
exact percentages or a specified range, where this is 
appropriate in view of the subject matter. 

Working Day Any other day other than a Saturday, Sunday and any 
bank or UK public holidays. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 385



40 
 

  

P
age 386



41 
 

 

P
age 387



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 Part 4J 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules May 

2016 (updated 03.2021) 

 
LEGAL\53637257v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 

Part 4.J - Staff Employment Procedure Rules 

 
1 Explanatory Note 

 
1.1 In these Rules - 

 
"the 1989 Act" means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;  
 
"the 2000 Act" means the Local Government Act 2000; 
 
“Chief Finance Officer” (“CFO”) means the officer having responsibility, 
for the purposes of— 

 
(a)  section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 (financial 

administration); or 
 

(b)  section 6 of the 1989 Act (officer responsible for financial 
administration of certain authorities), 

 
for the administration of the local authority's financial affairs; 

“Chief Officer” means: 

a) the Head of Paid Service; 
b) the Chief Finance Officer; 
c) the Monitoring Officer; 
d) a Statutory Chief Officer; 

e) a Non-Statutory Chief Officer 
 

“Deputy Chief Officer” has the same meaning as in s.2(8) of the 1989 
Act; 

 
"Disciplinary Action" has the same meaning as in the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001; 

 

“Head of Paid Service” (“HOPS”) means the officer designated under 
Section 4 (1) of the 1989 Act (designation and reports of Head of Paid 
Service) 

 
“Independent Persons” has the same meaning as in Section 28(8) of 
the Localism Act 2011 

Page 389



Page 2 of 7 Part 4J 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules May 

2016 (updated 03.2021) 

 
LEGAL\53637257v1 

 

"member of staff" means a person appointed to or holding a paid office 
or employment under the authority; 

 
“Monitoring Officer” (“MO”) means the officer designated under section 
5(1) of the 1989 Act (designation and reports of monitoring officer); 

 
"Proper officer" means an officer appointed by the authority for the 
purposes of the provisions in these Rules 

 
“Statutory Chief Officer” has the same meaning as in section 2(6) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 

“Non-statutory Chief Officer” has the same meaning as in section 2(7) 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 
1.2 Subject to paragraphs 1.3, 3.1 and 4.1 of these Rules, the function of 

appointment and dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against, a 
member of staff of the authority must be discharged, on behalf of the 
authority, by the Head of Paid Service or by an officer nominated by Head of 
Paid Service. 

 
1.3 Nothing in paragraph 1.2 shall prevent a person from serving as a member of 

any committee or sub-committee established by the Authority to consider an 
appeal by - 

 
a) another person against any decision relating to the appointment of that 

other person as a member of staff of the Authority; or 
 

b) a member of staff of the Authority against any decision relating to the 
dismissal of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of staff. 

 

2 Appointments 
 

2.1 Where the authority proposes to appoint a Chief Officer, and it is not proposed 
that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, 
they shall— 

 
(a) draw up a statement specifying – 

 
(i) the duties of the officer concerned, and 
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

 
and 

 
(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 

likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for 
it; and 

 
(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 

paragraph (a) to be sent to any person on request. 

Page 390



Page 3 of 7 Part 4J 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules May 

2016 (updated 03.2021) 

 
LEGAL\53637257v1 

2.2 (1) Where a post has been advertised as provided in Rule 2.1 (b) the 
authority shall— 

 

(a) interview all qualified applicants for the post, or 
(b) select a short list of such qualified applicants and interview those 

included on the short list. 
 

(2) Where no qualified person has applied, the authority shall 
make further arrangements for advertisement in accordance 
with Rule 2.1(b). 

 
2.3 Declarations 

 
a) The Authority will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 

employment to state in writing whether they are the partner or a close 
family relative of a serving Member or employee of the Authority or the 
partner of such a person. This statement will be included in appropriate 
recruitment literature. 

 
b) Where a candidate has declared such a relationship, any offer of 

employment shall be subject to approval by a Corporate Director, 
except where a Corporate Director is the officer to whom the 
candidate has declared a relationship, in which case any proposed 
offer of employment shall be subject to approval by the Head of Paid 
Service. 

 

2.4 Seeking support for appointment 
 

a) The Authority will disqualify from consideration any candidate who 
directly or indirectly seeks the support of any Member or officer for any 
appointment with the Authority. The content of this paragraph will be 
included in any recruitment information. 

 
b) No Member will seek to support any candidate for appointment. 

 
c) Members must not stand as referees for officers or candidates for 

appointment as officers of the Authority. 

 
 

3 Appointment of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer 

 

3.1 (1) Where a committee or sub-committee is discharging, on behalf of the 
Authority, the function of the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service,   Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer the Council must 
approve that appointment before an offer of appointment is made to 
him/her. 

Page 391



Page 4 of 7 Part 4J 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules May 

2016 (updated 03.2021) 

 
LEGAL\53637257v1 

(2)  Where a committee or a sub-committee of the Authority is discharging, 
on   behalf of the Authority, the function of the appointment of the Head 
of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer at least one 
Member of the Executive must be a member of     that committee or sub-
committee. 

 

3.2 Appointment of a Chief Officer 
 

(1) Paragraph 1.2 shall not apply to the appointment of Chief Officers, 
including the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer. For such appointments the function will usually be 
carried out by the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee, unless 
delegated by that Committee to the   Head of Paid Service. 

 

(2) The Head of Paid Service may make temporary appointments of 
other      Chief Officers (including the Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) for up to six months subject to the notification 
requirements in 3.4 below and notifying that temporary appointment 
to the next meeting of full Council. 

 

3.3 Appointment Notification Requirements 

 
(1) In this paragraph, "appointor" means, in relation to the appointment of a 

person as an officer of the Authority, the Authority or, where a 
committee, sub-committee or officer is discharging the function of 
appointment on behalf of the Authority, that committee, sub-committee 
or an officer, as the case may be. 

 
(2) An offer of an appointment as the Head of Paid Service, a Statutory 

Chief Officer, a Non-Statutory Chief Officer, or a Deputy Chief Officer 
must not be made by the appointor until - 

 
(a) the appointor has notified the proper officer of the name of the 

person to whom the appointor wishes to make the offer and any 
other particulars which the appointor considers are relevant to 
the appointment; 

 

(b) the proper officer has notified the Mayor of - 
 

(i) the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to 
make the offer; 

 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which 

the appointor has notified to the proper officer; and 
 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the 
offer is to be made by the Mayor to the proper officer; and 

 
(c) either - 

(i) the Mayor has, within the period specified in the notice 

Page 392



LEGAL\53637257v1 

under sub-paragraph (b)(iii), notified the appointor that 
neither he/she nor any Member of the Cabinet has any 
objection to the making of the offer; 

 
(ii) the proper officer has notified the appointor that no 

objection was received by him within that period from the 
Mayor; or 

 
(iii) the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from 

the Mayor within that period is not material or is not well 
founded. 

 
 

4 Disciplinary Action: Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer 

 
4.1 Paragraph 1.2 shall not apply to the dismissal of: 

 
4.1.1 the Head of Paid Service; 

 
4.1.2 the Chief Finance Officer; 

 
4.1.3 the Monitoring Officer. 

 
4.2 Where a committee, or officer is discharging, on behalf of the Authority, the 

function of the dismissal of an officer designated as the Head of Paid 
Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer, the 
Council must approve that dismissal before notice of dismissal is 
given to him/her. 

 
4.3 Consideration of disciplinary action which could result in dismissal or any 

disciplinary action short of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief 
Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer will be the responsibility of the 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee set up for this purpose. The 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee shall include at least one Member 
of the Executive when consideration is being given to dismissal of the Head 
of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer.  

 
4.4 Any such Appointments and Disciplinary Committee shall consider the 

matter in accordance with the processes and procedures approved by Ethics 
Committee for this purpose.   and prepare a written report including its 
recommendations.  

 
4.5 Where the recommendation of the Appointments and Disciplinary 

Committee falls short of dismissal, the action shall be taken by the 
Committee itself. 

 
4.6 Where the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee recommends 

dismissal, the matter will be referred to the Independent Panel who 
willprepare an independent report and recommendations to Full Council for 
consideration and final determinationCouncil.     

Page 393



LEGAL\53637257v1 

 

4.7 Before the taking of a vote at the relevant Council meeting on whether or not 
to approve such a dismissal. Full Council must take into account, in particular- 

 

a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Appointments  
and Disciplinary Committee and Independent Panel; 

 

b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 
 

c) any representations from the relevant officer. 
 
4.8 Where the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee has made a 

proposal to dismiss a statutory officer, a hearing by the Council will fulfil 
the appeal function.  The decision of the Council will be final. 

 
4.9 Where the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee takes action short 

of dismissal, the statutory officer may appeal to the Appeals Committee. 
 

4.10 Suspension: The Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or 
Monitoring Officer may be suspended by resolution of the Appointments 
and Disciplinary Committee on normal pay while a disciplinary 
investigation and disciplinary proceedings are conducted into alleged 
misconduct or gross incapability. 

 
4.11 Provisional / Urgent Suspension: Where it is not possible to convene the 

Appointments and Disciplinary Committee at short notice, the Chief People 
Officer (or officer in that role), having taken legal and HR advice and in 
consultation with the Chair of Appointments and Disciplinary Committee 
may temporarily suspend the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer 
or Monitoring Officer for up to ten days pending the Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee being convened to consider suspension under 
paragraph 4.10 above. 

 

4.12 (a) Provisional / Urgent Suspension of Non-Statutory Chief Officers: In 
exceptional circumstances, the Chief People Officer (or officer in that role), 
having     considered both legal and human resources advice, may temporarily 
suspend a Non-Statutory Chief Officer for up to ten days pending full initial 
assessment of the allegations against the Non-Statutory Chief Officer by the 
Chief Executive or their nominated representative. 

 
4.13 Suspension in accordance with paragraph 4.11 and 4.12 and 

4.8 (a) shall be exercised within the following parameters: 
 

a) that the decision maker take both HR and legal advice in advance of 
exercising such power; 

b) that the suspension does not itself constitute disciplinary action nor does it 
imply guilt; 

c) that the officer is suspended on normal pay;  
d) that Appointments and Disciplinary Committee identify any protocols 

necessary for the management of the suspension; 
e) that the officer is notified of the reason for the suspension and has the 

Page 394



LEGAL\53637257v1 

right to present information before the decision is taken; 
f) that the suspension be reviewed by the Appointments and Disciplinary 

Committee on a monthly basis; 
g) where further relevant information arises, the Chief People Officer will 

consult with the Chair of Appointments and Disciplinary Committee and 
may lift the suspension and reinstate the officer; 

and 
h) in the case of paragraph 4.8 - that an Appointments and Disciplinary 

Committee is  convened to consider whether to exercise the power of 
suspension within paragraph 4.5 within, if practical,10 working days 
following the decision to provisionally suspend. 

 

 

4.14 Dismissal Notification Requirements 
 

(1) In this paragraph, "dismissor" means, in relation to the dismissal of an 
officer of the Authority, the Authority or, where a committee, sub- 
committee or another officer is discharging the function of dismissal on 
behalf of the Authority, that committee, sub-committee or other officer, 
as the case may be. 

 
(2) Notice of the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, or Chief Officer, 

must not be given by the dismissor until – 
 

a) the dismissor has notified the proper officer of the name of the 
person whom the dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other 
particulars which the dismissor considers are relevant to the 
dismissal; 

 
b) the proper officer has notified the Mayor and every Member of the 

Cabinet of - 
 

(i) the name of the person whom the dismissor wishes to 
dismiss; 

 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the 

dismissor has notified to the proper officer; and 
 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to 
be made by the Mayor on behalf of the Executive to the 
proper officer; and 

 
c) either - 

 
(i) the Mayor has, within the period specified in the notice 

under sub-paragraph (b)(iii), notified the dismissor that 
neither he/she nor any other Member of the Cabinet has   
any objection to the dismissal; 

 

(ii) the proper officer has notified the dismissor that no 
objection was received by him within that period from the 

Page 395



LEGAL\53637257v1 

Leader; or 
 

(3) (iii) the dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from 
the Mayor within that period is not material or is not well founded. 
Where the dismissor is satisfied that a material objection has been 
raised under this procedure, the Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee will be reconvened to consider the objection and satisfy 
itself as to whether any of the objections are both material and well-
founded. 

 
4.15 Independent Panel 
 

In respect of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and 

Monitoring Officer, an Independent Panel constituting at least two Independent 

Persons as appointed by the Ethics Committee from time to time  will advise the 

Council on any recommendation from Appointments and Disciplinary 

Committee to dismiss the officer. Following any disciplinary hearing the 

outcome of which is a proposal to dismiss, the Independent Panel’s views must 

be reflected specifically in the Report to full Council setting out the 

Appointments and Disciplinary Committee’s recommendations. The full Council 

shall  have regard to the recommendations of General Purposes Committee and 

the Independent Panel in reaching its decision on the matter. 

 
4.16 Appeals Committee 

 
When considering appeals against action short of dismissal, the Committee will: 
 
i) consider the report of the Independent Investigator and any other relevant 

information considered by Appointments and Disciplinary Committee; 
 
ii) listen to the statutory officer state their case; 
 
iii) conduct any further investigation it considers necessary to reach a 

decision 
 
(iv) take a decision either to confirm the action or to impose no sanction of a 

lesser sanction. 

 

4.17 The decision of the Appeals Committee will be final. 

 

 

Page 396



As amended 08.2019 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure 
 

Contents:  
 
1. Introduction  

2. Committee Consideration Criteria  

3. Public Speaking Procedure  

4. Format of Committee Agenda  

5. Reports  

6. Order of Proceedings  
7. Decision Making  
8. Voting Procedures  

9. Site Visits before a Committee Meeting  

10. Formal Site Visits by the Committee  

11. Amendments/Variation  
 
1 INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1  This Procedure applies to all meetings of the Planning Committee and the 

Planning Sub-Committee in relation to the determination of planning 
applications and any other business dealt with at either of these Committees. 
Reference to Committee in this Procedure is a reference to both or either of 
these Committees. Likewise, reference to a Planning Committee Member also 
encompasses reference to a Planning Sub-Committee Member. Reference to 
the Chair or Vice Chair is a reference to the Chair or Vice Chair of both or 
either of these Committees.  

 
1.2  The determination of planning applications is a formal statutory administrative 

process involving the application of national, regional and local planning 
policies that takes place within a legislative framework. Planning decisions 
can be appealed by unsuccessful applicants and challenged by way of judicial 
review by aggrieved parties. Complaints about maladministration and injustice 
can also be made to the Local Government Ombudsman.  

 
1.3  In order to mitigate these risks, it is vital that those involved in the 

determination of planning applications and particularly officers and Members, 
at all times act reasonably and fairly to applicants, supporters and objectors. 
These rules are designed to help ensure this is achieved, but they should not 
be read in isolation; Members need to also have regard to the Planning Code 
of Good Practice to be found at Part 5D of this Constitution. Both this 
Procedure and the Planning Code of Good Practice are subordinate to the 
requirements set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct and nothing in this 
Procedure or the Code shall be read as implying greater obligations on 
Members than as set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct in Part 5I of this 
Constitution. 

Page 397



As amended 08.2019 

 
2  COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION CRITERIA  
 
2.1  Part 3 of the Constitution (Responsibilities for Functions: Planning Committee 

and Planning Sub-Committee) sets out the types of planning application that 
may be considered by these Committees. This part of the Procedure sets out 
the circumstances where such an application will be referred to Committee for 
decision.  

 
2.2  The Timescales, General Requirements and Criteria set out below will be 

applied in determining whether any Representations received in respect of an 
application that may be considered by Committee would require that 
application to be determined by that Committee rather than dealt with under 
officer’s delegated powers. The term Representation(s) also includes 
Petition(s).  

 
2.3  This section deals with:  
 

 Timescales: within which all Representations must be with the 
Development Management service  

 General Requirements: that all Representations must comply with  

 Criteria: that apply to the Representations from specific people or bodies 
such as the Chair or Vice Chair, a Member for the Ward within which the 
application site is situated or immediately adjoins (Ward Member), the 
Croydon Member of the Greater London Assembly (GLA Member), the 
Member of Parliament (‘MP’) for the constituency within which the 
application site is situated or immediately adjoins and Resident 
Associations (RA) plus Representations from other people or bodies  

 
2.4  For probity reasons, the Timescales, General Requirements and Criteria set 

out in this Procedure must be adhered to. The decision of the Director of 
Planning and Strategic Transport will be final in determining whether the 
Timescales, General Requirements or Criteria are met.  

 
2.5  Any Representation that does not meet the Timescales, General 

Requirements and Criteria will therefore not be a factor in deciding whether 
the application will be considered by Committee. Such Representations will 
still however be considered by the case officer in finalising their report and 
recommendation, provided he/she receives the Representation before 
submitting their report for authorisation or at least by noon on the day of the 
Committee (see paragraph 3.13 below) .  

 
2.6  Nothing in this Procedure interferes with the absolute right of the Director of 

Planning and Strategic Transport to refer an application or planning matter to 
Committee as prescribed by Part 3 of the Constitution.  

 
Timescales 
  
Statutory Notification Period 
  

Page 398



As amended 08.2019 

2.7  The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 requires the local planning authority to publicise 
applications for planning permission by site display in at least one place on or 
near the land to which the application relates for not less than 21 days or by 
serving a notice on any adjoining owner or occupier. There are also situations 
(in relation to “major” application, applications that are considered to depart 
from the provisions of the development plan and applications involving works 
to listed buildings and properties in conservation areas) where such 
development is advertised in the local press and by way of site notice(s) in 
vicinity of the relevant site. The local planning authority is obliged to comply 
with these statutory requirements.  

 
2.8  It does not matter how someone gets to hear about a proposal, as anyone 

can submit Representations to the Development Management service. 
Representations on applications must be made in writing (letter or email) or 
via the Council’s web site. The time limit for doing this is specified on the site 
notice, press advertisement or the notification forwarded to adjoining 
occupiers/owners. Where applications are publicised through the service of a 
notice on an adjoining occupier or owner, those individuals will have 23 days 
to respond to this notification (to take into account the period for postage).  

 
2.9  Where amended plans for an application have been accepted by the Council 

and if it is necessary to re-publicise them, the Council will undertake further 
application publicity. In the case of major applications, the local planning 
authority will display a new site notice on different coloured paper to the 
original so that local people can distinguish it. Local residents will be given a 
further 14 days to respond to any re-notification.  

 
2.10  Amended plans are often negotiated in response to Representations. Whilst 

the Council may consider that an amendment it receives has overcome the 
Representations previously made, it might elect to advise local people of the 
changes (depending on the specific circumstances) to see whether they 
would like to make further Representations as follows:  

 
If the amendments do overcome their concerns, they may write to confirm 
this, but the General Requirements below (paragraph 2.15) are designed to 
take account of such circumstances, so people do not have to take any further 
action. 
  

 If someone has already made a Representation and the amendments do 
not overcome their concerns, they need to make further Representations 
to that effect.  

 If the amendments raise new concerns, such further Representations 
should also be made.  

 
Chair, Vice Chair, Ward and GLA Member and MP Timescales  
 

2.11  All elected representatives will be notified by email about planning 
applications in respect of which they have a right of referral. The Chair and 
Vice Chair will be notified by email about planning applications in Croydon.  

Page 399



As amended 08.2019 

 
2.12  If the Chair, Vice Chair, a Ward Member, GLA Member or MP wishes to make 

Representations on the application they must respond by replying to the 
notification email within 23 days – to tie in with the period offered to adjoining 
occupiers/owners. This timescale may be extended in certain circumstances 
at the discretion of the Development Management Service to ensure that the 
timescales for elected representatives align with the deadlines set for 
members of the public. It is the intention that the Chair, Vice Chair and elected 
representatives will be notified at the same time as local residents.  

 
2.13  Where the elected representative receives an additional notification email 

informing them about amendments to an application, the deadline for making 
further Representations by replying to the additional email notification within 
14 days. Where the Member indicated in the initial notification that they 
wished the application to be referred to Committee for consideration and the 
amendment overcomes their concerns, they should respond to the email 
explicitly, withdrawing their wish for the Committee to consider the application. 
See paragraph 2.10 above for additional advice on amendments.  

 
2.14  Representations on a planning application which are sent by email should be 

sent only to the email address on the notification email as other email 
addresses may not be monitored and the email may therefore not be 
actioned. Representations sent by post must be sent to the exact address 
specified on the notice or other written notification from the Council.  

 
General Requirements  
 

2.15  Under this Procedure, a Representation is a letter or an email that meets all 
the following requirements:  

 

 It is in response to an application that has been publicised by the Council.  

 It raises planning considerations that are material and related to the 
application.  

 
2.16  Identical pro-forma letters or emails, which also meet the above requirements, 

will be treated as forming a Petition (i.e. each letter potentially being a single 
signature on a petition) for the purposes of deciding whether an application 
will be referred to Committee. See paragraphs 2.32 to 2.35 below for the 
Criteria for Petitions.  

 
Committee Referral Criteria  
 
Chair/Vice Chair 
   

2.17  An application may be reported to Committee where the Chair or Vice Chair 
has indicated that he/she wishes the application to be referred to Committee 
for consideration provided that indication is received by the Development 
Management service within the Timescale indicated on the notification email 
(paragraphs 2.11 to 2.14 above).  

 

Page 400



As amended 08.2019 

Ward Members 
  

2.18  An application may be reported to Committee where the Member for the Ward 
within which the application site is situated or immediately adjoins the 
Member’s Ward has made a Representation that additionally meets all the 
following Criteria:  

 

 It is received by the Development Management service within the 
Timescale indicated on the notification email (paragraphs 2.12 to 2.14 
above).  

 The application is within, partly within or immediately adjoining the 
Member’s Ward.  

 The Ward Member has stated that they either object to or support the 
application and given their reason(s).  

 The Ward Member has additionally clearly stated that they wish the 
application to be referred to Committee for consideration.  

 The Ward Member has attended pre-arranged training on the planning 
application referral arrangements, development presentation protocols and 
the management of breaches of planning control (to be arranged from time 
to time).  

 
2.19  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria where 

the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport is 
either for approval and the Ward Member has objected to the application or 
for refusal and the Ward Member has supported the application.  

 
2.20  In order to address the Committee when the application comes to be 

determined, the Ward Member must have confirmed notification of their wish 
to address the Committee in accordance with paragraph 3.6 below.  

 
Greater London Assembly Member  

 
2.21  An application may be reported to Committee where GLA Member has made 

a Representation that additionally meets all the following Criteria:  
 

 It is received by the Development Management service within the 
Timescale indicated on the notification email (paragraphs 2.12 to 2.14 
above).  

Page 401



As amended 08.2019 

 

 It is an application for planning permission that is referable to the Mayor of 
London pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) 
Order 2008 (or as subsequently amended or replaced). .  

 The GLA Member has stated that they either object to or support the 
application and given their reason(s).  

 The GLA Member has stated that they either object to or support the 
application and given their reason(s).  

 The GLA Member has additionally clearly stated that they wish the 
application to be referred to Committee for consideration.  
 

As of May 2017, an application that is referable to the Mayor includes an 
application that involves: 

 

 development of 150 residential units or more  

 development over 30 metres in height (outside the City of London)  

 development on Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land  
 

2.22  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria where 
the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport is 
either for approval and the GLA Member has objected to the application or for 
refusal and the GLA Member has supported the application.  

 
2.23  In order to address the Committee when the application comes to be 

determined, the GLA Member must have confirmed notification of their wish to 
address the Committee in accordance with paragraph 3.6 below. 

 
Member of Parliament  
 

2.24  An application may be reported to Committee where the MP for the 
constituency within which the application site is situated or immediately 
adjoins has made a Representation that additionally meets all the following 
Criteria:  

 

 It is received by the Development Management service within the 
Timescale indicated on the notification email (paragraphs 2.12 to 2.14 
above).  

 It is an application for planning permission that is referable to the Mayor of 
London pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) 
Order 2008 (or as subsequently amended) (see paragraph 2.21 above).  

 The application is within, partly within or immediately adjoining the MP’s 
constituency.  

 The MP has stated that they either object to or support the application and 
given their reason(s).  

 The MP has additionally clearly stated that they wish the application to be 
referred to Committee for consideration.  

 
2.25  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria  

Page 402



As amended 08.2019 

where the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic 
Transport is either for approval and the MP has objected to the application or 
for refusal and the MP has supported the application. 

 
2.26  In order to address the Committee when the application comes to be 

determined, the MP must have confirmed notification of their wish to address 
the Committee in accordance with paragraph 3.6 below..  

 
Criteria for Resident Associations (RA)  

 
2.27  To benefit from the provisions in these Criteria, a RA will need to be 

registered with the Development Management service. To be registered, the 
RA will need to supply a copy of its written constitution and that document 
would need to demonstrate that:  

 

 It represents an area within the London Borough of Croydon that contains 
at least 50 residential properties and what that area is.  

 It holds regular elections for association officers.  
 
2.28  An application may be reported to Committee where the RA has made 

Representations that additionally meet all the following Criteria:  
 

 It is received by the Development Management service within the 
Statutory Notification Period (paragraphs 2.7 to 2.10 above).  

 The application is within, partly within or immediately adjoining the area 
that the RA covers.  

 The RA has stated that they object to the application and given their 
reason(s).  

 The RA has additionally clearly indicated that they wish the application to 
be referred to Committee for consideration so that they can address the 
Committee on their concerns.  

 
2.29  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria where 

the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport is for 
approval.  

 
2.30  The right to refer applications under paragraphs 2.17 to 2.28 does not extend 

to minor material amendments or non-material amendments to existing 
planning permissions dealt with under section 73 or 96A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) respectively, all applications 
submitted under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development Order, advertisements, or minor extensions and alterations 
(including boundaries and rear outbuildings) involving less than 20 square 
metres of additional internal accommodation (gross internal). These 
application types will be determined by officers under delegated authority in all 
instances (see Part 3)  

 
Other Representations 
  

Page 403



As amended 08.2019 

2.31  An application may be reported to Committee where Representations have 
been received that additionally meet all the following Criteria:  

 

 It is received by the Development Management service within the 
Statutory Notification Period (paragraphs 2.7 to 2.10 above).  

 It is from a person who lives at or operates from an address which is within 
the London Borough of Croydon.  

 The person has stated that they object to the application and given their 
reason(s).  

 At least 12 such Representations have been received from individual 
persons for each application.  

 
2.32  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria where 

the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport is for 
approval.  

 
Petitions  
 

2.33  An application may be reported to Committee where one or more petitions 
(including pro-forma letters – paragraph 2.16 above) that meet the General 
Requirements for a Representation (paragraph 2.15 above) have been 
received that additionally meet all the following Criteria:  

 

 Each Petition is received by the Development Management service within 
the Statutory Notification Period (paragraphs 2.8 to 2.10 above).  

 Each Petition is from a person who lives at or operates from an address 
which is within the London Borough of Croydon.  

 Each Petition objects to the application and contains the reason(s) for this.  

 All such Petitions contain a total of at least 40 signatures with clearly 
readable and bona fide names and addresses from within the Borough of 
Croydon.  

 Where those who have signed a petition are well aware of the purpose 
and reasoning for signing the petition, which should be specific to material 
planning considerations only.  

 
2.34  Petitions will not be accepted where the wording of the Petition has been 

varied, post those having signed the Petition. The wording of Petitions and pro 
forma letters will be published in full by the Council on its website. 

 
2.35  The application will only be reported to Committee under these Criteria where 

the recommendation by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport is for 
approval.  

 
2.36  Where such Petition(s) (including pro-forma letters – paragraph 2.16 above) 

contain less than 40 such signatories, they will collectively be treated as 
forming a single Representation for the purposes of deciding whether an 
application will be referred to Committee.  

 

Page 404



As amended 08.2019 

3  PUBLIC SPEAKING PROCEDURE  
 
3.1  For applications for planning permission for the following development types, 

a speaking slot shall be a maximum of five minutes each:  
 

 a residential development containing 200 or more new dwellings or, where 
the number of dwellings is not given, the site area is 4 hectares or more; or  

 the erection of a building or buildings with a gross floor space of 10,000 
square metres or more or, where the floor space is not given, the site area 
is 2 hectares or more.  

 
3.2  For all other items, a speaking slot shall be a maximum of three minutes each.  
 
3.3  Subject always to the notification and registration requirements in paragraphs  

3.6 and 3.8 there are up to five separate speaking slots in the following order 
allocated to:  
1.  Objectors/Residents Associations   

2.  The applicant or his/her agent/representative/supporters – hereinafter 
referred to as the Applicant 

3.  The Member of the Greater London Assembly for the constituency 
within which the application site is situated where they have clearly 
indicated that they wish to address the Committee in accordance with 
the Committee Referral Criteria  

4.  The MP for the constituency within which the application site is situated 
(or immediately adjoins) where they have clearly indicated that they 
wish to address the Committee in accordance with the Committee 
Referral Criteria  

5.   A Member for the Ward within which the application site is situated or 
immediately adjoins who has clearly indicated that they wish the 
application to be referred to Committee for consideration in accordance 
with the Committee or (b) has clearly indicated that they wish to 
address the Committee regarding a major application which has 
automatically been referred to Committee 

 
3.4  Where a planning application is reported on the “Planning Applications for 

Decision” part of the agenda, all of the individuals and organisations who have 
expressed views (by letter or email) on the application will be sent a 
letter/email that informs them that the application will be considered by 
Committee. The applicant (or his/her agent) will be sent a similar letter/email. 
The Ward Member, GLA Member and MP (where appropriate) will also be 
sent such a letter/email. The letter/email will also explain the provisions 
regarding public speaking.  

 
3.5  Requests to address Committee will not be accepted prior to the publication of 

the agenda.  
 

Notification  
3.6  Any Objector or Applicant or elected representative (i.e. a referring Ward 

Member, GLA Member or MP) who wishes to address Committee must notify 

Page 405



As amended 08.2019 

the Democratic Services Manager by 4pm on the Tuesday prior to the day of 
the meeting or, where the meeting is held on a day other than a Thursday by 
4pm two working days before the meeting. Email or telephone should be used 
for this purpose. In the case of an Objector or Applicant, this communication 
should provide the name and contact details (email address and/or phone 
number) of the intended speaker so that changes in arrangements can be 
communicated. In addition, in the case of Objectors if they individually agree, 
contact details will be shared so that where more than one person has 
registered to speak, contact can be made to resolve either who will address 
the Committee or how they will divide up the allocated speaking slot. Where 
more than one Objector, Ward Member or MP has registered to speak, the 
provisions of paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 will apply. Failure to comply with these 
requirements will prevent the speaker from addressing the Planning 
Committee   

 
3.7  If a public speaker needs special arrangements (such as an interpreter) this  

must be brought to the attention of the Democratic Services Manager when 
notifying him/her of their wish to speak so that arrangements can be put in 
place.  
 
Registration 
  

3.8  On the night of the Committee meeting:  
 

 Objectors and Applicants who have notified the Democratic Services 
Manager that they wish to address the Committee in accordance with 
paragraph 3.6;  

 A Ward Member, GLA Member or MP who have clearly indicated that they 
wish to address the Committee in accordance with the Committee 
Consideration Criteria above and paragraph 3.6;  

 
must register their attendance at the Town Hall with the Democratic Services 
representative in attendance at the meeting at least 15 minutes before the 
meeting starts. 
  

3.9  Where more than one Objector has registered to speak and the arrangements 
have not been resolved in advance, the Democratic Services Manager will 
inform the parties involved as they register so that they can decide either who 
will address the Committee or how they will divide up the allocated speaking 
slot. Objectors are expected to come to an agreement between themselves 
on this. Where Objectors cannot come to an agreement, the Chair will be 
notified of this through the Democratic Services Manager and the Chair will 
decide who will be accorded the right to speak. Preference will normally be 
given to those who are potentially most affected by the planning application 
and particularly those closest to the application site. The Chair may take 
advice from officers in making this decision. In order to ensure the most 
efficient progress of Committee business on the evening, the decision of the 
Chair will be final and not be the subject of further debate, including in the 
Committee. 

  

Page 406



As amended 08.2019 

3.10  If more than one Ward Member or MP indicates that they wish to speak, they 
will share the speaking slot equally, unless they agree a different distribution 
of the time. 

  
3.11  If a Ward Member wishes to speak but is unable to attend the Committee, 

they may nominate a substitute Member representing the same Ward, or a 
neighbouring Ward, to address the Committee on their behalf. If a referring 
Ward Member (or substitute Ward Member), GLA Member or Local MP has 
not registered to speak by 4pm on the Tuesday prior to the day of the meeting 
or, where the meeting is held on a day other than a Thursday, by 4pm two 
working days before the meeting (see paragraph 3.6 above) or who has 
registered to speak does not attend the Committee and there are no other 
reasons for Committee consideration, the application will be referred back to 
the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport for delegated decision.  

 
Speaking 
  

3.12  All those involved in public speaking are restricted to an oral presentation 
only. The officers’ slide presentation is therefore not available for use by 
public speakers.  

 
3.13  If a speaker, or any other member of the public, wishes to bring additional 

representations or other material beyond those which they have already 
submitted to the Committee’s attention, they need to supply it to the 
Development Management service. This needs to be done by, at the latest, 
noon on the day of Committee, to be included in the Addendum Report (see 
paragraphs 5.6 to 5.11 below for procedures, limitations and deadlines). The 
distribution of additional material or information to Members of the Committee 
is not prohibited but objectors and supporters should be aware that although 
they may have sent information directly to Members of the Committee via 
email or other means, the Members are not under an obligation to consider 
the information and may not have an opportunity to review such material. 
Members of the public are therefore encouraged to ensure they send their 
correspondence directly to the Development Management service.  

 
3.14  Following the completion of a speaker’s address to the Committee, that 

speaker shall take no further part in the proceedings of the meeting unless 
permitted to do so by the Chair of the Committee. 

 
MP, GLA Member and Ward Members 
  

3.15  An MP, GLA Member or Ward Member may address the Committee in 
accordance with the Procedures and must additionally:  

 

 declare, before making their speech, details of any material contact with 
the applicant, agent, adviser, neighbour, objector or other interested party 
and whether or not the speech is made on behalf of such person(s) or any 
other particular interest;  

 sit separately from the Committee Members, so as to demonstrate clearly 
that he/she is not taking part in the discussion, consideration or vote; and 

Page 407



As amended 08.2019 

not communicate in any way with Members of the Committee or pass 
papers or documents to them during the meeting.  

 
In relation to Ward Members:  

 be aware that if they have a disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or non-registrable interest, they may only participate in 
any discussion of or vote on any matter in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, other registrable or non-registrable interest if they have 
been granted a dispensation for this purpose.  

 
Committee Member wishing to speak as a Ward Members  
 

3.16  A Ward Member, who is also a Member of the determining Committee, may 
address the Committee in accordance the Public Speaking Procedure set out 
above but, where they do so, they cannot take part in the debate or vote on 
the application they have referred. They may address the Committee on their 
referral in accordance with the above procedures provided they do not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter. Where the Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, other registrable or non-registrable interest, the 
Member may only participate in any discussion of or vote on any matter in 
which they have a disclosable pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable 
interest if they have been granted a dispensation for this purpose.  

 
Chair’s Discretion 

 
3.17  At the discretion of the Chair, such as in the interests of natural justice or in 

exceptional circumstances, the public speaking procedures may be varied. 
The reasons for any such variation shall be recorded in the minutes. The 
number of objectors or supporters would not, of itself, be a factor. If changes 
are made to the speaking times, the Applicant will be offered the same time to 
speak as Objectors.  

 
4  FORMAT OF COMMITTEE AGENDA 
  
4.1  The Committee’s agenda may contain the following three sections for 

planning reports:  
 

 Development presentations: to enable the Committee to receive 
presentations on proposed developments, including when they are at the 
pre-application stage. These items do not normally attract public speaking 
rights, other than at the Chair’s discretion.  

 Planning applications for decision: these items attract public speaking 
rights as detailed above.  

 Other planning matters: non-application matters that require Committee 
consideration (such as an Article 4 Direction, policy papers or a 
consultation from Government) or reports that are for information only. 
These items do not normally attract public speaking rights, other than at 
the Chair’s discretion.  

 

Page 408



As amended 08.2019 

5  REPORTS  
 
5.1  Each planning application for decision is the subject of a written report with an 

officer recommendation. Reports will be produced in a standard form provided 
by the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport and will identify and 
analyse the material considerations, of which the Committee will need to take 
account when considering the application on the planning merit.  

 
5.2  In addition to the written report, illustrative material will usually be presented 

by officers at the meeting to explain the scheme.  
 

Recommendations 
 
5.3  The recommendations in the reports to Committee do not set out the full 

wording of planning conditions, reasons for refusal, informatives and planning 
obligations, but are a summary of them. There are two reasons for this:  

 

 it communicates the details of the recommended decision more clearly to 
Members than many pages of detailed conditions or grounds; and  

 there can sometimes be a delay before a decision is issued (such as 
waiting for the signing of a legal agreement or views from the Mayor of 
London and/or the National Planning Case Unit) and something may arise 
which necessitates an amendment, a deletion or an addition (including the 
use of pre commencement conditions).  

 
5.4  Delegated powers are therefore given to the Director of Planning and 

Strategic Transport (Responsibility for Functions at Part 3 of the Constitution) 
to communicate the detailed wording to applicants. In addition, where the 
wording of a condition/ground/informative/obligation has been amended, a 
new condition/ground/informative/obligation introduced or an existing 
condition/ground/informative/obligation deleted either at the meeting by the 
Committee or subsequent to the meeting by the Director, the Director will be 
responsible for finalising the wording. This obviates the need for further 
reference to Committee and delay to the process.  

 
5.5  The exercise of this delegated power by the Director is limited to 

circumstances where the change(s) could not reasonably be regarded as 
deviating from the overall principle of the decision reached by the committee 
nor that such change(s) could reasonably have led to a different decision 
having been reached by the Committee.  

 
Addendum Report 

 
5.6  It is common for material (such as late representations) to be received by the 

Development Management service after the close of the agenda. Such 
material will be placed on the public planning file along with all the other 
papers for the application, subject only to any public exclusion restrictions. 
Where this material needs to be brought to the attention of the Committee so 
that it can be taken into account, it will be presented in written form in the 
Addendum Report. It will comprise a summary of whatever has been raised, 

Page 409



As amended 08.2019 

in the same way as representations are summarised in the main Committee 
report. 
 

5.7  The Head of Democratic Services and Scrutiny will email the Addendum 
Report to Planning Committee members as soon as it is ready.  

 
5.8  The practicality of producing such a report means there has to be a cut-off 

point for the receipt of late material by the Development Management service, 
which is noon on the day of the meeting. Generally material received after this 
time will not be reported to the Committee. The Director of Planning and 
Strategic Transport has an absolute discretion in this regard.  

 
5.9  Material must not be distributed to Committee Members by members of the 

public (including public speakers) or other Members of the Council during the 
course of the meeting. The distribution of such material should be done in 
advance of the meeting in accordance with 3.13 above. 

 
5.10  The points raised in representations about a particular application, which are 

received prior to the cut-off point (paragraph 5.8 above) are summarised 
either in the main Committee report or in the addendum report.  

 
6  ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS  
 
6.1  Except as otherwise stated on the agenda, generally meetings take place at 

the Town Hall in Katharine Street (CR0 1NX). The time the meeting is 
expected to begin will be stated on the agenda papers. Where any item is on 
the agenda only because it has been referred by a Ward Member, GLA 
Member, MP or Resident Association and none of the referring 
person(s)/organisation(s) or their representative(s) have registered their 
attendance at the Town Hall in accordance with paragraphs 3.6 and 3.8 and 
notwithstanding the fact that other parties may have also registered to speak, 
the item will revert to the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport to deal 
with under delegated powers and not be considered by the Committee.  

 
6.2  At the discretion of the Chair, the agenda may be re-ordered at the meeting.  

 
Development Presentations 
  

6.3  The procedure for considering each item shall be as follows:  
 

 the developer will present their scheme for no longer than 15 minutes 
unless the Chair, exercising his/her discretion, has allowed a longer 
period; and through the Chair, Committee Members may ask questions.  

 A Ward Councillor (who is not a member of the Planning Committee) may 
address the Planning Committee for up to 5 minutes to present a local 
viewpoint on the development presentation. This may be either before or 
after the questions referred to above. In the latter case, additional 
questions may be asked by the Chair or Committee Members to address 
new points raised by the Ward Councillor. Ward Councillors within whose 
Ward the emerging development is proposed will be contacted by the 

Page 410



As amended 08.2019 

Development Management service by email and the Ward Councillor will 
be required to contact the Democratic Services Manager by 4pm on the 
Tuesday before the Committee meeting to advise whether he/she is 
attending (or, where the meeting is held on a day other than a Thursday 
by, 4pm two working days before the meeting). Where more than one 
Ward Councillor wishes to address the Planning Committee, the 5 minute 
slot will be shared  

 At the end of this process, the Chair or Senior Planning Officer will 
summarise the issues, points and questions raised  

 
Planning Applications for Decision  

6.4  The procedure for considering each application shall be as follows:  
 

 the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport, or his/her representative, 
will introduce the development the subject of the application;  

 through the Chair, Committee Members may ask questions of clarification;  

 public speaking in accordance with the Public Speaking Procedure above  

 the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport or his/her representative, 
will present the report, outline the reasons for the officer recommendation 
and will respond (as appropriate) to comments raised by the Speakers; 
and  

 the Committee will then consider the item and reach a decision.  
 

Other Planning Matters 
  

6.5  The procedure for considering each item shall be as follows:  
 

 the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport, or his/her representative, 
will present the report and introduce the main issues;  

 through the Chair, Committee Members may ask questions of clarification; 
and  

the Committee will consider the report and either note the content or reach 
a decision (as required).  

 
Other Procedural Issues 
  

6.6  Where a decision is made on an agenda item, in order to be able to vote a 
Committee Member must be present throughout the whole of the Committee’s 
consideration of that item, including the officer introduction and any public 
speaking.  

 
6.7  The minutes of the meeting will record the Members and officers present at 

the meeting and record any disclosures of interest made by Members or 
officers. For each item, the minutes will record the identify of any public 
speakers and the decisions.  

 
6.8 Meetings of the Planning Committee and Planning Sub-Committee shall 

ordinarily conclude by are subject to a guillotine of 10:00pm.  In the event that 
there is remaining business at 9.55pm the Chair shall interrupt the meeting 

Page 411



As amended 08.2019 

and call for a vote of Members present on whether the meeting shall continue 
for a further 30 minutes.   

 
6.9 At a meeting of the Planning Committee, iIf Members decide that the meeting 

shall not continue, or if there is remaining business after the additional period 
of 30 minutes, After that time, any item of the agenda that has not started to 
be considered by the Committee is delegated to the Director of Planning and 
Strategic TransportSustainable Regeneration to determine along the lines set 
out in the Committee report, unless the Committee has already voted (on a 
two thirds majority) to defer or adjourn the non-determined item earlier in the 
meeting. 

 
6.10 At a meeting of the Planning Sub-Committee, if Members decide that the 

meeting shall not continue, or if there is remaining business after the 
additional period of 30 minutes, any item of the agenda that has not started to 
be considered by the Committee is delegated to the Director of Planning and 
Sustainable Regeneration to determine along the lines set out in the 
Committee report. 

   
Role of the Committee Chair 
  

6.1109  With the assistance and support of officers, the Chair of the Planning 
Committee/Sub Committee is responsible for the good and orderly running of 
Planning Committee/Sub Committee meetings. The Chair aims to ensure, 
with the assistance of officers where necessary, that the meeting is run in 
accordance with the provisions set out in the Council’s Constitution and 
particularly Part 4K of the Constitution. The Chair’s most visible responsibility 
is to ensure that the business of the meeting is conducted effectively and 
efficiently. This includes several components:-  

 

 determining the order in which questions may be addressed from the 
Committee members following the officers presentation;  

 ensuring that the Public Speaking Procedure is followed which allows time 
slots specified timeslots for Applicants, Supporters, Objectors, Ward 
Members, GLA Members and Members of Parliament to address the 
Committee where relevant criteria are met;  

 managing the Committee members debate about applications including 
the order in which Members who wish to address the Committee may 
speak;  

 determining when the debate has come to a close and votes should be 
cast in the order in which the motions were first completed (i.e. where the 
motion has been moved and seconded by Members of the Committee).  

 Ensuring that debate is suitably focussed on relevant planning 
considerations.  

 
6.1210  The Chair has discretion in the interests of natural justice to vary the 

public speaking rules where there is good reason to do so and such reasons 
will be minuted.  

 

Page 412



As amended 08.2019 

6.1321  The Chair is also charged with ensuring that the general rules of 
debate are adhered to (e.g. Members should not speak over each other) and 
that the debate remains centred on relevant planning considerations.  

 
6.1432  Notwithstanding the fact that the Chair of the Committee has the above 

responsibilities, it should be noted that the Chair is a full member of the 
Committee who is able to take part in debates and vote on items in the same 
way as any other Member of the Committee. This includes the ability to 
propose or second motions. It also means that the Chair is entitled to express 
their views in relation to the applications before the Committee in the same 
way that other Members of the Committee are so entitled and subject to the 
same rules set out in the Council’s constitution and particularly Planning Code 
of Good Practice.  

 
Role of Committee Members  
 

6.1548  The role of Members of the Planning Committee is to make planning 
decisions on applications presented to the Committee openly, impartially, with 
sound judgement and for sound planning reasons. In doing so Members 
should have familiarised themselves with Part 5D of the Council’s Constitution 
‘The Planning Code of Good Practice’. Members should also seek to attend 
relevant training and briefing sessions organised from time to time for 
Members  
  

6.1659  Members are to exercise their responsibilities with regard to the 
interests of the London Borough of Croydon as a whole rather than with 
regard to their particular Ward’s interest and issues.  

 
7  DECISION MAKING 
  
7.1  In making a decision on a planning application a Committee Member must:  
 

 Come to meetings with an open mind.  

 Comply with the procedures set out in this Part 4k of the Constitution.  

 Not allow anyone (except officers, other Committee Members and public 
speakers when they are addressing the Committee) to communicate with 
them during the Committee's proceedings (orally or in writing) as this may 
give the appearance of bias. For the same reason, it is best to avoid such 
contact before the meeting starts.  

 Consider the advice that planning, legal or other officers give the 
Committee in respect of the recommendation or any proposed amendment 
to it.  

 Comply with section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and make decisions in accordance with the development plan unless 
there are good planning reasons to come to a different decision.  

 Come to their decision only after due consideration of all of the information 
reasonably required to base a decision upon. This will include the local 
information that Members are uniquely placed to access, but always 
remembering to take decisions on planning grounds alone. If they feel 

Page 413



As amended 08.2019 

there is insufficient time to digest new information or that there is 
insufficient information before them, then they should seek an adjournment 
to address these concerns.  

 Not vote on a proposal unless they have been present to hear the entire 
debate, including the officers’ introduction and any public speaking.  

 Make sure that if they are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision 
contrary to the officer’s recommendation or the Development Plan, that 
they clearly identify and understand the planning reasons leading to this 
conclusion and that they take into account any advice planning, legal or 
other officers give them. Their reasons must be given prior to the vote and 
be recorded. Be aware that they may have to justify the resulting decision 
by giving evidence in the event of challenge.  
 

7.2  The Council is expected to make a decision on all applications within statutory 
timescales. Whilst this may not always be possible, particularly for 
applications that are to be considered by Committee, applications are always 
included on the agenda of the first available Committee after completion of the 
officer's report so that a decision can be taken in the shortest possible time. 
For this reason, Members should avoid requests for officers to speed up or 
delay the determination or assessment of particular applications for their own 
personal or political convenience or following lobbying by applicants, 
agents/advisers, local residents or other interested parties.  

 
8  VOTING PROCEDURES 
  
8.1  The Chair will bring the Committee to a vote when he/she considers that there 

has been sufficient debate of an item.  
 
8.2  For any motion to be successful there needs to be a majority vote in favour of 

that motion. In the event of a deadlock (ie equality of votes) the Chair may 
exercise his/her casting vote. This can be done irrespective of whether  
or not the Chair has already voted on that motion.  
 
When There Are Two Motions  
 

8.3  If there are two motions before the Committee, each motion needs to be 
considered separately. When a motion has been moved and seconded, it 
becomes a complete motion. The motion which is completed first should be 
considered first.  

 
8.4  If the first motion is successful (ie the vote is for it) the second motion 

automatically falls.  
 
8.5  If the first motion is unsuccessful (ie the vote is against it) it falls and is 

thereby extinguished. Members then move to voting on the second motion.  
 
8.6  To enable officers to give the Committee the best advice and to allow the 

business to run efficiently, it is preferable for the recommendation set out in 
the report to be moved and voted on first (unless a motion is made and 

Page 414



As amended 08.2019 

seconded to defer or adjourn consideration of a particular item, for example 
for a site visit or further information/advice).  

 
8.7  Amendments to the recommendation (such as an additional condition) may be 

made in the normal manner (as prescribed in the Non-Executive Committee 
Procedure Rules part 4 of the Constitution).  

 
Officer’s Advice  
 

8.8  If the recommendation is not supported, before a new motion to either grant or 
refuse the application is proposed the Committee must first receive advice 
from the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport, or his/her 
representative, as to what form a new motion could take. That advice will be 
based upon the material considerations that have been discussed by the 
Committee and whether there are grounds that could be defended in the 
event of an appeal or legal challenge. The solicitor advising the Committee 
will be called upon as necessary to give advice on legal matters.  

 
8.9  If the officer considers that he/she is unable to give that advice immediately, 

further consideration of the matter will be suspended and the agenda item will 
be adjourned so that the officer can bring a report to the next available 
Committee setting out his/her advice.  

 
Decisions Contrary to the Development Plan 
  

8.10  The law requires that where the Development Plan is relevant, decisions must 
be taken in accordance with it unless there are good planning reasons to do 
otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004). If a Committee intends to approve an application which is contrary to 
the Development Plan, the material considerations must be clearly identified 
and the justification for overriding the Development Plan clearly 
demonstrated. The application will have to be advertised in accordance with 
Article 13 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order 2010 and, depending upon the type of development 
proposed, may also have to be referred to the Department for Communities 
and Local Government.  

 
8.11  If the recommendation in the officer report would be contrary to the 

Development Plan, the justification will be included in that report.   
 
8.12 If, having considered the report, the Committee decides to determine the 

application contrary to the Development Plan, a detailed minute of the 
Committee’s reasons, which as a matter of law must be clear and convincing, 
shall be made and a copy placed on the application file.  

 
9  SITE VISITS BEFORE A COMMITTEE MEETING 
  
9.1  It is advisable that Members are familiar with the sites of the applications on 

the agenda to enable them to make informed decisions on the planning 

Page 415



As amended 08.2019 

applications before them and to avoid deferring or adjourning those decisions 
pending site visits.  

 
9.2  Where Members visit the site themselves before the meeting, care must be 

taken to ensure that they comply with the Planning Code of Good Practice 
(part 5D of the constitution). Such visits should be carried out discreetly and 
Members should avoid making themselves known to the applicant or to 
neighbours. Accordingly Members should not go onto the actual application 
site or into a neighbouring property. The reason for this is that contact 
between a Member of the Committee and the applicant or a local resident 
could be misinterpreted as lobbying and may create a suspicion of bias. If 
such contact is made this should be declared in Committee, but this should 
not prevent that Member from taking part in the consideration of that 
application, provided that the Member has followed the advice in the Planning 
Code of Good Practice and acts in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct.  

 
10  FORMAL SITE VISITS BY THE COMMITTEE 
 
 
10.1  A formal site visit will be arranged where the Committee have resolved, on a 

majority vote, to visit the site. Site visits should only be selected where there 
is a clear and substantial benefit to be gained. The Director of Planning and 
Strategic Transport may recommend that the Committee should conduct a 
site visit.  

 
10.2  The procedure for formal site visits by the Committee shall be as follows:  
 

 Any of the Members and substitute Members of the Committee and 
officers can attend a site visit.  

 Arrangements for visits will not normally be publicised or made known to 
applicants, agents or third parties.  

 Where permission is needed to go onto land, contact will be made with the 
owner by officers. The owner cannot take any part in the visit, other than to 
effect access onto the site.  

 The purpose of a site visit is to enable Members to inspect the site and to 
better understand the impact of the development. The Committee should 
not receive representations or debate issues during a site visit.  

 An application cannot be determined at a formal site visit by a Committee 
and must be considered at the next appropriate meeting of the Committee.  

 The Democratic Services Manager will make a note of the site visit and it 
will be included in the Addendum Report.  

 Failure to attend a formal site visit shall not bar a Member from voting on 
an item at the Committee meeting that considers it, provided the Member 
is satisfied that he/she is sufficiently familiar with the site.  

 
10.3  When a site visit has taken place, Members are reminded about the principles 

referred to above under the heading ‘Order of proceedings’ concerning the 

Page 416



As amended 08.2019 

need to have heard the whole of a planning application before taking part in 
the voting.  

 
11  AMENDMENTS/ VARIATION 
  
11.1  Where amendments/variation to these part of the Constitution is necessary 

due to legislative changes, the Council SolicitorMonitoring Officer may make 
such consequential changes as are necessary to take such changes into 
account   

 
 

Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON  
 
Part 4 - PROCEDURE RULES  
 
PART 4.O REMOTE MEETINGS PROCEDURE RULES  
 
These Procedure Rules clarify the Council’s temporary legal powers to hold 
meetings via telephone audio conference, video conference or other electronic 
means to avoid convening public gatherings during the COVID 19 public 
health emergency.  
 
In any instance where these Remote Meetings Procedure Rules conflict with 
other Procedure Rules or other sections of the Constitution these Procedure 
Rules prevail until 7 May 2021.  
 
1A Access to Information  
 
For all purposes of the Constitution, the terms “notice”, “summons”, “agenda”, 
“report”, “written record” and “background papers” when referred to means a 
document that is:  
 
(a) “open to inspection” which shall include for these and all other purposes being 
published on the website of the Council; and  
 
(b) ‘to be published, posted or made available at offices of the Authority’ shall include 
publication on the website of the Council.  
 
2A Remote Access to Meetings  
 
(a) For all purposes of the Constitution the term “meeting” is not limited in meaning to 
a meeting of persons all of whom, or any of whom, are present in the same place, for 
which purposes any reference to:  
 

(i) “place” is to be interpreted as where a meeting is held, or to be held, 
includes reference to more than one place including electronic, digital or 
virtual locations such as internet locations, web addresses or conference 
call telephone numbers: and  
 

(ii) “open to the public” includes access to the meeting being through remote 
means including (but not limited to) video conferencing, live webcast, and 
live interactive streaming and where a meeting is accessible to the public 
through such remote means the meeting is open to the public whether or 
not members of the public are able to attend the meeting in person; and  
 

(b) If the Chair is made aware that the meeting is not accessible to the public through 
remote means, due to any technological or other failure of provision, then the Chair 
shall adjourn the meeting immediately. If the provision of access through remote 
means cannot be restored within a reasonable period, then the remaining business 
will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chair. If he or she does not fix a 
date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.  

Page 419



3A Members in Remote Attendance  
 
(a) A Member in remote attendance is present and attends the meeting, including for 
the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, if at any time all three of the following 
conditions are satisfied, those conditions being that the Member in remote 
attendance is able at that time:  
 
(i) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, 

be seen by, the other Members in attendance.  
 

(ii) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, 
be seen by, any members of the public entitled to attend the meeting in order 
to exercise a right to speak at the meeting; and  
 

(iii) to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any other members of the 
public attending the meeting.  

 
(b) A Member in remote attendance will be deemed to have left the meeting where, 
at any point in time during the meeting, any of the conditions for remote attendance 
contained in (a) above are not met. In such circumstance the Chair may, as they 
deem appropriate;  
 
(i) adjourn the meeting for a short period to permit the conditions for remote 

attendance of a Member contained in (a) above to be re- established;  
 
(ii)  count the number of Members in attendance for the purposes of the quorum; 

or  
 
(iii) continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting in the absence of 

the Member in remote attendance.  
 
4A Remote Attendance by Members of the Public  
 
(a) A member of the public entitled to attend the meeting in order to exercise a right 
to speak at the meeting is in remote attendance at any time if all three of the 
following conditions are satisfied, those conditions being that the member of the 
public in remote attendance is able at that time:  
 
(i) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, 

be seen by, Members in attendance;  
 
(ii) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, 

be seen by, any other members of the public entitled to attend the meeting in 
order to exercise a right to speak at the meeting; and  

 
(iii) to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any other members of the 

public attending the meeting.  
 

(b) A member of the public in remote attendance will be deemed to have left the 
meeting where, at any point in time during the meeting, any of the conditions for 

Page 420



remote attendance contained in Standing Order 4A(a) above are not met. In such 
circumstance the Chair may, as he or she deems appropriate:  
 
(i) adjourn the meeting for a short period to permit the conditions for remote 

attendance contained in Standing Order 4A(a) above to be re-established;  
 

(ii) suspend consideration of the item of business in relation to the member of 
public’s attendance until such time as a following item of business on the 
agenda has been transacted and the conditions for the member of the public’s 
remote attendance have been re- established or, on confirmation that this 
cannot be done, before the end of the meeting, whichever is the earliest; or  

 
(iii) continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting in the absence of 

the member of the public in remote attendance.  
 
5A Remote Voting  
 
Unless a recorded vote is demanded (where this is permitted in the Constitution), 
[which must be confirmed by the requisite number of Members confirming the 
demand verbally when requested by the Chair,] the method of voting will be at the 
Chair’s discretion and will be by one of the following methods:  
 
(a) by use of the electronic voting system[s] for Remote Voting and voting in the 
Chamber or where an electronic voting system is not working correctly or is 
unavailable;  
 
(b) by the affirmation of the meeting if there is no dissent [by assent]; or  
 
(c) the Chair will take the vote by roll-call and the number of votes for or against the 
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be recorded.  
 
6A Members excluded from the meeting  
 
Where a Member is required to leave the meeting, the means of remote attendance 
and access is to be severed whilst any discussion or vote takes place in respect of 
the item or items of business which the member or co-opted member may not 
participate. 
  

Page 421



Part 4O (i)  REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL  
 
Introduction and Application of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules  
 
This Protocol and accompanying Remote Meetings Procedure Rules (‘Procedure 
Rules’) set out rules and guidance for the conduct of any remote meeting of the 
Council, and its various Committees and Sub-Committees, held under the provisions 
of the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020 (‘the Regulations’).  
 
This Protocol and Procedure Rules should be read in conjunction with the Council’s 
Standing Orders and Procedure Rules within the Constitution. The Regulations, 
made under section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020, apply notwithstanding any other 
legislation or current or pre-existing standing orders or any other rules of the Council 
governing meetings and remain valid until 7 May 2021. This means that, wherever 
there is a conflict, the Regulations take precedence in relation to any remote 
meeting.  
 
The effect of the Regulations on the Council’s Constitution is to insert what are, in 
effect, a set of rules for the Council when it wishes to hold meetings remotely, either 
wholly or partially. The Regulations exist only on a temporary basis, having effect 
between 4 April 2020 and 7 May 2021.  
 
This Protocol and Procedure Rules in no way precludes the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee, General Purposes and Audit Committee, Planning Committee and 
Planning Sub-Committee, Licensing Committee or the Chair of the Licensing Sub-
Committee from determining additional or different procedure rules or protocols 
under provisions in Article 16.2 of the Constitution and/or the Licensing Protocol.  
 
This Protocol is an immediate response to the Regulations and is based on the 
information available at this point. This document may need to be updated and 
reviewed in due course.  
 
This Protocol includes the Procedural Rules highlighted in red boxes.  
 
Contents  
 
Section 1 - How will notice of Meetings and papers be provided?  
Section 2 - How will remote access to Meetings be provided?  
Section 3 – Attendance by Members at Remote Meetings and Management of 
Remote Meetings.  
Section 4 - Remote Attendance of the Public.  
Section 5 - Meeting Procedures & Voting.  
Section 6 - Declaration of Interests.  
Section 7 - Exclusion of Public and Press.  
Section 8 - Public Access to Meeting Documentation following the meeting.  
Section 9 - The Annual Meeting.  
 
 

Page 422



1 How will notice of Meetings and papers be provided?  
 
1.1 The proper officer will give the requisite notice to the public of the time of the 
meeting, and the agenda, together with details of how to join the meeting which will 
be be available on the Council’s website  
 
1.2 Members will be notified of a remote meeting by e-mail and all agenda papers 
will be available on the Council’s website and via the agenda software or other 
electronic means as appropriate.  
 
1.3 The ‘place’ at which the meeting is held may be at a Council building or may be 
where the organiser of the meeting is located or may be an electronic or a digital or 
virtual location, a web address or a conference call telephone number; or could be a 
number of these combined. The meeting may also be held in a meeting room or 
Chamber with a proportion of the membership and any participating public 
additionally attending remotely.  
 
2 How will remote access to Meetings be provided?  
 
2.1 Members and members of the press and public will be encouraged to use any 
video conferencing facilities provided by the Council to attend a meeting remotely.  
 
2.2 If this is not possible, attendance may be through an audio link or by electronic 
means as referred to in Regulation 5(6)(c) of the Regulations.  
 
2.3 Remote access for members of the public, press facilities and Members who are 
not attending to participate in the meeting, will be provided through webcasting, live 
audio streaming, or others means.  
 
2.4 It is important to note that the public accessing the meeting by remote means, as 
described here, is different from the public attending to ‘exercise a right to speak’. A 
technological failure removing the ability for the public to access the meeting by 
remote means renders the whole meeting incapable of proceeding. A member of the 
public who attends to exercise their right to speak and is unable to do so will only 
affect their item and will be dealt with at the discretion of the Chair as set out in Rule 
4A(b).  
 
3 Attendance by Members at Remote Meetings and management of Remote 
Meetings  
 
3.1 Any Member participating in a meeting remotely must, when they are speaking, 
be able to be heard (and ideally seen) by all other Members in attendance, and the 
public must, in turn, be able to hear (and ideally see) those other Members 
participating.  
 
3.2 In addition, a Member must be able to be heard (and ideally seen) by, and in turn 
hear, any members of the public entitled to attend the meeting and who exercise a 
right to speak at the meeting.  
 

Page 423



3.3 The Chair will normally confirm at the outset and at any reconvening of a 
committee or cabinet meeting that they can see and hear all participating members 
(this is unlikely to be practical for a meeting of full council). Any Member participating 
remotely should also confirm at the outset and at any reconvening of the meeting 
that they can see and hear the proceedings and the other participants  
 
3.4 The attendance of those members at the meeting will be recorded by the 
Democratic Services Officer.  
 
3.5 The normal quorum requirements for meetings as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution will also apply to a remote meeting.  
 
3.6 In the event of any apparent failure of the video, telephone or conferencing 
connection, the Chair should immediately determine if the meeting is still quorate:  

 if it is, then the business of the meeting will continue; or  

 if there is no quorum, then the meeting shall adjourn for a period specified by 
the Chair, expected to be no more than fifteen minutes, to allow the connection 
to be re-established.  

 
3.7 Should any aspect of an individual’s remote participation fail, the Chair may call a 
short adjournment of up to approximately five minutes to determine whether the 
connection can quickly be re-established, either by video technology or telephone in 
the alternative. If the connection is not restored within that time, the meeting should 
continue to deal with the business whilst this happens, providing the meeting 
remains quorate and the public are able to hear. In certain situations it may be 
possible to reorder the Agenda to allow the technological issue to be resolved  
 
3.8 In the event of connection failure, the remote Member(s) will be deemed to have 
left the meeting at the point of failure and if the connection cannot be re-established 
to those Member(s) before the end of the meeting, then the presumption will be that 
the meeting should continue to deal with the item/s.  
 
3.9 If the connection is successfully re-established, then the remote Member(s) will 
be deemed to have returned at the point of re-establishment.  
 
3.10 If a connection to a Member is lost during a regulatory meeting, the Chair will 
stop the meeting to enable the connection to be restored. If the connection cannot be 
restored within a reasonable time, the meeting will proceed, but the Member who 
was disconnected will not be able to vote on the matter under discussion as they 
would not have heard all the facts. A Member who disconnects and re-connects to 
the meeting due to technological issues is still ‘present throughout’ as long as any 
matters discussed during his/her absence are repeated.  
 
3.11 Etiquette at the meeting is referred to further below.  
 
3.12 The requirements set out in the Local Government Act 1972 section 85 which 
provide that “if a member of a local authority fails throughout a period of 6 
consecutive months from the date of his last attendance to attend any meeting of the 
authority he shall unless the failure was due to some reason approved by the 
authority before the expiry of that period cease to be a member of the authority” 

Page 424



continue to apply in relation to all “meetings of the authority” (which covers 
Committees and Sub-Committees, joint committees, joint boards or other bodies 
where the functions of the Council are discharged or that were appointed to advise 
the Council on any matter relating to the discharge of Council functions) including 
where these meetings are held remotely.  
 
4 Remote Attendance of the Public  
 
4.1 Any member of the public participating in a meeting remotely in exercise of their 
right to speak at Council or in regulatory or other meetings must meet the same 
criteria as members of the Council. Members of the public attending a meeting 
remotely must, likewise, when they are speaking be able to be heard (and ideally be 
seen) by all other Members in attendance, and the remote participant must, in turn, 
be able to hear (and ideally see) those other members participating be so heard and, 
where practicable, be seen by any other members of the public attending the 
meeting. If a member of the public exercising a right to speak is not able to access 
the remote meeting platform they may exercise their right to speak through audio 
means.  
 
4.2 A process for determining access to the meeting will be conducted, which will 
include requiring advance notification from members of the public wishing to attend 
remotely. For those items of business, an invitation to participate in the remote 
technology will then be sent out in advance.  
 
4.3 Alternatively, where it is not possible to provide a technological solution, standing 
orders will be produced that replace existing public speaking rights with public 
participation by receipt of representations in writing only. Submissions, petitions or 
questions received from the public can then be read out by the Chair or a supporting 
officer.  
 
4.4 The Democratic Services Officer or meeting facilitator (see below) is able to mute 
the member of the public once they have spoken, and remove them from the remote 
meeting on the instruction of the Chair, in order to maintain the good administration 
of the meeting or to retain order.  
 
4.5 Wherever possible a breakdown of the technology should not disadvantage the 
member of the public in remote attendance  
 
5 Meeting Procedures  
 
5.1 A meeting facilitator, who may be the Democratic Services Officer will be 
enlisted. Their role is to control the video, telephone or conferencing technology 
employed for remote access and attendance and to administer the public and 
Member interaction, engagement and connections on the instruction of the Chair.  
 
5.2 Individual meeting Chairs will be consulted on how they would best like to 
manage debate in meetings and how Members should indicate that they wish to 
speak. The preferred method will be made clear at the start of the meeting. This may 
include the use of technological solutions where they are available. Chairs will be 
supported by officers where necessary.  

Page 425



 
5.3 In respect of key committees and at Cabinet meetings, it will assist the meeting if 
those Members who wish to speak on a particular item could indicate their wish to 
speak to the Chair and to the Democratic Services Officer in advance of the start of 
the meeting where possible. Political groups are also encouraged to co-ordinate this 
activity wherever possible in respect of full Council/Authority meetings and other 
meetings likely to result in a high number of requests to speak. This is particularly 
important if Members are unable to participate via video conference.  
 
5.4 The Chair will follow the rules set out in the Constitution when determining who 
may speak, as well as the order and priority of speakers and the content and length 
of speeches in the normal way.  
 
5.5 The Chair, at the beginning of the meeting, will explain the protocol for member 
and public participation and the rules of debate. The Chair’s ruling during the debate 
will be final.  
 
5.6 Members are asked to adhere to the following etiquette during remote 
attendance at a meeting:  

 Committee members are asked to join the meeting no later than fifteen minutes 
before the start to allow themselves and the meetings facilitator or Democratic 
Services Officers the opportunity to test the equipment.  

 Any camera (video-feed) should show a non-descript background or, where 
possible, a virtual background and members should be careful to not allow 
exempt or confidential papers to be seen in the video-feed.  

 Type their name on joining the meeting in full, e.g., “Cllr Joanne Smith” (where 
the technological solution employed by the authority enables this).  

 All Members to have their video turned off and microphones muted when not 
talking.  

 Individual meeting Chairs will indicate their preferred method for Members to 
signify a wish to speak at the start of each meeting. Only speak when invited to 
by the Chair.  

 Only one person may speak at any one time.  

 Turn on the microphone and also the video-feed (if available or unless speaking 
to a diagram, presentation slide or drawing), then state your name before you 
make a comment.  

 When referring to a specific report, page, or slide, mention the report, page, or 
slide so that all members have a clear understanding of what is being discussed 
at all times.  

 
5.7 Where members of the public are exercising speaking rights at the meeting via 
remote attendance, the Chair will as part of their introduction explain the procedure 
for their participation which will reflect those relevant elements of the above. 
Members of the public must adhere to this procedure otherwise they may be 
excluded from the meeting.  
 
5.8 When the Chair is satisfied that there has been sufficient debate and (if the rules 
of the meeting require) there is a proposer and seconder for the item being 
discussed the Chair will progress to making a decision. Unless a Recorded Vote is 

Page 426



called, the method of voting will be at the Chair’s discretion and will be by one of the 
following methods:  

 a vote by electronic means; or  

 an officer calling out the name of each member present with:  

 members stating ‘for’, ‘against’, or ‘abstain’ to indicate their vote when their 
name is called;  

 the Democratic Services Officer clearly stating the result of the vote and the 
Chair then moving onto the next agenda item;  

 by the general assent of the meeting.  
 
5.9 Details of how Members voted will not be kept or minuted unless a Recorded 
Vote is called. Where a Recorded Vote is requested the Chair will ask members in 
turn to signify verbally whether or not they support that request.  
 
6 Declaration of Interests  
 
6.1 Any Member participating in a remote meeting who declares a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other declarable interest, in any item of business that would 
normally require them to leave the room, must also leave the remote meeting. Their 
departure will be confirmed by the Democratic Services Officer or meeting facilitator, 
who will invite the relevant Member by link, email or telephone, to re-join the meeting 
at the appropriate time.  
 
7 Exclusion of Public and Press  
 
7.1 There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when 
confidential, or “exempt” issues (as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972) are under consideration. Where the technology is available, 
the Democratic Services Officer or meeting facilitator will ensure that there are no 
members of the public in remote attendance or remotely accessing the meeting are 
able to hear or see the proceedings once the exclusion has been agreed by the 
meeting.  
 
7.2 Each Member and officer in remote attendance must ensure and verbally declare 
that there are no other persons present who are not entitled to be (either hearing or 
seeing) consideration of such items, and/or recording the proceedings.  
 
7.3 Any Member or officer in remote attendance who failed to disclose that there 
were in fact persons present who were not so entitled would likely be in breach of the 
Members’ or Officers’ (as relevant) Code of Conduct responsibilities.  
 
7.4 The public webcast will be stopped when considering such matters.  
 
8 Public Access to Meeting Documentation following the meeting  
 
8.1 Members of the public may access minutes, decision and other relevant 
background documents through the Council’s website. The definition of access to 
information and available to the public is the same as at Rule 1A of the Procedure 
Rules. 

Page 427



This page is intentionally left blank



May 2016 
Protocol for Decision Making 
As amended 02.2019 

Part 5A / Page 1 of 4 
 
LEGAL\53564351v1 

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 5.A – Protocol for Decision Making 

 
Provisions with respect to proceedings of the Mayor, Cabinet, Cabinet Members 
and Cabinet Committees and Non-Executive Committees and Sub- Committees 
 

This protocol constitutes provisions for the allocation of functions under Section 9E and 
provisions in respect of the proceedings of the Executive and Executive Committees 
under Schedule A1, Paragraph 3 of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended and 
is incorporated into the terms and conditions of employment of officers. 
 

Under this constitution, there are different decision makers: the Mayor, Cabinet and 
delegated Sub-Committees, Joint Committees, Non-Executive Committees and 
Officers.  
 

The following principles will apply to whoever makes a decision on behalf of the 
Council, including executive decisions: 
 

(a) decisions will not conflict with the Budget and Policy Framework; 
 
(b) the decision will be made following an evaluation of options; 
 
(c) the decision maker will take professional advice (including financial and legal 

advice where the decision may have legal and/or financial consequences); 
 
(d)  the decision maker will take into account the implications of their decisions on 

the Council’s policies and its legal obligations in relation to environmental 
sustainability, equality and diversity, respect for human rights, risk 
management and crime and disorder; 

 
(e) the decision will be taken following a consideration of all relevant matters and 

disregarding irrelevancies; 
 
(f) reasons for the decision will be recorded, as will details of relevant alternative 

options considered with reasons for their rejection; 
 
(g) action taken will be proportionate to the result to be achieved; 
 
(h) a presumption in favour of openness, unless there are compelling lawful 

reasons preventing the consideration of matters in public; 
 
(i) consultation to take place as appropriate to the matter under consideration; 

 
(j) clarity of aims and desired outcomes; 
 

Page 429



May 2016 
Protocol for Decision Making 
As amended 02.2019 

Part 5A / Page 2 of 4 
 
LEGAL\53564351v1 

(k) the highest standards of ethical conduct, avoiding actual, potential and 
perceived conflicts of interest; and 

 
(l)   the decision taker will take into account any other relevant considerations that 

a public body is under a duty to consider 
 

The Mayor, Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee, a Non-Executive Committee or Sub- 
Committee shall not take any “relevant decision”, as defined in article 1.8 below, until 
the following requirements have been complied with: 

 

1.1 All relevant decisions shall be allocated to the Mayor, Cabinet or delegated to a 
Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 
1.2 No relevant decision shall be taken except upon a written report in accordance 

with this Protocol. 
 

1.3 A Corporate Director or other Senior Manager of the Authority shall prepare a 
written report which shall be the subject of consultation with: 

 

(a) the Chief Finance Officer and the Director of Legal Services (except to 
the extent that they agree otherwise in respect of certain clauses of 
reports); 

 

(b) other officers as appropriate; and 
 

(c) Corporate Directors whose service may be affected by the proposal. 
 

1.4 The written report shall set out: 
 

(a) the body proposing to take the decision; 
 

(b) the issue to be decided; 
 

(c) an executive summary of the issue, where the length of the report so 
requires for clarity; 

 

(d) any recommended restrictions upon the publication of the report or public 
attendance at the making of the final decision; 

 

(e) the facts upon which any decision must be based; 
 

(f) comments of the Director of Legal Services; 
 

(g) any policy of the Authority relating to the issue; 
 

(h) any relevant national or regional guidance; 
 

(i) the options available to the decision making body; 
 

(j) the staffing implications of the issue; 
 

(k) the Chief Finance Officer comments on the financial implications; 

Page 430



May 2016 
Protocol for Decision Making 
As amended 02.2019 

Part 5A / Page 3 of 4 
 
LEGAL\53564351v1 

 

(l) any consultations undertaken, the views of any consultees and a 
summary of any other representations received; 

 

(m) any implications for any other areas of the Authority’s activities; 
 

(n) Equalities Impact Assessment; 
 

(o) the comments of any other professional officer or Corporate Director 
where appropriate; 

 

(p) if an Executive matter, the Cabinet Portfolio which the issue falls within; 
 

(q) the electoral areas which are particularly affected by the issue under 
consideration; 

 

(r) the recommendation in respect of the proposed decision and the 
reasons supporting the recommendation; 

 

(s) the place, date and time at which the body proposes to make its 
decision; 

 

(t) any other relevant considerations such as Human Rights, 
Environmental Impact and Crime and Disorder implications; 

 

(u) a list of any background papers; and 
 
(v) where appropriate, identification of the timescale for a further report(s) 

to Members on implementation of the decision 
 

 
1.5 At least 5 clear working days before the proposed date and time for taking the 

final decision, the Monitoring Officer shall send a copy of the report, or 
arrange for a copy of the report to be sent to all Members of the decision 
making body. 

 

1.6 The requirements for consultation and public participation set out above are to 
be regarded as a minimum, and officers are responsible for determining when 
further consultation and public participation would be appropriate.  

 

1.7 Urgent Decisions 
 

Where the Corporate Director or other Director preparing a report for the Chief 
Executive is of the opinion that a relevant decision should be made urgently in 
order to prevent or reduce the risk of damage to persons or property or to the 
interests of the Authority, and that the urgency of the matter is such that it is 
not practicable to complete the decision making process set out above: 

 

(a) The Corporate Director shall use their best endeavours, as far as the 
urgency of the matter permits, to consult those persons whom he would 
have been required to consult had the full decision making process been 
followed; and 

 

Page 431



May 2016 
Protocol for Decision Making 
As amended 02.2019 

Part 5A / Page 4 of 4 
 
LEGAL\53564351v1 

(b) in respect of a key decision, or a decision to be taken at a private 
meeting of the executive, the executive shall ensure that the relevant 
provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 
4B of this Constitution are complied with. 

 

Then the decision making body shall have the power to take that relevant 
decision, notwithstanding that the procedure set out in 1.4 – 1.6. above has not 
been followed. 

 

1.8 Relevant Decisions 
 

A decision shall comprise a relevant decision if either: 
 

(a) It is a “Key Decision” within the meaning of Regulation 8 of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and Article 13.02 of this 
Constitution; or 

 

(b) it is not within an approved budget; or 
 

(c) it is in conflict with a policy approved by the Council; or 
 

(d) it raises new issues of policy; or 
 

(e) it requires: 
 

(i) a virement of funding in excess of the virement limits approved by 
the Council; or 

 

(ii) the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme 
which may require, either directly or in the event of objection, the 
approval of a Minister of the Crown; or 

 

(iii) the initiation or adoption of legislation; or 

(f) is of such significance to the locality, the Authority or the services which 
it provides that the Corporate Director is of the opinion that it should be 
treated as a relevant decision. 

 

1.9 Review of progress in implementing decisions 
 
Corporate Directors shall keep the implementation of decisions under review.  
Where any substantial delay occurs to implementation and/or there is a 
significant change in cost, impact or other material factor, the Corporate 
Director shall consult with the relevant member of the Executive, having 
sought the advice of the Director of Legal Services, to ensure that 
circumstances relevant to the decision still apply.   In cases where there has 
been a material change of circumstances, a further report will be considered 
by the relevant decision-making body before implementation.  

 
1.10 Amendments/ variation to this protocol 
 

Where amendments/variation to this Protocol are necessary due to legislative 

Page 432



May 2016 
Protocol for Decision Making 
As amended 02.2019 

Part 5A / Page 5 of 4 
 
LEGAL\53564351v1 

changes, the Monitoring Officer may make such consequential changes to this 
Protocol as are necessary to take such changes into account. 

Page 433



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: ETHICS COMMITTEE 

9 February 2022  

SUBJECT: Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol 

LEAD OFFICER: Richard Ennis, Corporate Director of Resources (interim) 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 2021-24: 

A review of the protocol to assist both Members and Officers to have an appropriate 
understanding of their respective roles will support implementation of the Croydon 
Renewal Improvement Plan. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

Implementation of the recommendations within this report shall be contained within 
existing budgets. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Ethics Committee is recommended to: 
 
1. Review the draft revisions to the Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol; 

 
2. Recommend to General Purposes and Audit Committee the inclusion of these 

revisions with a package of wider changes to the Constitution, to be recommended 
to Council on 23 March 2022.  
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
1.1 This report seeks comments from the Committee on a revised draft Protocol 

on Staff-Councillor relations, which has been developed with input from 
Members and Officers.   

 
1.2 Subject to the views of the Committee, the revised draft will be proposed for 

inclusion in the Constitution and will be used to inform staff and Member 
training. 

 
2. BACKGROUND     
 
2.1 The Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol has not been materially reviewed or 

amended for some years. 
 
2.2 In its response to the Report in the Public Interest (‘RIPI’), the Council 

identified a need to clarify member and officer roles to support good 
governance arrangements.  An action was included in the RIPI action plan to 

Page 435



review the Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol and to deliver training to 
develop good practice. 

 
2.3 Following revision of the Member and Officer Codes of Conduct, Ethics 

Committee agreed at its meeting in December 2021 that a Member/ Officer 
Task and Finish Group be convened to review the Staff-Councillor Relations 
Protocol, to prepare a revised draft for consideration by the Committee, prior 
to inclusion in proposed amendments to the Constitution in March 2022. 

 
2.4 Cllrs Fraser and Hale were nominated by the Committee to join the Task and 

Finish Group, which also included 5 officers.  The Task and Finish Group met 
twice as follows: 

 
Meeting 1: reviewed Protocols from Bristol, Lewisham and Tower Hamlets 
and considered whether anything might be missing from/ could be 
strengthened in the current Protocol. 
 
Meeting 2: considered draft additional/ amended text. (The meeting was held 
across two separate occasions due to limited Member availability). 

 
3. THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Analysis of the Council’s current Protocol in comparison with relevant 

examples from other councils has shown that the Protocol is short in 
comparison with many and does not include content in relation to, for 
example: 

 Declaration of close personal relationships between Members and staff; 

 The accountability of staff to their line managers; 

 Arrangements for informal briefings of groups of Members; 

 Criticism of staff members in public meetings;   

 The responsibility of staff to ensure that Members receive the information 
they need to carry out their roles as Members. 

 
3.2 A revised draft Protocol appears at Appendix 1: this has been informed by the 

comments of the Task and Finish Group and shows changes in comparison to 
the current Protocol.  A clean version appears at Appendix 2. 

 
3.3 The Committee is asked to note that: 

 Hyperlinks will be added to all documents referred to in the Protocol; 

 More detail about the definition of bullying and harassment appears in the 
Member and Officer Codes of Conduct (and associated guidance) and so 
content on this topic has been removed from this Protocol; 

 A glossary has been added, as requested by the Task and Finish Group, 
to increase the accessibility of the Protocol for staff; 

 This Protocol addresses working relationships between staff and 
Councillors: any issues arising in working relationships between different 
officers are addressed in HR policies which are set out in the HR 
handbook; 

Page 436



 The requirement to notify the Monitoring Officer of close relationships 
which may be seen as influencing Member/ Officer decisions (whether 
Member/ Officer, Member/ Member or Officer/ Officer) is in addition to the 
procedures for disclosure of pecuniary and other registrable interests.  The 
Monitoring Officer will maintain a record of such notifications, which will 
not be published. 
 

4. NEXT STEPS 
 
4.1 Subject to comments from the Committee, the draft revised Protocol will be 

considered by the Constitution Working Group prior to General Purposes and 
Audit Committee on 3rd March and Full Council on 23rd March 2022. 

4.2 Once a revised draft has been finalised, attention will turn to arrangements for 
training on the Protocol: 

 
i) Two (repeated) sessions have been scheduled on the topic as part of 

the Member induction programme from May 2022; 
 
i) It is proposed to hold a discussion on the Protocol at a future meeting 

of CMT/ Directors/ Heads of Service; 
 

ii) Once adopted by Council, the Protocol will be discussed at the all-staff 
webinar; 

 
iii) A summary of the Protocol will be produced for use at staff induction 

ongoing and for insertion in the Member Handbook. 
 
5. CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The revised Protocol has been informed by comments from a Member/ Officer 

Task and Finish Group. 
 
6. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 Approved by: Matt Davis, Interim Deputy s151 Officer. 
 
7. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The Head of Head of Litigation & Corporate Law comments on behalf of the 

Interim Director of Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer as to the proposed 
revision of the Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol (‘Protocol’). 

 
7.2 Although there is no requirement in law to produce a separate Protocol 

detailing such relations there is a requirement for both Members and Officers 
to conduct themselves in a certain way. 

 
7.3 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the need for a Member Code 

of Conduct. It outlines that a local authority must adopt ‘a code dealing with 

Page 437



the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members of the 
authority when they are acting in that capacity.’ 

 
7.4 The Local Government Act 2000 enables the Secretary of State to issue a 

statutory code of conduct for local authority staff, in addition to their terms and 
conditions of employment. However in England no such code has been 
issued. Therefore, most local authorities continue to operate with a voluntary 
code to bring together the existing laws, regulation and conditions of service 
which regulate staff conduct to ensure the Council operates within its legal 
framework. 

 
7.5 The fundamental principles that should be reflected within the Protocol is, as 

set-out in Ahmed v United Kingdom (2000) 29 EHRR 1, that “the local 
government system of the UK has long resided on a bond of trust between 
elected members and a permanent corps of local government officer… that 
relationship of trust stems from the right of council members to expect that 
they are being assisted in their functions by officers who are politically neutral 
and whose loyalty is to the council as a whole”. 

 
7.6 Such principles have emanated from and been developed by the 

recommendations of the Widdicombe Committee and more recently from the 
review by the Committee of Standards in Public life as to Local Government 
Ethical Standards. 

 
7.7 The Local Government Association has also have published a great deal of 

information as to effective councillor/officer relations, which includes “A 
councillor’s workbook on effective councillor/officer relationships 2018”. 

 
7.8 In summary, the Protocol clarifies the roles, responsibilities and relationships 

of Members and Officers and sets out how they will work together. It also 
guides Members and/or Officers as to the other specific policies/protocols with 
regards to carrying out their duties, such as requesting information or decision 
making within the Council’s framework. 

 
Approved by: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation & Corporate Law on behalf 
of the Interim Director of Law & Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 
8. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 
8.1 There are no immediate human resources impacts for Croydon Council 

employees or staff as a consequence of this report and its 
recommendations.  Should there be any matters arising, these will be dealt 
with as appropriate under Council HR policies and procedures. 

 Approved by: Gillian Bevan, Head of HR- Resources. 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
9.1 The Protocol seeks to ensure mutual respect and an appropriate 

understanding of Councillors’ and Officers’ respective roles and 
responsibilities. 

Page 438

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/councillor-workbook-councillorofficer-relations
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/councillor-workbook-councillorofficer-relations


 
9.2 The Protocol should be understood in the context of the Council’s HR policies 

and procedures and the Members’ Code of Conduct: these include 
commitments to promote equalities and not to discriminate unlawfully against 
any person and are the route for addressing any concerns raised under this 
Protocol.  The delivery of training on this Protocol to Members and Officers 
should support understanding of its provisions, including the way in which 
compliance with the Protocol will support the Council to meet its duty under 
the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

 
 Approved by: Denise McCausland, Equalities Manager 
 
10. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
10.1 There is no environmental impact arising from this report. 
 
11. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 
 
11.1 There is no crime and disorder impact arising from this report. 
 
12. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING OF 

‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 
 No.   
 
12.2 HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN 

COMPLETED? 
 
 N/A. 
 
 Approved by: Richard Ennis, Corporate Director of Resources.  
  
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:   Heather Wills, Governance Improvement Adviser; 

heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk  
 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT:  
 
1: Draft revised Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol (tracked changes) 
 
2: Draft revised Staff-Councillor Relations Protocol (clean) 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 
 

 

Page 439

mailto:heather.wills@croydon.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Revised draft Protocol (tracked changes) 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 

Part 5.B - Protocol on Staff – Councillor Member Relations  
 

INTRODUCTION  
 
1. Members and staff have a common purpose: to work as one team to serve 

the communities of the London Borough of Croydon.  This working 
relationship is based on The relationship between Members and staff is 
important to the successful working of the Authority. This relationship within 
Croydon Council is characterised by mutual respect and trust. To achieve this, 
it is essential that both Members and staff employees feel free to speak to one 
another openly and honestly and that there is a shared understanding of 
Nothing in this Protocol is intended to change this relationship. The purpose of 
this Protocol is to help Members and employees to perform effectively by 
giving guidance on their respective roles and expectations and on their 
relationship with each other.  
 

2. The Protocol also gives guidance on what to do on This Protocol clarifies the 
roles and relationships of Members and staff and sets out how they will work 
together.  It also includes a process to follow on the rare occasions when 
things go wrong.  

 
3. The Protocol must be read and operated in the context of any relevant 

legislation and the: 

 Seven Principles of Public Life (the Nolan Principles)  

 Members’ Code of Conduct  

 Officer Code of Conduct 

 Access to Information Procedure Rules 

 Access to Information Protocol 

 Protocol for Decision Making 

 Whistleblowing policy and any procedure for confidential reporting.   
 
4. If any questions arise from this Protocol, advice should be sought from the 

Monitoring Officer.  Guardians are available for staff members who wish to 
confidentially share and talk through an issue in the first instance. 

 
ROLES OF MEMBERS AND STAFF  

 
5. The respective roles of Members and staff can be summarised as follows:  

Page 440



 
Members and staff are servants of the public and they are indispensable to 
one another. But their responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible 
to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office lasts.  
 
Staff are responsible accountable, through the Chief Executive, to the 
Authority Council as a whole and not to any political group.  Their job is to 
give advice to Members and the authority, and to carry out the Council’s 
work under the direction and control of the Council, the Executive, and 
relevant committees.   

 
6. Mutual respect and recognition of respective roles and responsibilities 

between Members and staff is essential to good local government.  
 

MEMBERS’ RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
7. Members have three main areas of responsibility: determining the strategic 

policy and plans of the Council and giving it political leadership, 
representing the Authority externally, and acting as advocates on behalf 
of their constituents. It is not the role of Members to involve themselves in 
the day to day management of Authority services.  They will also scrutinise 
the Council’s performance, through Scrutiny and Overview Committee and 
Full Council. 
 

8. Members will not be involved in day to day operational or managerial 
decisions. (Members sitting on regulatory committees will take decisions 
which affect the rights of individuals and businesses, for example in relation to 
development management and licensing matters, for which specific codes 
and protocols apply). 
 

9. Members should not seek to give instructions to officers other than in 
accordance with the terms of reference of their Committee.  Members are not 
authorised to initiate or certify financial transactions or to enter into a contract 
on behalf of the Council.  The Mayor’s scheme of delegations sets out the 
basis on which any executive decisions may be taken by individual Cabinet 
Members. 

 
10. As individual Members of the Council, all Members have the same rights and 

obligations in their relationship with staff and should be treated equally.  
 
11. Members of the Executive, Chairs and Vice Chairs  
 

(i) Members of the Executive and Chairs and Vice Chairs of Committees 
have additional responsibilities. Because of those responsibilities, their 
relationships with employees may be different from and more complex 
than those of Members without those responsibilities and this is 
recognised in the expectations they are entitled to have.  

 
(ii) While there should be a close working relationship between a Cabinet 

member and the relevant corporate director and other senior staff, 

Page 441



such relationships should never be allowed to become so close or 
appear to be so close, as to bring into question the abilities of staff to 
deal impartially with other Members, individuals or organisations. 
 

(iii) These Members must still respect the impartiality of officers, must not 
ask them to undertake work of a party political nature, or to do anything 
that would prejudice that impartiality or apply inappropriate pressure on 
officers. 

 
(iv) At some meetings a resolution may be passed which authorises a 

named Officer to take actions between meetings in consultation with a 
member of the Executive or Chair/ Vice Chair.  In these circumstances 
it is the Officer, not the Member, who takes the action and is 
accountable for it.   
 

(v) The Executive Procedure Rules set out the only circumstances in 
which a Member may take decisions, acting individually.    
 

12.  Opposition Ward Members  
 

(i) Members shall be given timely access to information that they require 
to carry out their role as Ward Members.  Corporate Directors must 
ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirement to keep local 
Members informed so that Members can contribute to the decision-
making process and fulfil their representative role.  

 
(ii) This requirement is particularly important: 
 

(a) during the early stages of policy development, where practicable; 
(b) following any specific incident in their ward; 
(c) in relation to specific or sensitive operational matters such as 

significant service disruption, ongoing planning enforcement 
cases; proposed changes to services sited within their wards and 
significant anti-social behaviour issues; 

(d) whenever any form of public consultation exercise is undertaken. 
 

(iii) Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a 
local issue, all the Members representing the ward(s) affected will be 
invited to attend the meeting as a matter of course. 
 

(iv) When an event occurs in the borough which has or will have a 
significant impact on the Council and/or Croydon residents and/or 
businesses, the Chief Executive will ensure that the Leaders of all 
groups and the relevant Ward Councillors are informed as soon as 
possible. 

 

(v) Staff responsibilities for responding to member enquiries, related 
processes and the timescales for response are set out in the Access to 
Information Protocol. 

 

Page 442



13. Scrutiny and Opposition Members 
 

(i) As individual Members of the Council, all Members have the same 
rights and obligations in their relationship with employees and should 
be treated equally. Theis principle of equal rights for all Members is 
particularly important in the context of scrutiny and overview, and staff 
responsibilities for ensuring that scrutiny’s statutory rights to relevant 
information are met are set out in the Access to Information Protocol.  

 
(ii) However, where a political group forms an administration, either alone 

or in partnership with another group or groups, it is recognised that 
the relationship between staff, particularly those at a senior level in 
the organisation, and the administration shall differ from that with 
opposition groups.  

 
STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
14. Staff are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational 

decisions.  TheirThe role of staff is to give advice and information to 
Members and to implement the policies determined by the Council.   

 
15. Staff are always accountable to their line manager who sets their work 

priorities, and not to individual Members.  While staff should always seek to 
assist a Member they must not exceed the bounds of authority they have 
been given by their managers.  If a matter requires urgent attention, Members 
should contact the relevant Head of Service in the first instance. 

 
16.  Certain employees e.g. Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Statutory Chief Officers have 
responsibilities in law over and above their obligations to the Authority and its 
Members which they must be allowed to discharge.  

 
EXPECTATIONS  

 
17. Members can expect from staff:  
 

(i) A commitment to the Authority as a whole, and not to any political 
group or individual Member; 
 

(ii) A working partnership;  
 

(iii) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and 
pressures;  

 
(iv) Timely response to enquiries and complaints in accordance with 

agreed standards and processes; 
 

(v) Professional advice not influenced by political views or preference, 
which does not compromise the political neutrality of employees; 

 

Page 443



(vi) Regular, up to date information and discussion on matters that can 
reasonably be considered appropriate and relevant to their needs, 
having regard to any individual responsibilities that they have and 
positions that they hold;  

 
(vii) Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment in which they 

are working; 
 

(viii) Respect, dignity and courtesy;  
 

(ix) Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively; 
  

(x) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality  
 

(xi) That staff shall not use their relationship with Members to advance 
their personal interests or to influence decisions improperly  

 
(xii) That staff shall at all times comply with the relevant Officer Code of 

Conduct.  
 
18. Staff can expect from Members:  
 

(i) A working partnership;  
 

(ii) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and 
pressures;  

 
(iii) An understanding and knowledge of the local area and a willingness to 

share this with staff; 
 

(iv) Political leadership and direction;  
 

(v) Respect, dignity and courtesy;  
 

(vi) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality; 
  

(vii) Not to be subject to bullying or harassment or to be intimidated or put 
under undue pressure or improper influence. This specifically includes 
any person who is involved in any complaint about any alleged breach 
of the Council’s Member’s Code of Conduct. Members should have 
regard to the seniority of employees in determining what reasonable 
requests are, having regard to the power relationship between 
Members and staffemployees, and the potential vulnerability of 
staffemployees, particularly at junior levels.  (Note: Bullying may be 
characterised as: offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting 
behaviour; or an abuse or misuse of power in a way that intends to 
undermine, humiliate, criticise unfairly or injure someone. Harassment 
may be characterised as unwanted conduct which has the purpose or 
effect of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating, 

Page 444



hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for an 
individual.)  

 
(viii) That Members shall not use their position or relationship with 

employees staff to advance their personal interests or those of others 
or to influence decisions improperly;  

 
(ix) That Members shall at all times comply with the relevant Member Code 

of Conduct.  
 

19. Practical implications of some of the principles set out above are shown 
below: 

 
(i) Members and staff should be courteous to each other at all times even 

if they disagree with their respective views.  Members and staff should 
not shout or raise their voice in an aggressive or rude manner and 
should not undermine respect for each other at Council meetings or in 
any other forum in which they participate in their role as a Member or 
member of Council staff, including social media. 
 

(ii) In public forums, staff will not use Councillors’ first names; staff will be 
introduced to the meeting in the first instance with reference to their job 
title. 

 

(iii) Members shall not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability of 
an individual member of staff or staff collectively in meetings held in 
public.  While it is legitimate for members to express well-founded 
concern constructively about the way a service is run or a policy is 
implemented by staff, a personal attack by a Member on a member of 
staff or on staff generally at a formal or informal Member meeting will 
never be acceptable, nor will a personal attack by a member of staff on 
a Member.  This would be damaging both to effective working 
relationships and to public respect for the Council.  In general, staff are 
unable to defend themselves against criticism in a public forum.  
Attacking the conduct of a staff member in public can constitute 
bullying, as can undue pressure brought by either staff or Members in 
private.  Chairs of meetings have a particular responsibility to ensure 
that personal attacks are not made by any attendee during public 
meetings. 

 

(iv) Members and staff should respect each other’s non-working time.  
Emails may be sent outside normal working hours but responses 
should not be expected at such times, and phone calls should not be 
made.  While many staff members are willing to be contacted by 
Members outside normal working hours (and vice versa), this step 
should only be taken in cases of genuine importance or urgency or by 
prior arrangement. 

 

(v) Staff have a duty to provide information, advice and recommendations 
to Members.  Such information etc can be provided both formally and 

Page 445



informally but should be given formally and in writing where significant 
or potentially controversial issues are at stake. 

 

(vi) Staff must therefore be able to report to Members as they see fit and 
without any political pressure. 
 

(vii) More detail about the basis on which decisions must be taken appear 
in the Access to Information Procedure Rules and the Protocol on 
Decision Making. 

 
RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
20. Relationships with a particular individual or party groups should not be such 

as to create public suspicion that a member of staff favours that Member or 
group above others.  Members of staff may be a member of a political party, 
but may not have an active political role or stand for elected office if they are 
in a politically restricted post. 

 
21. Members and staff should immediately (no later than three working days from 

when the relationship is identified) inform the Monitoring Officer of any 
relationship which might be seen as unduly influencing their work in their 
respective roles.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain a record of such 
declarations. 
 

22. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety.  Members and staff should always 
be open about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any 
appearance of improper conduct.  Where a personal relationship has been 
disclosed, those concerned should avoid a situation where a conflict of 
interests could be perceived.  For example, a Member should not sit on a 
body or participate in any decision which directly affects the staff member on 
a personal basis.   

 
23. The Officer Code of Conduct provides more detail on expected standards in 

concerning working relationships between staff and Members.  Staff should 
refer to the Officer Code of Conduct and/or seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer if in any doubt.  Staff are also required to undertake e-learning on the 
Officer Code of Conduct annually. 

 
BRIEFINGS 

 
24. In order for the Mayor, Cabinet members and Committee Chairs and/or Vice 

Chairs to discharge their responsibilities, those Members will be briefed from 
time to time by Directors on service issues, proposals and policy 
development.  Directors may, from time to time, nominate other staff members 
to attend these meetings.  These informal meetings may be on a one-off or 
regular basis, in accordance with the requirements of the Members and roles 
concerned. 
 

25. Political groups which are not represented on the Executive may also have 
nominated leads for particular portfolios and if those leads so request, the 

Page 446



relevant Director(s) will make themselves available to brief them on service 
issues relating to Committee papers once the agenda has been published. 
 

26. The Mayor or Leader of any other group represented on the Council, may 
request the Chief Executive or relevant Corporate Director to prepare reports 
on matters relating to the Council for consideration by the group.  Such 
requests must be reasonable and should not seek confidential information (eg 
relating to casework or personal details of applicants for services). 
 

27. If the Corporate Director considers that the cost of providing the information 
requested for a group is unreasonable, or if the request is unreasonable in 
other respects, the request will be referred to the Chief Executive for 
determination, where necessary in consultation with the Mayor or Leader of 
the relevant group. 
 

28. The Mayor or Leader of any other group may ask the Chief Executive or 
Corporate Director to give or arrange a private and confidential briefing for the 
group.  Senior staff members may be properly called upon to support and 
contribute to such deliberations by groups but must at all times maintain 
political neutrality.  Staff requested to give such a briefing should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer before doing so. 
 

29. Any briefing offered to or requested by a group will be offered (and described 
in broad terms) to any other group(s).  Where possible, such briefings should 
be to all or a combination of groups.  The detailed content of informal briefing 
sessions shall remain confidential between staff and the group concerned.  

 
30. Staff advice and reports to groups will be limited to a statement of material 

facts relating to matters of Council business and identification of options and 
the merits and demerits of such options for the Council.  Reports will not 
address any political implications and advice should not include making 
recommendations to a group.  The observance of this distinction will be 
assisted if staff are not present at meetings or parts of meetings where 
matters of party business are to be discussed. 
 

31. When staff provide information and advice to a group meeting in relation to a 
matter of Council business, this cannot act as a substitute for providing all 
necessary information and advice to the relevant Council, Cabinet or 
Committee meeting when the matter in question is considered. 
 

32. Special care needs to be exercised whenever staff are involved in providing 
information to a group meeting which includes persons who are not Members 
of the Council.  Such individuals are not bound by the Member Code of 
Conduct (and in particular the provisions relating to declaration of interests 
and confidentiality) and for this and other reasons staff may decline to attend 
and/or give advice to such meetings. 

 
IF WHEN THINGS GO WRONG  

 

Page 447



33. From time to time the relationship between Members and staff may break 
down or become strained.  It shall always be preferable to resolve matters 
informally. 

 
Procedure for staff  

 
(i) From time to time the relationship between Members and staff may 

break down or become strained.  Whilst it shall always be preferable to 
resolve matters informally, through conciliation by an appropriate 
senior manager or Member, staff shall have recourse to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, as appropriate to the circumstances.  The 
Monitoring Officer shall decide whether the matter should be referred 
to the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive, who, having advised the 
Leader of the Council and where appropriate, the appropriate Group 
Leader shall decide on the course of action to be taken.   

 
34. Procedure for Members  
 

(i) In the event that a Member is dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour 
or performance of a member of staffn employee, the Member should 
consult the Group Whip and then raise the matter should be raised with 
the appropriate Executive Corporate Director. Where the matter 
concerns an Executive Corporate Director, it should be raised with the 
Chief Executive. Where the matter concerns the Chief Executive it 
shall be raised with the Chief People Officer or with the Mayor Leader 
as appropriate.  Where there is a prima facie case for a disciplinary 
investigation, this will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
disciplinary procedures.  
 

(ii) If a Member is concerned about the way a service or part of it is 
performing as opposed to the conduct of a specific officer, and if the 
concerns cannot be resolved through discussion with the manager of 
the service, the Member should raise the matter with the Chief 
Executive and/or request that the Mayor and/or relevant Cabinet 
Member consider the matter.  The Member may also wish to consider 
referring the matter for consideration to the Scrutiny Chairs and/or to 
General Purposes and Audit Committee, as appropriate. 

 
35. Procedure for staff  
 

(i) From time to time the relationship between Members and staff may 
break down or become strained.  Whilst it shall always be preferable to 
resolve matters informally, If a member of staff wishes to raise a 
concern about a Member’s behaviour they can either escalate it to their 
line manager, Corporate Director or through conciliation by an 
appropriate senior manager or Member, staff shall have recourse to the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer, as appropriate to the circumstances.  The 
Monitoring Officer shall decide whether the matter should be referred to 
the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive, who, having advised the 
Leader of the Council and where appropriate, the appropriate Group 

Page 448



Leader shall decide on the course of action to be taken.  Officers also 
may use the Council’s Whistleblowing Procedure. 
 

(ii) Having been notified of a concern in this way, the line manager, 
Corporate Director or Monitoring Officer will take appropriate action, 
including approaching the Member concerned and raising with the 
Group Leader and/or Whip or referring the matter to the Monitoring 
Officer where there is a potential breach of the Code of Conduct. 

 

(iii) Group Leaders and Whips should promote a positive atmosphere of 
trust, respect and understanding between Members and staff and must 
be prepared to deal with and seek to resolve any reported incidents of 
breaches of this Protocol by their Group Members.  In the event of 
receiving a report of this nature, a Group Leader and/or Whip will 
actively consider the matter and seek to achieve a satisfactory 
outcome, reporting that outcome to the member of staff who reported 
the issue.   

 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THIS PROTOCOL 

 
36. The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for this Protocol and will 

annually review how it is working.   
 
37. The Monitoring Officer will report annually to the Ethics Committee on matters 

relating to this Protocol. 
 

AMENDMENTS/ VARIATION TO THIS PROTOCOL  
 
38. Where amendments/variation to this Protocol are necessary due to legislative 

changes, the Council Solicitor may make such consequential changes to this 
Protocol as are necessary to take such changes into account. 

 
GLOSSARY 

 

Administration  

Chief Officer The Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and Directors 

Executive The Executive is made up of the Elected Mayor and between 
2 and 9 Councillors (also known as the Cabinet).  The 
Executive take strategic decisions on all of the Council’s 
functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Council.  The term ‘Executive’ may refer to the elected 
Mayor, to the Mayor and Cabinet acting together, individual 
Cabinet Members or officers taking decisions which have 
been delegated to them. 

Guardians The Council’s programme which provides staff a safe space 
to confidentially share concerns about behaviour or the 
culture at Croydon, talk through issues and be signposted to 
relevant support and guidance by specially trained members 
of staff. 

Member Members of the Council include: 

Page 449



 The elected Mayor 

 Elected Councillors 

 Non-voting, co-opted Members of Committees 
 

Monitoring 
Officer 

This officer has a specific role to ensure that the Council, its 
staff and Members maintain the highest standards of conduct 
in all they do.   

Political group Members may be part of a political group on the Council if 
they are a member of a political party.   
 
If they are not a member of a political party, they can still be 
a member of a political group (for example, a group of 
Independent members) if two or more members who wish to 
be part of that group sign a notice saying that they wish to be 
treated as a political group. 

Statutory Chief 
Officers 

The following roles are known as statutory Chief Officers 
because the Council is legally required to have these posts 
and the roles have specific responsibilities set out in 
legislation: 

 Chief Executive (or Head of Paid Service),  

 Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer),  

 Monitoring Officer,  

 Director of Adult Social Services (held by the Corporate 
Director Adult Social Care and Health) 

 Director of Children’s Social Services (held by the 
Corporate Director Children, Young People and 
Education) 

 Director of Public Health 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 450



Appendix 2: Revised Protocol (clean) 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 

Part 5.B - Protocol on Staff – Member Relations  
 

INTRODUCTION  
 
1. Members and staff have a common purpose: to work as one team to serve 

the communities of the London Borough of Croydon.  This working 
relationship is based on mutual respect and trust. To achieve this, it is 
essential that both Members and staff feel free to speak to one another openly 
and honestly and that there is a shared understanding of respective roles and 
expectations.  
 

2. This Protocol clarifies the roles and relationships of Members and staff and 
sets out how they will work together.  It also includes a process to follow on 
the rare occasions when things go wrong.  

 
3. The Protocol must be read and operated in the context of any relevant 

legislation and the: 

 Seven Principles of Public Life (the Nolan Principles)  

 Members’ Code of Conduct  

 Officer Code of Conduct 

 Access to Information Procedure Rules 

 Access to Information Protocol 

 Protocol for Decision Making 

 Whistleblowing policy  
 
4. If any questions arise from this Protocol, advice should be sought from the 

Monitoring Officer.  Guardians are available for staff members who wish to 
confidentially share and talk through an issue in the first instance. 

 
ROLES OF MEMBERS AND STAFF  

 
5. The respective roles of Members and staff can be summarised as follows:  
 

Members and staff are servants of the public and they are indispensable 
to one another. But their responsibilities are distinct. Members are 
responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office 
lasts.  

 
Staff are accountable, through the Chief Executive, to the Council as a 
whole and not to any political group.  Their job is to give advice to 
Members and the authority, and to carry out the Council’s work under the 
direction and control of the Council, the Executive, and relevant 
committees.  

 

Page 451



6. Mutual respect and recognition of respective roles and responsibilities 
between Members and staff is essential to good local government.  

 
MEMBERS’ RESPONSIBILITIES  

 
7. Members have three main areas of responsibility: determining the strategic 

policy and plans of the Council and giving it political leadership, 
representing the Authority externally, and acting as advocates on behalf 
of their constituents.  They will also scrutinise the Council’s performance, 
through Scrutiny and Overview Committee and Full Council. 

 
8. Members will not be involved in day to day operational or managerial 

decisions. (Members sitting on regulatory committees will take decisions 
which affect the rights of individuals and businesses, for example in relation to 
development management and licensing matters, for which specific codes 
and protocols apply). 
 

9. Members should not seek to give instructions to officers other than in 
accordance with the terms of reference of their Committee.  Members are not 
authorised to initiate or certify financial transactions or to enter into a contract 
on behalf of the Council.  The Mayor’s scheme of delegations sets out the 
basis on which any executive decisions may be taken by individual Cabinet 
Members. 

 
10. As individual Members of the Council, all Members have the same rights and 

obligations in their relationship with staff and should be treated equally.  
 
11. Members of the Executive, Chairs and Vice Chairs  
 

(i) Members of the Executive and Chairs and Vice Chairs of Committees 
have additional responsibilities. Because of those responsibilities, their 
relationships with employees may be different from and more complex 
than those of Members without those responsibilities and this is 
recognised in the expectations they are entitled to have.  

 
(ii) While there should be a close working relationship between a Cabinet 

member and the relevant corporate director and other senior staff, such 
relationships should never be allowed to become so close or appear to 
be so close, as to bring into question the abilities of staff to deal 
impartially with other Members, individuals or organisations. 
 

(iii) These Members must still respect the impartiality of officers, must not 
ask them to undertake work of a party political nature, or to do anything 
that would prejudice that impartiality or apply inappropriate pressure on 
officers. 

 
(iv) At some meetings a resolution may be passed which authorises a 

named Officer to take actions between meetings in consultation with a 
member of the Executive or Chair/ Vice Chair.  In these circumstances 

Page 452



it is the Officer, not the Member, who takes the action and is 
accountable for it.   
 

(v) The Executive Procedure Rules set out the only circumstances in 
which a Member may take decisions, acting individually.    

 
12.  Ward Members  
 

(i) Members shall be given timely access to information that they require 
to carry out their role as Ward Members.  Corporate Directors must 
ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirement to keep local 
Members informed so that Members can contribute to the decision-
making process and fulfil their representative role.  

 
(ii) This requirement is particularly important: 

 
(a) during the early stages of policy development, where practicable; 
(b) following any specific incident in their ward; 
(c) in relation to specific or sensitive operational matters such as 

significant service disruption, ongoing planning enforcement 
cases; proposed changes to services sited within their wards and 
significant anti-social behaviour issues; 

(d) whenever any form of public consultation exercise is undertaken. 
 

(iii) Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a 
local issue, all the Members representing the ward(s) affected will be 
invited to attend the meeting as a matter of course. 

 
(iv) When an event occurs in the borough which has or will have a 

significant impact on the Council and/or Croydon residents and/or 
businesses, the Chief Executive will ensure that the Leaders of all 
groups and the relevant Ward Councillors are informed as soon as 
possible. 

 
(v) Staff responsibilities for responding to member enquiries, related 

processes and the timescales for response are set out in the Access 
to Information Protocol. 

 
13. Scrutiny and Opposition Members 
 

(i) The principle of equal rights for all Members is particularly important 
in the context of scrutiny and overview, and staff responsibilities for 
ensuring that scrutiny’s statutory rights to relevant information are met 
are set out in the Access to Information Protocol.  

 
(ii) However, where a political group forms an administration, either alone 

or in partnership with another group or groups, it is recognised that 
the relationship between staff, particularly those at a senior level in 
the organisation, and the administration shall differ from that with 
opposition groups.  

Page 453



 
STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
14. Staff are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational 

decisions.  Their role is to give advice and information to Members and to 
implement the policies determined by the Council.   

 
15. Staff are always accountable to their line manager who sets their work 

priorities, and not to individual Members.  While staff should always seek to 
assist a Member they must not exceed the bounds of authority they have 
been given by their managers.  If a matter requires urgent attention, Members 
should contact the relevant Head of Service in the first instance. 

 
16. Certain employees e.g. Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Statutory Chief Officers have 
responsibilities in law over and above their obligations to the Authority and its 
Members which they must be allowed to discharge.  

 
EXPECTATIONS  

 
17. Members can expect from staff:  
 

(i) A commitment to the Authority as a whole, and not to any political 
group or individual Member; 

 
(ii) A working partnership;  
 
(iii) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and 

pressures;  
 
(iv) Timely response to enquiries and complaints in accordance with 

agreed standards and processes; 
 
(v) Professional advice not influenced by political views or preference, 

which does not compromise the political neutrality of employees; 
 
(vi) Regular, up to date information and discussion on matters that can 

reasonably be considered appropriate and relevant to their needs, 
having regard to any individual responsibilities that they have and 
positions that they hold;  

 
(vii) Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment in which they 

are working; 
 
(viii) Respect, dignity and courtesy;  
 
(ix) Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively; 
  
(x) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality;  
 

Page 454



(xi) That staff shall not use their relationship with Members to advance 
their personal interests or to influence decisions improperly;  

 
(xii) That staff shall at all times comply with the Officer Code of Conduct.  

 
18. Staff can expect from Members:  
 

(i) A working partnership;  
 
(ii) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and 

pressures;  
 
(iii) An understanding and knowledge of the local area and a willingness 

to share this with staff; 
 

(iv) Political leadership and direction;  
 
(v) Respect, dignity and courtesy;  
 
(vi) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality; 

 

(vii) Not to be subject to bullying or harassment or to be intimidated or 
put under undue pressure or improper influence. Members should 
have regard to the seniority of employees in determining what 
reasonable requests are, having regard to the power relationship 
between Members and staff, and the potential vulnerability of staff, 
particularly at junior levels.   

 
(viii) That Members shall not use their position or relationship with staff to 

advance their personal interests or those of others or to influence 
decisions improperly;  

 
(ix) That Members shall at all times comply with the Member Code of 

Conduct.  
 

19. Practical implications of some of the principles set out above are shown 
below: 

 
(i) Members and staff should be courteous to each other at all times 

even if they disagree with their respective views.  Members and staff 
should not shout or raise their voice in an aggressive or rude manner 
and should not undermine respect for each other at Council 
meetings or in any other forum in which they participate in their role 
as a Member or member of Council staff, including social media. 
 

(ii) In public forums, staff will not use Councillors’ first names; staff will 
be introduced to the meeting in the first instance with reference to 
their job title. 

 
 

Page 455



(iii) Members shall not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability 
of an individual member of staff or staff collectively in meetings held 
in public.  While it is legitimate for members to express well-founded 
concern constructively about the way a service is run or a policy is 
implemented by staff, a personal attack by a Member on a member 
of staff or on staff generally at a formal or informal Member meeting 
will never be acceptable, nor will a personal attack by a member of 
staff on a Member.  This would be damaging both to effective 
working relationships and to public respect for the Council.  In 
general, staff are unable to defend themselves against criticism in a 
public forum.  Attacking the conduct of a staff member in public can 
constitute bullying, as can undue pressure brought by either staff or 
Members in private.  Chairs of meetings have a particular 
responsibility to ensure that personal attacks are not made by any 
attendee during public meetings. 

 
(iv) Members and staff should respect each other’s non-working time.  

Emails may be sent outside normal working hours but responses 
should not be expected at such times, and phone calls should not be 
made.  While many staff members are willing to be contacted by 
Members outside normal working hours (and vice versa), this step 
should only be taken in cases of genuine importance or urgency or by 
prior arrangement. 

 
(v) Staff have a duty to provide information, advice and recommendations 

to Members.  Such information etc can be provided both formally and 
informally but should be given formally and in writing where significant 
or potentially controversial issues are at stake. 

 
(vi) Staff must therefore be able to report to Members as they see fit and 

without any political pressure. 
 
(vii) More detail about the basis on which decisions must be taken appear 

in the Access to Information Procedure Rules and the Protocol on 
Decision Making. 

 
RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
20. Relationships with a particular individual or party groups should not be such 

as to create public suspicion that a member of staff favours that Member or 
group above others.  Members of staff may be a member of a political party 
but may not have an active political role or stand for elected office if they are 
in a politically restricted post. 

 
21. Members and staff should immediately (no later than three working days from 

when the relationship is identified) inform the Monitoring Officer of any 
relationship which might be seen as unduly influencing their work in their 
respective roles.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain a record of such 
declarations. 
 

Page 456



22. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety.  Members and staff should always 
be open about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any 
appearance of improper conduct.  Where a personal relationship has been 
disclosed, those concerned should avoid a situation where a conflict of 
interests could be perceived.  For example, a Member should not sit on a 
body or participate in any decision which directly affects the staff member on 
a personal basis. 

 
23. The Officer Code of Conduct provides more detail on expected standards in 

concerning working relationships between staff and Members.  Staff should 
refer to the Officer Code of Conduct and/or seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer if in any doubt.  Staff are also required to undertake e-learning on the 
Officer Code of Conduct annually. 

 
BRIEFINGS 

 
24. In order for the Mayor, Cabinet members and Committee Chairs and/or Vice 

Chairs to discharge their responsibilities, those Members will be briefed from 
time to time by Directors on service issues, proposals and policy 
development.  Directors may, from time to time, nominate other staff members 
to attend these meetings.  These informal meetings may be on a one-off or 
regular basis, in accordance with the requirements of the Members and roles 
concerned. 
 

25. Political groups which are not represented on the Executive may also have 
nominated leads for particular portfolios and if those leads so request, the 
relevant Director(s) will make themselves available to brief them on service 
issues relating to Committee papers once the agenda has been published. 
 

26. The Mayor or Leader of any other group represented on the Council, may 
request the Chief Executive or relevant Corporate Director to prepare reports 
on matters relating to the Council for consideration by the group.  Such 
requests must be reasonable and should not seek confidential information (eg 
relating to casework or personal details of applicants for services). 
 

27. If the Corporate Director considers that the cost of providing the information 
requested for a group is unreasonable, or if the request is unreasonable in 
other respects, the request will be referred to the Chief Executive for 
determination, where necessary in consultation with the Mayor or Leader of 
the relevant group. 
 

28. The Mayor or Leader of any other group may ask the Chief Executive or 
Corporate Director to give or arrange a private and confidential briefing for the 
group.  Senior staff members may be properly called upon to support and 
contribute to such deliberations by groups but must at all times maintain 
political neutrality.  Staff requested to give such a briefing should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer before doing so. 
 

29. Any briefing offered to or requested by a group will be offered (and described 
in broad terms) to any other group(s).  Where possible, such briefings should 

Page 457



be to all or a combination of groups.  The detailed content of informal briefing 
sessions shall remain confidential between staff and the group concerned.  

 
30. Staff advice and reports to groups will be limited to a statement of material 

facts relating to matters of Council business and identification of options and 
the merits and demerits of such options for the Council.  Reports will not 
address any political implications and advice should not include making 
recommendations to a group.  The observance of this distinction will be 
assisted if staff are not present at meetings or parts of meetings where 
matters of party business are to be discussed. 
 

31. When staff provide information and advice to a group meeting in relation to a 
matter of Council business, this cannot act as a substitute for providing all 
necessary information and advice to the relevant Council, Cabinet or 
Committee meeting when the matter in question is considered. 
 

32. Special care needs to be exercised whenever staff are involved in providing 
information to a group meeting which includes persons who are not Members 
of the Council.  Such individuals are not bound by the Member Code of 
Conduct (and in particular the provisions relating to declaration of interests 
and confidentiality) and for this and other reasons staff may decline to attend 
and/or give advice to such meetings. 

 
IF THINGS GO WRONG  

 
33. From time to time the relationship between Members and staff may break 

down or become strained.  It shall always be preferable to resolve matters 
informally. 

 
34. Procedure for Members  
 

(i) In the event that a Member is dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour 
or performance of a member of staff, the Member should consult the 
Group Whip and then raise the matter with the appropriate Corporate 
Director. Where the matter concerns a Corporate Director, it should be 
raised with the Chief Executive. Where the matter concerns the Chief 
Executive it shall be raised with the Chief People Officer or with the 
Mayor as appropriate.  Where there is a prima facie case for a 
disciplinary investigation, this will be dealt with in accordance with the 
Council’s disciplinary procedures.  
 

(ii) If a Member is concerned about the way a service or part of it is 
performing as opposed to the conduct of a specific officer, and if the 
concerns cannot be resolved through discussion with the manager of 
the service, the Member should raise the matter with the Chief 
Executive and/or request that the Mayor and/or relevant Cabinet 
Member consider the matter.  The Member may also wish to consider 
referring the matter for consideration to the Scrutiny Chairs and/or to 
General Purposes and Audit Committee, as appropriate. 

 

Page 458



35. Procedure for staff  
 

(i) If a member of staff wishes to raise a concern about a Member’s 
behaviour they can either escalate it to their line manager, Corporate 
Director or to the Council’s Monitoring Officer, as appropriate to the 
circumstances.  Officers also may use the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Procedure. 
 

(ii) Having been notified of a concern in this way, the line manager, 
Corporate Director or Monitoring Officer will take appropriate action, 
including approaching the Member concerned and raising with the 
Group Leader and/or Whip or referring the matter to the Monitoring 
Officer where there is a potential breach of the Code of Conduct. 

 
(iii) Group Leaders and Whips should promote a positive atmosphere of 

trust, respect and understanding between Members and staff and must 
be prepared to deal with and seek to resolve any reported incidents of 
breaches of this Protocol by their Group Members.  In the event of 
receiving a report of this nature, a Group Leader and/or Whip will 
actively consider the matter and seek to achieve a satisfactory 
outcome, reporting that outcome to the member of staff who reported 
the issue.   

 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THIS PROTOCOL 

 
36. The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for this Protocol and will 

annually review how it is working.   
 
37. The Monitoring Officer will report annually to the Ethics Committee on matters 

relating to this Protocol. 
 
38. Where amendments/variation to this Protocol are necessary due to legislative 

changes, the Council Solicitor may make such consequential changes to this 
Protocol as are necessary to take such changes into account. 

 
GLOSSARY 

 

Chief Officer The Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and Directors 

Executive The Executive is made up of the Elected Mayor and between 
2 and 9 Councillors (also known as the Cabinet).  The 
Executive take strategic decisions on all of the Council’s 
functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Council.  The term ‘Executive’ may refer to the elected 
Mayor, to the Mayor and Cabinet acting together, individual 
Cabinet Members or officers taking decisions which have 
been delegated to them. 

Guardians The Council’s programme which provides staff a safe space 
to confidentially share concerns about behaviour or the 
culture at Croydon, talk through issues and be signposted to 

Page 459



relevant support and guidance by specially trained members 
of staff. 

Member Members of the Council include: 

 The elected Mayor 

 Elected Councillors 

 Non-voting, co-opted Members of Committees 
 

Monitoring 
Officer 

This officer has a specific role to ensure that the Council, its 
staff and Members maintain the highest standards of conduct 
in all they do.   

Political group Members may be part of a political group on the Council if 
they are a member of a political party.   
 
If they are not a member of a political party, they can still be 
a member of a political group (for example, a group of 
Independent members) if two or more members who wish to 
be part of that group sign a notice saying that they wish to be 
treated as a political group. 

Statutory Chief 
Officers 

The following roles are known as statutory Chief Officers 
because the Council is legally required to have these posts 
and the roles have specific responsibilities set out in 
legislation: 

 Chief Executive (or Head of Paid Service),  

 Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer),  

 Monitoring Officer,  

 Director of Adult Social Services (held by the Corporate 
Director Adult Social Care and Health) 

 Director of Children’s Social Services (held by the 
Corporate Director Children, Young People and 
Education) 

 Director of Public Health 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 460



May 2016 
MonitoringOfficer Protocol 

Part 5C / Page 1 of 2 
 
LEGAL\53560777v1 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
Part 5.C – Monitoring Officer Protocol 

 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer undertakes to discharge their duties in a manner that will 

support the Executive and the democratic responsibilities of Members. Their 
ability to discharge the duties in this way depends upon excellent working 
relations with Members, Corporate Directors and other senior officers to 
facilitate the flow of information and access to issues at an early stage. 

 
1.2 The following arrangements and understandings between the Monitoring 

Officer, the Executive, Members and the Chief Executive and Corporate 
Directors are designed to help ensure the effective discharge of the Monitoring 
Officer’s functions: 

 
a) The Monitoring Officer is entitled to attend the Corporate Management 

Team  meetings and will have advance notice of those meetings and be 
provided  with copies of all agendas and reports and, at all times, has 
access to, and is available to assist, all Members of the Council. 

 
b) Advance notice of meetings whether formal or informal between Chief 

Officers and members of the Executive or Committee Chairs will be given 
to the Monitoring Officer where any procedural, vires, legal or 
constitutional issue is likely to arise. 

 
c) Corporate Directors and their senior staff will alert the Monitoring Officer to 

all emerging issues of concern regarding legality, probity, vires and 
constitutional issues. 

 
d) The Council’s external contracted solicitors have standing instructions to 

inform the Monitoring Officer of any such issues that are identified in the 
course of their work for the Council. 

 
e) The Monitoring Officer will be consulted at the earliest possible stage 

where any possible change is proposed in Council policy or services. 
 

f) The Monitoring Officer will have access to all papers held by any officer or 
Department of the Council including all papers supplied by officers to 
Members. 

 
g) The Monitoring Officer will report to the Council from time to time on the 

Constitution and any necessary desirable changes following consultation 
with the Head of Paid Service and the Section 151 Officer. 

Page 461



May 2016 
MonitoringOfficer Protocol 

Part 5C / Page 2 of 2 
 
LEGAL\53560777v1 

h) The Monitoring Officer will develop good liaison and working 
arrangements with the Ombudsman including the giving and receiving of 
relevant information whether confidential or otherwise.  

 

i) The Monitoring Officer shall in their sole discretion and having regard 
to principles of administrative law consider applications for a grant of a 
dispensation from Members in accordance with the Code of Conduct in 
the following circumstances: 

 
i. That so many Members of the decision-making body have 

disclosable pecuniary interests (DPIs), other registrable 
interests (ORIs) or non-registrable interests (NRIs) in a 
matter that it would  impede the transaction of the business; 
or 

ii. That without the dispensation, the representation of different 
political groups on the body transacting the business would 
be so upset as to alter the outcome of any vote on the 
matter; or 

iii. That the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 
the Borough; or 

iv. That, without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would 
be able to participate in consideration of this matter; or 

v. That it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 
 

And may refer the dispensation request in relation to grounds (i) and (iv) 
above to the Ethics Committee to advise on or express a view should the 
Monitoring Officer consider it appropriate to do so. In respect of grounds (ii), 
(iii) and (v) above granting dispensations is a matter reserved to the Ethics 
Committee after consultation with the Independent Person. 

 

j) The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that all information provided to 
them will be processed lawfully in accordance with the Data Protection 
Legislation.  
 

1.3 To ensure the effective and efficient discharge of the arrangements set out 
herein, Members and officers will report any breaches of statutory duty or 
Council policies or procedures and other vires or constitutional concerns to the 
Monitoring Officer, as soon as practicable. 

 
1.4 The Monitoring Officer will have absolute right of access to all meetings and all 

papers and will have absolute right of access to Full Council.  
 
1.5 The Monitoring Officer is available for all Members, in whatever capacity they 

are acting, and officers to consult on any issues of the Council’s legal powers, 
possible maladministration, impropriety and probity issues, or general advice 
on the constitutional arrangements (e.g. Standing Orders, policy framework, 
terms of reference, scheme of delegations etc). 

 
1.6 To ensure the effective and efficient discharge of this Protocol, the Chief 

Financial Officer will ensure adequate insurance and indemnity arrangements 

Page 462



May 2016 
MonitoringOfficer Protocol 

Part 5C / Page 3 of 2 
 
LEGAL\53560777v1 

are in place for the same to protect and safeguard the interests of the Council 
and the proper discharge of the Monitoring Officer role. 

 
1.7 Where amendments/variation to this Protocol are necessary due to legislative 

changes, the Monitoring Officer may make such consequential changes to this 
Protocol as are necessary to take such changes into account. 

Page 463



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
PART 5H- Protocol for Participation in Meetings of the Traffic 
Management Advisory Committee  
 
This protocol applies to the Traffic Management Advisory Committee.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Regeneration (or such other 
Member as the Leader may from time to time determine) as Chair of the Committee 
shall exercise complete discretion as to the interpretation of this Protocol.  
 
1.1  One representative of each political group or ungrouped Member 

objecting to a scheme may be invited to address the Committee 
for not more than 2 minutes.  

 
1.2  Where more than one organisation or individual is objecting to a 

scheme they shall nominate one person to speak on behalf of all 
those groups. In the absence of agreement between the groups, 
the Chair shall invite a representative of the organisation having 
the largest membership or signatures on a petition to address the 
Committee.  

 
Speakers are urged to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start 
of the meeting to facilitate this process, and allow the order of 
speakers to be prepared. Please note that all public speaking at 
the meeting is at the discretion of the Chair. Speakers invited to 
address the Committee must do so on the basis that they live in 
that ward.  

 
1.3  The selection to speak in support of a scheme shall be made in 

accordance with the same principles set out in 1(a) and 1(b) 
above.  

 
Where more than one group are in support of a scheme they shall 
nominate one person to speak on behalf of all those groups 
objecting. In the absence of agreement between the groups, the 
Chair shall invite a representative of the group having the largest 
membership or signatures on a petition, to address the 
Committee.  

 
Speakers are urged to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start 
of the meeting to facilitate this process, and allow the order of 
speakers to be prepared. Please note that all public speaking at 
the meeting is at the discretion of the Chair. Speakers invited to 
address the Committee may do so on the basis that they live in 
that ward  

 

Page 465



1.4  One representative of the Members elected to represent the Ward 
shall be entitled to speak for up to 2 minutes in respect of a 
scheme proposed for any part of their Ward.  

 
1.5  The GLA Member and the MP for the constituency in respect of a 

scheme proposed for any part of their constituency shall each be 
entitled to speak for up to 2 minutes.  

 
1.6  Subject to the prior agreement of the Chair, a speaker 

representing an organisation recognised by the Council, e.g. the 
Public Transport Liaison Panel, may be given an opportunity to 
address the meeting.  

 
Procedure  
 
1.7  The procedure at Committee for each agenda item will be at the 

discretion of the Chair but will usually be as follows:  
 

 The Council Officers will give a brief introduction to the 
report;  

 

 An objector will then be invited to address the meeting for 
a maximum of 2 minutes; 

 

 A supporter will be invited to address the meeting for a 
maximum of 2 minutes.  

 

 Ward Members and Greater London Authority Members 
for the area under discussion will then be invited to 
address the meeting for a maximum of two minutes, with 
a limit of one objector and one supporter for each agenda 
item; 

 

 Members of the Committee will debate the item and make 
a recommendation to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport & Regeneration (or such other 
Cabinet Member as the Leader may from time to time 
determine) for consideration.  

 

 The Cabinet Member for Enviroment, Transport & 
Regeneration (or such other Cabinet Member as the 
Leader may from time to time determine) may then, in the 
Cabinet Members’ sole discretion, make the decision or 
recommend such other steps as the Cabinet Member 
considers appropriate, including requesting further 
information or a further report from officers for future 
consideration.  

 

 

Page 466



Variation/ amendment of this protocol 
 
1.8  Where amendments to this protocol are necessary due to 

legislative changes, the Council Solicitor may make such 
consequential changes to this Protocol as are necessary to take 
such changes into account. 

Page 467



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  1 | P a g e  

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

 
PART 5.J 

 
OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

    

Contents 
 

1 General Principles 

2 Who the code applies to 

3 Overview and Reporting 

4 Political neutrality 

5 Council policies and legal requirements 

6 Health & Safety  

7 Standards of behaviour 

8 Standards of appearance 

9 Declarations of Interest 

10 Tendering / dealing with contractors 

11 Gifts, hospitality and legacies 

12 Membership of other bodies 

13 Reporting of Criminal Offences 

14 Protecting children and vulnerable adults 

15 Using council resources and assets 

16 Misusing your position 

17 Confidentiality and data protection 

18 Relationships with other people 

19 Use of social media 

20 Contacting and responding to the media 

21 Your personal affairs  

22 Alcohol and drugs 

23 The role of the monitoring officer  

24 Where to get help and further information 

Appendix A The Seven Principles of Public Life 

Appendix B Standards of behaviour at work 

Appendix C Standards of appearance at work 

 
1.  General Principles  

 
Croydon Council provides services that have an impact on the lives of those working and 
living in the borough and handles millions of pounds of public money every year. Our 
dedicated workforce is our greatest strength and the public trusts us to work for it in a 
professional, fair, inclusive and honest way. 
 
So it is important that you are clear about what the Council expects from you in terms of how 
you carry out your work, behave, respect and treat your colleagues and members of the 
public. The code of conduct sets out these expectations and together with our values it 
reflects our culture and the sort of organisation that we want to be.  
 

Page 469



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  2 | P a g e  

 

These values are:-  
 
One team: Crossing boundaries to work together towards shared goals with colleagues, 
partners and communities.  
 
Proud to serve: Striving to always do our best for the community. Getting the most from 
limited resources and using taxpayer’s money wisely. 
 
Honest and open:-Working hard to build trust by treating everyone with honesty and 
integrity. 
 
Taking responsibility: - Encouraging and supporting each other to take responsibility and 
show what we can do, learning together and recognising all of our contributions. 
 
Valuing Diversity: - We make the most of the many perspectives that make Croydon 
distinctive. 
 
It is important that you read, understand and follow the code and doing so will ensure that 
we are all working to the standards that the public expects and will help make the Council a 
good place to work. 
 
If you are at all uncertain, you should be guided by the key principle that even if your actions, 
decisions or behaviour are proper, you need to ensure that you are above suspicion and 
there is no appearance or perception of improper conduct. 
 
Everyone who works at Croydon Council has a responsibility to our residents and those who 
use our services. That is why it is so important we ensure that we are "doing the right thing" 
and adhering to the high standards of governance at the Council. We are accountable to the 
people who use our services and live within the borough, and so it is vital that we conduct 
our business with honesty, transparency and accountability.  
 
There are other codes that are important for you to understand and which you should read 
alongside this one. These include (for example), the council’s financial regulations, 
schemes of delegation, expenses policy, anti-bribery and whistleblowing policies.  You can 
find details of these documents and other essential regulations  here: 
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/how-we-do-
things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview 
 
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, 
including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold the 
Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles (Appendix A).    
 
You can also find lots of other useful guidance in the policies listed at the end of the code or 
on the ‘Good Governance - doing the right thing’ section of the Intranet. This covers 
information on your authority to act as an officer of the Council, how the Council governs, 
how its processes work and the standards you have to consider and adhere to as an 
employee. 

 
E-learning is available and all employees should undertake this. You can find this learning 
on the Croydon Learning website. 
 
 

Page 470

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/learning-and-organisational-development/croydon-learning


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  3 | P a g e  

 

2.  Who the code of conduct applies to  
 
The code of conduct applies to everyone who is employed directly or works for or on behalf 
of the London Borough of Croydon. This includes all those employed directly on a 
permanent, temporary or casual basis and those employed indirectly, including agency staff 
and consultants.  The code also applies to those who are external secondees and office 
holders.  All officers must follow this code.  Breaches of the code may be treated as a 
disciplinary offence and may lead to disciplinary action which could result in dismissal. In 
some cases a breach of the code may result in criminal prosecution. It should be noted that 
in the event of pending criminal prosecutions the council reserves the right to investigate 
and conclude any employment related disciplinary proceedings. 
 
3. Overview and Reporting 
 
The Council expects that you: 
  

 Act in a way which means that residents have confidence in your honesty and 
integrity. 

 Respect your colleagues and the public. 

 Treat other people professionally and do not discriminate against them. 

 Deliver the best possible and efficient service to customers in accordance with the 
Council’s standards and policies at the time.  

 
This includes: 

 How you behave (or are perceived to behave) both inside and outside of work. 
 How you use public money and other resources. 
 Acting with honesty, impartiality and objectivity. 
 Working with the Council’s suppliers and contractors in an honest and open way 

where there is no perception of improper conduct including corruption 
 Not allowing personal interests to affect your work. 
 Ensuring that you, your family or your friends, must not gain financial or other benefits 

from the decisions or actions you take whilst working for the Council. 
  Always declaring any interests you have outside work that relate to your work for the 

Council.  You must always think how your actions would look to the residents of 
Croydon. 

 Telling us if you are charged, cautioned or convicted of a criminal offence, 
immediately such criminal charges occur. This may mean you are unsuitable to work 
for the Council, even if the offence is not connected to your work and could lead to 
the termination of your employment.  

 
If you are at all uncertain, you should be guided by the key principle that even if your actions, 
decisions or behaviour are proper, you need to ensure that you are above suspicion and 
there is no perception or appearance of improper conduct. 
 
If you are unsure what is expected, you should raise the matter with your manager, 
Corporate Director, the Chief People Officer, or the Head of Internal Audit.  
 
Reporting 
 
It is important to ensure we maintain the public’s trust in us and you must tell us about any: 
a) Personal interests which may affect your work or the decisions that you make. 

Page 471



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  4 | P a g e  

 

b) Actual or suspected theft, fraud, bribery or corruption by someone working for the 
Council, a supplier, councillor or a member of the public. 

c) Loss or improper disclosure of any Council data or information or breach of 
confidentiality. 

d) Discrimination, bullying, harassment or similar behaviour. 
e) Person misusing their position. 
f) Suspicions that a colleague is under the influence of drugs or alcohol at work. 
g) Suspicions or information that the conduct or behaviour of others is in any way 

inappropriate in relation to children and vulnerable adults.  
h) Suspected breaches of health and safety codes of practice and policies.  
 
We will take your concern, complaint or grievance seriously and handle it sensitively using 
the appropriate Council procedure.  
 
You should as soon as reasonably  possible raise any concern (where possible initially with 
your manager), but as a mimimum with the Corporate Director, Chief People Officer or Head 
of Internal Audit.  
 
To make it easier for you to raise your concerns the Council also has a procedure which 
allows you to raise your concern confidentially and, if necessary, outside your department. 
This is the Whistleblowing Policy and you can find this on the Intranet. 
 
4. Political neutrality 
 
As an officer you work for the Council as a whole and not just the majority group. You must 
not allow your personal political opinions to interfere with providing balanced professional 
advice. This must always be done in a politically neutral way and you must be prepared to 
explain your advice to all political groups. You should bear in mind that you may be called 
to account for your advice, for example to an overview and scrutiny committee.  
 
You should also refrain from making political comments in public or on social media.Failure 
to do so could compromise your neutrality and bring the council into disrepute as officers 
are supposed to not express political views which could result in disciplinary action, including 
dismissal. 
 
If you are asked by a Councillor to provide assistance on a matter that you feel is clearly 
political, or which does not have a clear link with the work of the Council, you should seek 
the advice of your Corporate Director or the Director of Legal Services (the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer).  
 
If you are asked to attend any meetings of any political group of the Council, you should 
consult your Corporate Director before accepting the invitation. 
 
Political activity 
 
You are not eligible to stand for office as a Councillor of the London Borough of Croydon, 
but you may stand for office in another Council providing you are not in a politically restricted 
post (see paragraph below). 

 
Politically restricted posts 
 

Page 472

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  5 | P a g e  

 

Some officers, normally those in more senior positions, are in posts where political activity 
is restricted through the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. This Act prevents them 
from taking part in certain political activities outside their work.  If this applies, you should 
have been informed in writing, and it may be included in your contract of employment.  You 
should, if this is the case, have been informed of the rules for claiming exemption.  If you 
are not sure about your position, you should contact your manager or Human Resources. 
Guidance on which posts can be classified as politically restricted can be found in the HR 
Handbook, Module 02, Chpt 8. 
 
The political activities which are restricted for these officers include: 

 

 standing as a Member of Parliament, or a Councillor in any local authority (other than a 
Parish Council) 

 holding office in a political party at any level, (except in limited roles concerned only with 
the internal membership of the party) 

 canvassing at elections 

 speaking in public or publishing any written or artistic work which appears to be intended 
to influence public support for a political party. 

 
You need to be aware of your position in terms of political activity.  If you are not sure whether 
an activity is subject to ‘political activity restrictions’, you should seek advice from your 
Corporate Director or Human Resources, who will consult the Director of Legal Services (the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer) if necessary. 
 
Violation of the statutory rules is a breach of contract and will render you liable for 
investigation under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure (HR Handbook, Module 11, and 
Chpt 2) which could include action be taken up to and including dismissal. 
 
 
5. Council policies and legal requirements 
As a Council officer, you must ensure you are familiar with the legal and/or statutory 
requirements of your job. You must work within this framework and in such a way as to 
comply with the Council’s policies and procedures at all times. 

 
All members of the local community, service users and officers have the right to be treated 
fairly and impartially.  As a Council officer you must comply with all Council policies relating 
to equalities and to the other requirements of the law 
 
 
6. Health and Safety  
 
The Council has a legal duty of care for the health, safety and welfare of its employees. In 
addition, all employees must take reasonable steps to protect their own health and safety 
and that of other people who may be affected by their actions, or omissions, at work. Some 
employees, particularly managers have specific responsibilities, and these are detailed in 
the Council’s corporate and specific departmental health and safety policies and procedures. 
The Council’s corporate health and safety policy and procedures are available on the 
Intranet (https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/health-and-safety/health-and-
safety-policies) 
 
The Council’s corporate health and safety policy and procedures and guidance documents 
provide advice on health and safety including accident reporting, fire safety policy, visual 

Page 473

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/health-and-safety/health-and-safety-policies
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/health-and-safety/health-and-safety-policies


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  6 | P a g e  

 

display screens and risk assessments, violence to staff and lone and night working. Some 
departments have their own codes of practice as which should be available from line 
management . If you are not sure what the safety procedures are or where to get protective 
clothing and equipment you must raise this with your manager.  
 
You can also seek further advice and guidance from The Health & Safety team, Human 
Resources, or your trade union safety representative.  
 
You have a duty to help prevent accidents and injuries at work by being aware of the policies 
that apply to your work and complying with them at all times:  
 
You must: 
 

 comply with all instructions relating to health and safety and security procedures  

 use the protective clothing and equipment that the Council supplies to you 

 follow the health and safety codes of practice and policies which are relevant to your 
work 

 comply with hygiene requirements  

 at the earliest opportunity, report any hazards, defects, accidents or incidents that you 
become aware of to your manager or supervisor  

 not interfere with, or misuse anything provided for health, safety or welfare  

 avoid risk of injury or danger to yourself or others  

 leave any Council building as soon as the fire alarm sounds and follow any instructions 
of the fire wardens and the person managing the incident  

 inform the Council of any other work that you do which, when added to your Council 
working hours, would take your total working hours above 48 hours per week 

 inform the Council of any medical condition you have which would be adversely affected 
by the work that you are employed to do  

 not smoke in any Council premises or vehicles and comply with the Council’s Smoking 
Policy.   

 
Managers have some additional responsibilities set out in the corporate and departmental 
health and safety policies and codes of practice.  
 
These include:  
 

 providing appropriate health and safety induction for all new employees 

 carrying out a risk assessment for the activities undertaken by employees and ensuring 
that the risk assessment outcomes are implemented as appropriate and are suitable and 
sufficient  

 informing employees of the risks associated with the work being undertaken and of the 
precautions that must be taken in order to prevent or reduce the risk of accidents and/or 
work-related ill health.  

 
 
7. Standards of behaviour 
We have standards of behaviour which we expect from you. They make the Council a good 
place to work and ensure that colleagues and customers feel welcomed and valued. This 
includes complying with the Council’s commitment to equality. 
 
We expect all officers who work for, or on behalf of, the council to commit to the following:    

Page 474



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  7 | P a g e  

 

 

 not to bully any person 

 not to harass any person 

 to promote equalities and not discriminate unlawfully against any person    
 

People working for the Council and our customers are entitled: 
 

 To be treated with dignity, respect, courtesy and fairness. 

 Not to be bullied, harassed or victimised. 

 Not to experience any form of unlawful discrimination.  
 

We will not tolerate unfair, offensive or unlawful discriminatory behaviour carried out by, or 
against, any member of staff. It can be regarded as a serious disciplinary offence, which 
may result in disciplinary action, which could lead to dismissal. In certain circumstances, it 
could also lead to criminal proceedings.  
 
Discriminatory, unacceptable or offensive behaviour can take many different forms. 
Remember that your colleagues and our residents may have different standards from you 
and may be offended or feel harassed by behaviour that you think is acceptable. To help us 
all understand this, we have produced a more detailed guide, with practical examples (see 
Appendix B). 
 
If you feel that you have been subject to this sort of behaviour you should first of all discuss 
this with the other person and your manager and try and resolve it informally. If this is not 
possible or appropriate, or you are unsatisfied with the response, you should use the 
Council’s employee grievance procedure.   
 
If you experience such behaviour from someone not employed by the Council e.g. a service 
user, resident or member of the public, you should notify your manager immediately so that 
the incident can be recorded and appropriate action taken.  In line with the council’s equality 
statement; the council does not tolerate harassment, victimisation or unlawful discrimination 
in service delivery and employment on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
race/ethnicity, religion or belief, sex/gender, sexual orientation, marriage & civil partnership, 
and pregnancy & maternity 
 
 
8. Standards of appearance 
 
How you look and dress at work has an impact on how people view the Council. We 
recognise that: 
 

 Different types of dress (e.g. protective clothing) are needed or appropriate for different 
types of work. 

 Our employees come from a large range of backgrounds, cultures and ages with 
different styles of dress. 

 Sometimes more casual clothing may be appropriate (e.g. for youth workers or on off-
site training courses or approved ‘dress down’ days). 

 
The Council has set out acceptable standards of dress (see Appendix C).  
 
 

Page 475



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  8 | P a g e  

 

9. Declarations of Interest 
 
There may be occasions when there is scope for conflict between the Council’s interests 
and your own. 
 
It is very important that you do not let your personal interests influence the work that you do 
or the decisions that you make for the Council – or put yourself in a position that might lead 
a person to accuse you of doing so.  You must not allow your private interests or beliefs to 
conflict with your professional duty. 
 
Where a matter affects your financial or personal interests or well-being so that a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your view of the 
wider public interest, you must disclose the interest. 
 
You must not misuse your official position or information acquired in the course of your 
employment to further your private and personal interests, or the interests of others. Private 
and personal interests include those of your family, as well as those arising through 
membership of, or association with clubs, societies or other organisations and voluntary 
bodies. It is important for conflicts of interests to be clearly seen with no perceptions of bias 
or favouritism.  
 
You must tell us about any financial and non-financial interests that could bring you into 
conflict with the Council’s interests. These include any personal interests that could 
potentially influence your work, even if these seem very small and insignificant. Examples 
of situations that you must tell us about are set out below; but these should not be viewed 
as the only circumstances in which you must declare a conflict of interest.  
 

 If you own land and/or a property in the borough where you receive rent from someone 
on housing benefit or otherwise are or become a landlord within the borough. 
 

 If you have links of any sort (including, but not limited to, as a director, company 
secretary, trustee, partner, shareholder, owner contractor or employee) with an outside 
organisation which may work for the Council or supply goods and services to it (or are 
tendering or preparing to do so), or which may receive or apply for grants or other benefits 
from the Council, (if you are involved in the grant allocation process or where this could 
create a conflict of interest). 
 

 You or anyone in your household or a close relative (parents/siblings/children) submit a 
planning or licensing application in the borough. 
 

 Live near a property where a planning or licensing application has been submitted. 
 

 Receive any services or grants from the Council (except the services that all residents 
are entitled to like refuse collection or schools). 
 

 Are related or have a close relationship with anyone who: 
 Works at the Council  
 Does work for the Council or supplies goods and services to it 
 Is an elected member 
 Is a client of the Council 
 Is submitting a tender for work for the Council 

Page 476



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  9 | P a g e  

 

 

 Are a member of a group or voluntary organisation which gets funding or a grant from 
the Council; 

 

 Do work for another organisation in the borough (such as being a school governor or 
on the board of an NHS organisation) or are nominated/appointed to a position on 
behalf of the council in another organisation in the borough    
 

 A member of your family or friends are applying for employment with the Council 
 
A conflict of interest may also arise when you have a direct interest in the outcome of a 
Council decision.  If this is the case then in order to protect yourself from any appearance of 
improper conduct you should inform your manager immediately that you are aware of 
the situation. 
 
If you have any of these interests you must register it by completing a formal 
declaration of interest, which must be reviewed and signed off by your line manager 
and director. Once completed this should be submitted to governance@croydon.gov.uk. 
You should also seek advice via the governance team on ext 65575 if you are not sure if 
you need to declare an interest, or if you’ve declared interest(s) changes. 
 
If you are involved with a company or organisation tendering for a Council contract you must 
inform your Director by completing a formal declaration. It may be a criminal offence if you 
do not. 
 
Officers in Tiers 1 – 3 (Head of Service and above) are required to complete an annual 
declaration of interest. However, should a conflict arise at any time you must report 
it to your manager immediately and declare it in writing as above and not wait until 
the annual declaration.    
 
Line managers should contact the governance team (governance@croydon.gov.uk 
or ext 65575) for guidance if a member of staff notifies them of a potential conflict of 
interest. 
 
See Declarations of Interest Guidance on the intranet for more information 
 
10. Tendering / dealing with contractors 
 
Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit by fair competition against other tenders 
and in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders (www.croydon.gov.uk/constitution), 
Financial Regulations and Procedures and Tenders and Contracts Regulations.  You must 
not show favouritism to any contractor.  You must also make sure that no special favour is 
shown to current or recent former employers, officers or their partners, close relatives or 
associates in awarding contracts. 
 
If you are involved in the tendering process and deal with contractors, you must be clear 
about the need for the separation of client and contractor roles. You must also make sure 
that if you are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either internal or 
external contractors, you do not disclose such information to any unauthorised party or 
organisation. 
 

Page 477

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
mailto:governance@croydon.gov.uk
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
mailto:governance@croydon.gov.uk
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/constitution


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  10 | P a g e  

 

If, as part of your job, you are involved with or supervise contractors, and you have any kind 
of personal or other relationship with a contractor or potential contractor, the law states that 
you must disclose this relationship to the Council as your employer.  Any such relationships 
should be disclosed to your manager by submitting a declaration of interest. 
 
 
11.  Gifts, hospitality and legacies 
 
Gifts 
 
From time to time, you may be offered gifts or hospitality by a customer, client or service 
user. We have clear rules on this so that you are not open to allegations of bribery, or placed 
in a difficult position.  
 
Generally gifts and offers of hospitality should be politely refused. Sometimes, exceptions 
may be made for very small items such as pens or diaries. These principles also apply to 
your personal life, if the offer is made to you in connection with you being an employee of 
the Council.  
 
You must avoid putting yourself in a position where you can be thought to be acting 
improperly and must not ask for any gift or tip  
 
If you are offered a gift, you must report it to your manager (whether the gift is accepted or 
declined), so that the gift can be recorded in the departmental hospitality register 
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/accepting-
gifts-and-hospitality.  
 
Gifts that are not acceptable must be declined or returned. 
 
Hospitality 
 
When considering offers of hospitality you should consider whether: 

 

 the invitation comes from an organisation likely to benefit from the Council 

 the organisation is seeking a contract with the Council, or already has a contract with the 
Council 

 the hospitality is part of a conference, seminar etc. or is more of a social function 

 the scale and location of the hospitality is proportionate to the event 

 the event takes place outside normal working hours 

 it is being offered on a frequent basis 

 it is being offered just to you or to others as well. 
 
You should not accept any offers of entertainment (such as tickets to sports events or the 
theatre, or hotel accommodation) without the Chief Executive’s permission and you should 
actively seek to avoid getting into a position where such offers are made to you. 
 
If you are offered any hospitality, entertainment or favours you must report it to your manager 
and  record it in your department’s Gifts & Hospitality register, whether it is accepted or not.   
You may accept reasonable hospitality, such as tea, coffee and light refreshments when you 
are for example visiting another organisation, or a resident’s home or are on a training 
course.  

Page 478

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/accepting-gifts-and-hospitality
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/accepting-gifts-and-hospitality


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  11 | P a g e  

 

Some employees will be required to make an annual declaration of interest. These groups 
of staff are listed on the intranet: https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-

croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest.  The governance team will normally 
contact these staff on an annual basis.  Please note that this instance of declaration of 
interest is in addition to, and not instead of, your duty to report any individual matter 
immediately. 
 
If you are in any doubt please see the Council’s gifts and hospitality policy on the intranet or 
take advice from your Head of Service, or governance@croydon.gov.uk.   
 
Legacies 
 
On occasions, members of the public or service users may wish to express their appreciation 
of the services they have received from a particular member of staff by leaving them 
money/gifts in their will. This is likely to be more common where employees work closely 
with and / or care for vulnerable people as a part of their duties. 
 
If a client or member of the public suggests to you that they are considering giving or leaving 
you money or gifts, you must firmly but politely discourage them from doing so. You should 
explain the difficulty that this may cause you and that people you meet through your work 
do not leave you things in their will. You must also report the matter to your manager, who 
should contact the governance team for guidance: governance@croydon.gov.uk or ext 
65575. 
 
In the event that any gifts or monies are left to you in a will, you must declare the fact to your 
Head of Service immediately. Under no circumstances must you accept the bequest.  
Failure to comply with these rules is likely to lead to disciplinary action including the 
possibility of dismissal. 
 
 
12. Membership of other bodies 
 
Your membership of an outside organisation (including societies, professional bodies, 
voluntary groups or lobbying organisations) may be perceived as affecting the work you do 
or the decisions that you make. You must make sure that your outside interests do not: 

 Conflict with your Council role. 

 Put you in a position which might influence decisions you take at work. 

 Put you in a position where you might promote the outside body’s interests whilst at 
work. 

 Conflict with the Council’s policy and approach on equalities and diversity. 
 If you are in doubt regarding your membership of an outside organisation, you should discuss 

with your line manager in the first instance, to find out if  you should register your membership 
by completing a formal declaration of interest. 

 
In particular you must tell us if you belong to: 

 A ‘secret’ society.  
 A group which may be considered discriminatory. 
 A group which has a contract or potential contract with the Council. 
 A group which receives funding or support from the Council. 

 

Page 479

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/accepting-gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:governance@croydon.gov.uk
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  12 | P a g e  

 

We define a ‘secret’ society as one that is not open to members of the public unless they 
join it and requires its members to make some sort of commitment to the society, such as 
an oath of allegiance. 
 
 
13. Reporting of Criminal Offences 
 
As an employee of the Council, you are expected to conduct yourself at all times (inside and 
outside of work) in a manner that will maintain public confidence in both your personal 
integrity and in the good reputation of the Council.  
 
In general, what you do outside of work is your personal concern unless your actions would 
affect your suitability to carry out your post or cause a breakdown in the Council’s 
employment relationship with you and/or damage the image and reputation of the Council.  
 
You must inform your manager as soon as possible if you are arrested (even if no action is 
taken against you) or you are subsequently cautioned or convicted in connection with any 
offence. This does not include minor driving offences such as fixed-penalty notices for 
speeding unless: 

 driving is a key requirement of your job, for example, you drive a Council vehicle or you 
drive your own vehicle regularly on Council business  

 the conviction results in disqualification from driving 
 
Disclosing that you have been arrested, cautioned or convicted of a criminal offence does 
not necessarily mean that disciplinary action will be taken against you. Consideration will be 
given to the extent to which your conduct: 

 affects your suitability to carry out your job   

 impacts on work colleagues, customers, contractors/partners with whom the Council 
works   

 impacts on the Council’s valued image and reputation and 

 undermines the trust and confidence that the Council must have in you as one of its 
employees. 

 
Failing to disclose such information, even where no charges are brought against you, may 
also lead to disciplinary action under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. 
 
 
14. Protecting children and vulnerable adults  
 
We are committed to safeguarding the interests of children and vulnerable adults and expect 
all staff to protect the interests and welfare of children, young people and adults at risk.  
 
Even if your job does not involve you working directly with these groups, we expect you to 
report suspected acts of abuse or inappropriate behaviour against children or vulnerable 
adults.  
 
 

15. Using Council resources and assets 
 
Council resources and assets include not only physical objects and financial resources but 
also computer data and information generally. We must ensure that we use these and all 
public funds in a responsible and lawful manner, ensuring value for money.  

Page 480



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  13 | P a g e  

 

You must only spend Council budgets or approve expenditure in line with the Council’s 
Financial Regulations and Procedures, Contracts Handbook and Tenders and Contracts 
Regulations. You must only make decisions or approve expenditure if you have the authority 
to do so and in accordance with the Council’s Schemes of Authorisation. You can find all of 
these in the ‘Governance - the Right Thing’ section of the intranet.  
 
Anything that you write or produce at work (including research, reports, drawings and 
software) is the Council’s intellectual property and should not be passed on to third parties. 
Similar principles apply to the copyright of Council publications. In the event of leaving the 
Council’s employment you should not take the Council’s intellectual property with you to a 
supplier/contractor organisation.  
 
You must not use Council facilities or equipment including buildings, vehicles, and tools, for 
your personal or outside interests.     
 
You must not take anything that belongs to the Council, including surplus equipment, 
material or food unless properly authorised in advance. 
 
Take care to avoid waste, loss or damage to Council property. 
 
See also the Council’s e-mail and computer usage policies  
 
 
16. Misusing your position 
 
The public place a high degree of trust in the Council and the people who work for it and it 
is very important that you do not misuse this trust or your position 
 
Under the Bribery Act 2010 it is an offence to request, agree to receive, or accept a financial 
or other advantage intending that a relevant function or activity should be performed 
improperly as a result. 
 
 For example, you must not: 

 Use your position to give anyone an advantage or disadvantage. 

 Accept or give a financial or other type of bribe or inducement 

 Favour friends, family or current or past colleagues when making a job appointment or 
awarding a contract – this must be done on merit. In terms of recruitment processes if a 
member of your family, a friend,  applies for employment with the Council you should 
declare the conflict of irenrets and not take any part in the recruitment process at all 

 Try to influence councillors or MPs (including regarding job appointments). 

 Deal with, or make a decision on, any application from someone you are personally 
associated with (for example a planning application or council tax benefit claim). 

 
 
17. Confidentiality and data protection 
 
The public trust us to keep their personal information safe and secure and not to use it unless 
we are authorised to do so. 
 

Page 481

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/lbc-policy-manager/acceptableuse.html


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  14 | P a g e  

 

The Council has a number of policies, procedures and processes that govern how it 
manages its information so that, as an organisation, it can comply with its legal, regulatory 
and operational requirements.  
 
You have a responsibility to ensure that the Council meets these legal obligations including 
complying with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) when processing personal data as part of your job. 
 
You must, therefore, make sure that you familiarise yourself with, understand and comply 
with the Council’s policies regarding data and information, including its Workforce Data 
Protection Policy and any procedures applicable to your specific role. This includes 
undertaking relevant mandatory Information Management training. You can find the 
Council’s policies on data protection on the intranet. 
 

As well as understanding the points below, you should also make sure that you are aware 
of the six principles of the Data Protection Act 2018, which imposes a legal duty on 
individuals to process data to ensure the rights of the Data Subject are not infringed.  
Individuals who have access to personal data should at all times be aware of these and the 
lawful basis for using the data under their control.  In particular:  
 To access only data covered by the Workforce Data Protection Policy if it is needed for 

the work they do and that they have authority to access, that information.  Data should 
only be used for the specific lawful purpose for which it was obtained;  

 To only disclose data individuals (whether inside or outside the Council) where this is 
authorised;  

 Not make any unnecessary copies of personal data;  
 To keep data secure (for example by complying with rules on access to premises, 

computer access, including password protection, and secure file storage and 
destruction); 

 Not to remove personal data, or devices containing or that can be used to access 
personal data, from the Council's premises without adopting appropriate security 
measures (such as encryption or password protection) to secure the data and the 
device; 

 Never store personal data on personal devices;  
 To use only your Council approved email account for email communications whilst 

working for the Council and not to send emails or transfer attachments using a personal 
email account; 

 Always, lock drawers and filing cabinets. Never leave personal or valuable data 
unattended; 

 Not to disclose personal data by discussing it where you can be overheard or processing 
data where it can be read easily by a third party; 

 To dispose of personal data securely when finished with it by shredding or use of 
confidential waste bins; 

 To report data breaches of which they become aware to the Information Management 
Team at data.breach@croydon.gov.uk immediately; 

 Understand the Rights of Data Subjects as to how their data can be accessed by them 
and the other rights that they have to control the use of their information; 

 To ask for help if you are unsure about data protection or if you notice any areas of data 
protection or security which can be improved upon from the information management 
team at information.management@croydon.gov.uk.  

 

Page 482

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-law-enforcement-processing/principles/#ib1
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
mailto:data.breach@croydon.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  15 | P a g e  

 

Further details about the Council's security procedures can be found in the information 
management policies on the intranet: https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/lbc-policy-
manager/accesscontrol2.html 
 
Failing to observe data protection requirements may amount to a disciplinary offence, which 
will be dealt with under the Council's disciplinary procedure.  
 
Significant negligent or deliberate breaches of Council policies, such as accessing employee 
or customer data without authorisation or a legitimate reason to do so, may constitute gross 
misconduct and could lead to dismissal without notice. 
 
It is a criminal offence to conceal or destroy personal data which is part of a subject access 
request. This conduct would also amount to gross misconduct which could result in your 
dismissal without notice. Likewise under Section 170 of the Data Protection Act 2018 it is an 
offence for a person to knowingly or recklessly obtain or disclose personal data of another 
person without the consent of the Council. Where this occurs, the Council will refer the 
incident to the Information Commissioner’s Office for investigation and possible prosecution. 

 
 

18. Relationships with other people 
 
We expect you to have a professional and co-operative relationship with other people when 
you are at work, including elected members, colleagues, residents, suppliers and 
organisations that we work with. 
 
There are some particular rules about how we work with different groups of people: 
 
Residents, clients and service users    

 You must always be courteous, efficient and impartial when dealing with individual 
people or groups. 

 You should avoid developing inappropriate personal relationships with residents, clients 
and service users, especially if they are considered vulnerable, even if this is with the 
best intentions. This could be giving them money or gifts, showing them preferential 
treatment, or having an intimate relationship. 

 
Elected members  
 
The relationship between Members and staff is important to the successful working of the 
Council and we expect you to follow the Protocol on Staff-Councillor Relations (which can 
be found on the external council website).  In addition: 
 

 You must declare any personal relationships with elected members via a declaration of 
interest. 

 You must provide balanced advice to members or political groups and not let your own 
political opinions affect this. 

 You should avoid over-familiarity with members so that your approach or political 
balance is not called into question. 

 You must not approach elected members about personal employment issues. 
 
You must also not let your personal political views affect your work, in how you provide 
services to residents, or your relationships with colleagues. 

Page 483

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/lbc-policy-manager/accesscontrol2.html
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/lbc-policy-manager/accesscontrol2.html
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s31850/Part%205B%20-%20Protocol%20on%20Staff%20Councillor%20Relations.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s31850/Part%205B%20-%20Protocol%20on%20Staff%20Councillor%20Relations.pdf
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  16 | P a g e  

 

Contractors and suppliers 

 You must declare via a declaration of interest form if you have a private or business 
relationship with any of our contractors or suppliers and complete a written declaration 
of interests.  

 You must declare in writing if you (or a family member, friend or business associate) are 
part of a company or organisation submitting a tender to the Council. 

 You must not disclose any information to any contractor or supplier unless authorised to 
do so.  

 You must notify your manager immediately if you are approached by a contractor or 
supplier seeking unauthorised information or preferential treatment. 
 

Colleagues 
Sometimes personal relationships develop in the workplace. You must make sure that they 
do not adversely affect the work that you do, the decisions that you make, or how you treat 
other colleagues. 

 You must tell your manager or the Monitoring Officer about any relationship with a 
colleague that may impact, or be perceived to have an impact on your work. 

 Relatives, spouses, partners, God Parents or close personal friends are not allowed to 
directly line manage each other or be involved in any employment issues or decisions 
about each other. If a relationship develops between a manager and a direct report this 
should be rasied with the manager’s manager and Monitoring Officer and alternative line 
management arrnagements need to be put in place. This includes recruitment decisions, 
managing performance and appraisal, job evaluation, restructuring, disciplinary and 
grievance issues, or authorising expenditure. 

 You must appoint people based on merit and not their relationship with you. 

 You must not canvass for a job on behalf of a friend or family member. 

 You may not sit on the interview panel for a family member or a personal friend.  

 If a candidate is known to you other than as a work colleague, you should inform the 
panel and seek advice on how to proceed. 

 
 
19. Use of social media 
 
The communications and social media tools that the Council provides are intended for 
Council business only, except for during your break periods where you may make limited 
personal use of sites like Facebook and Twitter and access personal emails. We monitor 
the Council’s internet and email facilities to check that they are being used properly. The 
Council reserves the right to access any information on its systems or networks at any time 
which is all the property of the council. 
 
Information that you publish on social media sites (whether at home or at work) can be seen 
to represent the Council or affect the Council’s reputation.  You should ensure that 
information you publish, or which is published through accounts you are responsible for, 
does not: 

 Publish confidential information. 

 Publish information that is Council property. 

 Say that you work for the Council in a way that is not true. 

 Publish the personal information of a third party without the necessary consent.  

 Make negative comments about the Council, colleagues, customers or anyone else 
linked to the Council. 

 Make offensive, defamatory or discriminatory remarks. 

Page 484

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  17 | P a g e  

 

 Display offensive photographs or images. 

 Express political views  

 Express view that are contrary to Council policy 

 Use social media to bully or harass colleagues (cyberbullying). 

 Publish images of colleagues without their permission. 

 Publish anything else that may adversely affect the Council’s reputation. 
 
 
20. Contacting and responding to the media  
 
The Council’s public image and reputation is affected by how it is presented in the media.  
The Council has a communications team whose responsibility is to manage the Council’s 
reputation with the media and make or publish official comments on behalf of the Council. 
 
Members of staff are not permitted to discuss Council issues with the media or provide them 
with information or documents without the permission of the Chief Executive or your 
Corporate Director or Director. This applies to electronic media, such as commenting on 
social networking sites or blogs, as well as press, radio and TV. 
 
Staff side leads from the trade unions are permitted to speak directly to the media only on 
the union’s behalf. 
 
You must also not publish information in your own right which is against the Council’s 
interests or defamatory of elected members, colleagues, people or organisations that we 
work with.    
 
All media enquiries must be referred immediately to the Council’s communications team. If 
you are aware of an issue which will cause media interest or are told that someone intends 
to contact the media about the Council or its services, you should immediately inform your 
manager and a member of the communications team.  
  
 
21. Your personal affairs  
 
Your personal affairs or financial circumstances may affect how you work or behave or have 
an impact on the Council.   
 
Financial Responsibilities 

 You must not do anything that defrauds the Council or deliberately stops it getting income 
that it is entitled to.  

 You must not fall into unmanaged debt to the Council. This would include but is not 
limited to, rent arrears, council tax arrears, parking fines, arrears arising from leaseholder 
arrangements with the Council, arrears in the repayment of employee loans. You must 
tell us and make arrangements to pay back the money you owe in a timely manner. 
Where any such arrears have been accrued prior to employment with the Council, and 
are still outstanding, employees should undertake to clear them within an agreed and 
reasonable period of time. 

 If you leave Council employment any outstanding payment arrears will be taken from 
your final salary. If your final pay is insufficient to cover the sums owed to the council, 
you will need to enter into a debt repayment plan with the Council for the repayment of 
all sums owed.  

Page 485



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  18 | P a g e  

 

 

 You should check your pay when you receive it and let your manager and the payroll 
team know about any problems or inaccuracies (including your personal information and 
tax code). 

 
Carrying out other work  
Should you wish to take on any kind of additional work, paid or unpaid, you must inform your 
director beforehand in writing. You must comply with the requirement to make a formal 
declaration of interests, as set out above. In general, you can do other work, in addition to 
your Council role as long as:  

 It does not conflict with your Council role. 

 It is not during your Council working time or when you are on sick leave. 

 It is not seen to be against the interests of the Council. 

 It does not affect your ability to do your Council job. 

 What you are doing does not damage the Council’s reputation, or reduce public 
confidence. 

 The total amount of work that you do does not exceed the hours set out in the Working 
Time Regulations. 

 It does not put you in a position where you are competing with the Council for work or 
contracts. 

 You do not use Council resources, material or information (for example IT equipment, 
photocopiers, postage, phone calls, e-mail). 

 You do not use your position with the Council for private gain. 

 You tell your other employer that you also work for the Council.   
 
If you do undertake work outside the Council, you must not use the Council’s facilities for 
that work. 
 
 
22.  Alcohol and drugs 
 
In order to provide the best possible services to and support the wellbeing of our staff the 
Council has a clear position on the use of alcohol and drugs: 

 If you use, or are in possession of illegal drugs at work, you will be subject to disciplinary 
action and reported to the police. 

 If you arrive for work smelling of alcohol or drugs we may take disciplinary action. 

 You may not consume alcohol at work (unless it has been approved for a work event). 

 If you use drugs, alcohol or other substances outside of work, this must not affect your 
ability to do your job or damage the Council’s reputation. 

 
For more information see the Council’s drug and alcohol policy on the intranet. It is your 
responsibility to report any suspicions about colleagues drug or alcohol use at work to your 
manager.   
 
 
23. The role of the Monitoring Officer 
 
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for making sure that Councillors and officers act with 
propriety and within the law. This person has a statutory responsibility to produce a report 
to full Council in the event of any possible illegality, maladministration or injustice coming to 

Page 486

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  19 | P a g e  

 

their attention.  The Monitoring Officer in the London Borough of Croydon is the Director of 
Legal Services. 

 
 

24 Where to get help and further information 
If you have any questions about this code of conduct, or advice about a particular situation 
you should first of all speak to your Head of Service. In some cases you need to speak or 
seek approval directly from your Director, Corporate Director or the Chief Executive.  
Further help and guidance can be found in the following documents on the Council’s intranet: 

 Customer Commitment  

 Alcohol and drugs policy (module 11, chp6 in HR handbook) 

 Employee Grievance Procedure (module 13, chp1 in HR handbook) 

 Protocol on Staff – Councillor Relations (on the external website) 
 
In the Governance - the right thing ” section of the intranet you will find the Council’s policies, 
procedures and guidance on: 

 Gifts and hospitality  

 Expenses (also module 05,chpt 6 in HR Handbook) 

 Whistleblowing (also module 13, chpt 2 in HR Handbook)  

 Declarations of interests 

 Nolan Principles 

 Anti-Bribery  

 Scheme of Delegation 

 Financial regulations  

 Purchasing, procurement, tendering and contracts. 

 Information management and data loss 

 Acceptable use of email and internet (also module 18, chpt 2 in HR Handbook) 
End 

  

Page 487

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s31850/Part%205B%20-%20Protocol%20on%20Staff%20Councillor%20Relations.pdf
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/accepting-gifts-and-hospitality
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance/being-employee/declarations-interest
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/governance-do-right-thing/how-we-do-things/governance-how-we-do-things-overview
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/resources/information-management/information-management-guidance-and-policy-documents
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/lbc-policy-manager/acceptableuse.html


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  20 | P a g e  

 

Appendix A: The Seven Principles of Public Life    
These principles (also known as the Nolan Principles) are:    
 
Selflessness    
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.    
Integrity    
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or   
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  They should 
not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, 
their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships.    
Objectivity    
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using   
the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.    
Accountability    
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and   
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.    
Openness    
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.   
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons 
for so doing.    
Honesty    
Holders of public office should be truthful.    
Leadership    
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should 
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor   
behaviour wherever it occurs.    
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 488



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  21 | P a g e  

 

Appendix B: Standards of behaviour at work 
 
We have standards of behaviour which we expect from you. These help make the Council 
a good place to work and ensure that colleagues and customers feel welcomed and valued. 
We also expect you to comply with the Council’s commitment to equality. 
 
The Equality Act 2010 imposes positive duties on local authorities to promote equality and 
to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment. Under the Act Croydon council may be 
liable for any discriminatory acts which you commit.  
 
Officers are expected to uphold Section 149 Equality Act 2010: 
 

(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  

 
People working for the Council and our customers are entitled: 

 To be treated with dignity, respect, courtesy and fairness. 

 Not to be bullied, harassed or victimised. 

 Not to experience any form of unlawful discrimination.  
 
By law they are protected from discrimination on grounds of: 
 Race 
 Sex 
 Disability 
 Religion or belief 
 Age 
 Sexual orientation 
 Gender reassignment 
 Pregnancy or maternity 
 Being married or in a civil partnership. 
 
These are called ‘protected characteristics’ and they are referred to in the more detailed 
guidance below.  
 
We will not tolerate unfair, offensive or unlawful discriminatory behaviour. It may be regarded 
as a serious disciplinary offence, which could lead to dismissal. 
 
Discriminatory, unacceptable or offensive behaviour can take many different forms.  
Remember that your colleagues or customers may have different standards to you and may 
be offended or feel harassed by behaviour that you think is acceptable.  
 
If you feel that you have been subjected to this sort of behaviour you should first of all discuss 
this with the other person or your manager and try and resolve it informally. If this is not 
possible or appropriate you should use the Council’s Grievance procedure.   
 
The next pages set out what we consider to be: 

 Discrimination 

Page 489



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  22 | P a g e  

 

 Bullying/harassment 

 Unacceptable or offensive behaviour    
All of these fall below the standards of behaviour that we expect.  
 
Discrimination 
 
Discrimination can take a number of different forms. 
 
Some of these are unlawful under the Equality Act 2010. Others may not be unlawful if the 
employer can demonstrate that they are objectively justified. This is a legal term where 
employers can prove there is a legitimate basis for treating an individual or group differently 
to others. The different forms of discrimination are: 

 Treating someone worse than someone else because of a protected characteristic (this 
is called direct discrimination).  

 Applying a practice or policy which disadvantages a person or people who share a 
particular protected characteristic (indirect discrimination).      

 Treating someone worse than someone else because you think they have a protected 
characteristic, whether they do or not (perception).  

 Treating someone worse than someone else because they are associated with a 
person who has a protected characteristic.  

 Treating someone unfavourably because of something arising as a result of their 
disability. This is called discrimination arising from disability.   

 Failing to make reasonable adjustments in the workplace so that a disabled person is 
not at a substantial disadvantage when carrying out their job. 

 Treating someone unfavourably because of absence due to pregnancy, pregnancy-
related sickness or maternity leave, or because they are undergoing gender 
reassignment. 

 Treating a person badly or victimising them because you think that they 
 Have complained about discrimination. 
 Are going to complain about discrimination. 
 Have helped someone else complain. 
 Have done anything to uphold their own or someone else’s equality law  
 rights.  

 
Bullying and harassment 
 
Bullying and harassment is any sort of unwanted behaviour that violates someone’s dignity 
or creates an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment.   

 
Bullying can take the form of physical, verbal, and non-verbal conduct but does not need to 
be related to protected characteristics. Bullying behaviour may be in person, by telephone 
or in writing, including emails, texts, or online communications such as social media. The 
standards of behaviour expected are the same, whether you are expressing yourself verbally 
or in writing. 
 
Examples of bullying include but are not limited to: 
 verbal abuse, such as shouting, swearing, threats, insults, sarcasm, ridiculing or 

demeaning others, inappropriate nicknames, or humiliating language, including gossip 
 Non-verbal behaviour and micro aggressions such as inappropropriate eye contact. 
 physical or psychological threats or actions towards an individual or their personal 

property 

Page 490



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  23 | P a g e  

 

 practical jokes 
 overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing someone from 

undertaking their role or following agreed policies and procedures 
 inappropriate comments about someone’s performance 
 abuse of authority or power, such as placing unreasonable expectations on someone in 

relation to their job, responsibilities, or hours of work, or coercing someone to meet such 
expectations 

 ostracising or excluding someone from meetings, communications, work events or 
socials 

 sending, distributing, or posting detrimental material about other people, including 
images, in any medium 

 smear campaigns. 
 
Preventing bullying behaviour from developing  
 
Ideally, a culture of honest and clear communication should be sought, with respect for the 
individual and for the confidentiality required when managing individual performance-related 
issues.  
 
You also need to be mindful that colleagues can come from a wide range of backgrounds 
and may have been part of workplaces where the culture and expected standards are very 
different from what is expected in the council; as a result, you may not be aware of the 
impact that your communication has on others.  
 
Early discussion about emerging issues is important to help avoid matters escalating and 
help establish more effective working relationships for the future. 
 
Harassment 
 
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 
alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at 
least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications 
and   contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear 
in any reasonable person.   
 
Like bullying, harassment can take the form of physical, verbal, and non-verbal conduct but 
does not need to be related to protected characteristics. Harassment may be in person, by 
telephone or in writing, including emails, texts, or online communications such as social 
media. It may manifest obviously, or be hidden, or insidious.  

 
Examples of harassment include but are not limited to: 
 sending unwelcome emails 
 unnecessarily repetitive, intrusive questioning 
 unwelcome physical contact such as touching or invading ‘personal space’ 
 haranguing 
 intimidation 
 inappropriate remarks or questioning such as comments about someone’s appearance, 

lewd comments, and offensive jokes 
 overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing someone from 

undertaking their role or following agreed policies and procedures 
 inappropriate comments about someone’s performance 

Page 491



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  24 | P a g e  

 

 placing unreasonable expectations on someone in relation to their job, responsibilities, 
or hours of work, or coercing someone to meet such expectations 

 sexual harassment. 
 
All forms of bullying and harassment are unacceptable and we will take firm action against 
them. 
 
Unacceptable or offensive behaviour 
There is no definitive explanation of what constitutes unacceptable or offensive behaviour.  
The impact of unwanted conduct as perceived by the victim is more important than the 
perception of the harasser and their intent. Whether it is reasonable for the victim to feel the 
way they do is also taken into account.   
 
Unacceptable or offensive behaviour can include:  

 

 Any unwanted, unwelcomed and unreciprocated behaviour which undermines 
someone’s dignity/feelings at work. 

 Behaviour which might unreasonably threaten someone’s job security or promotion 
prospects. 

 Behaviour which creates an intimidating working environment, such as: 
 Actions, jokes, mimicking, or suggestions which might create a stressful working 

environment. 
 The production, distribution, display or communication and discussion of material 

such as books, posters, magazines, newspaper articles, photographs, videos, 
computer generated imagery etc., which may give rise to offence. 

 People in authority using their position to bully, abuse or harass others. 

 People in authority assuming a threatening or intimidating management style. 
 
If someone finds any behaviour towards them at work has overtones which they find 
reasonably offensive they have the right to have it stopped. 
This behaviour can be from a work colleague, contractor, councillor or someone working 
with the Council. 
Unacceptable behaviour does not include legitimate actions taken: 

 By a manager to encourage a worker to perform their duties or manage their 
performance. 

 Within disciplinary or other formal procedures. 
 
The following examples are a guide to help you understand what behaviour could be 
unacceptable and deemed discriminatory or offensive, whether it is intentional or not.   
There will be other types of behaviour which could be unacceptable or offensive, but we 
hope that this is a useful guide to the most common types.  
 

Type Description Examples 

Sexual 
harassment 

Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
that person’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, 
hostile, degrading, 
humiliating or offensive 
environment for that person. 
This means any harassing 

Inappropriate gestures, leering, getting 
too close, unwanted physical contact, 
including touching, patting, pinching, 
brushing against another person’s body, 
indecent assault,    display of material with 
sexual overtones (even if not directed at 
the complainant), giving unwanted gifts, 
using suggestive language, making 

Page 492



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  25 | P a g e  

 

Type Description Examples 

conduct based on gender or 
sexuality. 
 

unwanted propositions, derogatory 
comments, ridiculing or name calling 
based upon sex, repeatedly asking for 
dates after being refused, banter of a 
sexual nature, telling sexually explicit 
jokes, using affectionate names, asking 
personal questions,  using innuendos, 
sending offensive emails, text messages 
and social media content (including social 
media activity in and outside work) 
 

Racial 
harassment 

Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
that person’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, 
hostile, degrading, 
humiliating or offensive 
environment for that person 
due to their race, colour or 
country of orgin.    
  

Inappropriate gestures, facial 
expressions, mimicking accents, 
derogatory comments, ridiculing or name 
calling based upon race, display of 
offensive material (even if not directed at 
the complainant),  threats or insults, racial 
abuse, telling racist jokes and banter, 
inappropriate nicknames, labels, assault, 
excluding from social functions or events, 
ostracising, sending offensive emails, text 
messages and social media content 
(including social media activity in and 
outside of work) 
 
 
 
 

Disability 
harassment 

Behaviour which is directed 
at any individual with a 
disability, or groups of 
disabled people, which has 
the purpose or effect of 
violating that person’s dignity 
or creating an intimidating, 
hostile, degrading, 
humiliating or offensive 
environment for that person 
due to their disability  
 

Inappropriate gestures, mimicking, 
derogatory comments based upon a 
disability or reasonable adjustments that 
are in place, ignoring wishes or feelings, 
ostracising, staring, laughing at a 
disability,   intrusive or inappropriate 
questioning, personal questions, telling 
jokes that are based upon a disability, 
patronising comments, inappropriate 
nicknames, excluding from social 
functions or events due to a disability, 
removing or preventing access to 
reasonable adjustments, sending 
offensive emails, text messages and 
social media content (including social 
media activity in and outside of work)  
 

Religious belief 
harassment  

Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
that person’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, 
hostile, degrading, 
humiliating or offensive 

Inappropriate gestures, mimicking, 
derogatory comments based upon religion 
or belief, making jokes or derogatory 
comments regarding religious dress (e.g. 
skull cap, turban, hijab), criticism of 
religious practices e.g. for taking time off 

Page 493



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  26 | P a g e  

 

Type Description Examples 

environment for that person 
due to their religion or belief  
 
 

to observe religious holidays, offensive 
name calling, assault,  excluding from 
social functions or events due to religion 
or belief, display of offensive material 
relating to religion or belief, sending 
offensive emails, text messages and 
social media content relating to religion or 
belief (including social media activity in 
and outside of work). 
 
 

 
Equality-related 
conflict 
 
 

 
The Council recognises that 
people have the right to 
observe different religions 
and beliefs and will make 
reasonable provisions to help 
employees practice their 
religion or belief e.g. through 
flexible working hours and 
providing a quiet area for 
prayer. 
Practicing a religion or belief 
at work in a way that may 
cause offence or treats 
people differently because of 
their protected characteristic 
is unacceptable and may 
also be unlawful.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
An employee shares a workstation with a 
gay man who openly discusses his 
relationship with another man. The 
employee tells the gay colleague that her 
religion regards such behaviour as sinful 
and contrary to the laws of her God. Such 
a comment may be discriminatory towards 
the gay man. 
Some individuals may be guided by their 
religion or culture not to shake hands as a 
greeting. To avoid causing offence 
individuals should ensure that they greet 
all people in the workplace in the same 
way, irrespective of their race, gender, 
age, religion, sexual orientation etc. 
 
A counsellor declines to provide a service 
to a same-sex couple on the grounds that 
such relationships are immoral according 
to his religion. Such behaviour conflicts 
with the Council’s statutory duty to 
eliminate discrimination and promote 
equality and is not acceptable. 
 

Age harassment Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
a person’s dignity or creating 
an intimidating, hostile, 
degrading, humiliating or 
offensive environment for 
that person due to their age  

Inappropriate gestures, mimicking, the 
display of material which is offensive in 
relation to age, excluding from social 
functions or events due to age, 
ostracising, making derogatory 
comments, ridiculing or name calling in 
relation to age, telling jokes and banter 
which are based on age,  
questioning ability based on age 
stereotypes, sending offensive emails, 
text messages and social media content 
relating to age (including social media 
activity in and outside work).  
 

Page 494



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  27 | P a g e  

 

Type Description Examples 

Sexual 
orientation 
harassment 

Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
a person’s dignity or creating 
an intimidating, hostile, 
degrading, humiliating or 
offensive environment for 
that person due to their 
sexual orientation or 
perceived sexual orientation 

Inappropriate gestures, mimicking, the 
display of material which is offensive in 
relation to sexual orientation, Homophobic 
abuse, threats, insults, ridiculing or name 
calling,  jokes  relating to sexual 
orientation, banter or derogatory 
comments in relation to sexual orientation, 
intrusive or inappropriate questioning, , , 
criticism or chiding on the grounds of 
belief (religious or other),ostracising, 
excluding from social events due to sexual 
orientation or perceived sexual 
orientation, sending offensive emails, text 
messages and social media content  
relating to sexual orientation (including 
social media activity in and outside work). 
 

Harassment 
related to gender 
identity or 
gender 
reassignment 
 

Behaviour which has the 
purpose or effect of violating 
a person’s dignity or creating 
an intimidating, hostile, 
degrading, humiliating or 
offensive environment for 
that person due to their 
gender identity or gender 
reassignment, to include non 
binary and gender neutral. 

Inappropriate gestures, mimicking, the 
display of material which is offensive in 
relation to gender identity or gender 
reassignment, ostracising, excluding from 
social functions or events due to gender 
identity or gender reassignment, making 
derogatory comments, ridiculing or name 
calling in relation to gender identity or 
gender reassignment, telling jokes and 
banter in relation to a person’s gender 
identity or gender reassignment,  sending 
offensive emails, text messages and 
social media content  relating to gender 
identity or gender reassignment (including 
social media activity in and outside work), 
deliberately or persistently ‘misgendering’ 
a trans person, deliberately or persistently 
‘deadnaming’ (calling someone by their 
birth name after they have changed their 
name), threats or insults.  
 

Bullying/Singling 
out  
 
 

Bullying often results from a 
misuse of management 
power, but it can also be the 
misuse of any form of 
individual power, such as 
physical strength, personality 
or age or collective power 
through strength of numbers. 
More than a strong or 
authoritarian management 
style, it is destructive rather 
than constructive, it is 
criticism of a person rather 

Ostracising/freezing out, withholding 
essential information, resources or 
training, setting impossible tasks or 
deadlines, over demanding requirements, 
needlessly changing priorities or 
objectives, unreasonable allocation of 
duties, deliberate wrongful attribution of 
blame, shouting, swearing, abuse, 
nicknames, malicious gossip, public 
reprimanding  or humiliation, belittling, 
sarcastic or patronising comments, 
persistent reminders of past failures, 
excessively tight supervision, 

Page 495



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  28 | P a g e  

 

Type Description Examples 

than their mistakes, it publicly 
humiliates rather than 
privately corrects them and it 
results in them feeling 
threatened or compromised.  
  

unnecessary phone calls to someone’s 
home, hitting or grabbing a person, 
pushing, jostling, practical jokes, initiation 
ceremonies, damaging or stealing 
property. 

Victimisation  Where a person is subjected 
to a detriment because 
he/she has brought 
proceedings, given evidence 
or information, or complained 
about the behaviour of 
someone who has been 
harassing, discriminating 
against, or in some other way 
intimidating them. 
 

A worker helps a colleague with a sexual 
harassment grievance against another 
worker. Because of this, their manager 
marks them down at their annual 
appraisal on the basis they are ‘not very 
loyal’.  

 
Taking action or making a grievance: 
If you are personally subject to behaviour which is against these standards: 

 Discuss it with the person concerned to try to resolve the issue informally and discuss 
the matter with your manager.  

 If you do not feel that this is possible or appropriate, or you are unsatisfied with the 
response you may raise a grievance through the Council’s employee grievance 
procedure (module13, chp1, HR Handbook) 

 
We will take your grievance seriously and investigate it. Disciplinary action may be taken if 
the allegation is proven.  
If you witness behaviour which is against these standards: 

 Firstly try to resolve the matter informally with the person concerned. 

 If you do not feel that this is possible or appropriate you should raise the matter with a 
senior manager such as your Head of Service or Director.   

 
Responsibilities 
The Council takes discriminatory, unacceptable or offensive behaviour extremely seriously. 
To ensure this, different people have different responsibilities: 
The Council will: 

 Review, revise, implement and monitor our policies and procedures.   
 
Elected members will: 

 Support the principles and practice of equality and diversity policies. 

 Ensure that Council services are available to all members of the community. 

 Treat all workers and customers with dignity and respect. 
 
The Chief Executive will: 

 Ensure the Council’s commitments are communicated effectively. 

 Require that senior management observes its responsibilities to ensure that behaviour 
towards staff does not involve any form of harassment or discrimination. 

 
Human Resources will: 

Page 496

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  29 | P a g e  

 

 Provide specialist advice and arrange training for managers and staff. 

 Set guidelines for implementing employment aspects of equalities and diversity policies. 
 
Senior managers will: 

 Communicate the Council’s commitment to equalities and diversity to all staff. 

 Ensure that they and their staff comply with the Council’s standards of behaviour. 

 Ensure that all managers apply policies and practices fairly and consistently. 

 Provide services that are available to all members of the community. 

 Take speedy and appropriate action to deal with unacceptable or offensive behaviour. 
 
All managers will: 

 Treat all those working for the Council and customers with dignity and respect. 

 Be alert to and take action to correct unacceptable behaviour within the workplace 

 Ensure all workers and volunteers are aware of the standards of behaviour that the 
Council expects of them. 

 Make sure all workers and volunteers know how to raise issues. 

 Support workers if they witness unacceptable behaviour by customers by explaining 
politely but firmly that such behaviour is unacceptable. 

 Deal with any grievances or allegations which come to their attention appropriately, 
effectively and confidentially, respecting the rights of all relevant parties. 

 Ensure that people who make a grievance are appropriately supported in doing so. 
 
Everyone who works for the Council is responsible for: 

 Understanding the standards of behaviour that the Council expects of them. 

 Making sure that their own conduct does not fall below those standards of behaviour. 

 Standing up to behaviour that they find unacceptable. 

 Supporting colleagues who are being harassed, bullied, victimised, or being 
discriminated against. 

 

 
End 

 
  

Page 497



 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  30 | P a g e  

 

Appendix C: Standards of appearance at work 
How you look and dress at work has an impact on how people view the Council and 
inappropriate dress can suggest that staff have little regard for their service delivery or their 
customers.     
It is therefore important that staff are clear about what is expected from them in how they 
dress for work.   
Standards of appearance  
The Council expects all staff to: 

 Have a high standard of appearance and personal hygiene. 
 Choose professional and appropriate clothing for the work you are doing. 
 Avoid any clothing with political or offensive messages. 
 Display a visible Council identification badge when at work, unless your Head of 

Service has agreed that you do not have to wear one. 
Staff working in an office environment are expected to 

 Wear formal or informal office dress, depending on their work that day. 
 Wear formal office dress when meeting visitors or people from other organisations. 
 Wear suitable footwear, both in terms of appearance and in ensuring their safety and 

wellbeing.   
Staff issued with uniform or protective clothing officers are expected to: 
 Wear only protective clothing or uniform authorised or owned by the Council. 
 Keep their clothing clean, presentable and in good repair. 
 Prevent anyone else from wearing their uniform or protective clothing. 
 Return their protective clothing to the Council when they leave. 
 Make any alterations for religious or health reasons only after agreement with their 

manager.    
 Avoid wearing their Council clothing outside work hours, except when they are 

travelling to and from work. 
What you can expect from the Council 
Staff can expect the Council to have a flexible and professional approach to the 
standards of dress at work which recognises that: 
 Different types of dress (e.g. protective clothing, uniforms or formal business wear) 

are needed or appropriate for different types of work. 
 Our employees come from a large range of backgrounds, cultures and ages with 

different preferences and styles of dress. 
 Adjustments may sometimes be necessary due to health, disability, cultural or 

religious considerations. 
 In some circumstances casual clothing may to be worn at work, for example: 

 When attending work social events or preparing for accommodation 
moves/housekeeping. 

 When participating in exercise before and/or during the working day, bringing a 
change of clothing, as appropriate 

 Where there is a local agreement that the use of casual clothing and/or sportswear 
improves accessibility with service users. 

 When attending some off site training courses. 
If we consider that your appearance is not acceptable, we will tell you.  If you do not make 
the improvement required we may then follow our disciplinary procedures, which you can 
find on the Council’s HR Handbook, module 11, Chpt 2 
 

End 

 
 

 

Page 498

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook


 
 

Code of Conduct – updated November 2021  31 | P a g e  

 

 

Page 499



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: 
 

General Purposes and Audit Committee 
3 March 2022 

SUBJECT: 
 

Review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances 
 

LEAD OFFICER:  
 

John Jones, Monitoring Officer 

WARDS: 
 

All 

 

SUMMARY OF REPORT: 
This report asks Members to consider proposals for the Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances and to make recommendations to Council at its meeting on 23 March 
2022. 
 
The report asks Members to consider the recommendations of the 2022 report of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) established by London Councils on 
behalf of London Boroughs and also any changes that need to be made to the 
scheme as a result of the Council’s change of governance model to a directly 
elected Mayor from 9th May 2022. 
 
The report further contains details of proposed amendments to the scheme in 
response to the latest IRP report. 
 
Finally, the report also details proposals to reintroduce direct provision of 
Members’ ICT in accordance with the recommendations of the IRP. 
 

COUNCIL PRIORITIES 2020-2024 

The Council is required by statute to review, publicise and maintain a scheme of 
allowances for its elected Members. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  The current budget provision for Members’ Allowances is 
£1,480,000.  This budget provides for all basic and special responsibility 
allowances, dependents carer’s allowances, transport allowances and subsistence 
allowances.  This budget also includes the associated national insurance costs.  
The amendments to the scheme proposed in Appendix 2 will require total revenue 
growth of £22,500 per annum.  The proposals to reintroduce direct ICT provision 
for Members will require £32,000 revenue growth per annum. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
1. To consider the options detailed in the report and make recommendations 

on an updated scheme of Members’ allowances to full Council, informed by 
the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel and the 
proposal detailed in Appendix 2 of the report; 
 

2. To also consider the proposals to reintroduce directly provided ICT to 
Members and the elected Mayor as described in section four of the report;  
 

Page 501



3. To recommend to full Council to authorise the Monitoring Officer to comply 
with the necessary statutory publicity requirements in respect of the 
Independent Review Panel report 2022; the on-going annual publicity of the 
Members’ scheme of allowances which is required; and the approval of the 
revised Members’ Allowance Scheme following consideration of proposals 
recommended by the Committee; 
 

4. To recommend that Full Council delegates to the General Purposes and 
Audit Committee authority to agree an annual adjustment of allowances by 
reference to the annual local government staff pay settlement where the 
only change made to the Scheme in any year is that effected by such 
annual adjustment; and 
 

5. That a further review of the scheme be undertaken either following the May 
2022 local elections, if required, or following the publication of the further 
review of the remuneration of councillors due to be undertaken by London 
Councils’ Independent Remuneration Panel during 2022-23. 

 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 and Local Authorities 
(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, Local Authorities are 
required to undertake a formal independent review of the level of allowances 
for their Members at least once every four years. In London, provision has 
been made for this review to be undertaken by an Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) set up on behalf of all Boroughs by London 
Councils. 

 
1.2 London Councils established the IRP last year to undertake the review, 

which has now been completed and is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
1.3 Croydon’s current Scheme of Members’ Allowances forms part of the 

Council’s Constitution and can be seen on the Council website at: 
 
 https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s34622/31%20Part%206A%2

0-
%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances%20as%20revised%20190
128%2002.2019%2008.2019%2003.2021%20and%2015.10.2.pdf. 

 
1.4 The scheme was last fully reviewed by Council in July 2018 and was most 

recently amended in October 2021 to establish a Special Responsibility 
Allowance for the newly established position of Independent Chair of the 
General Purposes and Audit Committee. 

 
1.5 The most recent significant changes to the scheme were made by Council at 

its meeting on 8 March 2021.  At that meeting, Members agreed to an 
amended scheme that removed a number of roles that attracted a special 
responsibility allowance (SRA), reduced all SRAs by at least 20% and 

Page 502

https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s34622/31%20Part%206A%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances%20as%20revised%20190128%2002.2019%2008.2019%2003.2021%20and%2015.10.2.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s34622/31%20Part%206A%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances%20as%20revised%20190128%2002.2019%2008.2019%2003.2021%20and%2015.10.2.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s34622/31%20Part%206A%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances%20as%20revised%20190128%2002.2019%2008.2019%2003.2021%20and%2015.10.2.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/documents/s34622/31%20Part%206A%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances%20as%20revised%20190128%2002.2019%2008.2019%2003.2021%20and%2015.10.2.pdf


deferred the inflationary increase in line with the local government staff pay 
settlement for 2021/22.   

 
1.6 The level of Basic Allowance was last adjusted in July 2019, when the 

General Purposes and Audit Committee agreed to increase the rate by 2% in 
line with the annual local government staff pay settlement.  This followed a 
2% rise in the basic allowance agreed by Council in July 2018. 

 
1.7 Following the publication of the latest IRP report, the Council is required to 

undertake a formal review of the existing scheme and must consider the 
recommendations of the IRP in doing so. 

 
1.8 Whilst Members must have regard to the IRP report, it is ultimately for Full 

Council to decide on its final scheme for payment of allowances to its 
Members, specifying the amount of entitlement by way of basic allowance 
and other allowances such as special responsibility and dependent carers’ 
allowances. 

 
1.9 In considering proposed changes to the scheme, Members are also asked to 

consider the required changes to the scheme that need to be made to reflect 
the change of governance model to a Directly Elected Mayor from May 2022. 

 
 
2. THE REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 
 
2.1 Summary findings of the IRP.  The IRP reports that it is very conscious of the 

changes in the past four years and the impact that this has on the demands 
of Councillors.  They have balanced this with the view that many societal 
changes, including those flowing from the COVID 19 pandemic, are relatively 
recent and that the future patterns of demand and expectations on 
Councillors are unclear at present.  On that basis, the IRP has concluded 
that they “do not have the evidence available to recommend any significant 
changes in the remuneration of Councillors” at the current time and 
recommendations are limited to updating allowances in line with the 
indicative staff pay award for 2021/22, namely 1.75%, which is still the 
subject of national negotiation.  However, the Panel has also concluded that, 
rather than waiting four years to undertake its next review, “it would be 
preferable to undertake a review commencing in the summer of 2022 with 
the aim of concluding it in the latter half of 2023”.  It is recommended that the 
Council further reviews its own scheme following publication of this further 
IRP review. 

 
2.1 The role of elected members. The IRP noted that the previously identified 

challenges of overseeing million-pound budgets, balancing complex financial 
pressures at a time of severe cutbacks in local authority spending and 
making decisions which will affect areas for decades to come had not only 
continued but been exacerbated by the impact of the Covid-19.  The IRP 
noted that the workload and responsibilities of councillors had continued to 
increase, and their role had become more complex. This included the areas 
of social care, housing, community safety including increasing engagement 

Page 503



with the Police, closer working relationships with health services and 
involvement in joint venture partnerships and local authority trading 
companies.  The IRP also noted that the pandemic has heightened the 
significant role of councillors as a contact point for communication, advice 
and reassurance for communities.  The IRP also noted that growth in digital 
connectivity adds to the pressure on Councillors, and that it is now more 
difficult for Councillors to deal with concerns as quickly as voters expect.  
Overall the Panel reported that “the expectations of the public continue to 
rise”. 

 
2.2 Recruitment of councillors.  The IRP noted the challenge of recruiting 

candidates from a diverse background and also of a high enough calibre 
who are prepared to stand for office as Councillors.  While noting the 
significant time commitment required of a councillor, the IRP noted that 
allowances should be set at a level that enabled people to undertake the role 
of councillor while not acting as an incentive to do so. The Panel stated “if it 
is important that there are no financial incentives to being a councillor, it is 
equally important that there should not be a financial disincentive. It is clearly 
desirable that service as a councillor is not confined to those who have 
retired or with independent means”. 

 
2.3 The current financial climate.  As with previous reports, the IRP makes no 

recommendations for increasing levels of members’ allowances other than 
continuing provision for annual adjustments in accordance with the annual 
local government pay settlement.  The IRP reports that it is “acutely 
conscious of the continuing financial challenges to council budgets including 
the impact from the Covid-19 Pandemic. This adds to the view that now is 
not the time to contemplate a general increase in councillors’ allowances”. 

 
2.4 Level of Basic Allowance.  The IRP reports that there is a strong case for 

reviewing the level of basic allowance and highlights that this allowance is 
now less than the allowances paid by many similar authorities outside 
London.  However, the IRP also reports that the wider context is one of 
considerable uncertainty and the current challenging financial climate.  
Overall the IRP reports that “now is not the right moment to recommend 
major changes to the current allowances (beyond the annual updating [in 
line with annual staff pay awards])”.  A more detailed review of Basic 
Allowances will be undertaken by the IRP, concluding in the latter half of 
2023. 

 
2.5 Special Responsibility Allowances. As with the level of Basic Allowance, the 

IRP reports that there are good arguments for reviewing SRA levels, but this 
should be done when patterns of demands and expectations on Councillors 
have become clearer in their more detailed 2022/23 review.  As with the 
Basic Allowance, the IRP’s recommendations on SRAs are limited to an 
uplift in line with the annual staff pay award. 

 
2.6 Other IRP recommendations 
 

Page 504



i) There should be an ongoing programme of member training and 
development 
 

ii) Members should be provided with the logistical and clerical support 
and the appropriate IT equipment to help them deal with their 
workload 

 

iii) Councillors should be entitled to claim an allowance for care of 
dependents when undertaking council duties in appropriate cases. 
The allowance should be set at the London living wage but at a higher 
rate when specialised nursing skills are required (on proof of 
expense). 

 

iv) SRAs should continue in the case of sickness, maternity and paternity 
leave in the same way the council’s employees receive such benefits. 

 

v) The Basic Allowance should cover basic out of pocket expenses 
including intra-Borough travel costs and expenses. The Scheme 
should however provide for special circumstances such as travel after 
late meetings or travel by councillors with disabilities. The Scheme 
should enable councillors to claim travel expenses when their duties 
take them out of Borough including a bicycle allowance.  

 

vi) The IRP recommend that allowances should be updated annually in 
accordance with the headline figure in the annual local government 
pay settlement, subject to annual approval by Council.  

 
 
3. PROPOSED REVISIONS TO THE SCHEME 
 
3.1 In advance of this meeting of the Committee, informal consultation has taken 

place with both political groups represented on the Council.  That 
consultation included highlighting changes required as a move to a directly 
elected Mayor mode of governance and changes required as a corollary of 
constitutional amendments to the Council’s structure of decision-making 
bodies. 

 
3.2 Following that informal consultation, the Administration group has proposed 

amendments to the scheme, detailed in full in appendix two.  The key 
features of the proposal are: 

 
i) To have only minimal changes to the scheme at this time, with a more 

detailed review to take place following either the local elections in May 
2022, when any significant changes to the executive decision-making 
process will become known, or following the conclusion of the IRP’s 
interim review scheduled for 2022/23; 
 

ii) Introducing a Mayoral SRA, based on an average of the SRAs paid by 
the four current Mayoral authorities in London in 2021/22, currently 
£81,894 per annum; 

Page 505



 

iii) The removal of SRAs for the Chairs of Cabinet Member Advisory 
Committees, saving £20,000 per annum; 

 

iv) The removal of the SRA for Membership of the Adoption Panel, saving 
£3,683.20 per annum; 

 

v) The removal of the SRA for the Leader of the Council, saving £35,972 
per annum.  In the event that the elected mayor does not come from the 
party with a majority on the council, the ‘leader of the opposition SRA will 
be paid to the leader of the majority group; and 

 

vi) The removal of the ICT allowance, to be replaced by direct provision of 
ICT equipment to Members. 

 
3.3 This proposal has specifically excluded the introduction of an SRA for the 

new role of Chair of the General Purposes Committee at this stage.  It is 
suggested that this be considered fully when a more detailed review takes 
place either following the local elections in May 2022 or following the IRP’s 
more detailed interim review in 2022/23. 

 
3.4 Members of the Committee will be asked to consider this proposal in addition 

to having regard to the recommendations of the IRP when determining what 
changes to the scheme it wished to recommend to Council. 

 
 
4. MEMBERS’ ICT PROVISION 
 
4.1 The Committee previously agreed recommendations in a report at its 

meeting on 26 June 2016 that ceased the provision of a range of ICT 
equipment to elected Members and introduced payments of an ICT 
allowance.  The full report can be found here - 
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/Data/General%20Purposes%20&%20Aud
it%20Committee/20160629/Agenda/gpa20160629_07_01_member_ict_provi
sionac39.pdf?cmte=GPA&meet=10&href=/akscroydon/images/att7463.pdf. 

 
4.2 In its most recent report, the IRP has noted that “the pandemic has also 

resulted in an acceleration of more flexible ways of working including greater 
use of digital technology”. 

 
4.3 The IRP goes on to conclude that “Members should be provided with… the 

appropriate IT equipment to help them deal with their workload”.  
 
4.4 These findings of the IRP echo the experiences detailed by many members 

following the COVID 19 pandemic and the significant shift to digital working.  
Circa 25 council laptop devices have been issued to Members on loan to 
support them to work digitally following the start of the pandemic.  Informal 
consultation with political groups represented on the Council has shown 
significant support to moving back to a provision of direct support. 

 

Page 506

https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/Data/General%20Purposes%20&%20Audit%20Committee/20160629/Agenda/gpa20160629_07_01_member_ict_provisionac39.pdf?cmte=GPA&meet=10&href=/akscroydon/images/att7463.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/Data/General%20Purposes%20&%20Audit%20Committee/20160629/Agenda/gpa20160629_07_01_member_ict_provisionac39.pdf?cmte=GPA&meet=10&href=/akscroydon/images/att7463.pdf
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/Data/General%20Purposes%20&%20Audit%20Committee/20160629/Agenda/gpa20160629_07_01_member_ict_provisionac39.pdf?cmte=GPA&meet=10&href=/akscroydon/images/att7463.pdf


4.5 Moving to direct provision of ICT equipment will also aid the Council in 
supporting Members to safeguard sensitive data and to comply with the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act, Freedom of Information Act, 
General Data Protection Regulations and Members’ responsibilities under 
the Code of Conduct. 

 
4.6 The proposal and costs of moving to direct ICT provision to all seventy 

councillors and the elected Mayor are described as follows : 
 

 
Provision Type Change Type 

Cost per 
Member 

Total Cost 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

Standard Council Phones Already provided 
and funded 

£150 £10,650 
capital cost every four 

years 

Laptop device Capital growth - 
funded 

£1050 £74,550 
capital cost every four 

years 

 

R
e
v

e
n

u
e
 

Infreemation licence Already provided 
and funded 

£60 £4,260 
revenue per annum 

Microsoft windows and Office 
365 licence 

Already provided 
and funded 

£194 £13,774 
revenue per annum 

Telephony services (calls and 
data) 

Already provided 
and funded 

£59.25 £4,206.75 
revenue per annum 

Laptop and user support  Revenue growth 
(not funded) 

£389.64 £27,664.44  
revenue per annum 

Member IT support at Council 
and Cabinet Meetings 

Revenue growth 
(not funded) 

N/A £4,000  
revenue per annum 

 
4.7 The overall financial impact of a return to direct provision of ICT equipment 

will be: 
 

- an increased capital cost every four years of £74,550 to a total of £85,200; 
and 
 

- an increased revenue cost of £31,664.44 per annum to a total of 
£53,905.19 per annum. 

 
4.8 During informal consultation with the political groups, some members 

expressed a desire to use their own ICT hardware for both computing and 
telephony.  In such circumstances, the Council will: 

 
i) Offer either a dual SIM Council phone, Council SIM or Council E-SIM; 
ii) Continue to provide a full office 365 account, including the Council 

email address that should be used for all Council business; and 
iii) Require Members to sign an updated ‘use your own device’ policy 

that clearly sets out Members’ responsibilities and duties to protect 
sensitive data and Council information. 

 

Page 507



4.9 The current scheme of allowances makes provision for £800 to be paid to 
each councillor every four years to purchase their own ICT provision.  This 
will be removed from the scheme and avoids capital costs of £56,800 every 
four years. 

 
 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 The report and recommendations of the IRP are informed by consultation 

with all London Boroughs.  Both political groups represented on the Council 
have also been briefed on the recommendations detailed in the IRP report 
prior to this meeting of the General Purposes and Audit Committee. 

 
 
6. PUBLICITY 
 
6.1  The Local Authorities (Members’ allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

(“the 2003 regulations”) provide detailed statutory requirements in relation to 
publicity in relation to the making or amending of any Scheme of Allowances. 

 
6.2  The 2003 regulations also provide in regulation 22 further publicity 

requirements regarding the publicity of the IRP report. 
 
6.3  It is therefore recommended that the Committee seeks Council’s approval for 

the Monitoring Officer to be authorised to comply with all necessary publicity 
requirements in respect of the IRP report; the ongoing annual publicity 
required; and the approval of the revised Members’ Allowance Scheme 
following consideration of proposals recommended by the Committee. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The current budget provision for Members’ Allowances is £1,480,000.  This 

budget provides for all basic and special responsibility allowances, 
dependents carer’s allowances, transport allowances and subsistence 
allowances.  This budget also includes the associated national insurance 
costs, estimated at 10%.   

 
7.2 The amendments to the scheme proposed in Appendix 2 will require total 

revenue growth of £22,500 per annum.  The proposals to reintroduce direct 
ICT provision for Members will require revenue growth of £32,000 per 
annum.  The total revenue growth arising from the recommendations in this 
paper is £54,500 per annum. 

 
7.3 The reintroduction of direct ICT provision to Members will require capital 

growth of £74,550 every four years.  The capital growth to provide Members 
with ICT devices is funded in the 2022/23 ICT capital budget. 

 
7.4 The Council’s published proposed budget for 2022/23 does not currently 

include provision for the £54,500k revenue growth and therefore the Council 

Page 508



will fund this growth using one off Council reserve funding in 2022/23.  The 
Council will then need to ensure a growth bid is submitted in 2022/23 when 
the budget setting delivery begins for year 2023/24. This will ensure a 
permanent budget provision is included within the Council’s financial plans, 
however any new growth bids will result in an increase in savings 
requirement. 

 
Approved by: Nish Popat, Interim Head of Corporate Finance. 

 

 
8. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Head of Head of Litigation & Corporate Law comments on behalf of the 

Interim Director of Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer that the proposed 
Members' Allowance Scheme complies with the relevant provisions of the 
Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor's Assistant) (England) 
Regulations 2002, Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the 
Local Government Act 2000. In addition, there are separate provisions, 
namely sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the payment 
of allowances to the current civic Mayor and the deputy civic Mayor which 
Croydon has traditionally referenced as part of its Members' allowance 
scheme. 

 
8.2 The 2002 Regulations specifically allows for an elected mayor to be treated 

as a councillor of the local authority for the purposes of schemes relating to 
basic attendance and special responsibility allowances for local authority 
members as set-out within the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
8.3 Regulation 19 of the 2003 Regulations provides that the Council must have 

regard to the recommendations of the IRP before making or amending a 
Scheme of Allowances for its members. Regulations 16 and 22 set out the 
detailed publicity requirements both in relation to any making or amendment 
of a Scheme and the IRP report. 

 
8.4 Regulation 5(1) of the 2003 Regulations provide that the Scheme can make 

provision for an SRA to be paid to members who have such "special 
responsibilities in relation to the authority as are specified in the Scheme" 
and are within one or more of nine categories of responsibility identified in 
sub-paragraphs (a) - (i). This includes responsibilities such as acting as a 
Leader or Deputy Leader, Elected Mayor or Deputy Elected Mayor, acting as 
a member of an Executive, presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-
committee and acting as a spokesman of a political group on a committee or 
sub-committee. 

 
8.5 Having regard to recommendations of the IRP the Council is reverting to the 

direct provision of ICT equipment, which will also assist councillors in 
complying with their responsibility as set-out within the Data Protection Act 
2018 (DPA18) and the UK General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) in 
terms of being a person or persons who determines the purposes and 

Page 509



means of processing personal data and therefore being both a data 
controller and data processer as appropriate. 

 
Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation & Corporate Law on behalf 
of the Interim Director of Law & Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
9. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 
9.1 There are no implications for Council staff arising from the report. 

Approved by: Dean Shoesmith, Chief People Officer 

 
10. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 The application of the scheme of Members’ allowances will involve the 

processing of personal data with regard to the payment of basic and special 

responsibility allowances and the application, processing and payments of 

travel, subsistence and dependants’ carers’ allowances. 

 

10.2 Al such processing of personal data will be undertaken in accordance with 

the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations and the 

scheme itself. 

 

10.3 All payments made under the scheme are published monthly and annually. 

 

Approved by: Stephen Rowan, Head of Democratic Services and Scrutiny 

 

 

 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Stephen Rowan, Head of Democratic Services and Scrutiny  
 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 
Appendix 1  The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 - 
 Report of the Independent Panel 
 
Appendix 2 Administration Group Proposed Changes to the Scheme 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: There are no previously unpublished documents 
upon which this report is based. 

Page 510



1

The Remuneration of 
Councillors in London 
2022
Report of the Independent Panel

Page 511



2

Contents

Summary……………………………………………………..................................................p3  

Background…………………………………………………...................................................p3 

The role of elected members ……………………………....................................................p3 

Recruitment of councillors ……………………………......................................................p4  

The current financial climate …………………....................................................………..p5  

Level of Basic Allowance…………………….....................................................…………..p5  

Special Responsibility Allowances…………......................................................…………p5  

Training and support……………....................................................……………………….p6  

Barriers to being a councillor……….....................................................………………….p6  

Travel and Subsistence Allowances……….......................................................…………p7  

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head………......................................................…………p7

Update for inflation………………….................................................……………………..p7 

Appendix A: Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance  ……………………........ p8

Appendix B: On behalf of the community – a job profile for councilors………………………….p11 

Appendix C: The independent panel members……………………….......................………...p12 

Page 512



3

Summary
At the time of writing this report the country is still responding to the shock of the tragic death of Sir David Amess MP. 
It is a sad reminder of the vital role that all elected representatives play in the life of our country and how your roles 
are at the heart of our democratic and civic society. It is also a reminder of the risks that are linked to your roles. It is 
vital that we have a system of support in place that recognises the full scale of the responsibilities of councillors and 
one that supports residents in both wanting to come forward to undertake these roles and then when they are elected 
enables them to be effective. Our work as an independent remuneration panel can play a part in that endeavour.

The report below details our position as the output for the 2021 review. In short, we are very conscious about the 
huge changes that have taken place as a society during the last few years. Our residents, businesses and communities 
have been dealing with, and continue to deal with, major challenges. The feedback we have received supports our 
view that this has had a major impact on the demands placed on all councillors and of those councillors charged with 
special responsibilities. There is now greater than ever demands for time spent on wider partnership working, the 
situations faced by many residents are ever more challenging and complex, the ease of access afforded by technology 
has increased expectations for almost constant access and rapid responses. The burden of responsibility for effective 
government at a local level is extremely significant. 

At the same time, many aspects of the current situation are still relatively recent. It remains rather unclear how these 
recent patterns of demands and increased expectations will play out and settle over time. With this level of uncertainty, 
we do not believe that at the current time we have the evidence available to recommend any significant changes in the 
remuneration of councillors.

However, given the wider background, we have concluded that, instead of waiting four years to undertake the next 
review, it would be preferable to undertake a review commencing in the summer of 2022 with the aim of concluding it 
in the latter half of 2023. As well as enabling us to re-assess the situation, this timescale would enable us to undertake 
more detailed consultations and seek wider views as part of the evidence gathering that will be needed. 

As well as the substantive recommendations in the report, we therefore recommend that we undertake a further review 
of the remuneration of councillors during 2022-23.

Background
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (‘the Regulations’) authorise the 
establishment by the Association of London Government (now London Councils) of an independent remuneration 
panel to make recommendations in respect of the members’ allowances payable by London boroughs. Such a panel 
(‘the Panel’) was established and reported in 2001, 2003, 2006, 2010, 2014 and 2018. It now comprises Mike Cooke 
(Chair), Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL and Anne Watts CBE.

The Regulations require a review of the scheme every four years as a minimum. The current Panel has therefore 
completed a review of remuneration for councillors in London. We present our findings and recommendations in 
this report.

As a preparation for our work, we invited all London boroughs to give their views on the operation of the existing 
scheme. We are grateful for the feedback, which confirms that the existing London scheme of members’ allowances is 
still fit for purpose. We make recommendations accordingly. However, where issues have arisen from the comments we 
received, we have addressed them in this report.

The role of elected members
In our previous reports we reflected on the importance of the role of elected members. We repeat at Appendix B the ‘job 
profile’ for councillors which we originally included in our 2010 report. 

Our last report reflected on research that identified that councillors oversee million-pound budgets, balancing 
complex financial pressures at a time of severe cutbacks in local authority spending, making decisions which will affect 
their areas for decades to come. These challenges continue and have been exacerbated by the impact of the Covid-19 

Page 513



4

Pandemic and the continuing recovery effort from it. 

In London, each borough is responsible for services crucial to its residents. Each has a revenue budget of up to £1.4bn as 
well as a substantial capital programme. The scale of their turnover and other financial activities are in many instances 
comparable with those of large publicly quoted companies.

Councillors are faced with difficult choices. Demand for local authority services continues to grow. In particular there 
is rapid growth in the number of old people with a corresponding increase in demand for social care. London itself 
faces acute housing problems coupled with higher levels of homelessness than other parts of the country. Councillors 
have an increased responsibility for local and place-based health outcomes. Thus, the strain on and competition for 
resources increase the demands made on elected members.

The feedback we received is that the workload and responsibilities of councillors continues to increase and that their role 
has become more complex, and not only in the areas of social care and housing. There has been a growth in other public 
sector activities including community safety with increasing engagement with the Police, increasing expectations for 
closer working with health services, and in some boroughs more involvement with joint venture partnerships and local 
authority trading companies. Since the start of the Pandemic, there has been an important and significant role for 
councillors in local welfare support and greater liaison with the voluntary sector. This all requires the commitment and 
time of leaders, cabinet members and front-line councillors. The Pandemic has also heightened the significant role of 
councillors as a point contact for information, advice and reassurance for communities. 

While valuable to democracy, the growth in digital connectivity and the availability and use of social media and other 
forms of messaging applications adds to the pressure on councillors by increasing demands from their constituents in 
several different ways. Communication with councillors is not only easier but immediate. The public expects a speedy 
response, so that it is now more difficult for councillors to deal with concerns as quickly as voters expect. Not only does 
social media make it easier for their constituents to access councillors, but they also enable an isolated concern to 
become an organised campaign. The expectations of the public continue to rise. 

Recruitment of councillors
We received feedback that it continues to be challenging to recruit candidates generally but also from a diverse 
background and of a high enough calibre who are prepared to stand for office as councillors. Though financial deterrents 
were cited amongst a number of reasons for this, a major disincentive is the time commitment required of a councillor. 
Time pressures (as well as finance) can make it difficult to combine the role with a job and caring responsibilities. As 
was pointed out in the responses we received, the problem is exacerbated in London, where councillors are on the 
whole younger than in other parts of the country and often in employment. They also face substantially higher costs of 
living which are continuing to rise.

Though the time commitment may be the main disincentive to service as a councillor, it is important that, as far as 
reasonably possible, financial loss does not prevent people from becoming councillors. Allowances are not shown by 
polls to be something which influences councillors to take on the role, though they are instrumental in making it 
possible for some people to do so. Allowances should be set at a level that enables people to undertake the role of 
councillor, while not acting as an incentive to do so. If it is important that there are no financial incentives to being a 
councillor, it is equally important that there should not be a financial disincentive. It is clearly desirable that service 
as a councillor is not confined to those who have retired or with independent means. 

In 2014 the Government removed the possibility of councillors joining the local government pension scheme. Almost 
half of the responses we received cited the lack of pension provision as a factor that influences people whether to run 
for council office. Access to the pension scheme can be an important factor in making service as a councillor financially 
possible for a wider range of people. It is particularly significant for those who, like elected mayors, leaders and portfolio 
holders, give most or all of their time to service in local government and lose the opportunity for advancement in their 
particular profession and to contribute to a pension scheme elsewhere. In view of the importance this could have for 
recruiting a diverse range of councillors in future and to wider issues for local democracy, the Panel intends to look at 
lobbying opportunities on this issue as part of its further review in 2022-23.

Page 514



5

The current financial climate 
Because of the financial climate over the last decade, the local government pay settlement over much of this period 
has been either frozen or severely limited. Since our last report there have been modest increases from 2% in 2018-19 
to 2.75% last year. 

Acutely sensitive to the ongoing financial austerity, our recent reports have made no recommendations for increasing 
the levels of members’ allowances other than continuing provision for annual adjustments in accordance with the 
annual local government pay settlement. 

Our recommendations have led to some convergence of members’ allowances across London. There is now considerable 
congruity in the basic allowance made by London boroughs. 

However, most London boroughs have not adopted our recommendations in their entirety and there remain substantial 
differences in the amount of special responsibility allowances. 

In reaching our views this year, we have been acutely conscious of the continuing financial challenges to council 
budgets including the impact from the Covid-19 Pandemic. This adds to the view that now is not the time to contemplate 
a general increase in councillors’ allowances. 

Level of Basic Allowance
In our last report we recommended that there should be a Basic Allowance paid to every councillor of £11,045. Updated 
for the local government staff pay awards since then (and including an indicative 1.75% award for 2021-22 which is 
still the subject of negotiation), the figure is now £12,014. Given all the circumstances including growth in the volume 
and complexity of the work of councillors and the limited increase in the Basic Allowance since our last report, we 
believe that there is a strong case for looking again at the level of the allowance. The basic allowance is now less than 
the allowances paid by many similar authorities outside London.  In our last report we highlighted that in Wales, for 
example, the government-appointed commission set the basic allowance at £13,400 for members of local authorities 
with populations which are generally substantially lower than those of London boroughs. In its most recent report, 
published in February 2021, this had increased to £14,368.

However, the wider context is one of considerable uncertainty including whether trends in demands will be sustained. 
If they are so, as seems likely, the consequences of the changing patterns of work remains unclear added to which is 
the current financial climate. All this suggests to us that now is not the right moment to recommend major changes to 
the current allowances (beyond the annual updating). Linking the alliances to an annual increase to staff pay awards 
will ensure that councillors can receive annual increases which are in line with those received by staff. We therefore 
recommend that the Basic Allowance be set at £12,014 pending the outcome of the 2021-22 award. We believe that it 
remains sensible to frame recommendations which are common across London.

Special Responsibility Allowances
Given the extent of the responsibilities of leaders of London boroughs, the Panel’s first report in 2001 recommended 
that their remuneration should equate to that of a Member of Parliament. [Our recommendations for other special 
responsibility allowances are related to that recommended for leaders.]  

Since then, the increase in the remuneration of Members of Parliament has substantially exceeded the annual local 
government pay increase to which we tied the special responsibility allowance for the leader of a London borough. At 
the time of our last report an MP received a salary of £76,011 while our recommendation for a borough leader (increases 
having been restricted to the local government staff pay increases) was for a total remuneration of £68,130, a difference 
of £7,881. Updated for the local government pay awards (and indicative 2021-22 award), our recommendation for the 
current total remuneration of a London borough leader would be £74,106. Meanwhile the salary of MPs has increased 
to £81,932, a difference of £7,826. Moreover, MPs continue to be entitled to a pension as well as to other benefits (such 
as termination payments) which are not available to leaders. 

Page 515



6

In our current consultation we enquired whether the remuneration of an MP remains a sound comparator to fix the 
remuneration of a borough leader. In general, the responses suggested that the comparator was appropriate with 
some feedback noting that the Leaders of London boroughs warranted a higher remuneration than an MP, because they 
had greater financial responsibility and legal burdens, and especially given the differential pension arrangements. 
Indeed, a couple of respondent authorities suggested that the direct responsibilities of a Leader should command the 
salary of a junior minister. 

We sympathise with the responses. Certainly, the way in which MPs’ remuneration has progressed compared to that of 
leaders could be argued to warrant a review of the Leaders’ allowances.

We are also aware of the very significant expectations on leaders and leading members to participate in wider cross 
borough, pan-London and partnership working, the demands of which (both in terms of time commitments but 
importantly in terms of responsibility and significance) appear to have increased dramatically over the last 18 months. 
Our report makes no recommendations in respect of remuneration for these roles at this stage but we propose to return 
to this issue as part of the further review that is proposed.

However, for the same reasons which prompt us to maintain the current Basic Allowance,    (namely a significant 
uncertainty over the long term implications of the changes we have been witnessing in the last 18 months, combined 
with the financial challenges faced at this time) we recommend that the special responsibility allowance for a Leader 
should be in accordance with our former recommendation, plus the subsequent local government staff pay awards 
(including an indicative uplift of 1.75% for 2021-22 which is still the subject of negotiation), ie £62,092. We recommend 
the maintenance of its relation to other special responsibility allowances, as set out in the Appendix to this report. 

However, we believe that it is important to undertake a more detailed review, along with the Basic Allowances, of the 
special responsibility allowances having allowed further time for the new patterns of demands and expectations to 
become even clearer. We envisage beginning this review in the summer of 2022 and concluding the review during the 
latter half of 2023.

Training and support
The responsibilities of councillors are substantial, extensive and complex.  We have mentioned the increased role that 
councillors have delivered particularly during the Pandemic. The Pandemic has also resulted in an acceleration of more 
flexible ways of working including greater use of digital technology. While this has provided a range of benefits including 
less travelling for work it has required councillors to have the necessary digital skills. Additionally, the move to audio-
visual conferencing has resulted in a growth in meetings for many contributing to an overall increase in ‘screen time’. 
Training and development is beyond the direct remit of our Panel but is an important part of ensuring that residents 
can step forward and become successful and effective elected local representatives. Addressing the financial aspects 
but not the support aspects would be counter-productive. For this reason, we believe that every borough should have 
an ongoing programme of member training and development and that members should be provided with the logistical 
and clerical support and the appropriate IT equipment to help them deal with their workload.

Barriers to being a councillor
It is important that obstacles to becoming a councillor should be removed wherever possible. Care costs can be a 
significant deterrent to service as a councillor. Our strong view is that in appropriate cases when they undertake their 
council duties, councillors should be entitled to claim an allowance for care of dependents. The dependents’ carers’ 
allowance should be set at the London living wage but (on presentation of proof of expense) payment should be made 
at a higher rate when specialist nursing skills are required. 

One respondent authority stressed that member allowances schemes present an opportunity to better support 
councillors by providing not just remuneration but wider support packages. Our view is that members’ allowances 
schemes should allow the continuance of Special Responsibility Allowances in the case of sickness, maternity and 
paternity leave in the same terms that the council’s employees enjoy such benefits (that is to say, they follow the 
same policies).

Page 516



7

Travel and Subsistence allowances
The Basic Allowance should cover basic out-of-pocket expenses incurred by councillors, including intra-borough travel 
costs and expenses. The members’ allowances scheme should, however, provide for special circumstances, such as 
travel after late meetings or travel by councillors with disabilities. The scheme should enable councillors to claim travel 
expenses when their duties take them out of their home borough, including a bicycle allowance.

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head
Many councils include the allowances for the mayor (or civic head) and deputy in their members’ allowance scheme. 
However, these allowances do serve a rather different purpose from the ‘ordinary’ members’ allowances, since they are 
intended to enable the civic heads to perform a ceremonial role. There are separate statutory provisions (ss 3 and 5 of 
the Local Government Act 1972) for such allowances and councils may find it convenient to use those provisions rather 
than to include the allowances in the members’ allowance scheme. 

Update for inflation
We continue to recommend that all allowances should be updated annually in accordance with the headline figure in 
the annual local government pay settlement.  

We have been asked whether it is necessary for the annual updating to be formally authorised by the council each year. 
The Regulations do seem to make this obligatory.

Mike Cooke  Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL       Anne Watts CBE

London, 6 January 2022

Page 517



8

Appendix A
Basic allowance £12,014

Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance

The case for special allowances 

The reasons for payment of additional special responsibility allowances should be clearly set out in local allowances 
schemes. Special allowances should come into play only in positions where there are significant differences in the time 
requirements and levels of responsibility from those generally expected of a councillor.

Calculation of special allowances 

The proposed amounts for each band are a percentage of the figure suggested for a council leader depending upon 
levels of responsibility of the roles undertaken and are explained below. We believe that the SRA, which the previous 
panel recommended for the leader of a London council (updated), continues to be appropriate.

Categories of special allowances

The regulations specify the following categories of responsibility for which special responsibility allowances may be paid:

• Members of the executive where the authority is operating executive arrangements 

• Acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group within the authority 

• Presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the authority, or a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee 

• Representing the authority at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body 

• Membership of a committee or sub-committee of the authority which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as spokesperson of a political group on a committee or sub-committee of the authority 

• Membership of an adoption panel

 • Membership of a licensing or regulatory committee

 • Such other activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as require of the member an 
amount of time and effort equal to or greater than would be required of him by any one of the activities 
mentioned above, whether or not that activity is specified in the scheme.

Local discretion

It is for the councils locally to decide how to allocate their councillors between the different bands, having regard 
to our recommendations and how to set the specific remuneration within the band. They must have regard to our 
recommendations. We believe these should have the merits of being easy to apply, easy to adapt, easy to explain and 
understand, and easy to administer.

BAND ONE 

The posts we envisage falling within band one, include: 

• Vice chair of a service, regulatory or scrutiny committee 

• Chair of sub-committee 

• Leader of second or smaller opposition group 

Page 518



9

• Service spokesperson for first opposition group 

• Group secretary (or equivalent) of majority group 

• First opposition group whip (in respect of council business)

 • Vice chair of council business 

• Chairs, vice chairs, area committees and forums or community leaders 

• Cabinet assistant 

• Leadership of a strategic major topic 

• Acting as a member of a committee or sub-committee which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as a member of an adoption panel where membership requires attendance with exceptional frequency 
or for exceptionally long periods 

• Leadership of a specific major project.

Remuneration

We propose that band one special responsibility allowances should be on a sliding scale of between 20 – 30 per cent of 
the remuneration package for a council leader.

This would be made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band One allowance: £2,807 to £10,218

Total: £14,821 to £22,232

BAND TWO 

The types of office we contemplate being within band two are: 

• Lead member in scrutiny arrangements, such as chair of a scrutiny panel 

• Representative on key outside body 

• Chair of major regulatory committee e.g planning 

• Chair of council business (civic mayor) 

• Leader of principal opposition group 

• Majority party chief whip (in respect of council business).

Remuneration

We propose that band two allowances should be on a sliding scale between 40 – 60 per cent, pro rata of the remuneration 
package for a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance £12,014 

Band two allowances: £17,628 to £32,450

Total: £29,642 to £44,464

Page 519



10

BAND THREE 

We see this band as appropriate to the following posts: 

• Cabinet member

• Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

• Chair of the main overview or scrutiny committee 

• Deputy leader of the council

Remuneration:

We propose that band three allowances should be between 70 – 80 per cent pro rata of the remuneration package for 
a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band three allowance: £39,860 to £47,271

Total: £51,874, to £59,285

BAND FOUR 

Leader of cabinet 

This is a full-time job, involving a high level of responsibility and includes the exercise of executive responsibilities. It 
is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions in the public sector, while still 
retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. 

Remuneration:

We propose that the remuneration package for a council leader under band four of our scheme should be £74,106.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014

Band four allowance: £62,092.

Total: £74,106

BAND FIVE 

Directly elected mayor 

A directly elected mayor has a full-time job with a high level of responsibility and exercises executive responsibilities 
over a fixed electoral cycle. It is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions 
in the public sector, while still retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. However, we believe 
this post remains different to that of the strong leader with cabinet model. The directly elected mayor is directly elected 
by the electorate as a whole. The strong leader holds office at the pleasure of the council and can be removed by the 
council. We believe that the distinction is paramount and this should be reflected in the salary level. 

Remuneration:

We propose that a directly elected mayor should receive a remuneration package of 25 per cent higher than that 
recommended for a council leader and that it should be a salary set at £92,633.

Page 520



11

Published: January 2022

Appendix B 
On behalf of the community – a job profile for councillors

Purposes:

1. To participate constructively in the good governance of the area. 

2. To contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the authority’s policies, budget, strategies and service 
delivery. 

3. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations. 

4. To champion the causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the community and campaign for the 
improvement of the quality of life of the community in terms of equity, economy and environment. 

5. To represent the council on an outside body, such as a charitable trust or neighbourhood association.

Key Tasks:

1. To fulfil the statutory and local determined requirements of an elected member of a local authority and the authority 
itself, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct, and participation in those decisions and activities 
reserved to the full council (for example, setting budgets, overall priorities, strategy). 

2. To participate effectively as a member of any committee or panel to which the councillor is appointed, including 
related responsibilities for the services falling within the committee’s (or panel’s) terms of reference, human resource 
issues, staff appointments, fees and charges, and liaison with other public bodies to promote better understanding 
and partnership working. 

3. To participate in the activities of an outside body to which the councillor is appointed, providing two-way 
communication between the organisations. Also, for the same purpose, to develop and maintain a working knowledge 
of the authority’s policies and practices in relation to that body and of the community’s needs and aspirations in 
respect of that body’s role and functions. 

4. To participate in the scrutiny or performance review of the services of the authority, including where the authority 
so decides, the scrutiny of policies and budget, and their effectiveness in achieving the strategic objectives of the 
authority. 

5. To participate, as appointed, in the area and in service-based consultative processes with the community and with 
other organisations. 

6. To represent the authority to the community, and the community to the authority, through the various forums 
available. 

7. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the authority’s services, management arrangements, powers/
duties, and constraints, and to develop good working relationships with relevant officers of the authority.

8. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities and other factors which 
impact upon the community’s well-being and identity.

9. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations including, where required, acting as a liaison between the constituent and the local 
authority and where appropriate other public service providers.

10. To contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active encouragement of the 
community to participate generally in the government of the area. 

11. To participate in the activities of any political group of which the councillor is a member. 

12. To undertake necessary training and development programmes as agreed by the authority. 

13. To be accountable for his/her actions and to report regularly on them in accessible and transparent ways.

Page 521



12

Appendix C 
The independent panel members

Mike Cooke 

Mike Cooke was the Chief Executive of the London Borough of Camden for seven years, where he had also been Director 
of Housing and Adult Social Care and HR Director. He has extensive experience of partnership working across London 
including as the CELC lead on children and chairing the London Safeguarding Children Board. Mike also has worked for 
seven years in financial services where he developed an expertise in remuneration. 

Until November 2020 Mike had been a Non-Executive Director of the Central and North West London NHS Foundation 
Trust where he was chair of the HR Committee. Mike’s current role is the independent Chair of the North Central London 
Integrated Health and Care System.

Sir Rodney Brooke CBE, DL

Sir Rodney Brooke has a long career in local government, including as chief executive of West Yorkshire County Council, 
Westminster City Council and the Association of Metropolitan Authorities. 

He was knighted in 2007 for his contribution to public service. 

Dr Anne Watts CBE

Anne Watts has an extensive career in governance, diversity and inclusion spanning commercial, public and voluntary 
sectors. She has held executive roles for HSBC and Business in the Community and was chair of the Appointments 
Commission. She has carried out reviews of Government departments and the Army. In addition she has been a member 
of Government Pay review bodies and Deputy Chair, University of Surrey where she chaired Remuneration Committee 
and the new Vet School.

She is a non-exec of Newable (previously Greater London Enterprise) where she chairs ESG Committee and is a non-exec 
of Newflex subsidiary. In addition she continues to sit on the Race and Gender Equality Leadership teams for Business 
in the Community.

Page 522



13

Published: January 2022
Published: January 2022

Page 523



This page is intentionally left blank



Total

Allowance Current Rate
No. of 

Members
Total Option Total growth Option Total Saving Total

Basic Allowance £11,692.00 70 £818,440.00 £818,440.00

Civic Mayor’s Allowance £15,900.00 1 £15,900.00 £15,900.00

Deputy Civic Mayor’s Allowance £7,950.40 1 £7,950.40 £7,950.40

Leader of the Council £35,972.00 1 £35,972.00 Leader of Majority Group (£35,972) £0.00

Deputy Leader Statutory £30,352.80 1 £30,352.80 £30,352.80

Cabinet Members £27,503.20 7 £192,522.40 £192,522.40

Deputy Cabinet Members £8,268.00 4 £33,072.00 £33,072.00

Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee £20,942.00 1 £20,942.00 £20,942.00

Deputy Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee £8,585.60 1 £8,585.60 £8,585.60

Majority Group Secretary £8,268.00 1 £8,268.00 £8,268.00

Majority Chief Whip £12,121.80 1 £12,121.80 £12,121.80

Chair - General Purposes & Audit Committee £8,000.00 1 £8,000.00 £8,000.00

Chair - Licensing Committee £8,246.40 1 £8,246.40 £8,246.40

Chair - Planning Committee £13,224.80 1 £13,224.80 £13,224.80

Member of Adoption Panel £3,683.20 1 £3,683.20 Remove (£3,683.20) £0.00

Chair - Pension Committee £7,368.00 1 £7,368.00 £7,368.00

Leader of the Opposition £17,956.00 1 £17,956.00 £17,956.00

Deputy Leader(s) £7,520.00 1 £7,520.00 £7,520.00

Shadow Cabinet Members £5,615.20 7 £39,306.40 £39,306.40

Opposition Chief Whip £5,615.20 1 £5,615.20 £5,615.20

Opposition Group Secretary £5,505.60 1 £5,505.60 £5,505.60

Vice Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee £8,585.60 1 £8,585.60 £8,585.60

Chair of CMAC £5,000.00 4 £20,000.00 Remove (£20,000) £0.00

Elected Mayor SRA £81,894.36

Total Growth Options £81,894.36

Total Savings (£59,655.20)

Net growth £22,239.16

Total Basic Allowance £818,440.00 £818,440.00

Total SRAs 40 £510,698.20 £532,937.36

Total cost of basic and special responsibility allowances £1,329,138.20 £1,351,377.36

Notes:

*Cost of National Insurance and other allowances excluded from calculations

*New Mayoral SRA based on four London Mayoral Authorities' average

* In the event that the Mayor is not a member of the majority group on the council, the SRA for leader of the opposition will be awarded to the leader of the majority group

* Members' ICT allowance to be deleted 

Current Scheme Growth Savings

P
age 525



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
 

  

REPORT TO: CABINET   

21 March 2022     

SUBJECT: Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 Year Business Plan 
2021- 2051  and HRA Capital Programme 22/23   

LEAD OFFICER: David Padfield – Interim Corporate Directors of Housing 

Stephen Tate - Director of Housing Estates and 
Improvements  

CABINET MEMBER: 

 

Councilor Patricia Hay-Justice 
Cabinet Member for Homes  

WARDS:                                                                                                                    All 

SUMMARY OF REPORT:  
 
The report presents a new 30 year Business Plan for the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) with consideration to both capital and revenue investments required for the 
management and maintenance of Croydon Council’s housing stock. 
 

COUNCIL PRIORITIES 2020-2024 

Include here a brief statement on how the recommendations address one or more of 

the Council’s priorities:   

 We will live within our means, balance the books and provide value for money 

for our residents. 

 We will focus on tackling ingrained inequality and poverty in the borough. We 

will follow the evidence to tackle the underlying causes of inequality and 

hardship, like structural racism, environmental injustice and economic injustice. 

 We will focus on providing the best quality core service we can afford. First and 

foremost, providing social care services that keep our most vulnerable residents 

safe and healthy. And to keep our streets clean and safe. To ensure we get full 

benefit from every pound we spend, other services in these areas will only be 

provided where they can be shown to have a direct benefit in keeping people 

safe and reducing demand. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

The Business Plan demonstrates that the investment proposals are fundable, subject 
to the assumptions within the Plan, and that the HRA remains sustainable and viable 
over the 30 year period. 

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.: 2422CAB 

 

Page 527



Appendix 4 
 

  

 

 
The Leader of the Council has delegated to the Cabinet the power to make the 
decisions set out below: 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet are asked to:  

 
1.1 Agree the HRA 30 year Business Plan 2021-2051 as set out at Appendix 1 and 

detailed in this  report , which is based on the HRA revenue budget for 2022-23 
agreed by Full Council on 8 March 2022; 
 

 1.2 Consider the HRA Capital Programme for 22/23 as set out in Appendix 6 and     
recommend to Full Council that it approve the HRA Capital Programme for 
22/23.  

 
1.3 Note the assumptions the Plan is based upon and the risks associated with 

these assumptions; 
 
      1.4 Note the proposals for the ongoing development of the HRA Business Plan and 

agreed that the Plan will be updated annually with a full review every third year. 
 

 
 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 year Business Plan sets out the long 

term financial position of this ring-fenced account.  Whilst the HRA Business 
Plan is for a period of 30 years, the key focus is on the medium-term (first five 
years) as there is more certainty on costs, demands, resources and pressures, 
to enable the prioritisation of housing investment.  
 

2.2 The medium term also considers the strategic objectives of the Council and the 
impact of Government policies on rents, disposals and regeneration. The Plan 
is constantly evolving and the impact of the updated Decent Homes Standard 
and implications of the Government’s Social Housing White Paper will be 
factored into the next iteration of the Plan. 

 
2.3 The key elements of the HRA financial operations are set out below and are 

brought together within the Plan. The Plan will be used as a tool to assess the 
impact of decision making around stock acquisition and maintenance, long-term 
Treasury Management Strategy and wider strategic options of the Council.  

 
2.4  The borrowing within the Plan in the short term is to finance acquisitions of new 

stock. No other borrowing is modelled at this point and will be carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
2.5 The Plan has had a full refresh and a change of approach in some aspects, 

notably a review of inflationary assumptions, it will be updated on a regular 
basis incorporating changes in stock conditions and other factors and Members 

Page 528



Appendix 4 
 

  

will receive an annual update with recommendations as to any amendments to 
the Plan that may be required. 

 
2.6 The Business Plan is limited in scope to those assets that sit within the HRA or 

on HRA owned land as detailed Appendix 2 and in summary in Table 1. 
 
Table 1 Rent and Tenure Type  

Asset Type 

Rent/Tenure Type 
Grand 
Total General 

Rent 

Leased & 
Managed 

Properties 
Leaseholders 

Serviced 
Tenancies 

Vacant 
Pending 

Demolition 

Dwelling 
Stock 

14,572 342 2,507 12 0 17,433 

Non 
dwellings 
(inc. 
garages) 

2,765 0 0 0 94 2,859 

Grand Total 17,337 342 2,507 12 94 20,292 

 
 

  
3.  HRA BACKGROUND   
 

3.1 The HRA specifically accounts for revenue expenditure and income relating to 
the Council’s own housing stock and is ring fenced from the Council’s General 
Fund as required by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, which 
specifies the items that can be charged and credited to it. The account must 
include all costs and income relating to the Council’s landlord role (except in 
respect of leased accommodation, for households owed a homeless duty, and in 
respect of accommodation provided other than under Housing Act powers).  The 
Council has a legal duty to budget to ensure the account remains solvent and to 
review the account throughout the year. 

  
3.2  The Housing self-financing system was implemented on 1 April 2012 when the 

HRA subsidy scheme was abolished. At that point Croydon took on £223million 
of debt. In the interim, acquisitions within the HRA have been made and the 
opening debt in the Plan in 2021-22 is £322.5million.  

 
3.3 Maintaining a residential property portfolio of this magnitude is a major financial 

commitment.  Furthermore, the primary source of funding to meet this 
commitment is rent paid by tenants and the Council is strictly limited as to the 
extent it can raise these rents.   It is therefore of the utmost importance that the 
Council is clear as to how it intends to balance income and expenditure over time 
to ensure the property portfolio receives the level of investment it requires and 
borrowing stays within the necessary prudential limits. 

 
3.4 As well as investing in our housing stock to ensure all residents’ homes are safe, 

warm and dry, the Council will also wish to improve its housing stock and invest 
in significantly reducing its carbon footprint over the life of the Plan.  Further 
property acquisitions and regeneration projects are also likely to require funding 
during this period. 

 

Page 529



Appendix 4 
 

  

3.5 The HRA Business Plan is therefore a vital document in the proper management 
of our homes and will form the basis of a new Asset Management Strategy to be 
prepared later this year and submitted to Full Council. 

 
3.6 This report sets out the latest 30-year HRA Business Plan. The report includes 

financial analysis to demonstrate the viability and sustainability of the Plan.  
 
3.7 Each year the Council will review, update and approve the Plan in line with best 

practice and the wider Housing Improvement Plan also considered on this 
Cabinet agenda.  A re-profiling of capital expenditure proposals and updates on 
how the Council plans to finance the capital programme including use of surplus 
capital receipts, grants and HRA borrowing, will also be carried out annually. It is 
envisaged that a complete review of the Plan will take place at least every third 
year.  

 
 
4. BUSINESS PLAN KEY HEADLINES    
 

4.1 The HRA Business Plan in its current format presents a sustainable plan - see 
Appendix 1. With the current HRA reserves used to meet the investment 
required for the capital repairs programme. Figure 1 shows the projection of the 
reserves position over the plan period demonstrating a healthy outturn, risks to 
this outturn are highlighted in section 5.  

 
 Figure 1 Revenue Projection shows the years of the plan and the growth in 

reserves.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
4.2 The plan is based on the assumptions and risks as set out in section 5 with 

expenditure based on CPI and rents of CPI +1% in the years 2022 to 2024 and 
thereafter CPI only.   

 
4.3 The HRA capital programme in Year 1 (2021-2022) is based on the current 

budgeted plan of £26.7m any slippage from this will be carried forward into 2022-
23. The capital programme for Year 2 of £22m is set out in section 5.7 below. 

 
4.4 Borrowing in Year 1 only is assumed. Figure 2 provides an overview of the use 

of borrowing in Year 1 only and thereafter the projected ability of the programme 
to be met from within the HRA’s own resources. 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

HRA reserve Other reserve MR reserve All reserves c/f

Page 530



Appendix 4 
 

  

 

 
 

4.5 The opening HRA reserves are £27.6m and a minimum HRA reserve threshold 
level of £8.6m is set based on generally accepted the assumption best practice 
in the market of 10.5% of annual turnover. 

 
4.6  Croydon benchmark to the outer London average costs and other key metrics 

are measured and shown in Appendix 3 
 
 
 

5. BUSINESS PLAN KEY BASELINE ASSUMPTIONS  
 
5.1 Key rate assumptions and comparatives to outer London averages used are set 

out in Appendix 3  
 
5.2  HRA Revenue  

The Council has assumed as per Appendix 3 that rents will increase by CPI plus 
1% and based on the assumption of RTB losses Appendix 5 will provide rental 
income of £79m in Year 1 (2021-22) Appendix 4.  

 
Revenue expenditure is anticipated to increase largely due to inflationary factors. 
These key assumptions are used to set the below (Table 2) HRA Business Plan 
5 Year Summary. All years Business Plan is shown in Appendix 1 HRA Business 
Plan 

  

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

MRR/Deprec'n RTB & 1-4-1 receipts Other funding

Revenue Borrowing Programme

Page 531



Appendix 4 
 

  

 
  Table 2  5 Year Summary  HRA Income and Expenditure Account 
 

 
 

 
5.3 The Repairs and Maintenance budget of £13.4m is made up of responsive and 

cyclical repairs. 
 
5.4 In response to the emphasis on compliance and fire safety an increase in the 

budgeted spend within the management costs for staffing with this expertise 
has been included.  

 
5.5 Bad debt and voids are provided for within the plan on the basis of 1% and 

1.5% respectively, see Appendix 3 for the basis of the assumptions used. They 
are based on a percentage of rental income and at a prudent level.  

 
5.6  The interest payable of £12m is based on the existing debt of £322.5million at 

interest rate of 2.65% (actual of 2.5%) and assumes an additional £43m in 
2021-22. Thereafter debt remains constant. Section 6 Future Considerations, 
recognises the need to set prudential indicators for financing as well as debt 
and acquisitions policies. 

  

2021-22  2022-23  2023-24  2024-25  2025-26 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Dwelling rents 77,626       82,438       84,852       87,032       88,399         

Non-dwelling rents 1,781         1,852         1,889         1,927         1,966            

Service charge income 6,026         6,064         6,185         6,309         6,435            

Other income and contributions 3,690         3,763         3,839         3,915         3,994            

Total income 89,123       94,117       96,765       99,183       100,794       

Repairs & maintenance 13,437       13,799       14,044       14,293       14,547         

Management (incl RRT) 40,404       39,453       40,242       41,047       41,868         

Bad debts 750             765             860             882             896               

Dwelling Depreciation 13,488       13,659       13,599       13,538       13,478         

Debt management 149             149             149             149             149               

Total costs 68,228       67,825       68,894       69,910       70,937         

Net income from services 20,895       26,292       27,871       29,274       29,856         

Interest payable 12,119-       13,076-       13,016-       12,973-       12,948-         

Interest income -             -             -             -             -                

Net income/expenditure before appropriations 8,776         13,216       14,855       16,300       16,908         

-             -             -             -             -                

Set aside for debt repayment -             -             -             -             -                

Revenue contributions to capital 10,501-       14,059-       20,003-       16,410-       15,568-         

Allocation to/from other reserves -             -             -             -             -                

Other appropriations -             -             -             -             -                

Net HRA Surplus/Deficit 1,725-         844-             5,148-         110-             1,340           

-             -             -             -             -                

HRA Balance brought forward 27,629       25,904       25,060       19,913       19,802         

HRA surplus/(deficit) 1,725-         844-             5,148-         110-             1,340            

HRA Balance carried forward 25,904       25,060       19,913       19,802       21,143         

Page 532



Appendix 4 
 

  

 
5.7  HRA Capital and 22/23 Capital Programme 
 
5.7.1 The long-term 30 year capital forecasts are based on the current status of the 

asset management database, which includes a significant provision for backlog 
expenditure which has been allocated over the next 15 years. Work is ongoing 
to ensure the accuracy of the database and will be backed up by 
commissioning an external stock condition sample survey to be uploaded to the 
new IT system. Coupled with the likely introduction later this year of the 
updated Decent Homes Standard the expenditure profile will change from that 
modelled in the plan.  
 

5.7.2 Whilst, in overall terms, the expenditure over 30 years is in line with sector 
benchmarks it is possible that expenditure may be brought forward or delayed 
in conjunction with accessing delivery capacity. In addition further work is 
required to establish the costs for improving the energy efficiency of the stock to 
assist in meeting the Council’s targets for carbon neutrality. The next iteration of 
the HRA business plan will incorporate the results of this work, the impact in 
terms of future borrowing requirements and the approach to defining HRA 
prudential borrowing limits. 
 

5.7.3 It will align with the Asset Management strategy (due for release at the end of 
2022) and will reflect the longer term direction for the management and 
maintenance of our assets. 
 

5.7.4 The Council will deliver a capital programme that ensures that residents’ homes 
are warm, dry, safe and hazard free. We will work with residents to consult on 
the work that we intend to carry out and include them in determining our future 
investment. Details of our Resident Engagement Strategy will be published in 
2022. 
 
The 2022-23 plan for capital investment is included in Appendix 6.  This sets 
out plans for £22,083,060 in stock investment plus an additional £1,624,700 in 
capitalisable cyclical expenditure.  Cabinet is asked to recommend to Full 
Council that it approve this as an amendment to the Budget agreed on 8 March 
2022 in respect of the HRA. 

 
The programme will be geared to deliver for Croydon residents, stock that 
meets and reflects the current Decent Homes requirements and keeps pace 
with regulation and legislative updates.  

 
5.8 HRA Reserves  

Croydon has a healthy opening reserves position sets an opening balance at 
the start of the Business Plan at £27.6m. This reserve balance contributes 
towards funding any in-year risks and is set aside to support any one-off 
projects and investment that leads to efficiencies and/or delivery of a better 
service to residents of the Council  

 
 The year on year projected use of the HRA reserve over the next 5 years along 

with contributions towards the reserves balance is maintained.  
 

Page 533



Appendix 4 
 

  

5.9 The Planned Capital Programme will draw down from the Major Repairs 
Reserve within the HRA reserves to fund the works. The HRA is expected to 
maintain a minimum level of reserves £8.6m the basis for this is set out in 
Appendix 3   

 

5.10 A development and acquisition policy is required.  The current iteration of the 
business plan has no such programme assumed, however there are proposals 
for future activity included in Appendix 7 

 
5.11 An opening debt balance of £322.5million, largely as a result of the 2012 

legislation to make HRA self-financing. A debt repayment plan will also be 
modelled for future plans, Appendix 7 

 

5.12 There is an assumed level of Right to Buy and stock loss of 13% over the 30 
years of the plan. The details are set out in Appendix 5. Use of RTB receipts 
are accounted for within capital. It is open to a Council to use those RTB 
receipts for HRA purposes, which is the assumption within this plan, but there is 
no obligation to do so.    

 
 
6. FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1  The Housing Improvement Plan presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this 

agenda relies on a robust HRA business plan in order to identify that it can be 
resourced. There are a number of key considerations as follows: 
 

6.2  Stock Condition Data 
 

A detailed Stock Condition Database is a key element and driver for the 
expenditure within the plan. The Council is investing in a new IT system to 
make the data on which the stock condition assessments are based more 
comprehensive and reliable.  
 

 In addition to commissioning new stock condition surveys, improvements to the 
way in which we collect and analyse data from stock condition surveys will be 
implemented. Repair requests will be interfaced between the Council’s housing 
system and repairs contractor.  Planned works will be instructed through a 
planned works module and directly linked to the Council’s financial system. 

 
 A number of condition surveys and reports have already been commissioned 

for our high rise blocks. These have been shared with residents and followed 
with a short and medium term investment programme. 

 
6.3  An Asset Management Strategy 

 
 The HRA Business Plan will form the foundation of a new Asset Management 

Strategy that sets out the Council’s overall approach to maintaining its housing 
stock over the next few years.  This will set out how capital investment will be 
prioritised and directed, as well as addressing how use can be made of the 
borrowing headroom identified within the Business Plan – if the Council should 
choose to do so. 

 

Page 534



Appendix 4 
 

  

6.4  Future Provision & Regeneration 
 
The Council needs to determine if and how it will acquire properties in the short, 
medium and long term. Finances, policies and procedures need to be put in 
place to ensure that any acquisitions are properly resourced both financially 
and in terms of staffing capacity/qualifications. Properties should be acquired in 
conjunction with specific housing needs and demand - both current and 
projected 
 
Currently, new build properties are acquired via the Council’s shared ownership 
of Brick by Brick. The remaining contracted sites are scheduled for completion 
in 2024. After this time, there is no arrangement or financial provision to build or 
acquire properties inside or outside the HRA 

 
With an ageing stock and continual change in housing standards and needs, it 
is inevitable that some of the housing stock at some point will be unviable to 
repair. Where large proportions of this stock is situated on existing housing 
estates, the Council may decide that estate regeneration should be considered. 
In order to facilitate this, the Council needs to formally agree the strategy, 
processes, gateways and governance procedures in conjunction with a suitable 
resident offer. 
 
 

6.5 Carbon Neutrality 
 
 The Council has a stated ambition to achieve carbon-neutrality by 2030.  

Residential housing stock currently accounts for a significant proportion of 
carbon emissions within the Borough.  Accordingly, the investment set out in 
the Business Plan will have a key role to play in de-carbonising Council-owned 
housing.  This can be achieved through retrofitting to deliver more energy-
efficient buildings, low carbon heating solutions (such as ground source heat 
pumps) and other methods. 

 
However, the full-cost of de-carbonising the Council’s housing stock is likely to 
far exceed the investment set out in the Plan.  Accordingly, the Council will 
need to access available grant funding and/or make use of HRA borrowing 
capacity in order to realise this ambition. 
 

 
6.6   Changes to Legislation  

 

There are a number of fundamental Government Policy decisions and potential 
legislative changes in process which will have a significant impact upon the 
HRA and future HRA Business Plan updates. This includes the review of 
Decent Homes standards and the social housing white paper.  While the impact 
of the changes are not yet fully known there is within the capital investment 
programme spend a budget provision for the Council’s best current assessment 
of what actions will be required 

 
  

Page 535



Appendix 4 
 

  

 
7. BUSINESS PLAN KEY RISKS  
 
7.1 Long term future rent uncertainty – we have seen the impact of the 4 year rent 

freeze and any rent reductions will have an impact on the Business Plan. 
 
7.2 Increase costs of repairs and major works. Overspends to budget occur which 

place an increased burden on the HRA. Although it should be noted that the 
plan is not wholly and contractually committed therefore the Council can control 
the level of spend within the plan. 

 
7.3  Management options that are used to mitigate additional risks include annual 

updates to the business plan.  
 
7.4  Further changes in government legislation are expected. The Hackitt review of 

building and fire safety has been published however the new legislation and 
statutory guidance it requires has been delayed and will need to be reflected in 
future revisions to the Business Plan.  

 
7.5 Borrowing and interest rates. The Business Plan does not have a repayment of 

debt instead an assumption of refinancing of loans as they become due. While 
interest rates for borrowing remain at low levels this results in a lower cost to 
service the debt however this will require prudent management.  

 
7.6 Prudential borrowing indicators are required as a result of the removal of the 

debt cap from the HRA. The Business Plan has a prudent position with 3 
metrics showing there is future borrowing capacity however prior to any 
borrowing the indicators will be set 

 
 7.7 Sensitivity analysis has been carried out on the plan at mid-point Year 15 and 

final Year 30 see table 3.  
 
A number of variations on inflation and other baseline assumptions have been 
flexed to predict the impact on the HRA reserves balance by the movement and 
the impact on the HRA debt levels.  
 
For example the HRA reserves would drop to £11.35m with a repairs inflation of 
CPI +5% in years 2-5 and the HRA debt would increase to £422.84m in order to 
sustain the levels of repairs required. 

  

Page 536



Appendix 4 
 

  

 
Table 3 Sensitivity Table  

Sensitivity 
HRA Bal 

Yr 15 
HRA Debt 

Yr 15 
 HRA Bal 

Yr 30 
HRA Debt 

Yr 30 

  £’m £’m   £’m £’m 

Base     15.29       369.05      304.86       369.05  

            

Repairs Inflation yrs 2-5 CPI+5%     11.35       422.84      236.71       432.59  

Capital Inflation yrs 2-5 CPI+5%     11.35       502.48      195.14       528.64  

Rents CPI Only yrs 3 & 4     11.35       391.10      296.08       394.60  

Rent freeze from 2022-23       8.95       402.06        95.98       409.97  

Voids & Bad Debts +1%     11.35       392.95      294.24       396.57  

Long-term Loans +1%     14.69       369.82      319.70       369.82  

Capital Expenditure +10%     11.35       419.59      285.53       426.93  

Right to Buys +10%     14.87       368.47      336.07       368.47  

Acquisitions of 50 per year, yrs 3-8 
£300k per unit, 40% Subsidy at LAR 

    18.02       410.39      364.79       410.39  

L/H Recharges 50%     14.09       371.79      336.34       371.79  

 
 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

8.1 Finance comments have been provided throughout this report. 
 
 

9. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 

9.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Interim 
Director of Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer that the HRA 
consists of expenditure on Council-owned housing and there is a statutory 
requirement whereby the Council is obliged to keep its Housing Revenue 
Account (“HRA”) separate from other housing activities in accordance with the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended) ("the 1989 Act"). In 
addition, there is a requirement not to allow cross-subsidy to or from, the 
Council's General Fund Resources. 

 
9.2 The Council has a duty to disclose specified information pertaining to the HRA 

and its operation as set out The Housing Revenue Account (Accounting 
Practices) Directions 2016. The Directions provide that an authority shall 
disclose the information set out below in notes to its HRA: 

 
9.2.1 the total balance sheet value of the land calculated in accordance with proper 

practices, houses and other property within the authority’s HRA as at 1 April in 
the financial year, and the closing balance sheet value as at 31 March in the 
financial year of: 
a) Council dwellings 
b) Other land and buildings; and 
c) Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment 
d) Infrastructure and community assets 
e) Assets under construction 

Page 537



Appendix 4 
 

  

f) Surplus assets not held for sale 
g) Investment Properties 
h) Assets held for Sale 

 
9.1.2  The vacant possession value of dwellings, calculated in accordance with proper 

practices, within the authority’s HRA as at 1 April in the 
financial year. 
 

9.1.3 An explanation that the vacant possession value and balance sheet value of 
dwellings within the HRA show the economic cost of providing 
council housing at less than market rents 
 

9.1.4 The value of, and an explanation of, any charge calculated in accordance with 
proper practices in respect of revenue expenditure funded from capital under 
statute (RECS) attributable to the HRA 
 

9.1.5 The value of, and an explanation of, any impairment charges for the financial 
year in respect of land, houses and other property within the authority’s HRA, 
calculated in accordance with proper practices. 
 

9.1.5 A summary of total capital expenditure on land, houses and other property 
within the authority’s HRA during the financial year, broken down according to 
the following sources of funding: 
(i) borrowing; 
(ii) credit arrangements; 
(iii) capital receipts; 
(iv) revenue contributions; 
(v) the Major Repairs Reserve; 
 

9.1.6 A summary of total capital receipts from disposals of land, houses and other 
property within the authority’s HRA during the financial year; 
 

9.1.7 The total charge for depreciation, calculated in accordance with proper 
practices, for the land, houses or other property within the authority’s HRA, 
and the charges for depreciation for: 
a) Council dwellings 
b) Other land and buildings 
c) Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment 
d) Infrastructure and community assets 
e) Surplus assets not held for sale 

 
9.2  The provision of housing accommodation is set out in Part II of the Housing Act 

1985. Statutory requirements regarding keeping of a Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) are contained in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (“Act”). 
The provisions include a duty, under Section 76 of the Act, to budget to prevent 
a debit balance on the HRA and to implement and review the budget. The Act 
places a duty on local housing authorities to: (i) to produce and make available 
for public inspection, an annual budget for their HRA, which avoids a deficit; (ii) 
to review and if necessary, revise that budget from time to time and (iii) to take 
all reasonably practical steps to avoid an end of year deficit. 

 
9.3  On 10 November 2020 MHCLG published guidance on the operation of the 

Page 538



Appendix 4 
 

  

Housing Revenue Account ring-fence. This guidance updated and replaced the 
earlier Circular 8/95 published by the former Department of the Environment 
(DoE). It gives advice to local housing authorities in England on certain aspects 
of the HRA. This guidance highlights the need to be fair to both tenants and 
council taxpayers and that there should be a fair and transparent apportionment 
of costs between the HRA and General Fund. 

 
9.4  The Localism Act 2011 contains provisions relating to housing finance in 

Sections 167 to 175. These provisions introduced a system of Council housing 
finance which ended the Housing Revenue Account subsidy system in England 
and replaced it with self- financing arrangements. Section 171 of the Localism 
Act 2011 empowered the Secretary of State to make provision relating to the 
level of indebtedness in relation to local housing authorities in England which 
keep a Housing Revenue Account. 

 
9.5  Under Regulation 12 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) local authorities are required to use 
Right To Buy capital receipts to pay the "poolable amount" to the Secretary of 
State, on a quarterly basis. 

 
9.6  On 29th October 2018, HRA borrowing cap was abolished with immediate 

effect. As a result, local authorities with an HRA are able to borrow against their 
expected rental income, however this must be in line with the CIPFA Prudential 
Code. The latest version of the CIPFA Prudential Code is the 2021 edition. 

 
9.7  It should be noted that if the Council wishes to dispose of land or property, or 

provide financial assistance in connection with housing ( which includes 
disposal to any Council owned company) consent of the Secretary of State 
maybe required unless such disposals fall within the General Disposal 
Consents of Section 32 of the Housing Act 1985. Specific legal advice may be 
required in relation to any such proposals.  

 
9.8  No specific legal advice has been sought or provided in relation to 

implementation of the proposals in either the 30 Year Business Plan or the 
Capital Programme. In seeking to implement and progress the proposals that 
form a part of the short, medium and long term arrangements pertaining to the 
30 year HRA business plan and implementing the Captial programme 22/23 
and associated matters, officers may need to seek separate legal advice 
regarding the nature and manner of that implementation and the implications 
arising from the chosen approach.  

 
9.9  In respect of the Council’s public sector equalities duties as detailed more fully 

in section 11 below, where approval of the 30 year business plan and HRA 
capital programme result in new policies or policy change the relevant service 
department will carry out and keep updated equality impact assessments to 
secure delivery of that duty and including such consultation as may be required.  

 
Approved By: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf 
of the Director of Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer.  
 

10. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 
 

Page 539



Appendix 4 
 

  

10.1 There are no immediate HR impacts or implications arising from this report 
 

Approved by: Dean Shoesmith, Chief People Officer 
 
 
11. EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
11.1 Under the Public Sector Equality Duty of Equality Act 2010, decision makers 

must evidence consideration of any potential impacts of proposals on groups 
who share protected characteristics, before decisions are taken. This includes 
any decisions relating to how authorities act as employers; how they develop, 
evaluate and review policies; how they design, deliver and evaluate services, 
and also how they commission and procure services from others.  

 
11.2 Section 149 of the Act requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and  

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it.  

 
11.3 Protected characteristics defined by law include race and ethnicity, disability, 

sex, gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity, 
and religion or belief and marriage and Civil Partnership. The law now 
recognises gender identity along with gender reassignment.  

 
11.4 Having due regard means there is a requirement to consciously address the 

three tenets of the Equality Duty within decision-making processes. By law, 
assessments must contain sufficient information to enable the local authority to 
show it has paid ‘due regard’ to the equalities duties; and identified methods for 
mitigating or avoiding adverse impact on people sharing protected 
characteristics. Where a decision is likely to result in detrimental impact on any 
group with a protected characteristic it must be justified objectively.  

 
11.5 As a result, an overarching equality impact analysis has been undertaken in 

relation to the HRA 30 year business plan.  Overall, given this plan is about 
investment in housing stock, there will likely be positive impacts for 
residents.  However, the impact analysis has confirmed that the service does 
not have sufficient data on protected characteristics of Council tenants.  This 
needs to be addressed in order for the service to understand what needs 
specific groups of tenants may have and to plan accordingly. 

 
11.6 This has been recognised by the service and equalities data collection is a key 

workstream within the Housing Improvement Plan, and within the impact 
assessment mitigating actions as a result.  This work will be a priority for the 
newly created Head of Policy & Performance role within the Housing 
directorate.  This work is essential to ensure that the Council has a clearer 
understanding of our tenants and their individual needs and impacts. Further 
work is required on the detailed elements of the Housing Improvement Plan to 
ensure that activities and actions are inclusive to all residents.  The Equality 

Page 540



Appendix 4 
 

  

Programme Manager is supporting the service in this regard. 
 
11.7 As the Housing Improvement Plan is developed and the HRA Business Plan is 

delivered, further equality impact assessments will be required for specific 
projects and actions. For example, new policies or policy or service changes 
are anticipated, and each proposal will be accompanied by an equality analysis 
which will inform the final proposal and its implementation, on a case by case 
basis made available at the time of decision.  

 
Approved by Gavin Handford, Director of Policy, Programmes & Performance, 
on behalf of Denise McCausland, Equality Programme Manager 

 
 
12. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 
12.1 The scope for this work impacting on carbon neutrality is set out at Paragraph 

6.5 above.  
 
 
13. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 
 
13.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
 
14. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

 
a. WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING  

OF ‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 

No  
 

b. HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN 

COMPLETED? 
 
No    

  
 
CONTACT OFFICER:   
 
Guarnori, Orlagh, Head of Finance, Resources. 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 
Appendix 1 HRA Business Plan – All Years (Excel document) 
Appendix 2 Details of HRA Tenant type  
Appendix 3 Business Plan – Key assumptions 
Appendix 4 HRA Rental Income Budget 
Appendix 5 Right to Buy  
Appendix 6 Programme of Repairs of Existing Stock  
Appendix 7 Acquisitions & Debt repayment and modelling 
 

Page 541



Appendix 4 
 

  

BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None. 

Page 542



Appendix 1  HRA Business Plan 
LB Croydon HRA Business Plan 2021/22+
Base Version
HRA Summary

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14
Financial Year 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31 2031.32 2032.33 2033.34 2034.35

HRA 30 YEAR SUMMARY

Dwelling rents 77,625,959 82,437,957 84,852,183 87,031,813 88,399,195 89,818,186 91,297,410 92,813,080 94,366,325 95,958,311 97,590,242 99,263,358 100,978,940 102,738,310
Non-dwelling rents 1,780,957 1,852,297 1,889,343 1,927,129 1,965,672 2,004,985 2,045,085 2,085,987 2,127,707 2,170,261 2,213,666 2,257,939 2,303,098 2,349,160
Service charge income 6,026,426 6,063,803 6,185,079 6,308,781 6,434,956 6,563,656 6,694,929 6,828,827 6,965,404 7,104,712 7,246,806 7,391,742 7,539,577 7,690,369
Other income and contributions 3,689,612 3,763,404 3,838,672 3,915,446 3,993,755 4,073,630 4,155,102 4,238,204 4,322,969 4,409,428 4,497,616 4,587,569 4,679,320 4,772,907
Total income 89,122,954 94,117,461 96,765,277 99,183,169 100,793,578 102,460,457 104,192,527 105,966,099 107,782,404 109,642,712 111,548,330 113,500,608 115,500,936 117,550,745

Repairs & maintenance 13,437,146 13,799,324 14,044,214 14,293,381 14,546,897 14,807,586 15,076,250 15,350,881 15,631,635 15,918,669 16,212,146 16,512,233 16,819,103 17,132,931
Management (incl RRT) 40,404,282 39,452,868 40,241,925 41,046,763 41,867,699 42,705,053 43,559,154 44,430,337 45,318,944 46,225,322 47,149,829 48,092,826 49,054,682 50,035,776
Bad debts 750,000 765,000 860,006 882,091 895,943 910,319 925,306 940,662 956,399 972,528 989,063 1,006,015 1,023,397 1,041,223
Dwelling Depreciation 13,488,000 13,659,206 13,598,780 13,538,355 13,477,929 13,696,126 13,919,755 14,313,574 14,599,845 14,891,842 15,189,679 15,493,472 15,803,342 16,119,409
Other Depreciation
Debt management 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000
Total costs 68,228,428 67,825,397 68,893,925 69,909,590 70,937,468 72,268,083 73,629,464 75,184,453 76,655,822 78,157,361 79,689,716 81,253,546 82,849,524 84,478,339

Net income from services 20,894,526 26,292,064 27,871,351 29,273,579 29,856,110 30,192,373 30,563,063 30,781,645 31,126,582 31,485,350 31,858,614 32,247,062 32,651,412 33,072,406

Interest payable -12,118,754 -13,076,274 -13,016,162 -12,973,367 -12,947,712 -12,936,725 -12,885,207 -12,865,529 -12,876,196 -12,876,196 -12,876,196 -12,882,295 -12,985,846 -12,975,340
Interest income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net income/expenditure before appropriations8,775,772 13,215,790 14,855,190 16,300,212 16,908,398 17,255,648 17,677,856 17,916,117 18,250,386 18,609,154 18,982,418 19,364,767 19,665,566 20,097,066

Set aside for debt repayment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue contributions to capital -10,500,772 -14,059,331 -20,003,010 -16,410,479 -15,568,185 -19,988,483 -22,944,569 -22,888,315 -16,048,788 -18,780,684 -20,131,727 -20,700,149 -17,098,550 -17,693,683
Allocation to/from other reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net HRA Surplus/Deficit -1,725,000 -843,542 -5,147,820 -110,267 1,340,212 -2,732,834 -5,266,712 -4,972,198 2,201,598 -171,530 -1,149,309 -1,335,381 2,567,017 2,403,382

HRA Balance brought forward 27,629,000 25,904,000 25,060,458 19,912,638 19,802,371 21,142,584 18,409,749 13,143,037 8,170,839 10,372,437 10,200,907 9,051,598 7,716,217 10,283,234
HRA surplus/(deficit) -1,725,000 -843,542 -5,147,820 -110,267 1,340,212 -2,732,834 -5,266,712 -4,972,198 2,201,598 -171,530 -1,149,309 -1,335,381 2,567,017 2,403,382
HRA Balance carried forward 25,904,000 25,060,458 19,912,638 19,802,371 21,142,584 18,409,749 13,143,037 8,170,839 10,372,437 10,200,907 9,051,598 7,716,217 10,283,234 12,686,616

P
age 543



15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30
2035.36 2036.37 2037.38 2038.39 2039.40 2040.41 2041.42 2042.43 2043.44 2044.45 2045.46 2046.47 2047.48 2048.49 2049.50 2050.51

104,542,829 106,393,903 108,292,983 110,241,562 112,241,185 114,293,441 116,399,970 118,562,465 120,782,670 123,062,383 125,403,459 127,807,812 130,277,411 132,814,292 135,420,548 138,098,341
2,396,143 2,444,066 2,492,947 2,542,806 2,593,662 2,645,536 2,698,446 2,752,415 2,807,464 2,863,613 2,920,885 2,979,303 3,038,889 3,099,667 3,161,660 3,224,893
7,844,176 8,001,059 8,161,081 8,324,302 8,490,788 8,660,604 8,833,816 9,010,492 9,190,702 9,374,516 9,562,007 9,753,247 9,948,312 10,147,278 10,350,224 10,557,228
4,868,365 4,965,732 5,065,047 5,166,348 5,269,674 5,375,068 5,482,569 5,592,221 5,704,065 5,818,146 5,934,509 6,053,200 6,174,264 6,297,749 6,423,704 6,552,178

119,651,513 121,804,761 124,012,057 126,275,019 128,595,310 130,974,649 133,414,802 135,917,594 138,484,901 141,118,659 143,820,861 146,593,561 149,438,876 152,358,985 155,356,135 158,432,640

17,453,900 17,782,195 18,118,007 18,461,535 18,812,979 19,172,548 19,540,454 19,916,918 20,302,165 20,696,426 21,099,938 21,512,947 21,935,704 22,368,466 22,811,499 23,265,075
51,036,491 52,057,221 53,098,365 54,160,333 55,243,539 56,348,410 57,475,378 58,624,886 59,797,384 60,993,331 62,213,198 63,457,462 64,726,611 66,021,143 67,341,566 68,688,398
1,059,507 1,078,263 1,097,505 1,117,249 1,137,511 1,158,306 1,179,652 1,201,565 1,224,062 1,247,164 1,270,887 1,295,252 1,320,278 1,345,986 1,372,398 1,399,535

16,441,797 16,770,633 17,106,045 17,448,166 17,797,130 18,153,072 18,516,134 18,886,456 19,264,185 19,649,469 20,042,458 20,443,308 20,852,174 21,269,217 21,694,602 22,128,494

149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000 149,000
86,140,695 87,837,311 89,568,923 91,336,283 93,140,159 94,981,336 96,860,618 98,778,825 100,736,796 102,735,390 104,775,482 106,857,969 108,983,767 111,153,813 113,369,065 115,630,502

33,510,818 33,967,449 34,443,134 34,938,735 35,455,151 35,993,312 36,554,184 37,138,768 37,748,104 38,383,269 39,045,379 39,735,592 40,455,109 41,205,172 41,987,070 42,802,138

-12,974,515 -12,973,089 -12,968,995 -12,968,995 -12,969,736 -12,974,222 -13,257,226 -13,534,680 -13,770,721 -14,037,115 -14,037,115 -14,040,445 -14,047,545 -14,051,309 -14,051,309 -14,076,542
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

20,536,303 20,994,361 21,474,139 21,969,740 22,485,415 23,019,090 23,296,958 23,604,089 23,977,383 24,346,154 25,008,264 25,695,147 26,407,564 27,153,863 27,935,761 28,725,596

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-20,912,497 -21,478,747 -16,818,225 -796,180 -4,743,490 -9,114,628 -5,099,562 -12,454,059 -2,553,138 -371,975 -114,675 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

-376,194 -484,386 4,655,914 21,173,561 17,741,926 13,904,462 18,197,396 11,150,030 21,424,245 23,974,179 24,893,589 25,695,147 26,407,564 27,153,863 27,935,761 28,725,596

12,686,616 12,310,422 11,826,037 16,481,951 37,655,511 55,397,437 69,301,899 87,499,295 98,649,325 120,073,570 144,047,750 168,941,339 194,636,486 221,044,050 248,197,913 276,133,674
-376,194 -484,386 4,655,914 21,173,561 17,741,926 13,904,462 18,197,396 11,150,030 21,424,245 23,974,179 24,893,589 25,695,147 26,407,564 27,153,863 27,935,761 28,725,596

12,310,422 11,826,037 16,481,951 37,655,511 55,397,437 69,301,899 87,499,295 98,649,325 120,073,570 144,047,750 168,941,339 194,636,486 221,044,050 248,197,913 276,133,674 304,859,270

P
age 544



Appendix 2 Details of HRA Tenant type  
 
 
Table 1 Rent/Tenure Type  

Asset Type 

Rent/Tenure Type 
Grand 
Total General 

Rent 

Leased & 
Managed 

Properties 
Leaseholders 

Serviced 
Tenancies 

Vacant 
Pending 

Demolition 

Blocks of 
Flats 

1,128 3 
  

 1,131 

Caravan 
Plots 

19 
   

 19 

Caravan 
Sites 

1 
   

 1 

Dwellings 13,424 339 2,507 12  16,282 

Garages 2,533 
   

94 2,627 

Garage 
Blocks 

104 
   

 104 

Parking 
Spaces 

107 
   

 107 

Playgrounds 21 
   

 21 

Grand Total 17,337 342 2,507 12 94 20,292 

 
Notes to the above: 
 
General social rent includes general needs, sheltered and extra care schemes. 
Leasehold costs are paid on behalf of leaseholds and then recovered via service 
charge billing (in arrears). 
 
Within the HRA are a number of other provisions such as shared ownership, affordable 
rent and other rents such as community and commercial provisions. 
 
The HRA also supports and manages the provision of statutory required services such 
as temporary and emergency accommodation and traveler sites, with some provision 
being made within HRA dwellings/assets along with other non-HRA private leasing 
schemes. 

 

 

Page 545



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 Business Plan – Key assumptions & Benchmark to outer London   
 
 

 Assumption  Notes 

Dwelling Rent 

CPI + 1% Increase in rents from 
2022 to 2024 and CPI only 
thereafter   

Void rates 2%  

Service Charges 

CPI + 1% Increase in rents from 
2022 to 2024-25 and CPI + 
0.5% increases from 2025-26 

Full service charge review to be 
carried out in 2022 

Non dwelling rents  

CPI + 1% Increase in rents from 
2022 to 2024 and CPI only 
thereafter  

Garage Rents 

CPI + 1% Increase in rents from 
2022 to 2024 and CPI only 
thereafter 

Review of long term void garages 
required with demolitions and 
infills decisions in 2022 

Major Works Leaseholder Contributions Linked to Capital Programme  
Repairs and Maintenance Costs RPI increases  
Heating and hot water charges RPI increases  

Interest rate on borrowings 
2.65% on External Borrowing 
Year 12 onwards 3.5%  

Depreciation 
Straight Line Basis over life of 
Assets  

 
 
Other Assumptions: 
 
HRA Bad Debt Provision:  
The Plan provision for bad debts is calculated based on a percentage of rental 
income to reflect rent increases, resulting in greater levels of provision. The provision 
rate of 1% in Year 1 is used and 1% thereafter is based on the current actual debt 
recovery. 
 
 
HRA Voids:  
The Plan provision for Voids is calculated based on a percentage of rental income to 
reflect rent increases. The provision rate of 1.5% is based on the current void rate 
and for prudence remains at 1.5% in each of the following years.  
 
Garage voids further review of the garages that are long term void will be carried out 
in 2022 with a view to decisions on demolition and use of the space for parking bays 
to be considered.  
 
Other long term voids are reviewed as part of the overall stock analysis 
 

Page 547



 
 
 
Major Repairs Reserve  
The Business Plan assumes that any existing components beyond their theoretical 
lifespan are considered as backlog and due to be replaced on a comparable basis 
 
The HRA has prior year reserves, these funds will be used if required.   
 
The HRA does not go below the pre-set minimum balance of £8.6million (inflated on 
an annual basis) in any year of the plan. The overall trajectory of revenue reserves is 
however upwards towards the end of the 30-year term. 
 
The Minimum HRA Balance is based on a 10.5% annual turnover and will allow for 
1.5 months of total operating expenditure. It assumes a base cover of £642 per unit  
 
 
 
Outer London Borough Benchmarks (14 out of 15) 
 
 

Metric Croydon 
2020.21 

Outer London 
2020.21 Average 

Rented Properties 13,393 9,521 

Gross Management per unit £3,182 £2,726 

Net Management (less service 
charges) per unit 

£2,360 £1,910 

Repairs per unit £762 £1,116 

Gross Management and 
Repairs per unit 

£3,944 £3,842 

Depreciation per unit £903 £1,206 

Average Rent (52 week basis) £106.24 £106.40 

Other (non-Service Charge) 
Income per unit 

£110 £348 

Operating Surplus per unit £1,760 £1,412 

Operating Margin 26.6% 21.9% 

Debt per unit £26,429 £18,740 

Interest per unit £904 £807 

Interest Rate 3.42% 4.31% 

Reserves per unit £2,063 £2,313 

Existing Use Value per unit £76,658 £86,887 

Interest Cover Ratio 1.95 1.75 

Loan to Value 35% 22% 

Debt:Turnover 4.0 2.9 

 

Page 548



Appendix 4 HRA Rental Income Budget  
 
HRA Rental Income Budget:  
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account used to manage 
Income and costs associated with managing the Council’s owned housing stock and 
related assets which includes shops and garages on council housing estates. It is 
funded primarily from tenants’ rents and service charges.  
 
An average social rents are taken as the basis for the report, Table 2 sets out the 
weekly actual social rent charges. The average rent as agreed by Cabinet (7 
February 2022 meeting) increased by 4.1% for the 2022-23 year. The business plan 
is based on the assumption of 13,432 properties and assumes a CPI & 1% thereafter 
to April 2024 and CPI only for the remainder of the plan.  
 
Table 3 shows the impact of the rental increase on additional income. The use of the 
revenue income to fund the contributions to capital for major repairs is set out in 
Appendix 6 of this report. Table 3 sets out the total budgeted income to the HRA 
from rents and other charges for 2022-23.  

 
Table 2 Social Rents p/w 2022-23 
 

Bedroom Size 
Average rent 2021-

22 - £ p/w 
Average rent 2022-23 
with Increase - £ p/w Increase - £ p/w 

 0 Bedsit                   77.11                       80.27                     3.16  

 1                   92.89                       96.70                     3.81  

 2                 110.88                     115.42                     4.54  

 3                 133.02                     138.47                     5.45  

 
 
Table 3 Summary of Housing Rent Budgets for 2022-23 
 

Type of Rent/Charge 
Rents for 2022-23 

with 4.1% Increase 
Rents for 2021-

22 (as at Apr 21) 
Additional 

Income 

  £'s £'s   

Housing Dwelling Rents £78,662,349 £75,250,856 £3,411,493 

Housing Service Charge £4,352,429 £4,154,111 £198,318 

Parking Space Rents £39,940 £38,367 £1,573 

Garage Rents £1,827,580 £1,756,726 £70,854 

Heating Charges £551,592 £509,304 £42,287 

  £85,433,889 £81,709,365 £3,724,525 

 
 
 

Page 549



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 Right to Buy property losses   
 
 
HRA Right to Buy Receipts:  
 
The Plan has an opening assumption of 13,432 properties and assumes an annual 
loss of 60 properties through right to buy for each of the remaining years. That 
results in a 13% stock loss over the 30 years. No other stock losses are modelled in 
the plan.  

 
Although there are a total of 280 properties are forecast to be acquired by the HRA 
within the current financial year 2021-22 no further acquisitions have been assumed. 
 
The Plan has used the audited actual returns submitted to the department. The 
opening balance on reserves of RTB receipts is £14.5m. Table 4 sets out the impact 
of the assumption of continued sales through RTB.  
 
In April 2021 the regulations on the use of RTB receipts were updated, there is now 
a 5 year window available rather than 3 under which to use the allowable receipts. 
The Plan allows for the legislation changes and Table 5 sets out the impact and the 
need for an acquisition policy to be implemented by 2027-28 in order to avoid 
making a return of unused receipts to Treasury.  
 
 
Table 4 Assumed Reserves 

1-4-1 Reserve Actuals Projected   Projected    Projected   

  2020-21 2021-22  2022-23   2023-24  

Opening Balance        11,685,942           14,491,401       11,503,653       16,969,219  

Additions          2,805,459             5,289,553         5,465,566         5,645,365  

Assumed Usage                        -               8,277,300      

Closing Balance        14,491,401           11,503,653       16,969,219       22,614,585  
 
 

Table 5 Assumed Receipts v Spend   

 

 

Receipts v Spend  Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected 

  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 

Total Receipts in 
reckonable Year 24,786,513 

         
33,605,814  

     
42,124,698  

     
47,327,490  

     
53,879,729  

     
59,169,281  

     
64,634,847  

30%/40% of 
Relevant 
Expenditure 62,047,103 

         
62,047,103  

     
62,047,103  

     
62,047,103  

     
62,047,103  

     
62,047,103  

     
62,047,103  

Refundable to 
Treasury (Excluding 
Interest) 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,587,745 

Page 551



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 Programme of Repairs of existing stock 
 
Table 8 2022/23 Capital Programme  
 

Work Type Budget 

General Building Works £8,368,060 

Electrical Works £3,390,000 

Mechanical Works £1,600,000 

Lift Works £465,000 

Window £3,000,000 

Compliance & Fire Safety £2,310,000 

Staffing £1,800,000 

Other £1,150,000 

  

TOTAL £22,083,060 

 
Cyclical £1,624,700 

 
Repairs of existing stock:  
 
The council has procured a new housing database, which will combine the existing 
housing and asset management database into one software solution. 
In addition, the council has procured several additional modules and interfaces which 
will not only assist in linking and reporting across key services but will both provide 
direct and indirect efficiencies. The works outlined in Table 8 2022/23 Capital 
Programme will be reviewed on a rolling programme and maintained. 
 
Stock data collection in principle will remain the same but the collecting and reporting 
net will be cast wider, with greater visibility for all. 
Repair requests will be interfaced between the council’s housing system and repair 
partnering contractor with almost “real time” correlation. Planned works will be 
instructed through the planned works module and directly linked to the council’s 
financial system. 
 
An overarching reporting tool will sit alongside compliance, servicing and health & 
safety modules. 
 
 
Compliance:  
 
Within the 2022-23 HRA budget is an assumed investment in the employee’s costs 
and specifically compliance. The intention is to enhance the capacity of the team 
which will then ensure that within the HRA Business Plan there is sufficient resilience 
built in to allow for changes in legislation and requirements.  
 
The Building Safety Bill is proposed to set out new and enhanced regulatory regimes 
for building safety and construction products, and make provision for residents to 
have a stronger voice in the new system. The Bill is proposed to take forward all of 
the recommendations resulting from the Hackett Review of Building Safety in an 
enhanced safety framework for higher risk residential buildings. 
 
The Fire Safety Act amends the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005 (“The 

Page 553



2005 Order”).  The 2005 Order requires a responsible person (generally, the owner, 
occupier or managing agent) to undertake, and review regularly, a fire risk 
assessment of all non-domestic premises, including the non-domestic parts of multi-
occupied residential buildings. Following amendment, the 2005 Order now covers 
situations where a building contains two or more sets of domestic premises, and 
makes the 2005 Order applicable to the building's structure and external walls and 
any common parts; all doors between the domestic premises and common parts and 
the reference to external walls includes doors or windows in those walls, and 
anything attached to the exterior of those walls (including balconies).  The fire safety 
provisions in the Building Safety Bill are proposed to apply to all premises regulated 
under the 2005 Order in England and Wales apart from two provisions which have a 
more specific application: 
 

- Responsible Persons for buildings containing two or more sets of domestic 
premises must provide residents with relevant and comprehensible 
information about relevant fire safety matters; and, 

- The provision that requires Responsible persons to take reasonable steps to 
ascertain if there is an Accountable Person in relation to the premises and co-
operate with them to enable them to carry out their duties under the Bill 
applies to higher-risk buildings in England only 

 
Of particular importance to the Council will be the statutory definition of Accountable 
Person which is to be introduced by the Bill for occupied high-rise residential 
buildings. Accountable persons will have legal requirements for ensuring that the fire 
and structural safety of their buildings are being properly managed. Accountable 
Persons are to include landlords and freeholders who are in charge of repairing the 
building. They could be an individual, a partnership or corporate body. 
 
All occupied higher-risk buildings will be required to have at least one clearly 
identifiable Accountable Person, known as the Principal Accountable Person, who is 
responsible for ensuring that fire and structural safety is being properly managed for 
the whole building. 

Page 554



  

Appendix 7 Acquisitions and Debt Repayment 
 
An acquisitions policy is recommended to be put in place to ensure that the Housing 
Authority is making appropriate use of the retained Right to Buy (“RTB”) Receipts in 
accordance with the amended terms of the Retention Agreements concluded between 
the Secretary of State and authorities under section 11(6) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 to enable them to retain RTB receipts, the statutory guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State in relation the retained RTB receipts and the amendments to the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003 that came into 
force on 30 June 2021. The changes to the use of RTB receipts  allows the Housing 
authority to use the receipts, subject to the Acquisition Cap in force on 1 April 2022 
and phased in over 2022-23 to 2024-25, to fund the full costs of acquisitions on: 
 

- Homes for social or affordable rent:  which is low cost rental accommodation 
that is not accommodation to which the Rent Policy Statement does not apply. 

- Homes for shared ownership sale: The construction or acquisition of a dwelling 
for the purposes of granting a shared ownership lease to a person whose 
needs are not adequately served by the commercial housing market where the 
premium (which is a portion value of the market value of that dwelling) does not 
exceed 75% of the market value of the dwelling 

- Homes for sale as First Homes: “First Home” means a dwelling which is 
disposed of as a freehold or (in the case of a flat only) as a leasehold property: 
(a) to a first-time buyer as defined by paragraph 6 of Schedule 6ZA to the 
Finance Act 2003, 
(b) at a sale price that is at least 30% below open market value, 
(c) at a sale price that does not exceed £420,000 if it is situated in Greater 
London or £250,000 if situated elsewhere or such other amount as may be 
published from time to time by the Secretary of State, and 
(d) subject to a condition restricting resale other than as a First Home.  

 
Acquisitions Cap: The cap will come into effect from 1 April 2022. From that point it will 
prohibit more than 50% of RTB replacements being delivered as acquisitions in 
financial year 2022-2023. That threshold will reduce progressively over the following 
two years from 50% to 30%, as set out below: 

2021-2022 No cap 

2022-2023 50% cap 

2023-2024 40% cap 

2024-2025 onwards 30% cap 

 
The first 20 units of delivery in each year will be excluded from the cap for all local 
authorities. Local authorities will still be allowed to acquire properties above the cap, 
but they will not be able to use retained additional receipts to do so. Some types of 
acquisitions which still result in the authority contributing to net supply are exempt 
from the cap. Acquisitions of new build from a local authority’s own housing company 
or arm’s-length management organisation (ALMO) or from regeneration projects that 
contribute to net supply are exempt. Acquisitions of new build from a private developer 
are not exempt. If an authority exceeds the cap, it will be in breach of its Retention 
Agreement with the Secretary of State.  

Page 555



  

 
It was noted at March Cabinet 2021 within the report setting out Croydon’s General 
Fund and HRA budget that:  ‘No new capital schemes will be added to the 
PROGRAMME without a business case being approved, a report being submitted to 
cabinet and then the funds will be released subject to the revenue costs of any scheme 
being affordable, this applies to both General Fund and HRA capital schemes” 
   

 
Debt Repayment:  
 
The HRA became self-financing and took on initial debt relating to existing 
Stock. Originally an additional debt was restricted by a borrowing cap which was lifted  
in April 2019. The Plan has an opening debt position of £322.6m 
 

 A policy is required as to whether repayment of debt should be provided for or whether 
the debt refinancing only will be pursued. This has not been directly addressed in this 
iteration of the Plan, but will form a future piece of work to be done in conjunction with 
the Council’s wider Treasury management strategy.  While there is a requirement of 
4% debt repayment in the general fund there is no requirement in the HRA. There is 
however potential for debt repayment if the plan is sufficiently stocked with new 
acquisitions which are profit generating. 

   
The overall level of reserves is positive at the end of the 30 year term highlighting that 
the plan generates sufficient revenue to meet all its obligations (but could not fully 
repay the full value of the HRA debt outstanding if the council so wished). This 
combined balance is projected at c£65m by year 30. 

 
The proposition within this analysis is that, whilst there is theoretically now no limit to 
borrowing within the HRA, the existing asset and operating base generates a net 
income stream that does offer a logical limit on sustainable and prudential borrowing 
levels.  In setting out its investment strategy, the council therefore needs to consider 
how it will take decisions on whether to invest, how to fund, the extent of new 
borrowing, and determine a framework within which decisions will be taken for the 
business plan overall, within the medium term financial strategy and within successive 
budget rounds 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 556


	Agenda
	5 Croydon Question Time
	6 Member Petitions
	8 Recommendations of Cabinet or Committees to Council for decision
	Appendix 1 - GPAC constitution review January
	Part 2 Articles draft Jan 22
	Part 3 Responsibility for Functions draft Jan 22
	Part 4B - Access to Information Procedure Rules draft Jan 22
	Part 4D - Executive Procedure Rules draft Jan 22
	Part 4F - Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules 02.2019 & 15.10.21
	Part 5F - Protocol for Licensing Hearings draft Jan 22
	PART5G
	Part 5K - Access to information protocol
	Part 6D - Scheme of Co-option draft Jan 22
	Appendix 2 - GPAC constitution review 030322
	Part 1 - Summary and Explanation rev draft BJ
	Part 2 Articles  rev draft BJ
	Part 3- Responsibility for Functions rev draft BJ amends 040222
	Part 4A - Council Procedure Rules rev draft - BJ
	Part 4B - Access to Information Procedure Rules rev draft BJ
	Part 4C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules rev draft BJ
	Part 4D - Executive Procedure Rules rev draft BJ
	Part 4E - Scrutiny and Overview Procedure Rules rev draft BJ
	Part 4F - Non-Executive Committee Procedure Rules Oct 21 rev draft BJ
	PART4G
	Part 4I - Tenders and Contracts Regulations - Nov 21 rev draft
	Part 4J - Staff Employment Procedure Rules rev draft BJ
	PART4K
	Part 4O - Procedure rules for remote meetings
	Part 5A - Protocol for Decision Making - Nov 21 rev draft BJ
	Part 5B - Ethics Staff councillor relations protocol 090222
	Part 5C - Monitoring Officer Protocol - Nov 21 rev draft BJ
	PART5H
	Part 5J Officer Code of Conduct - (updated January 2022)
	Appendix 3 Members Scheme of Allowances 2022 v1.9
	Appendix 3.1 Remuneration report-2022 20222
	Appendix 3.2 - Allowances Proposal Calculator
	Appendix 4 - Cabinet report- HRA 30 year Business Plan
	Appendix 4.1
	Appendix 4.2
	Appendix 4.3
	Appendix 4.4
	Appendix 4.5
	Appendix 4.6
	Appendix 4.7


